Draft

Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses Revision 2



United Nations

	Notes		8
	Pream	ıble	11
	Part C	One: Operational aspects of population and housing censuses	12
I.	Essen	tial Roles of the Census	12
II.	Defin	itions, essential features and uses of population and housing censuses	13
	A. D	efinitions	13
	1.	Population census	13
	2.	Housing census	13
	B. Es	ssential features	13
	1.	Individual enumeration	13
	2.	Universality within a defined territory	14
	3.	Simultaneity	14
	4.	Defined periodicity	14
	C. St	rategic objectives	14
	D. U	ses in an integrated programme of data collection and compilation	15
	1.	Uses of population censuses	16
		(a) Uses for policy-making, planning and administrative purposes	16
		(b) Uses for research purposes	17
		(c) Uses for business, industry and labour	17
		(d) Uses for electoral boundary delimitation	17
	2.	Uses of housing censuses	17
	3.	Relationship between the population census and the housing census	18
	4.	Relationship of population and housing censuses to intercensal sample surv	eys19
	5.	Relationship of population and/or housing censuses to other types of census	ses and
	ot	her statistical investigations	20
		(a) Census of agriculture	20
		(b) Census of establishments	21
		(c) Census of buildings	21
		(d) System of current housing statistics	21
		(e) Civil registration and vital statistics	22
	E. M	ethodological Approaches	22
	1.	The traditional approach	22
	2.	The register-based approach	23
	3.	The rolling census approach	25
	4.	Traditional enumeration with yearly updates of characteristics	25
	5.	Further information about these and other alternative census designs	26
III.	Planning, organization and administration of population and housing censuses		
	A. Pr	eparatory work	
	1.	Legal basis for a census	
	2.	Financial basis for censuses	29
	3.	Budget and cost control	
	4.	Census calendar	
	5.	Administrative organization	

CONTENTS

	6.	Census communication activities – user consultations, census publicity and	
	pron	notion of census products	33
	7.	Plans for the quality assurance and improvement programme	34
	8.	Mapping	35
		(a) The strategic basis for a census mapping program	35
		(b) Conceptual planning for census mapping operations	36
		(c) Operational Implementation of a mapping program	40
	9.	Small-area identification	42
	10.	Living quarters and household listing	
	11.	Tabulation programme and database design	
	12.	Ouestionnaire preparation	
	13	Census tests	47
	14	Plan of enumeration	48
	15	Plans for data processing	48
	16	Plans for census outputs and dissemination	49
	17	Staff recruitment and training	50
	18	Avoiding gender biases and biases affecting data on minority population	51
в	Cont	racting Out	52
C.	Oual	lity assurance and improvement programme	54
U.	1	Need for a quality management system for the census process	55
	2	The role of managers	57
	3	Quality improvement and the census	58
	5.	(a) Tonic selection	59
		(h) Form Design and Testing	59
		(c) Field operations	59
		(d) Processing	60
		(e) Dissemination	60
		(f) Evaluation	61
D	Enur	neration	62
υ.	1	Method of enumeration	62
	2	Timing and length of the enumeration period	63
	2. 3	Supervision	64
	J. Л	Use of sampling in the enumeration	
F	т. Data	-processing	64
L.	1	Method of processing	
	1. 2	Coding	65
	2. 3	Data canture	
	<u></u> Л	Data editing	68
	4.	(a) Micro editing	68
		(a) Micro-cutting	60
	5	(b) Output of Macro Eutring	09
	5. 6	Master file for tabulation	70
	0. 7	Mathada of tabulation	70
	/. 0	Drevisional conque regulta	/1
Б	ð. Data	PTOVISIONAL CENSUS LESUITS	12
г.		Database for micro data	12
	1.	Database for micro-data	/3

		2. Database for macro-data	73
		(a) Publication equivalents	74
		(b) Table-oriented databases	74
		(c) Time-series and indicators databases	75
		(d) Graphing and mapping databases	75
		3. Geographical information systems	75
	G.	Dissemination of the results	76
		1. Publication of printed tables and reports	77
		2. Dissemination on computer media.	77
		3. On-line dissemination	78
		4. Privacy and confidentiality	79
		5. Acceptance of results	79
	H.	Evaluation of the results	80
		1. Purpose of census evaluation	80
		2. Methods of census evaluation	81
		3. Demographic analysis for census evaluation	81
		4. Post enumeration survey	82
		5. Re-interview surveys	83
	I.	Analysis of the results	84
	J.	Systematic recording and dissemination of census experience	84
IV.	Use	e of sampling in population and housing censuses	85
	A.	Features of acceptable sampling operations	85
		1. Accuracy and precision	85
		2. Census resources	86
	В.	Sampling as an integral part of the census	86
		1. Tests of census procedures	86
		2. Enumeration of topics in addition to those for which universal coverage is requi	ired87
		3. Post-enumeration surveys and field checks	88
		4. Quality assurance and improvement programmes	88
		5. Advance tabulation of selected topics	89
		6. Final processing and tabulation	89
	C.	The census as a basis for subsequent sample surveys or survey programmes	89
V.	Un	its, place and time of enumeration for Population and Housing Censuses	90
	A.	Units of enumeration	90
		1. Person	91
		2. Household	91
		3. Institutional population	92
		4. Living quarters	93
	-	5. Building.	93
	В.	Place of enumeration	94
		1. Concepts relating to place of residence	94
	C	2. Operational issues relating to place of residence and place of enumeration	95
	C.	Enumeration point of time	96
	D.	I me reference period for data on the characteristics of the population and of living	07
	р	quarters	97
	Par	t I wo: I opics for population and housing censuses	98

VI.	Topics to be investigated in population censuses	
	A. Factors determining the selection of topics	
	1. Priority of national needs	
	2. Importance of international comparability	
	3. Suitability of topics	
	4. Resources available	99
	B. List of topics	99
	C. Population Count	102
	1. Population Present Count	103
	2. Usual Resident Population Count	103
	3. Service Population Count	104
	4. Difficult to enumerate groups	105
	5. Population Subgroups for which counts are required	106
	D. Definitions and specifications of topics	106
	1. Geographical and internal migration characteristics	106
	(a) Place of usual residence	107
	(b) Place where present at time of census census	107
	(c) Place of birth	108
	(d) Duration of residence	109
	(e) Place of previous residence	109
	(f) Place of residence at a specified date in the past	109
	(g) Total population	110
	(h) Locality	111
	(i) Urban and rural	111
	2. International migration characteristics	112
	(a) Country of birth	113
	(b) Citizenship	114
	(c) Year or period of arrival in the country	115
	3. Household and family characteristics	115
	(a) Relationship to head or other reference member of household	116
	(b) Household and family composition	118
	(c) Household and family status	120
	4. Demographic and social characteristics	121
	(a) Sex	121
	(b) Age	121
	(c) Marital status	123
	(d) Religion	124
	(e) Language	124
	(f) Ethnicity	125
	(g) Indigenous Peoples	125
	5. Fertility and mortality	126
	(a) Children ever born alive	128
	(b) Children living	129
	(c) Date of birth of last child born alive	130
	(d) Age, date or duration of first marriage	130
	(e) Age of mother at birth of first child born alive	131

		(f) Household deaths in the past 12 months	131
		(g) Maternal or paternal orphanhood	132
	6	Educational characteristics	133
		(a) Literacy	133
		(b) School attendance	134
		(c) Educational attainment	135
		(d) Field of education and educational qualifications	136
	7	Economic characteristics	138
		(a) Purpose of collecting data on the economic characteristics of persons	138
		(b) Economic Activity of persons	138
		(c) Activity status	139
		(d) Selection of "job" to be classified by descriptive variables	152
		(e) Occupation	153
		(f) Industry	154
		(g) Status in employment	154
		(h) Time worked	156
		(i) Time-related underemployment	157
		(j) Income	158
		(k) Institutional sector of employment	159
		(1) Employment in the informal sector	160
		(m) Informal employment	160
		(n) Place of work	161
	8	B. Disability characteristics	162
		(a) Disability status	162
		(b) Disability framework and terminology	163
		(c) Use of census to screen for disability and follow-up with other surveys	167
	9	9. Agriculture	167
		(a) Introduction	167
		(b) Own-account agriculture production	167
		(c) Characteristics of all agricultural jobs during the last year	168
VII	. Topi	cs to be investigated in housing censuses	169
	A. I	Factors determining the selection of topics	169
	1	. Priority of national needs	169
	2	2. Importance of international comparability	170
	3	5. Suitability of topics	170
	Z	Resources available for the census	170
	B. I	ist of topics	170
	C. I	Definitions and specifications of topics	172
	1	. Living quarters - type of	173
		(a) Definition of living quarters	173
		(b) Classification of living quarters	173
		(c) Definitions of each type of living quarters	174
	2	2. Location of living quarters	180
		(a) Address	181
		(b) Locality	181
		(c) Urban and rural	181

3.	Occupancy status	181
4.	Ownership - type of	182
5.	Rooms - number of	183
6.	Bedrooms - number of	183
7.	Useful floor space	183
8.	Water supply system	184
9.	Drinking water - main source of	185
10.	Toilet – type of	185
11.	Sewage disposal	186
12.	Bathing facilities	187
13.	Kitchen – availability of	187
14.	Fuel used for cooking	188
15.	Lighting and/or electricity - type of	189
16.	Solid waste disposal – main type of	189
17.	Heating - type and energy used for	189
18.	Hot water – availability of	189
19.	Piped gas – availability of	190
20.	Use of housing unit	190
21.	Occupancy by one or more households	190
22.	Occupants - number of	191
23.	Building - type of	191
	(a) Definition of building	191
	(b) Classification of buildings by type	191
	(c) Compound	192
24.	Year or period of construction	192
25.	Dwellings in the building – number of	193
26.	Construction material of outer walls	193
27.	Construction material of floor, roof	194
28.	Elevator – availability of	194
29.	Farm building	194
30.	State of repair	194
31.	Age and sex of head or other reference member of household	194
32.	Tenure	195
33.	Rental and owner-occupant housing costs	196
34.	Furnished/unfurnished	196
35.	Information and communication technology (ICT) devices – availability of	196
36.	Cars – number of	198
37.	Durable household appliances – availability of	198
38.	Outdoor space – availability of	198
Part Th	ree: Census Products and Data Utilization	199
VIII. Censu	s Products and Services	199
A. Pub	lication of Census Results	200
1.	Provisional results	200
2.	l abulations	200
	(a) Basic/essential tabulations.	201
	(b) Recommended tabulations	201

		(c) Additional tabulations	
		3. Thematic statistical or analytical reports	
		4. Other reports	
		5. Procedural report	
	В.	Census Mapping.	
		1. Basic mapping	
		2. Thematic mapping	
	C.	Interactive Digital Outputs	
		1. Overview	
		2. Geographical information systems	
	D.	Customized Products and Services	
	E.	General Interest Products and Special Audience Reports	
		1. Posters	
		2. Brochures	
		3. Special audience reports	
		4. Videos	
		5. Instructional materials	211
IX.	Ce	nsus Data Utilization	
	A.	General Uses of Population and Housing Censuses	
		1. Uses of population censuses	
		2. Uses of housing censuses	
	В.	Uses of Small Area Data	
	С.	Cross-cutting and Emerging Social Issues	
		1. Statistics on gender	217
		2. Statistics on children and youth	
		3. Statistics on the elderly	
		4. Statistics on persons with disabilities	
		5. Ethno-cultural characteristics	
	D.	Development Indicators	
	E.	Promotion of, and Training on, Uses of Census Data	

Figures

Figure 1: Quality assurance circle	
Figure 2: Quality circle dependency chart	
Figure 3: Economic Production as defined in current SNA	141
Figure 4: Labour Force Framework	144
Figure 5: Usually Active Population	150
Figure 6: Interaction of disability concepts	164

Tables

Table 1: List of population census topics	100
Table 2: Housing census topics by unit of enumeration	171
Table 3: The Millennium Development Goals, targets and indicators	223
Table 4: Millennium Development Goal indicators that could be produced from population and	
housing censuses	226

Annexes

Annex 1: The International Classification of Functioning and Disability (ICF) model	. 228
Annex 2: List of recommended tabulations for population censuses	. 231
Annex 3: List of recommended tabulations for housing censuses	. 277
Annex 4: List of additional tabulations for population censuses	. 297
Annex 5: List of additional tabulations for housing censuses	. 340

Note

The designations used and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretarial of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area, or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The term "country" as used in this publication also refers, as appropriate, to territories or areas.

The designations "developed regions" and "developing regions" are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgement about the stage reached by a particular country or area in the development process.

Symbols of the United Nations documents are composed on capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

Preamble

The most important capital a society can have is human capital. Assessing the quantity and quality of this capital at small area, regional and national levels is an essential component of modern government.

Aside from the answer to the question "How many are we?" there is also a need to provide an answer to "Who are we?" in terms of age, sex, education, occupation, economic activity, and other crucial characteristics, as well as to "Where do we live?" in terms of housing, access to water, availability of essential facilities, access to the Internet. The answers to these questions provide a numerical profile of a nation which is *sine qua non* of evidence-based decision making at all levels, and is indispensable for monitoring universally recognized and internationally adopted Millennium Development Goals.

Some nations are capable of generating this numerical profile for small areas from administrative sources or through a combination of statistical methods. However, the vast majority of countries produce these data on population and housing by conducting a traditional census, which in principle entails canvassing the entire country, reaching every single household and collecting information on all individuals within a brief stipulated period.

The traditional census is among the most complex and massive peacetime exercises a nation undertakes. It requires mapping the entire country; mobilizing and training an army of enumerators; conducting a massive public campaign; canvassing all households; collecting individual information; ; compiling vast amounts of completed questionnaires; analyzing and disseminating the data.

In most cases a traditional census is an opportunity for mobilizing the country and making statistical activity visible. For many people the census may be the only time that the state reaches them and asks them a question. In addition, successfully conducting a census becomes a matter of national pride for many countries.

Ensuring confidentiality is crucial for the census to succeed. Thus, it has to be made clear that the only reason for collecting individual data is for the production of statistics and that there would be no dissemination of individual information or any non-statistical linkage with existing records in other government databases and data collections. Indeed, Principle 6 of the *Fundamental Principles of Official Statistics* states: *Individual data collected by statistical agencies for statistical compilation, whether they refer to natural or legal persons, are to be strictly confidential and used exclusively for statistical purposes.*

The United Nations recommends that all countries or areas of the world produce detailed, population and housing statistics for small area domains at least once in the period 2005-2014, around the year 2010. For most nations that means conducting a traditional census and this issue of the *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses* thus focuses on it, while describing other approaches for generating reliable statistics on population and housing.

The population and housing census represents one of the pillars for the data collection on the number and characteristics of the population of a country. The population and housing census is part of an integrated national statistical system, which may include other censuses (for example, agriculture), surveys, registers and administrative files. It provides at regular intervals the benchmark for the population counting at national and local levels. For small geographical areas or sub-populations it may represent the only source of information for certain social, demographic and economic characteristics. For many countries the census also provides a unique source for a solid framework to develop sampling frames.

Part One: Operational aspects of population and housing censuses

I. Essential Roles of the Census

1.1. Evidence-based decision making is a universally recognized paradigm of efficient management of economic and social affairs and of overall effective governing of societies today. Generating relevant, accurate and timely statistics is a sine qua non of this model; producing detailed, statistics for small areas and small population groups is its foundation. The role of the population and housing census is to collect, process and disseminate such small area detailed statistics on population, its composition, characteristics, spatial distribution and organization (families and households). Censuses are periodically conducted in the majority of countries in the world; they have been promoted internationally since the end of the nineteenth century, when the International Statistical Congress recommended that all countries in the world conduct them. Since 1958, the United Nations has been also actively promoting the population and housing census by compiling the Principles and Recommendations for the Population and Housing Censuses.

1.2. While the roles of the population and housing census are many and will be elaborated in details throughout this version of Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses, several of the essential ones are listed below:

(a) The Population and Housing Census plays an essential role in public administration. The results of a census are used as a critical reference to ensure equity in distribution of wealth, government services and representation nation-wide: distributing and allocating government funds among various regions and districts for education, health services, delineating electoral districts at the national and local levels, measuring the impact of industrial development, to name a few. Establishing a public consensus on priorities would be almost impossible to achieve if it were not built on census counts. A wide range of other users including the corporate sector, academia, civil society and individuals make use of census outputs, as described in paragraph 1.23.

(b) The census also plays an essential role in all elements of the national statistical system, including economic and social components. Census statistics are used as benchmarks for statistical compilation, or as a sampling frame for sample surveys. Today, the national statistical system of almost every country relies on sample surveys for efficient and reliable data collection. Without the sampling frame derived from the Population and Housing Census, the national statistical system would face difficulties in providing reliable official statistics for use by the government and the general public.

(c) The basic feature of the census is to generate statistics on small areas and small population groups with no/minimum sampling errors. While the statistics on the small areas are useful in their own right, they are important because they can be used to produce statistics on any geographical unit with arbitrary boundaries. For example, in planning the location of a school, it is necessary to have the data on the distribution of school-age children by school area, which may not necessarily be equal to the administrative area units. Similarly, small area data from the census can be combined to approximate natural regions (e.g. watersheds or vegetation zones) which do not follow administrative boundaries .Since census data can be tabulated for any geographical unit, it is possible to provide the required statistics in remarkably flexible manner. This versatile feature of the census is also invaluable for the use in the private sector for applications such as business planning and market analyses.

(d) The census results are used as a benchmark for research and analysis. Population projections are one of the most important analytical outputs based on census data; future population projections are crucial for all segments of public and private sector.

1.3. As outlined, it is critically important to produce detailed statistics for small areas and small population groups as a building block for efficient governance at all levels. For a vast majority of nations in the 2010 World Programme on Population and Housing Censuses, the method of choice for assembling this building block will be by conducting a population and housing census through universal and simultaneous individual enumeration of each individual within the nation's boundaries. Some nations will adopt alternative approaches; yet, all of these methods must result in identical outputs – detailed, statistics for small areas and small population groups at the same moment in time.

II. Definitions, essential features and uses of population and housing censuses

A. Definitions

1. Population census

1.4. A population census is the total process of collecting, compiling, evaluating, analysing and publishing or otherwise disseminating demographic, economic and social data pertaining, at a specified time, to all persons in a country or in a well-delimited part of a country.

1.5. Population is basic to the production and distribution of material wealth. In order to plan for, and implement, economic and social development, administrative activity or scientific research, it is necessary to have reliable and detailed data on the size, distribution and composition of population. The population census is a primary source of these basic benchmark statistics, covering not only the settled population but homeless persons and nomadic groups as well. Data from population censuses should allow presentation and analysis in terms of statistics on persons and households and for a wide variety of geographical units ranging from the country as a whole to individual small localities or city blocks.

2. Housing census

1.6. A housing census is the total process of collecting, compiling, evaluating, analysing and publishing or otherwise disseminating statistical data pertaining, at a specified time, to all living quarters¹ and occupants thereof in a country or in a well-delimited part of a country.

1.7. The census must provide information on the supply of housing units together with information on the structural characteristics and facilities that have a bearing upon the maintenance of privacy and health and the development of normal family living conditions. Sufficient demographic, social and economic data concerning the occupants must be collected to furnish a description of housing conditions and also to provide basic data for analysing the causes of housing deficiencies and for studying possibilities for remedial action. In this connection, data obtained as part of the population census, including data on homeless persons, are often used in the presentation and analysis of the results of the housing census.

B. Essential features

1.8. The essential features of population and housing censuses are individual enumeration, universality within a defined territory, simultaneity and defined periodicity.

1. Individual enumeration

¹ For the definition of "living quarters", see para. 2.412.

1.9. The term "census" implies that each individual and each set of living quarters is enumerated separately and that the characteristics thereof are separately recorded. Only by this procedure can the data on the various characteristics be cross-classified. The requirement of individual enumeration can be met by the collection of information in the field, by the use of information contained in an appropriate administrative register or set of registers, or by a combination of these methods.

2. Universality within a defined territory

1.10. The census should cover a precisely defined territory (for example, the entire country or a welldelimited part of it). The population census should include every person present and/or residing within its scope, depending upon the type of population count required. The housing census should include every set of living quarters irrespective of type. This does not preclude the use of sampling techniques for obtaining data on specified characteristics, provided that the sample design is consistent with the size of the areas for which the data are to be tabulated and the degree of detail in the cross-tabulations to be made.

3. Simultaneity

1.11. Each person and each set of living quarters should be enumerated as of the same well-defined point in time and the data collected should refer to a well-defined reference period. The time-reference period need not, however, be identical for all of the data collected. For most of the data, it will be the day of the census; in some instances, it may be a period prior to the census.

4. Defined periodicity

1.12. Censuses should be taken at regular intervals so that comparable information is made available in a fixed sequence. A series of censuses makes it possible to appraise the past, accurately describe the present and estimate the future. It is recommended that a national census be taken at least every 10 years. Some countries may find it necessary to carry out censuses more frequently because of the rapidity of major changes in their population and/or its housing circumstances.

1.13. The census data of any country are of greater value nationally, regionally and internationally if they can be compared with the results of censuses of other countries that were taken at approximately the same time. Therefore, countries may wish to undertake a census in years ending in "0" or at a time as near to those years as possible. It is obvious, however, that legal, administrative, financial and other considerations often make it inadvisable for a country to adhere to a standard international pattern in the timing of its censuses. In fixing a census date, therefore, such national factors should be given greater weight than the desirability of international simultaneity.

C. Strategic objectives

1.14. The development of plans for a census should include the early preparation of a set of strategic aims and objectives that may be used to guide the implementation of the plans, set standards and form a set of benchmarks against which outcomes can be assessed to help determine the success of the census. Ideally, the starting point for developing these objectives would lie in combining information derived from evaluating previous census experience, from understanding user requirements for information from the census and from assessing changes in both society and technology. In practice, some of this information is difficult to obtain and often provides conflicting guidance. Nevertheless, such objectives can be used to assist in planning major elements of the process. Although the strategic objectives of the census will be specific to individual countries and will differ according to local circumstances, they can be described under the headings Census content, Impact on the public and on the census staff, Production of census results, and Cost effectiveness.

1.15. *Census content:* the aim is to ensure that the topics are appropriate for meeting the demonstrated requirements of users, taking into account considerations of cost-effectiveness. Subsidiary objectives under

this element relate to (*a*) suitable consultation with existing and potential users at all stages, (*b*) establishment of measurable standards of reliability incorporating user views on priorities and (*c*) adequate testing of new topics to ensure successful collection and production of reliable results.

1.16. Impact on the public and on the census staff: the aim is to ensure that all the aspects of collection operations and the dissemination of results are acceptable to the public and fully comply with legal and ethical standards for protecting the confidentiality of individual responses. The public should be fully informed about census objectives, content and methods as well as about their rights and obligations with respect to the census. Similarly, all census staff must be fully aware of their responsibilities. Subsidiary objectives include such issues as (a) keeping completed forms and other records containing personal information secure and confidential, (b) ensuring that public support for all aspects of the census is as strong as possible and (c) producing requested customized output in a manner consistent with preventing disclosure of personal information, adhering to established reliability standards for the release of data, and implementing policies designed to safeguard the access of all users to census results.

1.17. Production of census results: the aim is to deliver census products and services and to meet legal obligations and users' needs with stated quality standards and a pre-determined timetable. Subsidiary objectives include (a) producing outputs with a minimum of error suitable for the purposes for which the data are to be used, (b) providing standard outputs for the main results and services for customized output, (c) providing access to output, (d) using geographical bases appropriate for collecting and referencing data for output, (e) improving methods of enumeration, particularly in difficult areas so as to reduce levels of under-coverage and response error, (f) improving methods of evaluation and the means to convey findings to users and (g) developing measure of quality and targets.

1.18. *Cost-effectiveness*: the aim is to plan and carry out a census as inexpensively as possible in a manner consistent with the content and quality requirements. Subsidiary objectives relate to (*a*) capturing data more cost-effectively, (*b*) using efficient, speedy and reliable processing systems that are no more complex than necessary, (c) contracting out appropriate parts of the operation where this would be both cost-effective and consistent with the other strategic objectives, particularly the need to retain public confidence in the confidentiality of individual responses, (*d*) exploring possible sources of alternative funding and, if appropriate, developing proposals for cost recovery and income-generation and (*e*) using development resources efficiently to develop prototype systems that can accommodate change and give "value for the money" in the final systems.

1.19. These objectives can be used as benchmarks to assess user requirements and may also be built into appraisal systems which, with suitable weighting, can be used to compare and review options.

D. Uses in an integrated programme of data collection and compilation

1.20. Population and housing censuses are a principal means of collecting basic population and housing statistics as part of an integrated programme of data collection and compilation aimed at providing a comprehensive source of statistical information for economic and social development planning, for administrative purposes, for assessing conditions in human settlements, for research and for commercial and other uses.

1.21. The value of either a population or a housing census is increased if the results can be employed together with the results of other investigations, as in the use of the census data as a basis or benchmark for current statistics, and if it can furnish the information needed for conducting other statistical investigations. It can, for example, provide a statistical frame for other censuses or sample surveys. The population census is also important in developing the population estimates needed to calculate vital rates from civil registration data (see paras. 1.55 - 1.57). In addition, these censuses are a major source of data used in

official compilations of social indicators, particularly on topics that usually change slowly over time.² The purposes of a continuing coordinated programme of data collection and compilation can best be served, therefore, if the relationship among the population census, the housing census and other statistical investigations is considered when census planning is under way and if provision is made for facilitating the joint use of the census and its results in connection with such investigations. The use of consistent concepts and definitions throughout an integrated programme of data collection and compilation is essential if the advantages of these relationships are to be fully realized. Of course, census-type information can also be derived from population registers and sample surveys without undertaking a complete enumeration. These alternative data sources are presented under "Types of Approaches to the Census" in paragraphs 1.58-1.70.

1.22. A population and housing census also serves as the logical starting place for work on the organization and construction of a computerized statistical database to serve continuing national and local needs for data in the intercensal period.³

1. Uses of population censuses

(a) Uses for policy-making, planning and administrative purposes

1.23. The fundamental purpose of the population census is to provide the facts essential to governmental policy-making, planning and administration. Information on the size, distribution and characteristics of a country's population is essential for describing and assessing its economic, social and demographic circumstances and for developing sound policies and programmes aimed at fostering the welfare of a country and its population. The population census, by providing comparable basic statistics for a country as a whole and for each administrative unit locality and small areas therein, can make an important contribution to the overall planning process and the management of national affairs. Population censuses in many countries also represent the very foundation of their national statistical systems, with census data providing important baseline data for policy development and planning, for managing and evaluating programme activities across a broad range of sectoral applications, and for monitoring overall development progress. An emerging use for census data is the assessment of good governance by civil society groups. The performance of democratically elected governments in improving the welfare of its citizenry can be monitored from one census to the other by ordinary citizens through the widespread and timely dissemination of census results. On the international front, the declaration of internationally agreed development agenda objectives like the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and the focus on poverty eradication with formulation of Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs) has created a huge demand for periodic, regular and timely data for the monitoring and evaluation of such programmes. The census is helping to provide such data. Further and more specific examples and applications are given, along with references to appropriate manuals and guidelines, in part three, chapter IX.

1.24. Population censuses serve many needs by providing statistical information on demographic, human settlements, social and economic issues for local, national, regional and international purposes. For example, population censuses provide basic information for the preparation of population estimates and detailed demographic and socio-economic analysis of the population. The census also provides data for the calculation of social indicators,⁴ particularly those that may be observed infrequently because they measure phenomena that change slowly over time, and those that are needed for small areas or small population groups.

² See, for example, Handbook on Social Indicators, Studies in Methods, No. 49 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E. 89.XVII.6).

³ For a fuller discussion of many of the technical and policy issues that arise in the construction and use of integrated statistical databases, see The Development of Integrated Data Bases for Social, Economic and Demographic Statistics, Studies in Methods, No. 27 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.79.XVII.14).

⁴ Handbook on Social Indicators, Studies in Methods, No. 49 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XVII.6).

1.25. One of the most basic administrative uses of census data is in the demarcation of constituencies and the allocation of representation on governing bodies. Detailed information on the geographical distribution of the population is indispensable for this purpose. Certain aspects of the legal or administrative status of territorial divisions may also depend on the size of their populations.

(b) Uses for research purposes

1.26. In addition to serving specific governmental policy purposes, the population census provides indispensable data for the scientific analysis and appraisal of the composition, distribution and past and prospective growth of the population. The changing patterns of urban/rural concentration, the development of urbanized areas, the geographical distribution of the population according to such variables as occupation and education, the evolution of the sex and age structure of the population, and the mortality and fertility differentials for various population groups, as well as the economic and social characteristics of the population and the labour force, are questions of scientific interest that are of importance both to pure research and for solving practical problems of industrial and commercial growth and management.

(c) Uses for business, industry and labour

1.27. In addition to those uses given above, the census has many important uses for individuals and institutions in business, industry and labour. Reliable estimates of consumer demand for an ever-expanding variety of goods and services depend on accurate information on the size of the population in subnational areas and its distribution at least by sex and age, since these characteristics heavily influence the demand for housing, furnishings, food, clothing, recreational facilities, medical supplies and so forth. Furthermore, the census can be used to generate statistics on the size and characteristics of the supply of labour needed for the production and distribution of such commodities and services in conformity with ILO Convention 160. Such statistics on the local availability of labour may be important in determining the location and organization of enterprises.

(d) Uses for electoral boundary delimitation

1.28. A compelling use of census data is in the redrawing of electoral constituency boundaries in most countries. This is often enshrined in the country's constitution and provides a legal basis for census taking. The current distribution of a country's population is thereby used to assign the number of elected officials who will represent people in the country's legislature.

(e) Use as a sampling frame for surveys

1.29. Population censuses constitute the principal source of records for use as a sampling frame for surveys, during the intercensal years, on such topics as the labour force, fertility, and migration histories.

2. Uses of housing censuses

(a) Uses for development of benchmark housing statistics

1.30. The housing census produces benchmark statistics on the current housing situation and is vital for developing national housing and human settlements programmes. The housing census is also valuable for providing the sampling frame for special housing and related surveys during the intercensal years.

1.31. Housing benchmark statistics are also critical for emergency planning for response to natural hazards (such as destructive storms, earthquakes, tsunamis, fires, others) or post conflict situations. Following such situations these statistics can be used to estimate the numbers of people and structures affected; the needs for emergency response and reconstruction requirements.

1.32. The Statistical Commission at its ninth session directed the attention of national statistical services to the need to develop, from housing censuses, the sort of benchmark statistics in housing that could be

supplemented by current building and construction statistics and which would provide a continuous up-todate picture of the housing position needed for the consideration of housing programmes.⁵ Since not all the basic information required to assess housing needs or to formulate housing programmes can be obtained through a housing census, additional data must be obtained through the population census, special housing surveys and environmental surveys and from vital statistics, economic statistics and so forth; but data obtained from the housing census will constitute the basic framework within which the estimates are made, indices computed and further statistical inquiries planned.

1.33. When population and housing censuses are carried out as a single operation or independently but in a well-coordinated fashion, the combined information provided is of much higher value since the essential features of both censuses are interrelated. The information on housing censuses may be analysed in association with the demographic and socio-economic condition of the occupants and, similarly, the demographic characteristics of the population may be analysed in association with the data on housing conditions.

(b) Uses for the formulation of housing policy and programmes

1.34. The formulation of housing policy and programmes represents one of the principal uses of housing census data. Housing policy is normally influenced by social and economic as well as political considerations and available factual data concerning the housing situation provide objective criteria, which it is important for policy makers to take into account.

In most countries, housing programmes encompass both governmental and private activity. The 1.35. data derived from a housing census are used by governmental authorities for making an analysis or diagnosis of the housing situation.⁶ Housing conditions are analysed in quantitative and qualitative terms and data from previous censuses are used to indicate the changes in the housing situation that have occurred during the intercensal periods; the housing deficit and future housing requirements are estimated and compared with the rates of dwelling production being attained; the characteristics of the households in need of housing are considered in relation to the availability and cost of housing. As part of overall development plans, such an analysis is necessary for the formulation of national housing programmes and for their execution.7

1.36. Commercial users also study housing census data. Those engaged by the construction industry as well as financing institutions and manufacturers of housing fixtures and equipment and household appliances assess the possible demand for housing and perceive the scope of their activities within the overall programme.

Assessment of the quality of housing (c)

1.37. The materials used for the construction of housing units (roof, walls, floor) are a significant pointer to the quality of life in different parts of a country. Trends in the type of housing materials provided by census data can show improvements in the welfare of the citizenry as the percentage of poor quality or slum like housing facilities is decreased.

3. Relationship between the population census and the housing census

⁵ Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twenty-second Session, Supplement No. 7 (E/2876), para. 117.

⁶ For some statistical indicators for measuring housing conditions, reference may be made to Statistical Indicators of Housing Conditions, Studies in Methods, No. 37 (United Nations publication, Sales No. 62.XVII.7) and to Handbook on Social Indicators, Studies in Methods, No. 49 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XVII.6). ⁷ Improving Social Statistics in Developing Countries: Conceptual Framework and Methods, Studies in

Methods, No. 25 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.79.XVII.12).

1.38. An especially close association exists between population censuses and housing censuses. The two censuses may constitute one statistical operation or they may be two separate but well-coordinated activities, but in either case they should never be considered completely independently of each other because essential elements of each census are common to both. For example, an essential feature of a population census is the identification of each occupied set of living quarters and of the persons living therein, and an essential feature of a housing census is the collection of information on the characteristics of each set of living quarters in association with the number and characteristics of its occupants.

1.39. In many countries, the population and housing censuses are taken concurrently, often with the use of a single schedule. In this way, the information on population and living quarters can be more readily matched, processing is facilitated and extensive analysis can be carried out. This also makes it possible to relate to the housing census data the information on demographic and economic characteristics of each household member that is routinely collected in the population census.

1.40. The advantages of simultaneous investigation may be offset to some extent by the additional burden on the respondent and the enumerator resulting from the increased amount of information that must be collected at one time. In countries where this is likely to be a serious problem, consideration might be given to collecting data for a limited number of topics on the basis of a complete enumeration in the population and housing census, with more complex data in both fields being collected on a sample basis only, either concurrently with or immediately following the full enumeration. Alternatively, consideration might be given to carrying out the housing census as part of the advance-listing operations of the population census.

1.41. The relationship between the population and the housing census will affect the means by which data on homeless persons are obtained. In the case of simultaneous censuses of population and housing, data on homeless persons will be obtained as part of the population census. Where the housing census is carried out independently of the population census, it will be necessary to try to enumerate homeless persons in the housing census. Information collected from enumerating homeless persons will reflect, among other things, the magnitude of the housing problem in a given locality.

4. Relationship of population and housing censuses to intercensal sample surveys

1.42. The rapidity of current changes in the size and other characteristics of populations, and the demand for additional detailed data on social and economic characteristics of population and housing characteristics that are not appropriate for collection in a full-scale census, have brought about the need for continuing programmes of intercensal household sampling surveys to collect current and detailed information on many topics.⁸

1.43. The population and housing census can provide the frame for scientific sample design in connection with such surveys (see paras. 1. 438-1.441); at the same time, it provides benchmark data for evaluating the reasonableness of the overall survey results as well as a base against which changes in the characteristics investigated in both inquiries can be measured. To permit comparison of census and survey results, the definitions and classifications employed should be as nearly alike as possible, while remaining consistent with the aims of each investigation. Because of the relative permanence of living quarters, the lists available from the housing census (with suitable updating) may also provide a convenient frame for carrying out inquiries dealing with topics other than population and housing.

⁸ Handbook of Household Surveys (Revised Edition), Studies in Methods, No. 31, United Nations, New York, 1983 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XVII.13).

5. Relationship of population and/or housing censuses to other types of censuses and other statistical investigations

(a) Census of agriculture

1.44. While the population and housing censuses have a close relationship, their relationship with the agricultural census is less well defined. However, as the result of increasing integration within programmes of data collection, the relationship between the population and housing census and the agricultural census is now far closer than in the past and countries are increasingly looking at new ways to strengthen this relationship.

1.45. One issue in relating the two censuses is that they use different units of enumeration. The unit of enumeration in the agricultural census is the agricultural holding, which is the techno-economic unit of agricultural production, while the unit of enumeration in the population census is the household and the individual within the household. However, in many developing countries, most agricultural production activities are in the household sector and households and agricultural holdings are very closely related, often in a one-to-one relationship. Establishing links between the two censuses is particularly relevant for such countries.

1.46. The agricultural census collects various household/individual data for members of the agricultural holder's household. The *World Programme for the Census of Agriculture 2010*⁹, recommends the collection of data on household size and limited data on demographic characteristics and economic activity of members of the holder's household, as well as some limited information on persons working as employees on the holding. Users may find some agricultural activity data from the agricultural census more comprehensive than from the population census because the latter normally investigates only the principal economic activity of each person during a short time reference period and this may not identify persons connected with agricultural activity on a seasonal or part-time basis. On the other hand, the population census provides data on agricultural employment and agricultural population, which is not available from the agricultural census because it only covers households associated with agricultural holders. To get a complete picture, agricultural data users will need both agricultural census data and data from the population census to meet their needs.

1.47. In planning the population and housing census, every opportunity for developing the relationship between this census and the agricultural census should be explored. This can take several forms. Definitions used in the population and housing censuses should be compatible with those used in the agricultural census so that meaningful comparisons can be made between the two data sets. The population and housing census can also be of use in the preparation of the agricultural census, such as in the demarcation of enumeration areas, the preparation of the frame for the agricultural census or, if applicable, the sample design.

1.48. In planning the National Census Programme, consideration should be given to the possibility of collecting additional agricultural information as part of the population and housing census exercise that would facilitate the preparation of the frame of agricultural holdings in the household sector, for a subsequent agricultural census. This could be done as part of the pre-census cartographic work and/or listing exercise or by adding an additional question to the census questionnaire. In the later case, an additional item at the household level could be included on whether any member of the household is engaged in own-account agricultural production activities. Alternatively, additional data at the individual person level could be collected to identify persons involved in agricultural activities during a longer period, such as a year. These new items are included in these principles and recommendations (see para. 2.371-2.380). Where countries choose to adopt this approach of using the population and housing census to establish a frame for the agricultural census, the agricultural census should be synchronised with the population and housing census, and conducted as soon as possible after the population and housing census, while the frame is still up-to-date.

⁹ FAO Statistical Development Series No. 11 (Rome, 2005)

1.49. The opportunity of linking population and agricultural census data should also be explored. This could add considerable analytical value to data sets from both censuses and save on data collection costs. Much of the demographic and activity status data collected in the population census are also collected in the agricultural census. If data from the two censuses could be linked, it would no longer be necessary to collect these data again in the agricultural census.

1.50. Some countries conduct the data collection for the population and agricultural censuses as a joint field operation. Normally, each census retains its separate identity and uses its own questionnaire, but field operations are synchronized so that the two data collections can be done at the same time by the same enumerators. Occasionally, the two censuses are merged into one. This may have a number of advantages, but its effect on field operations and data quality needs to be carefully considered.

(b) Census of establishments

1.51. Although the collection of information on industrial and commercial establishments does not constitute a part of the population census, some of the information that is collected regarding economic characteristics of individuals can be used for preparing listings of the proprietors of such establishments and/or of the establishments themselves. Experience shows that these listings can be used in a subsequent census of establishments or for supplementing the registers of establishments maintained by most countries and utilized in their establishment censuses. While most business registers cover at the least all establishments in which more than some minimum of persons (usually five or ten) are employed, the population census can be used to collect basic information (volume, activity and employment) of business establishments with employment below the minimum number of persons, particularly those operated by self-employed persons. However, special care should be taken in the choice of the unit of enumeration to ensure that there is no double counting of establishments owned by more than one person/household. It is essential that the information from the population census be available and used shortly after the enumeration is carried out, because this information quickly can become outdated.

1.52. The population census information needed for these purposes is the industry and the status (as employer, employee, own-account worker and so on) of economically active persons, the name and address of their establishment (if any) and (for employers) the number of employees. If all of this information appears in the census questionnaire, the data for small employers and own-account workers can be extracted from the schedule or from the processing documents after the enumeration. If only industry and status appear on the schedule, the remaining information may be obtained from the desired group at the time of the population census enumeration and entered in a separate schedule.

(c) Census of buildings

1.53. It is necessary, as part of the housing census operation, to inquire whether or not all buildings (both residential and non-residential) are occupied. Thus, it may be convenient to record basic information for all buildings at the time of the housing census, even though detailed data may be collected only for those in which housing units or other sets of living quarters are located. The comprehensive list thus obtained sometimes provides the basis for a census of buildings, carried out concurrently with, or subsequent to, the housing census, or it may provide for the identification of special types of buildings significant for other inquiries, such as the census of establishments or the school census. If a listing of households is to be carried out before the actual enumeration, this would be most ideal for carrying out such an exercise.

(d) System of current housing statistics

1.54. Current housing statistics refer to housing activity. They reflect the number of dwellings constructed and certain related information such as value, number of rooms, floor space, and so forth, as well as number of dwellings destroyed or demolished. These data are usually obtained from a system of data collection based on the administrative procedures required in connection with the activity in question.

For example, construction statistics may be derived from permits issued for the construction of dwellings, from records of dwelling starts or completions, or from certificates of occupancy. Statistics on dwellings destroyed may be obtained from the records maintained for the levying of rates and the collection of taxes. Compiled monthly or quarterly, current housing statistics reflect changes in the housing inventory and, although they may serve other purposes, they are also used to update the benchmark data obtained from housing censuses.

(e) Civil registration and vital statistics

1.55. Population census data serve as denominators for the computation of vital rates, especially rates specific for characteristics normally investigated only at the time of the census. Conversely, census results, time-adjusted by vital and migration statistics, can provide estimates of the future size, distribution and other characteristics of the population of the total country and subnational areas. Furthermore, census data on fertility can provide a benchmark check on the reliability of current birth statistics, and vice versa. It is consequently desirable that procedures for the collection of population census data, vital statistics and migration statistics be closely coordinated with regard to coverage, concepts, definitions, classifications and tabulations.

1.56. It may be noted that some countries have linked individual census returns for infants under one year of age with birth registration reports for the year preceding the census date as a means of checking on the completeness of one or the other type of investigation. Linkage of death reports with census returns has been used to compare the information on characteristics of the deceased as reported in the two sources. While the many problems posed in the past by the one-to-one matching of two types of records have not been entirely solved, their severity has been mitigated by developments in computer technology. Before under-taking either of the procedures, however, countries should consider carefully the possible advantages of using household sample survey returns rather than census returns in the operation. Moreover, such operations have to be carried out in complete accord with national laws and policies governing the confidentiality of information obtained in the census if public confidence in the census is to be maintained.

1.57. In the establishment of a vital registration system, census results on the geographical distribution of the population can be useful in the consideration of appropriate locations for registration offices.

E. Methodological Approaches

1.58. As part of their preparation for the 2010 global round of population and housing censuses, some countries are developing, testing, and implementing alternative methods for collecting, processing and disseminating key statistics that used to be generated by the traditional approach to population and housing censuses. Even so, the crucial principle of providing detailed statistics at the lowest geographical level remains of paramount importance.

1.59. While this publication focuses on the traditional approach to taking a census, the following section briefly describes the major approaches currently in use or development. Many of the principles and guidelines described, in particular the recommended definitions and tabulations, will be applicable to all approaches.

1. The traditional approach

1.60. During the 2000 round of censuses, over 190 countries conducted a population census and an overwhelming majority utilized the traditional approach to a census. It is a complex operation of actively collecting information from individuals and households on a range of topics at a specified time, accompanied by the compilation, evaluation, analysis and dissemination of demographic, economic, and social data pertaining to a country or a well-delimited part of the country. Members of the public respond to a census questionnaire, or interviewers are deployed to collect information from respondents. For interviewer-based censuses, enumerators assigned to different enumeration areas cover all households and persons in the enumeration area during a specified and usually short period of time to meet the requirements of universality and simultaneity. Both short and long forms may be used within the context of

traditional censuses. The short form contains only questions intended for universal coverage, while the long form is used to collect information only from a sample of households and population. This form usually contains detailed questions on a particular topic in addition to covering complex topics such as fertility. Both are utilized during the same time frame of the census. While the long form estimates are not based on full coverage they are regarded as census output. Overburdening the census form is likely to adversely affect response rates and quality of data.

1.61. Because various methods can be used for collecting the data, including a mailed or dropped off questionnaire, the telephone, the Internet, personal visit follow-up, or a combination of such methods, countries employing the classic design may utilize very different methodologies in doing so.

1.62. The traditional census has unrivalled merit in providing a snap shot of the entire population at a specified period and the availability of data for relatively small geographic domains. In that sense the traditional census is perhaps unique in nature. This approach is particularly suitable for the countries having a federal structure and having the requirement of producing population numbers by various social and economic characteristics simultaneously for all geographical levels to meet the needs of planning and allocation of funds. The delimitation of electoral boundaries also demands simultaneity, and for that reason also the traditional approach may be better. But at the same time, traditional census offices undertake. In addition to costs, this complex task requires full awareness and agreement of the public to participate in it. Because of their complexity and expense, such censuses are usually mounted only once every five or ten years, so that census data is often several years out of date. Therefore, for measuring the current state of employment and similar indicators it is necessary to conduct a sample survey during the intercensal period.

1.63. The following is a list of the essential features of a census. Under each is a description of how the traditional census approach incorporates these features into its design and production..

Individual enumeration

Separate information is collected for each individual. Individual information may be reported by a proxy.

Universality within a defined territory

Single form approach:

Where only one form is used all persons within the defined territory who meet the coverage rules are enumerated.

Short form/Long form approach:

Short form topics: All persons within the defined territory who meet the coverage rules are enumerated. *Long form topics:* These are surveyed and some persons are not covered by the enumeration but are represented in the results. However, since the collection is coincident with the short form it is possible to relate them together and by convention this survey is included as part of the census.

Simultaneity

The census information is provided with respect to a census moment in time. In cases where the information refers to a longer period (e.g. "the last week") that period is expressed relative to the instant.

<u>Periodicity</u>

In principle the census is taken at least once in every 10 year period.

2. The register-based approach

1.64. The concept of producing census-like results based on registers emerged in the 2000 round of censuses, although it has been debated and tested to various degrees since the 1970's, and several countries succeeded in using this approach to generate census data in the 1990 round of censuses. The underlying philosophy in this concept is to take advantage of the existing administrative sources, namely different

kinds of registers of which the following are of primary importance: registers of households, dwellings and individuals. In the next iteration these are linked at the individual level with information in business, tax, education, employment and other relevant registers. While it is theoretically possible to link the records on the basis of the name of the individuals, the existence of a unique identification number for each individual, household and dwelling is of crucial importance as it allows much more effective and reliable linking of records from different registers.

1.65. One of the essential preconditions of this approach is that the country should have an established central population register of high quality and good coverage linked with a system of continuous updating. In the case of local registers, continuous updating along with communication between the register systems must be good. It is essential to harmonise the concepts and definitions when linking registers and forming the linkages will be difficult when no universal personal identifier exists. Quality assessments should be conducted. If these conditions are not met, the country should rely on the population census as the primary source of benchmark population statistics.

1.66. The primary advantages of a register approach are reduced cost for the census process and greater frequency of data. However, establishing and conducting administrative registers involve higher costs than the census alone may justify. It is a more useful and effective administration that must prove the need of a register, not the statistics alone. The use of administrative data sources also involves certain drawbacks that need to be taken into account. One such drawback is the fact that register-based descriptions have to rely exclusively on the information contents that can be formed on the basis of the registers available. In addition, in not a few countries, registers are legally restricted to use for another purpose such as making statistics. This imposes some restrictions with respect to characteristics that are available for description, and may also undermine international comparability. When a registered data item is changed, new or updated information is not always registered immediately or at times not registered at all. In this case, accurate information is not adequately reflected in the register.

1.67. Related approaches, such as the combination of traditional and register-based designs, and register-based censuses combined with sample surveys, are described at http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/sources/census/default.aspx.

1.68. The following is a list of the essential features of a census. Under each is a description of how the register-based census incorporates these features into its design and production.

Individual enumeration

Separate information is collected regarding the characteristics of each individual. Information may be provided to an administrative registers for other purposes. Access to administrative data for statistical purposes is given by law and/or by agreement. Then (i) the data may be passed as individual records to the population register; or (ii) the registers may be temporarily linked to form a proxy Population Register

Universality within a defined territory

All persons within the defined territory who meet the coverage rules are enumerated. In concept the enumeration is taken from a Population Register in which the fields for attributes are populated from subsidiary Registers relating to specific topics. Where a subsidiary does not have an entry for a person the entry in the Population Register is imputed as zero.

Simultaneity

Information is extracted from the Register as it reflects the situation of individuals at the census moment in time. The timing of the Census extraction may require careful thought where register update cycles vary.

Periodicity

Extracts meeting the other three essential features can be taken at a desired frequency, including "at least once in 10 years" noting again the need to manage the updating cycles for the registers.

3. The rolling census approach

1.69. A "rolling census" represents an alternative to the traditional model of the census by means of a continuous cumulative survey, covering the whole country over a long period of time (generally years), rather than a particular day or short period of enumeration. The two main parameters of a rolling census are the length of the period of enumeration (which is linked to the frequency of updates required) and the sampling rate (which depends on the available budget and the geographic levels required for dissemination purposes). For example, it is possible to build a sample framework in order to produce national results with one annual survey, regional results by cumulating three annual surveys, and small areas results by cumulating five years. Annual surveys may be conducted over the full course of the year or in a particular month or other shorter timeframe.

1.70. Implementation of such an approach requires highly complex sampling and modelling techniques; a high quality sampling frame in order to allow sampling at very low levels of geography (a master address file updated annually is indispensable); and successful consultation about the approach with major stakeholders, including national and local governments and the user community. The main advantage of this approach is the higher frequency for updating data: a traditional census provides an update every five or ten years, whereas a rolling census provides annual updates. Another advantage is in smoothing the burden of the census, instead of the high cost and labor requirement of a traditional census. Further, it is possible to improve the process year after year, and test new technologies. The central disadvantage is that this approach no longer provides a simultaneous snapshot of the whole population, complicating comparisons between areas due to different enumeration times, even if data collected at different dates are adjusted to have the same reference period which is usually lagged by two or three years to allow for the cumulation of the annual surveys. In addition, as the rolling census covers the whole country over a long period of time, some respondents move. Thus some people may be surveyed several times and some other people will not be surveyed. As a result universality might not be ensured unless careful methodological adjustments are made.

1.71 The following is a list of the essential features of a census. Under each is a description of how the rolling census approach incorporates these features into its design and production.

Individual enumeration

Separate information is collected regarding each individual. Information may be reported by a proxy. Where the cycle does not cover all persons, it could be considered that each record is not for an individual but the group that the individual represents through their selection in the sample.

Universality within a defined territory

A proportion of the population is sampled in each period. Two cases may pertain: (i) In some cases an area may be fully enumerated over one or more years. (ii) In other cases every person in the population has a chance of selection but at no time is it possible to say the entire population has responded.

Simultaneity

A range of mathematical techniques (e.g., averaging and/or projections and/or interpolation) may be employed so that the data is a statistical depiction of the average situation as of a period of time.

<u>Periodicity</u>

Information is collected at regular brief intervals. For very small geographic areas periodicity of dissemination will be determined to some extent by the rate of sample accumulation.

4. Traditional enumeration with yearly updates of characteristics

1.72. This design is a variation on the traditional census design and focuses on counting the population and collecting only the basic demographic data in the census year. A very large household survey collects and tabulates detailed demographic, social, economic, and housing data every year throughout the decade, replacing a census-year long form to collect this detailed data from a sample of the population. It may not

be necessary to collect data on all topics every year, since requirements of such data may vary from country to country. The survey samples a percentage of addresses each year to approximate a long form sampling rate over a certain period of the census cycle, such as five years. To improve the reliability of the estimates for small governmental units, a larger proportion of addresses are sampled. The sample is cumulated over time to produce the lowest levels of geographic detail similar to the long form sample in the traditional census. Survey data are weighted to reflect the sample design, to adjust for the effects of nonresponse, and to correct for survey undercoverage or overcoverage. This final weighting adjustment helps to ensure that estimates of the characteristics are comparable to the standard, which is the periodic census. Once the final weights are applied, the statistics are generated, including population estimates, proportions, means, medians, and ratios.

1.73. The primary impetus for this approach is twofold - to provide more frequent and relevant data on the population than is available when a census is conducted only once a decade and to reduce the operational risks associated with the census. However, such a program is costly and technically difficult to mount, and requires a multi-year program of comprehensive planning, development, and testing. Particularly in countries with legal requirements for complete counts of the population at intervals, the complete count component of the census design is crucial. As with the previous case publication of small area data has to be delayed by two to three years to allow for the cumulation of the annual surveys.

1.74. The following is a list of the essential features of a census. Under each is a description of how the traditional enumeration with yearly updates approach incorporates these features into its design and production.

Individual enumeration

Separate information is collected regarding each individual. Information may be reported by a proxy.

Universality within a defined territory

(i) All persons within the defined territory who meet the coverage rules are enumerated in the short census component. (ii) A predefined proportion of the population is sampled in each update period but the update sample never covers the entire population although through sampling methods the entire population is represented.

<u>Simultaneity</u>

(i) The Short Form Census component is taken with respect to a Census instant; thus, all information in that component refers to the census instant. (ii) The update component will utilize temporal reference periods appropriate to the enquiries undertaken. A range of mathematical techniques (e.g. averaging and/or projects and/or interpolation and/or weighting) may be employed so that the data is a statistical depiction of the average situation as of a period of time relating to and/or updating the Short Form census information.

Periodicity

(i) The short census component is taken at least once in 10 years. (ii) The update component is collected at regular brief intervals. (iii) Output is provided at such intervals as data of sufficient quality and lowest geographical coverage are able to be compiled.

5. Further information about these and other alternative census designs

1.75. The United Nations Statistics Division's 2010 World Programme website depicts the approaches of a number of countries to the traditional census design and alternative designs. Each participating country describes their approach, including a discussion of how the design meets the essential features of a census, and the necessary conditions (legal, policy, and technical) for implementing such an approach. Additional Internet links are provided for further information about each design. To access this information go to: http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/sources/census/default.aspx.

III. Planning, organization and administration of population and housing censuses

1.76. The present chapter deals primarily with the operational aspects of traditional population and housing censuses and the very lengthy and detailed preparations that must be made in order to take such censuses successfully. Because of the technical and administrative complexities involved, the principles of census management provided below should be considered a review of the points to be taken into account in planning and executing a traditional population and housing census rather than a comprehensive treatment of the subject.

1.77. A population and housing census (or a population census by itself) is perhaps the single most extensive, complicated and expensive statistical operation, consisting of a complex series of interrelated steps that a country undertakes. Some of these steps, for example, the printing of the census questionnaires, may be massive in scale; other steps, for example, the training of the supervisory staff, must be carried out in a uniform manner in all parts of the country; and still others, for example, the actual enumeration, must incorporate both features.

1.78. To ensure that the diverse operations occur in their proper sequence and in a timely manner, the entire census and its various component steps must be planned for carefully in advance. An apparently minor oversight in planning may lead to serious defects in the census results and to costly inefficiencies in the census operations. Careful planning is therefore critically important to a successful census, not only in countries with comparatively little statistical experience but also in those with a well-developed system of statistics. Coupled with the need for careful planning is the need for appropriate organizational and administrative arrangements and procedures. Such arrangements and procedures are necessary to ensure both that the extensive human and material resources mobilized for the census are effectively and efficiently used and that its very tight time schedules and massive logistic requirements are met.

1.79. It must be stressed, however, that at each stage of census planning and implementation, the various administrative arrangements developed will need to be guided by sound technical considerations. The quality and timeliness of the census data will almost certainly suffer unless sufficient weight is given throughout the census to a wide range of subject-matter and statistical requirements. This is especially valid in the case of cross-cutting issues, such as information technology, present throughout many essential phases of the census. It is for this reason that the management of a large statistical operation, and especially a population and housing census, cannot be considered a routine administrative assignment.¹⁰

1.80. All censuses do not follow a uniform pattern but there are certain major elements that must be taken into account in every one of them. In general, census operations can be divided into six phases: (*a*) preparatory work, (*b*) enumeration, (*c*) data processing, (*d*) building of needed databases and dissemination of the results, (*e*) evaluation of the results, and (*f*) analysis of the results. In addition, distinct sets of operations related to the systematic recording of census experience and the quality assurance and improvement programme must accompany and support the main census operations. It will be readily apparent that these phases are not entirely separate chronologically or mutually exclusive. For example, some census results are usually released before all data-processing activities are completed; the analysis and the dissemination of census results overlap quite extensively; and the systematic recording of census experience should start at the beginning of the preparatory work and continue through all the subsequent phases. Furthermore, certain elements that are discussed below under Preparatory work, such as the budget and staff, may have to be amended according to the circumstances arising at a later stage of operations. The elements of each of these phases are discussed below in terms of their implications for sound census management.

¹⁰ For a discussion of statistical management generally, see The Organization of National Statistical Services: A Review of Major Issues, Studies in Methods, No. 21 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.77.XVII.5) and Handbook of Statistical Organization, Third Edition: The Operation and Organization of a Statistical Agency, Studies in Methods, No. 88 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.03.XVII. 7).

1.81. When the housing census and the population census are carried out together, the planning, organization and administration of the two censuses should be considered separate aspects of a single, integrated field and processing operation, that is, the separate technical requirements of each census have to be taken into account in planning and carrying out the combined operation. A combined population and housing census will be more costly and complex than each census considered by itself but less expensive than the total operation of carrying out both censuses independently. Moreover, the combined census will be capable of providing a greater wealth of cross-tabulations than both censuses carried out independently. Each country will have to decide on the trade-offs involved in light of its own needs and circumstances (see also paras. 1.38-1.41). However, from the perspective of overall census planning and management, the decision is not a critical one. Whether the census is a combined operation or a separate population or housing census, the basics of census planning, organization and administration as described below remain unchanged, except for the added cost and complexity of the combined operation.

A. Preparatory work

1.82. The preparatory work for the census is necessarily long in duration and involves many quite distinct activities. However it should be noted that many of these activities may be inter-related but also overlap to a large extent. When planning these preparatory activities techniques for project management should be employed¹¹. For purposes of presentation, these preparatory activities are divided into 18 somewhat arbitrary elements:

- 1. Legal basis for a census (paras. 1.83 and 1.84)
- 2. Financial basis for census (paras. 1.85-1.94)
- 3. Budget and cost control (paras. 1.95-1.102)
- 4. Census calendar (paras. 1.103-1.107)
- 5. Administrative organization (paras. 1.108-1.111)
- 6. Census communication activities user consultations, census publicity and promotion of census products (paras. 1.112-1.116)
- 7. Plans for the quality assurance and improvement programme (paras. 1.117 and 1.118)
- 8. Mapping (paras. 1.119-1.163)
- 9. Small-area identification (paras. 1.164-1.172)
- 10. Living quarters and household listing (paras. 1.173-1.176)
- 11. Tabulation programme and database design (paras. 1.177-1.180)
- 12. Questionnaire preparation (paras. 1.181-1.192)
- 13. Census tests (paras. 1.193-1.196)
- 14. Plan of enumeration (paras. 1.197-1.200)
- 15. Plans for data processing (paras. 1. 201-1.205)
- 16. Plans for census outputs and dissemination (paras. 1.206-1.209)
- 17. Staff recruitment and training (paras. 1.210-1.215)
- Avoiding gender biases and biases affecting data on minority populations (paras. 1.216-1219).

1. Legal basis for a census

1.83. Legal authority for the census is required for fixing primary administrative responsibility, for obtaining the necessary funds, for determining the general scope and timing of the census, and for placing a legal obligation upon the public to cooperate and give truthful answers and a legal obligation upon the enumerator to record the responses faithfully. In addition, the confidentiality of the individual information should be strongly and clearly established in the census legislation and guaranteed by adequate sanctions so as to provide a basis for the confident cooperation of the public. In countries that lack permanent legal

¹¹ See, for example, United Nations "Handbook on Census Management for Population and Housing Censuses" ST/ESA/STAT/SER.F/83/Rev.1 pages 8 -16.

authority for the taking of periodic censuses, it is important to act early to establish ad hoc legal authority or, preferably, legislation calling for a system of periodic censuses.

1.84. The principle of conceptual and organizational flexibility should be observed in drafting the census legislation. Thus, the inclusion of too rigid provisions regarding the type of data to be collected or the structure and relationships of the various parts of the census organization is undesirable. Rather, necessary details should be contained in the census regulations promulgated by the census authorities. Moreover, provision will have to be made, in either the legislation or the regulations, for sanctioning the use of simplified administrative procedures, including the appropriate delegations of authority for the procurement of equipment and supplies and the recruitment of personnel during the operational phase of the census.

2. Financial basis for censuses

1.85. A census is the primary source of data about the size and characteristics of the population; it provides a demographic profile of a country and is the basis for developing area sampling frames for use in surveys. Censuses however are one of the largest and most costly statistical activities that governments and/or their national statistics office would undertake, and costs are on the rise. As a result, countries have been forced to delay or even cancel a census due to funding constraints. Countries that were able to secure partial funds or secure funds but at a late stage of their census preparation were forced to compromise their data collection, data processing and dissemination of census results. It is therefore recommended that all census operations including planning, enumeration, analysis and dissemination be budgeted from the beginning with efforts made to mobilize the required funds. Inflation should be taken into account keeping in mind that duration has an impact on cost.

1.86. Given the above, there is growing pressure to look into the solutions to census funding, taking into account the role of key stakeholders i.e. governments and their statistical agencies, and the greater involvement of international donors as well as the private sector. Concurrently, cost effective strategies need to be put in place that would reduce census costs without compromising the quality of census data.

1.87. It should be emphasized, however, that censuses cannot be carried out merely by national statistical offices alone. Rather it should be seen as a national task involving all stakeholders. Thus, Governmental departments, non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and the private sector end-users should be consulted (in all stages) to ensure the legitimacy and need for conducting the census and at the same time improving the advocacy for sufficient funding. Although the conducting of a census is principally financed by the government, it must be designed in partnership with all political actors so as to obtain their involvement in the census process. A high level committee which consists of the government, the private sector and civil society including NGOs, communities and donors could be formed to discuss issues related to the cost and funding of the census.

1.88. National statistical offices need to advocate the importance of investing in censuses within their own governments. The possibility of cost sharing with other government departments such as education and health ministries should be further explored. These institutions could be supportive in providing logistics arrangements for the census such as the use of existing infrastructure, transportation, communications facilities and the sharing of employees of other government departments.

1.89. Good planning is an essential prerequisite for not only achieving a cost effective census but also for securing comprehensive financial support for its funding. The census must bring out the links between the various components which will include types of resources (such as manpower, cost of stationery, or printing) as well as tasks using the resource including as data collection and capture, data processing, data management and dissemination. Cost tags must be attached to each of these components together with a justification.

1.90. For each stage of the census the costs must be optimized, which will be assisted by making careful choice of the appropriate technology. Recent advances in technologies such as scanning, data processing and data management may be of assistance in achieving significant reductions in cost (or doing

more within the same cost). In addition the use of such technologies will speed up the computation of results and enhance its preservation. However the choice of technology should be made only after carefully evaluating the costs and benefits of possible options. Some potential risks to canvass include that: some approaches only become cost effective for large operations; some are dependent on expensive and scarce inputs (for example very high quality paper); and others require significant upfront investments in high quality computers. The options examined in the benefit/cost analysis could incorporate consideration of leasing (rather than purchasing) equipment and/or sharing it between countries that are undertaking censuses at convenient times.

1.91. Outsourcing with the private sector could be considered as another cost saving option particularly in the context of publicity or for systems development for data collection or data processing. While not necessarily less costly, it may contribute technical expertise or resources not available within the national statistical office. Paragraphs 1.220 - 1.227 present in more detail criteria for countries considering outsourcing some of their census activities.

1.92. It is anticipated that international donors will continue to play a pivotal role in helping to fund census costs in many countries. Technical cooperation and assistance from international agencies has also contributed greatly to the success of censuses in many countries. However, pooling of these donor resources could be a cost effective strategy for meeting the rising costs of censuses.

1.93. It is worth noting that a population and housing census has some intangible positive values. It is an opportunity for mobilizing the whole country and reaching even the most remote corners of it. In the life of many citizens a regular census is often the only time that the state reaches out to them and asks them some questions. Successfully conducting a census is a matter of pride in many countries and a welcome opportunity to recruit massive labour force and generate jobs and train people in valuable tasks (such as data entry) or in other ways to add to the national infrastructure.

1.94. In general, population and housing censuses are exclusively the responsibility of national governments and structures; this is particularly true for funding of the census. Thus, all activities related to funding need to be elaborated, documented, justified and presented to all stakeholders in a transparent and comprehensive manner.

3. Budget and cost control

1.95. While no universal system of census budgeting and cost control can be suggested since financial practices vary greatly among countries, a few generally accepted principles can be noted. First and foremost, effective planning and control of the various census operations are not possible without a very careful financial estimate of the cost of each census operation, including all of its components, no matter how small. It is recommended to draft a detailed list of activities related to censuses and, as much as possible, to draft the budget in such a way that it corresponds to this list of activities. Secondly, it is critical for this census plan and budget to be presented by national statistical agencies to their respective governments with adequate lead time, to facilitate the appropriation of sufficient resources from national budgets, or where appropriate, from the international development community. Moreover, funding of the census must be accompanied and developed on a sound and adequate legal basis if effective national census operations are to be enabled.

1.96. Information on expenditures from the previous census classified by census phases, starting with the expenditure for different elements of the preparatory work and ending with expenditure for the dissemination of the census results, provides an important basis for estimating the budget of the census. Figures from the previous census will of course have to be modified in order to take into account quantitative and qualitative change in hardware and software, changes in wage rates and the costs of equipment, supplies and so on, planned changes in census content, methods and procedures, and anticipated changes in the population itself (for example, total size, percentage urban, and average household size), all of which may affect the cost structure of the census. In most countries, several cost elements tend to increase (for example, wage rates and the size of population) so that there is considerable pressure to achieve economies in other items of the census budget.

1.97 Census managers need to implement transparent accounting procedures to enable prompt release of periodic allocations of census funds by national governments.

1.98 In the case of external/donor funds, the required conditions should be established well in advance by discussion between the donor and the national statistical office. This will avoid delay in the release of such funds for census operations.

1.99 National statistics offices should set up special financial management systems that will ensure speedy disbursement of funds, proper receipting of their expenditure and a efficient audit. A clean outcome from a financial audit adds credibility to the census process so that the government and civil society are more likely to accept the final results.

1.100. To obtain the information needed to monitor the costs of the current census and that needed to plan for the next, detailed and precise data will be required on the following: (a) number and cost of census staff classified by function and manner of payment; (b) type of equipment and material used for the census, manner of acquisition (in other words, purchase or rental) and cost; (c) office space (surface measurement), classified by use and type of cost (in other words, for construction or for rent); (d) type of services used for census operations. The usefulness of the above information would be enhanced if the information could be recorded by source of funding, in other words, in terms of whether the expenditure has come from (a) the official census budget; (b) other funds of the census office (for example, a regular annual budget not specifically intended for census purposes, or general funds of the governmental agency or department of which the census office is a part); (c) other parts of the Government; (d) nongovernmental organizations. This information is needed not only for fiscal planning and control but also in order to examine the trade-offs in terms of costs and benefits among alternative ways of carrying out various census operations. Although cost experience from a previous census in a country may provide useful experience for planning the next census, considerably more caution should be exercised in using the cost parameters from other countries. Differences in census content, organization and operations, as well as in cost accounting, can introduce serious incompatibilities into such country-to-country cost comparisons.¹²

1.101. It is important that the persons at the administrative and supervisory levels who will be responsible for the execution of each operation participate in estimating the budget items. Such an organization of the work presupposes detailed advance planning and "cost-consciousness" on the part of those responsible for a census.

1.102. The census plan as executed will certainly change in a number of respects after the making of the original calculations. Consequently, a perfect correspondence between the estimates and the final costs is not to be expected. Changes in the prices of major components of census costs should be monitored on a regular basis with either the census budget adjusted accordingly or the census plans modified. Indeed, the development of the census budget is usually an incremental process in which rough initial estimates are replaced by more detailed and precise statements of resource requirements. Throughout the period of census-taking and compilation of census results, the budget will have to be re-examined and performance compared with plans. With detailed information on expenditure, the governmental and census authorities will be better able to exercise control over keeping the development of census operations. This information is also very useful for studying possible improvements in census techniques and census methodology.

¹² See United Nations Statistical Commission and Economic Commission for Europe, Conference of European Statisticians, Costing Aspects of Population and Housing Censuses in Selected Countries in the UN/ECE Region, Statistical Standards and Studies, No. 46 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.II.E.15).

4. Census calendar

1.103. An indispensable element in the planning of a census is a calendar or timetable indicating the sequence and estimated duration of each of the component operations of the census. At the early stages of census planning, a provisional calendar of selected key dates should be prepared as an overall framework for the census. The calendar should be revised and made more detailed as planning proceeds, with the aim of establishing final dates as soon as practicable.

1.104. Such calendars are essential, since they indicate the dates on which each of the numerous operations that make up a census are to be started and completed, and they serve as a guide for measuring the progress of each stage of the census operation. Serious delays in work, or errors in time estimates, can be detected by comparing the calendar target dates with the actual dates of each operation. A census calendar is a very efficient instrument not only in the timing control of each census operation but also in the control of the complex of all census operations that are interdependent. Therefore, when modifications in the census timetable are necessary, all related operations should be taken into consideration in order to avoid disruptions in the whole census programme. Obviously, the time schedule will differ for each national census depending upon the general census plan and the resources that are available.

1.105. The census calendar usually shows the various operations grouped into three broad sectors: (*a*) pre-enumeration, (*b*) enumeration and (*c*) post-enumeration. The last-named sector includes evaluation and analysis as well as processing and dissemination. The basic date on which the census calendar and the scheduling of all other operations hinge is the starting date for the general enumeration of the population. For purposes of control, many operations that in fact overlap are shown separately in the calendar. Census calendars sometimes take the form of a chart or graph, in addition to a detailed checklist of operations. Project management software may help in the preparation of the census calendar.

1.106. In establishing the census calendar, it is necessary to consider the relationship of the population and housing censuses to one another as well as to other statistical projects or other large-scale national activities. Although a joint population and housing census operation is likely to constitute, for the period of its duration, the major statistical undertaking of the Government, care should be taken that it does not interfere unduly with the other regular statistical activities that may be going on at the same time. A balanced statistical programme should avoid having too many simultaneous competing inquiries which might place too heavy a burden on the statistical services and on the public, with a possible resultant loss of both administrative efficiency and public cooperation.

1.107. It is often useful to draw up a comprehensive diagram showing the sequence, interrelationship and timing of all the various steps in the census programme. This type of analysis often reveals the consequences of a delay at one step in terms of delays at other steps in the programme. It can therefore be a useful instrument against which the actual progress of the census preparations may be compared. Indeed, some countries have attempted to use such critical path analyses not only as an aid to census planning but also as a tool for the ongoing management of their census operations. In these instances, it is essential to establish procedures for revising the critical-path analysis in response to actual progress. It should be stressed, moreover, that the usefulness of such devices depends on how soundly they are designed, applied and understood. A project management software can be useful in linking the diagrammatic structure of census operations with information about nodes and/ or centres of responsibility for individual broad or detailed operations so as to control the chain of responsibility. In such a case, other tools, commonly referred to as groupware and collaboration software as well as internet forums, can support census operations by providing an environment for exchange of information, files, and data among dispersed teams.

5. Administrative organization

1.108. In planning the organization and administration of a census, it is important to consider the role and relationship of the various executive and advisory organs. National, subnational and local commissions and committees are frequently useful in the planning and preparations of a census. Such bodies may be

composed of representatives of governmental agencies and of non-governmental users of the census data, particularly those involved in policy-oriented analysis of census results and analytical studies of the social, economic and demographic situation of the country. It is important, however, that their advisory and promotional functions be clearly defined and that the final responsibility for planning rest with the executive agency.

1.109. There are definite advantages in having an office continuously responsible for census work established as an integral part of the statistical system of a country. Such an office assures continuity in census work and is the principal centre for the formulation of the programme and the initiation of preparatory work for the next census. Its permanence permits the development of specialized and experienced personnel and the maintenance of statistical and cartographic information, including cross-cutting issues such as information technology, essential for planning the next census.

1.110. At the pre-enumeration stage, the census office will need to be expanded to form the nucleus of the full census organization, which must be capable of directing the field organization during the preparatory work as well as during the enumeration. In order to provide immediate supervision in each area, field offices at various levels are needed for the later part of the preparatory work, including staff recruitment and training, as well as for the enumeration period. Supervisory personnel in such offices should be persons who, being familiar with the particular area and the local language, are able to deal with local problems. This does not mean, however, that all supervisory positions must be filled by persons from the area. Personnel may be transferred from the central office or from other areas as the need arises.

1.111. Subsequent to the enumeration, the census organization is usually readjusted to meet the needs involved in compiling, evaluating, analysing and publishing the results and to provide the continuity desirable for promoting the continued use of census materials and the development of improved methods.

6. Census communication activities – user consultations, census publicity and promotion of census products

1.112. A comprehensive programme of communications for a population and housing census covers three distinct audiences: (a) major users of census data, (b) persons and institutions participating in the census operations and (c) the general public. Since the census is a national activity that is completely dependent for its success upon the wholehearted cooperation and assistance of the general public and many governmental and local organizations, the entire communications effort should be developed as a coordinated activity in close conjunction with the other substantive preparations for the census. These communications activities are valuable not only for informing others about the census but also for providing census authorities with early and continuing information about the reactions to census plans and activities of the general public in various parts of the country and of key persons, groups and institutions.

1.113. Consultation with users of census data on topics, on definitions and, particularly, on planned tabulations and the development of the census database is an indispensable step in the preparations for the census that should be taken early. These consultations will assist the census authorities in planning for a census that, within the resources available, is as responsive as possible to user needs in terms of the collection, processing, tabulation, storage and availability of meaningful data. Such consultations can also serve to foster a wider and more informed understanding of and support for census plans and activities. The users to be consulted should be from governmental departments, ministries, universities and other research institutions, the private sector, and other organizations (or individuals) representing the economic, social, educational and cultural life of a country. It is often more useful to hold separate consultations with different types of users with common interests, such as administrators, policy makers, planners, demographers, researchers, users in the business community and so forth, rather than a simultaneous meeting of all data users. Such combined meetings frequently prove frustrating to participants because there are substantial differences among users in their technical background and in their concern with the details of census content and operations. Because of the importance of the census in providing data for local planning and administration, it is also often advisable to have consultations with users in provincial and local governments and institutions in various parts of the country. Particularly in large countries or countries where the provincial or local governments have a comparatively high degree of autonomy,

consultations with users at the subnational level is essential if the full potential of the census is to be achieved.

1.114. In order to complete the preparatory work for the census and to carry out the census enumeration itself, the census office will have to expand its staff substantially. In addition, numerous governmental and non-governmental organizations outside the census office may be called upon to provide personnel, equipment, supplies, space, transportation or communications facilities and so on to help in the census work. As a result, large numbers of temporary personnel will have to be trained (see paras. 1.210-1.215) and the contributions of a diverse group of national and local organizations will have to be effectively mobilized. A well-planned communications programme can contribute to both efforts.

1.115. Arranging the publicity for the census is another of the important tasks in the census operation. This entails an educational campaign, the purpose of which is to enlist the interest of the general public and its cooperation. The aims, as a general rule, are not only to dissipate any anxiety regarding the purposes of the census but also to explain the reasons for the various questions in the questionnaire and to offer some guidance as to the manner in which these questions should be answered. The publicity campaign may also be an important tool for increasing the completeness of census coverage, particularly among hard-toenumerate groups. It is desirable that planning for the general publicity campaign should start as soon as the census is authorized. The campaign itself should be closely synchronized with other census activities and full-scale publicity should not begin too far in advance of the date on which enumeration is scheduled to start. Plans for the publicity programme should be closely coordinated with those for the census tests (see paras. 1.193-1.196). The programme will have to provide the publicity needed to carry out the census tests. In addition, the programme can use these tests to study the impact of alternative publicity materials and methods. If either the cartographic or house-listing operations require extensive fieldwork and widespread contacts with the public, it should be recognized that personnel involved in these activities often provide the public with its first impression of the census. Training and publicity programmes should take this factor into account. The general campaign should be directed to all sections of the country and all segments of the population through the use of all available publicity media. The general campaign may be supplemented by a number of specialized campaigns aimed at specific segments of the population.

1.116. An integral part of census communication and publicity is informing key census data users and the general public about the many uses of population and housing censuses (1.23 - 1.37) and planned census outputs (1.206 - 1209). Making transparent why censuses are undertaken and what they are used and useful for helps alleviate possible misconceptions by the general public, thus increasing participation and census coverage, and the utilisation of census results and products. It is critical that such communication strategies are developed as an integral part of census planning, and not left as an optional add-on.

7. Plans for the quality assurance and improvement programme

1.117. Most countries conduct population and housing censuses, once in 10 years. Thus current experience is limited. But experience from previous population and housing censuses as well as other censuses such as agricultural census is very useful to plan for a quality assurance and improvement programme for the current one. Moreover, numerous activities that compose the census operation have to be carried out in a limited time period. This means that countries must employ a large number of persons for census work for a few weeks or months. Usually a different set of persons are employed on a temporary basis for each of these operations. As a result, the quality of work is likely to vary from person to person, from one area to another and from one time to another. It is therefore important to be able to measure how well each census operation is proceeding by building in quality assurance programme is to detect errors so that remedial actions can be taken even as the census operations continue. Thus, a quality assurance programme should also be viewed as a quality improvement programme. Without such a programme, the census data when finally produced may contain many errors which can severely diminish the usefulness of the results. If data are of poor quality, decisions based on these data can lead to costly mistakes. Eventually the credibility of the entire census may be called into question.

1.118. The quality assurance and improvement system should be developed as part of the overall census programme, and integrated with other census plans and procedures. The system should be established at all phases of census operations, including planning, pre-enumeration, enumeration, document flow, coding, data capture, editing, tabulation and data dissemination. Establishing a quality assurance and improvement system at the planning stage is crucial to the success of the overall census operations. For a more extensive discussion of the components of a quality assurance and improvement programme, see paragraphs 1.228-1.277 below.

8. Mapping

1.119. There is widespread recognition that it is important for national statistical agencies to develop a continuing cartographic capability to serve their specialized cartographic needs. Such a capability can make a major contribution to the population and housing census and other elements of the national statistical system. A continuing cartographic capability within the statistical agency can also contribute to the analysis and presentation of census results.

1.120. However statistical agencies are not mapping agencies and should not, for the most part, try to duplicate the functions of one. Likewise, mapping agencies are not statistical agencies and often may not fully appreciate the statistical value of the information they hold or how best to present statistical information in map-based products. Despite this, undertaking a census can provide a catalyst for the statistical and mapping agencies to work together to the benefit of both agencies and the community.

1.121. It should be stressed that there is now a wide range of techniques and technologies available for use in a census mapping exercise (and it is likely that before the conclusion of the 2010 World Programme of Population and Housing Censuses further options will become available). The following sections do not make any recommendation as to which system would be most appropriate for any country or countries at any stage of development. Rather, these sections summarise the options available at the time of writing and note particular issues that should be addressed by countries in deciding the type of operation to be undertaken for their census.

(a) The strategic basis for a census mapping program

1.122. The quality of maps used in the census has a major influence on the quality and reliability of census data.

1.123. In the enumeration phase they play a vital role in guiding enumerators to dwellings and other places where people are likely to be during the enumeration period. They are important in ensuring full and unduplicated coverage of geographic areas.

1.124. It is still the case that in many countries there are only a limited range of maps available and these often do not show sufficient detail to enable the boundaries of small areas to be clearly defined. This is particularly likely to apply in areas of unplanned settlement. It is thus common to supplement the maps with other material such as:

- (a) lists of households (preferably compiled by statistical agency staff as part of the process of delineating enumeration areas, but on occasion provided by local leaders) see paragraphs 1.173 to 1.176; and/or
- (b) a textual description of the boundary including roads, railway lines, power lines, rivers etc. This description may also include obvious landmarks on the boundary (school buildings, water points etc).

1.125. However it is not appropriate for field staff to rely entirely on a list of households, written or verbal descriptions and directions, or on local knowledge of the area boundaries. Reliance on verbal description or local knowledge very often leads to confusion and error because people tend to have mental

images (or mental maps) of places and these images may not coincide with the area as it really is reflected in the design of the EA. For the same kind of reason, the supervisor's mental map of an enumeration area may differ markedly from that of an enumerator. To overcome such problems it is important that the best possible quality maps be the basis for census enumeration operations and that the collection staff receive comprehensive training in the correct use of the maps and associated textual material if that is provided.

1.126. Similarly, maps, more commonly as digital products, play an increasingly important role in the dissemination phase. Statistics compiled from census data can be geographically referenced and provide for methods of analysing the geographic characteristics of those statistics. Maps may then be used effectively to relate statistical data to the geographical area to which the census results refer. This makes the statistics easier to understand and more readily usable both by expert users and the general public.

1.127. In addition to the maps required for the census, a systematic, complete and up to date listing of localities is required. Such a listing is needed for the coding of place names and for determining to what extent data for localities will be tabulated. In some regions, the establishment of a definitive list of localities is a major operation because of difficulties arising from the frequent fragmentation, disappearance or combination of small localities, and from changes in name, variations in spelling, the existence of more than one name for the same place or the use of identical names for different places. This listing should be held as a formal data base or as an integral component of the data bases forming part of a Geographic Information System (GIS)¹³.

1.128. Where a digital base map is prepared this may be able to be used, in conjunction with GIS technology as the basis for coding information supplied in the census. This could apply to address of usual residence now and/or in the past; place of work and similar topics.

(b) Conceptual planning for census mapping operations

1.129. The types of maps required for census mapping include the following: (a) Small-scale reference maps for use in the census agency to manage the overall operation; (b) Large-scale topographic maps for use by enumerators; (c) Maps of the sub-regions or administrative areas, for the use of managers, showing the location of small population settlements and dominant physical features such as roads, rivers, bridges and the type of terrain.

1.130. The lead times necessary to create, maintain, print and distribute enumeration area (EA) maps are significant and careful consideration should be given to the mapping activity during the census planning and preparation phases. The duration of the lead time for a country will be determined by a wide range of factors including the number of maps to be produced; the technology available to produce them; availability of funds to acquire additional resources and the time required for distribution of the maps to field staff. However as a working rule it could be suggested that the mapping program be established working back from a deadline of reproducing the last map 3 months before the Census day. This will provide sufficient time to distribute the maps prior to commencing the training of field staff. Particular care must be taken in this regard where consideration is given to using more advanced technologies (see paragraphs 1.135 to 1.142). Additional time may be required to gain the capacity needed to use the technology effectively.

1.131. Prior to developing the mapping programme for the census, consideration needs to be given to the geographic classification to be used and the mapping infrastructure available to carry out the mapping tasks. As the geography on which the census is collected will determine the geography on which the census data can be disseminated, a geographic classification should be devised in conjunction with the development of census mapping. The details of designing a general geographic classification, including,

¹³ Readers should refer to the United Nations publication Handbook on Geographic Information System and Digital Mapping for Population and Housing Censuses (ST/ESA/STAT/SER.F/79), for further details on GIS mapping.
the definition of the various areas of the geographic classification and their relationship to one another, are more complex than those involved in census mapping and will not be covered further in this volume¹⁴. However the design of EAs and other census management areas are of crucial importance for the census and are outlined in the following paragraphs.

(i) Design criteria for enumeration areas

1.132. Enumeration areas (EAs) are fundamental to both the statistical areas structure and to the census management area structure. Issues that need to be considered include:

(a) Achieving complete coverage by showing clearly that there are no gaps in the area to be enumerated;

(b Improving the ability of personnel to manage field operations effectively by recognizing the workload limits of enumerators and ensuring that EA boundaries are designed so that they follow easily recognizable features such as roads, waterways, established walking tracks and railway or power lines. The use of features such as village or local government boundaries, should be carefully considered, taking into account the difficulty of identifying boundaries using features such as compass bearings or lines of sight;

(c) To the extent possible the design of enumeration areas should avoid including significantly different types of housing within a single EA. This will facilitate dissemination of information on specific housing situations such as slums (an issue specified as part of the Millennium Development Goals); and

(d) Dissemination objectives also require taking into account the demand for small area data, the confidentiality of personal information and to be able to be aggregated to present information on larger geographic units. For some defined boundary areas an approximation formed by aggregating EA boundaries may be used for dissemination.

1.133. Procedures should be developed that will allow a comparability listing of areas from one census to the next. In cases where this is not possible, the criteria can outline design principles that will allow users to easily compare EA-based data across censuses.

(ii) Design criteria for census management areas

1.134. Census management areas will consist of aggregations of EAs brought together for ease of managing the enumeration staff. Where existing government staff and structure are used for enumeration purposes, the census management areas may be the same as the administrative regions. It should be noted that this may be a matter of administrative convenience and the particular hierarchy (or way of combining EAs into larger areas) for this purpose need have no role in the design of areas for the dissemination phase which must be driven by the needs of users.

(iii) Appropriate technology

1.135. Before census mapping commences, the census agency needs to determine the appropriate technology for mapping. An agency should assess existing maps available in any format, that are known to be accurate, and use them with new maps prepared as required. The new maps can either be produced as hand-drawn maps of EAs; incorporate overlays or other technological assistance; or a Geographic Information System (GIS) could be implemented. These options are described in the following paragraphs.

¹⁴ For an example of a more detailed description of the units that are considered in one country's statistical geography see Chapter 1 of Australian Bureau of Statistics "Australian Standard Geographical Classification" Bulletin 1216.0. The range of units classified are shown in the structural chart in that chapter. Note that the lowest unit "Census Collection District" is equivalent to Enumeration Area.

1.136. In circumstances where it has not been possible to acquire appropriate base maps for areas of geography, enumerators (or other enumeration staff) may produce hand-drawn maps, accompanied by a textual description of the boundary features, to enable a successful enumeration. Hand-drawn maps do not possess the level of accuracy offered by high-quality topographic maps, but are an option when maps for an area:

- (a) do not exist; or
- (b) are too small a scale to provide sufficient detail for an EA map; or
- (c) are seriously out of date and cannot be updated in the time available.

1.137. Where reasonable-quality topographic maps are available, they should be used as a base and handdrawn EA boundaries can be added as an overlay on transparent film and the combination photocopied for use by the enumerators. All base maps produced for census should be referred to a unique, consistent, geodetic reference system all over the country.

1.138. Where accurate and current maps at relevant scales are not available for a country, or part of a country, the technological alternatives described in the following paragraphs could be employed subject to consideration of the constraining factors described in paragraphs 1.139-1.142:

- (a) Satellite images: although currently relatively expensive to acquire, the price of satellite imagery is reducing in real terms. A satellite image typically covers a large area and can be cost-effective compared to other sources. Imagery should be pre-processed by the supplier so that it is rectified and geo-referenced (i.e., a known scale and orientation, with some latitudes and longitudes, printed on the face of the image).
- (b) Aerial photography: Acquisition of aerial photographs for large tracts of a country may be expensive. However, existing archives of photographs can be an excellent resource for preliminary counts of dwellings and as a base for basic maps. In some cases digital aerial photographs can be a cost effective way of initiating some components of a Geographic Information System (GIS).
- (c) Global Positioning Systems (GPS): Making hand-drawn maps, or digital maps from a GIS for use by enumerators in the field can be greatly assisted by GPS. A simple, hand-held GPS receiver will give latitude and longitude coordinates with reasonable accuracy of key points. Depending upon the system selected a GPS may also track linear features and thus be useful for mapping boundaries. Maps printed from a GIS or hand-drawn map can be enhanced by the addition of latitudes and longitudes recorded at key points to provide orientation, scale and absolute position. Such information will be particularly valuable for dissemination purposes or if the work is a component of developing a GIS for later use.

1.139. The implementation of strategies using such technologies must be thoroughly planned with the guidance of staff, or external experts, with formal qualifications in the use of advanced mapping technology. It is particularly important that: the cost of acquiring and maintaining the hardware required to use this technology is factored into the budget (and that a sound cost-benefit analysis has been made undertaken to support such changes); and adequate plans are made to ensure the availability of sufficient quantities of hardware in time for the census¹⁵.

1.140. It should be noted that there may be additional risks due to the need for equipment to be operated in sub-optimal conditions including poor weather, dusty conditions and/or poor lighting. Despite its versatility, GPS may not be able to differentiate the coordinates of overlapping or closely located dwellings in multi-storey buildings and in this circumstance should only be regarded as providing coordinates for the building, rather than the dwelling units within it.

¹⁵ It is unlikely that suppliers in most countries will be able to supply several thousand GPS receivers or Personal Data Assistants without considerable advance notice.

1.141. It is important to ensure that where such systems are employed they are clearly understood by enumeration staff. This should be achieved by ensuring that the staff, whether at the cartographic update stage or enumeration stage, are given adequate training in the interpretation of the maps. Should the maps be incorporated in digital devices such as Personal Data Assistants the staff should be trained in use of both the hardware and the software.

1.142. As with all other significant changes to census procedures it is crucial that census geographic and mapping processes are successfully included in tests prior to being used in the main operation. This is particularly the case where a change in level of technology is being considered.

(iv) Geographic Information Systems

1.143. In recent years, many countries have adopted the use of GIS to facilitate census mapping in both the production of enumeration maps and dissemination products. As the cost is reducing, and the basic technology is now well established it is expected that this will continue. It is likely that the census could be a useful catalyst for increasing capacity within the statistical office (or the country as a whole). Adoption of GIS should thus be seen as a major strategic decision with impacts beyond the census operation, and many issues need to be considered.

1.144. The (potential) benefits and costs of GIS are summarised as follows:

- (a) Benefits
 - (i) A closer linkage between maps for enumerators and map-based products for users.
 - (ii) The cost of intercensal updating of the base map will be less with a digital base map.
 - (iii) Producing duplicate maps may be less expensive with a GIS solution.
 - (iv) GIS will have increased ability to undertake quality assurance of geographic boundaries.
 - (v) The census agency will have a greater ability to perform spatial queries under GIS.
 - (vi) Space needed to store input maps for digital purposes will be far less.
- (b) Costs
 - (i) GIS requires additional technical expertise
 - (ii) GIS will require a higher level of computing infrastructure.
 - (iii) A clerical census system can proceed on the basis of basic maps. However, use of GIS in this task requires that a digital map base exists. If it is necessary to create the digital map base, significant lead times are required, as well as significant funding. In both cases, more experienced technical staff are required;
 - (iv) In most cases, the preparation of maps and/or GIS will not be the core business of a statistical agency.

(v) Contracting out for census mapping

1.145. The development of a mapping project beyond rudimentary clerical systems requires considerable knowledge of mapping, cartography and geographic systems. In the event that a census agency cannot draw on such skills from within the agency, it may be required to contract out some or all of the elements of preparation of census maps.

1.146. Mapping for field purposes under a contract or agreement basis requires the statistical agency to specify its requirements to the contractor. These may include the following: (*a*) Acquiring the base map data; (*b*) Creating (or obtaining) the statistical boundaries and aligning them to the base map; (*c*) Providing a process for EA designers to advise on changes to boundaries (and updates to associated spatial data); (*d*) Producing hard-copy maps as specified for field work.

1.147. The statistical agency would undertake the EA design work and validation of the associated aspatial data, as well as take delivery of the hard-copy maps for quality assurance checks and subsequent delivery into the field logistics programme. The statistical agency must also accept full responsibility for the maps meeting the required quality standards and delivery of the maps to field staff as required. The

statistical agency would also provide, after the census, any feedback received from enumerators about the base map that may be of use to the mapping agency.

1.148. Mapping for dissemination purposes is more difficult because the outputs will involve representation of statistical information (with, or as part of, a map) and often be accompanied by analysis or commentary about the information. Advances in mapping software have made it easier for census agencies to produce a wide variety of standard thematic maps. However, advanced mapping products may require the expertise of a contractor. In these cases, it may be better for the statistical agency to focus on the statistics and let the contractor provide the technical skills required to produce the actual products with tight quality assurance procedures in place to ensure that the output from the contractor satisfies the end users requirements described above.

(c) Operational Implementation of a mapping program

1.149. The development of a mapping system within the census agency requires the coordination of a series of complex tasks with relatively long lead times. It is important that project plans are established to manage this process. The main activities to be reflected in such plans are discussed below.

- (a) Establishing a mapping unit: The census mapping project requires a specialized project team. Where mapping activities are outsourced, the mapping project teams will be responsible for specifying the requirements of the census for mapping products and coordinating arrangements with the provider of mapping services.
- (b) *Developing a timetable*: The critical date is the date that maps must be delivered to the field. The mapping programme must commence early in the census cycle to allow sufficient time to produce a national coverage of maps well before the census date and before training of field staff.
- (c) *Sourcing of basic mapping and digital geographic data*: A major step in the mapping project is establishing a map base of the country including digital map data if required. If a census mapping project already exists the agency may still require updates to their existing holdings.

1.150. It will be most helpful if the concerned governmental authorities freeze the boundaries of various administrative units at least six months in advance of the census date so that no further jurisdictional changes are effected until the enumeration is over. This is of considerable help in delimiting enumeration areas, minimizing chances of omission or duplication and disseminating preliminary census results quickly.

(i) Sources and types of hard copy maps

1.151. Where a hard copy map base is to be used official published maps may be available from national or provincial government mapping agencies, the local government or municipal bodies. Other sources of maps may be other government agencies or private companies. Where the maps are obtained from sources outside the census agency permission to use the maps collected must first be sought from the original source, and any copyright issues addressed.

(ii) Requirements for digital mapping data

1.152. When establishing a digital geographic data base a major consideration is the determination by the census agency of data requirements. With increasing amounts of digital spatial data becoming available, it is also important that standards and a common data specification be produced to ensure data validity and consistency.

1.153. The key rules to be followed in selecting data items for inclusion are to question whether:

(a) The data item will be useful to enumerators in navigating their way around their EA; and/or

(b) The data item is relevant to users. Assessing the utility of data items to users, in a census mapping context, must place significant emphasis on the users' needs for small and/or customized areas. Data items that meet neither of those criteria should not be included in the database.

(iii) Updating maps or digital mapping data

1.154. Preparing or updating base maps, or base map digital data, requires substantial resources. The final content of base maps will have a major bearing on the accuracy and completeness of EA maps and, subsequently, the effectiveness of census enumeration. The updating of base maps should be scheduled according to priorities, based on areas in which changes to the number or characteristics of the people require the maps to be updated. Important features to be updated include:

- (a) Accurately named and presented roads and waterways;
- (b) Administrative boundaries;
- (c) Landmark features, such as schools, churches, post offices, parks and large buildings.

(iv) Operational design for Enumeration and Supervisory areas

1.155. Whether a hard copy or digital base is employed an EA design manual should be produced that contains the design criteria and the procedures to be followed when designing EAs. The manual can be used as a basis of training for those involved in the EA design process.

1.156. If possible, EA design should be conducted by regional statistical office staff who are primarily responsible for EAs in their province or region. This ensures that local knowledge can be utilized in the EA design process. A considerable part of the EA design process is the gathering of information to determine where population and boundary variations have occurred to determine the best way to design particular EAs. As a result of EA design, a list should be produced that provides the enumeration phase with all relevant field data for each EA, and the dissemination area with relevant geographical data.

1.157. The design of field supervisor and regional area boundaries can be determined at the completion of the process through the aggregation of EAs, and the allocation of geographic identification codes.

1.158. Quality assurance measures should be implemented to ensure that data are correct to a minimum standard, both for field navigation and technical correctness in cases where a digital base is to be used as an output medium.

(v) Printing and content of field maps

1.159. Careful consideration should be given to the (considerable) time required for printing maps when establishing the project plan for census mapping.

1.160. Maps should be provided to every level of field staff. At least one map must be printed for every EA in the country and it is recommended that two copies of the map be produced, one copy to be used by the enumerator and the other by the field supervisor for training and reference purposes (and subsequently retained by the statistical office as input to the following census cycle).

1.161. Other considerations for the preparation of enumeration maps (whether based upon hard copy or digital data) include the following:

- (a) Enumerators may be required to navigate in poor lighting conditions and thus details should be easily read;
- (b) The maps must be easily interpreted with text and symbols readily identifiable and correctly placed, along with the information being presented in a standard format compared to other source maps;

- (c) Boundaries (such as EA boundaries) overprinted on the maps must be clear and unambiguous;
- (d) EAs must be distinguishable when compared to the surrounding area;
- (e) Folding or refolding of large maps (above A2 in size) is inefficient for staff;
- (f) Maps need to facilitate the addition of handwritten enumerator comments;
- (g) Production of the maps should be cost-effective;
- (h) The maps should be suitable for reprinting to meet dissemination purposes where this reflects user demands.

1.162. Maps for supervisors or regional managers should be smaller scale, providing sufficient detail to identify major features but not be so large as to be impossible to manipulate easily while, for example, answering a phone call from an enumerator. In many cases, the use of inset or supplementary maps may be required if the map is to cover a relatively large area. For all levels of senior field staff the maps should show the boundaries of all subsidiary units for which they are responsible.

(vi) Maps for dissemination purposes

1.163. While preparation of maps, typically as hard copy, for enumeration purposes rightly receives the highest priority and attention from census managers the needs for maps for dissemination purposes should also be accommodated in the process. Data users require maps as hard copy or in digital form to understand how the EAs fit together and build up to higher geographic levels. Therefore, dissemination maps need sufficient topographic details in order to allow the boundaries and social and cultural features, such as schools, hospitals and major retail and work areas to be identified. Other factors that should be considered include the following:

- (a) Choose formats that are widely used within the country, so output products can be prepared readily to meet a wide market; and
- (b) The suitability of the data for commonly available desktop mapping applications.

9. Small-area identification

1.164. Two somewhat different methods are available to provide the census with a flexible capability for generating tabulations in terms of a wide variety of geographical aggregations including those needed for public and private sector data uses at the local level. The first method simply extends the traditional hierarchical system for coding all major and minor civil divisions so as to cover at the lowest level the enumeration area (EA), sometimes referred to as the *enumeration district*. The second method, which at greater cost permits finer geographical specificity, is usually based on some coordinate or grid system, such as that of latitude and longitude. This method is often referred to as a *geocoding system*.

1.165. Particularly in the absence of a comprehensive system of street names, numbers or similar addresses, the first method, which uses the EA as the key unit for the production of small-area data, is to be preferred. Proper administration and control of a census require that the EAs be well defined and their boundaries identifiable on the ground. It is useful to let EA boundaries coincide with natural dividing lines in the field -- not just rivers and major roads, but also limits of neighbourhoods and city blocks in urban areas. Not only does this help enumerators clearly understand the boundaries of their territories, it also prevents difficulties later on when small-area statistics have to be produced. As a rule, the EA boundaries are also traced on maps and the maps can carry the EA code numbers. The EA code numbers can then be included, along with the other geographical codes and the statistical information, at data entry. This makes it possible to produce, from the census database, any kind of recorded information for any given EA or combination of EAs at minimum cost, subject to the constraints imposed by the need to protect the confidentiality of individual responses (see paras. 1.376-1.377, on privacy and confidentiality).

1.166. The fact that census data, whether published or unpublished, are available by EA provides for considerable flexibility. Such flexibility can be of value given that the geographical divisions used by various branches of the administration or by other data users do not always coincide and may therefore require different regroupings. Moreover, when changes are planned in administrative boundaries, tabulation of census data by the planned new entities can also be facilitated through the EA approach. However, if these changes cross EA boundaries, and it is decided to try to retabulate the census according to the new boundaries, very expensive recoding of individual records may be involved. As an alternative, statistical concordances, showing the quantitative relationship between the previous and current classifications could be used. Further, where buildings or housing units have been geocoded these geocodes can be used to directly allocate each household to the correct area under either classification.

1.167. The tabulation of population and housing characteristics by EA, which may be shown on statistical maps, is also a useful tool for analysis. On the other hand, the linkage of data from other sources is not usually possible on the EA level because of the difficulty of obtaining such information for individual census EAs. Moreover, comparison between successive censuses is possible only to the extent that EA boundaries remain unchanged.

1.168. Countries may sometimes find it useful to have even greater flexibility in the regrouping of census data into different geographical aggregations than that provided by a coding system based on the EA. In these situations, the use of some system of geocoding may be considered.¹⁶ Among the advantages of geocoding, particularly if based on the grid squares approach, are its permanence, clarity and uniformity, as well as the possibility that it offers of interlinking statistics from a wide variety of sources. It must be stressed, however, that geocoding is more expensive than traditional methods of area coding and its technical prerequisites may not be present in many countries.

1.169. On the next level above the EA (or the block faces or nodes identified in a geocoding system), the situation in urban areas is somewhat different from that in rural ones. Large urban municipalities are often divided into units (quarters, wards, barrios, and so on), which may have a well-known and relatively permanent administrative status. Data tabulated by such units are of great practical value for all planning and analysis. If such area units do not exist or if they are too large for fruitful analysis, other, intermediate units may be formed for statistical purposes. These should be made as homogeneous as possible. In either case, these intermediate areas must be identified in the codes entered for each record. Possibilities for data linkage and for comparisons over time are clearly greatest for area units that have administrative status. Purely statistical areas that lack such status are the more useful the more widely they are recognized and the more permanently they are kept from census to census.

1.170. At a minimum, developing countries that are predominantly rural will certainly wish to be able to identify villages which are usually the most important local units in rural areas. In the past, however, the village has not been uniformly a higher-level geographical unit than the EA. Although no problem arises when larger villages are divided into several EAs (as long as a village identification code is included in the record), a serious problem does arise if a single EA is composed of two or more small villages. In this situation, the EA codes cannot be used to generate village statistics. It may therefore be advisable to limit each EA either to one village or to a portion of a village or to an area not included in any village, bearing in mind that an individual enumerator can always be given more than one EA to enumerate. There are other problems connected with identification and delimitation of villages, and these must also be dealt with in planning the cartographic work. Owing to the organic role it plays in rural life and development efforts in many developing countries, the village should not be neglected in census plans or in census statistics.

1.171. The statistical value of the village is further enhanced when it is possible to link census village data with village data from other sources. In many developing countries a wide range of data is compiled

¹⁶ For further information on geocoding see United Nations "Handbook on geographic information systems and digital mapping" ST/ESA/STAT/SER.F/79

for each village, such as location, altitude, road connections, communications, facilities of various kinds or distances from such facilities, cultural or ethnic characteristics of the population, major industries, major crops, and so forth. The village as a unit is relatively stable but in the course of time new villages are created and old ones may disappear or merge. A village directory and its cartographic base therefore require frequent updating. The use of GPS receivers to identify real-world coordinates for establishing and maintaining a village directory has great benefits (see para. 1.127).

1.172. In rural areas there may also be a need to create an intermediate statistical level between the village and the minor civil division if the former is generally too small and the latter too large for local data uses. In such cases, the intermediate units should be made as homogeneous as possible and changes in their boundaries over time should be avoided. On the other hand, it may be necessary to identify areas smaller than EA or village, particularly in the case of isolated settlements.

10. Living quarters and household listing

1.173. A list of sets of living quarters, structures containing living quarters or households that are available at the start of the census is an aid in the control of the enumeration, particularly in the absence of adequate and updated maps. Such a list is also useful for estimating the number of enumerators and the number of schedules and other census materials needed in an area, for estimating the time required for the enumeration and for compiling provisional results of the census. It is also very useful for determining the enumeration areas and for establishing necessary links between population and housing censuses when they are carried out separately.

1.174. Consideration should be given to providing permanent identification to streets and buildings, which can be used for successive censuses and for other purposes. A listing of sets of living quarters, particularly in densely settled places, cannot be made unless streets have names and buildings have unique numbers. Individual apartments in multi-dwelling buildings need to be numbered or otherwise unambiguously identified. Where these prerequisites do not exist, numbering immediately prior to the census would prove useful.

1.175. Where such information is available, it is useful to provide the enumerators with additional assistance in the form of lists of addresses to visit. Address lists will be essential if self-enumeration, whereby questionnaires are sent to the households by mail, is part of the plan. Some countries have population registers that allow more or less complete address lists to be generated relatively simply. The census can then not only use these lists, but also assist in further improving the population register by reporting any discrepancies found in the field. Where official population registers are not available, or insufficiently complete, it may be possible to obtain additional address lists from postal authorities, utility companies or the private sector (for example, mail-order companies). A definitive list for the enumerators could then be prepared by merging the lists obtained from these various sources.

1.176. Where a good population register exists, it may be possible to pre-print the household questionnaires with information such as the names of the persons expected to be members of a household, already available from the register. This reduces the response burden, accelerates the information-gathering process, and helps to pinpoint deviations. On the other hand it might have a negative psychological effect if respondents believed that the authorities were monitoring them too closely. An approach using one or several registers as the point of departure for a census that still includes full-coverage field enumeration is sometimes called a register-based census. Differences between the register(s) and the field situation will necessarily come to light, and rules will be required to deal with such differences.

11. Tabulation programme and database design

1.177. In most countries, the tabulation programme represents a compromise between the full range of desired tabulations and the limits imposed by practical circumstances. To ensure that this compromise is made transparently and efficiently it is important that planning the census dissemination task is started at

the earliest stage of the census development cycle by a round of user consultations. Once the census testing programme has identified a practicable range of data items to be included in the questionnaire, data users should again be consulted on the specific cross tabulations required and the relative priority for their production. It is essential that the programme be outlined sufficiently early so that the procedures and costs involved may be investigated thoroughly before a final decision is reached. The type of questionnaire and the method of enumeration may limit the kinds and amount of data that it is possible to collect. Publication time and costs, and the data-processing resources available, will determine the number and complexity of the tabulations that can be produced within a reasonable time. This will enable prospective census data users to make firm plans and the census data processing staff to complete all systems analysis, programming and testing work in a timely manner.

1.178. The tabulation programme presented in this set of Principles and Recommendations is that fulfilling the most essential and/or generally required tabulations. Other requests for statistical information by specialist users will be made subsequently: the databases of census information can be used throughout the intercensal period to address such needs.

1.179. It is important to plan the tabulation programme in such a way that final results can be issued within a reasonable period of time after the enumeration and before the information has become out of date for current needs. It is desirable that the details of the tables be prepared and the order of their preparation be decided early in the planning so that the processing of the data will not be delayed.

1.180. Special tabulations may be requested at any time after the census enumeration. Once the census database has been produced by recording, editing and correcting the raw data, tabulation software packages can be introduced. These packages allow fast and relatively inexpensive production of tables for selected subsets of the total database or for alternative aggregates, assuming the information has been preserved in the database in terms of the needed detailed classifications.

12. Questionnaire preparation

1.181. The following paragraphs relate only to those approaches to provision of census information which involve direct, paper-questionnaire based, enumeration of the individuals covered by the census. While many of the principles of designing a statistical questionnaire will also apply to the design of the administrative instruments underpinning a register based approach, those instruments may also be based upon specific requirements of the administrative program they address.

1.182. Further, where countries utilise the internet to collect a proportion of their census information it is possible that the layout and organisation of the data collection instrument may differ from that of the paper questionnaire. While many of the same principles (e.g. clarity of wording, omission of unnecessary material) will apply to an internet based collection of information, specialised advice should be sought regarding such issues as:

- (a) The technology employed to present the questions to the respondent;
- (b) The method of capturing the response; and
- (c) Quality assurance checks employed during the capture process.

1.183. A crucial principle is that questionnaire design must be regarded as part of an integrated process of satisfying users' demands by collecting, processing and disseminating information provided by respondents.

1.184. The type of questionnaire, its format and the exact wording and arrangement of the questions require the most careful consideration, since the handicaps of a poorly designed questionnaire cannot be overcome during or after enumeration. Among the many factors that should be taken into account in designing the questionnaire are the method of enumeration, the type of questionnaire (see para. 1.164), the data to be collected, the most suitable form and arrangement of the questions and the processing techniques to be employed.

1.185. The method of enumeration (see paras. 1.197-1.200) governs to some extent the type of questionnaire that can be used (for example, single individual, single household or single set of living quarters, multiple household or multiple living quarters, combined population and housing). It may also impact upon where each type of questionnaire can be used and the framing of the questions and the amount of explanatory material that must accompany them.

1.186. It is important that questions are free from ambiguity. Also, questions should not be offensive: in many cases this can be avoided by excluding extremely sensitive topics from the census questionnaire, but care must always be taken to consider the reaction of respondents when designing questions. In addition it should be noted that the quality of information collected in a census will be reduced if the questionnaire is excessively long. These issues should be carefully assessed during the testing program including the so-called *pilot census* (see paras. 1.195-1.196) since poorly worded questions will not only collect poor quality data, but, by confusing respondents and/or enumerators, may also impact upon other subsequent questions in the questionnaire.

1.187. Special provisions will have to be made if two or more languages are used in the country. Several methods have been used to deal with this situation:

- (a) A single, multilingual questionnaire; or
- (b) One version of the questionnaire for each major language; or
- (c) Translations printed in the enumerators' manual of the questionnaire in the various languages.

The problem is more serious in the case of non-written languages. Information on the distribution of languages in the country is important for sound census planning and if not available, will have to be collected at some stage of the census preparations. Staff recruitment and training procedures (see paras. 1.210-1.215) will also have to take language issues into account.

1.188. If the housing census and the population census are to be carried out concurrently, it will be necessary to consider whether a single questionnaire should be utilized to collect information on both population and housing topics. If separate questionnaires are used, they should be uniquely identified in a way that links the component forms so as to permit subsequent matching, both physical and automated, of the data for each set of living quarters with the data that refer to the occupants thereof. This will be particularly important where a single housing form is used to cover separate personal forms for each individual.

1.189. Use of many of the more technologically advanced processing techniques¹⁷, such as Optical Mark Reading (OMR) and Intelligent Character Recognition (ICR) will have a significant effect upon the questionnaire design. In the case of OMR it is necessary both to allow for the spacing of response areas and to ensure printing is undertaken to precise tolerances so that the data capture software is able to capture all required data but not any of the material around the designated response areas. With regards to ICR it is crucial to allow sufficient room for response areas and to ensure that these are designed according to the requirements of the processing system so that each response box contains only one character, and that the character is correctly formed (usually in upper case). In turn, many decisions regarding the detailed design of the processing system are dependent on the final content, form and arrangement of the questionnaires. As noted in paragraph 1.167, where the scanning process requires that a booklet questionnaire is separated into component pages it is important that some form of linking (eg by serial numbers or bar-codes) is employed to ensure that the correct information is amalgamated in the computer records.

1.190. Questionnaire design must be driven by a planning process based upon a dialogue between the statistical agency and those demanding information. This is essential if the questionnaire is to be designed to provide the information needed by users. This will in turn determine the tabulation programme as it is to some extent conditioned by the limitations imposed by the questionnaire.

¹⁷ See paragraphs 1.304 to 1.306 for a full description of these techniques.

1.191. The final questionnaire(s) must be drafted in time to allow for its printing (making allowance for the many contingencies, such as industrial action, breakdown of printing equipment, that can arise in these processes); undertaking quality assurance checks to ensure the quality of printing is of sufficient quality to be used in the data capture regime; adequate training of census officials at all levels, and adequate publicity to be generated on its content.

1.192. In view of the many issues to be addressed in designing a census questionnaire it is not feasible to suggest specific model questions for the census topics covered in Part Two. However images of all census questionnaires that have been made available to the United Nations Statistics Division have been placed on the UNSD website (see http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/sources/census/censusquest.htm) together with research papers relating to questionnaires used to collect information on the various topics recommended for collection.

13. Census tests

1.193. The testing of various aspects of a census plan prior to the enumeration is a very useful practice for all countries, and an essential one for countries without a long history of census-taking and for those in which fundamental changes in census methods are being considered. Census tests can be designed for different purposes and in different ways. To yield full benefits, tests should be employed for all stages of the census, including enumeration, processing and evaluation of results. Such tests can give important information on the adequacy of the field organization, the training programme, extent of respondent burden, the processing plan and other important aspects of the census. They are particularly valuable in probing for weaknesses in the questionnaire, in the instructions or in enumeration procedures that might affect the quality of the data. They can be designed to provide information on the relative efficacy of alternative methods of enumeration and on the average time required for enumerating a single household or a single set of living quarters, which information is useful in estimating staff and cost requirements. In addition, census tests serve as practical training for the nuclear staff of supervisors and other officials.

1.194. The first kind of tests carried out during census preparations are questionnaire tests. Their purpose is to test the suitability of intended census questions, including their formulation and the instructions provided, as well as the suitability of the questionnaire design. Such tests can be particularly helpful in assessing the suitability of the proposed material for enumerating specific population groups, as well as the general public. These tests are also used for estimating the time requirements in enumeration. It is practical to carry out questionnaire tests on a small scale in several purposively selected places. Because they are relatively inexpensive, repeated rounds of questionnaire tests may be carried out until a satisfactory questionnaire has been evolved.

1.195. A comprehensive test of all census procedures is often called a *pilot census*. Such large scale tests should be designed and managed to thoroughly test the entire system. Essential features of a pilot census are coverage of one or more sizeable administrative divisions and encompassment of the preparatory, enumeration and processing stages of a census, by which it thus tests the adequacy of the entire census plan and of the census organization. In order to best serve this purpose, care should be taken for resemblance in conditions of conducting pilot census with the actual enumeration as closely as possible. For this reason, it is often taken exactly one year before the planned census so as to conform to the expected seasonal patterns of climate and activity. It is generally unwise to consider the pilot census a source from which to derive usable substantive data. Apart from the sampling problems involved, such a use inevitably detracts from the central purpose of the pilot, which is to prepare for the main census.

1.196. It is critically important to undertake a set of tests of the information and communication technology (ICT) solutions that are planned to be applied in the census. Depending on the extent and characteristics of ICT, these tests should include all ICT components related to the field work, data entry and processing well ahead of the census itself. This is particularly important if a new technology is being introduced, such as scanning the questionnaires as a means of capturing data. Tests should include the testing of the equipment itself, as well as the underlying circumstances necessary to avoid equipment malfunctioning, such as climatization, or significant delays due to inadequate quality of paper causing

paper jams. In the context of new approaches of using hand-held devices, testing should include daily data transfers to the major depository of data. Testing the efficiency of editing and tabulation applications should be done based on results collected by the *pilot census*.

14. Plan of enumeration

1.197. Several different approaches to enumeration are possible. Traditionally, each household is contacted and enumerated on a face-to-face basis. This approach is still used in most developing countries and for at least part of the population in many developed countries. In those circumstances where up-to-date and comprehensive address or population registers exist or can be established, the enumeration process often involves mailing out the census forms, or having the public mail back the completed forms, or both. Whatever approach is to be used, the complete enumeration plan should be prepared well before the enumeration begins. This involves (*a*) the determination of the enumeration method to be used and the basic procedures to be followed in the collection of the data and (*c*) an estimation of the number of sets of living quarters and the probable size of the population to be enumerated so that the number of questionnaires and other materials required for the enumeration, and the number of enumerators and supervisors needed, can be properly ascertained.

1.198. With the advent of the Internet, several countries have also employed enumeration methods which allow respondents to submit their questionnaires through the online-equivalent of their paper census questionnaires. It should be noted that only contexts characterized by high penetration rates of information technology including the Internet implemented this method, and always in conjunction with more traditional ones. It should also be mentioned, however, that these options may never entirely replace more traditional enumeration methods and that, even where the society enjoys a high degree of using information technology, the majority of the population cannot be reasonably expected to prefer this mode of self-enumeration.

1.199. The universal enumeration of population and living quarters should be made exclusively on a geographical basis, that is to say, the country should be divided into census enumeration areas and each area should be small enough to be covered by one enumerator during the period of time allowed for the enumeration. Other sources of information, such as registers of population or registers of properties, could be used to produce census data in countries that have established continuously updated population registers of high quality and good coverage.

1.200. Special attention should be given to the procedures to be followed for the enumeration of nomadic and semi-nomadic populations. These procedures should take account of the specific difficulties in locating such population groups, which are characterized by movement from place to place (see paras. 1.281-1.283). Special arrangements may also need to be made to enumerate homeless persons as well as the special categories listed in paragraph 2.41 below, to the extent that these categories are included within the scope of the census. Where their number warrants, additional information that would indicate the reason for homelessness may need to be sought.

15. Plans for data processing

1.201. Plans for data processing should be formulated as an integral part of the overall plan of the census, and those responsible for the processing of the census should be involved from the inception of the planning process. Data processing will be required in connection with the results of census tests, compilation of preliminary results, preparation of tabulations, evaluation of census results, analysis of census data, arrangements for storage in and retrieval from a database, identification and correction of errors, and so on. In addition, data-processing technologies are playing an increasing role in the planning and control of field operations and other aspects of census administration. Data processing has an impact on almost all aspects of the census operation ranging from the selection of topics and the design of the questionnaire to the analysis of the final results. Therefore, data-processing requirements in terms of

personnel, space, equipment and software (computer programs) need to be looked at from the point of view of the census as a whole and at an early stage in the planning.

1.202. The existing data-processing staff will certainly need to be expanded somewhat and will probably need some upgrading in terms of skills, particularly if new computer hardware or software is to be used in the census. Any needed training should be completed early enough so that those benefiting from the training can play an active role in census planning and operations.

1.203. Decisions will need to be made concerning the location of the various data-processing activities within the country, including the extent to which the processing work is to be decentralized. Acquisition of both equipment and supplies can require long lead times; estimates of both data capture and computer processing workloads must be made early to enable timely procurement. Closely related to the question of equipment is that of the provision of adequate space. Although the maintenance of most personal computer (PC) equipment no longer requires adherence to rigid standards in terms of temperature, humidity, dust and so on, attention to issues related to power supplies is still important. Inevitably, more important is the attention to be devoted to the maintenance of servers (especially heavy duty servers), where most of the information processing is likely to take place and saved, as well as the data-transmission infrastructure. The last issue is essential to ensure smooth and noise-less internet and/or web communications between different units and centers engaged in census operations. Moreover, in the case of traditional archiving, well-protected space for the storage of the completed census forms before, during and after processing will have to be secured.

1.204. In addition to considering the processing equipment to be used in the census, decisions will have to be made on the software to be used in editing and tabulating the census data. It is very costly and time-consuming to develop software for census editing and tabulation. Consequently a majority of countries in recent years have turned either to one of the several portable software packages available for census editing or tabulation or to one of the commercially available personal computer spreadsheet, database or tabulation packages. These packages can substantially reduce the extent of the systems analysis and programming tasks involved, although sometimes at a price in terms of loss of flexibility. Each country may wish to assess its software available. Regardless of the software used, sufficient time will have to be allowed for training staff in its use. Whatever choice about the software to be used is made, it is certain that at least some degree of customization can be expected in order to meet the specific requirements of the census, especially with off-the-shelf, commercial software packages not specifically designed for census operations. Therefore, a sufficient IT workforce has to be available for software implementation.

1.205. Out-sourcing some of the predominantly IT-related operations may be considered. Out-sourcing should be implemented in such a way as to bring immediate economic and quality advantages to census operations. Nonetheless, out-sourcing of IT operations should not consist of core census operations such as coding. Furthermore, national statistical offices should take adequate measures to ensure that outsourcing of census operations does not compromise data confidentiality and that necessary steps are taken so that the contractor does not have free access to the basic census databases. It is worth mentioning that responsibility for hosting of census data bases rests with the national statistical offices and that out-sourcing of these activities is not recommended. In short, out-sourcing should be implemented so as to facilitate a transfer of knowledge into the census organization and always in such a way that essential features, such as the privacy of individual respondents and the confidentiality of the data are fully protected.

16. Plans for census outputs and dissemination

1.206. A census is not complete until the information collected is made available to potential users in a form suited to their needs. A wide range of statistical products can be made available to the public, the private sector, government agencies, local authorities and the academic and research communities. The information may be included in published tables or reports for general distribution, produced as tables in unpublished form for limited distribution or stored in a database and supplied upon request either on magnetic and optical media, or on-line. A detailed plan for producing different census outputs should be guided by early user consultations (1.112) to ensure data and information requirements will be met in a

format commensurate with user needs and demands; such a plan will also be a useful guide to prioritize data processing and tabulations.

1.207. Not all of the processed materials need to be disseminated widely or in a single format. Tabulations required by only a few users can be supplied in unpublished form. Some data may not be tabulated until they are required at a later date. The information stored in the census database allows fast and relatively inexpensive production of additional tables. Countries may offer on-demand services to provide census information to users who require tables or other outputs not produced, or aggregates not available, through other means. If suitable electronic dissemination is available to the census organization, custom tabulations from a separate, purposely-built on-line dissemination database might also be designed and extracted directly by end-users. In this case, the census organization should prepare in advance and then implement an authorization and security policy, so that the risk of breaching confidentiality in data provided to outside users is avoided.

1.208. Printed publications, despite their production cost, remain in most countries the preferred vehicle for dissemination of the main results. Target dates for publication should be determined well in advance and processing and printing programmes should be planned accordingly. In addition to traditional methods of printing, there are various methods of reproduction available that are fast, economical and good-quality, and these should be investigated. For an increasing number of users, computer-readable magnetic and optical media as well as on-line electronic data dissemination are a better means than printed paper, based on the factors of cost, storage capacity (and therefore weight of documents), ease of reproduction and direct availability of the data for further computer processing.

1.209. Census maps, in printed or digital form, should be included in the overall dissemination programme of a population and housing census. The provision for needed resources should also be made in the budget from the initial planning stage. In addition to preparing maps for the census tables and reports, countries should also produce a population atlas, and try to make most data available in a geographic information system on a CD ROM, at different and nested levels of administrative geography, thus exponentially increasing the usefulness and utilization of census data.

17. Staff recruitment and training

1.210. Early arrangements are necessary to secure the proper number and type of personnel required for each of the various census operations. For reasons of efficiency and economy, it is important that the staff be selected on the basis of competence. Consideration may also be given to the use of the same staff for successive operations, thus reducing the turnover of personnel. While the preparatory and processing work generally calls for office employees possessing or able to learn certain specialized skills (cartographers, coders, data entry operators, programmers and so on), the enumeration stage usually demands a large number of persons capable of going to their assigned urban or rural enumeration areas and collecting the information according to specific definitions and instructions. It is essential that the enumerators and, to the extent possible, their immediate supervisors be conversant with the languages or dialects of the area in which they will be working. It is only prudent to recruit and train a somewhat larger field force than is required for the enumeration itself, as a certain amount of attrition is inevitable from the beginning of the training programme until the completion of the fieldwork.

1.211. Once the cartographic preparations are substantially complete and the questionnaire has been sent for printing, perhaps the single most important means that the census authorities have for influencing the success of the census is the training programme. The contribution that a well-planned and executed training programme can make to the quality of the census results therefore cannot be stressed too strongly. Such a training programme must of course focus on the widely dispersed and difficult-to-supervise field staff (namely, the enumerators and their immediate supervisors) but it must also cover others (for example, the higher-level supervisors, editors, coders, computer operators).

1.212. The entire census training programme should be designed to cover each phase of the work and provide an efficient and consistent means of effectively starting large numbers of employees in their work. The programme will need to correspond closely to the needs of the various operations and, where

appropriate, may include both theoretical and practical instruction, with emphasis on the latter. In the case of the enumerators and their immediate supervisors, the training is most effective if it includes several opportunities for the trainees to participate in practice interviews and role-playing exercises, including in the use of adopted IT solutions. (In countries in which multiple languages are used, the method and content of the enumerator training programme will need to be suitably adjusted. For example, if the questionnaire is printed in another language, provision will have to be made for instructing enumerators on the correct formulation of the census questions in the vernacular). The training programme for editors, coders, operators of data recording equipment and so forth should also provide opportunities for the trainees to practice under the supervision of the trainers, the operations it is expected they will subsequently perform. The intermediate- and higher-level technical staff, such as programmers and system analysts, may also benefit from special training programmes. For them, the emphasis should usually be on recent technical developments of relevance to the forthcoming census and on the interrelationships among the various aspects of census plans and operations.

1.213. The organization and conduct of training courses should be entrusted to those having the necessary qualifications to carry out this task successfully, taking into account not only their professional abilities but also their ability in teaching. This means that staff in charge of training should have certain qualifications that will enable them to stimulate the interest of trainees and to transfer the required knowledge, since otherwise well-qualified technical personnel who are unable to transfer their knowledge to the trainees in a satisfactory manner will be unsuitable as instructors for group training activities. This must be taken into consideration when selecting instructors and it is recommended that objective criteria should be used. In practice, however, it is difficult to find the necessary number of instructors who have both the professional and the teaching qualifications; for this reason, the instructors selected should themselves undergo training in how to organize and conduct training courses.

1.214. It is important that each training programme be made available in manual (booklet) form and distributed to the census organizers and training instructors. Such a manual would be a valuable guide and would help considerably in the efficient training of census staff. It would also contribute to the uniformity of training, which is an essential factor for a successful enumeration, taking into account the great number of census instructors who will be engaged in training. Simple audio-visual aids (for example, film strips, posters, tape recordings) can also be used to help make the training more effective and uniform throughout the country. If available, new multi-media technologies can facilitate the provision of training at distant locations (distant learning) and be effective and efficient supplementary tools for training.

1.215. It is very important to determine the time required to train staff for the various aspects of the census. This depends on several factors: the type of function for which they are being trained, the level at which they will be performing, the complexity of the census, the educational level of the trainees, the number of instructors available and the funds available. Usually, all courses last from one week to one month. It is strongly recommended that the training be carried out daily for a fixed period. The results are not as good if training is provided for a few days per week, since with this approach, which draws out the length of the course, previous work is often forgotten and has to be repeated. For this reason, it is also best to avoid completion of the training long before the start of the actual work. Any duration, however, may be fixed for the course, provided that the main principle -- namely that training should be long enough to permit the assimilation of the syllabus -- is not overlooked.

18. Avoiding gender biases and biases affecting data on minority population

1.216. Gender-based stereotypes can introduce serious biases in census data and the conclusions drawn from these data. These biases are discussed in more detail in part two (see, for example, paras. 2.114-2.119 and 2.231-2.300 relating to household relationships and economic characteristics, respectively). There is much that can be done in the preparatory stages of the census to help minimize gender-based biases. These preparatory activities are of two broad types: those related to census content and those related to census operations.

1.217. Issues of census content, including what information is sought and how, the definitions and classifications used, and the manner in which databases and tabulations are specified, are important in generating data needed to examine questions of gender equity. In addressing these content issues, census planners and users will need to be alert to prevailing stereotypes so as to develop a census that both minimizes the influence of the stereotypes that respondents may hold and avoids further perpetuation of these stereotypes.

1.218. With regard to census operations, particular attention will need to be given to the selection, training and supervision of the field staff. This involves ensuring that both men and women are recruited to the field staff (both as interviewers and supervisors) and that manuals and training materials cover gender bias issues just as they do other important sources of error. Consultations with women's groups and others concerned with gender equity can help in addressing both content and operational issues.

1.219. Gender-related stereotypes and biases are concerns that have relevance for all countries. Census authorities in a number of countries must also be alert to the possibility of stereotypes and biases affecting data on minority population groups. Such groups may include ethnic, linguistic, national, racial and religious minorities and indigenous and nomadic populations. As with gender issues, the problem will need to be addressed in terms of both census content and census operations. Representatives of these minority groups can often provide census planners with important information and insights relevant to both census content and operations. Thus, special efforts should be made to consult with them when planning the census. In the case of minority populations living in isolated settlements or enclaves, such consultations are often critical for minimizing underenumeration among these populations.

B. Contracting Out

1.220. Today, many countries contract out some tasks or activities of the census. It is due to the fact that contracting out is a way of increasing efficiency by utilizing the advanced methods and technologies (not necessarily available in the national statistical office or public sector responsible for conducting the census). At the same time cost reduction through a competitive selection process can be achieved. However, not all census tasks are appropriate for out-sourcing or contracting out. The appropriateness of contracting out should be determined step-by-step and after subdividing the overall census tasks into stages. Throughout the overall process, activities should be conducted by a method (considering accuracy and timeliness of the results) which can best satisfy the general public. No part of the work tasks should be done by a method which may result in loss of trust of the general public. So, in judging the propriety of contracting out, it is recommended that national statistical offices should carefully consider the following criteria:

- (a) Strict protection of data confidentiality
- (b) Method of confidentiality assurance that satisfies the general public
- (c) Guarantee measures of quality assurance
- (d) Ability to manage and monitor the out- sourced census tasks/activities
- (e) Having control over the core competence of national statistical office, and appropriateness judgement considering the specific situation of each country.

1.221. Confidentiality assurance is the first and most important issue that should be considered by national statistical offices. National statistical offices are responsible for data confidentiality, in terms of both perception and reality. It is extremely harsh for national statistical offices to find leakage or misuse of confidential information by ex-post-facto monitoring and controls. Consequently, contracting out of tasks which have the risk of such an incidence should be avoided. For example, in the phase of data gathering, it is highly recommended that contracting out should be avoided because it is closely related to the earning of trust from citizens and the strict protection of confidentiality. Where temporary enumeration staff are engaged under contracts this should be done in such a way that they are subject to strict measures of monitoring and control by the national statistical office. These enumeration staff should be engaged in such a way that their activities are governed by the relevant statistical legislation to preserve the confidentiality of the data they collect.

1.222. The second important and related issue that should be considered carefully is conveying confidentiality assurance to the general public. As it is described in the "Essential Roles of the Census" (see paras. 1.1-1.3), a census should be undertaken by the method that can produce the most reliable results and in a manner that wins the trust of the general public in terms of both perception and reality. If either one of these attributes is not met, then the method used as well as the results obtained may not meet the approval of the general public and could result in the existence of the census itself being highly questioned. Thus, protecting data confidentiality refers not just to the actual protection of confidential data, but to protecting perception among the general public and the providing a sense of inward security.

1.223. The third significant issue to be considered in out-sourcing is the quality assurance that should be guaranteed. A key point is that the national statistical office is satisfied that the goods or services paid for are provided. Thence, cost should not be the first priority in considering and judging the successful bidder in this respect. Although it is desirable to engage in fair competition among several companies to reduce costs; it is worth mentioning that merely considering low price bidding as a determinant factor may adversely affect the quality of the job to be done by the successful bidder. Low quality work could cause a significant loss of trust among the general public. To assess the quality of work, as part of the contract allocation process, potential contractors should be required to provide samples of their work (e.g., for printing, manufacturing satchels, etc), or if this is not possible, to list referees who could be contacted to verify their claims and/or sites at which previous work can be inspected. Once the contract has been awarded continuous monitoring of the progress of work entrusted to the selected company is necessary and the national statistical office should ensure that a system for monitoring quality is built into the contract. Consequently, in considering the proper contracting out procedures, national statistical offices should also take into account the costs for constructing a system or surveillance for monitoring progress of the work being contracted out.

1.224. The fourth major issue in out-sourcing census activities is the procedure of assessment and evaluation of the capabilities of the candidate companies. Through this procedure national statistical offices should fully assess both the capabilities as well as the disabilities of companies to select the winner to which the activity/ies in question are to be out-sourced. It is highly recommended that practical and financial pecularities of companies should be considered after the assessment of their capabilities. Each private company has a potential risk of bankruptcy or of changing the field of its activity. It should be kept in mind that if a selected company is unable to fulfill the assigned tasks, the probable problems may not be resolved by applying penalties. However, a very significant problem that can occur is that people may not be able to make use of accurate and timely census results. In such a case national statistical offices may lose trust of the general public in the census and even in future censuses or other routine statistical projects conducted by the statistics office. It is therefore very important for national statistical offices to adopt a method in which risks are as low as possible.

1.225. In addition to managing the out-sourced activities or tasks, the ability or (better to say) the flexibility to cope with sudden or unpredicted change(s) in the situation is also very important. It should be mentioned that contracting out does not necessarily mean lower costs, - sometimes the burden of monitoring cost, emergency costs etc., may jeopardise the census. It is recommended that some tasks and /or activities which are hard to manage should be done by the national statistical offices themselves. National statistical offices should judge and determine contracting out of census activities from this viewpoint.

1.226. It should also be recommended that for critical activities, such as the coding of education, occupation, and industrial classification special care should be taken to ensure adequate training of the personnel to undertake the task, particularly when it is contracted out. The same amount of care and training is required even when the task is performed by the national statistics office or the census organization. This is due to the fact that the coding depends on the minor differentiation and level of coding (general and detailed classifications according to different coding standards) as well as of the coding manual and education of the coders. Considering such subtle criteria for judgment, it is difficult to prepare a complete coding manual in advance before checking the filled questionnaire.

1.227. Censuses are large operations with massive data quantities of responses that require coding and editing. To reduce the staff resources required, and to improve timeliness, uniformity and accuracy, automated coding procedures may be employed. Some countries have already implemented automated coding procedures for addresses, countries, education, occupation and industry. The development of the application software could be contracted out although the rules to be followed must be carefully specified by the National Statistical Office who should retain responsibility for implementing the system. The software application can often be used for other statistical collections undertaken by the national statistical office.

C. Quality assurance and improvement programme

1.228. There is general agreement that, ultimately, quality has to do with user needs and satisfaction. In statistics, quality used to be primarily associated with accuracy; in other words, taking mainly into account errors, both sampling and non-sampling, which influence the value of the estimates, and intervals based on such knowledge upon which precise confidence statements could be made. Such measures are still considered necessary but it is now recognized that there are other important dimensions to quality. Even if data are accurate, they do not have sufficient quality if they are produced too late to be useful, or cannot be easily accessed, or conflict with other credible data or are too costly to produce. Therefore, quality is increasingly approached as a multi-dimensional concept.

1.229. It has been suggested that the output of any statistical exercise should possess some or all of the following attributes:

- (a) Relevance, understood as the degree to which statistics meet users' needs and suggests the need to avoid production of irrelevant data; i.e., data for which no use will be found.
- (b) Completeness, degree to which statistics fully cover the phenomenon they are supposed to describe.
- (c) Accuracy, distance between the estimated value and the (unknown) true value.
- (d) Comparability, degree to which statistics are comparable over space (between countries) and time (between different time periods).
- (e) Coherence, degree to which data from a single statistical program, and data brought together across statistical programs, are logically connected.
- (f) Timeliness, time elapsed between release of data and reference period
- (g) Punctuality, degree to which pre-announced release dates are met.
- (*h*) Clarity, degree to which statistics are understandable for non-expert users.
- (i) Accessibility, ease with which statistical data can be obtained by users.
- (*j*) Metadata, availability of information describing sources, definitions and methods.

1.230. Quality is the outcome of processes, and deficiencies in quality (for example, delays in processing or lack of accuracy in the results) are usually the result of deficiencies in process rather than the actions of individuals working in that process. Therefore, process should at least show:

- (a) Methodological soundness, adherence to professional methods and (internationally) agreed standards.
- (b) Efficiency, degree to which statistics are compiled in such a way that the cost and the respondent burden are minimized relative to output.

Quality will be better supported by sound institutional arrangements, such as:

- (c) Legal environment, degree to which statistical legislation is enacted, in conformity with the Fundamental Principles of Official Statistics.
- (*d*) Planning mechanisms, the degree to which countries have instituted procedures for systematic, long-term planning of statistical operations.
- (e) Resources, the degree to which statistical systems are properly funded and staffed usually, taken in relation to (different types of) cost and to each other.

1.231. In the census context, some attributes of quality assurance may be emphasized over the rest. The census should produce statistics that are relevant to data users. A census is a particularly expensive exercise to undertake and creates a burden on respondents. Therefore, it is crucial to ensure that any unmet demand for data is kept to a minimum and that topics for which there is little demand are not included on the census form. Consulting with users of census data as one of the first steps in designing the census process is a positive public relations undertaking and an efficient, transparent means of determining the demand for potential census topics.

1.232. The *relevance* of data or of statistical information is a qualitative assessment of the value contributed by these data. Value is characterized by the degree to which the data or information serve to address the purposes for which they are produced and sought by users. Value is further characterized by the merit of those purposes, in terms of the mandate of the agency, legislated requirements and the opportunity cost to produce the data or information. In the context of a census it is important to note the importance of the concept of fitness for purpose as a measure of relevance. If it is only necessary that data are available at broad level (e.g., national or major civil division level of geography; broad demographic level) it is possible that the user requirements could be met more cheaply and effectively through a sample survey.

1.233. *Completeness* is an extension to relevance, for completeness does not only mean that statistics should serve user needs but also that they should serve them as completely as possible, taking restricted resources into account.

1.234. Accuracy of data or statistical information is the degree to which those data correctly estimate or describe the quantities or characteristics that the statistical activity was designed to measure. Accuracy has many attributes, and in practical terms there is no single aggregate or overall measure of it. Of necessity these attributes are typically measured or described in terms of the error, or the potential significance of error, introduced through individual major sources of error, e.g., coverage, sampling, non response, response, processing and dissemination.

1.235. Data are most useful when they enable reliable *comparisons* across space such as between countries or between regions within a country and over time.

1.236. *Timeliness* of information reflects the length of time between its availability and the event or phenomenon it describes, but considered in the context of the time period that permits the information to be of value and still acted upon. It is typically involved in a trade-off with accuracy.

1.237. Accessibility reflects the availability of information from the holdings of the agency, also taking into account the suitability of the form in which the information is available, the media of dissemination, the availability of meta-data, and whether the user has reasonable opportunity to know it is available and how to access it. The affordability of that information to users in relation to its value to them is also an aspect of this characteristic.

1.238. The cost of providing information is also a component of the trade off with accuracy and timeliness. If this were not so, data could achieve (near) perfect accuracy with little or no time delay.

1. Need for a quality management system for the census process¹⁸

1.239. The essential quality attribute of relevance of census output, and how to assure it, has been discussed above together with the need for consideration of accuracy, timeliness and cost. Quality is relative, and in the end is based on what is acceptable, or fit for the purpose, rather than a concept of absolute perfection.

¹⁸ This section draws heavily upon material in Chapter 1C of the Handbook on Census Management for Population and Housing Censuses (United Nations, Series F No.83/Rev.1)

1.240. Deficiencies in quality (for example, delays in disseminating output) are usually the result of deficiencies in process rather than the actions of individuals working in that process. The key to quality assurance and improvement is to be able to regularly measure the cost, timeliness and accuracy of a given process so that the process can be improved when a fall in quality is indicated. The focus of quality assurance is to prevent errors from reoccurring, to detect errors easily and inform the workers so that they do not continue. This simple feedback loop is represented in figure 1.





1.241. Being iterative, the quality circle is particularly applicable to tasks that are highly repetitive such as the processing phase of the census. However, the general principle applies to all processes. For example, there is less opportunity to evaluate performance, identify problems and implement corrective actions in phases such as enumeration owing to time constraints, the once-only nature of some of the processes and communication issues. However, it still can be established with careful planning and documentation in advance of the census.

1.242. It is important that a complete evaluation takes place at the end of each phase of the census. This should be done particularly for phases such as enumeration, so that the organizational learning inherent in the quality circle is carried forward to the next census.

1.243. Since people play a key role in most census processes, they are in a good position to identify problems with quality and provide solutions. Quality is therefore not just the outcome of mechanistic applications of predetermined measures but relies on a combination of:

- (a) Established, documented processes;
- (b) Systems to monitor the outcomes of these processes;
- (c) Active encouragement by management to involve staff undertaking the processes in identifying and resolving deficiencies with quality.

1.244. While elements of the quality circle, such as mechanisms to monitor quality, may have some superficial resemblance to some of the elements of traditional quality control approaches, they are quite different¹⁹. Traditional quality control is based on correction of error after the event, whereas the emphasis

¹⁹ Annex IV of the Handbook on Census Management for Population and Housing Censuses (United Nations, Series F No.83/Rev.1) contains a case study of a system combining the quantitative components of the traditional system within a conceptual framework of a quality management approach. The Annex also illustrates the important differences between the two approaches

of the quality circle is on improving the process that caused the "error", which may be any of the cost, timeliness or accuracy attributes falling below specified levels. A simple error correction process may suffer from any of the following:

- (a) It adds significantly to the cost of the operation;
- (b) Errors in the inspection process can fail to detect true errors or falsely identify errors;
- (c) (*iii* The correction process can introduce errors into the data;
- (d) Operators take less responsibility for the quality of their work, believing it to be the responsibility of the inspectors;
- (e) Where a sample of units is inspected, the quality of data is only ensured for those units that are inspected.

1.245. The emphasis should be on process improvement rather than correction. Therefore an important aspect of quality management may not be to correct errors detected through the quality monitoring process unless they are of a severe nature or are generally applicable. For example, a generally applicable error could be a systems error that miscodes every occurrence of a common event. Resources are thus better focused on improving processes and thus overall quality.

2. The role of managers

1.246. Managers have a vital role in establishing quality. The biggest challenge to managers is first to establish a culture within the census agency that has a focus on quality issues and to obtain the commitment of staff to strive to achieve high-quality goals. At the same time, managers need to be aware that to achieve high-quality outcomes they need to give their staff responsibility to achieve these outcomes. Managers who do not delegate responsibility will find it difficult, if not impossible, to establish teams that strive for high-quality outcomes.

1.247. Managers must ensure that staff understand the philosophy behind the approach to quality. As mentioned above, staff involvement is a vital ingredient to quality improvement. Therefore, an environment needs to be established where staff contributions are expected.

1.248. The second part of their role is to ensure that clients' expectations are known and that these expectations are built into planning objectives and into the systems that are to deliver them.

1.249. Thirdly, processes need to be documented and understood by the staff implementing them. Systems and processes for implementing the quality circle also need to be documented and put in place. Questions such as how quality is going to be measured, who is involved in identifying root causes of problems with quality, and how the process improvements are going to be implemented need to be answered. These will vary greatly depending on the nature of the process. Appropriate quality assurance techniques for each phase of the census are summarized below.

1.250. The greatest test of management commitment to genuine quality improvement will occur in how management approaches problem solving. Staff will monitor management responses closely and adjust their own behaviour accordingly. Staff will act in accordance with how they see managers behave rather than what they hear managers saying.

1.251. Managers who always react to problems by seeking out people to blame, or who establish systems that focus disproportionately on the merits or demerits of individuals at the expense of the team, are sending messages that are contrary to the thrust of quality improvement. An environment where the emphasis is on fault-finding, rather than on finding solutions to problems, or on excessive competition, will assure that staff cease to be part of the solution and become part of the problem. Managers need to take upon themselves the responsibility for problems, as they are ultimately responsible for the systems that caused the problems. They should not seek to transfer the problems to lower-level staff.

1.252. However, even in the best managed processes, there are circumstances where individuals can be justifiably blamed for impacting on quality. These may be individuals who are incapable of performing

their duties, deliberately flaunt procedures or even deliberately sabotage the process. These individuals need to be dealt with by management and in some circumstances their employment should be terminated. Managers must deal quickly with these cases and act in a consistent manner. By doing so, managers will demonstrate to all other staff their commitment to quality.

1.253. To be successful, it is necessary to create a culture in which everyone has the opportunity to contribute to quality improvement. Most of the staff engaged in census operational work undertake routine tasks, and it is up to management to help them see the bigger picture, to motivate them and to encourage them to assume ownership of their work. This can be done by promoting a commitment to quality improvement and by adopting a consistent approach to management.

3. Quality improvement and the census

1.254. The quality circle can be applied to the entire census cycle with:

- (a) Performance in the previous phase being evaluated at any given level of detail;
- (b) Problems with quality ranked in order of importance;
- (c) Root causes identified and corrective action implemented.

1.255. The dependencies in the census cycle are represented in figure 2.





1.256. It is worth noting that it is possible to start at any point in the diagram and achieve the same result.

1.257. The following sections outline the way in which the concept of a quality circle is superimposed over the census cycle. Much of the discussion on form design, enumeration, processing and dissemination is in terms of relevance and accuracy. However, these are subject to constraints of time and cost that may be established prior to commencing the census cycle. These are discussed briefly below and in greater detail in the relevant sections of the handbook.

(a) Topic selection

1.258. The first step in managing the quality of the product (i.e., the statistics to be produced) is to ensure that the product will be relevant. The key process is extensive consultation with actual and potential users of census information. The key success factor in this process is full, frank and open communication with users and all areas concerned with the census (in particular, subject matter and classification experts). As should be expected, users are reluctant to propose their needs for a future census until they have been able to assess the extent to which their current needs have been satisfied by the output from the previous census. This should be seen as an evaluation process feeding into the current cycle – the first step of quality management.

(b) Form Design and Testing

1.259. The next quality management task concerns the testing of each census question and the testing of the design of the form. Again, the quality circle approach is used, with the results of each test being analysed and evaluated before being fed into further design and testing.

The following areas are the key internal stakeholders of the form design process and their requirements need to be taken into account:

- (a) The dissemination team, to ensure that the questions asked will deliver the data to meet the needs of users;
- (b) The subject matter specialist team;
- (c) The team responsible for development of the processing system. For example, positioning of text and delineation of response areas will be dependent on data capture and the processing methodology to be adopted. It is critical that there is ongoing coordination between the form design and processing areas;
- (d) The field operations team, which is responsible for training the enumeration workforce and printing the form.

(c) Field operations

1.260. The quality management process continues throughout the design of the census field operations. These are tested, as far as possible, in conjunction with form designs testing. The key internal client of field operations is processing. However, field operations can also impinge on other areas such as dissemination and classification and subject matter areas where certain concepts such as what constitutes a dwelling is implemented during the field operations phase. Several components of field operations can be subject to specific quality circle mechanisms as these are likely to take some time and involve iterative processes. These components include:

- (a) The demarcation of enumeration areas;
- (b) The map production;
- (c) Form printing, where a sample of forms is rigorously tested for adherence to standards.

1.261. Quality monitoring should be established for each of these components and mechanisms put in place to ensure that the outcomes of the monitoring are used to improve processes. It is more difficult to implement the quality circle during actual enumeration, owing to the very tight time constraints. However, this can be achieved by:

- (a) Clearly establishing the aims of the field operations phase;
- (b) Applying thoroughly documented procedures;
- (c) Ensuring that the enumerators understand their role through appropriate training and providing inspection of corrupted forms;
- (d) Providing opportunities for field staff to be observed operating on the job so that feedback can be given and retraining undertaken.

1.262. However, it has to be acknowledged that during the actual carrying out of the enumeration this approach tends to identify "problem enumerators" rather than systemic or process errors. This means that evaluation following collection is vital. The evaluation should attempt to capture the experiences and suggestions of a range of enumerators and other field staff so that improvements can be made to the subsequent census.

1.263. A general overview of the quality of enumeration can be obtained through:

- (a) The use of techniques such as post-enumeration surveys to gauge the level of underenumeration of people and dwellings;
- (b) Feedback from field staff;
- (c) Measures of the quality of any coding undertaken by field staff;
- (d) Mechanisms that may be in place to handle queries from the public.

1.264. The effectiveness of the public communication strategy may be assessed by the amount of press coverage (positive and negative) of the census and follow-up surveys to test the reaction to particular advertising.

(d) Processing

1.265. The key clients of processing are the dissemination area and the areas of the country's statistical agency responsible for maintaining standard classifications and those with specialist subject matter knowledge. The dissemination area depends on the processing team to obtain data in an agreed format, and compiled to agreed quality standards. This is necessary so that the data can be used in dissemination systems.

1.266. Since the census is part of an overall national statistical system, data from the census are likely to be used in conjunction with data from other collections. Thus the classification and subject matter specialist areas, which are responsible for those other collections, need to be satisfied that the coding, editing and other data transformation processes are conceptually sound and deliver data of acceptable quality.

1.267. Extensive testing of processing systems must be undertaken in advance of the census. Coding processes and training packages need to be prepared and tested using the type of staff likely to be involved in the operations. The processing phase gives the fullest scope for the use of quality improvement techniques, as many of the processes in this phase are repetitive and take a reasonable amount of time. This enables the quality circle to go through much iteration. It is vital that structures are put in place not only to monitor quality but also to involve processing staff in the identification of problems with quality and in proposing solutions.

1.268. It is generally not possible for processing to improve the accuracy of census data. At best, processes such as editing may reduce some inconsistencies within the data. However, in the end the data coming from the processing system will not be of any better quality than the information supplied on census forms. Much effort can be expended in correcting apparently inconsistent or inaccurate census data with no real improvement in the fitness for the purpose of the data. It may be a better strategy to educate users to accept slight inconsistencies in census data, rather than developing highly complex procedures that may introduce other errors and impose heavy costs in terms of delay in release of the data, and cost to the community.

(e) Dissemination

1.269. Census dissemination can easily be overlooked in the chain of providing a quality outcome for the census as management attention is diverted to the costly and risky enumeration and processing operations. The dissemination area is responsible for the timely delivery of products and services to the census data users. Therefore insufficient planning and resources for this phase can have the effect of delaying the release of the data and thus compromising the overall achievement of the census objectives. The

dissemination phase should also be regarded as an ongoing process that will service the needs of users over a long period of time.

1.270. Management of the quality in census dissemination is driven by concerns to:

- (a) deliver relevant products and services while
- (b) maintaining accuracy of the data, and
- (c) timeliness and predictability of data release within agreed cost constraints.

1.271. The first of these objectives is to provide relevant products and services. This can only be done by reviewing the experiences of the previous census products and services and by user consultation processes with both current and potential users of census data.

1.272. The second objective is to ensure that the data supplied from the processing system is accurately transformed into output products. A quality assurance strategy to ensure that data tabulations and transformations are carried out accurately needs to be documented and followed. The quality circle approach to these processes needs to be applied and any gaps identified and corrected through extensive testing prior to the census and ongoing process improvement during the dissemination phase.

1.273. The third quality objective for dissemination is the timely and predictable release of data from the census. While this is the responsibility of all phases of the census programme, special responsibility resides with the dissemination area. The dissemination area needs to be realistic about release dates and ensure that these are communicated to clients early so as to manage client expectations. The involvement of staff actually responsible for the dissemination phase in devising these dates is recommended where this is possible. Dissemination systems and processes need to be available, documented and tested prior to the release of data from the processing phase.

(f) Evaluation

1.274. In the present chapter, evaluation has been considered as the last stage in the census cycle. However, it is also possible to consider the evaluation of one census cycle as being the first step in the following census cycle. Similarly, evaluation of one process within a census cycle could be the first stage in the next process of the same census cycle. All aspects of the census programme should be evaluated. The strengths and weaknesses of each task should be identified and action points proposed for future census managers.

1.275. Evaluation of the accuracy of the census data should also be undertaken, to the extent possible, by comparing the census results with similar data from other sources. These sources can include surveys in a similar time-frame or previous census results. The purposes of evaluating the accuracy of the data are to inform users of the quality of the current census data and to assist in future improvements. Future improvement may be achieved by:

- (a) improving processes; and
- (b) establishing performance benchmarks against which the quality of the data from subsequent censuses can be measured.

1.276. Evaluation of data accuracy may have two parts. Preliminary evaluation will enable the identification of any problem areas that have not been previously detected through the quality management processes in earlier phases of the census. More extensive evaluation should be undertaken on data items where problems have been identified or where new questions or processes have been attempted.

1.277. The results of the evaluations should be made available to census data users.

D. Enumeration

1. Method of enumeration

1.278. There are two major methods of enumeration. In the canvasser (or enumerator) method, information for each individual (in a population census) and for each set of living quarters and the occupants thereof (in a housing census) is collected and entered in the questionnaire by a census official designated to perform this operation in a specified area. In the householder method, the major responsibility for entering the information is given to a person in the unit being enumerated (usually the head of the household), although the questionnaire is usually distributed, collected and checked by a census official. In some countries, postal distribution of the questionnaire, with or without postal return, is used in conjunction with the householder method. This mail-out and mail-back procedure can be used exclusively or combined with on-site checking by a census official.

1.279. Each method has its own advantages and limitations. The canvasser method is the only method that can be used in largely illiterate populations or in other population groups that may be unwilling to complete the census forms themselves, or find it difficult to do so. On the other hand, in countries where literacy is virtually universal and educational attainment relatively high, the householder method may often yield more reliable results at substantially lower costs, particularly if a mail-out/mail-back procedure can be used. However, the postal services may be used to distribute the census forms only when a comprehensive and up-to-date list of addresses is available or can be prepared. Another consideration is the emphasis to be placed in the census on obtaining responses, whenever possible, directly from the person concerned. The householder method allows for, and its instructions may encourage, at no extra cost to the census organization, consultations among family members when they complete the census form. In contrast, with the canvasser method it may be prohibitively expensive to encourage enumerators to go beyond even the "first responsible adult" they encounter in each household. In light of these considerations, it may sometimes be desirable to rely on one method for enumerating most of the population and to use another method in certain areas or for special groups of the population. New hardware and software technologies have made possible other enumeration methods, such as self-enumeration on the Internet, or computer assisted personal interviews (CAPI). While these new methods can supplement and not replace more traditional approaches, caution about their adoption should be exercised. However, overly complex designs should be avoided and adequate quality checks, especially to avoid double counting and fraud cases, in case of coexisting enumeration methods have to be considered.

1.280. The decision regarding the method of enumeration to be employed should be taken at an early stage on the basis of thorough testing of the various alternatives in terms of their costs, the quality of the data produced and their operational feasibility. Even where a method has been followed traditionally, it is well to periodically reassess its relative advantages in light of current census needs and changing techniques. An early decision is required because the method of enumeration used affects the budget, the organizational structure, the publicity plan, the training programme, the design of the questionnaire and, to some extent, the kind of data that can be collected.

1.281. To successfully carry out the enumeration of nomads, it is particularly necessary to pay full attention to the preparatory work in order to determine the suitable enumeration techniques. It should be pointed out that there is no absolute methodology for the enumeration of nomads and conditions vary from country to country. The particular method suitable for a country undertaking to enumerate nomads as part of the census should be determined only after a detailed preliminary study and after field testing. Some of the methods used to enumerate nomads and semi-nomads may be classified as follows: (*a*) group-assembly approach, (*b*) tribal or hierarchical approach, (*c*) enumeration-area approach, (*d*) water-point approach and (*e*) camp approach. Sometimes a combination of two or more methods may be used.

1.282. In the group-assembly approach, the nomads are asked to assemble at particular interview sites on certain fixed dates. This method can be adopted only through the administrative and/or tribal authorities. The tribal or hierarchical approach is a favourite method, since the nomads usually follow what is dictated by the tribal or hierarchical chief. The enumeration work can be carried out as a kind of administrative

census by contacting the tribal chief and collecting, sometimes from memory and sometimes from a register, all the needed information on the chief's followers. The other approach is to contact those followers with the assistance of the chief or a representative and to collect the necessary data directly from the household. In this case, the unit of enumeration is not areal but tribal. The enumeration-area approach presupposes creating conventional census enumeration areas and then contacting each nomadic household that happens to be staying in the enumeration area during the census. In the water-point approach, a list of all water-points available to the nomads during the period of enumeration is prepared. Since numerous temporary water-points are created during the rainy season, a meaningful list of water-points may be prepared with reference only to the dry season. The enumerator is given the task of locating and visiting every nomadic household that may be using a certain water-point. In the camp approach to enumerating nomads, a list of camps is prepared together with the approximate location of each within the country, and enumerators are sent to visit all the households in each camp.

1.283. For more detailed information on the methods described above and for other methods of enumerating nomads, reference may be made to the study presented to the Conference of African Statisticians at its tenth session.²⁰

2. Timing and length of the enumeration period

1.284. The choice of the time of year in which the census will be taken is of great importance. The main consideration should be to select a period in which the census is likely to be most successful and to yield the most useful data. This may depend on a number of factors. First, it is necessary to avoid those seasons in which it will be difficult to reach all inhabited areas because of rains, flooding, snow and so forth or in which the work will be particularly arduous, as is the case during extremely hot weather. Second, a time should be chosen when most people are staying at their place of usual residence; such a choice will simplify the census operations both in a de jure and in a de facto enumeration, and it can make the results of a de facto enumeration more meaningful. Seasons of peak agricultural activity should be avoided because it is difficult to interview persons who work late every day and who may even stay nights on their land if the land is far from home. Great traditional festivals, pilgrimages and fasting periods are also unsuitable times for census work. Since in many developing countries the bulk of the field staff is recruited among schoolteachers and older students, the conduct of the census may be feasible only during school holidays, though, as already indicated, the days of major festivals should be avoided.

1.285. In a country that includes areas of sharply contrasting seasonal patterns of weather or activity or in which potential census personnel are in very short supply, it may be necessary to enumerate different parts of the country at different times or to enumerate the nomads or other special population groups at a different time from that established for the settled population. This, however, is generally not a very desirable solution both because the nomads cannot always be clearly differentiated and because there may be mobility among the settled inhabitants. Furthermore, such a solution creates complications in respect of the use of the census data.

1.286. When a census has been taken and the census date is found to have been on the whole satisfactory, the next census should be taken at the same time of the year, unless there are strong reasons for changing this date. A regular census date enhances the comparability of the data and facilitates analysis. The tradition of a fixed census date in a country also provides administrative discipline, motivating all those involved in the census to make necessary preparations in a timely manner.

1.287. It is desirable to keep the enumeration period short in order to avoid double counting and omissions, which can occur in spite of a single reference date. On the other hand, the shorter the enumeration period, the greater the number of field staff that have to be recruited, trained and supervised. This increases the cost and may lower the quality of the data. How these different considerations should be reconciled depends on the size and nature of the country and on the resources at its disposal. The length of

²⁰ Economic Commission for Africa, "Study on special techniques for enumerating nomads in African censuses and surveys" (E/CN.14/CAS.10/16).

school holidays is sometimes a restricting factor, although Governments of several developing countries, recognizing the great national importance of a census, have prolonged the school holidays in the census year in order to allow teachers and students to work on the census as long as required.

1.288. In recent censuses, most developing countries have allowed about one week to 10 days for the training of enumerators, while the enumeration period has generally varied from a few days to two weeks. Short periods are often feasible in small countries while longer periods may be necessary in large countries with poor communications.

1.289. One method sometimes used to allow sufficient time for enumeration and yet make the census simultaneous is first to enumerate the population over a longer period, say a week or more, and then, in one single day, to recanvass all households, deleting and adding persons as needed to update the files. This procedure is, however, not practicable in very sparsely settled areas.

3. Supervision

1.290. Adequate supervision of the enumeration is essential. When the enumeration lasts only a few days, control of the quantity and quality of the work accomplished after the first day of enumeration is recommended, in order to facilitate the correction of inefficiencies and to maintain satisfactory progress during the enumeration period. Where the enumeration extends over more than a few days, periodic and systematic assessment should be organized.

4. Use of sampling in the enumeration

1.291. Sampling may be employed in the enumeration for collecting information on any topics that need not be tabulated for small areas or small population groups. Questions designed to apply only to a sample of the population or of the living quarters may be included on the regular questionnaire or a special sample questionnaire may be used in addition to a complete enumeration questionnaire. For a discussion of the use of sampling in the enumeration, see paragraphs 1.408-1.437 below.

E. Data-processing

1.292. No matter how thorough and accurate the census enumeration is, the usefulness, quality and timeliness of the census tabulations will suffer unless the collected data are properly processed. An important element of a successful processing operation is the close and continuing collaboration, at all levels, between the data-processing staff, and the subject-matter and the general statistical staff. At a minimum, the subject-matter and the general statistical staff will need to become familiar with and take a continuing interest in the processing plans and operations, while the processing staff will need to become familiar with and take a continuing interest in the substantive aspects of the census.

1.293. The most common procedure is to have the census documents arrive in the processing centre in batches by enumeration area. Maintenance of these batches throughout the data processing is recommended, since documents for a given EA reflect the work of one enumerator and may contain a series of errors typical of that person. To ensure the integrity of the batches, the census documents should be stored in a specially designed census document storage facility. The batch for each EA should first be checked for completeness, geographical identification codes and other characteristics of acceptability, before being sent to a next stage of data-processing like coding. Transcribing all coded data onto another sheet (for example, the coding form) should be avoided since it may add transcription errors. The same considerations apply to the case of electronic transmission of questionnaires or when the first phase of data processing consists of the scanning and text/image recognition of census questionnaires. In the case of questionnaires transmitted electronically, it is appropriate to set-up a *meta-data model* where the EA can be recorded. As far as storage is concerned, if paper questionnaires are scanned, their digital version, not only the originals in paper, should be recorded onto secure media for backup.

1. Method of processing

1.294. The choice of an appropriate method of processing is determined by the circumstances of each country. Rapid advances in data-processing technology have greatly increased the speed and reliability of producing detailed tabulation, thereby making computer processing the standard method of processing around the world. Furthermore, an alternative to mainframes, whose computational power was necessary before the advent of lighter and more scalable IT hardware solutions, is the use of a client-server environment. Several lighter tasks, including editing and tabulation of data files, can very well be done on small-sized desktop systems which can be placed in substantive departments and in field offices. On the servers side most of heavier computing operations, such as scanning, aggregation and analysis of large sets of micro-data, coordination of data transmission, intranet web hosting and so forth, can be executed more reliably than on micro-computers. However, a client-server environment to handle census data must operate over a robust and secure Local Area Network (LAN) or Wide Area Network (WAN). Therefore, computer work is not necessarily dependent on a centralized data-processing facility, provided that a robust LAN or WAN interconnects workstations dispersed over various offices, buildings, and different parts of the country.

1.295. In a census office that utilizes a networked computer environment, the file servers allow both data and program files to be stored in a central location. This system economizes on storage space for client computers and removes the need for much physical movement of programs and data on computer media such as diskettes. Data storage requires frequent back-ups of the system information to avoid major data loss due to hardware or software faults. Thus, having servers does have such a strategic importance that their location and administration must be well defined and secure enough to ensure data protection.

1.296. In determining the type of equipment to be employed and the advisability of a new machine installation (either complete or partial), or of additions or upgrades to existing equipment, consideration should be given to all the processing requirements of the data-collection programme for which the population and housing census is but one part. Only on this basis can a reasonable decision be made. Decisions on the type of data recording equipment and computer equipment should be made at least one year in advance of the scheduled date of enumeration in order to allow appropriate questionnaire design and proper preparation of instructions to enumerators, development of coding schemes, specification of data handling controls and procedures, and recruitment and training of data-processing personnel. Rapid processing of pre-test or pilot census data is particularly important for identifying improvements needed in the census questionnaire, instructions to enumerators or whatever other preparations may be needed. It is recommended, therefore, that arrangements for using appropriate equipment and software be made well in advance of such tests.

2. Coding

1.297. Whenever possible, *pre-coded* responses should be used in census questionnaires with numerical or alphanumeric codes being printed next to each category. Since computer editing and tabulation of textual material are not practical, verbal responses will have to be replaced by a code. This can be done by a coder (possibly computer-assisted) or by a dedicated computer program for automatic coding. There are obvious advantages to directly coding the respondent's answer into the questionnaire during the interview, since the respondent is still present to provide clarifications if necessary. Unfortunately, in most cases this is not practical because enumerators are normally insufficiently trained and they cannot be expected to carry the required code books and manuals during census enumeration.

1.298. A coder normally works with one or several code books for various items in the questionnaires. Coders may specialize in certain variables, with one group of coders handling only geographical references, another responsible for detailed occupation and industry coding, and so forth. In any event, this is tedious work and can be an important source of errors. To avoid new source of errors, coders should not rely only on their memory: they must base their function on the use of the *code books*. Automatic or computer-assisted coding (CAC) may support efficiently the coding activity, by enhancing the quality of operations, reducing coding errors, and speeding up the coding process.

1.299. *Computer-assisted coding* uses personal computers (PCs) to assist the coders. The process requires that all the codes be stored in a database file and be accessed by coders during the coding operation. Computer-assisted coding is based on at least two general approaches. In the first one, coded answers are matched to a set of keywords. Textual information from the census questionnaire is parsed and compared to an indexed list of keywords, and then the likelihood of matching between found keywords and coded answers is measured and scored. If the score results are over a certain (high) threshold and there is no ambiguity, a sorted list of coded answers is presented to the coder, who retains the ultimate decision of accepting or refusing the system proposed answers. In using this method, it may be advantageous to change the order of activities so that the capture of pre-coded information in the questionnaire occurs first, followed by the capture and computer-assisted coding of the remaining information.

1.300. In the second approach, which is mainly used in image processing of data (ICR method) for non-Latin or multi-lingual countries, due to the difficulty and existing problems in character (alphanumeric string) recognition, the procedure is as follows:

After the scanning and during the coding operation phase, the image of the text will be shown on the monitor. At the same time a pull-down menu from a coding data base will present the coder the ability to enter as few key entries as possible to get to the full textual and coding content of a specific case. When the coder selects a code, it will be allocated and saved in the data base for that specific case. Although this approach is more time consuming and costly in comparison to the first one, the quality of coding is much higher than in the traditional way of coding.

1.301. On the other hand, both techniques have several similar advantages: (*a*) capturing the pre-coded information at an early stage leads to some data files becoming rapidly available, which opens up the possibility of generating and releasing preliminary census results; (*b*) the computer-assisted coding process provides an opportunity for a computer system to alert the operator to problems with data supposedly already captured, for example, missing information for a fully pre-coded variable; (*c*) the coder works directly on the computer screen; (*d*) information from other variables may be helpful in determining applicable codes for write-ins.²¹

1.302. Automatic coding is a process in which the decision about the code to be assigned is delegated to a computer program. The main difference with computer-assisted coding consists in the automatic acceptance of the answer if its score is over a pre-determined threshold and relatively higher than possible identified alternatives. Both computer-assisted and automatic coding systems may exploit self-learning capabilities of neural networks to fine tune their capacity of detection. A human operator becomes involved only in those cases where the software cannot resolve the issue. Computer coding may use, in addition to the written response for the item in question, other relevant information available in the record or the questionnaire. Therefore automatic coding is more applicable in cases where the data capturing process has already been completed, either manually or by some form of automatic reading. Developing computer software for automatic coding is a complex task. The error rates and rates of unsolvable cases for difficult variables tend to be high. Automatic coding methods need to be complemented by computer-assisted or conventional coding methods for unresolved responses.

3. Data capture

²¹ For additional references see Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, "Report of the Workshop on Computer-Assisted Coding, New Zealand, 17-21 April 1989" (STAT/WCAC/Rep.); also European Workshop on Census Processing, Fareham, United Kingdom, 6 and 7 March 1995; (Eurostat, Office of Population Censuses and Surveys, 1995); Economic Commission for Europe, Conference of European Statisticians (CES), "Le recensement de la population de 1982 en France: saisie et chiffrement assistés par ordinateur: rapport de l'Institut national de la statistique et des études économiques de la France (INSEE)" (CES/SEM.21/R.24), 30 July 1987 French National Institute of Statistics and Economic Studies (INSEE), Automatic Coding of Descriptive Data in INSEE Surveys: Use of the QUID System (CES, ISIS'90, 1990).

1.303. Converting the information obtained in the census to a format that can be interpreted by a computer is called data capture. It is possible that several simultaneous and different methods for data capture are being used in a census. They include *keyboard data entry*, optical mark reading, optical character reading and imaging processing techniques. Computer-assisted keyboard data entry is usually carried out using personal computer (PC) data entry programs with built-in logical controls. Some of the tasks accomplished by the programs are (*a*) verifying that EA codes are valid, and copying them automatically from one record to the next; (*b*) assigning a number to each person in a household automatically (and perhaps to each household within an EA); (*c*) switching record types automatically if the program's logic requires it; (*d*) checking that variable values are always within pre-determined ranges; (*e*) skipping fields if the logic indicates doing so; (*f*) supporting keyboard verification of the information entered earlier; and (*g*) generating summary statistics for the operator and the batch. In order not to delay the data capture task, data entry applications should limit checking to problems that are either very serious (for example, wrong EA code), or likely to be caused by a simple misread or key entry mistake. More sophisticated checking is deferred until the editing stage.

1.304. *Optical mark reading* (OMR; also often called optical mark recognition) equipment has been available for many years and has nowadays reached very good levels of reliability. OMR is the simplest of commonly available form processing technologies. Owing to relatively stringent requirements for the successful processing of the paper, countries with very dusty or humid climates and poor transport infrastructures are discouraged from using OMR. It is necessary to heed special questionnaire design restrictions as well as consider the quality of the paper and adhere to precise specifications regarding the printing and cutting of the sheets. In some developing countries, this may mean that local production of the questionnaires will be problematic. The need to reserve a relatively large space for marking areas and to adhere to other limitations imposed by OMR equipment sometimes makes it difficult to design the best questionnaire from the point of view of the enumeration process.

1.305. OMR questionnaires can be marked by the respondent or by the enumerator. Marking by respondents is attractive from a cost perspective, but it depends on the presence of a cooperative spirit and relatively universal literacy. A practical problem is that most OMR devices put restrictions on the writing instrument and the colours that can be used in the marking. Assuming the rules are followed, the rejection rate for marked forms is often low, especially if the forms have been inspected visually before being fed into the readers. Converting a manually completed census questionnaire to OMR format after it has been received in the census office is inefficient and becomes a source of errors, and should therefore be avoided.

1.306. Optical character reading (OCR; also called optical character recognition) and Intelligent Character Recognition (ICR) consist of the use of special equipment to read characters at specific locations in the questionnaire. These two terms identify very similar technological approaches. Specialized sources tend to identify with OCR the capability of recognizing printed characters only, whereas ICR would extend this capability to handwritten text. There is no agreed definition as ICR. In the context of censuses, therefore, this would require that handwriting of text in questionnaire forms by the enumerators be as uniform as possible to common "model" handwriting so as to enable the work of the recognition software engine. In general, only numerals will give acceptable results in an uncontrolled environment, that is to say, one where the machine has not been adapted to the writing style of a particular person. Nevertheless, letters or other writing symbols may also give good recognition rates, as experimented in a multitude of past censuses, if all enumerators comply to use a common handwriting style. OCR/ICR technology has progressed very much and it is still improving thanks to the implementation of more sophisticated recognition algorithms and the use of neural networks for self-learning of the system. Even OCR restricted to numbers represents a considerable step forward when compared with OMR. Clear number writing instructions have to be provided for the enumerators.

1.307. *Imaging techniques* and *scanner devices*, together with OCR software, have recently been used by several countries for data capture. Several countries, at different levels of development in their statistical infrastructure, find the modern imaging technology increasingly cost-effective. Experience shows that significantly low error rates are achieved in recovering marks or ticks from questionnaires. *Numerical and alphanumeric characters* written by trained enumerators can also be captured with an acceptable error rate. However, *alphanumeric characters* are more prone to higher error rates. The equipment developed

recently has shown an expanded tolerance to variations in paper quality. Nevertheless, extensive testing must be conducted well in advance to determine the best type of equipment and paper. The use of imaging techniques is also dependent on the availability of local maintenance and support capabilities. Whatever methods of coding and data capture are chosen, it is essential that they be carefully tested before final adoption. Recognition engines can be customized to recognize various sets of characters and scripts, but unless good experience is available at the census office, careful planning and preliminary work is needed in conjunction with the OCR/ICR system providers.

1.308. In addition to the benefits of the scanning technology for capturing the information, an important product of scanning census questionnaires is that this allows for the possibility of digitally filing and naming the scanned questionnaires. This increases the efficiency of storage and retrieval of the questionnaires for future use, particularly during subsequent data editing operations.

1.309. The quantity and type of data entry equipment required will depend on the method of data capture selected, the time available for this phase of the census, the size of the country, the degree of decentralization of the data capture operations, and a number of other factors. For keyboard data entry, the average input rates usually vary between 5,000 and 10,000 keystrokes per hour. Some operators have stayed well below that range, while others have surpassed it significantly. Among the factors that affect operator speed are (a) the supporting software and program; (b) the complexity of the operators' tasks; (c) the ergonomic characteristics, reliability and speed of the equipment; (d) the question whether work is always available; (e) the training and aptitude of the recruited staff; and (f) the motivation of the workers.

1.310. Several options are available to help ensure that data entry operations are completed in a timely manner. They include (*a*) procuring more equipment, (*b*) increasing the number of working hours by working double or even triple shifts and during weekends and (*c*) applying independent verification to varying extents. With the increasing safeguard of data quality by data entry programs, complete verification has become less necessary. Full independent verification may be applied only in the initial stage of data entry and may be reduced when each worker has achieved an acceptable level of quality. After that, a sample verification plan can be applied. Operators may be assigned to sample verification depending on their observed error rate. The work of reliable operators may be verified only for a small sample of the EAs, while more extensive verification is continued for the more error-prone operators. Data entry operators should be retrained or removed if they are obviously lacking in talent for the work (see paras. 1.252-1.253 on Quality assurance techniques).

4. Data editing

(a) Micro-editing

1.311. Raw data files contain errors of many kinds, some generated by the respondents and others caused by enumerators who misunderstood the respondent's answer. Further mistakes are introduced in the data processing operations and during coding and data entry, or in the course of the transcriptions that take place. From an operational point of view, such errors are of two types: (*a*) those that have the potential of blocking further processing (critical errors), and (*b*) those that introduce distortions into census results without interrupting the logical flow of subsequent processing operations – non-critical errors. All of the first type of errors and as many as possible of the second type must be corrected. Prior to error correction operations and in case there is a need to go back over work, precautionary action should always be taken by making a back-up copy of the original data file at every stage, in case there is a need to go back over the work.

1.312. Since for large censuses, manual correction is rarely economically feasible, the conditions for such corrections are usually specified in specially designed computer programs for automatic error scrutiny and imputation based on other information for the person or household or for other persons or households. Whenever imputation is used a flag should be set so that analysts are able to distinguish between reported information and that imputed by the editing system. For cases where sufficient information is unavailable for the specific persons or household to correct apparent errors, the *hot-deck imputation* method can be used. This technique uses information obtained from previously processed persons, families or households

with similar characteristics as the "best suited" value in replacing missing values or values that have failed processing edits. However, it requires careful programming work, considering the fact that search for appropriate information in the census data-base would slow down computer program execution.²²

1.313. In some cases, the best solution will be to move out-of-range or clearly inconsistent values into a special category, prior to deciding how such cases should be edited and classified. In this way, the pitfalls of introducing statistical biases are considerably reduced. But precautionary measures should also be defined and set for the fact that over-ambitious automatic editing programs may cause the so-called corrected data to be significantly flawed. In this respect it would make sense to have an acceptable cut-off value for error rates at the EA level. If a data scrutiny program finds that more than a certain percentage of the records in a particular batch have one or more serious problems, the whole batch should be rejected and subject to human and/or field work verification.

1.314. Editing and imputation rules should be formulated by subject-matter specialists, not by computer programmers; also, an error scrutiny and editing plan should be elaborated at an early stage of the census. A set of consistency rules and corrective measures should be put in writing and made available to the programming staff, leaving no room for confusion, misinterpretation or unwarranted independent initiative. The computer programmers should implement these editing rules by working as a part of a team with the subject-matter specialists.

(b) Output or Macro Editing

1.315. The outcome of micro-editing is a set of records that are internally consistent and in which person records relate logically to other person records within the same household. This process does not however provide the full range of assurance necessary to accept the dataset as the best possible. A range of conditions could cause errors that cause the data to be consistently wrong: perhaps a condition in the editing suite itself is set incorrectly; proportions in an imputation program may be set wrongly; enumerators may complete a collection control panel incorrectly etc. To identify such consistent errors it is necessary to critically review some key aggregate tables to isolate outlier aggregates and identify the cause of the unusual values. These key tables may be a subset of those intended for output or may be tables specifically designed for this purpose.

1.316. It is recommended that a bottom-up approach be used in this process. That is, the tables should first be examined for a selection of Enumeration Areas (EAs), then the next level up and so on up to the First set of National Tables. There are two reasons for this:

- (a) The first EA will complete the processing cycle well before any other geographic level. Thus commencing at this level gives the earliest possible warning of a problem, enabling corrections to be made before a large amount of re-processing is required.
- (b) It is far simpler to examine a few hundred hard copy records within an EA than to attempt to resolve the problem in the millions of records in a national file.

1.317. A crucial stage in the process is designing the analytical tables. One way of approaching this could be to identify a set of variables which are conceptually consistent with those in the previous Census (or a major survey). Thus a set of benchmark values could be constructed before the Census operation commences and compared with those from the current enumeration. The content of the benchmark set will depend upon the content of the enumeration and much of this must therefore be determined by each country. However any Census will include the variables age and sex so a comparison of the age pyramid and sex ratio for each 10 year age cohort would be basic elements of such analysis.

²² European Workshop on Census Processing, Fareham, United Kingdom, 6 and 7 March 1995 (Eurostat, Office of Population Censuses and Surveys, 1995); IMPS: Integrated Microcomputer Processing System (Washington, D.C., United States Bureau of the Census, International Statistical Programs Center, 1994).

1.318. A second component of the analysis is the compilation of a set of information regarding expected changes since the benchmark survey. For example:

- (a) It is possible that in the due time (since the previous collection) improvements in maternal health care programs have led to an increased survival rate for women. Thus a decreased sex ratio around the child bearing ages may be noticed.
- (b) If literacy is included in the analysis and Government policy has been to strongly support increased school attendance an increase in the proportion of literate people could be expected.

1.319. There will be a need for careful judgement when the analytical tables show a significant and unexpected difference to the benchmarks. While it may be found that the difference is due to a problem with the current collection, it could also be due to:

- (a) A problem in the collection that has generated the benchmarks; or
- (b) A genuine and previously undetected social change that is being correctly revealed by the current collection.

1.320. In the latter two cases it would be wrong to make any change to the current data set. However it is crucial that details of the investigation are made known to users (by preparing suitable meta-data) so that they would be able to treat and analyze the data correctly. If the analysis indicates that there is a problem with the current collection it will also be a matter for judgement as well as how to react to it. One proposition is, to revise the input processing system in order to prevent the problem from being continued. After applying such changes, and in order to avoid introducing further problems, it is essential that they fully being tested and accepted.

The second proposition is to make decision in regard to "whether to reprocess the records which have already been processed or not?" This decision should be guided by the:

- (a) Significance of the error
- (b) The number of questionnaires that have already been processed
- (c) Time duration for the reprocessing
- (d) The impact of such a decision on other consecutive phases of the census (such as tabulation and dissemination) and at last but not the least,
- (e) Cost and expenditure of that decision

5. Processing control

1.321. Careful planning and control are required to ensure an uninterrupted flow of work through the various stages from receipt of the census questionnaires through preparation of the database and final tabulations. The plan should provide for the computer edit to follow closely the coding/checking/recording of the data so that errors can be detected while knowledge related to them is fresh and appropriate remedial actions may be taken.

1.322. Countries may wish to establish a computer-based processing management and control system to check individual forms or groups of forms for each EA or for other processing units. Such a system should link the databases for EAs and other geographical entities with the control information. The system would check and manage progress from process to process so as to ensure the completeness of records at each stage of the processing operations. As specified earlier, project management software may support the formal description of different processes, and provide an environment to control the execution of all operations connected to an individual phase or status of the census. This system should be fed into the overall quality assurance and improvement system whose management is elaborated in paragraphs 1.246-1.253.

6. Master file for tabulation

1.323. When data editing is in progress, new files consisting of *clean* data records for each person are produced; these can be assembled so as to build a master file for later tabulations (often called the microdata file). This master file, like the raw data files, can have a simple rectangular sequential format. There is usually no need for, but neither should it be discouraged, to have the master file organized with a database structure with index files. However, the master file should usually be maintained in geographical order, starting with the lowest geographical entity, sorted by housing unit, household or family. Another way commonly used to generate tabulations involving both the individual and the family, household or housing unit is to include in the head of household's record selected characteristics of these latter units. Alternatively, a single hierarchical file can be created involving, for example, person, family and housing unit records. Whatever the chosen structure, the master file must allow for easy checks, controls, and computations to be performed.

1.324. One of the most common and problematic errors in census files is that different EAs carry, for one reason or another, the same identification codes. Upon sorting the file, these EAs may have been merged, generating households with two heads of household, twice the usual number of members, two housing records, and so on. To avoid this problem, the EA geocodes should be checked carefully prior to the editing phase. This is best done by keeping a check file of all expected code combinations, and marking a code as "used" once an EA using the code has been processed. A module of this functionality can be part of the editing program. The check file will serve to flag impossible or double identification codes, and towards the end will show which EAs were expected but have not been processed.

1.325. Census *master data files* may become large. Nowadays servers are much more powerful and able to process files of such size. Well-equipped desktop systems have also higher computational power and are equipped with much bigger and cheaper mass-storage devices. Nonetheless, the hardware infrastructure available to several countries is older, thus two strategies are applied to reduce file size and to make data management simpler. The first involves working with the next lowest geographical entity as a basis, processing the data on this level and aggregating later to obtain national results. The second remedy is to apply on-the-fly compression/decompression to the storage medium. Census files can be compressed quite significantly to less than 20 per cent of their original size. Since tabulation programs access the data in sequential order, using the compressed data will result in a faster reading process.

7. Methods of tabulation

1.326. Preparing the tabulation plan is the substantive responsibility of the demographers and other subject-matter specialists who have the necessary expertise in interpreting the census results. This will require consultation with principal users of the census information (see paras. 1.112-1.116). The duties of the data-processing department should be limited to checking the logic of the various accumulations, designing the required programs and producing correct results within the shortest possible time. It is possible that the need for initially unforeseen tables will become apparent, so the census organization should always be prepared to produce additional aggregations. This may involve newly defined classes for certain variables, new types of cross-classifications, differently defined geographical subdivisions, and so on. If the master file is organized according to the principles of relational databases in a Relational Database Management System (RDBMS) original and additional aggregations can be designed according to the relatively easy Structured Query Language statements. In case of a list of records with a rectangular structure, On-Line Analytical Processing (OLAP) tools might be used to generate multidimensional tabulations. However, if the information needed to produce these aggregations is not available in the master file, it will usually be prohibitively expensive to attempt to add this information at a later date.

1.327. The use of software packages specifically designed to produce census tabulations is highly recommended. These packages will make the job of preparing a useful program much simpler (and thereby help prevent errors). Usually designed for maximum execution speed (given that large files are to be processed), these systems are often available free of cost, or for just a nominal fee.

1.328. Tabulation work can also be easily done by software belonging to either of two other classes: statistical analysis and database software. However, these packages have not been designed with large-scale sequential or geographical processing in mind. They may require substantially more computer time than a

specialized census tabulation system. In countries with a limited capacity of powerful computers, this can be an important consideration.

1.329. Other factors that should be taken into consideration when selecting software packages for tabulation work include:

- (a) the availability of expertise in the census office. It makes no sense to switch to a software system that is only marginally better when this would require a major retraining effort.
- (b) the need for customisation of the software to perform advanced functions such as random perturbation to preserve confidentiality

Moving to a different software environment should be the result of a careful analysis of all the factors concerned.

8. Provisional census results

1.330. Based on the summaries prepared by enumerators, provisional census results may be processed manually or by computer and issued soon after the enumeration is completed. For reasons of efficiency and quality, the use of computers is always preferable. Provisional results will normally cover information only on total population by sex and by major division. The number of households and housing units may also be derived easily from this exercise. Since provisional and final results may differ (for example, the summaries on which provisional results were based might contain errors), it is important that users be warned about the possibility of such differences. The final census results will be the output of the main tabulation programme (see chap. IX below). Tabulations may be based on all of the returns or on a sample. If some of the topics are collected on a sample basis only, proper weights will have to be applied in the tabulation stage to produce valid national estimates. In addition, the census office should be prepared to facilitate the production of tables requested by researchers and users (see paras. 3.49-3.54).

F. Databases

1.331. In order to expand the life and usability of the data, and as a complement to the standard production of tables, national statistical offices are encouraged to store the census data in various computerized database forms so as to better satisfy the full range of needs of internal and external data users. Census databases assist data users by providing easy access to a wide range of census data.

1.332. The establishment of such databases can enhance the dissemination of the census results as well as increase their usefulness by combining census data together with related information from other demographic inquiries in a common format. (An important special case is bringing together the data from prior censuses into a single database.) In addition, such databases can improve the coherence of the input and output processing systems.

1.333. Needs vary widely from user to user according to specific interests and circumstances. There is therefore no preferred approach to setting up a census or population database. For example, a basic decision must be made whether to provide micro-data, aggregated data or both. Other basic design issues to be considered include whether an effort is to be made to incorporate the new census results in an existing database structure or whether one or more new census databases are to be established, and if the latter is the case, whether the new database(s) will be exclusively in the form of a census database or constitute instead the nucleus of one or more population databases incorporating data from other sources. Consideration will also have to be given to such issues as identification of the different types of users, their information requirements, types of information to be stored in the database, sources and maintenance/update of information, processing of user queries, identification of the appropriate commercial software or, alternatively, whether it is feasible to develop such software, and selection of the appropriate hardware capable of supporting the current database and its anticipated growth.
1.334. Since building a census or population database requires careful planning and can be timeconsuming, such implementation should fit within the global statistical framework of the organization, and be seen as an ongoing process both complementing the data dissemination strategy and strengthening the statistical capacity of the organization.

1. Database for micro-data

1.335. Micro-data (records of individual persons and households) collected in the census can be stored either in their raw form, or in their final edited form, or in a file that combines both raw and edited records. To limit problems of conservation, the data should be stored preferably on a medium of excellent reliability such as, currently, compact disk read-only memory (CD-ROM) or a digital versatile disk read-only memory (DVD-ROM), which has much more capacity than a CD-ROM. As time goes by, new technologies for mass storage will undoubtedly evolve. Such new technologies present two issues for census managers and technicians: (*a*) the issue of when it will be appropriate to adopt a new technology as the standard and (*b*) that of the need to convert materials stored in older media to the new standard or otherwise provide accessibility to the older materials.

1.336. With technological advances in mass storage devices and media, it is now feasible to store the full census data file (one character per byte) as a single large rectangular file. After adding a data dictionary that describes the data format and a tabulation module, one obtains a set that could be described as a census database. The micro data base requires a cross-tabulation programme which can be either part of the package or external. The software normally used for census tabulation still requires some prior training and may be confusing to inexperienced users. More intuitive tabulation software is available, but may be either too slow in processing or too limited in its options to be fully satisfactory.

1.337. The organization of the micro-database may take several formats, for example the software may allow for reorganizing the data in a transposed format (for example, one separate file per variable). This can substantially reduce the need for storage space and increase the speed of tabulations. However, establishing this kind of database is more complex, technically demanding and time-consuming. There would be advantages in storing census micro-data with standard commercial databases. This approach has the advantage that many users are already familiar with such software and so it is easier to find programmers and system analysts in the labour market. Even though the storage space required would be comparatively larger, today's market for mass-storage has made available very large and fast hard-disks at much cheaper prices than a few years ago and the hardware market seems to continue to follow this trend.

1.338. One of the main advantages of a micro data base is that it permits the retrieval of data, at least in principle, at any level of detail. Since micro-data could be used to obtain information on individual persons, families, households or family enterprises, privacy concerns must always be taken into consideration. In most countries, the use of the census data to identify individuals is prohibited by law. Moreover, the long-term reputation of national statistical authority may well be jeopardized if such disclosures occur.

1.339. There are a range of methods (such as sampling, introduction of random disturbances, recoding and aggregation) that can be used to make such micro-data available while still protecting individuals' rights to privacy. All have in common the fact that they sacrifice some information in order to eliminate or greatly reduce the risk of disclosure. However, it is important that census organizations interested in disseminating micro-data to outside users should take the appropriate precautions to protect privacy and confidentiality.

2. Database for macro-data

1.340. Aggregated census data can be stored in many formats, either as the results for one census, as a database covering more than one demographic inquiry, or in a broad database of statistical information. Whereas micro-data are saved to allow aggregations to be made that were not programmed initially, macro-data are stored to preserve earlier aggregations, to provide the broad public with readily usable information,

and to prevent double work by those who may find that the summary data they require have already been produced.

(a) **Publication equivalents**

1.341. The simplest form of what could be called a database for macro-data is a straight copy of a publication on a computer medium, usually on an optical disk (CD-ROM or DVD-ROM) or on the web site of the census office. A machine-readable publication-equivalent database may have the advantage of being less expensive to prepare than its hard-copy counterpart. In addition, electronic or paper copies can be made quickly, with copying of only part of the publication if only part is required. A disadvantage is that a user needs a computer, and one possibly provided with compatible software, in order to have access to the census information.

1.342. The original printed publication can be captured on the computer medium by (*a*) exporting the camera-ready output to some portable file formats or scanning the printed pages, which generates raster-type images, or (*b*) copying the original computer files *American Standard Code for Information Interchange* (ASCII) text form and/or worksheet/database formats. The former approach makes it extremely simple to retain all the formatting and to include graphs and other illustrations. The latter solution has the big advantage of allowing the user to process the information further by computer without having to re-enter the data. This, as noted before, economizes effort and prevents transcription errors. The information content in this case is usually limited to tables, perhaps with some explanatory texts. Because of the important advantages of each of these storage methods, census organizations can use both. The user receives a computer medium holding the camera-ready output file or the scanned images as well as ASCII files of the tables. If tabulated data are provided in readable format, they may also be organized with some kind of data-browsing software. In this case, the software should always allow for downloading in a variety of non-proprietary and the most popular spreadsheet formats. This is possible especially when the medium has a large capacity, as in the case of CD-ROM or DVD-ROM.

(b) Table-oriented databases

1.343. More advanced users may prefer that a census database of macro-data offer more than an equivalent of the printed publication. They might like to be able to manipulate the tables in various ways in order to obtain views or results that represent their specific requirements more precisely. Associated graphing and thematic mapping capabilities may also be welcome. Several statistical offices have successfully filled this need. However, a major problem often encountered is that there is no generally accepted definition of what constitutes a statistical table and of the rules that should be followed when designing one.

1.344. In a controlled environment, such as that of a given census or national statistical organization, it is possible to standardize table definitions. The most common way is to design a basic layout having a number of attributes that together fully describe a table. Appropriate software will then give users access to a number of operations that process the table or several tables at the same time. Examples of such operations are reclassifying a variable (for example, from one- to five-year age groups), eliminating a dimension from a multidimensional table or joining tables that have a dimension in common.

1.345. The availability of a standard table description language offers important advantages in exchanging tables as data-processing objects among national and international organizations. However, as mentioned before, some statistical tables are not easily pressed into the mold provided by formal descriptions. In this respect, it should be noted that statistical tables have little in common with the structures known as relational tables in popular database management systems.

1.346. Nevertheless, census offices should be aware of the potential offered by Extensible Markup Language (XML). XML is not, as a matter of fact, a language itself but rather a meta-language system designed to be used on the Internet. With XML, users can define their own "tags" to structure the information within a document. XML thus offers the potential of precisely describing all elements

composing a statistical table: title, subtitle, unit of measures, indicators, values, the time dimension and footnotes and in short the *meta-data*. Other solutions, such as EDI/EDIFACT (Electronic Data Interchange For Administration, Commerce and Transport), are a set of internationally agreed standards, directories and guidelines for the electronic interchange of structured data between independent, computerized information systems.

(c) Time-series and indicators databases

1.347. Databases can also cover more than one demographic inquiry, and census results can be integrated with various other data sets, including the results of earlier censuses. In developing databases that are aimed at serving a heterogeneous user community, the issue of a number of basic trade-offs will have to be addressed. For example, on the one hand, the number of variables should be kept as small as possible to make the database easy to use; on the other hand, it should be as comprehensive as possible to address the broadest possible requirements. A minimum data set of versatile indicators should consist of those variables that are useful for a wide range of applications and consistently available across space and time, and whose characteristics are clearly defined. In developing such a database, not only storage of the key indicators and variables themselves, but also the inclusion of some basic figures (absolute numbers or basic data) as a way of standardizing the basic statistical framework, is recommended.

1.348. It would be ideal to have a broadly accepted storage format that could improve interchangeability between producers and users. The principal problem is that series usually contain a number of descriptive attributes that have not been standardized. Metadata such as key code, definition of the variable, periodicity, unit of measure, universe covered, number of terms recorded, base year (for an index), adjustment applied, and so on ,are required to interpret the series properly.

1.349. In addition, various processing modules (custom-made or commercial) can be attached, allowing seasonal adjustment, interpolation and extrapolation, model building, and adding or subtracting of series if relevant, and so on. Spreadsheet manipulation, as well as graphing and mapping capabilities, can greatly enhance data presentation and analysis.

(d) Graphing and mapping databases

1.350. By having associated graphing and mapping capabilities, databases will greatly increase their usefulness. Ideally users should be able to generate the graphs and/or maps required by themselves, and then print or plot them, paste them into a report or make the images available for other uses.

1.351. Several census organizations have produced this kind of product, sometimes in cooperation with a commercial company. Many users want data for relatively small areas concerning such matters as home ownership, educational profiles, and the labour market. While the database may be for one census, some historical information can be included to allow users to observe prevailing trends over time.

1.352. Both micro- and macro-data can be at the basis of these dissemination products. However, owing to disclosure problems as well as in order to increase processing speed, some form of prior aggregation is usually applied, for example by using summary data. Such summary data could also be combined with the general-purpose graphing and mapping software. However, this would result in a reduction of the user community to those able to handle rather more complicated processing jobs. Making available a census database with tightly integrated graphing and mapping capabilities (which usually implies a tabulation function) is an excellent way to improve the effectiveness of census information dissemination. If it is to be commercially successful, the product must be easy to use.

3. Geographical information systems

1.353. A geographical information system (GIS) can be seen as a system of hardware, software and procedures designed to support the capture, management, manipulation, analysis, modelling and display of spatially referenced data. In practical terms, such a system may range from a simple desktop mapping

facility to a complete GIS system that is capable of solving complex planning and management problems or producing detailed georeferenced inventories. Its ability to use space to integrate and manipulate data sets from heterogeneous sources can make its application relevant to planning and managing the census process itself. For example, a GIS provides functions for the aerial interpolation of statistical data in cases where the boundaries of aerial units have changed between censuses. However, the development and implementation of such a repository of georeferenced data are not easy tasks to accomplish, and simple desktop mapping systems generating thematic maps from a database of base maps and indicators will satisfy the needs of most census organizations.

1.354. GIS technology should be considered only at a level appropriate to the skills and resources available, and constitute an integral part of the overall work of the organization. Cooperative arrangements with other agencies should be pursued particularly with regard to the acquisition and maintenance of base map data, which should not be the responsibility of the statistical organization. Statistical organizations should proceed with GIS development or implementation only where it is feasible to maintain such a system during the intercensal years and where there is no dependence on external support.

1.355. Statistical offices may nevertheless develop GIS applications with population data and other georeferenced data from other sources for more advanced forms of spatial analysis. The task could be shared with other institutions, or be delegated completely to specialists elsewhere. The role of the census office would then consist in supplying census data at the right level and in the right format for such a system. Census offices provide vital information on current demographic conditions and future trends for policy makers in a range of sectors such as health care, education, infrastructure planning, agriculture and natural resources management; and the provision of spatially referenced census databases is an essential prerequisite of the facilitation of the use of demographic data in these fields.

1.356. In this regard, it should be noted that the GIS should be capable of generating additional geographical delimitations beyond those used in the census, such as school districts, water catchment areas or power service units. These entities will have to be constructed from the smallest geographically identified units available in the census (for example, block faces, grid squares, or EAs). If (as is the case in most developing countries) EAs are the smallest unit, this will have important implications for the establishment of EA boundaries. Cooperation with the authorities responsible for these geographical entities before the boundaries of EAs are drawn can reduce later problems.

1.357. Being a rather complex technology and a resources-consuming one, GIS needs to be introduced in developing countries carefully and gradually. As an alternative to immediately launching full-scale GIS applications, countries may start with a simple and robust design that is likely to be understood and maintained by a wide array of users, transferable to a wide range of software packages and independent of any hardware platform. GIS implementation in a developing country may follow a hierarchical strategy, with the national statistical office employing a high-end commercial GIS with extensive capabilities for handling and analysing large amounts of spatial data. Widespread dissemination of databases can then be achieved by creating a version of the finished databases using a low-end mapping software format for distribution at low cost and through web dissemination of macro-information in an online GIS.

G. Dissemination of the results

1.358. A census is not complete until the information collected is made available to potential users in a form suited to their needs. The information may be included in published tables and reports for general distribution, produced as tables in unpublished form for limited distribution or stored in a database and supplied upon request, or disseminated on-line (in this case it will be available only to connected population).

1.359. All dissemination is subject to issues of (a) quality assurance, (b) possible disclosure of information about identifiable respondents and (c) copyright and ownership. In addition, the issue of cost recovery has become important to many statistical organizations. Each medium of dissemination offers respective advantages and limitations, and the choice of using one or several of them depends on the

context, and on the intended categories of users. In most instances, these methods complement each other and can provide effective ways to reach out to the public and private sectors.

1.360. When data are provided in electronic form, special attention should be given to providing users with easy means for data retrieval. The options for obtaining the relevant meta-information and the data should be accessible in standard format (ASCII text), comma separated value (CSV) format as well as in common database and spreadsheet format for easy retrieval and manipulation.

1. Publication of printed tables and reports

1.361. Printed publications remain in most countries the preferred choice for the dissemination of the main census results. At least for the present, they reach out to the largest number of potential census users. Paper media do not require that the user have any particular equipment, software or technical skills.

1.362. It is important that plans be made and sufficient funds be allocated to ensure publication of the tabulations of widespread interest. The final tabulations should be presented and explained in a way that will facilitate their widespread use. The data should be shown for appropriate geographical and administrative divisions and classified by important demographic variables. The census publications should also contain information on how the data were collected and processed, results of available evaluation studies, and appraisals of the substantive significance of the results presented. In addition, a sufficient number of maps should be provided in the census publication to allow the identification of the geographical units for which the statistics are presented.

1.363. Using tabulation programs to produce output directly for publication allows the traditional method of dissemination of statistics through printed reports to be integrated more closely and more inexpensively with the statistical production process. If the software used for tabulation cannot produce camera-ready output, the files containing output tables can be moved into a document that could be assembled using desktop publishing or word-processing software. Manual retyping of tables once generated should be avoided as much as possible to prevent transcription errors and delays.

1.364. The choice of how the actual printing is to be done entails in fact a trade-off involving quality, cost and speed. The best results can usually be obtained by sending the documents in computer-readable format to a professional printing plant. This will allow high-quality typesetting and the use of supporting colours. Alternatively, master printouts can be made in the census office and sent to the printer for cheaper duplication or offset printing. There are also affordable high-speed printing systems that can be directly controlled by the microcomputers in the census office.

1.365. Target dates for publication should be determined well in advance and processing and reproduction programmes should be planned accordingly. In addition to traditional methods of printing, there are various methods of reproduction available that are rapid, economical and legible, and these should be investigated.

1.366. As a cheaper alternative to printing, census reports can be reproduced on microform (microfilm or microfiche). This technique allows broadening the publication program without incurring proportionally higher costs. A drawback is that microform requires special reading equipment, and even then most users do not find it easy on the eyes. Dissemination of census publications on microform has largely given way to the electronic alternatives described below.

2. Dissemination on computer media

1.367. For an increasingly number of users, computer-readable magnetic and optical media are the preferred medium of dissemination. This is because data in this form are often cheaper to obtain, copy and store. In addition, they are directly available for further computer processing and analysis. Magnetic media are usually diskettes, but they are becoming rapidly obsolete owing to the advent of CD-ROMs and DVD-ROMs. Important drawbacks of diskettes are their limited capacity and vulnerability. Adequate

storage and frequent recycling are necessary to avoid demagnetization and loss of data. CD-ROMs have a capacity of up to 700 Mbytes, while DVD-ROMs have a capacity from 4.7 to 17 Gbytes.

1.368. Technologies such as CD-ROM, and the emerging DVD-ROM, provide a much better medium of distribution for large data sets that are not subject to frequent change or updating. Standard CD-ROMs and DVD-ROMs are read-only optical media. They have a very large storage capacity, they are durable and they can be produced inexpensively. Because the results of a particular statistical inquiry such as a census are supposed to be final, dissemination on a read-only support should be satisfactory.

3. On-line dissemination

1.369. With the surge in importance of the Internet and the World Wide Web, on-line dissemination of all kinds of information, including statistical information, has gained a new impetus. The advantages of online dissemination are found primarily in terms of speed, flexibility and cost. The information is available to the user as soon as the provider has loaded it on the server and cleared it for access by users. Information can be static or dynamic. The cost to the user is limited to the expenses of communication with the Internet service provider plus whatever charge the information provider is placing on top of these. There is no expense involved in the production and distribution of printed materials or other data supports.

1.370. On-line dissemination of data had been common well before the Internet gained prominence. The simplest option open to statistical organizations had been bulletin board systems (BBS), now largely replaced by Internet and intranet web sites. One could use the same web site for both internal and broad community communication, with the granting of access rights in certain areas to privileged users only. Security measures including passwords, call-back procedures and so on can be used to exclude unauthorized users from reaching these areas. However, this is risky, since resourceful "hackers" may find their way around the barriers and gain entrance to confidential information. Firewalls are hardware and/or software security systems that limit the exposure of a computer or network to malicious infiltration from an external location. The census office web site is probably the first dissemination medium where Internet connected users would look for census information. It is recommended that micro-data should not be stored on a web site in direct contact with the public. It is also recommended that a powerful firewall constitutes a security layer between the web site that is visible to the public and the working network of the census office. Web sites of public administrations are under constant attack from hackers and very sophisticated security measures must be adopted when "opening up" on the Internet. Internet security, despite being an issue of technical nature, has to be mandated, demanded and provided resources for by the highest levels of management of the census office.

1.371. An Internet web site can be used not only to make information available as soon as it has been cleared, but also for other forms of communication with users. Possibilities include on-line ordering of publications and one or more receiving areas for questions that would be answered later through the same medium by appropriate specialists. One such area could be the census forum or "chat room".

1.372. Internet web sites may support "door" or "gateway" applications that allow users to run outside programs on the computer on which the Internet web server operates. Interactive access to census outputs can be offered to most types of databases and census products, including reports, publications, tables, maps and graphs. For example, there may be a database of aggregated census data for small areas or a micro-data database that users can access in this way. When the required data are not readily available, users could run an on-the-spot query to obtain and retrieve results that satisfy their needs. This can be done by offering to Internet users census micro-data samples and an interactive tabulation system. Users can then select records from these data sets that satisfy certain parameters and compute statistical information, such as two-dimensional cross-tabulations of either original or recoded variables. Program execution by users on the outside, however, raises important questions of cost, efficiency and confidentiality, which have to be resolved. For reasons of efficiency, it is recommended that information which is provided or likely to be heavily requested by users accessing the census web site be made available in a static format, which is faster to download. Letting the user to run data extraction on on-line databases, which would be a dynamic way of accessing the census information, is more resource-consuming and should be the second choice for those users needing more detailed data than those available through static pages.

1.373. Another electronic dissemination method, limited in depth but broad in accessibility, is television videotext. Quite a few statistical offices already maintain on certain television channels a number of pages of actual information that are accessible by anyone having a television set with videotext capability. From a public relations point of view, this is an excellent way to bring the work of the statistical office to the attention of a very broad audience. Since the taxpayer generally still funds an overwhelming part of the costs of official statistics, such a consideration is not to be neglected. Similarly other media are useful in disseminating census information targeted at different sectors of the population. More generalist media, such as the radio, television programmes, newspapers, press conferences and so forth offer the possibility of reaching out to sectors of the population not otherwise reachable.

1.374. A hybrid solution for data dissemination that appears to combine the advantages of several approaches is one whereby the statistical or census organization makes basic data available to users on a computer-readable medium, usually through a web site or optical media, while additional information may be provided by telephone or some other on-line protocols, such as File Transfer Protocol (FTP) sites. This will usually take the form of a package that contains basic data, metadata and a data browser software. The basic data may contain existing time-series, report files and the like, as well as country and region maps that can be used to generate thematic maps with various indicators. Maps made available to general users need not ensure the same geographical detail as maps used for EAs. Lighter versions of maps at any subnational level may be provided to the general public, and more sophisticated and detailed ones to those fewer users who would actually need an increased level of detail. It is thus important that the web site specifies the instructions on how to contact officers responsible for special dissemination needs.

1.375. For some users, if the particular statistical information is not yet available on the physical distribution medium, special access may be granted, provided that adequate screening of their credentials and security checks are performed, to protected areas of the Internet site where up-to-date census information becomes available. Since "opening up" online resources to users has to be planned carefully and a clear policy established in advance (so that criteria for deciding whether or not to grant access are unambiguous), it is not recommended. Instead, provision of an online data tabulation system for expert end users is advised.

4. Privacy and confidentiality

1.376. All the information stored in the census database allows the production of tables not only for very small areas (such as enumeration areas or villages) but for all individual units in these areas. Therefore, when a census database is constructed, not only technical considerations but also the maintenance of confidentiality and the protection of individual privacy -- which must be a primary consideration in designing the data-collection and data-processing programme -- must be taken into account. Accordingly, micro-data, such as name and local address, or the unique characteristics that permit the identification of individual respondents, must be removed from the database or otherwise altered.

1.377. The same care must be taken if a transcription of information from original questionnaires (that is to say, from a representative sample) is needed for use by qualified agencies and research institutes engaged in special studies beyond the purview of the regular census programme. Such needs have sharply decreased with the almost universal use of computer technology. However, when such a procedure is possible under the census law, individual privacy should be ensured and no exception should be authorized.

5. Acceptance of results

1.378. In countries with limited prior census experience and without a well-functioning civil registration system, where population data are based largely on estimates, it is important to inform the users, particularly the governmental authorities, that the census results could differ from such estimates and to explain the reason for these differences. In some cases, there may be doubts expressed about the census results; usually those doubts focus narrowly on the total population of the country, major subdivisions or population sub-groups, rather than on the bulk of the census data relating to characteristics of the

population or on the data for local areas. In this situation, it may be possible to take such doubts into account by modifying the census evaluation programme or by adding appropriate qualifications to the text of the census reports or in tabular footnotes. Nevertheless, the Government may proceed with the processing and dissemination for official purposes. In any case, every effort should be made to process and evaluate the full census and to make appropriate use of as many of the census tabulations as possible.

H. Evaluation of the results

1. Purpose of census evaluation

1.379. The quality of population and housing census data is very important for many reasons, building public trust and understanding in the national statistical system. The purpose of census evaluation is to provide users with a level of confidence when utilizing the data, and to explain errors in the census result. It is therefore important to choose an appropriate way of sending out these messages to the right group of people.

1.380. It is universally accepted that a population census is not perfect and that errors can and do occur at all stages of the census operation. Errors in the census results are classified into two general categories - coverage errors and content errors. Coverage errors are the errors that arise due to omissions or duplications of persons or housing units in the census enumeration. The sources of coverage error include, *inter alia*, incomplete or inaccurate maps or lists of enumeration areas, failure on the part of enumerators to canvass all the units in their assignment areas, duplicate counting, persons who for one reason or another will not allow themselves to be enumerated, erroneous treatment of certain categories of persons such as visitors or non-resident aliens, loss or destruction of census records after enumeration, and so forth. Content errors are errors that arise in the incorrect reporting or recording of the characteristics of persons, households and housing units enumerated in the census. Content errors may be caused by poorly phrased questions or instructions, or enumerator errors in phrasing the census questions; inability or misunderstanding on the part of respondents in respect of answering specific items; deliberate misreporting; errors due to proxy response; coding or data entry mistakes, and so forth.

1.381. Many countries have recognized the need to evaluate the overall quality of their census results and have employed various methods for evaluating census coverage as well as certain types of content error. Comprehensive evaluation should however also include assessment of the success of census operations, in each of its phases, including such activities as the census publicity campaign. Countries should ensure, therefore, that their overall census evaluation effort addresses the census process, as well as the results. The present section is devoted to evaluation of the results. However, the section on the quality assurance and improvement programme (paras. 1.228-1.277) provides further recommendations relating to controlling and assessing the quality of census operations.

1.382. Evaluation efforts focused on census results should generally be designed to serve one or more of the following main objectives: first, to provide users with some measures of the quality of census data to help them interpret the results; second, to identify as far as is practicable the types and sources of error in order assist the planning of future censuses; and third, to serve as a basis for constructing a *best estimate* of census aggregates, such as the total population, or to provide census results adjusted to take into account identified errors. As discussed below in the following subsection, a number of methods exist for carrying out census evaluation. In practice, many countries use a combination of such methods in order to fully serve these objectives.

1.383. The final publication of census results should include an estimate of coverage error, together with a full indication of the methods used for evaluating the completeness of the data. The publication should also provide users with some guidance on how they might use the evaluation results. It is also desirable to provide, as far as possible, an evaluation of the quality of the information on each topic and of the effects of the editing and/or imputation procedures used.

1.384. The range and quality of editing in regard to the correction of the inconsistent data and imputation possible in a population census are greatly enhanced by the use of computer edit programmes that permit inter-record checks (for example, the replacement of missing values based on one or more items on the basis of reported information for other persons or items). If any imputation is made, the topics affected, the methods used and the number of cases affected should be clearly described in the census report.

1.385. The process of census evaluation should not be permitted to delay the prompt publication of the principal results of the census. Evaluations of the completeness and accuracy of the data can be issued after the initial census results are published.

2. Methods of census evaluation

1.386. The choice of evaluation methods to be used depends upon the evaluation objectives. These, in turn, depend on national census experience in terms of past and anticipated errors, user and public concerns, and the financial and technical resources available for evaluation. The decision whether to measure coverage error, content error or a combination of the two must be made. In addition, both gross and net error must be taken into account in developing the overall evaluation plan. Gross coverage error in a census is defined as the total of all persons omitted, duplicated or erroneously enumerated. Net coverage error takes into account the underestimates due to omissions and the overestimates due to duplications and erroneous inclusions. When omissions exceed the sum of duplications and erroneous inclusions, as is usually the case in most countries, a net undercount is said to exist; otherwise, a net overcount results. Similarly, both gross and net content errors have to be considered in the evaluation design.

1.387. Numerous methods are available to estimate the coverage and content error of censuses. These include simple techniques of quality assurance such as internal consistency checks. Comparisons of results with other data sources including previous censuses, current household surveys and/or administrative records are also useful techniques. Such comparisons may be made in aggregate, that is to say, by comparing the overall estimates from two sources (net error only). Alternatively, record-checking, in which individual census records are matched against alternative sources and specific items of information are checked for accuracy, may be used. Both gross and net errors can be estimated in record checks, which may involve field reconciliation of differences, a costly exercise that cannot be overlooked. An important but complicating factor in the use of record checks is the requirement of accurate matching. It is essential to plan carefully for this aspect, since the operation can be tedious and costly. It should be noted that record checks are best employed to study the coverage of certain segments of a population, such as children whose birth records are complete, since these checks are, by definition, limited to subpopulations with complete, accurate records.

1.388. Demographic analysis and post enumeration surveys²³ are two very important methods for evaluating census data, and these are discussed in further detail in the following two subsections.

3. Demographic analysis for census evaluation

1.389. Demographic analysis offers a powerful methodology for evaluating the quality of a census and countries are encouraged to use demographic analysis as part of their overall census evaluation methodology. A wide variety of demographic techniques have been developed and used, ranging from visual inspection of census data to comparative analysis of two census age distributions. A basic procedure for assessing census quality on age-sex is graphical analysis of the population pyramid. Age-heaping or the tendency of respondents to report a particular ending digit is a useful internal consistency check, as are sex ratios by age and certain summary indices of age-sex data, including the United Nations Age-Sex Accuracy Index which extends age-sex ratio analysis by observing deviations of the observed age-gender ratios from

²³ Note that for the purposes of this publication, a post- enumeration survey, or PES, is defined as being a post-census evaluation survey.

the ones expected for each five-year age group and combining the results into a single score.²⁴ Other summary indices are Whipple's Index and Myer's Blended Index, used for judging age-heaping.

1.390. Stable population theory is also used to assess the quality of census distributions by age and sex. It is based upon measuring the reported age-sex distribution against that of an appropriately chosen stable population. Its usefulness is demonstrated by the fact that the conditions assumed under the model, constant fertility and constant or recently declining mortality, are satisfied in a number of countries. Recent declines in fertility in a given country render the technique somewhat less useful as an evaluation tool, however, since the technique is sensitive to changes in fertility levels.

1.391. The methods mentioned above, while useful in providing overall assessment of census quality, cannot differentiate the sources of census error in terms of the relative contributions from under-coverage (or over-coverage) or content error. Better information about coverage error, through demographic analysis, derives chiefly from comparative analysis of data from successive censuses, in which four methods are used.

1.392. The four methods include (*a*) derivation of an expected population estimate taking account of vital registers of births, deaths and net migrants between censuses, as compared with the latest census, (*b*) population projections based on the results of the prior census plus data on fertility, mortality and migration from various sources and comparing the projected estimates with the new census results (cohort component method), (*c*) comparison of two census age distributions based on intercensal cohort survival rates and (*d*) estimates of coverage correction factors using regression methods to make the age results from the two censuses mutually consistent (cohort survival regression method).²⁵ It should be noted that the first two methods would likely have to be restricted to evaluation studies of coverage at the national level, especially in countries that do not have good subnational data on migration.

4. Post enumeration survey

1.393. The Post Enumeration Survey can be defined as the complete re-enumeration of a representative sample of the census population and matching each individual who is enumerated in the post enumeration survey with information from the main enumeration. The objectives of the Post Enumeration Survey can be summed up as follows:

- (a) To assess the degree of coverage during census enumeration;
- (b) To examine the implications of any coverage deficiencies, if any, on the usefulness of the census data;
- (c) To obtain information for the design of future censuses and surveys; and
- (d) To examine the characteristics of persons who may have been missed during census enumeration.

The post-enumeration survey (PES), a special kind of survey designed to measure census coverage and/or content error, has been used effectively in a wide range of countries in recent decades.

²⁴ See Methods of Appraisal of Quality of Basic Data for Population Estimates: Manual II, ST/SOA/SER.A/23 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.56.XIII.2).

²⁵ Detailed methodologies including step-by-step procedures for applying all the demographic techniques mentioned above, plus others, are contained in chapter 5 of Evaluating Censuses of Population and Housing, (Washington, D.C., United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1985). Numerical examples are also given in the chapter regarding the application of these techniques in many developing countries. The complete publication is also useful as an overall census evaluation reference.

1.394. While a PES can be designed to provide a comprehensive evaluation of coverage and content error especially when supplemented by and integrated with detailed demographic analysis of census quality, the methodology of a sound PES is complex, so that countries must accordingly weigh with care the demanding technical requirements and the costs of conducting a successful PES, and elaborate a clear statement of its objectives, before deciding to undertake such a survey. Careful advance planning is crucial. To be valid, a PES has to function within a number of operational and statistical constraints. These include the requirement that the PES be carried out within a few months of the end of the census to ensure that the impact of natural population changes (births, deaths and migration) and lapses in respondent recall do not hopelessly complicate the exercise.

1.395. The methodology for a PES may entail either a single or a dual system estimation procedure for estimating the "true" total population and hence, the coverage error which is typically an undercount. When dual system estimation is used, an essential property in terms of design is PES independence of the census. Independence implies the presence of many features that are often difficult to introduce in actual practice, including the use of a frame for PES sampling that is unrelated to the census operation, a PES staff of enumerators and other field personnel who are different from the census staff, and organizational management of the PES operation that is under the general supervision of someone other than the census director. When sufficient independence cannot be achieved, a PES design that relies upon single system procedures may be usefully employed. Even though the sampling frame is then based on the census and the PES managed by the census director, this methodology still assumes that the PES, with its better trained enumerators and more intensive field procedures, will give results superior to those of the census. However, unlike the dual system approach, this method cannot account for those persons missed in both the census and the PES, and so the degree of under-coverage is usually understated when a single system PES is used.

1.396. Another basic property of PES design and execution, irrespective of whether single or dual system estimation is used, involves matching and reconciliation. Matching the PES person-record or household-record against the corresponding census record is an operation whose performance must be of very high quality to ensure that inaccuracies in the PES itself do not effectively ruin the estimate of coverage error. Matching is especially difficult in countries where many surnames are identical and well-defined street addresses do not exist. Part of the matching operation usually involves a field visit to reconcile differences between the census and the PES as regards either coverage or content. Reconciliation of course adds another dimension of cost and complexity, since it entails a second visit to the field for PES-related purposes.

1.397. Clearly defining the objectives of a PES is the first and most crucial step in planning the survey. The objectives might include estimation of coverage error at the national level; estimation of coverage error for major subnational domains or population sub-groups, each with its own specified level of precision; and/or measurement of content error for specific census items.

1.398. As mentioned, the design of a post-enumeration survey is complex and there are various alternatives, primarily depending upon whether single or dual system estimation is to be utilized. A number of excellent references are available that set out highly detailed procedures for designing a PES and the conditions under which they may or should be considered.²⁶

5. **Re-interview surveys**

²⁶ The most comprehensive material is found in chapter 2 of Evaluating Censuses of Population and Housing, Washington, D.C., (1985), United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. Developments in Dual System Estimation of Population Size and Growth, K. Krotki, ed. Alberta, Canada, University of Alberta Press, 1978), is also highly recommended for its exposition of the use of PES in census evaluation; especially relevant therein are, "The role of dual system estimation in census evaluation,"(chap. 10); E. Marks and J. Rumford, "The 1974 post-enumeration survey of Liberia" (chap. 11); and C. Scott, "The problem of independence and other issues," (chap. 12).

1.399. Sometimes a post-census survey is designed to measure content error only, in which case it is usually known as a re-interview survey. The advantage of a well-designed re-interview survey is that the results are more accurate than those of the census insofar as the operation is much smaller and can be more effectively controlled. Estimates of relative response bias can be obtained from a re-interview survey, which (rather than the census) is generally taken as the standard in this area on the grounds that the survey, with its better-trained interviewers and more intensive survey procedures, yields superior results.

1.400. As part of the design of some post-enumeration surveys, a sample of the original census enumeration districts, blocks or areas is chosen and recanvassed for the PES. As regards methodology, this constitutes a useful *re-interview* technique for measuring content error, and such an element in the design is often put into practice because the matching operation between survey and census records is then dramatically simplified. When this technique is also used to estimate census coverage error, the single system estimation methodology has to be employed since the PES and census are not independent.

I. Analysis of the results

1.401. In order to ensure the fullest possible utilization of census results by national and local governmental authorities, by academic researchers and by others, it is advisable to draw up a comprehensive and coordinated programme of analytical studies, phased over a period of several years. This will help allocate effort and resources in such a way as to ensure that important policy needs are adequately met, undue duplication of research effort is avoided and priorities are observed as far as possible. In these studies, the data of the current census should be examined not only by themselves but also as complemented by relevant data from other sources and from earlier censuses, in order to obtain a broader context, improve the estimates and establish trends.

1.402. The analytical studies to be included in such a programme will vary according to the needs and circumstances of the country. The programme may include descriptive summaries of results, policyoriented analyses of census results and detailed analytical studies of one or more aspects of the demographic and social situation of the country. Some of these studies may be undertaken by the census organization itself, but others, particularly the more time-consuming studies, can most effectively be carried out in cooperation with other research organizations. In any case, it is desirable to invite specialists from other governmental offices and experts outside of the Government to take part in drawing up this programme of studies and it is natural that they would play an important part in the execution of various parts of the analytical programme.

1.403. One important aspect to be considered in establishing a programme of analysis is the possible use of census results in achieving the goals and objectives of population, human settlements or similar policies and strategies at the national and local level and in applying available resources effectively towards the improvement of conditions in these fields. For this purpose, it will be necessary to analyse population and housing census results within the framework provided by other available information so as to achieve an integrated approach to the solutions of population, human settlements and similar problems.

1.404. A permanent census office should be the central repository of all census results; it would thus be equipped with the information needed for comparative studies, which will indicate long-term trends in the phenomena investigated. However, to facilitate the fullest possible use of census results by others, subsidiary depositories should be established that serve different substantive or geographical groups of users.

1.405. Aside from the studies that are part of the overall census programme, additional analyses carried out on their own initiative by research organizations, universities or other experts should be encouraged.

J. Systematic recording and dissemination of census experience

1.406. It is recommended that every country should prepare and, if possible, publish a methodological and administrative report providing specimens of the census questionnaires and forms, instructions for the enumeration, and detailed information on the cost of the census and on the implementation of the census budget, as well as information on the manner in which the census was planned, organized and conducted, the important methodological and other problems encountered at the various stages of the programme, and points to be considered in future census. It is important that the report be as comprehensive as possible, covering all stages and aspects of census planning and operations, including fieldwork, processing, analysis, dissemination, evaluation, and so forth. This report would both assist the users of the census results in appraising and interpreting the data and facilitate the proper planning of future data-collection programmes, including population and housing censuses.

1.407. The cumulative experience of past censuses in a country is definitely of great help in the preparation of a new census. Because of the lapse of time between censuses and the likelihood of changes in upper-echelon personnel even in a permanent census office, it is most useful to assemble complete records on the methodology of each census, an evaluation of the techniques employed and detailed records on costs and implementation of the census budget. These records should be arranged in such a way as to ensure that information on each aspect of the census operation may be found easily (see para. 1.90 for an indication of the information required on costs and resources). Setting up or implementing a programme of knowledge management in the census office may thus support a rationale and efficient manner of modelling flows of information, centres of responsibility, and map essential working processes connected with the execution of the census. Knowledge management tools and techniques help in preserving institutional memory in a codified way so that lessons learnt from the past may be used for better management of future census planning and execution.

IV. Use of sampling in population and housing censuses

1.408. The potential role of sampling in population and/or housing censuses is extensive. On the one hand, sampling can be an integral part of the planning, data collection and operations, analysis and evaluation of the census. On the other hand, the census may serve as a sampling frame for subsequent sample surveys or survey programmes.

1.409. Important aspects of the use of sampling in connection with the census are set forth below in three sections: the first on features of acceptable sampling operations, the second on sampling as an integral part of the census and the third on the census as a frame for subsequent sample surveys.

A. Features of acceptable sampling operations

1. Accuracy and precision

1.410. The use of sampling in a census entails an awareness of the precision desired in sample estimates. The higher the levels of precision, the larger and/or more complex, and hence the more expensive, the sample. A distinction is to be made between the precision of a sample estimate and its accuracy. Precision can be measured by the standard error (which gives a measure of the error due to sampling compared with a complete enumeration under the same general conditions of inquiry), while accuracy is measured by the difference between the true value (which is generally unknown) and that obtained from an inquiry, whether on a sample or complete enumeration basis.

1.411. Sampling methods employed in census-taking, with the exception of pilot tests, should make use of probability samples as opposed to judgmental, purposive or other non-scientific methods. For the successful execution of a probability-based sampling plan, it is essential that scientifically designed selection procedures be strictly followed. The sampling procedures must be such that a known positive probability of selection can be assigned to every unit in the population. The inverse of these probabilities must be calculable so that they can be used to estimate population values and to calculate the measure of

precision of the estimates (in other words, their sampling error). Selection procedures must be faithful to the design so that deviations from prescribed standards or instructions are minimal.

1.412. Of course, estimated results based on samples are subject to sampling errors in addition to various types of non-sampling errors that are also present in a complete enumeration. The smaller scale of a sample operation may make it possible, nevertheless, to employ interviewers of higher calibre, to devise and pose questions of greater detail and to minimize response errors. As a result, non-sampling errors, which affect the accuracy of the estimates, are likely to be fewer in a well-executed sample than in a complete enumeration.

1.413. Whenever sampling is used in the census data collection, provision should be made for computing estimates of sampling error (variances), at least for the major items of interest. While a variety of techniques can be employed to estimate variances, the particular technique adopted should be one that reflects the actual sample design used.

2. Census resources

1.414. Effective planning of sample operations consists to a large extent in making judicious use of whatever expert knowledge and equipment are available in a particular country. Specific sample plans aimed at the same objective may vary from country to country, depending on the quality and quantity of census resources. In planning a sample operation as part of the census effort, it is important to bear in mind considerations of cost and competent direction.

1.415. The question of cost in sampling is of crucial significance and cost may be the reason why it was decided not to collect the same information through a complete enumeration in the first place. Numerous factors govern the cost of sampling and it is essential that these be fully weighed before a decision is made to associate a sample plan with a complete count. One important factor, for instance, is the size and complexity of the sample, which in turn is governed by the objectives of the survey and the procedures that are regarded as most efficient.

1.416. Sample operations should be conducted under the direction of a competent statistician who is conversant with the theory of sampling and of statistical analysis from sample data, and the practical operations of carrying out sample surveys in the field. The advice of such a sampling statistician is indispensable at all stages of the sample operations from planning and sample design to estimation and calculation of variance.

1.417. In order to ensure that the sample is selected strictly according to the design and to avoid any possibility of bias in sample selection, it is strongly recommended that the actual selection of the sample units should be carried out either in the central office or in regional offices under the direct supervision of a sampling statistician.

B. Sampling as an integral part of the census

1.418. Depending on the types of problems to be tackled, a country may consider applying sampling methods in one or more of the following phases of a population census: tests of census procedures, data collection for (usually) a subset of topics in addition to those for which universal coverage is required, post-enumeration field checks, quality assurance of data-processing, advance tabulation of selected topics, and final processing and tabulation. Each phase is discussed below.

1. Tests of census procedures

1.419. Planning the various phases of a census often involves choosing among several alternative procedures. Tests conducted on a sample basis provide the best means of determining which alternative to

use. The results of such tests facilitate a more desirable allocation of available census resources than is possible otherwise.

1.420. The nature and extent of census testing depend on the information that is available from previous censuses or other sources. If, for example, prior housing statistics are lacking in a country, a pilot survey may be called for to assess in advance the practical problems that will be involved in including specific housing topics in the census.

1.421. When carrying out census tests, probability samples are not usually necessary. Since the purpose of most census pilot and pre-tests is to judge the operational feasibility of a proposed course of action for the main census rather than make population estimates, purposive samples can usually be used for such tests. Purposive selection of one or a few geographical areas is generally preferable for such feasibility testing. Purposive samples are also particularly useful when it is necessary to test census questionnaires and methods in areas with particularly difficult conditions. On the other hand, when overall quantitative measures are needed for comparing efficiencies of different procedures (for instance, in examining the anticipated response errors arising from different systems of enumeration), random sampling procedures must be used.

2. Enumeration of topics in addition to those for which universal coverage is required

1.422. The expanded needs in most countries for extensive and reliable demographic data have made the use of sampling a cost-effective part of census-taking. Sampling is increasingly being used to broaden the scope of the census through the asking of a number of questions of only a sample of the population and households. This use of sampling makes it feasible to obtain urgently needed data of acceptable precision when factors of timing and cost would make it impractical to obtain such data on a complete-count basis.

1.423. It is important to bear in mind, however, that national legal requirements may make it mandatory to collect certain information on a complete-count basis. Legislation in many countries prescribes complete population enumerations at particular times or makes certain political or administrative dispositions dependent on particular results from a complete enumeration. For example, the apportionment of seats in the legislature among the civil divisions of a country often depends on the number of persons actually enumerated in each division. The data needed for this and similar purposes may not be collected by sampling.

1.424. Census information that is collected for only a sample of the population and/or housing units is usually obtained by one of two different methods. The first pre-designates a systematic subset of census households to receive a so-called long form, or the census form that contains the detailed questions on all topics. Depending on the sample requirements which, in turn, take account of considerations of cost and precision, the systematic subset that is designated for the long form may represent, for example, 1 in 4, or 1 in 5, or 1 in 10 of the census households. Under such a sampling scheme, all other households in the census will receive a short form containing only those questions intended for universal coverage. If countries choose this option, it is recommended that the pre-designation of the sample households that are to receive the long form be carried out at a central location by supervisory statistical staff, since it has been shown that when the enumerators themselves actually identify the sample households the results are often biased.

1.425. The second method of sampling often used involves designating a sample of enumeration areas to receive the long form. In this approach, all households in the designated enumeration areas receive the long form and all households in the remaining enumeration areas receive the short form. The advantage of the first method over the second is that the sampling precision of results is greater in the former because clustering effects increase the sampling variance when whole enumeration areas are used as sampling units. On the other hand, the advantage of the second method is that different enumerator staffs may be trained more easily, since one set of enumerators can be trained only for the long form and the other set only for the short form.

1.426. It is important to make certain that asking questions that are not asked of all persons does not give rise to legal, administrative or even political issues, since census information is required under statute and often with penalty for refusal.

1.427. The suitability of particular questions for a sample enumeration depends on the precision with which results are needed for small areas, and small population groups, and on the enumeration costs involved.

3. Post-enumeration surveys and field checks

1.428. As discussed in the section on the evaluation of census results, it is universally recognized that census-taking is not perfect and that errors can and do occur. A highly useful method of evaluating the census results discussed in that section is the use of post enumeration evaluation surveys (PES). An independent quality check such as a PES can be critical in validating the census count. Whenever a PES is utilized for census evaluation, it is important of course that the design of the PES be based upon sound probability sampling methods.

1.429. The sample design for a PES must duly take account of the measurement objectives of the evaluation study. These usually include the need to estimate census under-coverage with a certain degree of reliability. In addition, the estimates of under-coverage may be wanted for geographical areas such as provinces or States, and large cities, for urban rural comparisons and so forth. Such requirements also greatly affect the sample design of a PES, as the necessary sample size is increased substantially when estimates of subnational coverage (or under-coverage) are wanted. When designing a PES it is important that:

- (a) Time between the census and the PES be minimized to avoid as much recall error as possible;
- (b) The PES must be independent of the census. PES interviewers must not have census information about the areas they are working. When interviewers have knowledge of census responses, they tend only to confirm what the census recorded;
- (c) To preserve the independence of the PES, its data collection and processing operations must be completely separate from the census data collection and processing;
- (d) Dual system estimation should be used because it requires assuming that the PES is only a second independent enumeration, and not that it is a higher quality (or perfect) enumeration than the census;
- (e) The members of households interviewed in the PES should be matched to the census on a case-by-case basis to determine whether they were enumerated in the census; and
- (f) The PES must have a rule for people who move between Census Day and the survey interview. For example, the independent sample may be the people who are residents of the sample areas on Census Day, which includes the out-movers.

4. Quality assurance and improvement programmes

1.430. As mentioned earlier, sampling can be used effectively for measuring and controlling the quality of many phases of census operations (see paras. 1.228-1.277). The quality assurance measures start with pre-enumeration (designing questionnaires and pilot tests), and continue through enumeration and post-enumeration. Under post-enumeration this includes, in particular, the editing and coding of questionnaires, data entry and tabulation. Even in a country of medium population size, these operations involve millions of questionnaires.

1.431. Every effort should be made to keep operational features as simple as possible. In general, a systematic pattern of selection with random starts is preferable to a random pattern. Measures of quality must be adaptable to simple record-keeping systems.

5. Advance tabulation of selected topics

1.432. A complete national census is a huge undertaking and several months, or even years, may elapse before some of the tabulations are published. It is therefore natural that some countries, particularly those with very large populations, should consider advance, provisional tabulations as a way to ensure that key data are available and are disseminated in a timely manner. Sampling can be availed to serve this need in countries that decide to prepare advance tabulations.

1.433. Preparing advance tabulations through sampling has certain disadvantages, however. For the final results to be given, the results tabulated for the sample units have to be integrated with those tabulated for the non-sample units. These operations may increase the total tabulation time of the census and its cost. Precautions are necessary in order to minimize the delay that may be caused in the preparation of the final results. Moreover, issues concerning the differences between the advance tabulations (which are *estimates* based on a sample) and the final tabulations (which for some topics may be complete counts, while for others estimates based on the long-form sample) must be resolved to the satisfaction, and with regard to the comprehension, of users. Finally, the need for an extensive set of advanced tabulations has been reduced in recent years because the widespread use of microcomputers has reduced the time that was being taken to process the census in many countries. In these circumstances, advanced tabulations programmes are likely to be needed only by very large countries that anticipate extended data-processing operations.

1.434. If sampling has been used as an integral part of a complete enumeration to secure information for a subset of topics, as described above, the same sample of units (persons, households or enumeration areas) can also provide a sample for advance tabulations of the census proper. Such a sampling scheme, if it is devised efficiently, with a view to securing additional census information by small administrative units, may offer excellent opportunities for conveniently obtaining advance tabulations for the same administrative units.

1.435. Even when no sampling has been used in the actual enumeration, a sample design for advance tabulations may be comparatively simple to achieve because the complete census returns provide a sampling frame which can then be used to select the sample for the advance results.

6. Final processing and tabulation

1.436. The principal limitations of complete processing and tabulation of all the information collected in a population census and/or housing census are the length of time it takes and the costs. Consequently, a country may decide that CSPro and IMPS should be used as processing and tabulation programmes that provide complete tabulation of a set of core items, such as those on the short form (for countries that use sampling for long-form items), while certain other characteristics are processed and tabulated only on a sample basis. In addition, they should keep in touch with the latest technology to be used for data processing and tabulation.

1.437. In considering the advisability of using sampling in connection with the final processing operations, the following considerations may also be taken into account. There are certain population and housing characteristics about which information is needed only by large areas and for the country as a whole. Sampling makes it possible to obtain detailed tabulations for large areas, with reasonably small sampling errors, at a much reduced cost and in a shorter time than that needed for tabulations on a complete basis. However, since one of the purposes of a census is to serve local interests, the feasibility of sampling is determined to some extent by the size of the smallest localities for which separate tabulations can be reliably produced.

C. The census as a basis for subsequent sample surveys or survey programmes

1.438. An essential ingredient of probability sample design is the existence of a complete, accurate and up-to-date sampling frame. A sampling frame is a list of all (or most) of the N units in the universe. A sampling frame may be a list of small areas. A sampling frame may be a list of small areas. It may also be a list of structures, households or persons. The census can be used to construct either type of frame, or both; indeed, most countries do use their census for such purposes. The census frame is almost always the departure point for the design of a household sample survey. It is important to note that an old census - even one that, in rapidly changing or growing countries, is one or two years old - may be unsuitable as a frame. In such cases, it is essential to update the census frame with current fieldwork before using it as a frame for a household sample survey.

1.439. It is important to give careful consideration to the construction of a census for subsequent use as a survey sample frame when the census is in the planning stage. The above-mentioned requirements - accuracy, completeness and up-to-dateness - must be addressed. This means, for example, that care must be taken to ensure that the entire country is divided into enumeration areas (EAs), and that all land area belongs to one and only one EA. In terms of their size, the EAs are important not only for the census itself but also for later uses as a potential stage of sampling for surveys; this feature should therefore also be given due consideration by census planners.

1.440. Maps and prior census information concerning small areas are very important for the devising of a good sample plan. The maps are particularly valuable if they unambiguously indicate boundaries of small areas that can be used as primary or secondary sampling units. Population and household counts for the enumeration areas, taken from the census, are also a highly useful ingredient for post-census sample survey design planning. This information is often used to establish measures of size for the selection of first- or second-stage sampling units, or to help in various stratification schemes. Early developments in sampling theory and methods concentrated on efficient designs and associated estimation techniques for population totals or means. In consequence, it is generally believed that while censuses covering total population and housing provide statistical information on a uniform basis for small areas and subgroups of the population, large sample sizes may have to be considered to produce similar results for the long-form topics.

1.441. More recently, however, the methods for analysis of survey data that take into account the complexity of the sampling design (both sampling and non-sampling errors) have developed rapidly. Therefore, even though sample surveys used alone cannot provide data for small areas or small population groups, they can be used in combination with a census on specific topics. For instance, aggregates of variables recorded on every individual in the population, which are often used for stratification of enumeration areas, may in turn be used as calibrator or independent variables when models are fitted and used in estimation of aggregates of variables recorded for samples only, and for small areas not in the sample. Information users, however, must be made aware whenever results obtained in this fashion are published. Related techniques have been used in some census operations when checking information for internal coherence and in some approaches for imputation of missing or incoherent information.

V. Units, place and time of enumeration for Population and Housing Censuses

A. Units of enumeration

1.442. Since individual enumeration is an essential feature of a population and housing census, clarity about the unit of enumeration is an essential element of census planning. In the case of the population census, the primary unit of enumeration is the person. There are two general frameworks within which individuals are identified: (a) households and (b) institutions, as a subset of collective living quarters. The household is a general framework within which most individuals are identified, since the majority of the population live in households, and the household is also a unit of enumeration in its own right. Because the household is also a unit of enumeration for the housing census, careful identification as a preliminary step in the enumeration can facilitate the efficient collection of the data and the control of its completeness in both types of census.

1.443. As mentioned above, the second framework within which individuals are identified comprises *institutions*, as a subset of collective living quarters. In addition to persons identified within households, there are persons living in institutions who are not members of a household. This group constitutes the **institutional population**, which is also investigated in population censuses.

1.444. For the housing census, the household is one of the three units of enumeration; the other two units are living quarters (in other words, housing units and collective living quarters) and buildings. It is important to bear in mind that, in conceptual terms, these three units are clearly distinguishable. There is not necessarily an identity or exact correspondence among these concepts nor are the terms themselves interchangeable. Several households may live together in one set of living quarters may together occupy one building and one set of living quarters may occupy more than one building.

1.445. It is recognized that there may be difficulty in some countries in maintaining independent concepts of *household* and of *housing unit*.²⁷ However, the advantages in terms of the usefulness of the data that result from preserving separate concepts usually outweigh the additional effort required in maintaining them.

1.446. In carrying out a census, it is essential that the units of enumeration be clearly defined and that the definitions be included in manuals of instruction for the enumeration and, to provide appropriate guidance for users of the resulting statistical information, in census reports. In order to reduce the possibility of difficulties in applying the definitions recommended below, countries may find it necessary to expand the definitions and to illustrate them in terms of national conditions and circumstances. Post-enumeration field checks can provide a useful means of determining to what extent the national definitions of the units of enumeration have been applied in the field and the consequent effects on census results.

1. Person

1.447. For census purposes, the term *person* denotes each individual falling within the scope of census. As emphasized above (para. 1.442), a person can be identified as belonging to the household population (that is to say, the population living in households) or to the institutional population (that is to say, the population living in institutions, as a subset of collective living quarters) as defined in paragraph 1.454 below. Although each person must be included in the count of the population, there will be some variation in regard to the person's age (for example questions relating to economic activity in which case the age boundary may be driven by national legislation), sex (for example, questions relating to children born) and/or relationship to the head or other reference member of the household. It may be recommended that information on a particular topic should be investigated for less than the total population, and the group of persons for which a given topic should be investigated is indicated below under the definitions and specifications of such topics presented in part two, chapter V, section C. In addition, each tabulation presented in annex I is accompanied by a description of the population to be included in the tabulation.

2. Household

1.448. The concept of household is based on the arrangements made by persons, individually or in groups, for providing themselves with food and other essentials for living. A household may be either (a) a one-person household, that is to say, a person who makes provision for his or her own food and other essentials for living without combining with any other person to form a multi-person household or (b) a multi-person household, that is to say, a group of two or more persons living together who make common provision for food and other essentials for living. The persons in the group may pool their resources and

²⁷ For further discussion on the concepts of households and housing units, see paragraphs 1.448 and 1.451; also, for the definition of "housing unit, see paragraph 2.418.

may have a common budget; they may be related or unrelated persons or constitute a combination of persons both related and unrelated.

1.449. The concept of household provided in paragraph 1.448 is known as the *housekeeping* concept. It does not assume that the number of households and housing units are or should be equal. A housing unit, as defined in paragraph 2.418., is a separate and independent place of abode that is intended for habitation by one household, but that may be occupied by more than one household or by a part of a household (for example, two nuclear households that share one housing unit for economic reasons or one household in a polygamous society routinely occupying two or more housing units).

1.450. Some countries use a concept different than the housekeeping concept described in the previous paragraph, namely, the "household-dwelling" concept, which regards all persons living in a housing unit as belonging to the same household. According to this concept, there is one household per occupied housing unit. Therefore, the number of occupied housing units and the number of households occupying them are equal and the locations of the housing units and households are identical. However, this concept can obscure information on living arrangements, such as doubling up, that is relevant for evaluating housing needs.

1.451. Households usually occupy the whole or a part of, or more than, one housing unit but they may also be found in camps, boarding houses or hotels or as administrative personnel in institutions, or they may be homeless. Households consisting of extended families that make common provision for food, or of potentially separate households with a common head, resulting from polygamous unions, or households with vacation or other second homes may occupy more than one housing unit. For more discussion of household occupancy, see paragraphs 2.463-2.466.

1.452. A household may also consist of one or more homeless people. The definition of the homeless can vary from country to country because homelessness is essentially a cultural definition based on concepts such as "adequate housing," "minimum community housing standard," or "security of tenure" (see para. 2.536-2.539) which can be perceived in different ways by different communities. The following two categories or degrees of homelessness are recommended:

- (a) Primary homelessness (or rooflessness). This category includes persons living in streets or without a shelter that would fall within the scope of living quarters;
- (b) Secondary homelessness. This category may include the following groups:
 - (i) Persons with no place of usual residence who move frequently between various types of accommodations (including dwellings, shelters or other living quarters); and
 - (ii) Persons usually resident in long-term (also called "transitional") shelters or similar arrangements for the homeless.

These definitions should be supported by a data collection strategy that ensures, for example, that dwellings are properly identified as shelters and not households.

1.453. For some topics investigated in housing censuses, the household may serve more efficiently than living quarters as the unit of enumeration. For example, tenure, if investigated in the census, should be collected with reference to households rather than living quarters. Information about household possessions that are normally included as part of the equipment of living quarters (radio and television receivers, for example) should be collected with reference to households. Information on rent, an item of significance in relation to both living quarters and households, would of necessity be collected in relation to the household.

3. Institutional population

1.454. As emphasized in paragraph 1.442, institutions represent the second general framework within which persons, as major units of enumeration, are identified. The institutional population comprises

persons who are not members of households. These include persons living in military installations, correctional and penal institutions, dormitories of schools and universities, religious institutions, hospitals and so forth.²⁸ Personnel responsible for the running of an institution and not living in dormitories or similar accommodations should be excluded from the institutional population.

1.455. Persons living in hotels or boarding houses are not part of the institutional population and should be distinguished as members of one- or multi-person households, on the basis of the arrangements that they make for providing themselves with the essentials for living.

4. Living quarters

1.456. The principal units of enumeration in a census of housing are living quarters. Only by precise recognition of these identities, data that will provide a meaningful description of the housing situation and a suitable basis for the formulation of housing programmes and policies can be obtained.

1.457. Living quarters are structurally separate and independent places of abode. They may (a) have been constructed, built, converted or arranged for human habitation, provided that they are not at the time of the census used wholly for other purposes and that, in the case of improvised housing units and collective living quarters, they are occupied or (b) although not intended for habitation, actually be in use for such a purpose at the time of the census.²⁹

5. Building

1.458. The building is regarded as an indirect but important unit of enumeration for housing censuses since the information concerning the building (building type, material of construction and certain other characteristics) is required for proper description of the living quarters located within the building and for the formulation of housing programmes. In a housing census, the questions on building characteristics are normally framed in terms of the building in which the living quarters enumerated are located, and the information is recorded for each of the housing units or other living quarters located within it.

1.459. A building is any independent free-standing structure comprising one or more rooms³⁰ or other spaces, covered by a roof and usually enclosed within external walls or dividing walls³¹ that extend from the foundations to the roof. However, in tropical areas, a building may consist of a roof with supports only, that is to say, one without constructed walls; in some cases, a roofless structure consisting of a space enclosed by walls may be considered a building.³²

1.460. In some countries, it may be appropriate to use the "compound" as a unit of enumeration, either in addition to the building or as a substitute for it. In some areas of the world, living quarters are traditionally located within compounds and the grouping of living quarters in this way may have certain economic and social implications that it would be useful to study. In such cases it may be appropriate, during the census, to identify compounds and to record information suitable for linking them to the living quarters located within them.

²⁸ For more detailed definition and specifications of institutions as a subset of collective living quarters, see paragraphs 2.444-2.454.

²⁹ For a more detailed discussion of the definition of "living quarters" and of the concepts of separateness and independence as used in the definition, see paragraphs 2.419-2.420.

³⁰ For the definition of "rooms", see paragraph 2.472.

³¹ The term "dividing walls" refers to the walls of adjoining buildings (for example, of row houses) that have been constructed so as to be contiguous.

 $^{^{32}}$ For a more detailed discussion of the definition of "building" and related concepts, see paragraphs 2.511-2.513.

B. Place of enumeration

1. Concepts relating to place of residence

1.461. In general, usual residence is defined for census purposes as the place at which the person lives at the time of the census, and has been there for some time, or intends to stay there for some time.

1.462. Generally, most individuals enumerated have not moved for some time and thus defining their place of usual residence is clear. For others, the application of the definition can lead to many interpretations, particularly if the person has moved often.

1.463. It is recommended that countries apply a threshold of 12 months when considering place of usual residence according to one of the following two criteria:

- (a) the place at which the person has lived continuously for most of the last 12 months (i.e., for at least six months and one day), not including temporary absences for holidays or work assignments, or intends to live for at least six months
- (b) the place at which the person has lived continuously for at least the last 12 months (not including temporary absences for holidays or work assignments), or intends to live for at least 12 months.³³

1.464. Persons who move frequently and do not have a place of usual residence should be enumerated at the place where they are found at the time of the census.

1.465. Regardless of the criteria used to define the 12-month period, countries should ensure that each person should have one and only one place of usual residence. Furthermore, countries should document the definition of place of usual residence that they have adopted for their census and also provide explicit instructions on how this definition should be applied at the time of enumeration to enumerators for use during an interview or to respondents when filling in self-administered questionnaires.

1.466. A number of special cases may be encountered in which the application may require some additional explanation as to the place of usual residence. Two of the more common examples where special consideration is required are as follows:

- (a) Students at boarding schools and living away from family homes at universities
- (b) Persons working away from their family home: This situation covers a wide range of cases including:
 - (i) People who spend the working week (5 days) in the area close to their work and weekends and holidays at the family residence.
 - (ii) Workers who constantly travel to different places, such as travelling salesmen, truck drivers, short term consultants.
 - (iii) Workers on long term, or semi-permanent assignment to a location away from the family home. In many cases these workers will support the family by remitting portions of their wages to their families.

1.467. In some situations the concept of usual residence may be referred to as though it is synonymous with the concept of de jure residence. The term de jure carries with it a requirement that the person's residence at that place has a basis in the legal system applicable to that place. In turn this implies that

³³ This approach is also recommended the Economic Commission For Europe, draft "Conference Of European Statisticians Recommendations For The 2010 Censuses Of Population And Housing", June 2006. It is also consistent with what is recommended in the *Recommendations on Statistics of International Migration, Revision 1* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XVII.14).

people without such a legal basis should not be enumerated in that area. It is not recommended that censuses of population and housing enumerate only those people with a legal right to be in a place but rather, as described in section 2 below, should include either all those present at the place on census night or all those whose usual residence on census night was at the place.

1.468. A further term which has recently come into use in literature is the floating population. For census purposes this term should be defined as referring to those people usually resident in an area without a legal basis for their residence. Thus the term might include, depending on the circumstances of the country concerned, people from rural areas who have moved to a city for employment purposes without complying with rules for permits to do so; and people who reside in a city while having an official address elsewhere in the country.

2. Operational issues relating to place of residence and place of enumeration

1.469. In a population census, information about each person can be collected and entered in the census questionnaire either where he or she is (or was) present on the day of the census or at his or her usual residence.

1.470. In compiling the census results by geographical areas, however, each person who is part of a household can be included in either (a) the household (and hence the geographical area) where the person was present on the day of the census or (b) the household (and the geographical area) where he or she usually resides. The same should apply for the institutional population. This allocation is not necessarily dependent upon the place at which information was collected for the individual but it can be simplified by the proper choice of a place of enumeration.

1.471. If a "present-in-area" population distribution is wanted, it is logical to enumerate each person at the place where he or she is (or was) present at the time of the census. If a distribution by usual residence only is required, it is more satisfactory to collect the information about each person at the person's place of usual residence. It should be noted, however, that it is not always possible to collect information about each individual at his or her usual residence, as, for example, when an entire household is away from its usual residence at the time of the census. Some provision must therefore be made for collecting information about such persons at the place where they are found at the time of the census.

1.472. With the growing need for information on households and families and on internal migration, it is becoming increasingly desirable to prepare tabulations on the basis of usual residence rather than on place where present, since the latter is often temporary and so is not useful for the investigation of the abovementioned topics. It is comparatively simple to enumerate each person where present on the day of the census and thus to obtain a present-in-area population distribution of the population. However, a usual-residence distribution of the population is likely to be more useful for presentation and analysis of the resulting information than that of the population present-in-area during the enumeration.

1.473. If it is also desired to obtain information on both the usually resident population and the presentin-area population, then either each person present in each household or institution on the census day or each person present and each usual resident temporarily absent can be enumerated at the appropriate household or institution. A clear distinction must then be made in the questionnaire, as applicable, among (*a*) persons usually resident and present on the day of the census, (*b*) persons usually resident but temporarily absent on the day of the census and (*c*) persons not usually resident but temporarily present on the day of the census.

1.474. Depending on the categories of persons enumerated at any given place, information may then be collected on the usual residence (address) of those only temporarily present and on the place (address) at which each temporarily absent person can be found. This information can be used for the purpose of allocating persons to the household (or institution) and geographical area within which they are to be counted and of checking to be certain that no person is counted twice (namely, at both the usual residence and the place where present). The procedures to be followed at the enumeration and through the subsequent

allocation of persons must, however, be very carefully planned and strictly adhered to if the allocation is to be accurate.

1.475. With the exception of mobile housing units (see discussion in para 1.477), living quarters and buildings have a fixed location and therefore the place where they are to be enumerated does not have, to be considered in taking a housing census. Information on households, however, and the persons in households can be collected and entered in the housing census questionnaire either where they are (or were) present on the day of the census or at the usual residence. The procedure followed in the housing census should be governed by that adopted in carrying out the population census if the two censuses are carried out simultaneously. If the housing census is an independent operation, however, the procedure to be followed should be carefully considered since it may have a significant effect on the validity of the results of the housing census.

1.476. Where persons and households are allocated to the place of usual residence, they should also be allocated to the living quarters that they usually occupy. The living quarters that they are actually occupying at the time of the census should be counted as vacant if they are conventional dwellings or they should be excluded from the census if they are non-conventional dwellings.³⁴

1.477. Mobile housing units represent a special case as far as the place of enumeration is concerned. They should be enumerated where they are found on the day of the census; however, in accordance with the procedure adopted for the allocation of the population, mobile housing units may also be allocated to the area where the occupants usually reside provided that they are the usual living quarters of the occupants in the area of usual residence. Where they are not the usual living quarters of the occupants in the area of usual residence, the occupants will be allocated to their usual living quarters and the mobile housing unit will be excluded from the census.

C. Enumeration point of time

1.478. One of the essential features of population and housing censuses is that each person and/or each set of living quarters must be enumerated as nearly as possible in respect of the same well-defined point of time. This is usually accomplished by fixing a census "moment" at midnight at the beginning of the census day if there is only one census day.

1.479. For the population census, each person alive up to the census moment is included in a census schedule and counted in the total population, even though the process of completing the schedule does not take place until after the census moment or even after the census day, and the person may have died in the interim. Infants born after the census moment are not to be entered in a schedule or included in the total population, even though the other persons in their household are enumerated.

1.480. For the housing census, each set of living quarters that has reached an established stage of completion and is not scheduled for, or in the process of, demolition should be included in a census schedule and counted as a part of the housing inventory even though the process of completing the schedule does not take place until after the census moment or even after the census day, and the living quarters may have been scheduled for demolition in the interim. Living quarters that have attained the prescribed state of completion after the census moment are not to be entered in a schedule (unless special instructions are issued for recording living quarters under construction) nor should they be included in the total number of sets of living quarters.

1.481. Where the amount of time allotted for enumeration in the census is considered to be so long that the population is not likely to be able to supply information as of a single moment in the past, it may be necessary to employ different points of time in the enumeration, even to the extent of using the night before the visit by the enumerator. If such a procedure is followed, it should be clearly explained in the census

³⁴ To be considered as living quarters, non-conventional housing units and collective living quarters are required to be occupied in order to be included in the census.

report and the total duration of the enumeration should be stated. For ease of reference and for the computation of intercensal indices, it is useful to designate a single date in the enumeration period as the official "census date". This date could be, for example, the day by which half of the population was enumerated.

D. Time reference period for data on the characteristics of the population and of living quarters

1.482. The data collected about the characteristics of the population and of living quarters should be pertinent to a well-defined reference period. The time-reference period need not, however, be the same for all of the data collected. For most of the data, it will be the census moment or the census day; in some instances (as is the case for current economic characteristics and rental arrangements), however, it may be a brief period just prior to the census or (as is the case for fertility questions, usual economic activity and information on the period of construction of the building in which living quarters are located) a longer period of time.

Part Two: Topics for population and housing censuses

VI. Topics to be investigated in population censuses

A. Factors determining the selection of topics

2.1. In line with the overall approach of this revision of *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses*, the selection of census topics is based on outputs expected to be produced by the census. Thus, the first step involves clear identification of expected outputs, and then the core and additional topics is decided on that basis. For each of the core topics there is a recommended tabulation. It is recommended that countries collect data on the core topics and also produce the recommended tabulation as this would improve the international harmonization and comparability of statistics through use of common concepts, definitions and classifications. Use of an agreed international approach would also enhance the capacity of countries to generate statistics for monitoring of the socio-economic situation of their populations, including for the provision of data for the Millennium Development Goals. The topics to be covered in the census (that is, the subjects regarding which information is to be sought for each individual) should, however, be determined upon balanced consideration of (a) the needs of the broad range of data users in the country; (b) achievement of the maximum degree of international comparability, both within regions and on a worldwide basis; (c) the probable willingness and ability of the public to give adequate information on the topics; and (d) the total national resources available for conducting the census. Such a balanced consideration will need to take into account the advantages and limitations of alternative methods of obtaining data on a given topic within the context of an integrated national programme for gathering demographic and related socio-economic statistics (see paras. 1.20 - 1.57 in part one above).

2.2. In making the selection of topics, due regard should be paid to the usefulness of historical continuity in providing the opportunity for comparison of changes over a period of time. Census takers should avoid, however, collecting information that is no longer required simply because it was traditionally collected in the past, bearing in mind changes in the socio-economic circumstances of the country. It becomes necessary, therefore, in consultation with a broad range of users of census data, to review periodically the topics traditionally investigated and to re-evaluate the need for the series to which they contribute, particularly in light of new data needs and alternative data sources that may have become available for investigating topics hitherto covered in the population census. Each of the four factors that need to be taken into account in reaching a final decision on census content are briefly reviewed in the following paragraphs.

1. Priority of national needs

2.3. Prime importance should be given to the fact that population censuses should be designed to meet national needs. In defining national data needs for population census data, the full range of national uses (for example, policy, administration and research) and national users (for example, national and local government agencies, those in the private sector, and academic and other researchers) should be considered. Each country's decision with regard to the topics to be covered should depend upon a balanced appraisal of how urgently the data are needed and whether the information could be equally well or better obtained from other sources. Global and regional census recommendations can help in this appraisal by providing information about standard census topics and related definitions and concepts based on a wide range of national census experience.

2. Importance of international comparability

2.4. The desirability of achieving regional and worldwide comparability should be another major consideration in the selection and formulation of topics for the census schedule. National and international objectives are usually compatible, however, since international recommendations, based on a broad study of country experience and practice, are recommendations for definitions and methods that have successfully met general national needs in a wide range of circumstances. Furthermore, the analysis of census data for national purposes will often be facilitated if, by the use of international recommendations, it is possible to compare the data with those of other countries on the basis of consistent concepts, definitions and classifications.

2.5. If the particular circumstances within a country require departures from international standards, every effort should be made to explain these departures in the census publications and to indicate how the national presentation can be adapted to the international standards.

3. Suitability of topics

2.6. The topics investigated should be such that the respondents will be willing and able to provide adequate information on them. Thus, it may be necessary to avoid topics likely to arouse fear, local prejudice or superstition, and questions too complicated and difficult for the average respondent to answer easily in the context of a population census. The exact phrasing of each question that is needed in order to obtain the most reliable response will of necessity depend on national circumstances and, as described in paragraphs 1.193-1.194 above, should be well tested prior to the census.

4. Resources available

2.7. The selection of topics should be carefully considered in relation to the total resources available for the census. An accurate and efficient collection of data for a limited number of topics, followed by prompt tabulation and publication, is more useful than the collection of data for an overambitious list of topics, which cannot be investigated, processed and disseminated in a timely, reliable and cost-effective manner. In balancing the need for data against resources available, several additional factors will enter into the decision, including the extent to which questions can be precoded.

B. List of topics

2.8. The list of topics included in these global recommendations for population censuses are based on the global and regional census experience of the last several decades. The topics included here are, with minor revisions, the same as those included in the previous United Nations population census recommendations,³⁵ with the addition of a topic on agriculture, indigenous peoples, informal employment, cause of deaths in broad categories and deaths of children born alive in the last twelve months.

2.9. It should be stressed that no country should attempt to cover all the topics included in the list of population topics (para. 2.16). Rather, countries will need to make their selection of topics in light of the considerations discussed in paragraphs 2.1-2.7 above, bearing in mind current regional recommendations pertaining to census topics. In using the classifications of different topics presented in this part of the *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses*, it is necessary to outline that all the one- and two-digit classification levels are recommended, while those at the three-digit level are incorporated for illustrative and guidance purposes.

2.10. Evolving census experience over the past several decades globally and in the regions has demonstrated that a set of topics exist on which there is considerable agreement in regard both to their importance and to the feasibility of collecting the data for them in a census. Data on those within this set likely to present difficulties in terms of data collection or processing are probably best collected for only a sample of the population. The exceptions to this consensus occur, at one extreme, among the countries

³⁵ Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses, Statistical Papers No. 67 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XVII.8).

with the most developed statistical systems, where adequate data on a number of the topics listed, including some of the core ones, are available from non-census sources; and, at the other, among the countries in which data-collection opportunities are limited and it is felt that advantage must be taken of the possibilities offered by the census to investigate topics that, under better circumstances, might be investigated more suitably by other means.

2.11. Although the set of topics covered in these recommendations is quite comprehensive in terms of topics generally considered suitable for inclusion in a population census, it is also recognized that a few countries may find it necessary to include one or more additional topics of particular national or local interest. However, before the final decision is made to include any such additional topics, their suitability should be carefully tested.

2.12. To assist countries in using the present publication and in determining their own priorities, lists of recommended population topics are summarized in paragraph 2.16, with the core topics shown in boldface. These core topics correspond to those that were included as "priority topics" in the majority of the regional recommendations in previous census decades.

2.13. The topics listed in paragraph 2.16 are grouped under nine headings: "Geographical and internal migration characteristics", "International migration", "Household and family characteristics", "Demographic and social characteristics", Fertility and mortality", "Educational characteristics", "Economic characteristics", "Disability characteristics", and "Agriculture".

2.14. Within each heading, a distinction is made between topics collected directly (those that appear in the census schedule or questionnaire), and derived topics. The former are those for which data are collected by a specific item on the census. Although data for the derived topics also come from information in the questionnaire, they do not necessarily come from replies to a specific question. "Total population", for example, is derived from a count of the persons entered in the questionnaires as persons present or resident in each geographical unit. Such derived topics may perhaps be more correctly considered as tabulation components, but they are listed as topics in order to emphasize the fact that the questionnaire must in some way yield this information.

2.15. The paragraph numbers in parentheses after each entry in paragraph 2.16 refer either to the paragraphs in which the group of topics as a whole is discussed in section D below or to the paragraphs in which the definition and specifications of individual topics are discussed.

2.16. In the following list of population census topics, core topics are shown in bold and are represented by " \square " for topics that are collected directly, and by " \square " for those that are derived.

	1. Geographical and internal migration characteristics (paras. 2.44-2.88)	
(a)	Place of usual residence (paras. 2.46-2.51)	•
(b)	Place where present at time of census (paras. 2.52-2.56)	•
(c)	Place of birth (paras. 2.57-2.63)	•
(d)	Duration of residence (paras. 2.64-2.66)	•
(e)	Place of previous residence (paras. 2.67-2.68)	•
(f)	Place of residence at a specified date in the past (paras. 2.69-2.70)	
(g)	Total population (paras. 2.71-2.77)	
(h)	Locality (paras. 2.78-2.80)	

Table 1: List of population census topics

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
(i)	Urban and rural (paras. 2.81-2.88)			
2. International migration characteristics (paras. 2.89-2.106)				
(a)	Country of birth (paras. 2.93-2.96)	•		
(b)	Citizenship (paras. 2.97-2.102)	•		
(c)	Year or period of arrival (paras. 2.103-2.106)	•		
3. Household and family characteristics (paras. 2.107-2.132)				
(a)	Relationship to head or other reference member of household (paras. 2.114-2.123)	•		
(b)	Household and family composition (paras. 2.124-2.131)			
(c)	Household and family status (para.2.132)	\Diamond		
4. Demographic and social characteristics (paras. 2.133-2.166)				
(a)	Sex (para. 2.134)	•		
(b)	Age (paras. 2.135-2.143)	•		
(c)	Marital status (paras. 2.144-2.151)	•		
(d)	Religion (paras. 2.152-2.155)	\diamond		
(e)	Language (paras. 2.156-2.159)	\diamond		
(f)	Ethnicity (paras. 2.160-2.162)	\diamond		
(g)	Indigenous peoples 2.163-2.167)	\diamond		
5. Fertility and mortality (paras. 2.168-2.201)				
(a)	Children ever born alive (paras. 2.180-2.185)	•		
(b)	Children living (paras. 2.186-2.187)	•		
(c)	Date of birth of last child born alive (paras. 2.188-2.191)	•		
(d)	Age, date or duration of first marriage (para. 2.192)	\diamond		
(e)	Age of mother at birth of first child born alive (para. 2.193)	\diamond		
(f)	Household deaths in the past 12 months (paras. 2.194-2.199)	•		
(g)	Maternal or paternal orphanhood (paras. 2.200-2.201)	\diamond		
(h)	Births in the past 12 months (para. 2.189)			
(i)	Deaths among children born in the past 12 months (para. 2.191)			
6. Educational characteristics (paras. 2.202-2.230)				
(a)	Literacy (paras. 2.202-2.208)			
(b)	School attendance (paras. 2.209-2.214)	•		
(c)	Educational attainment (paras. 2.215-2.222)	•		
(d)	Field of education and educational qualifications (paras. 2.223-2.230)	\diamond		
7. Economic characteristics (paras. 2.231-2.349)				
(c)	Activity status (paras. 2.240-2.300)	•		
(e)	Occupation (paras. 2.301-2.305)	•		

(g)	Status in employment (paras. 2.310-2.321)	•		
(h)	Time worked (paras. 2.322-2.329)	\diamond		
(j)	Income (paras. 2.330-2.334)	\diamond		
(k)	Institutional sector of employment (paras. 2.335-2.336)	\diamond		
(1)	Employment in the informal sector (paras. 2.337-2.341)	\diamond		
(m)	Informal employment (paras. 2.342-2.345)	\diamond		
(n)	Place of work (paras. 2.346-2.349)	\diamond		
8. Disability characteristics (paras. 2.350-2.380)				

9. Agriculture (paras. 2.381-2.390)

Legend:

- Core topic, collected directly

 \Box – Core topic, derived

 \Diamond – Additional topic

C. Population Count

2.17. The main objective of a population census is to provide a reliable basis for an accurate count of the population of a country at a point in time. An accurate population count is essential for the efficient planning and delivery of services, distribution of resources, defining of boundaries for electoral representation and policy development.

2.18. Countries are most interested in the count and distribution of usual residents because usual residence is generally the best indication of where people will demand and consume services, and a count of usual residents is therefore most relevant for planning and policy purposes.

2.19. Some countries will supplement the population count from their census with information from other sources, for example on usual residents temporarily outside the country at the time of the census, to produce population estimates. Other countries will rely solely on the population count from the population census.

2.20. Information about each person can be collected and entered in the census questionnaire either where he or she is (or was) present on the day of the census or at his or her usual residence. Paragraphs 1461.-1.480 describe the place of enumeration basis for the census.

2.21. Population counts may be required on a population present, usual resident population, or service population basis. The choice of population count required will depend on national circumstances and some countries will require more than one. The information collected about each person by the census will need to enable the required population count(s).

2.22. The aim of the census is to achieve unduplicated, full coverage of the population. In practice, countries face a range of challenges in enumerating the population on the basis they decide (where present on census day or where usually resident), and in producing the population count(s) they require. Many of these challenges relate to hard to enumerate groups of the population and persons for whom usual residence is not easily defined.

2.23. In developing strategies for enumerating the population and collecting information to support the required population counts, it is important to consider consistency with the standards for international migration statistics described in paragraphs 2.89-2.92.

1. Population Present Count

2.24. A population present count is the simplest form of population count from a population census. People are counted at their place of enumeration, usually the dwelling where they will spend census night. Foreign residents who are in the country at the time of the census will be included and usual residents of the country who are absent at that time will be excluded. A population present count can be used with information on migration flows to produce an estimate for the national resident population of a country.

2.25. A population present count removes complications associated with the application of the concept of place of usual residence, and can reduce the incidence of double counting or missing people by the census. Apart from these benefits of simplicity, a population present count offers a cost advantage because the census does not need to collect additional information about usual residents not at their usual residence at the time of the census.

2.26. The major disadvantage of a population present count is that it does not provide a full count of usual residents and may not provide a true geographic distribution of usual residents for effective planning and policy purposes.

2.27. A population present count may be a good proxy for a count and distribution of usual residents, particularly if nearly all the population will be at their usual residence at the time of the census, or if the characteristics of those persons present are very similar to the characteristics of usual residents. However, in many countries significant numbers of people will not be at their usual residence at the time of the census, and the characteristics of absent usual residents will be different from non-residents present, so that a population present count is not a good proxy for a count of usual residents. Large seasonal movements of people due to weather changes, holidays and other factors can add to this problem. The ability to produce accurate information on families and households is also reduced to the extent that persons are not enumerated with their families or households.

2.28. To produce a population present count, information is required on all persons present, and the address where they are enumerated. It is also very useful to collect information to identify those persons present who are not at their usual residence, and those persons who are not usual residents of the country.

2.29. Ideally a population present count should include all the difficult to enumerate groups set out in 4, except for categories (b), (e) and where applicable (g). For some of these groups the concept of "at the time of the census" may need to be extended to allow enumeration to take place. Collecting on a place of enumeration basis in these situations may increase the risk of either overcount or undercount. Persons who are at multiple locations during this extended period may be counted at more than one location, or alternatively they may not be counted at any location.

2. Usual Resident Population Count

2.30. Countries increasingly prefer a usual resident population count because this count offers better information for planning and policy purposes on the demand for services, households, families and internal migration.

2.31. A usual resident population count is a count of all usual residents of a country at the time of the census. Although countries determine the definition of a usual resident according to their circumstances, it is recommended that in defining a usual resident and the place of usual residence, countries apply the definition contained in para. 1.463. Usual residents may have citizenship or not, and they may also include undocumented persons, applicants for asylum, or refugees. Usual residents then may include foreigners who reside, or intend to reside, in the country continuously for either most of the last 12 months or for 12

months or more, depending on the definition of place of usual residence that is adopted by the country. Persons who may consider themselves usual residents of a country because of citizenship or family ties, but are absent from the country for either most of the last 12 months, or for 12 months or more, depending on the definition adopted, should be excluded. Conversely, persons who are normally resident in the country but who are temporarily absent should be included in the usually resident population. Countries applying a different definition of a usual resident for national purposes should produce a usual resident population count using the recommended 12 month definition for the purposes of international comparability.

2.32. A usual resident count provides a better count of the permanent population of a country for long term planning and policy purposes, and a better distribution of the resident population within the country for planning and service delivery purposes at sub-national geographic levels.

2.33. To achieve a usual resident count, the population can either be enumerated on a 'place where present' basis or on a 'where usually resident' basis, as described in paragraphs 1.469-1.477.

2.34. Ideally a usual resident population count should include all the difficult to enumerate groups set out in 4, except for categories (c) and (e).

2.35. To produce a usual resident population count, information is required on all usual residents, and the address of their usual residence. If the census is enumerated on a place present at census basis, then the information collected needs to clearly differentiate between persons enumerated at their usual residence, persons usually resident who were elsewhere at the time of the census, and persons present who are usually resident elsewhere. Information should also be collected to identify those persons who are not usual residents of the country. If the census is enumerated on a usual residence basis, then information about all usual residents needs to be collected at their usual residence, regardless of whether they are present at the time of the census or not, to ensure full coverage.

2.36. There are difficulties in obtaining information from those usual residents who are absent from the country at the time of the census, particularly where no other person is present at the time of the census to provide information about those people. Estimates of the number and characteristics of these usual residents not enumerated by the census will be used by some countries to supplement the census population count.

2.37. There can be challenges in applying the concept of usual resident if a person could be considered to have more than one usual residence, sometimes in different countries. There may also be those who do not consider themselves to have a usual residence, such as nomadic peoples or undocumented persons. Countries will need to develop appropriate operational rules for resolving cases where it is not clear whether a person is a usual resident of the country, or where the usual residence of the person within the country is not clear.

3. Service Population Count

2.38. A service population count may be required if a population present count or usual resident population count does not accurately represent the demand for, or provision of services in a country or part of a country. Service populations are relevant where a significant proportion of the population providing or using services in an area are not usual residents of that area. Types of service population counts include daytime populations, working populations and visitor populations. In some countries there may also be an interest in foreign service populations, consisting of foreign residents who cross the border regularly to provide or consume services. This is particularly important in the planning and provision of transport services.

2.39. A service population count may include some or all of the difficult to enumerate groups depending on the type of service population required. For example daytime service populations may include civilian foreigners who cross the border daily to work or consume services in the country.

2.40. To produce a service population count, in addition to an estimate of usual residents, information is required about where people provide or demand services. For seasonal populations (holiday, resort) information is needed on the destination and timing of seasonal trips. Some countries will produce service population counts by supplementing the population present count or usual residents population count with information from other sources, such as visitor information from hotels and resorts to produce visitor populations. Alternatively, additional information may be collected by the census.

4. Difficult to enumerate groups

2.41. The following difficult to enumerate groups are relevant to the production of any population count:

- (a) Nomads and persons living in areas to which access is difficult. Making contact with these groups to enumerate them can be difficult, particularly as part of a point in time count. Enumeration may need to be done at a different time, over an extended period, or by using alternative methods to enable contact with these groups. For example, countries might consider asking those who provide services to these groups to assist with their enumeration. Seasonal movements may be identified in advance and this information used by collectors to enable contact. There needs to be planning and consultation, particularly with influential members of these groups, prior to the census to organise for their enumeration. Communication publicising the benefits of the census, and engaging appropriate leaders in support of the census may assist coverage. Awareness of cultural issues relevant to specific groups should also be considered in developing enumeration strategies.
- (b) Civilian residents temporarily absent from the country. As these persons will be absent from the country at the time of the census, they will be excluded from a population present count. Countries may collect information on these people from another family or household member present at the time of the census, but where a complete family or household is outside the country at the time of the census, it may not be possible for the census to collect information about these people. Estimates for usual residents temporality absent from the country based on other sources, may be required to produce reliable estimates of usual residents for planning and policy purposes.
- (c) Civilian foreigners, who do not cross a frontier daily and are in the country temporarily, including, undocumented persons, or transients on ships in harbour at the time of the census. These groups may be in the country at the time of the census and therefore form part of the population present count. It is important to include these groups in the population count if their demand for services is to be considered for planning and policy development purposes. However, these groups may prefer not be counted, either because they fear ramifications from being counted or they do not identify themselves as part of the population for the country. Language and communication may present challenges. Countries need to develop strategies, appropriate for their context, to include these groups in their enumeration.
- (d) *Refugees.* Refugee populations in camps should be enumerated and their numbers presented separately, allowing calculation of country population excluding refugees, when such population count is required for non-demographic purposes.
- (e) Military, naval and diplomatic personnel and their families located outside the country and foreign military, naval and diplomatic personnel and their families located in the country. Apart from the difficulties mentioned in (b) and (c) that are common to groups who are absent from their own country, enumeration of these groups is subject to diplomatic protocols. Detailed counts and characteristics of these groups may be considered sensitive on security grounds in some countries. Counts of these groups may be available from administrative records.

- (f) *Civilian foreigners who cross a frontier daily to work in the country.* This group should be excluded from a usual resident population count. The practice of counting people where they spend census night removes much ambiguity and reduces possible duplication. The difficulty then is trying to include them in a service population if countries want to consider this group in policy development and planning service delivery.
- (g) *Civilian residents who cross a frontier daily to work in another country.* These persons are usual residents of the country and should be included in the population count.
- (h) Merchant seamen and fishermen resident in the country but at sea at the time of the census (including those who have no place of residence other than their quarters aboard ship). Identifying that the ship will be at sea at the time of the census may be problematic, so countries will need to develop strategies to ensure inclusion of this group in the population count. This may include providing this group with census forms before their ship goes to sea or enumerating the ship before the time of the census.

5. Population Subgroups for which counts are required

2.42. Accurate population counts, required for the efficient planning and delivery of services, distribution of resources, defining of boundaries for electoral representation, policy development and the design and analysis of household surveys, are required for various population subgroups within a country. These subgroups are typically based on geography, age and sex. There may also be a need to identify other populations such as the school population, working population, indigenous population or disadvantaged populations to enable more informed policy formation and better targeted service provision. A range of characteristics will be required to identify these populations and population subgroups, depending on the services being planned, the resources to be distributed and so on. The need for population counts for particular subgroups will determine the questions asked in the census.

D. Definitions and specifications of topics

2.43. The present section contains the recommended definitions and specifications of all topics presented in the order in which they appear in paragraph 2.16 above. It is important that census data be accompanied by the definitions used in carrying out the census. It is also important that any changes in definitions that have been made since the previous census be indicated and, if possible, accompanied by estimates of the effect of such changes on the relevant data, in order to ensure that users will not confuse valid changes over a period of time with increases or decreases resulting from changed definitions.

1. Geographical and internal migration characteristics

2.44. It should be noted that "place of usual residence" and "place where present at time of census" may be considered alternative topics when countries do not have the resources to investigate both topics for general census purposes. Some countries, however, will want to investigate both topics for general purposes. The relationship between the two topics and their further relationship to the topic of "place of enumeration" are set forth in chapter IV (see paras. 1.469-1.477).

2.45. It is recommended that countries investigating only "place where present at time of census" for general purposes should also obtain information on "place of usual residence" for all persons who do not usually reside in the household where they were enumerated, to be used in connection with the information on "place of birth", "duration of residence", "place of previous residence" and/or "place of residence at a specified date in the past" in determining internal migration status. If, in the compilation of the population of geographical units, persons are allocated to the place where they were present at the time of the census, information on the four above-mentioned migration characteristics will be irrelevant for persons who were only visiting, or transient in, the place at which they were present. Since such persons must, in any case, be identified in the questionnaire as non-residents so that they will not be erroneously classified as recent in-

migrants, a question on their place of usual residence can be easily put and will make it possible to include the entire population in the tabulation of internal migration characteristics.

(a) Place of usual residence (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: All population tabulations

2.46. Information on the number of people usually residing in an area is basic to most informed decision making about the area, whether it be a country, an urban agglomeration or a civil division. The number of residents determines the levels of most services required in an area.

2.47. The place of usual residence may be the same as, or different from, the place where the enumerated person was present at the time of the census and/or his or her legal residence. For a definition of place of usual residence, see paragraphs 1.462-1.464.

2.48. Although most persons will have no difficulty in stating their place of usual residence, some confusion is bound to arise in a number of special cases, where persons have more than one residence. These cases might include persons who maintain two or more residences, students living at school, members of the armed forces living at a military installation but still maintaining private living quarters away from the installation, and persons who sleep away from their homes during the working week but return home for several days at the end of each week (see also para. 1.466). In some other circumstances referring to the person's intentions for the future may assist the determination of the place of usual residence.

2.49. Problems may also arise with persons who have been residing at the place where they are enumerated for some time, perhaps for more than half of the preceding 12 months, but do not consider themselves to be residents of that place because they intend to return to their previous residence at some future time, and also with persons who have left the country temporarily but are expected to return after some time longer than 12 months from the departure. In such instances, clearly stated time limits of presence in, or absence from a particular place must be based upon the 12 month limit and used to determine whether or not the person is usually resident there.

2.50. If each person is to be entered in the questionnaire only at his or her place of usual residence, the topic need not be investigated separately for each person, because the information will be available from the location information entered for the questionnaire as a whole.

2.51. Information on the place of usual residence should be collected in enough detail to enable tabulations to be made for the smallest geographical subdivisions required by the tabulation plan and to meet the requirements of the database within the cost limits and operational procedures required to code to a fine degree of detail.

(b) Place where present at time of census census (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: All population tabulations

2.52. In cases where the census is taken on the basis of "place where counted" this topic may fulfil some of the functions of place of usual residence.

2.53. The place where present at the time of the census is, in theory, the geographical place at which each person was present on the day of the census, whether or not this was his or her place of usual residence. In practice, the concept is generally applied to the place where the person slept on the night preceding the census day, because many persons appearing in the questionnaire were not physically present at the place of enumeration during most of the day.

2.54. As mentioned in chapter V (see paras. 1.471-1.472), the concept is sometimes further extended to apply to the night preceding the day of actual enumeration in cases where the enumeration extends over a long period of time and persons are not likely to be able to supply information as of a single moment in the past. Other departures from the definition may be necessary to deal with individual cases, such as persons travelling during the entire night or day of the census and persons who spent the night at work.

2.55. If each person is to be entered in the questionnaire only at the place where he or she was present at the time of the census, the topic need not be investigated separately for each person, because the information will be available from the location information entered for the questionnaire as a whole.

2.56. Information on the place where each person was present should be collected in enough detail to enable tabulation to be made for the smallest geographical subdivisions required by the tabulation plan and to meet the requirement of the database.

(c) Place of birth (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 1.4-R

2.57. Information on the place of birth is a major input to development of policies relating to migration and the related issues of service delivery to migrants.

2.58. The place of birth is, the civil division in which the person was born or, for those born in other countries, the country of birth. For persons born in the country where the census is taken (the native born population), the concept of place of birth usually refers to the geographical unit of the country in which the mother of the individual resided at the time of the person's birth. In some countries, however, the place of birth of natives is defined as the geographical unit in which the birth actually took place. Each country should explain which definition it has used in the census.

2.59. The collection of information distinguishing between the native-born population and those born elsewhere (foreign-born) is necessary where any inquiry on place of birth is made. Even countries where the proportion of foreign-born population is insignificant, which therefore desire to compile information only on the place of birth of the native-born population, must first separate the native-born from the foreign-born population. It is therefore recommended that place of birth be asked of all persons. For further information on country of birth for the foreign-born population, see paragraphs 2.93-2.96.

2.60. Information on the place of birth of the native population is usually used primarily for the investigation of internal migration. For countries that have been recently formed from parts of previously separate entities, however, such information may be of use in assessing the relative size of the population segments from each of those entities, and their distribution throughout the country.

2.61. For the latter purpose, it is usually sufficient to collect information only on the major civil division (State, province or department, for example) in which the place of birth is located. If desired, more detailed information on the subdivision of a specific locality can be collected and used for accurate coding of the major division or for presenting data for smaller areas.

2.62. For studies of internal migration, data on the place of birth of the native population even in terms of major civil divisions are not adequate in themselves. For an understanding of the movements of people since birth it is necessary to collect information at the smallest possible geographic level, bearing in mind that (a) the boundaries of administrative units such as cities and other civil divisions will change over time which may give rise to ambiguity in data reported; and (b) the costs of coding reported data to these smaller
units may be prohibitive especially where there are many units and the population is highly mobile. To overcome the first problem, to the extent possible both national and sub-national boundaries should refer to the boundaries applying at the time of the census. Countries in the light of their own circumstances must address the second problem.

2.63. It is recommended that, for the study of internal migration, the data on place of birth be supplemented by information collected on duration of residence (see paragraphs 2.64 to 2.66) and place of previous residence (see paragraphs 2.67 and 2.68) or of residence at a specified date in the past (see paragraphs 2.69 and 2.70).

(d) **Duration of residence (Core topic)**

Recommended tabulation: 1.5-R, 1.6a-R

2.64. The duration of residence is the interval of time up to the date of the census, expressed in complete years, during which each person has lived in (a) the locality that is his or her usual residence at the time of the census and (b) the major or smaller civil division in which that locality is situated.

2.65. In collecting information on duration of residence, it should be made clear that the concern is with length of residence in the major or smaller civil division and the locality but not in the particular housing unit.

2.66. Data on the duration of residence have only limited value in themselves because they do not provide information on the place of origin of in-migrants. Therefore, when the topic is investigated, the place of previous residence should also be investigated, if at all possible, so that the data can be cross-classified.

(e) Place of previous residence (Core topic - alternate)

Recommended tabulation: 1.6a-R

2.67. The place of previous residence is the major or smaller civil division, or the foreign country, in which the individual resided immediately prior to migrating into his or her present civil division of usual residence.

2.68. Data on the place of previous residence have only limited value in themselves because they do not provide information on the time of in-migration. Therefore, when the topic is investigated, the duration of residence should also be investigated, if at all possible, so that the data can be cross-classified.

(f) Place of residence at a specified date in the past (Core topic - alternate)

Recommended tabulation: 1.6b-R

2.69. The place of residence at a specified date in the past is the major or smaller division, or the foreign country, in which the individual resided at a specified date preceding the census. The reference date chosen should be that most useful for national purposes. In most cases, this has been deemed to be one year or five years preceding the census (or both of these time frames in cases where internal migration is of particular importance to users and resources are sufficient to code the data). The former reference date provides current statistics of both internal and international migration during a single year while the latter may be more appropriate for collecting data for the analysis of international migration. Also to be taken into account in selecting the reference date should be the probable ability of individuals to recall with accuracy their usual residence one year or five years earlier than the census date. For countries conducting quinquennial censuses, the date of five years earlier can be readily tied in, for most persons, with the time of the previous census. In other cases, one-year recall may be more likely than five-year recall. Some countries, however, may have to use a different time reference than either one year or five years preceding

the census because both of these intervals may present recall difficulties. National circumstances may make it necessary for the time reference to be one that can be associated with the occurrence of an important event that most people will remember. For foreign born persons, the collection of information on year of arrival in the country is recommended (see below, international migration characteristics).

2.70. No matter what previous date is used, provision must be made for the treatment of infants and young children not yet born at that date. Tabulations of the data should indicate the nature of the treatment of this group.

(g) Total population (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: All population tabulations

2.71. For census purposes, the total population of the country consists of all the persons falling within the scope of the census. In the broadest sense, the total may comprise either all usual residents of the country or all persons present in the country at the time of the census. The total of all usual residents is generally referred to as the *de jure* population and the total of all persons present as the de facto population.

2.72. In practice, however, countries do not usually achieve either type of count, because one or another group of the population is included or excluded, depending on national circumstances, despite the fact that the general term used to describe the total might imply a treatment opposite to the one given any of these groups. It is recommended, therefore, that each country describe in detail the figure accepted officially as the total, rather than simply label it as *de jure* or de facto.

2.73. The description should show clearly whether each group listed below was or was not included in the total. If the group was enumerated, its magnitude should be given; if it was not enumerated, an estimate of its size should be given, if possible. If any group is not represented at all in the population, this fact should be stated and the magnitude of the group should be shown as "zero". This may occur particularly with groups (a), (b, (d) and (n) described below (see also para. 2.41-2.42 for more information).

2.74. The groups to be considered are:

- (a) Nomads;
- (b) Persons living in areas to which access is difficult;
- (c) Military, naval and diplomatic personnel and their families located outside the country;
- (d) Merchant seamen and fishermen resident in the country but at sea at the time of the census (including those who have no place of residence other than their quarters aboard ship);
- (e) Civilian residents temporarily in another country as seasonal workers;
- (f) Civilian residents who cross a frontier daily to work in another country;
- (g) Civilian residents other than those in groups (c), (e) or (f) who are working in another country;
- (*h*) Civilian residents other than those in groups (c), (d), (e) (f) or (g) who are temporarily absent from the country;
- (i) Foreign military, naval and diplomatic personnel and their families located in the country;
- (j) Civilian foreigners temporarily in the country as seasonal workers;
- (k) Civilian foreigners who cross a frontier daily to work in the country;
- (l) Civilian foreigners other than those in groups (i), (j) or (k) who are working in the country;
- (m) Civilian foreigners other than those in groups (i), (j), (k) or (l) who are in the country temporarily;
- (n) Refugees in camps;
- (o) Transients on ships in harbour at the time of the census.

2.75. In the case of groups (h) and (m), it is recommended that an indication be given of the criteria used in determining that presence in, or absence from, the country is temporary.

2.76. In those countries where the total population figure has been corrected for underenumeration or overenumeration, both the enumerated figure and the estimated corrected population figure should be shown and described. The detailed tabulations will of necessity be based only on the actual enumerated population.

2.77. The population of each geographical unit of the country, like the total population of the country (see para. 2.71), may comprise either all usual residents of the unit (see para. 2.47) or all persons present in the unit at the time of the census (see paras. 2.52 and 2.53).

(h) Locality (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: All population tabulations

2.78. For census purposes, a locality should be defined as a distinct population cluster (also designated as inhabited place, populated centre, settlement and so forth) in which the inhabitants live in neighbouring sets of living quarters and that has a name or a locally recognized status. It thus includes fishing hamlets, mining camps, ranches, farms, market towns, villages, towns, cities and many other population clusters that meet the criteria specified above. Any departure from this definition should be explained in the census report as an aid to the interpretation of the data.

2.79. Localities as defined above should not be confused with the smallest civil divisions of a country. In some cases, the two may coincide. In others, however, even the smallest civil division may contain two or more localities. On the other hand, some large cities or towns may contain two or more civil divisions, which should be considered as segments of a single locality rather than separate localities.

2.80. A large locality of a country (that is to say, a city or a town) is often part of an urban agglomeration, which comprises the city or town proper and also the suburban fringe or thickly settled territory lying outside, but adjacent to, its boundaries. The urban agglomeration is therefore not identical with the locality but is an additional geographical unit, which may include more than one locality. In some cases, a single large urban agglomeration may comprise several cities or towns and their suburban fringes. The components of such large agglomerations should be specified in the census results.

(i) Urban and rural (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: All population tabulations

2.81. Because of national differences in the characteristics that distinguish urban from rural areas, the distinction between the urban and the rural population is not yet amenable to a single definition that would be applicable to all countries or, for the most part, even to the countries within a region. Where there are no regional recommendations on the matter, countries must establish their own definitions in accordance with their own needs.

2.82. The traditional distinction between urban and rural areas within a country has been based on the assumption that urban areas, no matter how they are defined, provide a different way of life and usually a higher standard of living than are found in rural areas. In many industrialized countries, this distinction has become blurred and the principal difference between urban and rural areas in terms of the circumstances of living tends to be a matter of the degree of concentration of population. Although the differences between urban and rural ways of life and standards of living remain significant in developing countries, rapid urbanization in these countries has created a great need for information related to different sizes of urban areas.

2.83. Hence, although the traditional urban rural dichotomy is still needed, a classification by size of locality can usefully supplement the dichotomy or even replace it where the major concern is with characteristics related only to density along the continuum from the most sparsely settled areas to the most densely built-up localities.

2.84. Density of settlement may not, however, be a sufficient criterion in many countries, particularly where there are large localities that are still characterized by a truly rural way of life. Such countries will find it necessary to use additional criteria in developing classifications that are more distinctive than a simple urban rural differentiation. Some of the additional criteria that may be useful are the percentage of the economically active population employed in agriculture, the general availability of electricity and/or piped water in living quarters and the ease of access to medical care, schools and recreation facilities. For certain countries where the facilities noted above are available in some areas that are still rural since agriculture is the predominant source of employment, it might be advisable to adopt different criteria in different parts of the country. Care must be taken, however, to ensure that the definition used does not become too complicated for application to the census and for comprehension by the users of the census results.

2.85. Even in the industrialized countries, it may be considered appropriate to distinguish between agricultural localities, market towns, industrial centres, service centres and so forth, within size-categories of localities.

2.86. Even where size is not used as a criterion, the locality is the most appropriate unit or classification for national purposes as well as for international comparability. If it is not possible to use the locality, the smallest administrative unit of the country should be used.

2.87. Some of the information required for classification may be provided by the census results themselves, while other information may be obtained from external sources. The use of information provided by the census (as, for example, the size-class of the locality or the percentage of the population employed in agriculture), whether alone or in conjunction with information from other sources, means that the classification will not be available until the relevant census results have been tabulated. If, however, the census plans call for the investigation of a smaller number of topics in rural areas than in urban areas or for a greater use of sampling in rural areas, the classification must be available before the enumeration takes place. In these cases, reliance must be placed on external sources of information, even if only to bring up to date any urban rural classification that was prepared at an earlier date.

2.88. The usefulness of housing census data (for example, the availability of electricity and/or piped water) collected simultaneously with, or not too long before, the population census should be kept in mind. Images obtained by remote sensing may be of use in the demarcation or boundaries of urban areas when density of habitation is a criterion. For assembling information from more than one source, the importance of a well-developed system of geocoding should not be overlooked.

2. International migration characteristics

2.89. Interest in the movement of people across national boundaries, namely, international migration, has steadily grown among countries concomitant with the increase in international migration. The present section on international migration supplements and expands the topic geographical and internal migration characteristics, which is covered above. Definitions of international migration and specific ways of applying them in population censuses, consistent with the United Nations *Recommendations on Statistics of International Migration, Revision* 1^{36} , are presented in this section.

2.90. The revised United Nations *Recommendations on Statistics of International Migration* deal with both migrant flows and immigrant stock, and underscores population censuses as being the best source for

³⁶ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XVII.14.

collecting data on the immigrant stock and its characteristics. This section is therefore concerned chiefly with the topic of immigrant stock.

2.91. Given the general definition of "international migrant" presented in the revised *Recommendations* on *Statistics of International Migration* (para.32), the logical definition of the stock of international migrants present in a country would be "the set of persons who have ever changed their country of usual residence; that is, persons who have spent at least a year of their lives in a country other than the one in which they live at the time the data are gathered". However, it is common to find that the need for information relates not to the generality of international migrants as characterized above, but rather to population groups such as those who were not born in that country and those who do not have the citizenship of the country where they live.

2.92. Consequently, for the study of the impact of international migration using the population census, two sub-groups of the population represent the primary focus of interest. The first group consists of the foreign-born and the second comprises foreigners living in the country. In order to identify members of those groups, two items must be recorded in the census: (*a*) country of birth, and (*b*) country of citizenship. In addition, it is also important to record year of arrival in the country so as to establish length of stay in the country of international migrants.

(a) Country of birth (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 2.1-R, 2.2-R, 2.3-R

2.93. The country of birth is the country in which the person was born. It should be noted that the country of birth of a person is not necessarily the same as his or her country of citizenship, which is a separate census topic dealt with below. It is recommended that place of birth be asked of all persons first to distinguish the native-born from the foreign-born population. The collection of this information is necessary even in countries where the proportion of the foreign-born population is small. For the foreign-born population, the collection of additional information on the specific country of birth is recommended so as to permit the classification of the foreign-born population by country of birth. For respondents who are born outside of the country of enumeration and cannot name their country of birth, at least the continent or region where that country is located should be ascertained.

2.94. For purposes of both internal consistency and international comparability, it is recommended that information on the country of birth be recorded according to national boundaries existing at the time of the census. If there have been boundary changes affecting the country of birth of a person, it is important that persons who have remained in the territory where they were born, but whose "country of birth" may have changed because of boundary changes, not be counted as foreign-born because of the failure to take account of the new configuration of the country where they live. It is essential that the coding of information on the country of birth be done in sufficient detail to allow for the individual identification of all countries of birth that are represented in the population of the country. For purposes of coding, it is recommended that countries use the numerical coding system presented in *Standard Country or Area Codes for Statistical Use*. The use of standard codes for classification of the foreign-born population according to the country of birth will enhance the usefulness of such data, including an international exchange of foreign-born population statistics among countries. If countries decide to combine countries into broad groups, it is recommended that the standard regional and subregional classifications identified in the above-mentioned publication be adopted.

2.95. Countries with a significant number of immigrants may want to collect information on the country of birth of parents. Information on the country of birth of parents (father and mother) should be asked of all respondents following the same guidelines given for country of birth. The decision to collect and disseminate information on country of birth of parents in a census is dependent upon a number of considerations and national circumstances, including for example the suitability and sensitivity of asking such a question in a country's census.

2.96. This topic permits the identification of the group of descendants of foreign-born, and could be used, in combination with the country of birth information, to identify the migration background of respondents. Information from this topic permits the identification of native-born children of the foreign-born population, and can be used to study the integration processes and outcomes of immigrants and their descendants. Moreover, in countries that have experienced return migration, information from this topic allows for the group of foreign-born children of native-born parents to be identified. When studying integration processes, it can be particularly important to make separate analyses for this group and the group of foreign-born from foreign-born parents.

(b) Citizenship (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 2.3-R

2.97. Citizenship is defined as the particular legal bond between an individual and his/her State. A citizen is a legal national of the country of enumeration; a foreigner is a non-national of the country (that is, a citizen of another country). Because the country of citizenship is not necessarily identical to the country of birth, both items should be collected in a census.

2.98. Additional information on citizenship could be collected so as to permit the classification of the population into (*a*) citizens by birth, (*b*) citizens by naturalization whether by declaration, option, marriage or other means and (*c*) foreigners (citizens of another country). In addition, information on the country of citizenship of foreigners should be collected. It is important to record country of citizenship as such and not to use an adjective to indicate citizenship, since some of those adjectives are the same as those used to designate ethnic group. It is essential that the coding of information on country of citizenship be done in sufficient detail to allow for the individual identification of all countries of citizenship that are represented among the foreign population in the country. For purposes of coding, it is recommended that countries use the numerical coding system presented in Standard *Country or Area Codes for Statistical Use*.³⁷ The use of standard codes for classification of the foreign population by country of citizenship will enhance the usefulness of such data and permit an international exchange of information among countries on their foreign populations. If countries decide to combine countries of citizenship into broad groups, it is recommended that the standard regional and subregional classifications identified in the above-mentioned publication be adopted.

2.99. In some cases people may have more than one citizenship and where there are needs for this information to assist informed decision-making within a country details should be collected of all citizenships held, including the case of nationals of that country holding multiple citizenship. If this information is to be published care will have to be taken to explain to readers of the table how the possibility of people being included in the table more than once affects the marginal totals on the table.

2.100. For countries where the population includes a significant proportion of naturalized citizens, it may be useful to ask additional questions on previous citizenship, method of acquisition of citizenship, and year of naturalization.

2.101. The reliability of reported citizenship may be doubtful in the case of persons whose citizenship has recently changed as a result of territorial changes, or among the population of some newly independent countries where the concept of citizenship has only recently become important. Clear guidelines issued by the national statistical authority can help improve the quality of the data collected. As an aid to the analysis and interpretation of the results, notations indicative of the likelihood of these and other possible causes of misstatement should accompany tabulations based on citizenship. For the purpose of preparing tabulations on citizenship, all countries should be shown separately to the extent possible and a category of stateless persons should be presented.

³⁷ Statistical Papers, No. 49, Rev.3 (ST/ESA/STAT/SER. M/49/Rev.3).

2.102. Enumeration and processing instructions should indicate the treatment of stateless persons, persons with dual nationality, persons in process of naturalization and any other groups with ambiguous citizenship. The treatment of these groups should be described in the census reports and included in the metadata for accompanying tabulations.

(c) Year or period of arrival in the country (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 2.2-R, 2.4-R

2.103. Recording the calendar year and month of arrival of a foreign-born person to the country of enumeration permits the calculation of the number of completed years between the time of arrival in the country and the time of inquiry, usually the census date. Information on the month and year of arrival also provides the flexibility of classifying foreign-born persons by period of arrival in terms of any pre-specified period, such as 1975-1979, 1980-1984 and so forth. It is thus recommended that the period of arrival be shown in any tabulations in which the variable appears, in terms of the actual year of arrival.

2.104. It is possible to collect information on the date of first arrival in the country or the date of the most recent arrival in the country. Each has its own advantages and disadvantages. In making the choice of which information to collect, countries should be guided first and foremost by their policy needs

2.105. Note that information on the year and month of arrival is focused mainly on persons born outside of the country of enumeration, that is to say, persons who must have arrived in that country at some time after their birth. However, countries having experienced important migration outflows or that have population groups that maintain links to other countries – migrating to or from another country at different life stages (for example, as students or pensioners), may have an interest in collecting information on returning migrants: in this case, the question on year and month of arrival could also be asked to native born respondents.

2.106. Information on time since arrival can also be collected by asking how many years have elapsed since the time of arrival, instead of in what calendar year and month the person arrived. However, use of such a question is not recommended because it is likely to yield less accurate information.

3. Household and family characteristics

2.107. In considering the topics related to household characteristics, it is important to be aware of the differences between the concepts of household and family as used herein.

2.108. A household may be either (*a*) a one-person household, that is to say, a person who makes provision for his or her own food or other essentials for living without combining with any other person to form part of a multi-person household or (*b*) a multi-person household, that is to say, a group of two or more persons living together who make common provision for food or other essentials for living. The persons in the group may pool their resources and have a common budget; they may be related or unrelated persons or a combination of persons both related and unrelated. This arrangement exemplifies the "housekeeping" concept. Some countries use a concept different than the housekeeping concept, namely, the "household-dwelling" concept, which regards all persons living in a housing unit as belonging to the same household. According to this concept, there is one household per occupied housing unit. Therefore, the number of occupied housing units and the number of households occupying them are equal and the locations of the housing units and households are identical. Countries should specify in their census reports whether they used the "housekeeping" or the "household-dwelling" concept of a private household.

2.109. A household may be located in a housing unit (see para. 2.418) or in a set of collective living quarters such as a boarding house, a hotel or a camp, or may comprise the administrative personnel in an institution. The household may also be homeless. For more discussion on homeless households, see para. 1.452.

2.110. The family within the household, a concept of particular interest, is defined as those members of the household who are related, to a specified degree, through blood, adoption or marriage. The degree of relationship used in determining the limits of the family in this sense is dependent upon the uses to which the data are to be put and so cannot be established for worldwide use. See paragraph 2.125 for a definition of the nucleus family.

2.111. Although in practice, most households are composed of a single family consisting of a married couple without children or of one or both parents and their children, it should not be assumed that this identity exists; census tabulations should therefore clearly indicate whether they relate to households or to families within households.

2.112. From the definitions of "household" and "family", it is clear that household and family are different concepts that cannot be used interchangeably in the same census. The difference between the household and the family is (a) that a household may consist of only one person but a family must contain at least two members and (b) that the members of a multi-person household need not be related to each other, while the members of a family must be related. A household can contain more than one family, or one or more families together with one or more non-related persons, or it can consist entirely of non-related persons. A family typically will not comprise more than one household. However, the existence of polygamous families in some countries, as well as shared child custody and support arrangements in others, means that individuals countries should decide how best to derive and report data on families.

2.113. It is recommended that the household be used as the unit of enumeration (as defined in paras. 1.448 - 1.452) and that the family be a derived topic only. The place of usual residence is recommended as the basis for assigning persons to households where they normally reside. Where the de facto approach is used as the method of enumeration (see paras. 1.469-1.477), household lists should, where feasible, also include usual residents temporarily absent. The place of usual residence is where a person usually resides and it may or may not be the person's current or legal residence. The latter terms are usually defined in the laws of most countries and need not correspond to the concept of place of usual residence which, as employed in the census, is based on conventional usage. In published reports, countries should indicate whether or not household information refers to usual residents and also what the time limits are in respect of being included or excluded as a usual resident. For a more detailed discussion and the difficulty of collecting information on place of usual residence, see paragraphs 2.46-2.51.

(a) Relationship to head or other reference member of household (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 3.1-A, 3.2-A, 3.3-A

2.114. In identifying the members of a household (as defined in paras. 2.108 and 2.109), it is useful to identify first the household reference person or household head and then the remaining members of the household according to their relationship to the reference person or head. Countries may use the term they deem most appropriate to identify this person (household reference person, head of household, householder, among others) as long as the person so identified is used solely to determine relationships between household members. It is recommended that each country present, in published reports, the concepts and definitions that are used.

2.115. With respect to selecting the household reference person, it is important to specify criteria for choosing that person in relation to whom household members would be best distinguished, especially in polygamous, multi-family and other households, such as those composed only of siblings without a parent and those composed entirely of unrelated persons. This information should be included in training materials and instructions to enumerators.

2.116. The traditional notion of head of household assumes that most households are family households (in other words, that they consist entirely, except possibly for domestic servants, of persons related by blood, marriage or adoption) and that one person in such family households has primary authority and responsibility for household affairs and is, in the majority of cases, its chief economic support. This person is then designated as the head of household.

2.117. Where spouses are considered equal in household authority and responsibility and may share economic support of the household, the concept of head of household is no longer considered valid even for family households. In order for the relationship among members of the household to be determined under these circumstances, it is essential that either (a) the members of the household designate one among them as a reference member with no implication of headship or (b) provision be made for designation of joint headship where desired. In any case, it is important that clear instructions be provided in the census as to how this situation is to be handled.

2.118. Even in the many countries where the traditional concept of head of household is still relevant, it is important to recognize that the procedures followed in applying the concept may distort the true picture, particularly with regard to female heads of households. The most common assumption that can distort the facts is that no woman can be the head of any household that also contains an adult male. Enumerators and even respondents may simply take such an assumption for granted.

2.119. This common sex-based stereotype often reflects circumstances that may have been true in the past but are true no longer, insofar as the household and economic roles of women are changing. It is therefore important that clear instructions be provided as to who is to be treated as the head of the household so as to avoid the complications of enumerator or respondent preconceptions on the subject. The procedure to follow in identifying a head when the members of the household are unable to do so should be clear and unambiguous and should avoid sex-based bias.

2.120. After identification of the reference member of the household, each of the remaining members of the household should be distinguished in relation to that person, as appropriate, as one of the following: (a) spouse, (b) partner in consensual union (cohabiting partner), (c) child, (d) spouse of child, (e) grandchild or great-grandchild, (f) parent (or parent of spouse), (g) other relative, (h) domestic employee or (i) other person not related to the head or other reference member. Where this classification is considered too detailed for successful collection of the information, categories (f) and (g) may be consolidated as "Other relative" and (h) and (i) can be consolidated as "Other unrelated person".

2.121. As an aid to the identification of conjugal family nuclei (as defined in para. 2.127) within the household, it might be helpful if persons were recorded in the census form to the extent possible in the order of nuclear relationship. Thus, the first person entered after the head or other reference person would be the spouse of that person, followed by unmarried children and then by married children, their spouses and children. For polygamous households, the order of entry could be such that each wife and her unmarried children appeared in succession.

2.122. For estimating fertility by the *own children* method (see para. 2.171), the natural mother of each child under 15 years of age should be identified if she appears in the same questionnaire as her child. One way of doing this is to provide the line number of the mother alongside that of the child, if both are living in the same household. The information is not relevant for stepchildren, adopted children or foster children under permanent or temporary care.

2.123. In order to meet increased data needs on households and families, countries may wish, while conducting their population censuses, to collect more detailed information on relationships. In households where the relationship structure is complex, including those with foster children, obtaining accurate information on the relationships between household members may be difficult. Some countries may supplement information on relationship to the head of household with information on direct relationships between household members by, for instance, relating a child to its parents even when neither parent is the head of household. Enumerators should be encouraged to probe for a clear relationship (such as child, niece, aunt and so forth). The recording of non-specific responses such as "relative" should be avoided. It is recommended that specific guidance be provided on allowable answers, that relationships be specified completely in the census questionnaire, and that any precoded categories used should be sufficiently detailed to produce desired outputs.

(b) Household and family composition (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 3.3-A

2.124. Household and family composition can be examined from different points of view, but for census purposes it is recommended that the primary aspect considered should be that of the family nucleus.

2.125. A family nucleus is of one of the following types (each of which must consist of persons living in the same household): (*a*) a married couple without children, (*b*) a married couple with one or more unmarried children, (*c*) a father with one or more unmarried children or (*d*) a mother with one or more unmarried children.³⁸ Couples living in consensual unions may, where appropriate, be regarded as constituting a family nucleus.

2.126. The concept of family nucleus as defined above limits relationships between children and adults to direct (first-degree) relationships, i.e. between parents and children. In some countries, numbers of skip generation households, i.e. households consisting of (a) grandparent(s) and one or more grandchild(ren) with no parent of those grandchild(ren) present, are considerable. Therefore, countries may include such skip generation households in their family nucleus definition. The census report should clearly state whether or not skip generation households are included in the family nucleus definition.

2.127. The family nucleus is identified from the answers to the question on relationship to the reference member of the household, supplemented where necessary by information on name and marital status. The identification of offspring and their mother and the order in which persons are entered in the questionnaire may be of additional assistance in this respect. The identification of family nuclei is likely to be more complete in *de jure* than in de facto enumerations, because the latter do not take account of temporarily absent household members who may constitute part of a nucleus.

2.128. For census purposes, a child is any unmarried individual, regardless of age, who lives with his or her parent(s) and has no children in the same household. Consequently, the definition of a child is primarily a function of an individual's relationship to other household members, regardless of age. In accordance with the above definition, a household consisting of a married couple, their two never-married children, one of their children who is divorced, and a married daughter and her husband would be considered to be composed of two family nuclei, with the divorced child being regarded as a member of the parents' family. As used here, the term "child" does not imply dependency, but rather is used to capture household living arrangements of persons who are in a parent-child relationship. Countries need to be clear in their metadata how they treat foster and adopted children.

2.129. The family nucleus does not include all family types, such as brothers or sisters living together without their offspring or parents, or an aunt living with a niece who has no child. It also excludes the case of a related person living with a family nucleus as defined above, for example, a widowed parent living with her married son and his family. The family nucleus approach does not, therefore, provide information on all types of families. Countries may extend the investigation of families beyond that of the family nucleus, in accordance with their own interests.

2.130. Households should be classified by type according to the number of family nuclei they contain and the relationship, if any, between the family nuclei and the other members of the household. The relationship should be through blood, adoption or marriage, to whatever degree is considered pertinent by the country (see para. 2.123). Given the complexity of this item, it is important that information on relationship to the household reference person be properly processed. The types of household to be distinguished could be:

(a) One-person household;

³⁸ In countries where a different definition of family nucleus is used, it should be clearly stated in the census report.

- (b) Nuclear household, defined as a household consisting entirely of a single family nucleus. It may be classified into:
 - (*i*) Married-couple family:
 - *a.* With child(ren);
 - *b.* Without child(ren);
 - (*ii*) Partner in consensual union (cohabiting partner):
 - *a.* With child(ren);
 - *b.* Without child(ren);
 - (*iii*) Father with child(ren);
 - (*vi*) Mother with child(ren);
- (c) Extended household, defined as a household consisting of any one of the following: 39
 - (*i*) A single family nucleus and other persons related to the nucleus, for example, a father with child(ren) and other relative(s) or a married couple with other relative(s) only;
 - (*ii*) Two or more family nuclei related to each other without any other persons, for example, two or more married couples with child(ren) only;
 - (*iii*) Two or more family nuclei related to each other plus other persons related to at least one of the nuclei, for example, two or more married couples with other relative(s) only;
 - (*iv*) Two or more persons related to each other, none of whom constitute a family nucleus;
- (d) Composite household, defined as a household consisting of any of the following: 40
 - (*i*) A single family nucleus plus other persons, some of whom are related to the nucleus and some of whom are not, for example, mother with child(ren) and other relatives and non-relatives;
 - (*ii*) A single family nucleus plus other persons, none of whom is related to the nucleus, for example, father with child(ren) and non-relatives);
 - (*iii*) Two or more family nuclei related to each other plus other persons, some of whom are related to at least one of the nuclei and some of whom are not related to any of the nuclei, for example, two or more couples with other relatives and non-relatives only;
 - (*iv*) Two or more *family* nuclei related to each other plus other persons, none of whom is related to any of the nuclei, for example, two or more married couples one or more of which with child(ren) and non-relatives;
 - (v) Two or more family nuclei not related to each other, with or without any other persons;
 - (*vi*) Two or *more* persons related to each other but none of whom constitute a family nucleus, plus other unrelated persons;
 - (vii) Non-related persons only;
- (e) Other/Unknown.

³⁹ The subdivisions in this category should be modified to suit national circumstances.

⁴⁰ The subdivisions in this category should be modified to suit national circumstances.

2.131. In the census tabulations, all countries should at least distinguish between one-person, nuclear, extended and composite households. Where feasible, some or all of the subcategories shown above should also be distinguished, although countries may find it appropriate to modify the classification according to national circumstances. For example, in countries where almost all households contain only one family nucleus at most, the distinction between nuclear, extended and composite households may be applied only to households containing one nucleus or no nucleus; multinuclear households may then be shown as an additional category without any further classification by type. In countries where multinuclear households, distinguishing between those with three, four or more family nuclei, may be helpful.

(c) Household and family status

2.132. For purposes of determining household and family status and identifying how a person relates to other household or family members, persons may be classified according to their position in the household or family nucleus. Classifying persons according to household and family status has uses in social and demographic research and policy formulation. Census data could be presented according to both household and family status for a variety of purposes. Although status itself is based on information derived from responses to the item on relationship to the head or other reference member of the household and other items, the classification of persons by their household and family status is a relatively new approach: it is a different approach from the traditional one of classifying household members solely according to their relationship to the head or reference person. The following household and family status classifications illustrate how such an approach may be used.⁴¹ Care should be taken at the planning stages to relate this item to the classification of households by type as recommended in paragraph 2.130.

Persons are classified by household status as:

- 1 Person in a household with at least one family nucleus
 - 1.1 Husband
 - 1.2 Wife
 - 1.3 Partner in consensual union (cohabiting partner)
 - 1.4 Lone mother⁴²
 - 1.5 Lone father⁴³
 - 1.6 Child living with both parents
 - 1.7 Child living with lone mother
 - 1.8 Child living with lone father
 - 1.9 Not a member of a family nucleus
 - 1.9.1 Living with relatives
 - 1.9.2 Living with non-relatives
- 2 Person in a household with no family nucleus
 - 2.1 Living alone
 - 2.2 Living with others⁴⁴
 - 2.2.1 Living with sibling(s)
 - 2.2.2 Living with other relatives
 - 2.2.3 Living with non-relatives

Persons are classified by family status as:45

- 1 Spouse
 - 1.1 Husband

⁴¹ To date, only the population and housing census recommendations for the ECE region contain household and family status classifications.

⁴² Person living with children, without spouse.

⁴³ Person living with children, without spouse.

⁴⁴ The subdivisions in this category should be modified to suit national circumstances.

⁴⁵ The subdivisions in this category should be modified to suit national circumstances.

- 1.1.1 With child(ren)
- Without child 1.1.2
- 1.2 Wife
 - 1.2.1 With child(ren)
 - 1.2.2 Without child
- 2 Lone parent
 - 2.1 Male
 - 2.2 Female
- 3 Child
 - With both parents 3.1 3.2
 - With lone parent
 - 3.2.1 With lone father
 - 3.2.2 With lone mother
- 4 Not member of a family nucleus
 - Relative of husband or wife 41
 - 4.1.1 Parent of husband or wife
 - 4.1.2 Sibling of husband or wife
 - 4.1.3 Other relative of husband or wife
 - 4.2 Non-relative

4. **Demographic and social characteristics**

2.133. Of all the topics investigated in population censuses, sex and age are more frequently crossclassified with other characteristics of the population than are any other topics. Aside from the importance of the sex-age structure of the population in itself, accurate information on the two topics is fundamental to the great majority of the census tabulations. Possible difficulties in securing accurate age data are often not recognized because the topic appears to be a simple one. The difficulties are therefore stressed in paragraphs 2.135-2.143 below.

(a) Sex (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: All population tabulations except 3.3-A

2.134. The sex (male or female) of every individual should be recorded in the census questionnaire. Sex disaggregation of data is a fundamental requirement for gender statistics. For many socio-economic and demographic characteristics that could be collected through a census, such as education, economic activity, marital status, migration, disability and living arrangements, there are generally variations by sex. In this context, the presentation of data disaggregated by sex is important because of its utility for gender studies. The Platform for Action of the Fourth World Conference on Women recommends the presentation of data disaggregated by age and sex to reflect problems, issues and questions related to women and men in society for utilization in policy and programme planning and implementation.⁴⁶ Sex together with age represent the most basic type of demographic information collected about individuals in censuses, surveys, as well as through administrative recording systems and the cross-classification of these data with other characteristics forms the basis of most analyses of the social and demographic characteristics of the population as it provides the context within which all other information is placed.

(b) Age (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 1.4-A, 1.5-A, 2.1-A, 2.2-A, 2.3-A, 3.2-A, 4.1-A, 4.2-A, 5.1-A, 5.2-A, 5.3-A, 5.4-A, 6.1-A, 6.2-A, 6.3-A, 7.1-A, 7.2-A, 7.3-A, 7.4-A, 7.8-A, 8.1-A, 8.2-A, 8.3-A

⁴⁶ The Beijing Declaration and the Platform for Action, Fourth World Conference on Women, Beijing, China, 4-15 September 1995, United Nations, 1996.

2.135. Age is the interval of time between the date of birth and the date of the census, expressed in completed solar years. Every effort should be made to ascertain the precise age of each person, particularly of children under 15 years of age.

2.136. Information on age may be secured either by obtaining the date (year, month and day) of birth or by asking directly for age at the person's last birthday.

2.137. The first method yields more precise information and should be used whenever circumstances permit. If neither the exact day nor even the month of birth is known, an indication of the season of the year can be substituted. The question on date of birth is appropriate wherever people know their birth date, whether in accordance with the solar calendar or a lunar calendar, or whether years are numbered or identified in traditional folk culture by names within a regular cycle. It is extremely important, however, that there should be a clear understanding between the enumerator and the respondent about which calendar system the date of birth is based on. If there is a possibility that some respondents will reply with reference to a calendar system different than that of other respondents, provision must be made in the questionnaire for noting the calendar system to another. The needed conversion can be best carried out as part of the computer editing work.

2.138. The direct question on age is likely to yield less accurate responses for a number of reasons. Even if all responses are based on the same method of reckoning age, there is the possibility of a misunderstanding on the part of the respondent as to whether the age wanted is that at the last birthday, the next birthday or the nearest birthday. In addition, roundings to the nearest age ending in zero or five, estimates not identified as such and deliberate misstatements can occur with comparative ease. Difficulties may arise in the reporting or in the recording of the information for children under one year of age, which may be given erroneously as "one year of age" rather than "zero years of age". These difficulties may be mitigated by collecting information on the date of birth of all children reported as "one year of age", while using only the direct age question for the remainder of the population. Another possible approach is to obtain age in completed months for children under one year of age. This method, however, can give rise to another type of recording error, that is to say, the substitution of years for months, so that a three-month-old child, for example, might be entered in the questionnaire as being three years of age.

2.139. An additional complication may occur with the use of the direct question if more than one method of calculating age is in use in the country. In some countries, certain segments of the population may use an old traditional method whereby persons are considered to be one year of age at the time of birth and everyone advances one year in age at the same fixed date each year. Other segments of the population in the same countries may use the Western method, in which a person is not regarded as being one year of age until 12 months after the date of birth, and advances one year in age every succeeding 12 months. If there is a possibility of different methods of age calculation being used by respondents, provision must be made to ensure that the method used in each case is clearly indicated in the questionnaire and that the conversion is left to the editing stage.

2.140. In spite of its drawbacks, the direct question on age is the only one to be used when people cannot provide even a birth year. As regards persons for whom information on age is unavailable or appears to be unreliable, an estimated age may have to be entered. This may occur in isolated cases in societies where knowledge of age is widespread or in general in cultures where there is little awareness of individual age and no interest in it. In the latter circumstances, criteria for making estimates should be provided in the instructions for the enumerators.

2.141. One of the techniques that have been used to aid enumerators consists in providing them with calendars of historic events of national or local significance to be used either in probing questions or in identifying the earliest event the respondent recalls. Another technique consists in pre-identifying locally recognized age cohorts in the population and then asking about membership in the cohorts. Enumerators may also ask if the person in question was born before or after other persons whose ages have been roughly determined. Furthermore, use can be made of age norms for weaning, talking, marriage and so forth.

Whatever techniques are used, enumerators should be impressed with the importance of securing age data that are as accurate as possible within the amount of time that they can devote to the topic.

2.142. In view of the possible difficulties in the collection of age data, census tests should be used, as appropriate, to determine the difference in results with the use of a question on age as compared with a question on date of birth, what calendar and/or method of age reckoning most people use, and in what parts of the country age will have to be estimated for the majority of the population and what techniques to use as an aid in estimation. Testing of the calendar and/or method of age reckoning that most people use is particularly important where an official change from one calendar and/or method of reckoning to another calendar and/or method has taken place recently enough so that the new calendar and/or method of reckoning may not yet be in popular use among some or all of the population.

2.143. Enumerators who are likely to be called upon to estimate age in a substantial number of cases should be given training in the applicable techniques as part of their general training.

(c) Marital status (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 3.1-A, 4.2-A

2.144. Marital status is the personal status of each individual in relation to the marriage laws or customs of the country. The categories of marital status to be identified are at least the following: (a) single, in other words, never married, (b) married, (c) widowed and not remarried, (d) divorced and not remarried and (e) married but separated.

2.145. In some countries, category (b) may require a subcategory of persons who are contractually married but not yet living as man and wife. In all countries, category (e) should comprise both the legally and the de facto separated, who may be shown as separate subcategories if desired. Regardless of the fact that couples who are separated may be considered to be still married (because they are not free to remarry), neither of the subcategories of (e) should be included in category (b).

2.146. In some countries, it will be necessary to take into account customary unions such as registered partnerships and consensual unions which are legal and binding under law.

2.147. The treatment of persons whose only or latest marriage has been annulled is dependent upon the relative size of this group in the country. Where its size is substantial, the group should constitute an additional category; if its size is insignificant, the individuals in the group should be classified according to their marital status before the (annulled) marriage took place.

2.148. At times countries have experienced difficulties in distinguishing between (*a*) formal marriages and de facto unions and (*b*) persons legally separated and those legally divorced. If either of these circumstances necessitates a departure from the recommended classification of marital status, the composition of each category shown in the tabulations should be clearly stated.

2.149. If complete information on marital status is needed, then this information should be collected and tabulated for persons of all ages, irrespective of the national minimum legal age, or the customary age, for marriage, because the population may include persons who were married in another country with a different minimum marriage age; in most countries, there are also likely to be persons who were permitted to marry below the legal minimum age because of special circumstances. In order to permit international comparisons of data on marital status, however, any tabulations of marital status not cross-classified by detailed age should at least distinguish between persons under 15 years of age and those 15 years of age and over.

2.150. The collection of additional information related to customs in particular countries (such as concubinage, polygamous or polyandrous marital status, inheritance of widows, and so on) may be useful in meeting national needs. For example, at times countries may wish to collect data on the number of spouses of each married person. Modifications of the tabulations to take account of such information

should be made within the framework of the basic classification in order to maintain international comparability as far as possible.

2.151. The concept of marital status and the marital status categories described above should not be confused with the concept of de facto union status which describes extralegal unions (including some consensual unions) of varying degrees of stability common in some countries. It should be recognized also, that these marital status categories do not adequately describe the prevalence of formal legal marriage combined with the relatively stable de facto union which may exist outside the maritage. Information on these relationships is very useful in studies of fertility, but it is not possible to provide an international recommendation on this matter because of the different circumstances prevailing among countries. It is suggested, however, that countries wishing to investigate these relationships should consider the possibility of collecting separate data for each person, on de facto unions and on the duration of each type of union (see para. 2.192). Information on these relationships can also be derived from answers to the question on relationship to head/reference person.

(d) Religion

2.152. For census purposes, religion may be defined as either (*a*) religious or spiritual belief of preference, regardless of whether or not this belief is represented by an organized group, or (*b*) affiliation with an organized group having specific religious or spiritual tenets. Each country that investigates religion in its census should use the definition most appropriate to its needs and should set forth, in the census publication, the definition that has been used.

2.153. The decision to collect and disseminate information on religion in a national census is dependent upon a number of considerations and national circumstance, including for example, the national needs for such data, and the suitability and sensitivity of asking a religion question in a country's census. Due to the sensitive nature of a question on religion, special care may be required to demonstrate to respondents that appropriate data protection and disclosure control measures are in place. It is important that the responding public be informed of the potential uses and needs for this information.

2.154. The amount of detail collected on this topic is dependent upon the requirements of the country. It may, for example, be sufficient to inquire only about the religion of each person; on the other hand, respondents may be asked to specify, if relevant, the particular sect to which they adhere within a religion.

2.155. For the benefit of users of the data who may not be familiar with all of the religions or sects within the country, as well as for purposes of international comparability, the classifications of the data should show each sect as a subcategory of the religion of which it forms a part. A brief statement of the tenets of religions or sects that are not likely to be known beyond the country or region would also be helpful.

(e) Language

2.156. There are three types of language data that can be collected in censuses, namely:

(a) Mother tongue, defined as the language usually spoken in the individual's home in his or her early childhood;

(b) Usual language, defined as the language currently spoken, or most often spoken, by the individual in his or her present home;

(c) Ability to speak one or more designated languages.

2.157. Each of these types of information serves a very different analytical purpose. Each country should decide which, if any, of these types of information is applicable to its own needs. International comparability of tabulations is not a major factor in determining the form of the data to be collected on this topic.

2.158. In compiling data on the usual language or on the mother tongue, it is desirable to show each language that is numerically important in the country and not merely the dominant language.

2.159. Information on language should be collected for all persons. In the tabulated results, the criterion for determining language for children not yet able to speak should be clearly indicated.

(f) Ethnicity

2.160. The decision to collect and disseminate information on ethnic or national groups of a population in a census is dependent upon a number of considerations and national circumstances, including for example the national needs for such data, and the suitability and sensitivity of asking ethnicity questions in a country's census. Identification of the ethno-cultural characteristics of a country's population has increasing importance in the context of migration, integration, and policies affecting minority groups. Due to the sensitive nature of questions on ethnicity, special care may be required to demonstrate to respondents that appropriate data protection and disclosure control measures are in place. It is important that the responding public be informed on the potential uses and need for data pertaining to ethnicity, as this improves public support for the census exercise. Data on ethnicity provides information on the diversity of a population and can serve to identify subgroups of a population. Some areas of study that rely on such data include demographic trends, employment practices and opportunities, income distributions, educational levels, migration patterns and trends, family composition and structure, social support networks, and health conditions of a population.

2.161. Broadly defined, ethnicity is based on a shared understanding of history and territorial origins (regional and national) of an ethnic group or community as well as on particular cultural characteristics such as language and/or religion. Respondents' understanding or views about ethnicity, awareness of their family background, the number of generations they have spent in a country, and the length of time since immigration are all possible factors affecting the reporting of ethnicity in a census. Ethnicity is multidimensional and is more a process than a static concept, and so ethnic classification should be treated with moveable boundaries.

2.162. Ethnicity can be measured using a variety of concepts, including ethnic ancestry or origin, ethnic identity, cultural origins, nationality, race, colour, minority status, tribe, language, religion or various combinations of these concepts. Because of the interpretative difficulties that may occur with measuring ethnicity in a census, it is important that, where such an investigation is undertaken, the basic criteria used to measure the concept is clearly explained to respondents and in the dissemination of the resulting data. The method and the format of the question used to measure ethnicity can influence the choices that respondents make regarding their ethnic backgrounds and current ethnic identification. The subjective nature of the term (not to mention increasing intermarriage among various groups in some countries, for example) requires that information on ethnicity be acquired through self-declaration of a respondent and also that respondents have the option of indicating multiple ethnic affiliations. Data on ethnicity should not be derived from information on country of citizenship or country of birth. The classification of ethnic groups also requires the inclusion of the finest levels of ethnic groups, self-perceived groups, regional and local groups, as well as groups that are not usually considered to be ethnic groups such as religious ones and those based on nationality. Countries collecting data on ethnicity should note that the pre-coding or the pre-classification of ethnic groups at the time of data capture may have a tendency to lose detailed information on the diversity of a population. Since countries collect data on ethnicity in different ways and for different reasons, and because the ethno-cultural composition of a country could vary widely from country to country, no internationally relevant criteria or classification can be recommended.

(g) Indigenous Peoples

2.163. Facilitating the collection of data on indigenous peoples for national and international needs can serve to improve socioeconomic and active participation of indigenous peoples in the development process for many countries. The sensitive nature of questions pertaining to the indigenous population requires care

in ensuring the public that the appropriate disclosure and data protection methods are being enforced. The responding public should be informed on the potential uses and need for such data to improve public support for the census exercise.

2.164. Dissemination of census data pertaining to indigenous peoples contributes to research in areas such as the socioeconomic conditions of the indigenous population, trends, causes for inequities, and the effectiveness of existing policies and programs. Availability of these data can also assist indigenous communities in assessing their conditions of living and give them the information they need to participate and advocate in the development of programs and policies affecting their communities, such as those impacting health systems, models of economic production, environmental management and social organization. In addition, the development of indicators relevant to the indigenous population and the measurement of such indicators in the data-collection process can be used to monitor the human development of indigenous populations.

2.165. Generally, indigenous peoples of a particular country are social groups with a distinct social and cultural identity from the dominant society in that country. Questions on indigenous identity should abide by the principle of self-identification. It is important that, where such an investigation is undertaken, that multiple criteria are developed to accurately capture identity and socioeconomic conditions of indigenous peoples. Defining the indigenous population can be done in many ways, such as through a question on ethnic origin (i.e. ancestry) and/or on indigenous identity. Identifying the indigenous community also requires recognition of the diversity in this subpopulation, including nomadic, semi-nomadic and migrating peoples, peoples in transition, displaced persons, indigenous peoples in urban areas, and particularly vulnerable sects. It is important to point out that there is no single term among countries to describe the indigenous population. Consequently, countries tend to use their own national concepts to identify the indigenous population. For example, in Australia the terms aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander are used while in New Zealand the term Maori is used.

2.166. Differing national contexts also imply that enumerating the indigenous population can be done in multiple ways, for example, by way of specific questions on the census form, with specialized census forms for the indigenous population, and/or with follow-up or complimentary surveys. In Canada, for example, identifying the indigenous population not only comes from a national census, but also a post-censal survey. In Australia, in addition to a national census, there is the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander survey, while in Argentina there is a complementary survey after the census targeting indigenous peoples. In addition to a general census, Paraguay also administers a specific census in the same year to identify the indigenous population.

2.167. Involvement of the indigenous community in the data development and data-collection processes provides the arena for capacity-building and helps to ensure the relevance and accuracy of the data collection on indigenous peoples. Using local indigenous languages, employing local indigenous people (as interpreters for example), training and building the capacity of local indigenous people in data-collection processes can facilitate the collection and dissemination of this information. Non-indigenous professionals and technicians should also be informed of the culture and practices of indigenous peoples.

5. Fertility and mortality

2.168. The investigation of fertility and mortality in population censuses is particularly important in countries lacking a timely and reliable system of vital statistics because of the opportunity the data provide for estimating vital rates that would not otherwise be available. Even in countries with complete birth and death registration, some of the topics ("children born alive", "children living", and "age at marriage or union") are equally appropriate because they provide data that are not easily available from registration data. The population census provides an opportunity to collect data for estimating fertility and mortality at national and subnational levels in a cost-effective manner. The inclusion of these topics in population censuses for the purpose of estimating fertility and mortality rates and other related indicators is both prudent and cost-effective, particularly in countries where civil registration and vital statistics systems are weak, and costs of conducting large periodic demographic surveys are high. Nevertheless, it is important to note that census information is a poor substitute for complete and reliable vital registration data. If

countries desire accurate and detailed estimates of fertility and mortality, they must maintain civil registration systems and ensure their universal coverage.

2.169. Three questions are posed to obtain information on fertility: children ever born, date of last child born alive and age of mother at birth of first child born alive. In addition, questions on age, date or duration of marriage/union may improve fertility estimates based on children ever born (see para. 2.192). For the collection of reliable data, some of the topics may require a series of probing questions that, because they are time-consuming, are more suitable for use in sample surveys than in censuses.

2.170. The universe for which data should be collected for each of the topics included in this section consists of women 15 years of age^{47} and over regardless of marital status. Information should be collected from all such women, regardless of marital status, unless from a cultural standpoint it is not feasible to collect information on childbearing from never-married women. In countries that do not use the data for women 50 years of age and over, it may be appropriate to limit data collection to women under the age of 50, allowing more concentrated effort on data collection for such women.

2.171. In addition to the topics indicated above that are used to estimate fertility, another useful topic that allows the estimation of fertility is the "own children" method.⁴⁸ The application of this method requires the identification of the "natural mother" of each child in the household when the natural mother appears in the same questionnaire as the child. In cases where it is difficult to ascertain the identity of the natural mother, one may use as a proxy the relationship to head of household or to reference person of household (see para. 2.114), or children living (see paras. 2.186-2.187) to establish the identity of the natural mother. In essence, information on the child's age and the mother's age are used to estimate a series of annual fertility rates for years prior to the census. The reliability of the estimates produced depends, among other things, on the proportion of mothers enumerated in the same questionnaire as their own children, the accuracy of age-reporting for both mothers and their children and the accuracy of available estimates of mortality for women and children.

2.172. Mortality topics include infant and child mortality obtained from data on children ever born and children living, and adult mortality obtained from household deaths in the past 12 months and maternal or paternal orphanhood. The extent to which adult mortality can be adequately measured from population census data, particularly from the more innovative approaches to mortality estimation such as the orphanhood method, is still uncertain. Accurate responses to the questions described here are often difficult to obtain, thus resulting in faulty data. Nevertheless, it is often possible to derive useable adjusted estimates from this information.

2.173. As far as possible, efforts should be made to obtain information on fertility, child mortality (or survival) and marriage directly from the woman or mother involved, because she is more likely to recall correctly the details of her fertility, the mortality of her offspring and her marital experiences than any other member of the household. Information on household deaths, by date, sex and age, in the 12-month period prior to the census should be collected from the head of the household (or reference person in the household). Information on maternal orphanhood and paternal orphanhood should be collected for each person in the household regardless of age. As with fertility, mortality questions may be limited to a sample of enumeration areas.

2.174. A number of countries have restricted the collection of data from fertility and mortality questions in the census to a sample of enumeration areas,⁴⁹ entailing the introduction of more vigorous training and permitting the selection of more suitable field staff. When those items are included in the census, certain precautions to ensure accuracy and completeness should be observed. Every effort should be made to collect all relevant information directly from the woman concerned, because she is much more likely to correctly recall the details of her fertility, the mortality of her offspring and her marital experiences than

⁴⁷ It may be appropriate in some countries to reduce the lower age limit by several years.

⁴⁸ For methodological details, see Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation, Population Studies, No. 81 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2), chap. VIII, sect. C.

⁴⁹ For the use of sampling in the enumeration, see chapter III.

any other member of the household. To reduce under-reporting of events and to improve the accuracy of responses to questions on fertility and mortality, enumerators need to receive specific training on probing questions that highlight common errors and omissions. Enumerator manuals should also include the measures that are needed to minimize such errors.

2.175. The limitations of the data collected and of the estimates based on them should be made clear in the census reports. Furthermore, since some of the estimation procedures are only suitable for use in certain circumstances, it is important that census data producers consult specialists and/or carefully evaluate the methodologies for estimating the indicators for their appropriateness in a given situation. In general, the data in the basic tabulations resulting from these questions should *not* be used for the direct calculation of fertility and mortality rates. Reliable estimation of fertility and mortality levels using census data requires adjustment based on methods of demographic analysis. ⁵⁰

2.176. As a general guide, only one of the items listed here is recommended for inclusion in all situations: (a) Children ever born. Even in countries with reliable vital registration of births, census information on this topic can be useful for assessing the completeness of the registration system and for estimating levels of lifetime fertility for older cohorts.

2.177. In countries where vital registration of births and deaths is incomplete or unreliable, it is recommended that a subset of the remaining items should be included as well. Among these, one item is useful for the indirect estimation of current fertility levels: (c) Date of birth of last child born alive. Two additional items are especially important, as they allow for the indirect estimation of mortality levels: (b) Children living, and (f) household deaths in the past 12 months.

2.178. The three remaining items have lower priority: (d) Age, date or duration of first marriage/union, (e) Age of mother at birth of first child born alive and (g) Maternal or paternal orphanhood. However, in situations where a country has asked one of these items in consecutive previous censuses, it may be useful to collect comparable information for sake of continuity and because cohort analysis, particularly of the prevalence of orphanhood, can be useful in assessing levels of mortality.

2.179. It is worth emphasizing that all estimates of fertility and mortality derived from census data are approximate and subject to various sorts of error. Therefore, in the absence of complete and reliable civil registration data, it may be desirable to have more than one type of census information on each topic (for example, *both* household deaths in the past 12 months *and* maternal or paternal orphanhood for the purpose of estimating adult mortality). Lastly, it should also be born in mind that while fertility surveys can provide data on current fertility, they cannot provide small area data that the census can. Therefore, a fertility question in the census can still be a priority for many countries.

(a) Children ever born alive (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 5.1-A

2.180. Information on number of children born alive (lifetime fertility) should include all children born alive (that is to say, excluding foetal deaths) during the lifetime of the woman concerned up to the census date. The number recorded should include all live-born children, whether born in or out of marriage, whether born in the present or a prior marriage, or in a de facto union, or whether living or dead at the time of the census.

⁵⁰ "Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation, Population Studies, No. 81 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2); National Academy of Sciences, Committee on Population and Demography, Collecting Data for the Estimation of Fertility and Mortality, Report No.6 (Washington D. C., National Academy Press, 1981), p.220; Handbook of Population and Housing Censuses, Part II, Studies in Methods, No. 54 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91.XVII.9), chaps. III and IV; Step-by-Step Guide to Estimation of Child Mortality, Population Studies, No. 107 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XIII.9).

2.181. Data on the total number of live-born children should preferably be collected for all women 15 years of age⁵¹ and over, regardless of marital status. If, from a cultural standpoint, it is not feasible in some countries to obtain the information for single women, it should be collected at least for all women 15 years of age and over who are or have been married or in a union (in other words, all ever-married or ever-in-a union women), a group also including all widowed, divorced and separated women. In either case, the group of women for whom the data have been collected should be clearly described in the census report so as to avoid ambiguity in the analysis of the results. In some countries, there is substantial age-misreporting in the population census, which distorts fertility and mortality estimation based on children ever born and children living cross-tabulated by age of the woman.⁵²

2.182. In order to improve the completeness of coverage and to assist the respondent in recalling her children ever born alive, it is recommended that a sequence of questions be included in the following order: (*a*) "total number of sons ever born alive during the lifetime of the woman"; (*b*) "total number of sons living (surviving) at the time of the census"; (*c*) "total number of sons born alive who have died before the census date"; and (*d*) "total number of daughters ever born alive during the lifetime of the woman"; (*e*) "total number of daughters living (surviving) at the time of the census"; (*c*) "total number of the census"; (*e*) "total number of daughters ever born alive during the lifetime of the woman"; (*e*) "total number of daughters living (surviving) at the time of the census"; and (*f*) "total number of daughters born alive who have died before the census date". The responses to topics (*b*), (*c*), (*e*) and (*f*) allow for a checking of the responses to (*a*) and (*d*). Inconsistencies in the figures, if any, can sometimes be solved during the interview.

2.183. The number of sons and daughters should comprise all children ever born alive whether born of the present or a prior marriage or union⁵³ and should exclude foetal deaths and adopted children. Also, the number of children, male and female, who are alive at the time of the census should include those living with the mother in the household and those living elsewhere, no matter where the latter may reside and regardless of their age and marital status.

2.184. The collection of data on children ever born specified by sex not only improves accuracy of information but also provides data for indirect estimation of sex differentials in infant and child mortality, in combination with data on children living (surviving) by sex (see para. 2.186). If the information on "children ever born alive by sex" is collected for only a sample of women, the data on "children living by sex" should also be obtained for the same sample.

2.185. Collecting data on the "total number of children ever born alive by sex" is desirable as it may improve the value of the information by providing a check on their quality, such as in ascertaining that sex ratios of births follow an expected pattern and do not behave oddly.

(b) Children living⁵⁴ (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 5.2-A

⁵¹ It may be appropriate in some countries to reduce the lower age limit by several years.

⁵² The data on children ever born and children surviving at the time of the census become distorted by errors either in the reported number of children ever born and surviving or in the classification of women in particular age/duration-of-marriage groups. Such distributions (biases) result in gross underestimation of fertility and mortality levels, particularly when data are disaggregated for small geographical areas See Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation, Population Studies, No. 81 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2) chap. II, sect. A.2, and chap. III, sect. A.1). For additional methodological details on the uses of the data, see Manual X.

⁵³ As indicated in paragraph 2.146, couples living in consensual unions may, where appropriate, be regarded as married.

⁵⁴ For methodological details on the uses of the data, together with data on live-born children, see the publications mentioned in footnote 49.

2.186. Data on children living, in conjunction with those on children ever born are used in indirect estimation of infant and child mortality in situations where there are no reliable data from a civil registration. It is expected that improved coverage and quality of data on the total number of children ever born will be achieved if more detailed questions about the current residence of children ever born are asked, in terms of the following: (*a*) "total number of sons living in the household"; (*b*) "total number of sons living elsewhere"; (*c*) "total number of sons born alive who have died before the census date"; (*d*) "total number of daughters living in the household"; (*e*) "total number of daughters living elsewhere"; and (*f*) "total number of an accurate reporting of children ever born alive specified by sex but also increase the questions' suitability for subsequent analysis.

2.187. The identification of the natural mother of each child under 15 years of age in the same household, to be used in the "own children" method of estimating fertility, should be made by asking each woman who reports one or more of her children as being born alive and living in the household to identify these children in the census questionnaire. The section of the questionnaire on "relationship to the head of the household or to the reference person in the household" may be used for identifying the natural mother of each child living in the household.

(c) Date of birth of last child born alive (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 5.3-A

2.188. Information on date of birth (day, month and year) of the last child born alive and on the sex of the child is used for estimating current fertility. This item can be useful as a means of deriving both national and sub-national fertility estimates. In countries lacking adequate data from civil registration, sample surveys have become a major source of information for estimating national fertility levels, but surveys usually do not permit the derivation of reliable estimates at sub-national levels.

2.189. At the processing stage, an estimate of the number of live births during the 12 months immediately preceding the census date can be derived from information on "date of birth of last child born alive." For estimating current age-specific fertility rates and other fertility measures, the data provided by this approach are more accurate than information from questions on the number of births to a woman during the 12 months immediately preceding the census. It should be noted, however, that information on the date of birth of the last child born alive does not produce complete data on the total number of children born alive during the 12-month period. Even if there are no errors in reported information on the last live-born child, this item ascertains the number of women who had at least one live-born child during the 12-month period, not the number of births, since a small proportion of women will have had more than one child in a year.

2.190. The information needs to be collected only for women between 15 and 50 years of age who have reported having at least one live birth during their lifetime. Also, the information should be collected for all the marital or union status categories of women for whom data on children ever born by sex (see para. 2.180) are collected. If the data on children ever born are collected for a sample of women, information on date of birth for the last child born alive should be collected for the same sample.

2.191. A census question on "date of birth of last child born alive" should always be paired with a simple follow-up question about whether the child is still alive, which yields data that can be used for studying child mortality. Although this pair of questions does *not* produce a valid estimate of the infant mortality rate (since the numerator excludes infant deaths occurring below age 1 in the past 12 months among children born 1-2 years before the census date), it can provide useful information on differences in child survival by age of mother or other socio-economic characteristics.

(d) Age, date or duration of first marriage

2.192. "Date of first marriage" comprises the day, month and year when the first marriage took place. In countries where date of first marriage is difficult to obtain, it is advisable to collect information on age at

marriage or on how many years ago the marriage took place (duration of marriage). Include not only contractual first marriages and de facto unions but also customary marriages and religious marriages. For women who are widowed, separated or divorced at the time of the census, "date of/age at/number of years since dissolution of first marriage" should be secured. Information on dissolution of first marriage (if pertinent) provides data necessary to calculate "duration of first marriage" as a derived topic at the processing stage. In countries in which duration of marriage is reported more reliably than age, tabulations of children ever born by duration of marriage yield better fertility estimates than those based on data on children born alive classified by age of the woman.⁵⁵ Data on duration of marriage can be obtained by subtracting the age at marriage from the current age, or directly from the number of years elapsed since the marriage took place.

(e) Age of mother at birth of first child born alive⁵⁶

2.193. Age of mother at the time of the birth of her first live-born child is used for the indirect estimation of fertility based on first births and to provide information on onset of childbearing and also for the indirect estimation of child mortality. If the topic is included in the census, information should be obtained for each woman who has had at least one child born alive.

(f) Household deaths in the past 12 months⁵⁷ (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 5.4-A

2.194. Information on household deaths in the past 12 months classified by sex of deceased and age at death, is used to estimate the level and pattern of mortality in countries that lack satisfactory continuous death statistics from civil registration. In order for estimation derived from this item to be reliable, it is important that all deaths to household members occurring during the 12 months preceding enumeration be reported as completely and as accurately as possible. Typically, reports of deaths in censuses underestimate the overall number of deaths if only because some deaths result in the disintegration of households so that household survivors, if any, may not report their occurrence (in particular, deaths of persons living alone at the time of death are unlikely to be reported). Nevertheless, provided that there are no serious errors in the reporting of age at death, estimates of completeness of death reporting can be derived via indirect estimation and adequate mortality estimates obtained.

2.195. Ideally, mortality should be sought for each household in terms of the total number of deaths in the 12-month period prior to the census date. For each deceased person reported, name, age, sex, date (day, month, and year) of death should also be collected. Care should be taken to clearly specify the reference period to the respondent so as to avoid errors due to its misinterpretation. For example, a precise reference period could be defined in terms of a festive or historic date for each country.

2.196. When information is collected on household deaths in the past 12 months (or some other reference period), countries may wish to ask a pair of follow-up questions concerning cause of death. After ascertaining the name, age and sex of the deceased person and date of death, two additional questions could be asked: (a) Was the death due to an accident, violence, homicide or suicide?, and (b) If the deceased was a woman aged 15^{58} to 49, did the death occur while she was pregnant or during childbirth or during the six

⁵⁵ See Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation, Population Studies, No. 81 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2), chap. II, sect. D.

⁵⁶ Ibid., chap. II, sect. B.3.

⁵⁷ See Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation, Population Studies, No. 81 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2), chap. V, sects. A and B; Data Bases for Mortality Measurement, (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.3); Ian M. Timaeus, "Measurement of adult mortality in less developed countries: a comparative review", Population Index, vol. 57, No. 4 (winter 1991), pp. 552-568..

⁵⁸ It may be appropriate in some countries to reduce the lower age limit by several years.

weeks after the end of pregnancy?⁵⁹ Ideally, both of these questions should elicit a simple "yes/no" answer, although in some cases the only available answer may be "unknown" or "not sure."

2.197. Data derived from such questions could be used to better understand trends in levels and some causes of adult mortality. At the processing stage, reported deaths would be tabulated according to broad categories of cause of death: external, pregnancy-related, other, and unknown. Ignoring the "unknown" responses, both external and pregnancy-related deaths could provide valuable information in countries where no other sources of information to systematically obtain causes of death are available. Of course, such information is approximate and must be interpreted with caution after careful evaluation and often adjustment. Nevertheless, using these simple questions should make it possible to derive some useful information about major trends in mortality which are otherwise difficult to obtain.

2.198. There is no universal agreement about the feasibility of collecting reliable cause-of-death information as part of a population and housing census. The approach described here has been advocated by at least one group of experts⁶⁰ and has been incorporated into at least one national census (that of South Africa in 2001). A key motivating factor in both cases has been the desire to gain a better understanding of trends and levels of adult mortality, particularly in the context of HIV/AIDS. Although deaths due to AIDS would fall into the residual (or "other") category, major changes in this category between successive censuses (or between censuses and sample surveys) might be indicative of trends in AIDS mortality. Of course, such information would require careful interpretation, taking into account the overall epidemiological situation of a country. It is important to note that this general approach and the specific wording of the questions have not been tested systematically, and some of the analytical strategies described above remain speculative. As of July 2006, there has not been a thorough evaluation of the cause-of-death information collected as part of the 2001 census of South Africa. However, a preliminary investigation suggests that the South African data produced useful and mostly plausible estimates, although not fully consistent with information derived from other sources.⁶¹ In sum, more research is needed on both the feasibility and methods of collecting cause-of-death information as part of a national census.

(g) Maternal or paternal orphanhood⁶²

2.199. Some countries may also wish to collect information on maternal or paternal orphanhood in another attempt to ascertain the level and patterns of mortality in the population. Census data from these

http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/adultmort/Adultmortality.htm

⁵⁹ A few countries have collected information on maternal mortality in their censuses. See, Cynthia Stanton, et al, "Every death counts: measurement of maternal mortality via a census", World Health Organization, Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 2001, 79: 657-664.

⁶⁰ United Nations Population Division, "Workshop on HIV/AIDS and adult mortality in developing countries", New York, 8-13 September 2003,

⁶¹ Rob Dorrington, Tom A. Moultrie, and Ian M. Timæus, "Estimation of mortality using the South African Census 2001 data", Centre for Actuarial Research, CARe Monograph No. 11, 2004.

⁶² For methodological details on the uses of the data, see Handbook of Population and Housing Censuses, Part II, Studies in Methodology, No. 54 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91. XVII.9), chaps. III and IV, Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation, Population Studies, No. 81 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2), chap. IV, sects A, B.1 and B.2; J. G. C. Blacker, "The estimates of adult mortality in Africa from data on orphanhood", Population Studies, vol. XXXI, No. 1 (March 1977), pp. 107-128; Kenneth H. Hill and T. James Trussel, "Further developments in indirect mortality estimation", Population Studies, vol. XXXI, No. 2 (July 1977), pp. 313-334; William Brass and K. Hill, "Estimating adult mortality from orphanhood", in International Population Conference, vol. 3 (Liège, Belgium, International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, 1973), pp.11-123; Ian Timaeus and Wendy Graham, Measuring Adult Mortality in Developing Countries. A Review and Assessment of Methods, World Bank Working Paper, No. 155 (Washington, D.C., World Bank, Population and Human Resources Department, April, 1989); Ian M. Timaeus, "Measurement of adult mortality in less developed countries: a comparative review", Population Index, vol. 57, No. 4 (winter 1991), pp. 552-568.

two topics are intended for indirect estimation of mortality by sex. Estimates are based on the proportion of persons classified by age whose natural mothers or fathers are still alive at the time of the census.

2.200. For the collection of information on orphanhood, two direct questions should be asked, namely (a) whether the natural mother of the person enumerated in the household is still alive at the time of the census and (b) whether the natural father of the person enumerated in the household is still alive at the time of the census, regardless of whether or not the mother and father are enumerated in the same household. The investigation should secure information on biological parents. Thus care should be taken to exclude adopting and fostering parents. It should be kept in mind, however, that over-counting may occur in the case of parents with more than one surviving child among the respondents, particularly in high fertility societies.

2.201. It is preferable for these questions to be collected from every person in the household regardless of age.

6. Educational characteristics

(a) Literacy (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 6.3-A

2.202. Literacy has historically been defined as the ability both to read and to write, distinguished between "literate" and "illiterate" people. A literate person is one who can, both read and write a short, simple statement on his or her everyday life. An illiterate person is one who cannot with understanding; both read and write such a statement. Hence, a person capable of reading and writing only figures and his or her own name should be considered illiterate, as should a person who can read but not write as well as one who can read and write only a ritual phrase that has been memorized. However, new understandings referring to a range of levels, of domains of application, and of functionality are now widely accepted.

2.203. The notion of literacy applies to any language insofar as it exists in written form. In multilingual countries, the census questionnaire may query the languages in which a person can read and write. Such information can be essential for the determination of educational policy and this item would therefore be a useful additional subject of inquiry.

2.204. It is preferable that data on literacy be collected for all persons 10 years of age and over. In a number of countries, however, certain persons between 10 and 14 years of age may be about to become literate through schooling. The literacy rate for this age group may be misleading. Therefore, in an international comparison of literacy, data on literacy should be tabulated for all persons 15 years of age and over. Where countries collect the data for younger persons, the tabulations on literacy should at least distinguish between persons under 15 years of age and those 15 years of age and over.

2.205. Straightforward operational criteria and instructions for collecting literacy statistics should be clearly established on the basis of the concept given in paragraph 2.202, and applied during census-taking.⁶³ Accordingly, although data on literacy should be collected so as to distinguish between persons who are "literate" and those who are "illiterate", consideration should be given to distinguishing broad levels of literacy skills. Simple questions with response categories that reflect different levels of literacy skills should be used. In addition, since literacy is an applied skill it needs to be measured in relation to a particular task, such as reading, with understanding, personal letters and newspapers or magazines, or such as writing a personal letter or message. They may be able to do so easily, with difficulty or not at all, reflecting the different levels of literacy skills. Reading and writing may be measured separately to simplify the questions.

⁶³ Depending on needs for small area data and circumstances in a country, literacy may best be measured through surveys.

2.206. It would be preferable to use standardized questions, harmonized across countries to ensure comparability. The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), has developed a reference database of model questions.⁶⁴ In addition, UNESCO recommends that literacy tests should also be administered, in order to verify, as well as improve, the quality of literacy data. Nevertheless, administering a literacy test to all household members in the course of enumeration may prove impractical and affect participation, and therefore limiting the utility of the results. Countries have regularly used simple self-assessment questions within a census, to provide an indication of literacy rates at small area level. An evaluation of the quality of statistics should be provided with census statistics on literacy.

2.207. The collection and tabulation of statistics on literacy during the population census should not be based on any assumed linkages between literacy, school attendance and educational attainment. In operational terms, this means systematically inquiring about the literacy status of each household member irrespective of school attendance or highest grade or level completed.

2.208. The literacy question currently varies across countries and as a result, the data based on them are not always internationally comparable. Literacy should not be derived as an educational attainment proxy because although the two are related, there are substantial differences. For example, there are numerous cases where people leave school with only partial literacy skills, or lose them because of a lack of practice. Therefore educational attainment is not a good proxy measure of literacy skills.

(b) School attendance (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: 6.1-A, 6.2-A

2.209. School attendance is defined as regular attendance at any regular accredited educational institution or programme, public or private, for organized learning at any level of education at the time of the census or, if the census is taken during the vacation period at the end of the school year or during the last school year. According to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED), education is taken to comprise all deliberate and systematic activities designed to meet learning needs. Instruction in particular skills which is not part of the recognized educational structure of the country (for example, in-service training courses in factories) is not normally considered "school attendance" for census purposes.

2.210. Information on school attendance in principle should be collected for persons of all ages. It relates in particular to the population of official school age, which ranges in general from 5 to 29 years of age but can vary from country to country depending on the national education structure. In the case where data collection is extended to cover attendance in pre-primary education and/or other systematic educational and training programmes organized for adults in productive and service enterprises (such as the in-service training courses mentioned in paragraph 2.209), community-based organizations and other non-educational institutions, the age range may be adjusted as appropriate.

2.211. Data on school attendance should be cross-classified with data on educational attainment, according to the person's current level and grade (see para. 2.215). This cross-classification can provide useful information on the correspondence between age and level or grade of educational attainment for persons attending school.

2.212. The issue surrounding the number of "Out-of-School" children has grown in importance within the last decade, particularly within the context of the UNESCO Education for All (EFA) Goal 1 – achieving universal primary education. The census offers an opportunity to measure the number of "Out-of-School" or "Ever-in-School" children (reciprocal of attendance). There is a difference between "attending-school"

⁶⁴ Census offices should consult the latest information on literacy assessment through the UIS website (<u>www.uis.unesco.org</u>) so that as to access an up-to-date source of information and guidance in this area for the census.

and "enrolled-in-school" thus results from censuses and administrative data may differ. The UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS) and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) are jointly working on efforts to better measure the number of out-of-school children in the world.

2.213. School attendance is complementary to but must be distinguished from "School Enrolment" which typically is obtained from administrative data. A child can be enrolled in school but not necessarily be attending. It is recommended that these concepts be clearly defined so that countries can determine which variable they wish to collect via the census.

2.214. It is also recommended that member states consider the need for an "internationally-harmonized" question(s) in order to measure school attendance and school enrolment.

(c) Educational attainment (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 6.1-A, 7.1-A, 8.2-A

2.215. The recommendations on "educational attainment" (see para. 2.216) and "educational qualifications" (see para. 2.229 make use of categories of the 1997 revision of ISCED, issued by UNESCO⁶⁵. In accordance with national conditions and requirements, many countries can continue to apply national classifications of levels and grades of education and of fields of education in collecting and tabulating statistics from population censuses. Special attention needs to be paid to establishing appropriate level-grade equivalence for persons who have received education under a different or foreign educational system. These national classifications however should be able to be converted or mapped to the ISCED97 classification system, this typically being achieved during post-census processing.

2.216. Educational attainment is defined as the highest grade completed within the most advanced level attended in the educational system of the country where the education was received. Some countries may also find it useful to present data on educational attainment in terms of highest grade attended. If required, data on educational attainment can take into account education and training received in all types of organized educational institutions and programmes, particularly those measurable in terms of grade and level of education or their equivalent such as programmes in adult education, even if the education and training were provided outside of the regular school and university system. For international purposes, a "grade" is a stage of instruction usually covered in the course of a school year. Information on educational attainment should preferably be collected for all persons 5 years of age and over.

2.217. To produce statistics on educational attainment, a classification is needed that indicates the grades or years of education in primary, secondary and post-secondary school. Since the educational structure may have changed over time, it is necessary to make provisions for persons educated at a time when the national educational system differed from that in place at the time of the census. In addition to focusing attention on the collection of educational attainment data, enumerator instructions, coding and data processing need to be designed in a way that will take account of any changes in the educational system of a country over the years and of those educated in another country, as well as those educated in the current system.

2.218. Information collected on the highest grade of education completed by each individual facilitates flexible regrouping of the data according to various kinds of aggregation by level of education, for the purpose, for example, of distinguishing between persons who did and persons who did not complete each level of education.

2.219. For international comparison, data from the population census are needed for three levels of education: primary, secondary, and post-secondary. To the extent possible, countries can classify statistics

⁶⁵ See annex II of document 29C/20 of the twenty-ninth session of the General Conference of UNESCO (8 August 1997).

on educational attainment by individual ISCED levels as given below (or by their equivalent as set forth according to the national classification of levels of education):

ISCED level 0:	Pre-primary education
ISCED level 1:	Primary education
ISCED level 2:	Lower secondary education
ISCED level 3:	(Upper) secondary education
ISCED level 4:	Post-secondary Non-Tertiary education
ISCED level 5a:	First stage of tertiary education (provides sufficient qualifications for gaining entry into advanced research programmes and professions with high skills requirements)
ISCED level 5b:	First stage of tertiary education (provides practical oriented/occupationally specific training and the successful completion of which usually provides the participants with a labour-market relevant qualification)
ISCED level 6:	Second stage of tertiary education (leading to an advanced research qualification)

Persons with no schooling should also be identified. Any differences between national and international definitions and classifications of education should be explained in the census publications in order to facilitate comparison and analysis.

2.220. Countries could consider asking a question which captures levels of education not successfully completed should this be of interest to policy. This could be in the form of a direct question asking if a person has "some" education at the relevant level or via a question asking the last grade/year completed from any given level of education.

2.221. Data on school attendance, educational attainment and literacy status should be collected and tabulated separately and independently of each other, without (as elaborated in paragraph 2.207) any assumption of linkages between them.

2.222. In order to ensure continued and improved international comparability of census data by level of education, it is recommended that member states continue to ensure that the educational attainment variable is able to be mapped into the ISCED97 classification. This is typically achieved in post-census processing.

(d) Field of education and educational qualifications

(i) Field of education

2.223. Information on persons by level of education and field of education is important for examining the match between the supply and demand for qualified manpower with specific specializations within the labour market. It is equally important for planning and regulating the production capacities of different levels, types and branches of educational institutions and training programmes.

2.224. A question on field of education needs to be addressed to persons 15 years of age and over who attended at least one grade in secondary education or who attended other organized educational and training programmes at equivalent levels.

2.225. The revised ISCED distinguishes between the following major fields (one-digit codes) and subfields (two- digit codes) of education:

Code

- 0 General programmes
 - 01 Basic programmes
 - 08 Literacy and numeracy
 - 09 Personal development
- 1 Education
 - 14 Teacher training and education science

- 2 Humanities and arts
 - 21 Arts
 - 22 Humanities
- 3 Social science, business and law
 - 31 Social and behavioural science
 - 32 Journalism and information
 - 34 Business and administration
- 4 Science
 - 42 Life sciences
 - 44 Physical sciences
 - 46 Mathematics and statistics
 - 48 Computing
- 5 Engineering, manufacturing and construction
 - 52 Engineering and engineering trades
 - 54 Manufacturing and processing
 - 58 Architecture and building
- 6 Agriculture
 - 62 Agriculture, forestry and fishery
 - 64 Veterinary
 - Health and welfare
 - 72 Health
 - 76 Social services
- 8 Services

7

9

- 81 Personal services
- 84 Transport services
- 85 Environmental protection
- 86 Security services
- 99 Not known or unspecified

2.226. Countries may wish to consider collecting data on detailed fields of education, not only major ones. When coding field of education, countries should make use of an established national classification or, if this does not exist, adopt the classification and coding of fields of education of ISCED. Any difference between national and international definitions and classifications of fields of education should be explained in the census publications so as to facilitate international comparison and analysis.

2.227. Countries coding field of education according to a national classification should also establish correspondence with ISCED either through double-coding or through "conversion" from the detailed national classification to ISCED. A problem may arise in identifying the exact field(s) of education of persons with interdisciplinary or multi-disciplinary fields of specialization. It is recommended that countries follow the procedure of identifying the major or principal field of education of those with multidisciplinary specialization.

2.228. In order to ensure continued and improved international comparability of census data by field of education, it is recommended that the classification structure for the "fields of education" continue to be based on the ISCED97.

(ii) Educational qualifications

2.229. Qualifications are the degrees, diplomas, certificates, professional titles and so forth that an individual has acquired, whether by full-time study, part-time study or private study, whether conferred in the home country or abroad, and whether conferred by educational authorities, special examining bodies or professional bodies. The acquisition of an educational qualification therefore implies the successful completion of a course of study or training programme.

2.230. According to national needs, information on qualifications may be collected from persons who have reached a certain minimum age or level of educational attainment. Such information should refer to the title of the highest certificate, diploma or degree received.

7. Economic characteristics

(a) Purpose of collecting data on the economic characteristics of persons

2.231. Statistics on the economic characteristics of persons are needed from population censuses for many reasons. Information on the number and characteristics of the employed, unemployed and inactive persons are needed in detail at the same reference point of time that other demographic and social items are being measured so that a comprehensive picture of the socio-economic situation is available.

2.232. Such statistics might be obtained from other sources such as a household-based labour force survey or administrative records, but these other sources have certain limitations. Data obtained from sample surveys are constrained by sample precision and, rarely provide reliable estimates for small areas, rare population groups, or for finely classified groups of industries and occupations. Administrative records may not have the same quality of occupational and industry coding nor the same comprehensiveness in population coverage as a population census.

2.233. Other personal, household and dwelling characteristics that are included in the range of census topics (such as education, income level, type of dwelling, etc) are strongly related to economic activity of the household members. It is therefore desirable to collect information on the economic characteristics of household members in the census so that cross-relationships between these data items can be examined.

2.234. The population census provides benchmark information on economic characteristics to which statistics from other sources can be related. Population censuses also provide the sample frames for most household-based surveys, including labour force surveys. It is therefore useful to include as many data items as possible in the benchmark information or sample frames.

2.235. There may however be problems in reconciling figures obtained from different sources due to differences in scope and coverage, concepts and definitions, classifications, statistical units, reference periods, precision, measurement errors, and so on. Household surveys, especially labour force surveys, have greater scope for generating quality statistics on economic characteristics at aggregate levels, such as national and broad regional groupings, while population censuses provide these statistics at lower levels of aggregation. When presenting census results, it is suggested that any such differences be highlighted and explained in footnotes to tables, in metadata as well as in textual analysis so that users are assisted to the extent possible in their work and the public has a better understanding of the use of these statistics. Countries that carry out regular labour force surveys may wish to designate these surveys as their official sources for statistics on the economically active population when reported at national level or for broad regional groupings.

2.236. The census topics relating to economic characteristics of the population discussed below concentrate on the economically active population as defined in the recommendations of the International Conferences of Labour Statisticians (ICLS)⁶⁶, especially the resolution concerning statistics of the economically active population, employment, unemployment and underemployment of the 13th ICLS.

(b) Economic Activity of persons

2.237. The *economically active population* comprises all persons of either sex who provide the supply of labour during a specified time- reference period, as employed or as unemployed, for the production of economic goods and services, where the concept of economic production is established with respect to the

⁶⁶ International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000,

System of National Accounts $(SNA)^{67}$. Activities are within the economic production boundary defined by the SNA^{68} if they comprise (*a*) production of goods or services supplied to units other than their producers, or intended to be supplied, including the production of goods and services used up in the process of producing such goods or services (intermediate consumption); (*b*) production of all goods retained by their producers for their own final use (own-account production of goods); and (*c*) production of housing services by owner-occupiers⁶⁹; and (d) production of domestic and personal services produced by paid domestic staff (See Figure 3).

2.238. Own-account production of goods includes for example, production of agricultural products and their subsequent storage; production of other primary products such as mining of salt, cutting of peat, supply of water; processing of agricultural products (note that the preparation of meals for own consumption is excluded); and other kinds of processing such as weaving of cloth, dressmaking and tailoring; production of footwear, pottery, utensils or durables; making of furniture or furnishings; and major renovations, extensions to dwellings, replastering of walls or re-roofing by owners of owneroccupied dwellings.⁷⁰ It is advisable for countries to develop a more extensive list of such own-account production activities considered to be within the SNA production boundary, so as to ensure that those involved in such activities are correctly classified as economically active. In principle, the production of all goods falls within the SNA production boundary, irrespective of whether the goods are intended for supply to other units or for the producers' own final use. In practice, however, the production of a good for own final use within households should be recorded only if the amount of the good produced by households for their own final use is believed to be quantitatively important in relation to the total supply of that good in a country. According to the 13th International Conference of Labour Statisticians, persons engaged in the production of goods for own final use within the same household should be considered as economically active only if such production comprises an important contribution to the total consumption of the household.

2.239. Domestic or personal services provided by unpaid household members for final consumption within the same household are **excluded** from the economic production boundary and hence are **not** considered to be economic activities. (Examples are (a) the cleaning, decoration and maintenance of the dwelling occupied by the household, including small repairs of a kind usually carried out by tenants as well as owners; (b) the cleaning, servicing and repair of household durables or other goods, including vehicles used for household purposes; (c) the preparation and serving of meals; (d) the care, training and instruction of children; (e) the care of sick, infirm or old people; and (f) the transportation of members of the household or their goods.) Persons engaged in such activities may be included among providers of unpaid social and personal services. (See paragraphs 2.293-2.295 below)

(c) Activity status (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 7.1-A, 7.2-A, 7.3-A, 7.4-A, 7.5-A, 7.6-A, 7.7-A, 7.8-A, 8.3-A

2.240. The activity status of a person is determined over a short reference period such as a week or a day in terms of being economically active (employed or unemployed during the reference period as defined below in paragraphs 2.253-2.277) or economically inactive. Even within a short reference period, persons may have more than one economic activity status. So, to ascribe a single, unique activity status to each person, priority is given to the status of being economically active over being economically inactive and to being employed over being unemployed. In other words, a student who is seeking work should be classified as *unemployed* and economically active; and a person looking for work who also works for the minimum

⁶⁷ Commission of the European Communities, International Monetary Fund, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, United Nations and World Bank, *System of National Accounts 1993* (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.94.XVII.4).

⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 6.18.

⁶⁹ It should be noted that, although the own-account production of housing services by owner-occupiers is within the SNA economic production boundary, it has no labour input according to the SNA

⁷⁰ *Opcit*, paras. 6.24 and 6.25

amount of time required by the census to count as being employed should be classified as *employed* and not as unemployed. This principle is referred to as the "priority rule". More details of the international standards are given in the *Resolution concerning statistics of the economically active population, employment, unemployment and underemployment,* adopted by the 13th International Conference of Labour Statisticians (1982).

2.241. Information on activity status should in principle cover the entire population, but in practice it is collected for each person at or above a minimum age set in accordance with the conditions in each country. The minimum school-leaving age should not automatically be taken as the lower age-limit for the collection of information on activity status. Countries in which, normally, many children participate in agriculture or other types of economic activity (for example, mining, weaving, and petty trade) will need to select a lower minimum age than that in countries where employment of young children is uncommon. In determining the lower limit, special note should be taken of the importance of statistics on the economic activities of children, especially with respect to child labour. Tabulations of economic characteristics should at least distinguish persons under 15 years of age and those 15 years of age and over; and countries where the minimum school-leaving age is higher than 15 years and where there are economically active children below this age should endeavour to collect data on the economic characteristics of these children with a view to achieving international comparability at least for persons 15 years of age and over. A maximum age limit for measurement of the economically active population is not recommended. Many people continue to be engaged in economic activities beyond their normal retirement age and the numbers involved are likely to increase as a result of factors associated with the "ageing" of the population. Countries may, however, wish to balance the cost of collecting and processing information relating to the economic activity of elderly persons (those aged 75 years or more) and the additional response burden imposed on them against the significance and reliability of the information provided.

Figure 3: Economic Production as defined in current SNA



(*) No labour input

2.242. Depending on the way the relevant parts of the census questionnaire have been constructed, the determination of the economic activity status of a person may be influenced by respondents' and/or enumerators' subjective understanding of the notion of work and economic activity. In this regard, particular attention should be given to special groups for which the determination of activity status may be difficult. These groups include, for example, active youth, women and elderly persons after the normal age of retirement, in particular those working as contributing family members. Their participation in economic activities is frequently overlooked and needs close attention when measuring the economically active population. In particular, the common notion that women are generally engaged in home-making duties, or cultural perceptions relating to sex roles, can result in a serious omission with respect to measuring women's economic activity status. To reduce under-reporting of economic activities, enumerators need to be explicitly instructed or the questionnaires specifically designed to ask about the possible economic activity of every woman and man in the household above the minimum age specified for measuring the economically active population. One possibility is to provide the enumerator with a list⁷¹ of typically misclassified activities. The use of an activity list has been found useful in clarifying the concept of economic activity and could be provided in the enumerators' manual. Examples of specific activities, such as unpaid work that are part of economic activity could also be included in the questionnaire.

2.243. There is a high risk of misclassifying women as homemakers when only basic questions are asked. Better results, showing higher proportions of women as economically active, have been recorded in cases when further probing questions were used during an interview or more detailed questions were included in a self-administered questionnaire, to ensure that those homemakers involved in some typically misclassified economic activities were assigned to their correct economic activity status.

2.244. The addition of probing questions in an interview or more detailed questions in a self-administered questionnaire may lengthen the time required to complete the questionnaire and increase the cost of the census. Accordingly, it will be necessary to balance the gains in terms of minimizing response errors when such questions are used against the added costs associated with their use. Given the importance of reliable data on activity status however, serious consideration should be given to minimizing classification errors. To this end, in the interview situation, as well as adding probing questions, improved training may help to reduce interviewers' bias and change their perceptions of what activities or types of production are economic. Training of enumerators should highlight likely sources of sex biases leading to underestimation of women's participation in economic activities as incomplete coverage of unpaid economic activities, failure of respondents and enumerators to take account of women's multiple activities, some economic and some non-economic, and the tendency to automatically enter women as homemakers, particularly if the women are married. Similar guidance could also be given in the instructions for a self-administered questionnaire.

(i) Economically active population

2.245. Two concepts of the "economically active" population can be distinguished: (a) the *usually active population*, measured in relation to a long reference period such as a year; and (b) the *currently active population* (or, equivalently, the *labour force*), measured in relation to a short reference period such as one week or one day. The choice between these measurement approaches should take into account the advantages and disadvantages of each approach, as well as national circumstances, the need for comparability with other national sources of data on economic characteristics (for example, labour force surveys, establishment surveys and administrative records) and other specific needs, such as the international comparability of economic statistics of countries and regions. It is however not advisable to use different concepts for different geographic regions in a country.

2.246. A complete set of data compiled on both the usually active population and the currently active population has advantages for a number of important uses, but this may be difficult in a census because of expense, limitations of questionnaire space and the burden of coding and processing. To enhance the possibilities for the analysis of economic activity, countries using the labour-force concept (*current*

⁷¹ See *opcit*. paras. 6.24 and 6.25, for an example of such a list and a basic principle to follow when drawing it up.

activity) should endeavour to obtain supplementary data covering at least a count of persons who were *usually economically active* during a specified 12-month period, and countries using the concept of *usual activity* should endeavour to obtain supplementary data covering at least the size of the labour force during a one-week or one-day reference period.

2.247. The "not economically active" population comprises all persons, irrespective of age, including those below the age specified for measuring the economically active population, who were not "economically active" as defined above in paragraphs 2.237-2.239.

(ii) Current activity Status

2.248. Current activity status is the relationship of a person to economic activity, based on a brief reference period such as one week or one day.

2.249. The use of current activity concept is considered most appropriate for countries where the economic activity of people is not greatly influenced by seasonal or other factors causing variations over the year, that is to say where the results will not significantly depend on the timing of the reference period during the year. It may not, however, be equally appropriate for countries where the economic activity of people is carried out predominantly in sectors subject to significant seasonal variations, such as agriculture and tourism, and where people are therefore likely to be seasonally unemployed or engaged in more than one type of activity. Seasonal variations in employment and unemployment may be significant both in industrialized and in developing economies, but such variations tend to be less widespread in the former and are therefore generally measured through monthly or quarterly household surveys. Nevertheless, even for these countries, the census results will provide an important supplement, in particular for regions and small groups, as well as a source for benchmarking. Preferably, a time-reference period of one week rather than one day should be used, which may be either a specified recent fixed week (the preferred option), or the last complete calendar week, or the last seven days prior to enumeration. The "current activity" measure is the one used as the basis for international comparisons of the economically active population, employment.

2.250. One advantage of the use of a short reference period for measuring economic activity is that it requires information concerning only activities undertaken on the census reference date or immediately prior to that date. This minimizes the possibility for recall errors. Also, since the short reference period limits the possibility of having a large number of different activities undertaken and situations experienced, the construction of the questionnaire is simpler than when using a longer reference period.

a. Currently active population (i.e., the labour force)

2.251. The diagram in Figure 4 depicts the labour force framework. The discussion below provides the relevant definitions, exceptions and clarifications for each of the boxes in the diagram.

2.252. The *currently active population*, or the *labour force*, comprises all persons (above the stated minimum age) who are either employed or unemployed, as defined below.

b. Employed population

2.253. The *employed* population comprises all persons above the minimum age specified for measurement of the economically active population who, during a short reference period of either one week (preferred option) or one day:

- (a) performed some work for pay, profit or family gain, in cash or in kind; or
- (b) were temporarily absent from a job in which they had already worked and to which they maintained a formal attachment or from a self-employment activity such as a business enterprise, a farm or a service undertaking.

Figure 4: Labour Force Framework


2.254. 'Work' means engagement in economic activities as defined in paragraphs 2.237-2.239 above. The census documentation and tabulations should clearly describe the minimum time chosen for the purpose of considering persons to be 'at work'. According to the present international recommendations, the notion of *some work* should be interpreted as work for at least one hour during the reference period. The one-hour criterion is an essential feature of the labour-force framework embedded in the international definitions of employment and unemployment, and a prerequisite for the consistency of employment statistics with national accounts data on production. It derives from the priority rules referred to in paragraph 2.240 above and ensures that one of the criteria in the definition of unemployment is a situation of total lack of work (zero hours of work). Countries concerned about the use of the one-hour criterion should collect information on the time worked variable, following the recommendations of paragraphs 2.322-2.325, so that employed persons can be classified by time worked.

2.255. Special attention should be paid to homemakers, since some of their activities fall within the production boundary of the national accounts system and constitute employment (for example, production of agricultural products, and their subsequent storage; production of other primary products such as mining of salt, cutting of peat, supply of water; processing of agricultural products; and other kinds of processing such as weaving of cloth, dressmaking and tailoring) but may not be perceived as economic activity by those involved.

2.256. Employees temporarily absent from work should be considered as in paid employment provided they maintained a formal job attachment. Such temporary absences might be because of illness or injury, holiday or vacation, strike or lockout, educational or training leave, maternity or parental leave, reduction in economic activity, temporary disorganization or suspension of work due to such reasons as bad weather, mechanical or electrical breakdown, or shortage of raw materials or fuels, or characterized by other temporary absence with or without leave. A formal job attachment should be determined on the basis of one or more of the following criteria: a continued receipt of wage or salary; an assurance of return to work following the end of the contingency, an agreement as to the date of return; or the elapsed duration of absence from the job which, wherever relevant, may be that duration for which workers can receive compensation benefits without obligations to accept other jobs

2.257. Self-employed persons (excluding contributing family workers) should be considered "employed" and "with enterprise but not at work", if their absence from work is temporary and their enterprise meanwhile continues to exist, for example, because orders for work in the future are received.

2.258. Detailed information on the economic status classification of groups of persons on extended absence from work such as women on maternity leave, employees on unpaid leave or other types of extended leave, seasonal employees and seasonal employers during the off-season are available in the *Guidelines concerning treatment in employment and unemployment statistics of persons on extended absences from work*, endorsed by the Sixteenth International Conference of Labour Statisticians, (October 1998)⁷².

i. Treatment of specific groups

2.259. According to the standards adopted by the International Conference of Labour Statisticians in 1982, the following treatment of certain groups of individuals in paid employment or self-employment is recommended.

⁷² For further guidance, see "The Guidelines concerning treatment in employment and unemployment statistics of persons on extended absences from work" in

⁽i) International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000, pp.88;

⁽ii) http://www.ilo.org/public/english/bureau/stat/download/guidelines/exleave.pdf;

⁽iii) http://www.ilo.org/public/english/bureau/stat/download/16thicls/report4.pdf

2.260. *Contributing family workers* should be considered to be at work on the same basis as other selfemployed workers, that is to say, irrespective of the number of hours worked during the reference period. Countries that prefer for special reasons to set a minimum time criterion higher than one hour for the inclusion of contributing family workers among the employed should identify and separately classify those who worked less than the prescribed time, so as to be able to provide internationally comparable data. As contributing family members do not have an enterprise of their own, they cannot be "with an enterprise but not at work". Accordingly, contributing family workers who were not at work during the reference period should not be considered as employed. They should be considered as unemployed or not economically active depending on their current availability for work and recent job search activity.

2.261. Persons engaged in economic activities in the form of *own-account production* of goods for own final use within the same household should be considered to be in self-employment (and classified as own-account workers) if such production constitutes an important contribution to the total consumption of the household (see para. 2.238 above).

2.262. *Apprentices and trainees* who received pay in cash or in kind should be considered in paid employment and classified as at work or not at work on the same basis as other persons in paid employment.

2.263. Participation in *job training schemes* may be important in some countries and may generate particular forms of employment and intermediate situations on the borderlines of employment, unemployment and economic inactivity. Such participants are considered to be "employed" if the training takes place within the context of an enterprise and in connection with its production, or if the participants retain a formal job attachment to an enterprise or without connection to its production. Other participants in job training schemes are to be classified as unemployed or not economically active, depending upon their current availability for work and recent job-search activity. In particular, if the job training scheme implies a definite commitment to employed even when they are not actively seeking work (see para. 2.275).

2.264. In accordance with the priority rules of the labour force framework (para. 2.240), students, homemakers, pensioners, registered unemployed persons and others who were mainly engaged in non-economic activities during the reference period, but were at the same time in paid employment or self-employment as defined above should be considered employed on the same basis as other categories of employed persons.

2.265. All members of the armed forces should be included among persons in paid employment. The "armed forces" should include both regular and the temporary members as specified in the most recent revision of the *International Standard Classification of Occupations* (ISCO).

2.266. "Requital" workers (that is persons who work for friends, neighbours, etc. within a mutual exchange of work as part of an exchange of work but not money) should be considered as employed because the remuneration that they receive in exchange for their economic activity is the provision of labour input by someone else (barter of work).

2.267. Persons who provide community work (building bus shelters, village administration, etc) for pay in cash or kind should be considered as employed.

2.268. Volunteers (without any pay in cash or kind) who produce goods for any enterprise/institution/household or who produce services for a market enterprise should also be considered as employed. However, volunteers (without any pay in cash or kind) who produce services for another household or for non-profit organizations are not considered to be employed. They should be considered as unemployed or not economically active depending on their current availability for work and recent job search activity.

2.269. Similarly persons, including family members, who provide unpaid labour inputs to produce goods for any enterprise/institution/household or to produce services for a market enterprise should also be considered as employed. However, such persons who provide unpaid labour inputs to produce services for another household or for non-profit organizations are not considered to be employed (see paragraphs 2.293-2.295).

2.270. Information should be given in the census reports describing how the above-mentioned groups and other relevant groups (for example, retired persons) were treated. Consideration should also be given to the desirability of identifying some of the groups (for example, apprentices and trainees) separately in tabulations.

c. Unemployed population

2.271. The *unemployed* population comprises all persons above the minimum age specified for measurement of the economically active population who during the reference period were:

- (a) *Without work*, in other words, were not in paid employment or self employment, where work is as defined in paragraph 2.237 above;
- (b) *Currently available for work*, in other words, were available for paid employment or self employment during the reference period; and
- (c) Seeking work, in other words, had taken specific steps in a specified recent period to seek paid employment or self employment. (The specific steps may have included registration at a public or private employment exchange; application to employers; checking at worksites, farms, factory gates, markets or other places of assembly; placing or answering newspaper or other forms of public advertisements; seeking assistance of friends and relatives; looking for land, building, machinery or equipment to establish one's own enterprise; arranging for financial resources; applying for permits and licences, and so forth.) It would be useful to distinguish first-time job seekers, who have never worked before, from other job seekers in the classification of the unemployed. Such a separation would be useful for policy purposes as well as in improving international comparability of employment statistics. To do so however may require an additional question regarding previous work experience, which may be too much for a population census.

2.272. In general, to be classified as unemployed, a person must satisfy all three of the above criteria. However, in situations where the conventional means of seeking work are of limited relevance, where the labour market is largely unorganized or of limited scope, where labour absorption is, at the time, inadequate, or where the labour force is largely self-employed, the standard definition of unemployment may be applied by relaxing the criterion of seeking work. Such a relaxation is aimed primarily at those developing countries where the criterion does not capture the extent of unemployment in its totality. With this relaxation of the criterion of seeking work, which permits in extreme cases the criterion's complete suppression, the two basic criteria that remain applicable are "without work" and "currently available for work".

2.273. In the application of the criterion of current availability for work, especially in situations where the seeking-work criterion is relaxed, appropriate tests should be developed to suit national circumstances. These tests may be based on notions such as present desire for work, previous work experience, willingness to take up work for wage or salary on locally prevailing terms, and readiness to undertake self-employment activity, given the necessary resources and facilities. These criteria are expected to ensure objectivity in the expression of current availability.

i. Treatment of specific groups

2.274. As seen in paragraphs 2.253-2.258 above, in respect of *paid employment* or *self-employment*, some persons fall into borderline groups that require careful treatment to determine if their members are properly

included in the category of unemployment. The following paragraphs discuss the treatment recommended in respect of such groups.

2.275. Persons without work and currently available for work who had made arrangements to take up paid employment or undertake self employment activity at a date subsequent to the reference period should be considered unemployed, irrespective of whether or not they recently sought work.

2.276. Persons temporarily absent from their jobs, with no formal job attachment, who were currently available for work and were seeking work should be regarded as unemployed in accordance with the standard definition of unemployment. Countries may, however, depending on national circumstances and policies, prefer to relax the seeking-work criterion in the case of persons *temporarily laid off*. In such cases, persons temporarily laid off who were not seeking work but were classified as unemployed should be identified within a separate subcategory of unemployed persons.

2.277. In accordance with the priority rules of the labour force framework, persons mainly engaged in non economic activities during the reference period (e.g. *Students, homemakers*), who satisfy the criteria for unemployment laid down above in paragraph 2.271 should be regarded as unemployed on the same basis as other categories of unemployed persons and be identified separately, where possible.

Information should be given in the census reports on how persons in these and any other specific groups were treated.

d. Population not currently active(in other words, population not in the labour force)

2.278. The population *not currently active* or, equivalently, persons not in the *labour force*, comprises all persons who were neither *employed* nor *unemployed* during the short reference period used to measure current activity, including persons below the minimum age specified for measurement of the economically active population.

2.279. They may be classified, according to reason for not being *currently active*, in any of the following groups:

(a) Attending an educational institution: refers to persons not "currently active", who attended any regular educational institution, public or private, for systematic instruction at any level of education, or temporary absence from the institution for relevant reasons corresponding to those specified for persons temporarily not at work.⁷³

(b) Performing household duties: refers to persons, "not currently active", who engaged in household duties in their own home such as spouses and other relatives responsible for the care of the home, children and elderly people. (Domestic and personal services produced by domestic employees working for pay in somebody else's home are considered as economic activities in line with paragraph 2.237 above.)

(c) Retiring on pension or capital income: refers to persons, not "currently economically active", who receive income from property or investments, interests, rents, royalties or pensions from former economic activities.

(d) Other reasons: refers to all persons, not "currently economically active", who do not fall into any of the above categories (e.g. children not attending school, those receiving public aid or private support; persons with disability or impairment).

2.280. It is recommended that the population not in the labour force be classified at least according to the above mentioned reasons for current inactivity. Some not currently economically active persons may be classifiable to more than one of the above categories. In such situations, priority should be given to the

⁷³ See also paragraphs 2.209-2.210 on school attendance.

possible categories in the order above. Additional reasons for inactivity that are considered particularly important and included in the regional recommendations should also be taken into account in the classification of population not in the labour force. Information should be given in the census report on the minimum age for data on economic characteristics, the minimum school-leaving age and the typical age for the start of old-age retirement payments.

2.281. Countries adopting the standard definition of unemployment may identify persons not classified as unemployed who were available for work but not seeking work during the reference period and classify them separately under the population not currently active.

(iii) Usual activity status

2.282. Usual activity status is the usual relationship of a person to economic activity based on a long reference period such as a specified 12-month period.

2.283. A long reference period will provide information on the year as a whole, giving results that are much less dependent on the timing of the census date. Thus the census results will give data that are considered to represent a stable measure of the economically active population and its structural distribution for economic analysis, projections and development planning. Further, it provides an opportunity for collecting information needed not only on the principal activity of an individual but also on any secondary activity. It is also possible to obtain useful information on the intensity of activity over the year and relate it to household income for that period (if collected). The main drawback of the usual activity approach is that it is susceptible to recall errors. Another drawback is the problem of ascertaining the principal *occupation* and *industry* over a long period such as a year, unless an appropriate question or series of questions are introduced to identify a main job, which may be defined in terms of time worked or income earned. Resolving these complicates the construction of the census questionnaire. In countries where the economic activity of people varies widely over the year and where people are likely to be engaged in more than one type of economic activity during the year or to be seasonally unemployed, the "usual activity" concept is considered as appropriate. A specified twelve-month period should be used as the reference period.

a. Usually active population

2.284. An illustration of the usually active population is presented in Figure 5. Formal definitions, exceptions and clarifications of each of the elements represented by the boxes in this diagram are given in the following paragraphs.

2.285. The usually active population comprises all persons above a specified age whose main activity status, as determined in terms of the total number of weeks or days during a long specified period (such as the preceding 12 months or the preceding calendar year) was 'employed' and/or 'unemployed', as defined within the labour force (current activity) framework in paragraphs 2.253-2.277 above.

2.286. In applying the above definition of the usually active population, it is necessary to determine the "main activity status" of each person above the specified minimum age. For this purpose, the "main activity status" of a person is based on a summation of the variable activity statuses (active or inactive) of that person during the 52 weeks or the 365 days of the specified 12-month period. One procedure to determine the "main activity status" of a person is to classify the person as "usually active" if the number of weeks (or days) of active statuses (employed or unemployed) is greater than or equal to that of inactive statuses. This is referred to as the majority criterion. Another procedure is to classify a person as "usually active" if the number of agriculture/tourist season).⁷⁴

⁷⁴ R. Hussmanns, F. Mehran and V. Verma, Surveys of the Economically Active Population, Employment, Unemployment and Underemployment: An ILO Manual on Concepts and Methods (Geneva, International Labour Office, 1990), p. 51.

Figure 5: Usually Active Population**



As defined for current activity

** Adapted from Hussmans et al. 1990, p. 52

2.287. The main activity status could be substantially different depending on whether it is based on weeks or days as the unit of measurement. In countries where employment is mostly of a regular and continuing nature and hence a week of employment generally means a week of full time employment or, at any rate, employment for a major part of the working time, it is recommended to base the main activity status on weeks of employment or unemployment. However, in countries where employment is largely of an irregular nature and where a week of employment does not generally mean a week of full time employment for a major part of the working time, main activity status would better be based on days of employment or unemployment.

2.288. The usually active population may be subdivided into usually employed and usually unemployed in accordance with the situation that prevailed most of the time. That is, usually active persons should be classified as usually employed if the number of weeks (or days) of employment is larger than or equal to the number of weeks (or days) of unemployed if the number of weeks (or days) of unemployed if the number of weeks (or days) of unemployed if the number of weeks (or days) of unemployed is limited only to persons already determined to be usually active. Doing it the other way round, that is using the direct classification of all persons as usually employed or as usually unemployed in order to determine the usually active population, could lead to a different population group being classified as economically active than that derivable from the above definition. It is therefore recommended to construct the questionnaire in a way that makes it possible first to distinguish between usually active and usually inactive persons, before making the distinction between usually unemployed persons among the usually active persons.

2.289. It is also worth noting that the usual activity status during a long reference period is not the same concept as the main activity during this period when comparing between inactive, active employed and active unemployed. A person who spent 20 weeks inactive, 18 weeks unemployed and 14 weeks employed during the last year would be classified as active by usual activity status, for which the period of employment and the period of unemployed exceeds the number of weeks employed. However "inactivity" was the person's main activity as this occupied the largest spell amongst the three activities during the last year.

b. The population not usually active

2.290. The "population not usually active" comprises all persons, irrespective of age and of sex, whose main activity status during the long reference period used to measure usual activity was neither employed nor unemployed. It is recommended that this population be classified into the following four groups:

- (a) Students: persons not classified as usually economically active, who attended any regular educational institution, public or private, for systematic instruction at any level of education;
- (b) Homemakers: persons not classified as usually economically active, who were engaged in household duties in their own home, for example, spouses and other relatives responsible for the care of the home, children and the elderly (domestic employees, working for pay, however, are classified as economically active);
- (c) Pension or capital income recipients: persons not classified as usually economically active, who receive income from property or investments, interests, rents, royalties or pensions from former economic activities;
- (d) Others: persons not classified as usually economically active, who are receiving public aid or private support, and all other persons not falling into any of the above categories (e.g. children not attending school).

Where considered useful, separate subcategories may be introduced to identify (a) persons engaged in unpaid community and volunteer services and (b) other persons engaged in activities that fall outside the boundary of economic activities.

2.291. Since some individuals may be classifiable in more than one category of the not economically active population (for example, a person may be a student and a homemaker at the same time), the instructions for enumeration or self-completion should indicate the order of preference for recording persons in one or another of the categories. Consideration might also be given to presenting the categories in the census questionnaire in the preferred order because persons tend to answer according to the first category that applies to them.

2.292. It is recommended that the census questionnaire be designed in such a way as to indicate for each person enumerated the total length of time in days, weeks or months over the long reference period that the person was engaged in economic activity (employed and/or unemployed) or in one of the four groups in paragraph 2.290.

(iv) Status of volunteers and other providers of non-paid social and personal services

2.293. Countries may wish to identify separately the persons who provide social and personal services to their own household, other households or to voluntary, non-profit organizations on an unpaid basis, either for a short reference period or for a longer one. Such persons may be sub-divided either according to types of services provided or according to type of recipient.

2.294. Unpaid services are a significant area of human activity. Information about unpaid services helps in understanding how individuals and families balance their paid work with other important aspects of their lives, such as family and community commitments. The information is important in measuring the characteristics of groups with special needs such as the elderly, children and people with disabilities. Areas covered may include unpaid domestic activities, unpaid care, unpaid care of children and unpaid voluntary work. Time use surveys are the key source of data on people's use of time, including activities such as unpaid work. However, being sample-based, information is not usually available at a small area level.

2.295. It should be noted that the provision of non-paid services to other households and to voluntary, non-profit organizations is outside the production boundary as defined by the national accounts, and thus not considered as an economic activity. Such persons should be classified as unemployed or not economically active, depending upon their current availability for work and recent job-search activity. If classified as inactive, then separate subcategories of the inactive may be introduced to identify them, where considered useful.

(d) Selection of "job" to be classified by descriptive variables

2.296. The descriptive variables "occupation", "industry", "status in employment" and "sector" should apply to either current or usual activity, depending on the choice of the main concept for the measurement of economic activity in the census. Individuals can be classified according to these variables only through their relationship with a job. This means that they must have been identified as being either employed or unemployed through the questions on economic activity. Whether economically active according to the *current activity (labour force)* concept or the usual activity concept, a person may have had more than one job during the reference period. For employed persons it is therefore recommended to first establish the "main" job held during the reference period and then, possibly the second job or (if more than two jobs) the second most important job and so on. It is recommended that each country should use the same criterion when ranking all jobs held in the reference periods. The criterion might be either on the basis of the hours usually worked (the preferred option) or on the basis of the highest income in cash and kind. Hence, using the first criterion, the "main" job would be the job at which the person usually worked most of the time among all the jobs held during the reference period, the second (most important) job should be the job at which the person usually worked most of the time among any other jobs held during the same period and so on. When ranking jobs held during the reference period, it is important to consider also jobs from which the person is temporarily absent during the reference period.

2.297. An "unemployed" person should be classified by "occupation", "industry", "status in employment" and "sector" on the basis of the last job, which he/she had. The collection of data on characteristics of the last job (if any) of the unemployed is particularly important for users to have information on the characteristics of the unemployed in order to identify the specific areas of the economy or particular skills and occupations of unemployed people. The collection of these data is also relevant to countries applying ILO Convention No 160 which requires the preparation of statistics on the structure and distribution of the economically active population (that is, the employed and the unemployed) that are representative of the country as a whole.

2.298. However, such data are of only limited relevance in respect of unemployed people who change jobs frequently or for the unemployed who last worked a long time ago. For the first group, it may be better to ask the characteristics of the type of job in which the person most frequently worked and for the second group, it might be better to set a time limit for past work experience (e.g., during the last 10 years) and only seek information on the characteristics of the last job if it was held within the time limit.

2.299. It is important to design the census questionnaire or the census information taken from registers in a way, that will ensure that the variables "occupation", "industry", "status in employment" and "sector" are measured for the same job. This should be a central concern also for countries, which rely on the use of administrative registrations for the capturing of the correct values of these variables.

2.300. Countries may want to describe in greater detail the type of secondary work carried out by respondents engaged in more than one job during the reference period, in particular if those countries wish to be able to describe the extent and structure of employment in the informal sector. In this case, the questionnaire should allow for the identification of a second, and perhaps even a third job for which information about occupation, industry, status in employment, sector and time worked can be collected and coded. The resources that would be required for collecting and processing this additional information should be taken into account.

(e) Occupation (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 2.4-A, 7.2-A, 7.6-A, 7.7-A

2.301. Occupation refers to the type of work done in a job by the person employed (or the type of work done previously, if the person is unemployed), irrespective of the industry or the status in employment in which the person should be classified. Type of work is described by the main tasks and duties of the work.

2.302. For purposes of international comparisons, it is recommended that countries make it possible to prepare tabulations involving occupations in accordance with the latest revision available of the *International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO)*. At the time the present set of census recommendations was approved, an update to ISCO was in progress and was expected to be released in 2008. Hence, the latest revision available at this time (2006) was the one that was developed by the Fourteenth International Conference of Labour Statisticians (ICLS) in 1987 and adopted by the Governing Body of the International Labour Organization (ILO) in 1988.⁷⁵

2.303. Countries should code the collected occupational response at the lowest possible level supported by the information given. In order to facilitate detailed and accurate coding, it would be useful for the questionnaire to ask each active person for both the occupational title and a brief description of the main tasks and duties performed on the job.

2.304. In preparation for the coding of the occupation responses, the organization responsible for the census should prepare a *coding index* reflecting the type of responses that will be given by the respondents.⁷⁶ The coding index should be constructed by occupational classification experts on the basis of responses to similar questions in other data collections, such as previous censuses, census tests and labour-force surveys, as well as input from job placement officers of the employment service and the content of newspaper advertisements of vacant jobs. The coding index should clearly distinguish between responses belonging to "not elsewhere classified" categories and responses that do not provide enough information to determine an occupational group.

2.305. Countries coding *occupation* according to a national standard classification should establish a correspondence with ISCO either through double coding or through *mapping* from the detailed groups of the national classification to ISCO. Double coding can be achieved most easily when the coding index carries references both to the national classification and to ISCO, in which case coding should take the form of entering the

⁷⁵ International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-88) (Geneva, International Labour Office, 1990).

⁷⁶ 'The development and use of coding indexes', Ch. XII, UNSD/ILO, UN Technical Guide on collection of economic characteristics in population censuses, New York & Geneva, 2002

line number of the selected index entry on the record for each response. Mapping means that, for each detailed group in the national classification, it is indicated to which ISCO group the (majority of) jobs in that national occupational group would be coded if coded directly to ISCO.

(f) Industry (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 7.3-A, 7.5-A, 7.7-A

2.306. Industry (branch of economic activity) refers to the kind of production or activity of the establishment or similar unit in which the job(s) of the economically active person (whether employed or unemployed) was located during the time-reference period established for data on economic characteristics.⁷⁷

2.307. For purposes of international comparisons, it is recommended that countries make it possible to prepare tabulations involving the industrial characteristics of economically active persons according to the most recent revision of the International Standard Industrial Classification of All Economic Activities (ISIC) available at the time of the census. At the time the present set of census recommendations was approved, the fourth edition of ISIC, adopted by the *United Nations Statistical Commission* at its thirty-seventh session in 2006, was the latest revision available.

2.308. Countries should code the collected industry response at the lowest possible level supported by the information given. In order to facilitate detailed and accurate coding, the questionnaire should ask each active person the main products and services produced or the main functions carried out at the establishment or enterprise in which their job(s) was located. It is recommended that for those who work in fixed places the name and address of this place of work be collected. Countries with business registers that are complete and up-to-date can then use this response as a link to the register in order to obtain the industry code given there to the establishment. In preparation for the coding of the industry responses that cannot be matched to a precoded register the organization responsible for the census should create a *coding index* that reflects the type of responses that will be given on the census questionnaire.⁷⁸ This coding index should be constructed by industry classification experts on the basis of available lists of enterprises, establishments, businesses, and so forth, as well as from responses to similar questions in other data collections, including previous censuses, census tests and labour-force surveys. The coding index should clearly distinguish between responses belonging to "not elsewhere classified" categories and responses that do not provide enough information to allow for the coding of a detailed industry group.

2.309. Countries coding *industry* according to a national standard classification should establish correspondence with ISIC either through double coding or through *mapping* from the detailed groups of the national classification to ISIC (see paragraph 2.305 for information about these techniques).

(g) Status in employment (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 7.4-A, 7.5-A, 7.6-A

2.310. Status in employment refers to the type of explicit or implicit contract of employment with other persons or organizations that the economically active person has in his/her job. The basic criteria used to define the groups of the classification are the type of economic risk, an element of which is the strength of the attachment between the person and the job, and the type of authority over establishments and other workers that the person has or will have in the job. Care should be taken to ensure that an economically active person is classified by status in employment on the basis of the same job(s) as used for classifying the person by "occupation", "industry" and "sector".

⁷⁷ For those persons who are recruited and employed by one enterprise but who actually work at the place of work of another enterprise (called "agency workers" or "seconded workers" in some countries), there would be user interest in gathering information about the industry of the employer as well as the industry of the place of work. However the collection of both would be more appropriate in a labour force survey rather than in a population census. The industry of the actual place of work may provide more reliable reporting of the "industry" variable in a population census. Any such choice should however be consistent with the treatment of this group in the SNA.
⁷⁸ Ibid

2.311. It is recommended that the economically active population be classified by status in employment as follows: 79

- (a) *Employees*, among whom it may be possible to distinguish between employees with stable contracts (including regular employees) and other employees;
- (b) *Employers*;
- (c) Own-account workers;
- (d) Contributing family workers;
- (e) Members of producers' co-operatives;
- (f) *Persons not classifiable by status.*

It is also recommended to identify separately owner-managers of incorporated enterprises, who normally will be classified among employees, but whom one may prefer to group together with employers for certain descriptive and analytical purposes.

2.312. An *employee* is a person who works in a *paid employment* job, that is to say, a job where the explicit or implicit contract of employment gives the incumbent a basic remuneration that is independent of the revenue of the unit for which he or she works (this unit can be a corporation, a non-profit institution, a government unit or a household). Persons in *paid employment* jobs are typically remunerated by wages and salaries, but may be paid by commission from sales, or through piece-rates, bonuses or in-kind payment such as food, housing or training. Some or all of the tools, capital equipment, information systems and/or premises used by the incumbent may be owned by others, and the incumbent may work under the direct supervision of, or according to strict guidelines set by, the owner(s) or persons in the owner's employment. Employees with stable contracts are those employees who have had, and who continue to have a contract, or a succession of contracts, with the same employer on a continuous basis. Regular employees are those employees with stable contracts for whom the employing organization is responsible for payment of relevant taxes and social security contributions and/or where the contractual relationship is subject to national labour legislation. Owner-managers of incorporated enterprises are workers who hold a job in an incorporated enterprise in which they (a) alone, or together with other members of their families or one or a few partners, hold controlling ownership of the enterprise; and (b) have the authority to act on its behalf as regards contracts with other organizations and the hiring and dismissal of employees, subject only to national legislation regulating such matters and the rules established by the board of the enterprise.

2.313. A self-employment job is a job where the remuneration is directly dependent upon the profits (or the potential for profits) derived from the goods and services produced (where own consumption is considered to be part of the profits).

2.314. An *employer* is a person who, working on his or her own economic account or with one or a few partners, holds a *self-employment* job and, in this capacity, has engaged on a continuous basis (including the reference period) one or more persons to work for him/her as employees. The incumbent makes the operational decisions affecting the enterprise, or delegates such decisions while retaining responsibility for the welfare of the enterprise. In this context an *enterprise* includes one-person operations. Some countries may wish to distinguish among employers according to the number of persons they employ.

2.315. An *own-account worker* is a person who, working on his own account or with one or a few partners, holds a *self-employment job*, and has not engaged on a continuous basis any employees. (Note, however, that during the reference period an own-account worker may have engaged one or more employees on a short-term and non-

⁷⁹ For further details see resolution concerning the International Classification of Status in Employment (ICSE) in International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000. Also in http://www.ilo.org/stat.

continuous basis without being thereby classifiable as an employer). Members of families belonging to a producers' cooperative whose only activity is the cultivation of privately owned ancillary plots or the care of privately owned livestock should be included in this category rather than "contributing family workers". It is recommended that countries, where the number of persons exclusively engaged in the own-account production of goods for own final use by their households is significant, should identify such persons separately among own-account workers.

2.316. A *contributing family worker* is a person who holds a self-employment job in a market-oriented establishment operated by a related person living in the same household, and who cannot be regarded as a partner (i.e. an employer or own-account worker) because the degree of his or her commitment to the operation of the establishment, in terms of working time or other factors to be determined by national circumstances, is not at a level comparable with that of the head of the establishment. Where it is customary for young persons, in particular, to work without pay in an economic enterprise operated by a related person who does not live in the same household, the requirement that the person lives in the same household may be relaxed.

2.317. A *member of a producers' cooperative* is a person who holds a self-employment job in an establishment organized as a cooperative, in which each member takes part on an equal footing with other members in determining the organization of production, sales and/or other work, investments and the distribution of proceeds among the members. Note that employees of producers' cooperatives are not to be classified to this group but should be classified as "employees". Members of informal cooperatives should be classified as "employees" or "own-account workers", depending on whether or not they employ any employees on a continuous basis.

2.318. *Persons not classifiable by status* include those economically active persons for whom insufficient information is available, and/or who cannot be included in any of the preceding categories (e.g., unpaid worker assisting a family member in the completion of a paid employment job).

2.319. Countries that include members of the armed forces in the economically active population should show them in the category of employees. However, because of the wide range of national practices in the treatment of the armed forces, it is recommended that census tabulations and related notes provide an explicit indication of the *status-in-employment* category in which they are included.

2.320. There are several groups of workers that are on the margin between employee and self-employed such as owner-managers of incorporated enterprises, outworkers, contract workers and commission workers.⁸⁰ Consultations between national accountants and labour market analysts will be necessary to make decisions about the treatment of these groups in a consistent manner.

2.321. In most census questionnaires, the information concerning status in employment will be captured through precoded alternatives where only a few words can be used to convey the intended meaning of each category. This may mean that classification of some of the situations on the borderline between two or more categories will be carried out according to the subjective understanding of the respondent rather than according to the intended distinctions. This should be kept in mind when presenting the resulting statistics. Countries which rely on the direct use of administrative records for the classification of persons according to "status in employment" may find that the group "contributing family workers" cannot be separately identified. Those who would have been classified to this group when using a questionnaire may either be excluded from the "economically active population" or be classified to one of the other groups.

(h) Time worked

2.322. The number of employed persons provides only a very rough estimate of the volume of work performed, especially when such persons have non-standard working hours. Inclusion in the census of an item on *time worked* helps to ensure a more accurate measurement of the concept by capturing the full contribution of persons who were in and out of the workforce or who worked only for a brief time during the year (for example, women). This item is

⁸⁰ For a discussion of the treatment of these groups, see the resolution concerning the International Classification of Status in Employment, para. 14, International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000 & <u>http://www.ilo.org/stat</u>.

also particularly useful for countries concerned with the usefulness for some users of the one-hour criterion in the definition of employment when measuring current activity. Alternative lower limits for the definition of employment can then be applied when tabulating census results for such users. When employing the usual activity approach, information on time worked may be used to screen persons who did not have an at least minimum threshold of economic activity during the long reference period.

2.323. *Time worked* is the total time actually spent producing goods and services, within regular working hours and as overtime, during the reference period adopted for economic activity in the census⁸¹. It is recommended that if the reference period is short, for example, the week preceding the census, time worked should be measured in hours. In this case, time worked may be measured by requesting separate information for each day of the week. If the reference period is long, for example, the 12 months preceding the census, time worked should be measured in units of weeks, or in days where feasible, or in terms of larger time intervals. Time worked should also include time spent in activities that, while not leading directly to produced goods or services, are still defined as part of the tasks and duties of the job, such as preparing, repairing or maintaining the workplace or work instruments. In practice, it will also include inactive time spent in the course of performing these activities, such as time spent waiting or standing by, and in other short breaks. Longer meal breaks and time spent not working because of vacation, holidays, sickness or industrial disputes should be excluded.

2.324. It is recommended that, for persons who have had more than one job during the reference period, the questionnaire should ensure the recording both of *total time worked* (sum of *time worked* on all jobs) as well as time worked in the main job for which *occupation* and so forth is being registered.

2.325. The concept of time worked defined in the above paragraphs is that of "actual time worked" during the reference period. Thus for current activity with a short reference period, it is possible that the value of time worked could be zero, for example for persons on vacation during the reference period, or reduced if any part of the reference period is taken off sick or on holidays. Another time worked measure that could be used is that of "time usually worked", defined as the time worked during a normal or typical week (or day) including overtime hours regularly worked, whether paid or unpaid. Days and hours not usually worked and unusual periods of overtime are excluded.

(i) Time-related underemployment

2.326. When data are collected on time *actually* worked, it is possible to consider the measurement of timerelated underemployment. The *Resolution concerning the measurement of underemployment and inadequate employment situations*, adopted by the Sixteenth International Conference of Labour Statisticians (October 1998)⁸² states that: "Time-related underemployment exists when the hours of work of an employed person are insufficient in relation to an alternative employment situation in which the person is willing and available to engage."

2.327. Time-related underemployment would be more appropriately measured by a labour force survey. However, for those countries without a labour force survey programme, it may be useful to include time-related underemployment as a population census topic.

2.328. Persons in time-related underemployment comprise all persons in employment, as defined in paragraphs 2.253-2.270 above, who satisfy the following three criteria during the reference period used to define employment:

(a) *"Willing to work additional hours"*, i.e. wanted another job (or jobs) in addition to their current job (or jobs) to increase their total hours of work; to replace any of their current jobs with another job (or

⁸¹ A detailed definition of hours actually worked is given in the Resolution concerning statistics of hours of work, adopted by the 10th International Conference of Labour Statisticians, October 1962; International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000 & <u>http://www.ilo.org/stat</u>. This definition may be revised by the resolution on working time that will be considered by the 18th International Conference of Labour Statisticians in 2008.

⁸² International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000 & <u>http://www.ilo.org/stat</u>.

jobs) with increased hours of work; to increase the hours of work in any of their current jobs; or a combination of the above. In order to show how "willingness to work additional hours" is expressed in terms of action, which is meaningful under national circumstances, those who have actively sought to work additional hours should be distinguished from those who have not. Actively seeking to work additional hours is to be defined according to the criteria used in the definition of job search used for the measurement of the economically active population, also taking into account activities needed to increase the hours of work in the current job.

- (b) "Available to work additional hours", i.e. are ready, within a specified subsequent period, to work additional hours, given opportunities for additional work. The subsequent period to be specified when determining workers' availability to work additional hours should be chosen in light of national circumstances and comprise the period generally required for workers to leave one job in order to start another.
- (c) "Worked less than a threshold relating to working time", i.e. persons whose "hours actually worked" in all jobs during the reference period, as defined in paragraph 2.322-2.323 above, were below a threshold, to be chosen according to national circumstances. This threshold may be determined by e.g. the boundary between full-time and part-time employment, median values, averages, or norms for hours of work as specified in relevant legislation, collective agreements, and agreements on working time arrangements or labour practices in countries.

2.329. Among time-related underemployed persons, countries may want to identify separately the following two groups:

- (a) Persons who usually work part-time schedules and want to work additional hours;
- (b) Persons who during the reference period worked less than their normal hours of work and wanted to work additional hours.

(j) Income

2.330. Countries may wish to collect information on the amounts of income received by individual persons and/or households. If this topic is included in the census, it is recommended that data be obtained from all persons above a specified age, whether they are economically active or not. Income should be measured both for the individual and for the household of which he/she is a member.

2.331. Income may be defined as: (a) income, in cash or kind, received by each household member, and (b) total household income in cash and in kind from all sources. The preferred reference period for income data should be the preceding twelve months or past year. The income could be classified as income from: paid employment; self-employment; property and other investment; transfers from governments, other households and non-profit institutions.

2.332. Collection of reliable data on income, especially income from self employment and property income, is extremely difficult in general field inquiries, particularly population censuses. The inclusion of non cash income further compounds the difficulties. Collection of income data in a population census, even when confined to cash income, presents special problems in terms of burden of work, response errors, and so forth. Therefore, this topic is generally considered more suitable in a sample survey of households. Depending on the national requirements, countries may nonetheless wish to obtain limited information on cash income. As thus defined, the information collected can provide some input into statistics that have many important uses.

2.333. The income from employment of economically active persons should include wages and salaries of employees, income of members from producers' cooperatives and the entrepreneurial income of employers and own account workers operating business and unincorporated enterprises. The wider concept of employment-related

income includes in addition some transfer income from government and employers that are based on the current or past employment situation of the person.⁸³

2.334. In addition to the income from employment of its economically active members, the total income of the household should include, for example, the interest, dividends, rent, social security benefits, pensions and life insurance annuity benefits of all its members. The concepts involved in determining income are not simple to grasp and respondents may be unable or unwilling to provide exact information.⁸⁴ For example, income should include social security, pension fund contributions and direct taxes withheld from employees' salaries, but some persons will undoubtedly not include these amounts in reporting their salaries. Significant items of total household income may also be excluded or misstated. Despite instructions given to enumerators, the data collected can therefore be expected to be approximate. Accordingly, in the presentation of results it is usually appropriate to use broad income or earnings size-classes. As an aid to the interpretation of the results, tabulations of the data should be accompanied by a description of the items of income assumed to be included and, if possible, an estimate of the accuracy of the figures.

(k) Institutional sector of employment

2.335. The *Institutional sector of employment*⁸⁵ relates to the legal organization and principal functions, behaviour and objectives of the enterprise with which a job is associated. Following the definitions provided in the System of National Accounts (SNA) it is recommended, if the census is to provide information on this topic, that the following institutional sectors be distinguished:

- (a) Corporation, comprising non-financial and financial corporations (in other words incorporated enterprises, private and public companies, joint-stock companies, limited liability companies, registered cooperatives, limited liability partnerships, and so forth) and quasi-corporations (i.e. an unincorporated enterprise that is managed as if it were a corporation, in that a complete set of accounts is kept), as well as non-profit institutions, such as hospitals, schools and colleges, that charge fees to cover their current production costs;
- (b) General government, comprising central, state and local government units together with social security funds imposed or controlled by those units, and non-profit institutions engaged in non-market production controlled and financed by government, or by social security funds;
- (c) Non-profit institutions serving households (for example, churches, professional societies, sports and cultural clubs, charitable institutions, aid agencies) that provide non-market goods and services for households (i.e. free or at prices that are not economically significant) and whose main resources are from voluntary contributions;
- (d) Households (including unincorporated enterprises owned by households) comprising unincorporated enterprises directly owned and controlled by members of private and institutional households (made up of persons staying in hospitals, retirement homes, convents, prisons and so forth, for long periods of time), either individually or in partnership with others. Partners may be members of the same household or from different households.

2.336. In most census questionnaires, the information concerning *institutional sector of employment* will be captured through precoded alternatives where only a few words can be used to convey the intended meaning of each category. This may mean that classification of some units on the borderline between two or more categories will be

⁸³ Resolution on employment-related income, in International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000

⁸⁴ Resolution on household income and expenditure statistics, paras. 4-23, Report of the International Conference of Labour Statisticians, ILO, 2003, http://www.ilo.org/stat

⁸⁵ See UNSD/ILO, UN Technical Guide on collection of economic characteristics in population censuses, New York & Geneva, 2002

carried out according to the subjective understanding of the respondent rather than according to the intended distinctions. This should be kept in mind when presenting the resulting statistics.

(l) Employment in the informal sector

2.337. Where informal sector activities play an important role in employment creation and income generation, some countries may wish to consider collecting information on the number and characteristics of persons employed in the informal sector. However, given the complexity of the definition of the informal sector (it includes criteria such as the legal organization of the units as unincorporated enterprises, the lack of a complete set of accounts for them, the composition of their workforce, and so forth), it may be difficult to precisely apply some of its criteria in a population census.

2.338. In brief, according to the ILO recommendation adopted by the International Conference of Labour Statisticians in 1993, concerning statistics of employment in the informal sector⁸⁶, informal enterprises with regular employees (enterprises of informal employers) can be determined based on the small number of such employees, which should be determined according to national circumstances⁸⁷, or on the non-registration of the enterprise under relevant forms of national legislation or on the non-registration of its employees, defined in accordance with the definition of regular employees in paragraph 2.312 above. Informal enterprises without regular employees (informal own-account enterprises) can be identified, depending on national circumstances, as either all own-account enterprises, or only those that are not registered under relevant forms of national legislation.

2.339. The population employed in the *informal sector* comprises all persons who, during a given reference period, were employed (in the sense of para. 2.253 above) in at least one informal sector unit as defined in paragraphs 2.337-2.338 above, irrespective of their status in employment and whether it was their main or a secondary job.

2.340. Surveys are in fact the most ideal method for collecting data on employment in the informal sector. However, countries still wishing to collect this information through their population census are encouraged to consult the UN Technical Report on the Collection of Economic Characteristics in Population Censuses where additional useful advice is given.

2.341. It should be possible for many countries to derive from the census reasonably good estimates of the population employed in the informal sector by using information collected on the following topics: activity status, institutional sector of employment, occupation, status in employment and industry (and number of employees employed on a continuous basis or, alternatively, total number of employees or total number of persons including the enterprise owner(s) and contributing family workers employed in the enterprise during the reference period (this topic is not covered in these recommendations)).

(m) Informal employment

2.342. The 17th International Conference of Labour Statistics, in November 2003, considered the related concept of informal employment⁸⁸ and established a set of *Guidelines concerning a statistical definition of informal employment*. Under these Guidelines, informal employment comprises all informal jobs as defined below, whether carried out in formal sector enterprises, informal sector enterprises, or households, during a given reference period.

2.343. Informal employment includes the following types of jobs:

- (a) Own-account workers employed in their own informal sector enterprises;
- (b) Employers employed in their own informal sector enterprises;

⁸⁶ Resolution on informal sector in International Labour Office, *Current International Recommendations on Labour Statistics*, Geneva, 2000.

⁸⁷ The Delhi City Group on informal sector statistics recommends that for international reporting, a limit of "less than 5" should be used as the size cut-off. (http://mospi.nic.in/report_3.htm)

⁸⁸ See http://www.ilo.org/public/english/bureau/stat/download/guidelines/defempl.pdf

- (c) Contributing family workers, irrespective of whether they work in formal or informal sector enterprises;
- (d) Members of informal producers' cooperatives (Producers' cooperatives are considered informal if they are not formally established as legal entities and also meet the other criteria of informal sector enterprises specified in the Resolution concerning statistics of employment in the informal sector adopted by the 15th ICLS.);
- (e) Employees holding informal jobs⁸⁹ (that is jobs in which their employment relationship is, in law or in practice, not subject to national labour legislation, income taxation, social protection or entitlement to certain employment benefits such as advance notice of dismissal, severance pay, paid annual or sick leave, etc) in formal sector enterprises, informal sector enterprises, or as paid domestic workers employed by households;
- (f) Own-account workers engaged in the production of goods exclusively for own final use by their household, if considered employed as defined in para. 2.253.

2.344. Countries that exclude agricultural activities from the scope of their informal sector statistics should develop suitable definitions of informal jobs in agriculture, especially with respect to jobs held by own-account workers, employers and members of producers' cooperatives.

2.345. It should be noted that the informal employment concept is complex and therefore accurate data on it can only be collected through household surveys.

(n) Place of work

2.346. *Place of work* is the location in which a currently employed person performed his or her main job, and where a usually employed person performed the main job used to determine his/her other economic characteristics such as occupation, industry, and status in employment (see paras. 2.301-2.321). Type of place of work refers to the nature of the workplace and distinguishes between the home and other workplaces whether fixed or otherwise.

2.347. The following response categories, or a variation thereof necessitated by national circumstances, are recommended for classifying type of place of work:

- (a) Work at home: This category includes those whose economic activities are conducted from within the home such as farmers who work and live on their farms, homeworkers, self-employed persons operating (work)shops or offices inside their own homes, persons working and living at work camps;
- (b) No fixed place of work: this category should be restricted to persons whose work involves travel in different areas and who do not report daily in person to a fixed address, for example, travelling salesmen, taxi drivers and long-distance lorry drivers. It also includes ambulant vendors, operators of street or market stalls which are removed at the end of the workday, construction workers working at different sites during the reference period and push-cart operators, etc.
- (c) With a fixed place of work outside the home: this category will include the remaining employed population. To this group should also be classified persons who do not have a fixed place of work but who report to a fixed address at the beginning of their work period (for example, bus drivers, airline pilots and stewards), as well as operators of street or market stalls which are not removed at the end of the work day. This group may also include individuals who travel to work, on a regular basis, across the border to a neighbouring country. Persons working at changing sites, for

⁸⁹ The operational criteria for defining informal jobs of employees are to be determined in accordance with national circumstances and data availability.

example, in construction, should give the location of their current worksite rather than the address of their employer's place of business, if appearance at this site will be required for at least one week.

2.348. Selection of the last response category in paragraph 2.347should lead to a request for the precise location (e.g. street address and locality) of the place of work or the reporting place during the reference period. Coordination with the name (and address if given) of the enterprise or establishment collected for the "industry" variable is recommended. To devise an appropriate coding procedure for places of work abroad to which respondents travel regularly, it is recommended to use geographic reference files from the neighbouring countries. While information on the geographic location of the place of work can be used to develop area profiles in terms of the employed labour force (as opposed to demographic profiles by place of residence), the primary objective is to link the place of work information to the place of residence. Therefore, the geographic location of the place of work should be coded to the smallest civil division in which the economic activity is performed in order to establish accurate commuter flows from the place of usual residence to the place of work.

2.349. It is likely that for some activities or jobs, performance is at more than one location (for example, at home some of the time/season and in a fixed location outside the home at other times) or category cannot be clearly distinguished. One approach, in the case of the former, would be to select the place where the individual spends/spent a major part of his or her working time. Where the distinction between categories is blurred, as is the case for work done, for example, on a rented plot of land adjacent to one's home, it would be useful to identify borderline cases, according to national circumstances. Specific instructions should be given to the enumerators on how to select between two or three possible responses or to classify borderline cases.

8. Disability characteristics

2.350. A census can provide valuable information on disability and human functioning in a country. For countries that do not have regular special population-based disability surveys or disability modules in on-going surveys, the census can be the only source of information on the frequency and distribution of disability and functioning in the population at national, regional and local levels. Countries that have a registration system providing regular data on persons with the most severe types of impairments may use the census to complement these data with information related to selected aspects of the broader concept of disability and functioning based on the International Classification of Functioning Disability and Health (ICF) as described below. Census data can be utilized for general planning programs and services (prevention and rehabilitation), monitoring selected aspects of disability trends in the country, evaluation of national programs and services concerning the equalization of opportunities, and for international comparison of selected aspects of disability prevalence in countries.

(a) Disability status (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: 8.1-A, 8.2-A, 8.3-A

2.351. Disability status characterises the population into those with and without a disability. The ICF defines disability as "an umbrella term for impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions. It denotes the negative aspects of the interaction between an individual (with a health condition) and that individual's contextual factors (environmental and personal factors)." For the purpose of determining disability status using Census data, persons with disabilities are defined as those persons who are at greater risk than the general population for experiencing restrictions in performing specific tasks or participating in role activities. This group would include persons who experience limitations in basic activity functioning, such as walking or hearing, even if such limitations were ameliorated by the use of assistive devices, a supportive environment or plentiful resources. Such persons may not experience limitations in the specifically measured tasks, such as bathing or dressing, or participation activities, such as working or going to church, because the necessary adaptations have been made at the person or environmental levels. These persons would still, however, be considered to be at greater risk for restrictions in activity functioning and because the absence of the current level of accommodation would jeopardise their current levels of participation.

2.352. It is recommended that the following 4 domains be considered essential in determining disability status in a way that can be reasonably measured using a census and that would be appropriate for international comparison:

- (a) Walking;
- (b) Seeing;
- (c) Hearing; and
- (d) Cognition.

A comprehensive measure would include all domains (see para. 2.367). Two other domains, self care and communication, have been identified for inclusion, if possible. Another domain that should be considered for inclusion is upper body functioning.

(b) Disability framework and terminology

2.353. In 2001 the World Health Organization (WHO) issued the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF)⁹⁰ which is the successor of the International Classification of Impairments, Disabilities and Handicaps issued in 1980 (ICIDH).⁹¹ The ICF is a classification system offering a conceptual framework with terminology and definitions of the terms, and classifications of the components comprising associated with disability including both participation and environmental factors.

2.354. The ICF distinguishes multiple dimensions that can be used to monitor the situation of individuals with disability. The system is divided into two parts each with two components;

- (1.0) Functioning and disability, which include the components:
- (1.1) Body functions and body structures (impairments); and
- (1.2) Activities (limitations) and participation (restrictions).
- (2.0) Contextual factors which include the components:
- (2.1) Environmental factors
- (2.2) Personal factors
- 2.355. The ICF provides classification schemes for all these elements except for personal factors.
- *(i)* Interactions between components of the ICF
- 2.356. The interactions between the parts and components are shown in figure 6 below.

⁹⁰ International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF), Geneva, World Health Organization, 2001.

⁹¹ International Classification of Impairments, Disabilities and Handicaps (ICIDH), Geneva, World Health Organization, 1980.



Figure 6: Interaction of disability concepts

2.357. The main structure of the classification is reported in Annex 1.

(ii) Use of the census to measure disability at the aggregate level

2.358. A census format offers only limited space and time for questions on any one topic such as disability. Since the ICF offers several dimensions for use to develop a census measure, it is best to focus on a few of those dimensions, leaving the remaining dimensions for use in more extensive household surveys. Short sets of disability questions, which can be included in censuses and extended sets to be recommended for inclusion in population-based surveys are being developed and tested.⁹² The aim of the recommended sets is to improve comparability of disability and functioning data across countries.

2.359. The World Programme of Action concerning Disabled Persons (WPA)⁹³ provides a valuable guide for conceptualizing the uses of data on disability. The three major goals of the World Programme of Action are equalization of opportunities, rehabilitation and prevention.

2.360. Three major classes of purposes for measuring disability in a census are:

- (a) To provide services, including the development of specific programs and policies for service provision and the evaluation of these programs and services. The provision of services at the population level includes, but is not limited to, addressing needs for housing, transportation, assistive technology, vocational or educational rehabilitation, and long-term care;
- (b) To monitor the level of functioning in the population. Monitoring levels of functioning includes estimating rates and analyzing trends. The level of functioning in the population is considered a primary health and social indicator, which characterizes the status of the population in a society;
- (c) To assess equalization of opportunities. The assessment of equalization of opportunity involves monitoring and evaluating outcomes of anti-discrimination laws and policies, and service and

⁹² The Washington Group on Disability Statistics, a UN City Group which focuses on proposing international measures of disability is developing these questions. See www.cdc.gov/nchs/citygroup.htm for updates on the questions.

⁹³ Programme of Action concerning Disabled Persons, United Nations, New York, 1983.

rehabilitation programs designed to improve and equalize the participation of persons with disabilities in all aspects of life.

2.361. The intent of these purposes for measurement is consistent with that of the WPA, which outlines major goals for policy formulation and program planning, internationally. The common goal is to promote the participation of persons with disabilities in all aspects of life by preventing the onset and consequences of impairments, promoting optimal levels of functioning, and equalizing opportunities for participation.

2.362. The assessment of equalization of opportunity is the purpose that can be best achieved in a census. It is this assessment that is in the focus of the topic of disability status.

2.363. The definition outlined in disability status (see para. 2.351) requires that disability be defined in terms of limitations in basic activity functioning, and not by performance of or participation in the organized activities (such as educational attendance or work participation) While assessment of equalization of opportunities might seem to require measurement of activities and participation, such an approach does not help to identify changes in the level of participation in the population in response to changes in opportunities. It only reflects the circumstances of those who because of unfriendly environments or lack of assistive devices are experiencing restrictions in participation. Approaching the assessment of equalization of opportunity by recognizing the link between a basic level of activity and subsequent participation can reduce some of the methodological problems.

2.364. Disentangling the conceptual dimensions of basic activity limitations from the more complex activities associated with participation provides the opportunity to determine the intervening mechanisms that facilitate or interfere with performance of tasks and organized activity. At the analysis stage, people who are identified with and without disabilities on the basis of their ability to perform basic activities can be compared in relation to their participation in organized activities (such as school and work). This comparison can assess the level of equalization of opportunities. The separation between activities and performance differentiates approaches for the purpose of monitoring functioning in the population and for the purpose of assessing equalization of opportunity. When assessing opportunity equalization, *the connection between the conceptual elements is made during analysis*, whereas for monitoring functioning the connection is done during data collection.

2.365. Within the framework of the ICF Model and its four major dimensions (body structure and function, activity, participation and environment), an activity-oriented set of questions, located at the simplest and most basic level, should be used to capture the basic activity elements required for comparison and analysis. This will also provide a good measure for analysis in conjunction with data on participation restrictions.

2.366. Given the sensitivity and the complexity of disability and functioning it is recommended that several activity domains be identified where people can be asked about their ability to perform in such domains rather than enquire about a general disability status.

(iii) Essential domains

2.367. The set of domains should capture the definition of disability that is being operationalized. It is suggested that only those domains that have satisfied a set of selection criteria be eligible for inclusion in a short set of questions recommended for use in censuses. Criteria for inclusion include cross-population or cross-cultural comparability, suitability for self-reporting and space on the census form. Other suggested criteria include the importance of the domain in terms of public health problems. Based on these criteria, four basic domains are considered to be essential domains. These include the areas of walking, seeing, hearing and cognition. If space permits, two other domains have been identified for inclusion, self-care and communication.

2.368. <u>Walking</u> fulfils the criteria of cross-cultural applicability and space requirements for comparable data since walking is a good indicator of a central physical function and is a major cause of limitation in participation. It is also a basic area of activity functioning that can be self-reported.

2.369. While <u>seeing</u> also represents a public health problem, self-reporting of seeing limitation is more problematic, particularly when individuals use glasses to correct visual impairments. Similar difficulties are associated with asking about <u>hearing</u> activity. The most direct way to deal with assistive devices like glasses and

hearing aids without contributing to confusion over answering such questions is to ask the questions about difficulty hearing or seeing without any devices or assistance.

2.370. However, devices, such as glasses, provide almost complete accommodation for large proportions of those with impaired functioning and the numbers with the impairment can be very high. It is often argued that asking about seeing without the use of glasses greatly increases the number of persons with disabilities and makes the group too heterogeneous, that is, the group would include persons at very little risk of participation problems along with those at great risk. An alternative is to ask questions on difficulty seeing even *with* the use of glasses if they are usually worn and difficulty hearing *with* the use of hearing aids if these devices are used.

2.371. Of the four essential domains, *cognition* is the most difficult to operationalize. Cognition includes many functions such as remembering, concentrating, decision making, understanding spoken and written language, finding one's way or following a map, doing mathematical calculations, reading and thinking. Deciding on a cross culturally similar function that would represent even one aspect of cognition is difficult. However, remembering and concentrating or making decisions would probably serve the cultural compatibility aspects the best. Reading and doing mathematical calculations or other learned capacities are very dependent on educational systems within a culture.

(iv) Additional domains

2.372. There are additional physical functioning domains that could be included in a set of census questions depending on the space available, such as upper body functioning of the arms, hands and fingers. Another domain that could be incorporated is psychological functioning. While identifying problems with psychological functioning in the population is a very important element of measuring disability for the stated objective, questions that attempt to represent mental/psychological functioning would run into difficulty because of the levels of stigmatization of such problems within a culture. This could jeopardize the whole set of questions.

(v) Census questions

2.373. It is recommended that special attention be paid in designing census questions to measure disability. The wording and the construct of questions greatly affect the precision in identifying people with disabilities. Each domain should be asked through a separate question.⁹⁴ The language used should be clear, unambiguous and simple. Negative terms should always be avoided. The disability questions should be addressed to each single household member and general questions on the presence of persons with disabilities in the household should be avoided. If necessary, a proxy respondent can be used to report for the family member who is incapacitated. The important thing is to account for each family member individually rather than ask a blanket question. Scaled response categories can also improve the reporting of disability.

2.374. The information that results from measuring disability status (see para. 2.351) is expected to:

- (a) Represent a large proportion, but not all persons with limitation in basic activity functioning in any one country, (only the use of a wider set of domains would potentially cover close to all such persons, but as stated this would not be possible in a census context);
- (b) Represent the most commonly occurring basic activity limitations within any country; and
- (c) Capture persons with similar problems across countries.

2.375. The questions identify the population with limitations in basic activities that have the potential to limit independent participation in society. The intended use of these data would be to compare levels of participation in employment, education, or family life for those with disability as measured by the question set versus those without to see if such persons with disability have achieved social inclusion. In addition the data could be used to monitor

⁹⁴ When domains are combined such as asking a question about seeing OR hearing, respondents frequently are confused and think they need to have difficulty in both domains in order to answer yes. In addition, having the numbers with specific limitations is useful for both internal planning and for cross national comparisons.

prevalence trends for persons with limitations in the particular basic activity domains selected. It would not represent the total population with limitations nor would it necessarily represent the 'true' population with disability, which would require measuring limitation in all domains.

2.376. Because disability is a complex concept, it is necessary to adopt an explicit definition based on the ICF domains used when developing census or survey questions that will be used to identify disability status. The recommended set of questions for censuses is based on such an explicit definition (as described above). It is essential that estimates or tabulations based on the recommended set be accompanied by information on how disability is defined and how the questions are asked. This information should be included as part of the metadata associated with the questions and data set and it should be included as a footnote to tables that include these estimates.

(c) Use of census to screen for disability and follow-up with other surveys

2.377. Countries that are planning specialized surveys on disability may want to use the census to develop a sampling frame for these surveys and include a screening instrument to identify persons who will be interviewed subsequently. The definitions and the instruments used for this purpose are very different from the ones used to assess equal opportunities. The main purpose of a screening is to be the most inclusive as possible in order to identify the largest group of people who could be further studied. The screening question should be designed so that false negatives⁹⁵ are minimized, while false positive⁹⁶ should be less of a concern.

2.378. Within the framework of the ICF, the census screening may include all of the three main dimensions of body structure and function, activity, and participation. This will allow for keeping a broad approach to the follow-up survey where the different aspects of disability can be better studied.

2.379. The same recommendations highlighted in paragraphs 2.373-2.376 should also be considered when a screening module is designed.

2.380. Before embarking in using the census to develop a frame for a follow-up survey, it is important that the legal implications of using the census data for this purpose are fully considered. Respondents should be informed that the data may be used for follow-up studies and national authorities responsible for ensuring the privacy rights of the population may need to be consulted in order to obtain their approval.

9. Agriculture

(a) Introduction

2.381. In this chapter two non-core topics on agriculture are presented. These two alternative topics could be considered by countries that would like to collect in the population and housing census information that would facilitate the preparation of the frame of agricultural holdings in the household sector, for a subsequent agricultural census (see also para. 1.44-1.50).

2.382. With the first topic, at the household level, information is collected on whether any member of the household is engaged in own-account agricultural production activities at their place of usual residence or elsewhere. With the second topic, at the individual person level, information is collected to identify persons involved in agricultural activities during a longer period, such as a year.

(b) Own-account agriculture production

2.383. Some countries may want to use the population census to identify households engaged in own-account agricultural production to provide additional data for agriculture related analysis of the population census and for

⁹⁵ Persons who have disabilities but are not identified in the census as having disabilities.

⁹⁶ Persons who are identified with disabilities in the census but in reality the do not have disabilities (as assessed in the largest instrument used in the follow-up survey).

use as a frame for a subsequent agricultural census or other surveys. In this case, information should be collected for all households on whether any member of the household is engaged in any form of own-account agricultural production activities.

2.384. Where possible, information should be collected separately on the type of activity under the broad headings of crop production and livestock production. For countries where household level agriculture is particularly important, additional information on the size (area) of the agricultural holding and the numbers of livestock by type may also be collected in the population census.

2.385. Where aquacultural production is important at the household level, information can also be collected on whether any member of the household is engaged in any form of own account aquacultural production activities. Agricultural production activities refer to Groups 011,012 and 013 of ISIC (Rev 3.1) namely:

Group 011: Growing of crops; market gardening; horticulture. Group 012: Farming of animals. Group 013: Growing of crops combined with farming of animals (mixed farming).

Aquacultural production activities refer to Class 0502 of ISIC (Rev 3.1), namely:

Class 0502: Aquaculture

2.386. An own-account worker in agricultural production (agricultural holder) is a person who is working on his/her own account (self-employed), or with one or more partners, and where that person has overall responsibility for the management of the agricultural production unit.

(c) Characteristics of all agricultural jobs during the last year

2.387. The population census normally collects employment data in respect of a person's main activity during a short reference period, which may not cover all persons working in agriculture because of the seasonality of many agricultural activities. To overcome this problem, information should be collected for all economically active persons on all agricultural jobs carried out during the year preceding the population census day. The information to be collected should normally be limited to occupation and status of employment, but can be expanded to identify main or secondary occupation and time worked.

2.388. Information on occupation and status in employment of all agricultural jobs can be used as an alternative way of identifying households engaged in own-account agricultural production activities (topic reference code), for use as a frame for an agricultural census. It can also provide additional data for agriculture-related analysis of the population census.

2.389. Where aquacultural production is important in a country, an additional topic on occupation and status in employment of all aquacultural jobs, carried out during the year preceding the population census day, can also be included and expanded to identify main or secondary occupation and time worked, as required.

2.390. An agricultural job is defined as a job in the agricultural industry as defined by Groups 011,012 and 013 of ISIC (Rev 3.1); namely:

Group 011: Growing of crops; market gardening; horticulture. Group 012: Farming of animals. Group 013: Growing of crops combined with farming of animals (mixed farming).

An aquacultural job is defined as a job in the aquacultural industry as defined by

Class 0502: Aquaculture of ISIC (Rev 3.1).

VII. Topics to be investigated in housing censuses

A. Factors determining the selection of topics

2.391. In line with the overall approach of this revision of *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses*, the selection of housing census topics is based on outputs expected to be produced by the housing census. Thus, the first step involves clear identification of expected outputs, and then the core and additional topics is decided on that basis. For each of the core topics there is a recommended tabulation.

2.392. Also with reference to the selection of topics to be included in a housing census, limiting statistical inquiries to the collection of data that can be processed and published within a reasonable period of time was deemed important. Such admonitions are especially applicable in connection with a housing census, since it is customary to conduct housing and a population census as simultaneous or consecutive operations and there is a high probability that the amount of data requested in the questionnaires may be beyond the capacity of enumerators and data-processing facilities. It may be sufficient in some developing countries, for example, to ascertain only the number of housing units and other sets of living quarters of various types, the number and characteristics of the occupants thereof and the availability of a water supply system. Indeed, it might be neither feasible nor desirable in some cases to do more -- if more were attempted, the success and quality of the census could be jeopardized.

2.393. In this context, it is false economy to collect housing data that are so incomplete that they fail to serve the principal purposes for which they are required. In this connection, it is important for census-takers to consult closely with the principal users at an early stage in the preparations for a housing census in order to concentrate on collecting the data most urgently required and supplying them in their most useful formats.

2.394. The topics, therefore, to be covered in the questionnaire (that is to say, the subjects regarding which information is to be collected for living quarters, households and buildings) should be determined upon balanced consideration of (a) the needs of the country (national as well as local) to be served by the census data; (b) the achievement of international comparability, both within regions and on a worldwide basis; (c) the probable willingness and ability of the public to give adequate information on the topics; (d) the technical competence of the enumerators in regard to obtaining information on the topics by direct observation; and (e) the total national resources available for conducting the census.

2.395. Such a balanced consideration will need to take into account the advantages and limitations of alternative methods of obtaining data on a given topic within the context of an integrated national programme for gathering housing statistics.

2.396. In making the selection of topics, due regard should be paid to the usefulness of historical continuity which provides the opportunity for measuring changes over time. Census-takers should avoid, however, collecting information no longer required. Information should not be collected simply because it was traditionally collected in the past. It becomes necessary, therefore, to review periodically the topics traditionally investigated and to re-evaluate the need for the series to which they contribute.

1. Priority of national needs

2.397. Priority must be given to the fact that housing censuses should be designed to meet national needs. Should any discrepancy exist among national needs, regional recommendations and global recommendations, national needs should take precedence followed by regional recommendations and finally by global recommendations. The first consideration is that the census should provide information on the topics of greatest value to the country, with questions framed in such a way as to elicit data of maximum use to that country. Experience has shown that national needs will best be served if the census includes topics generally recognized as being of basic value and defined in accordance with regional and global standards.

2.398. It is recognized that many countries will find it necessary to include in the census topics of national or local interest in addition to the topics included in the recommendations, and that the census data may need to be supplemented by data from housing surveys in order to obtain information on topics that cannot be included in the census either because they would overburden the enumerator or because they require specially trained interviewers. It is also possible that some countries may omit from the census certain recommended topics because it may be assumed with a high degree of confidence that a particular facility, such as electricity, for example, is available in virtually all sets of living quarters in the country. Conversely, some topics may not be investigated because of the almost total absence of certain facilities, particularly in the rural areas of some developing countries.

2.399. In all cases, the importance of involving stakeholders in the process of identifying priorities and policy needs has to be taken into consideration early in the process of designing the housing census. The topics that are of particular interest to the policy-makers need to be carefully assessed in terms of applicability, reliability of data and census limitations (number of questions, and so forth). More detailed information on involvement of stakeholders in presented in Part One (Operational Aspects of Population and Housing Censuses) under Census Communication Activities – User Consultations, Census Publicity and Promotion of Census Products, and also in the *Handbook on Census Management for Population and Housing Censuses*.⁹⁷

2. Importance of international comparability

2.400. The desirability of achieving regional and worldwide comparability should be another major consideration in the selection and formulation of topics for the census schedule. National and international objectives are usually compatible, since international recommendations are based on broad studies of country experiences and practices.

2.401. If particular circumstances, within a country, necessitate departures from international standards, every effort should be made to explain these departures in the census publications and to indicate how the national presentation can be adapted to the international standards.

3. Suitability of topics

2.402. The topics investigated should be such that the respondents will be willing and able to provide adequate information on them. Those for which information is to be obtained through direct observation by the enumerator should be within his or her technical competence. Thus, it may be necessary to avoid topics that are likely to arouse fear, local prejudice or superstition, and questions that are too complicated and difficult for the average respondent or enumerator to answer easily. The exact phrasing for each question that is needed in order to obtain the most reliable responses will of necessity depend on national circumstances and, as described in the section on Questionnaire Preparation in Part One (Operational Aspects of Population and Housing Censuses), such formulations should be well tested prior to the census.

4. Resources available for the census

2.403. The selection of topics should be carefully considered in relation to the total resources available for the census. An accurate and efficient collection of data for a limited number of topics, followed by prompt tabulation and publication, is more useful than the collection of data for an over-ambitious list of topics that cannot be properly investigated, tabulated or stored in the database. In balancing the need for data against resources available, the extent to which questions can be pre-coded should be considered. This may be an important factor in determining whether or not it is economically feasible to investigate certain topics in the census.

B. List of topics

⁹⁷ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.00XVII.15 Rev.1.

2.404. The units of enumeration for housing censuses are buildings, living quarters, households and occupants. The building is regarded as an indirect but important unit of enumeration for housing censuses since the information concerning the building (building type, material of construction of external walls and certain other characteristics) is required to describe properly the living quarters located within the building and for the formulation of housing programmes. In a housing census, the questions on building characteristics are normally framed in terms of the building in which sets of living quarters being enumerated are located, and the information is recorded for each of the housing units or other sets of living quarters located within it.

2.405. The principal direct units of enumeration in a housing census are the sets of living quarters. Only by recognizing them as such can data be obtained that will provide a meaningful description of the housing situation and a suitable basis for the formulation of housing programmes.

2.406. The second, direct, units of enumeration are households occupying living quarters. For each household, it is often useful to collect information on characteristics of the head or reference person, tenure in the housing unit and other relevant characteristics.

2.407. The final units of enumeration are individuals or members of household. Characteristics of each individual are collected in a population census and are covered in Chapter VI.

2.408. The list presented below is based on the global and regional census experience of the last several decades. The topics included in the list are those on which there is considerable agreement in regard to their importance and feasibility in respect of measuring and evaluating housing conditions and formulating housing programmes: a study of housing census experiences indicates the feasibility of collecting information on those topics by means of a housing census. Those that are likely to present difficulties and require time-consuming questioning can probably best be investigated in a sample of sets of living quarters.

2.409. Core topics are those of common interest and value to countries or areas and also of importance in enabling comprehensive comparison of statistics at the international level. Additional topics refer to topics that need to be collected in order to allow for preparation of tabulations that would meet most of the needs of the users (also referred to as "Optimum set of census tabulations").

2.410. It should be emphasized that the topics or variables on housing contained herein are for tabulation and production of outputs as this is the overall orientation of these guidelines. Issues that pertain to data collection are addressed in other parts of the *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses* and other relevant United Nations handbooks.

Table 2: Housing census topics by unit of enumeration

		Living quarters	Living quarters		
No.	Topic	Housing units	Collective living quarters	Building	Households ¹
1	Living quarters – type of				
2	Location				
3	Occupancy status				
4	Ownership – type of				
5	Rooms – number of				
6	Bedrooms – number of	\diamond			\diamond
7	Useful floor space	\diamond	\diamond		\diamond
8	Water supply system		\diamond		
9	Drinking water - main source of		\diamond		
10	Toilet – type of		\diamond		

1		Living quarters			
			Collective	Building	Households ¹
No.	Topic	Housing units	living quarters		
11	Sewage disposal				
12	Bathing facilities		\diamond		
13	Kitchen – availability of		\diamond		
14	Fuel used for cooking				
15	Lighting and/or electricity – type of		\diamond		
16	Solid waste disposal – main type of				
17	Heating - type and energy used for	\diamond			\diamond
18	Hot water - availability of	\diamond			\diamond
19	Piped gas - availability of	\diamond			\diamond
20	Use of housing unit	\diamond			\diamond
21	Occupancy by one or more households				
22	Occupants – number of				
23	Building – type of				
24	Construction material of outer walls				
25	Year or period of construction	\diamond		\diamond	
26	Dwellings in the building - number of	\diamond		\diamond	
27	Construction material of floors, roof	\diamond		\diamond	
28	Elevator - availability of	\diamond		\diamond	
29	Farm building	\diamond		\diamond	
30	State of repair	\diamond		\diamond	
31	Age and sex of head or other reference member of household				
32	Tenure				
33	Rental and owner-occupied housing costs				\diamond
34	Furnished/unfurnished	\diamond			\diamond
35	Information and communication technology (ICT) devices - availability of				-
36	Cars – number of				\diamond
37	Durable household appliances - availability of				\diamond
38	Available outdoor space				\diamond
	Legend:				
	 Core topic 				
	□ - Core topic, derived				
	\diamond - Additional topic				

C. Definitions and specifications of topics

2.411. Paragraphs below contain the recommended definitions. It is important that census data be accompanied by the definitions used in carrying out the census. It is also important that any changes in definitions that might have been made since the previous census be indicated and, if possible, accompanied by estimates of the effect of such

changes on the relevant data. In this way, users will not confuse valid changes over time with increases or decreases that have occurred as the result of changed definitions.

1. Living quarters - type of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: H1-R – H18-R

(a) Definition of living quarters

2.412. Living quarters are structurally separate and independent places of abode. They may (a) have been constructed, built, converted or arranged for human habitation, provided that they are not at the time of the census used wholly for other purposes and that, in the case of non-conventional housing units and collective living quarters, they are occupied at the time of the census or (b) although not intended for habitation, actually be in use for such a purpose at the time of the census.

2.413. Instructions should be issued so that it is clearly understood at what stage of completion sets of living quarters should be included in the housing census. They may be included in the housing census as soon as construction has begun, at various stages of construction or when construction has been completed. Living quarters being demolished or awaiting demolition should normally be excluded. The system used should be consistent with that employed for the system of current housing statistics and should avoid double counting where construction statistics are used to bring the census data up to date. Special instructions will need to be issued concerning "core dwellings" in countries where these are provided within a preliminary phase of dwelling construction.

(b) Classification of living quarters

2.414. Living quarters are either housing units or collective living quarters. Normally, the collection of information concerning housing units will be considered of first importance in a housing census, since it is in housing units that the majority of the population permanently lives. Furthermore, housing units are intended for occupancy, or are occupied, by households, and it is with the provision of accommodation for households that housing programmes and policies are mainly concerned. However, certain types of "collective living quarters" are also of significance with respect to the housing conditions of households; these include hotels, rooming houses and other lodging houses and camps occupied by households. Housing units should be classified so as to distinguish at least conventional dwellings from other types of housing units. It should be emphasized that without an adequate classification of living quarters, no meaningful analysis of housing conditions based on housing census data is possible.

2.415. The classification outlined below (see also Figure 7) and a system of three-digit codes have been designed to group in broad classes housing units and collective living quarters with similar structural characteristics. The distribution of occupants (population) among the various groups supplies valuable information about the housing accommodation available at the time of the census. The classification also affords a useful basis of stratification for sample surveys. The living quarters may be divided into the following categories:

1 Housing units

- 1.1 Conventional dwellings
 - 1.1.1 Has all basic facilities
 - 1.1.2 Does not have all basic facilities
- 1.2 Other housing units
 - 1.2.1 Semi-permanent housing units
 - 1.2.2. Mobile housing units
 - 1.2.3 Improvised housing units
 - 1.2.4 Housing units in permanent buildings not intended for human habitation
 - 1.2.5 Other premises not intended for human habitation

2 Collective living quarters

- 2.1 Hotels, rooming houses and other lodging houses
- 2.2 Institutions
 - 2.2.1 Hospitals
 - 2.2.2 Correctional institutions (prisons, penitentiaries)
 - 2.2.3 Military institutions
 - 2.2.4 Religious institutions (monasteries, convents, etc)
 - 2.2.5 Retirement homes, homes for elderly
 - 2.2.6 Student dormitories and similar
 - 2.2.7 Staff quarters (e.g. hostels and nurses' homes)
 - 2.2.8 Orphanages
 - 2.2.9 Other
- 2.3 Camps and workers' quarters
 - 2.3.1 Military camps
 - 2.3.2 Worker camps
 - 2.3.3 Refugee camps
 - 2.3.4 Camps for internally displaced people
 - 2.3.5 Other

2.4 Other

2.416. Not all the categories in the above classification are of importance under all circumstances. For example, in some countries certain of the groups may not need to be considered separately, while in others it will be convenient to subdivide them. However, some of the categories are of special significance for assessing the housing situation and should be distinguished even where a simplified classification is employed. Yet, the distinction between conventional and informal housing units is particularly referred to.

(c) Definitions of each type of living quarters

2.417. A description of the categories listed in paragraph 2.415 is given below.

1. Housing units

2.418. A housing unit is a separate and independent place of abode intended for habitation by a single household,⁹⁸ or one not intended for habitation but occupied as living quarters by a household at the time of the census. Thus it may be an occupied or vacant dwelling, an occupied non-conventional housing unit or any other place occupied as living quarters by a household at the time of the census. This category includes housing of various levels of permanency and acceptability and therefore requires further classification in order to provide for a meaningful assessment of housing conditions.

2.419. The essential features of housing units are separateness and independence. An enclosure may be considered separate if surrounded by walls, fences, and so forth, and covered by a roof so that a person or group of persons can isolate themselves from other persons in the community for the purposes of sleeping, preparing and taking their meals, and protecting themselves from the hazards of climate and environment. Such an enclosure may be considered independent when it has direct access from the street or from a public or communal staircase, passage, gallery or grounds, in other words, when the occupants can come in and go out of their living quarters without passing through anybody else's premises.

2.420. Attached rooms having an independent entrance, or detached rooms for habitation that clearly have been built, or rebuilt or converted for use as part of living quarters should be counted as part of the living quarters. Thus, living quarters may comprise rooms or groups of rooms with independent entrances, or separate buildings.

⁹⁸ Although intended for habitation by one household, a housing unit may, at the time of the census, be occupied by one or more households or by a part of a household.

Figure 7: Classification of living quarters



2.421. It should be noted that housing units on the grounds or within the buildings housing an institution, camp, and so forth should be separately identified and counted as housing units. For example, if, in the grounds of a hospital, there is a separate and independent house intended for the habitation of the director and his or her family, the house should be counted as a housing unit. In the same way, self-contained apartments located in hotel buildings should be counted as housing units if they have direct access to the street or to a common space within the building. Similar cases will need to be identified and described in the instructions for the enumeration.

1.1 Conventional dwellings

2.422. A conventional dwelling is a room or suite of rooms and its accessories in a permanent building or structurally separated part thereof which, by the way it has been built, rebuilt or converted, is intended for habitation by one household and is not, at the time of the census, used wholly for other purposes. It should have a separate access to a street (direct or via a garden or grounds) or to a common space within the building (staircase, passage, gallery and so on). Therefore, there are four essential features of a conventional dwelling:

- (a) It is a room or suite of rooms
- (b) It is located in a permanent building
- (c) It has separate access to a street or to a common space
- (d) It was intended to be occupied by one household

2.423. Examples of conventional dwellings are houses, flats, suites of rooms, apartments and so forth. Although a conventional dwelling is a housing unit intended - that is to say, constructed or converted - for habitation by one household, it may, at the time of the census, be vacant or occupied by one or more households. It may be noted that the terms dwelling, dwelling unit, dwelling house, residential dwelling unit, family dwelling, house, *logement*, *vivienda*, *unidad de vivienda* and so forth have been used indiscriminately to refer to housing units of any type. The referent of the term "dwelling" is here limited to a housing unit located in a permanent building and designed for occupancy by one household.

2.424. A permanent building is understood to be a structure not intended to be moved and that may be expected to maintain its stability for 15 years or more, depending on the way countries define durability. It is recognized that the criterion of permanency or durability is difficult for the census enumerators to apply and that its adaptation to local conditions would require considerable study and experimentation by the national offices with respect to the significance of materials and methods of construction. In some cases, it may be of greater significance nationally to apply the criteria of construction materials and methods of construction directly in order to establish whether or not the building containing the housing unit is of permanent construction rather than translate these criteria into a time period.

1.1.1. Conventional dwelling - has all basic facilities

2.425. A conventional dwelling that has all basic facilities refers to a unit that meets all the needs of the household within its confines, such as protection from elements, cooking, maintaining hygiene and so forth Thus, in addition to the four essential features of a conventional dwelling described in paragraph 2.422, all of the following facilities must be available for a dwelling to fall in this category:

- (a) Piped water within dwelling
- (b) Toilet within dwelling
- (c) Fixed bath or shower within dwelling
- (d) Kitchen or other space for cooking within dwelling

1.1.2 Conventional dwelling - does not have all basic facilities

2.426. The conventional dwellings that falls in this category are dwellings that have the essential features of a conventional dwelling (see para. 2.422) and has some but does not have all of the basic facilities described in paragraph 2.425. Thus, it is a permanent structure or a part of a permanent structure, and will be a room or a suite of

rooms in a permanent building but it is without some or all of the conventional dwelling facilities such as kitchen, fixed bath or shower, piped water or toilet. In a number of countries or areas, a certain proportion of the housing inventory comprises of such dwellings which possess some but not all the basic facilities.

2.427. With increased urbanization, the need for building low-cost housing units within the city limit has been developed. This housing most frequently consists of buildings containing a number of separate rooms whose occupants share some or all facilities (bathing, toilet or cooking facilities). Those units do not meet all the criteria of a conventional dwelling with all basic facilities available within the dwelling, especially from the point of view of maintaining health standards and privacy. For example, these units are known as *casa de palomar* in Latin America.

1.2 Other housing units

1.2.1 Semi-permanent housing unit

2.428. The term "semi-permanent housing unit," refers to a structure that, by the way it has been built, is not expected to maintain its durability for as long a period of time as a conventional dwelling, but has some of the main features and facilities of a conventional dwelling. As discussed earlier, durability needs to be specifically defined on the basis of national standards and practices. The number of these units in some countries and areas may be substantial. Semi-permanent housing is not to be confused with informal housing units.

2.429. For example, in some countries "core" or "nuclear" dwellings around which a dwelling will eventually be constructed are provided as part of the housing programmes. In others, a significant proportion of the housing inventory is composed of dwellings that are constructed of locally available raw materials and may be less durable than conventional dwellings.

Core dwellings

2.430. Many countries with insufficient resources to meet their housing needs have attempted to alleviate the housing conditions of the population living in squatter areas by providing core or nuclear dwellings. Under these programmes, the households move their improvised shacks from the squatter area to a new location, the idea being that gradually, and generally with government assistance, the households with core or nuclear dwellings will keep adding to the nucleus until they can abandon their shacks entirely.

2.431. A core dwelling is sometimes only a sanitary unit containing bathing and toilet facilities, to which may be added, in subsequent phases, the other elements that will finally make up the completed dwelling. Such units do not fall within the definition of a conventional dwelling. However, although the household obviously continues to occupy its original shelter (which would probably be classified as an "improvised housing unit"), its housing situation is a vast improvement over that of households remaining in the squatter areas and the provision of the cores is a significant step towards the alleviation of housing shortages.

2.432. The problem is thus one of reflecting in the statistics the improvements brought about by programmes such as those described above without distorting the data that refer to fully constructed conventional dwellings. It is recommended, therefore, that core dwellings should be counted as dwellings in the census if at least one room⁹⁹ in addition to the sanitary facilities, is completed, and also that those dwellings that have not reached this stage of completion should be recorded as cores. Arrangements should be made so that the facilities available in the core can be related during data processing to the households for whose use they have been provided.

Traditional/Typical housing unit

2.433. In still other countries and areas, the population has developed, over time, a traditional and typical type of housing unit that does not have all the characteristics of conventional dwellings but is considered somewhat suitable

⁹⁹ For the definition of "room", see paragraph 2.472.

from the point of view of climate and tradition. This is especially the case in many tropical and subtropical rural areas where housing units have been constructed or built with locally available raw materials such as bamboo, palm, straw or any similar materials. Such units often have mud walls, thatched roofs and so forth, and may be expected to last only for a limited time (from a few months to several years), although occasionally they may last for longer periods. This category is intended to cover housing units that are typical and traditional in many tropical rural areas. Such units may be known, for example, as cabins, *ranchos* or *bohíos* (Latin America), *barastis* (Bahrain), or *bahay kubo* (the Philippines).

1.2.2 Mobile housing units

2.434. A mobile housing unit is any type of living accommodation that has been produced to be transported (such as a tent) or is a moving unit (such as a ship, boat, barge, vessel, railroad car, caravan, trailer, yacht and so on) occupied as living quarters at the time of the census. Trailers and tents used as permanent living quarters are of special interest.

2.435. Although mobile housing units are significantly different from other housing units in that they can be readily moved or transported, mobility in itself is not necessarily an indictor of low quality. For the assessment of housing conditions in countries with a substantial number of mobile units, it may be useful to classify them further, as tents, wagons, boats, trailers, and so forth.

1.2.3 Informal housing units

2.436. The term "informal housing unit" refers to those units that do not have many of the features of a conventional dwelling and are generally characterized as unfit for human habitation, but that are used for that purpose at the time of the census. Therefore, it is neither a permanent structure nor one equipped with any of the essential facilities. Depending on national circumstances, countries should develop detailed instructions to distinguish between informal and semi-temporary housing units.

2.437. Informal housing units comprise three sub-groups, namely, "improvised housing units", "housing units in permanent buildings not intended for human habitation" and "other informal housing units". These units are characterized by the fact that they are either makeshift shelters constructed of waste materials and generally considered unfit for habitation (squatters' huts, for example) or places that are not intended for human habitation although in use for that purpose at the time of the census (barns, warehouses, natural shelters and so on). Under almost all circumstances, such places of abode represent unacceptable housing and they may be usefully grouped together in order to analyse the housing conditions of the population and to estimate housing needs. Each sub-group is defined below.

Improvised housing units

2.438. An improvised housing unit is an independent, makeshift shelter or structure, built of waste materials and without a predetermined plan for the purpose of habitation by one household, which is being used as living quarters at the time of the census. Included in this category are areas of squatters' huts, *poblaciones callampas* (Chile), *hongos* (Peru), *favelas* (Brazil), *sarifas* (Iraq), *jhuggis* (India and Pakistan), *gubuks* (Indonesia), *gecekondula* (Turkey), *barong barong (Philippines)* and any similar premises arranged and used as living quarters, though they may not comply with generally accepted standards for habitation, and not having many of the characteristics of conventional dwellings. This type of housing unit is usually found in urban and suburban areas, particularly at the peripheries of the principal cities.

2.439. There is a wide variation in the procedures and criteria used in classifying these units. There are many borderline cases, and countries will need to make decisions and issue detailed instruction on how to enumerate and classify improvised housing units.

Housing units in permanent buildings not intended for human habitation

2.440. Included in this category are housing units (in permanent buildings) that have not been built, constructed, converted or arranged for human habitation but that are actually in use as living quarters at the time of the census. These include housing units in stables, barns, mills, garages, warehouses, offices, booths and so forth.

2.441. This category also may cover units and their occupants in buildings initially built for human habitation, but later abandoned with all services cut because of deterioration. These dilapidated buildings can be found, especially in large cities, still standing, although marked for demolition. They should be included in this category if inhabited.

2.442. Premises that have been converted for human habitation, although not initially designed or constructed for this purpose, should not be included in this category.

Other informal housing units

2.443. This category refers to living quarters that are not intended for human habitation or located in permanent buildings but that are nevertheless being used as living quarters at the time of the census. Caves and other natural shelters fall within this category.

2 Collective living quarters

2.444. Collective living quarters include structurally separate and independent places of abode intended for habitation by large groups of individuals or several households and occupied at the time of the census. Such quarters usually have certain common facilities, such as cooking and toilet installations, baths, lounge rooms or dormitories, which are shared by the occupants. They may be further classified into hotels, rooming houses and other lodging houses, institutions and camps.

2.445. Housing units on the grounds or within the building housing an institution, camp, hotel and so forth should be separately identified and counted as housing units.

2.446. The criteria established for the identification of collective living quarters are not always easy to apply and it is sometimes difficult for an enumerator to decide whether living quarters should be classified as a housing unit or not. This is particularly true in the case of a building occupied by a number of households. Enumerators should be given clear instructions as to when the premises occupied by a group of people living together are to be considered a housing unit and when collective living quarters.

2.1 Hotels, rooming houses and other lodging houses

2.447. This group comprises permanent structures that provide lodging on a fee basis and in which the number of borders or lodgers exceed five. Hotels, motels, inns, boarding houses, pensions, lodging houses and so forth fall within this category.

2.2 Institutions

2.448. This group covers any set of premises in a permanent structure or structures designed to house (usually large) groups of persons who are bound by either a common public objective or a common personal interest. Such sets of living quarters usually have certain common facilities shared by the occupants (baths, lounges, dormitories and so forth). Hospitals, military barracks, boarding schools, convents, prisons and so forth fall within this category (see the categories in para. 2.415).

2.449. It may be useful, depending on national needs, to require that an institution be used as the principle usual residence of at least one person at the time of the census.

2.3 Camps

2.450. Camps are sets of premises originally intended for the temporary accommodation of persons with common activities or interests. Included in this category are military camps, refugee camps and camps established for the housing of workers in mining, agriculture, public works or other types of enterprises.

2.4 Other

2.451. This is a residual category for collective living quarters which may not conform to the definitions of those included in groups 2.1 through 2.3. It should be used only when the number of units in question is small. Where the number is substantial, additional groups of living quarters having characteristics that are similar and of significance for an appraisal of housing conditions should be established.

2.452. In some countries, it seems that certain types of multi-household living quarters have emerged in response to the particular needs of the population and that the characteristics of these quarters enable them to be readily identified by an enumerator. It may be useful in these countries to provide a separate sub-group for any such special types. An example of such a sub-group - multi-household living quarters (living quarters intended for habitation by more than one household) - includes buildings and enclosures intended for communal habitation by several households.

2.453. In this example, structurally separate and independent sets of living quarters for occupancy by individual households are not provided. This category would include housing arrangements peculiar to certain countries, such as the long house (Sarawak of Malaysia) and the kibbutz (Israel).

2.454. It should be noted that the types of living quarters to be included in this category are those intended for communal habitation by several households, that is to say, constructed or converted for this purpose. Housing units intended for occupancy by one household, but that at the time of the census are occupied by several households, are not to be included as collective living quarters because this obscures the identification of households doubling up in dwellings (an important element in estimating housing needs). It is suggested that, in carrying out the census, a strict distinction be maintained between a housing unit occupied by more than one household and living quarters constructed or converted for communal habitation by several households.

2. Location of living quarters (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: H1-R – H18-R

2.455. A great deal of information relevant to the location of living quarters is contained under the definition of "locality" and "urban and rural". It is important for those concerned with carrying out housing censuses to study this information, because the geographical concepts used in carrying out a housing census to describe the location of living quarters are extremely important both for the execution of the census and for the subsequent tabulation of the census results. When the housing census is combined with, or closely related to, a population census, these concepts need to be carefully considered and coordinated so that the geographical areas recognized in carrying out the two censuses are of optimum value for both operations.

2.456. Information on location should be collected in sufficient detail to enable tabulations to be made for the smallest geographical subdivisions required by the tabulation plan. To satisfy the requirements of the geographical classifications recommended in the tabulations to this publication, information is needed on whether the living quarters are located in an urban or rural area, the major civil division, the minor civil division and, for living quarters located in principal localities, the name of the locality.

2.457. Where a permanent system of house or building numbers does not already exist, it is essential for the census to establish a numbering system so that the location of each set of living quarters can be adequately described. Similarly, in cases where streets do not have names or numbers properly displayed, such identification should be provided as one of the pre-census operations. Adequate identification provides the basis for the preparation of census control lists (see also "living quarters and household listing"); it is required in order to monitor and control the enumeration, and to identify living quarters for possible call-backs and post-enumeration evaluation
surveys as well as for other post-censal inquiries that use the census as a sampling frame or other point of departure. Ideally, each building or other inhabited structure should be provided with a number, as should each set of living quarters within buildings or structures. In preparing a census control listing, it is the practice to identify further each household within the living quarters.

2.458. Living quarters that are not located in areas with a conventional pattern of streets, such as those in squatter areas or in some places not intended for habitation, may require special identification. Since it may not be possible to describe the location of these units in terms of a formal address, it may be necessary to describe them in terms of their proximity to natural or created landmarks of various kinds or in relation to buildings that are located in areas where a formal address is possible.

2.459. The various geographical designations that together define the location of living quarters are discussed below.

(a) Address

2.460. Information that describes the place where the living quarters are to be found and distinguishes them from other living quarters in the same locality falls within this category. As a rule, the information includes the name or number of the street and the number of the living quarters; in the case of apartments, the building number and the apartment number are required.

(b) Locality

2.461. For the definition of "locality", see paragraphs 2.78-2.80 of the current version of the *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses.*

(c) Urban and rural

2.462. For the definition of "urban and rural", see paragraphs 2.81-2.84 of the current version of the *Principles* and *Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses*.

3. Occupancy status (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H4-R

2.463. Information should be obtained for each conventional dwelling to show whether the dwelling is occupied or vacant at the time of the census. For vacant units intended for year-round occupancy, the type of vacancy (for rent, for sale, and so forth) should be reported. Occupancy status applies only to conventional dwellings, since all other types of living quarters are required by definition to be occupied in order to fall within the scope of the census.

2.464. The enumeration of vacant conventional dwellings is likely to pose difficult problems, but at least a total count should be made for purposes of controlling the enumeration. The type of vacancy is frequently indicated by "for sale" or "for rent" signs posted on the dwelling. Although it may not be feasible to investigate all of the topics included in the census for vacant units, as much information as possible should be collected, including information on whether the living quarters are vacant seasonally or non-seasonally.

2.465. Vacant units intended for seasonal occupancy may represent a substantial proportion of the housing inventory in resort areas and in areas where large numbers of seasonal workers are employed. The separate identification of such a category may be necessary for the correct interpretation of the overall vacancy rate as well as for an evaluation of the housing situation in the area concerned. Vacant units may be further distinguished according to the type of occupancy for which they are intended, for example, as holiday home, seasonal workers' quarters and so forth.

2.466. Whether living quarters whose occupants are temporarily absent or temporarily present should be recorded as occupied or vacant will need to be considered in relation to whether a *de jure* or *de facto* population census is being carried out. In either case, it would seem useful to distinguish as far as possible conventional dwellings that are used as a second residence. This is particularly important if the second residence has markedly different characteristics from the primary residence, as is the case, for example, when agricultural households move during certain seasons of the year from their permanent living quarters in a village to rudimentary structures located on agricultural holdings. The recommended classification of occupancy status for conventional dwellings is as follows:

- 1 Occupied
- 2 Vacant
 - 2.1 Seasonally vacant
 - 2.1.1 Holiday homes
 - 2.1.2 Seasonal workers' quarters
 - 2.1.3 Other
 - 2.2 Non-seasonally vacant
 - 2.2.1 Secondary residences
 - 2.2.2 For rent
 - 2.2.3 For sale
 - 2.2.4 For demolition
 - 2.2.5 Other

4. **Ownership - type of (Core topic)**

Recommended tabulation: H5-R

2.467. This topic refers to the type of ownership of the housing unit itself and not of that of the land on which it stands. Type of ownership should not be confused with tenure. Information should be obtained to show:

- (a) Whether the housing unit is owned by the public sector (central government, local government, public corporations);
- (b) Whether the housing unit is privately owned (by households, private corporations, cooperatives, housing associations and so on). The question is sometimes expanded to show whether the housing units are fully paid for, being purchased in instalments or mortgaged. The classification of housing units by type of ownership is as follows:
- 1 Owner-occupied
- 2 Non owner-occupied
 - 2.1 Publicly owned
 - 2.2 Privately owned
 - 2.3 Communally owned
 - 2.4 Cooperatively owned
 - 2.5 Other

2.468. Housing units are defined as owner-occupied if used wholly or partly for own occupation by the owner. In principle, if a housing unit is being purchased in instalments or mortgaged according to national legal systems and practices, it should be enumerated as being owned. Instructions should also cover other arrangements, such as housing units in cooperatives, housing associations and so forth.

2.469. The information on ownership may be classified, as a minimum, into two main groups, namely "private ownership" and "other ownership". Depending upon the prevalence of various types of ownership and their significance with respect to housing conditions and the formulation of housing programmes, it may be useful dissect the category "other ownership" into the relevant examples of the sub-groups shown. The categories used should be

consistent with those employed in the system of national accounts of the country concerned and in accordance with the recommendations contained in the *System of National Accounts, 1993.*¹⁰⁰

2.470. It has been observed that the collection of information on type of ownership in a general census may be hampered by the fact that the occupants might not know who the owner of the property is and that the owners or their representatives may be situated outside the enumeration zone. Furthermore, there are numerous cases of borderline and mixed ownership, which make the topic difficult for nationwide enumeration. This is one of the topics for which more accurate information might be obtained through a housing survey.

2.471. In countries where there is a substantial amount of employer-issued housing, it would be useful to include the subcategories "issued by the employer" and "not issued by the employer" under the category "privately owned" (or publicly owned where the employer is a public sector entity). It is important that such information be known from the point of view of assessing the impact of job loss, in order to gauge the magnitude of the population whose loss of a job would include loss of housing as well.

5. Rooms - number of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H6-R

2.472. A room is defined as a space in a housing unit or other living quarters enclosed by walls reaching from the floor to the ceiling or roof covering, or to a height of at least two metres, of an area large enough to hold a bed for an adult, that is, at least four square metres. The total number of types of rooms therefore includes bedrooms, dining rooms, living rooms, studies, habitable attics, servants' rooms, kitchens, rooms used for professional or business purposes, and other separate spaces used or intended for dwelling purposes, so long as they meet the criteria concerning walls and floor space. Passageways, verandas, lobbies, bathrooms and toilet rooms should not be counted as rooms, even if they meet the criteria. Separate information may be collected for national purposes on spaces of less than four square metres that conform in other respects to the definition of "room" if it is considered that their number warrants such a procedure.

2.473. Rooms used exclusively for business or professional purposes should be counted separately, as it is desirable to include them when calculating the number of rooms in a dwelling but to exclude them when calculating the number of persons per room. This procedure allows density levels to be studied according to the number of rooms available for living purposes in relation to the number of occupants. In any event, each country should indicate the procedure that has been followed.

2.474. It is recommended that kitchens be included in the count of rooms provided they meet the criteria concerning walls and floor space. Kitchens or kitchenettes that have an area smaller than four square metres or that have other characteristics that disqualify them should be excluded. For national purposes, countries may wish to identify and count kitchens within a separate group that may be analysed with respect to size and utilization, and to consider separately those used exclusively for cooking.

6. Bedrooms - number of

2.475. In addition to enumerating the number of rooms a number of national censuses collect information on the number of bedrooms in a housing unit, which is the unit of enumeration for this topic. A bedroom is defined as a room equipped with a bed and used for night rest.

7. Useful floor space

¹⁰⁰ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.94.XVII.4.

2.476. This topic refers to the useful floor space in housing units, that is to say, the floor space measured inside the outer walls of housing units, excluding non-habitable cellars and attics. In multiple-dwelling buildings, all common spaces should be excluded. The approach for housing units and collective living quarters should differ.

2.477. For collective living quarters, it would be more useful to collect information on the useful floor space per occupant of the set of collective living quarters. Data should be derived by dividing the total useful floor space by the number of occupants who are living in the space.

2.478. Collecting information on the floor space available to occupants of housing units may prove to be difficult; occupants often may not know the exact or even the approximate area of the housing unit they occupy; training enumerators to calculate the floor space would be complicated and costly, and would result in inaccuracies. In this context, and taking into account the importance of the information concerned, countries should take into consideration developing detailed instructions on proper procedures for assessing these data (for example, a request for information on floor space from the official documents available to the occupants, such as the rental agreement and the title, that are supposed to include such information).

8. Water supply system (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H7-R

2.479. Basic information to be obtained in the census is whether housing units have or do not have a piped water installation, in other words, whether or not water is provided to the housing unit by pipes from a community-wide system or a private installation, such as a pressure tank or pump. The unit of enumeration for this topic is a housing unit. It is also necessary to indicate whether the unit has tapped water inside or, if not, whether it is within a certain distance from the door. The recommended distance is 200 metres, assuming that access to piped water within that distance allows occupants of the housing unit to obtain water for household needs without being subjected to extreme efforts. Besides the location of the tapped water relative to the housing unit, the source of water available to households is also of interest. Therefore, the recommended classification of housing unit by water supply system is as follows:

- 1 Piped water inside the unit
 - 1.1 From the community scheme
 - 1.2 From an individual source
- 2 Piped water outside the unit but within 200 metres
 - 2.1 From the community scheme
 - 2.1.1 For exclusive use 2.1.2 Shared
 - 2.2 From an individual source
 - 2.2.1 For exclusive use
 - 2.2.2 Shared
- 3 Other (see category 3 of the classification in para. 2.484 for more details)

2.480. A community scheme is one that is subject to inspection and control by public authorities. Such schemes are generally operated by a public body but in some cases they are operated by a cooperative or private enterprise.

2.481. For collective living quarters, it may be useful to collect information on the availability of piped water for the use of occupants. Such living quarters are usually equipped with multi-facilities for the use of large groups, and information on the water supply system in relation to the number of occupants would be significant in respect of analysing housing conditions. The water supply system in collective living quarters constitutes an additional topic.

2.482. The most significant information from a health point of view is whether the living quarters have piped water within the premises. However, a category may be added to distinguish cases where the piped water supply is not within the living quarters but rather within the building in which the living quarters are situated. It may also be useful to collect information that would show whether the water supply is for the sole use of the occupants of the living quarters being enumerated or whether it is for the use of the occupants of several sets of living quarters, as

indicated in the above classification at the three-digit level. Where there is a large proportion of housing units with no piped water, this category may be expanded to specify sources commonly used in a country. Additional information may be sought on the availability of hot as well as cold water and on the kind of equipment used for heating water.

9. Drinking water - main source of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H8-R

2.483. Having enough water for drinking and personal hygiene is essential, but quantity by itself is not sufficient. The quality of the water is also a crucial health issue. Consequently, one of the targets of the Millennium Development Goals is "sustainable access to safe drinking water and basic sanitation", assessed in part by having access to an improved water supply source. Sustainable access to improved water source as defined in the guidelines for monitoring the Millennium Development Goals refers to the following types of water supply: piped water, public tap, borehole, protected dug well, protected spring, properly collected rainwater and bottled water.¹⁰¹ Improved water sources do not include vendor-provided water, tanker truck water, unprotected wells and springs, as well as surface water (river, stream, dam, lake, pond, canal, and irrigation channel).

2.484. Countries are encouraged to collect the information on the main source of drinking water for the household, particularly where there is considerable difference between sources of water for general household use and for drinking. For those countries wishing to collect this information, the following categories of main source of drinking water are recommended:

- 1 Piped water inside the unit
 - 1.1 From the community scheme
 - 1.2 From an individual source
- 2 Piped water outside the unit but within 200 metres
 - 2.1 From the community scheme
 - 2.1.1 For exclusive use
 - 2.1.2 Shared
 - 2.2 From an individual source
 - 2.2.1 For exclusive use
 - 2.2.2 Shared
- 3 Other
 - 3.1 Borehole
 - 3.2 Protected dug well
 - 3.3 Protected spring
 - 3.4 Rainwater collection tank
 - 3.5 Vendor-provided water
 - 3.6 Bottled water
 - 3.7 Tanker trucks
 - 3.8 Unprotected dug well/spring/river/stream/lake/pond/dam

10. Toilet – type of (Core topic) 102

Recommended tabulation: H9-R

¹⁰¹ Bottled water is considered an "improved" source of drinking water only where there is a secondary source of improved water for other uses such as personal hygiene and cooking. Source: *Water for life: making it happen*, World Health Organization and UNICEF, 2005.

¹⁰² Also necessary to distinguish between conventional dwellings with all main facilities and other conventional dwellings.

2.485. A toilet may be defined as an installation for the disposal of human excreta. A flush toilet is an installation provided with piped water that permits humans to discharge their wastes and from which the wastes are flushed by water. The unit of enumeration for this topic is a housing unit.

2.486. For housing units reported as having a toilet, additional information may be sought to determine whether the toilet is used exclusively by the occupants of the living quarters being enumerated or whether it is shared with the occupants of other living quarters. For living quarters reported as having no toilet, it would be useful to know whether the occupants have the use of a communal facility and the type of facility, whether they have the use of the toilet of other living quarters and the type, or whether there is no toilet of any kind available for the use of the occupants.

2.487. Some countries have found it useful to expand the classification for non-flush toilets so as to distinguish certain types that are widely used and indicate a certain level of sanitation. The recommended classification of housing unit by toilet facilities is as follows:

- 1 With toilet within housing unit
 - 1.1 Flush/pour flush¹⁰³ toilet
 - 1.2 Other
- 2 With toilet outside housing unit
 - 2.1 For exclusive use
 - 2.1.1 Flush/pour flush toilet
 - 2.1.2 Ventilated improved pit latrine (VIP)¹⁰⁴
 - 2.1.3 Pit latrine without ventilation with covering
 - 2.1.4 Holes or dug pits with temporary coverings or without shelter
 - 2.1.5 Other
 - 2.2 Shared
 - 2.2.1 Flush/pour flush toilet
 - 2.2.2 Ventilated improved pit latrine (VIP)
 - 2.2.3 Pit latrine without ventilation with covering
 - 2.2.4 Holes or dug pits with temporary coverings or without shelter
 - 2.2.5 Other
- 3 No toilet available
 - 3.1 Service or bucket facility (excreta manually removed)
 - 3.2 Use of natural environment, e.g. bush, river, stream, etc.

2.488. For housing units occupied by more than a certain number of households (more than two, for example) and for collective living quarters, particularly those of the multi- household and hotel/boarding-house type, it may be useful to gather information on the number and type of toilets available to the occupants. Living quarters of this type are usually equipped with multi-facilities for the use of large groups, and information on the number and type of toilets in relation to the number of occupants would be significant in terms of analysing housing conditions. The availability of toilet for collective living quarters represents an additional topic.

11. Sewage disposal (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H9-R

¹⁰³ A pour flush toilet uses a water seal, but unlike a flush toilet, a pour flush toilet uses water poured by hand for flushing (no cistern is used).

¹⁰⁴ A ventilated improved pit latrine (VIP) is a dry pit latrine that uses a hole in the ground to collect the excreta and a squatting slab or platform that is firmly supported on all sides, easy to clean and raised above the surrounding ground level to prevent surface water from entering the pit. The platform has a squatting hole, or is fitted with a seat.

2.489. Information on toilets should be combined with the sewage disposal system to which they are connected in order to determine the adequacy of sanitation facilities of the housing unit. To be considered adequate sanitation, toilets or latrines have to be connected to non-clogged sewage disposal systems. The information on housing units by type of sewage disposal system may be classified as follows:

- 1 Empties into a piped system connected to a public sewage disposal plant
- 2 Empties into a piped system connected to an individual sewage disposal system (septic tank, cesspool)
- 3 Other toilet empties into an open ditch, a pit, a river, the sea, and so forth
- 4 No disposal system.

12. Bathing facilities (Core topic)¹⁰⁵

Recommended tabulation: H10-R

2.490. Information should be obtained on whether or not there is a fixed bath or shower installation within the premises of each set of housing units. The unit of enumeration for this topic is a housing unit. Additional information may be collected to show whether or not the facilities are for the exclusive use of the occupants of the living quarters and where there is a supply of hot water for bathing purposes or cold water only. In some areas of the world the distinction proposed above may not be the most appropriate for national needs. It may be important, for example, to distinguish in terms of availability among a separate room for bathing in the living quarters, a separate room for bathing in the building, an open cubicle for bathing in the building and a public bathhouse. The recommended classification of housing units by availability and type of bathing facilities is as follows:

- 1 With fixed bath or shower within housing unit
- 2 Without fixed bath or shower within housing unit
 - 2.1 Fixed bath or shower available outside housing unit
 - 2.1.1 For exclusive use
 - 2.1.2 Shared
 - 2.2 No fixed bath or shower available

2.491. For housing units occupied by more than a certain number of households (more than two, for example) and for collective living quarters, particularly those of the multi- household and hotel/boarding-house type, it may be useful to gather information on the number of fixed baths or showers available to the occupants. Living quarters of this type are usually equipped with multi-facilities for the use of large groups, and information on the number of fixed baths or showers in relation to the number of occupants would be significant in terms of analysing housing conditions. The number of fixed baths or showers in collective living quarters would represent an additional topic.

13. Kitchen – availability of (Core topic)¹⁰⁶

Recommended tabulation: H11-R

2.492. Information should be obtained on whether the housing unit has a kitchen, whether some other space is set aside for cooking such as a kitchenette, or whether there is no special place set aside for cooking. The unit of enumeration for this topic is a housing unit.

2.493. A kitchen is defined as a space that conforms in all respects to the criteria for a room, and is equipped for the preparation of the principal meals of the day and intended primarily for that purpose.

2.494. Any other space reserved for cooking, such as a kitchenette, will fall short in respect of possessing the attributes of a room, although it may be equipped for the preparation of the principal meals of the day and is intended primarily for that purpose. The collection of data on the availability of a kitchen may provide a convenient

¹⁰⁵ Ibid.

¹⁰⁶Ibid..

opportunity to gather information on the kind of equipment that is used for cooking, for example, a stove, hotplate, or open fire, and on the availability of a kitchen sink and a space for food storage so as to prevent spoilage. The recommended classification of housing units by availability of a kitchen or other space reserved for cooking is as follows:

- 1 With kitchen within housing unit
 - 1.1 For exclusive use
 - 1.2 Shared
- 2 With other space for cooking within housing unit, such as kitchenette
 - 2.1 For exclusive use
 - 2.2 Shared
- 3 Without kitchen or other space for cooking within housing unit
 - 3.1 Kitchen or other space for cooking available outside housing unit
 - 3.1.1 For exclusive use
 - 3.1.2 Shared
 - 3.2 No kitchen or other space for cooking available

2.495. For housing units occupied by more than a certain number of households (more than two, for example) and for collective living quarters, particularly those of the multi-household and hotel/boarding-house type, it may be useful to gather information on the number of kitchens available for the occupants. Living quarters of this type are usually equipped with multi-facilities for the use of large groups, and information on the number of kitchens or kitchenettes in relation to the number of occupants would be significant in terms of analysing housing conditions. It represents an additional topic.

14. Fuel used for cooking (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H11-R

2.496. The proportion of households using solid fuels is one of the indicators for monitoring the Millennium Development Goals. There are important linkages between household solid fuel use, indoor air pollution, deforestation and soil erosion and greenhouse gas emissions. The type of fuel and participation in cooking tasks are important predictors of exposure to indoor air pollution. It is thus recommended to collect information on the fuel used for cooking by each housing unit. Fuel used for cooking refers to the fuel used predominantly for preparation of principal meals. If two fuels (for example, electricity and gas) are used, the one used most often should be enumerated. The classification of fuels used for cooking depends on national circumstances and may include electricity, gas, oil, coal, firewood, animal dung and so forth. It would also be useful to collect this information for collective living quarters as well, especially if the number of sets of collective living quarters in the country is significant. The classification of fuel used for cooking is as follows:

- 1. Gas
- 2. Electricity
- 3. Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)
- 4. Kerosene/paraffin (petroleum-based)
- 5. Oil (including vegetable oils used as fuel)
- 6. Coal
- 7. Firewood
- 8. Charcoal
- 9. Animal dung
- 10. Crop residues (e.g., cereal straw from maize, wheat, paddy rice, rice hulls, coconut husks, ground-nut shells)
- 11. Other

15. Lighting and/or electricity - type of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H12-R

2.497. Information should be collected on the type of lighting in the housing unit, such as electricity, gas, oil lamp and so forth. If the source of energy for lighting is electricity, some countries may wish to collect information showing whether the electricity mainly comes from a community supply, private generating plant or some other source (industrial plant, mine and so on). In addition to the type of lighting, countries may assess the information on the availability of electricity for purposes other than lighting (such as cooking, heating water, heating the premises and so forth). If housing conditions in the country allow this information to be derived from the type of lighting, there would be no need for additional inquiry.

2.498. For collective living quarters, it may be useful to collect information on availability of electricity to the occupants. Such living quarters are usually equipped with multi-facilities for the use of large groups, and information on electricity would be significant in terms of analysing housing conditions. The availability of electricity in collective living quarters is defined as an additional topic.

16. Solid waste disposal – main type of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H13-R

2.499. Securing sustainable development and, in this context, the usual manner of treatment of solid waste – garbage generated by the household, prompted the incorporation of this topic in a number of national housing censuses.

2.500. This topic refers to the usual manner of collection and disposal of solid waste/garbage generated by occupants of the housing unit. The unit of enumeration is a housing unit. The classification of housing units by type of solid waste disposal is according to the following guidelines:

- 1 Solid waste collected on a regular basis by authorized collectors
- 2 Solid waste collected on an irregular basis by authorized collectors
- 3 Solid waste collected by self-appointed collectors
- 4 Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump supervised by authorities
- 5 Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump not supervised by authorities
- 6 Occupants burn solid waste
- 7 Occupants bury solid waste
- 8 Occupants dispose solid waste into river/sea/creek/pond
- 9 Occupants composting solid waste
- 10 Other arrangement

17. Heating - type and energy used for

2.501. This topic refers to the type of heating of housing units and the energy used for that purpose. The units of enumeration are all housing units. This topic is irrelevant for a number of countries where, owing to their geographical position and climate, there is no need to provide heating. Type of heating refers to the kind of system used to provide heating for most of the space: it may be central heating serving all the sets of living quarters or serving a set of living quarters, or it may not be central in which case the heating will be provided separately within the living quarters by a stove, fireplace or some other heating body. As for the energy used for heating, it is closely related to the type of heating and refers to the predominant source of energy, such as solid fuels (coal, lignite and products of coal and lignite, wood), oils, gaseous fuels (natural or liquefied gas), electricity and so forth.

18. Hot water – availability of

2.502. This topic refers to the availability of hot water in housing units. Hot water denotes water heated to a certain temperature and conducted through pipes and tap to occupants. The information collected may indicate whether there is hot water available within the housing units, or outside the living quarters for exclusive or shared use, or not at all.

19. Piped gas – availability of

2.503. This topic refers to whether piped gas is available in the housing unit or not. Piped gas is usually defined as natural or manufactured gas that is distributed by pipeline and whose consumption is recorded. This topic may be irrelevant for a number of countries where there is either a lack of sources of natural gas or no developed pipeline system.

20. Use of housing unit

2.504. Use of a housing unit refers to whether the housing unit is being used wholly for habitation (residential) purposes or not. The housing unit can be used for habitation and for commercial, manufacturing or some other purposes. In a number of countries, houses are used simultaneously for more than one purpose. For example, the lower floor is used as a store or workshop, and the upper floors for habitation. The recommended classification of use of housing unit is as follows:

- 1 Used solely for habitation
- 2 Used for habitation and economic activity

21. Occupancy by one or more households (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H14-R

2.505. For the definitions of "household", "household head" and "persons living in institutions", see paragraphs 2.107-2.132 and 1.454-1.455 in the current version of the *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses*.

2.506. For the purpose of a housing census, each household must be identified separately. With respect to housing programmes, the use of the separate concepts of household and living quarters in carrying out housing censuses permits the identification of the persons or groups of persons in need of their own dwellings. If the household is defined as a group of persons occupying a set of living quarters, the number of households in the living quarters and the number of sets of occupied living quarters will always be equal and there will be no apparent housing need as reflected by doubled-up households requiring separate sets of living quarters. If living quarters are defined as the space occupied by a household, the number of households in living quarters will again be equal to the number of sets of living quarters, with the added disadvantage that there will be no record of the number of structurally separate living quarters.

2.507. Occupancy by more than one household is a useful topic for assessing the current housing situation and measuring the need for housing. For countries relying on the housekeeping concept, the number of households will yield this information. For countries relying on the dwelling unit concept of households, information on the type of households occupying a housing unit is needed to supplement this since the household is equivalent to the dwelling unit.

2.508. In countries where it is traditional to count families, the family in the broad sense of the term may be adopted as an additional unit of enumeration; in the great majority of cases the composition of this unit will coincide with that of the household.

2.509. A household should be defined in the same way for housing census purposes as for population censuses.

22. Occupants - number of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: H3-R and H6-R

2.510. Each person usually resident in a housing unit or set of collective living quarters should be counted as an occupant. Therefore, the units of enumeration for this topic are living quarters. However, since housing censuses are usually carried out simultaneously with population censuses, the applicability of this definition depends upon whether the information collected and recorded for each person in the population census indicates where he or she was on the day of the census or whether it refers to the usual residence (see paras. 2.46-2.56). Care should be exercised in distinguishing persons occupying mobile units, such as boats, caravans and trailers, as living quarters from persons using these units as a means of transportation.

23. Building - type of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H15-R

(a) **Definition of building**

2.511. A building is any independent free-standing structure comprising one or more rooms¹⁰⁷ or other spaces, covered by a roof and usually enclosed within external walls or dividing walls¹⁰⁸ that extend from the foundations to the roof. However, in tropical areas, a building may consist of a roof with supports only, that is to say, without constructed walls; in some cases, a roofless structure consisting of a space enclosed by walls may be considered a "building" (see also "compound" in para. 2.518).

2.512. A building may be used or intended for residential, commercial or industrial purposes or for the provision of services. It may therefore be a factory, shop, detached dwelling, apartment building, warehouse, garage, barn and so forth. In some exceptional cases, facilities usually provided by a set of living quarters are located in two or more separate detached structures, as when a kitchen is in a separate structure. In the case of living quarters with detached rooms, these rooms should be considered separate buildings. A building may therefore contain several sets of living quarters, as is the case for an apartment building or duplex; it may be coextensive with a single detached set of living quarters; or it may be only part of a set of living quarters, as is the case, for example, for living quarters with detached rooms, which are clearly intended to be used as part of the living quarters.

2.513. The concept of a building should be clearly defined and the instructions for the housing census should indicate whether all buildings are to be listed and enumerated or only those used in whole or in part for residential purposes. Instructions should also indicate whether buildings under construction are to be recorded and, if so, at what stage of completion they are to be considered eligible for inclusion. Buildings being demolished or awaiting demolition should normally be excluded.

(b) Classification of buildings by type

2.514. The following classification by type is recommended for buildings in which some space is used for residential purposes.

- 1 Buildings containing a single housing unit
 - 1.1 Detached
 - 1.2 Attached
- 2 Buildings containing more than one housing unit

¹⁰⁷ For the definition of "room", see paragraph 2.472.

¹⁰⁸ The term "dividing walls" refers to the walls of adjoining buildings that have been so constructed as to be contiguous, for example, the dividing walls of "row" houses.

- 2.1 Up to 2 floors
- 2.2 From 3 to 4 floors
- 2.3 From 5 to 10 floors
- 2.3 Eleven floors or more
- 3 Buildings for persons living in institutions
- 4 All others

2.515. It should be noted that, for the purpose of the housing census, the above classification refers to the building in which the sets of enumerated living quarters are located and that sets of living quarters, not buildings, will be tabulated according to the classification, since information concerning the building is required to describe the sets of living quarters within it.

2.516. Category 1 provides separate sub-groupings for "detached" and "attached" buildings because, although most single-unit buildings (suburban homes, villas, and so forth) are detached, in some countries a substantial number may be attached (row houses, for example) and in such cases it may be useful to identify these separately. According to the definition of building in paragraph 2.511 above, a group of, for example, three row houses that are attached is considered to be three separate buildings if their "external walls or dividing walls" extend from "the foundations to the roof". Buildings containing more than one housing unit (category 2) will usually be apartment buildings, but they may also be other types of buildings -- buildings that are structurally subdivided so as to contain more than one housing unit. Buildings under the latter category should be subdivided into the following: up to two floors, from 3 to 10 floors and 11 floors or more. Category 3, "Buildings for persons living in institutions", includes hospital buildings, prisons, military establishments, and so on. On the other hand, a structurally separate housing unit (a house or apartment intended for the occupancy of staff of the institution) or one that is either within a building of the institution or detached but within the grounds, belongs in category 1; if the housing unit is coextensive with a building, it belongs in category 2.

2.517. In addition to the above, and for subsequent analysis of housing conditions, each country will find it useful to provide for separate identification of the special types of buildings that are characteristic of the country concerned. These can be classified as category 4.

(c) Compound

2.518. In some countries, it may be appropriate to use the "compound" as a unit of enumeration. In some areas of the world, housing units are traditionally located within compounds and the grouping of sets of housing units in this way has economic and social implications that need to be studied. A compound, in these circumstances, becomes a distinct unit of enumeration, at par with a housing unit. For purposes of international comparability a compound should be classified according to the main features and facilities it displays and classified with housing units.

24. Year or period of construction

2.519. This topic refers to the age of the building in which the sets of living quarters are located. It is recommended that the exact year of construction be sought for buildings constructed during the intercensal period immediately preceding if it does not exceed 10 years. Where the intercensal period exceeds 10 years or where no previous census has been carried out, the exact year of construction should be sought for buildings constructed during the preceding 10 years. For buildings constructed before that time, the information should be collected in terms of periods that will provide a useful means of assessing the age of the housing stock. Difficulty may be experienced in collecting data on this topic because in some cases the occupants may not know the date of construction.

2.520. The collection of data for single years during the intercensal period is seen as a method of checking construction statistics for deficient coverage and of more closely integrating the housing census with current housing statistics.

2.521. The periods should be defined in terms of events that have some special significance in the country concerned; examples would be the period since the Second World War, the period between the First World War and the Second World War; the period before the earthquake, flood and so forth. Three age groups may be regarded as constituting a minimum classification. The total period covered by the age groups and the number of groups distinguished will depend upon the materials and methods of construction used in the country concerned and the number of years that buildings normally last.

2.522. Where parts of buildings have been constructed at different time, the year or period of construction should refer to the major part. Where living quarters comprise more than one building (living quarters with detached rooms, for example), the age of the building that contains the major part of the living quarters should be recorded.

2.523. In countries where a significant number of households construct their own living quarters (countries with large non-monetary sectors, for example), it may be useful to include an additional question that will distinguish the living quarters according to whether or not they were constructed by the household(s) occupying them. The information should refer only to living quarters constructed during the preceding intercensal or 10-year period, and it should be made clear in formulating the question that it refers to living quarters constructed mainly by households (with or without the help of other households in the community) and not to construction executed by enterprises on behalf of households.

25. Dwellings in the building – number of

2.524. This topic refers to the number of conventional dwellings in the building. This topic is applicable in cases where there is a possibility to have unique identifier for the building itself. If a census established such an identifier (building number, for example, linked to the address) then it would be possible to introduce this topic.

26. Construction material of outer walls (Core topic)

Recommended tabulations: H15-R and H16-R

2.525. This topic refers to the construction material of external (outer) walls of the building in which the sets of living quarters are located. If the walls are constructed of more than one type of material, the predominant type of material should be reported. The types distinguished (brick, concrete, wood, adobe and so on) will depend upon the materials most frequently used in the country concerned and on their significance from the point of view of permanency of construction or assessment of durability.

2.526. In some countries, the material used for the construction of roofs or of floors may be of special significance for the assessment of durability and, in such cases, it may be necessary to collect information on this as well as on the material of the walls. Durability refers to the period of time for which the structure remains habitable, subject to regular maintenance. A durable structure is one expected to remain sound for a considerable period of time. Countries may wish to define the length of the period, for example, 15 or 20 years. Durability does not depend solely on the materials used in construction, since it is also affected by the way the building was erected, that is to say, the consideration whether it was built according to construction standards and regulations. Recently, technological developments in treating traditional building materials, such as bamboo, have extended the durability of those materials for several decades. Construction material of outer walls may be considered an indicator of the building's durability. Therefore, in order to assess quality of the national housing stock, durability may be measured in terms of material used together with adherence to construction standards. Specific instructions for enumerators at the national level should be developed on the basis of national building construction practice.

2.527. While the material of construction is a useful addition to data collected on the type of living quarters, it should not be considered a substitute for the latter type of information. Wood, for example, may be the material of a poorly constructed squatter's hut or of a durable and well-constructed dwelling. In these cases, information on the type of unit adds significantly to the possibility of quality appraisal.

27. Construction material of floor, roof

2.528. In some cases the material used for the construction of roofs and floors may be of special interest and can be used to further assess the quality of dwellings in the building. This topic refers to the material used for roof and/or floor (although, depending on the specific needs of a country, it may refer to other parts of the building as well, such as the frame or the foundation). Only the predominant material is enumerated and, in the case of a roof, it may be tile, concrete, metal sheets, palm, straw, bamboo or similar vegetation material, mud, plastic sheets and so forth.

28. Elevator – availability of

2.529. This topic refers to the availability of an elevator (an enclosed platform raised and lowered to transport people and freight) in a multi-storey building (categories 2.2 and 2.3 of the classification of buildings). The information is collected on the availability of an elevator for most of the time, in other words one that is operational for most of the time, subject to regular maintenance.

2.530. This topic should be looked upon as one indicating accessibility to the building or the housing unit, as this is of utmost importance especially for older persons and people with disabilities. The census can include other additional topics in regard to accessibility, such as ramp, steps, etc.

29. Farm building

2.531. A number of national censuses found it necessary to specify whether the enumerated building was a farm building or not. A farm building is one that is part of an agricultural holding and used for agricultural and/or housing purposes.

30. State of repair

2.532. This topic refers to whether the building is in need of repair and to the kind of repair needed. This topic is applicable in cases where there is a possibility to have unique identifier for the building itself. If a census established such an identifier (building number, for example, linked to the address) then it would be possible to introduce this topic. The classification of buildings according to the state of repair may include: repair not needed, in need of minor, moderate or serious repair and irreparable. Minor repairs refer mostly to the regular maintenance of the building and its components, such as repair of a cracked window. Moderate repairs refer to the correcting of moderate defects such as missing gutters on the roof, large areas of broken plaster, stairways with no secure handrails and so forth. Serious repairs are needed in the case of serious structural defects of the building, such as missing shingles or tiles on the roof, cracks and holes in the exterior walls, missing stairways and so forth. The term "irreparable" refers to buildings that are beyond repair, that is to say, with so many serious structural defects that it is deemed more appropriate to tear the buildings down than to undertake repairs; most usually this term is used for buildings with only the frame left standing, without complete external walls and/or roof and so forth.

31. Age and sex of head or other reference member of household (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H17-R

2.533. From among the topics recommended for inclusion in the population census, age has been selected as being of most significance in relation to housing conditions. For the housing census, the data usually relate only to the head or other reference member of the household, although in some cases (for a detailed study of overcrowding, for example), it may be necessary to tabulate information (age and sex, in this instance) for the other members of the household.

2.534. In some cases, the characteristics of the person identified as the head or other reference member of the household might not be of significance in connection with the housing conditions of the household. To provide a basis for valid assumptions concerning this relationship, the circumstances likely to affect it should be carefully considered and provided for in carrying out census tests and in analysing the results of those tests. Post-enumeration evaluation surveys will provide a further opportunity to examine the relationship between the characteristics (para. 2.535) of those identified as heads or other reference members of the household and the housing conditions of the household in question.

2.535. If the population and housing censuses are conducted simultaneously, as is the practice in the majority of countries, then information on age of the head or other reference member of the household will be collected together with other relevant demographic characteristics in the population part of the census. If, however, the housing census is collected independently of the population census, then there must be a provision for collecting this information.

32. Tenure (Core topic)

2

Recommended tabulation: H18-R

2.536. Tenure refers to the arrangements under which the household occupies all or part of a housing unit. The unit of enumeration is a household occupying a housing unit. The classification of households by tenure is as follows:

- 1 Member of household owns housing unit
 - Member of household rents all or a part of housing unit
 - 2.1 Member of household rents all or a part of housing unit as a main tenant
 - 2.2 Member of household rents a part of housing unit as a subtenant
- 3 Occupied free of rent
- 4 Other arrangement

2.537. National circumstances can dictate the need to assess the number of households occupying the housing unit free of rent (category 3 in para. 2.536) and to further distinguish whether such arrangement is with or without the consent of the owner. However, this information regarding the consent of the owner is subject to special scrutiny in terms of reliability. Furthermore, in countries where communal ownership is significantly represented, this topic on tenure should be further elaborated in order to capture tenure arrangements of communally owned housing. Likewise, the category "Other arrangements" can be further elaborated to capture forms of tenure specific to some countries.

2.538. The question of tenure needs to be clearly distinguished in the questionnaire as one to be asked of all households; otherwise there is a danger that it may be omitted in cases where more than one household occupies a single housing unit. Tenure information collected for living quarters shows very clearly the distinction between rented units and units that are owner-occupied, but it fails to distinguish the various forms of sub-tenancy that exist in many areas, information regarding which could be obtained from a question directed at households,¹⁰⁹ nor does it allow for an investigation of the relationship between tenure and socio-economic characteristics of heads of the household. Under some circumstances, it may be useful to indicate separately households that, although not subtenants in the sense that they rent from another occupant who is a main tenant or owner-occupant, rent part of a housing unit from a landlord who lives elsewhere. These households and subtenant households may be of special significance in formulating housing programmes. On the contrary, in countries where subtenancy is not usual, information on subtenants may not be collected in the census or, if collected, may be tabulated only for selected areas.

¹⁰⁹ Some indication of the number of households occupying their living quarters as subtenants could be obtained from a comparison of the number of sets of living quarters of various types with the number of occupant households.

2.539. In countries where the land and the living quarters are frequently occupied under separate tenure, the topic may be expanded to show separate information for the tenure under which the household or households occupy the living quarters and for the tenure of the land upon which those living quarters are located.

33. Rental and owner-occupant housing costs

2.540. Rent is the amount paid periodically (weekly, monthly, and so forth) for the space occupied by a household. Information may be obtained on the basis of a scale of rents rather than on that of the exact amount paid. The data may be considered in relation either to household characteristics or to the characteristics of the living quarters. In the latter case, where more than one household occupies a single set of living quarters, the rents paid by all the households will need to be summed in order to obtain the total rent for the living quarters. In the case of living quarters that are partly rented and partly owner-occupied, it may be necessary to impute the rent for the owner-occupied portion.

2.541. In addition to the amount of rent paid by renting households, it may be useful to collect information on the housing costs of the owner-occupants. Such costs could include information on monthly mortgage payments, taxes, cost of utilities and so forth.

34. Furnished/unfurnished

2.542. Provision must be made for indicating whether the housing units covered by the rent are furnished or unfurnished and whether utilities such as gas, electricity, heat, water and so forth are included. Provision also needs to be made for recording households that occupy their premises rent-free or pay only part of the economic rent. In countries where rent for the housing unit is paid separately from rent for the land upon which they stand, separate information may need to be collected reflecting the amount of ground rent paid.

35. Information and Communication Technology (ICT) devices – availability of (Core topic)

Recommended tabulation: H19-R

2.543. The importance of availability of ICT devices is increasing significantly in the contemporary society. These devices provide a set of services that are changing the structure and pattern of major social and economic phenomena. The housing census provides an outstanding opportunity to assess the availability of these devices to the household. The choice of topics should be sufficient for understanding the place of ICTs in the household, as well as for use for planning purposes by government and private sector to enable wider and improved delivery of services, and to assess their impact on the society. The recommended classification is:

- 1. Household having radio
- 2. Household having television set
- 3. Household having fixed line telephone
- 4. Household having mobile cellular telephone(s)
- 5. Household having personal computer(s)
- 6. Household accessing the Internet from home
- 7. Household accessing the Internet from elsewhere other than home
- 8. Household without access to the Internet

2.544. In the case of ICT topics, census designers have many options to consider. A sensible approach for presenting questions in a census is to group topics into categories by technology, theme, and/or objective, in order to give census designers the utmost flexibility in choosing the set of questions that best matches their national policy plans. For instance, a category on the "Internet and PCs" would be concerned with determining the status of access to the Internet and PCs by households for a country, in relation to other socioeconomic or geographic classificatory variables, while a category on "access path and devices" would be concerned with determining the households with the means for electronic communication (fixed line and mobile cellular telephones) and the equipment that provides

the interface between the user and the network (PCs), in relation to other socioeconomic or geographic classificatory variables.

2.545. In designing the questions, census designers should differentiate between two distinct viewpoints, namely: (a) the availability of ICTs to the households, and (b) access to, and use of, ICTs by the household members. The distinction is important, since households need not own, but still have access to personal computers and the Internet through school/university, public access centres, and/or other households. It also means that countries interested in collecting information on ICT use, particularly of the internet, would need to include a relevant question topic in their census individual form. The rational for adopting either viewpoint, or even a combination of both, is not necessarily only technical, but rests more on the prevailing conditions in the society, and/or on how the information will be used to characterize the socioeconomic profile of households of a country. The recommended tabulation H19 tabulates statistics concerned with the availability of ICT devices. Usage statistics, including the intensity (frequency) of use and the range of activities performed, are preferably obtained using household surveys.

2.546. Radio and television are the most widespread ICTs in the world. They are also the reliable and useful ICTs for many parts of the world where modern, Internet-based ICTs are not affordable, or not yet available. In hindsight, radio and television are the narrowband and broadband ICTs of old. Few countries collect the number of radio and television sets, and thus most data are estimates. A radio set is a device capable of receiving broadcast radio signals, using popular frequencies in the FM, AM, LW, and SW ranges. A radio set may be a standalone device, or it may be integrated into another device, such as a Walkman, a car, or an alarm clock. A television set is a device capable of receiving broadcast television signals, using popular access means such as over-the-air, cable, and satellite. A television set is typically a standalone device, but it may also be integrated into another device, such as a computer, or a mobile device.

2.547. Fixed line telephones refer to telephone lines, typically copper wires, which connect a customer's terminal equipment, e.g., telephone set, facsimile machine, to a public switched telephone network (PSTN), and have a dedicated port on a telephone exchange. Although fixed telephone lines have now been surpassed by mobile telephony globally, they are still an important affordable communication medium. Furthermore, they provide a basis for Internet access in most economies, whether through dial-up, Integrated Services Digital Networks (ISDNs), or Digital Subscriber Line (DSL) services.

2.548. Mobile cellular telephones are becoming the predominant method of communications in many countries. Indicators related to mobile telephony are therefore fundamental indicators of the information society. Mobile cellular telephones refer to portable telephones using cellular technology that provides access to PSTN. Mobile cellular subscribers refer to users of such telephones with either post-paid subscriptions or pre-paid accounts.

2.549. The personal computer (PC) is a generic term that refers to any computer designed primarily for use by one person at a time at home, office, or school. PCs, whether desktops or notebooks, comprise any combination of processors, input/output devices, storage drives, and network interface cards; are run by a variety of operating systems; and may be connected to other PCs or to the Internet. They exclude terminals connected to mainframe computers for data processing, and midrange multi-user systems that are primarily intended for shared use. Devices such as handheld personal digital assistants (PDAs) and smart telephones are usually not considered PCs, as they have only some, but not all, of the components of the PC, such as, for instance, standard keyboard and large screen. Internet-enabled telephones, which essentially perform a similar service as the PC but for mobile networks, are also not considered PCs.

2.550. Internet access from home refers to the ability of the household to connect to the public Internet using TCP/IP protocols. Internet connections may be classified according to the technology employed, devices used, communication medium, and/or connection bandwidth [speed]. Internet access at home is meant to include both narrowband and broadband connections. Broadband may be defined loosely as transmission capacity with sufficient bandwidth to permit combined provision of voice, data, and video. ITU has set a lower limit of broadband access at 256 *KBit/sec*, as the sum of the connection uploading and downloading capacities. Broadband is implemented mainly through xDSL, cable, [wireless] local area network ([W]LAN), satellite broadband Internet, or Fiber-to-the-

home Internet access. Narrowband access is typically carried out through dial-up modems, ISDNs, and most secondgeneration (2G) mobile cellular telephones. Access to the Internet is measured irrespective of the type of access, device used to access the Internet, or the method of payment.

36. Cars – number of

2.551. This topic refers to the number of cars and vans normally available for use by members of the household. The term "normally available" refers to cars and vans that are either owned by occupants or under some other more or less permanent agreement, such as a lease and those provided by an employer if available for use by the household but excludes vans used solely for carrying goods.

37. Durable household appliances – availability of

2.552. The unit of enumeration is a household occupying a housing unit and information may be collected on the availability within the housing unit of durable appliances such as laundry washing machines, dishwashing machines, refrigerators, deep freezes, and so forth, depending on national circumstances.

38. Outdoor space – availability of

2.553. This topic refers to the availability of outdoor space intended for the recreational activities of the members of a household occupying a housing unit. The classification can refer to the outdoor space available as part of a housing unit (for example, the backyard in the case of a detached house), the outdoor space available adjacent to the building (for example, backyards and playgrounds placed next to the apartment building), the outdoor space available as part of common recreational areas within a 10-minute walk from the housing unit (for example, parks, sports centres and similar sites) or outdoor space not available within a 10-minute walk.

Part Three: Census Products and Data Utilization

VIII. Census Products and Services

3.1. The population and housing census represents one of the pillars for the data collection on the number and characteristics of the population of a country. The population and housing census is part of an integrated national statistical system, which may include other censuses (for example, agriculture), surveys, registers and administrative files. It provides at regular intervals the benchmark for the population counting at national and local levels. For small geographical areas or sub-population it may represent the only source of information for certain social, demographic and economic characteristics. For many countries the census also provides a unique source for a solid framework to develop sampling frames.

3.2. The role of the census to provide information in support of government programs and policies should be carefully discussed with census stakeholders early in the planning stages. For some countries, the census is the only source of this information. When a country's national statistical system also includes other well developed sources of statistical information such as registers and surveys, the consultations with stakeholders should consider which of these vehicles can best serve their particular data needs.

3.3. With the rapid development of technology, census data users have an increasing interest in a broad range of products and services from the census organization. The types of output that census offices may produce and disseminate have been covered in part one (see paras. 1.206-1.209). With the availability of microcomputers, some data users may prefer to obtain census products in computer media rather than in printed form. However, there are still many users who would prefer to receive census results in printed form. Since the cost of producing census products in various formats, for example, printed, in computer media or on-line, can be high, it is recommended that countries consider very carefully the forms in which the census results are disseminated. If a cost-recovery scheme is being planned from the dissemination programme, early study and analysis of the potential data users and their requirements are particularly important.

3.4. Some data users will need specialized products that the census organization is not planning to produce as part of the general census programme. In such cases, it is recommended that the census organization establish a service to meet such specialized requests, usually on a cost reimbursement basis. Consultation with data users is recommended prior to deciding the type of services that may be required by the data users (see also paras. 1.113). Consultation will also assist the census organization in determining the cost that the users are prepared to pay for the services required. For example, if the third level of administrative area is the lowest unit of aggregation for the dissemination of certain characteristics, users who require more detailed disaggregation may be charged for the services required to produce these tabulations. Sometimes a major user or user group may contract prior to the census for a specific census product. Such an advance contracting will greatly facilitate census planning and may mean, as a result, that the census organization can provide the product at reduced cost. However, it is important for the creditability of the census organization that the authorities continue to give priority to general census products funded by general government funding over such specially funded outputs.

3.5. Processed material can be made accessible in a number of ways. Tabulations required by only a few users, such as certain government offices or specialized research organizations, can be supplied in unpublished form (that is to say, unpublished hard-copy tables or tabulations in machine-readable format). Some data may not be tabulated until they are required. Computers provide the opportunity to produce a greater number and a wider variety of tabulations than was the case with previous tabulation procedures. The data stored in the census database represent a rich source of information, which allows fast and relatively inexpensive production of additional tables as they are requested. On-line access or dissemination of such micro- and/or macro-databases on computer media can greatly contribute to an enlarging of the user base and thus to the demand for census data. Two cautionary notes are important to keep in mind, however. First, certain cross-tabulations may be of questionable value from a substantive viewpoint because of response, sampling or processing errors or because of processing or imputation procedures. The census authorities will have to establish procedures for warning potential users about such problems to help safeguard the credibility of the entire census. Some census organizations refuse to permit the release of certain cross-tabulations for reasons related to substantive quality, although such a policy may alienate users. Other

organizations will release such cross-tabulations only where there is a clear policy that takes into account both substantive and technical considerations. Second, some detailed cross-tabulations and all files with individual records potentially pose problems in respect of disclosing information about identifiable individual respondents in violation of the rules on census confidentiality. This issue is more fully discussed in part one (see paras. 1.376-1.377). Both the substantive quality and confidentiality issues need to be addressed and appropriate safeguards established. On the other hand, neither issue should pose any problem with respect to the dissemination of a wide range of census products.

3.6. An increasing number of statistical organizations make a clear distinction between delivering basic information to the public and delivering information to specific users. In the case where cost recovery is applied, census product users requiring customized information or a copy of a product are charged. The prices of the products and services are generally established to cover all expenses related to production costs, marketing costs and standard agency overhead, including support. Production costs do not include costs of collecting and processing the data since these activities are performed in the conduct of surveys and censuses driven primarily by public policy needs.

A. Publication of Census Results

1. Provisional results

3.7. The initial release of population counts is generally awaited with anticipation, from the general public to program and policy administrations. Thus, some countries release provisional results very soon after enumeration is completed. Subject to change once the full data processing and verification operations have been completed, they nevertheless provide a general picture of population trends. Data users should be made aware of implications of using provisional population counts. The schedule and description of upcoming releases of final results and products should be made public early in the process to maintain interest by the public in the census. The releases can be staggered, from simple, descriptive one-page summary fact sheets covering a country's major geographical divisions initially, to more comprehensive tabulations and descriptive reports later on.

2. Tabulations

3.8. Every effort should be made to publish the principal results of a population census (such as those on age, sex and geographical distribution of the population) and of a housing census (such as a geographical distribution of sets of living quarters, households and population by type of living quarters) as soon as possible after the enumeration, otherwise their usefulness and the extent of their interest to the public will be diminished. With the almost universal use of modern computer equipment for the processing of census data, the time required for processing has been greatly reduced in comparison with that for older forms of processing and the processing cost of each tabulation and the relative cost of processing additional tabulations represent a much smaller fraction of the total census cost than in the past. As a result, collection restrictions, in terms of cost and accuracy of the data, have a greater relative weight in determining the number and complexity of the tabulations that can be produced and disseminated.

3.9. The population and housing censuses tabulations shown below and illustrated in Annex 2 and Annex 3 are intended to provide, in published form, the most important census information needed as a basis for programmes of economic and social development and to be used for research purposes. They do not in any way represent all of the tabulations that a given country may publish and certainly not all of the tabulations that may eventually be prepared for special purposes. The tabulations do not take into account the form in which information may be entered into a database, which may be more detailed than that required for these illustrative census tabulations.

3.10. While the census is the main source of information for the tabulations in Annex 2 and Annex 3, other sources may include registers, surveys and civil registration. This is particularly the case for countries with well developed vital statistics registers that provide input to the tabulations on fertility and mortality. Conversely, the United Nations publishes other tables that are not based primarily on census data.

3.11. A major goal of these recommendations is to provide a set of tabulations that need to be produced at the lowest geographical level pertaining to the same point in time so that a country or area is able to meet its data needs for evidence-based socio-economic development planning and monitoring. While the majority of national statistical authorities use a population and housing census as the single most comprehensive vehicle to collect these necessary statistics, others use sample surveys, registers of population and vital events, and other administrative sources, or from a combination of these methods to derive them.

3.12. Unlike its predecessor the Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses, Revision 1,¹¹⁰ revision 2 contains three categories of tabulations: (1) basic/essential, (2) recommended, and (3) optimum tabulations as described below.

(a) **Basic/essential tabulations**

3.13. These are tabulations that are deemed of top priority for production by the countries. They are also regarded as essential for countries in difficult circumstances, such as those that have emerged from a conflict or those that have not carried out a census in a long time, in terms of providing minimum statistics to meet their basic data needs.

3.14. There are 20 basic/essential tabulations on population and 7 on housing characteristics. They are marked with an asterisk in the list below.

(b) Recommended tabulations

3.15. Recommended tabulations are those that are considered adequate for meeting the essential data needs for evidence-based planning, monitoring and implementation of national policies because of their perceived relevance at both the national and international levels. These tabulations are also designed with the potential for producing statistics at the lowest geographical level and are expected to be produced by each country at least once in the census decade.

3.16. The recommended set of tabulations also includes the basic/essential tabulations discussed above and includes 33 tabulations on population (see Annex 2) and 19 on housing characteristics (see Annex 3).

3.17. Associated with the recommended tabulations are the core topics that go into their production. Core topics are therefore the main variables for the recommended tabulations. There are 31 cores on population with 25 of them direct topics and 6 indirect (for a more detailed discussion of direct and indirect topics, see para. 2.14).

3.18. As stated in paragraph 2.1, the aim of the recommended tabulations is to permit national and international comparability of data due to use of common concepts and definitions of the core topics. For each of the recommended tabulations, the core topics that it represents are listed as part of the metadata. Other metadata that are presented for each of the recommended tabulations includes: (1) the source of statistics, i.e., whether from a (i) traditional census, (ii) register-based census, (iii) survey, or (iv) rolling survey; (2) the type of population count, i.e., whether a *de jure* or *de facto* population or a combination of these; and (3) the definition of urban and rural areas used.

(c) Additional tabulations

3.19. The optimum set of tabulations includes the basic/essential and the recommended tabulations discussed above, as well as additional tabulations and is designed to meet the needs of most of the users at national and international level. This set can be viewed as being equivalent to the complete set of tabulations contained in the *Principles and Recommendations for Population and Housing Censuses, Revision* 1^{111} . Annex 4 and Annex 5 present the list of additional tabulations for population and housing censuses, respectively.

¹¹⁰ Statistical Papers, Series M, No. 67/Rev.1 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XVII.8).

¹¹¹ *Ibid*.

List of recommended tabulations for population and housing censuses

Group 1. Tabulations on geographical and internal migration characteristics

- P1.1-R Total population and population of major and minor civil divisions, by urban/rural distribution and by sex*
- P1.2-R Population in localities, by size-class of locality and by sex*
- P1.3-R Population of principal localities and of their urban agglomerations, by sex
- P1.4-R Native and foreign-born population, by age and sex *
- P1.5-R Population, by duration of residence in locality and major civil division, age and sex*
- P 1.6a-R Population by place of usual residence, duration of residence, place of previous residence and sex
- P.1.6b-R Population ... years of age and over, by place of usual residence, place of residence at a specified date in the past, age and sex

Group 2. Tabulations on international migration and immigrant stock

- P2.1-R Foreign-born population, by country of birth, age and sex
- P2.2-R Foreign-born population, by period of arrival, country of birth, age and sex *
- P2.3-R Population, by country of birth and citizenship, age and sex
- P2.4-R Economically active foreign-born population ... years of age and over, by period of arrival, occupation and sex

Group 3. Tabulations on household characteristics

- P3.1-R Population in households, by relationship to head or other reference member of household, marital status and sex, and size of institutional population
- P3.2-R Head or other reference members of households, by age and sex; and other household members, by age and relationship to head or other reference member*
- P3.3-R Households, population in households and number of family nuclei, by size of household *

Group 4. Tabulations on demographic and social characteristics

- P4.1-R Population, by single years of age and sex*
- P4.2-R Population, by marital status, age and sex*

Group 5. Tabulations on fertility and mortality

- P5.1-R Female population 10 years of age and over, by age and number of children ever born alive by sex*
- P5.2-R Female population 10 years of age and over, by age and number of children living by sex*
- P5.3-R Female population ... to 49 years of age, by age, number of live births, by sex within the 12 months preceding the census, and deaths among these live births, by sex
- P5.4-R Household deaths, by sex and age within the 12 months preceding the census; and total population, by age and sex

Group 6. Tabulations on educational characteristics

- P6.1-R Population ... years of age and over not attending school, by educational attainment, age and sex*
- P6.2-R Population 5 to 29 years of age, by school attendance, single years of age and sex*
- P6.3-R Population 10 years of age and over, by literacy, age group and sex

Group 7. Tabulations on economic characteristics

- P7.1-R Population ... years of age and over, by usual (or current) activity status, marital status, age and sex*
- P7.2-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main occupation, age and sex*
- P7.3-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main industry, age and sex*

- P7.4-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main status in employment, age and sex*
- P7.5-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main status in employment, main industry and sex
- P7.6-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main status in employment, main occupation and sex
- P7.7-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main industry, main occupation and sex*
- P7.8-R Population not usually (or currently) active, by functional categories, age and sex*

Group 8. Tabulations on disability characteristics

- P8.1-R Population with and without disabilities by urban/rural area, age and sex*
- P 8.2-R Population 5 years of age and over, by disability status, educational attainment, age and sex
- P 8.3-R Population 15 years and over, by disability status, economic activity status, age and sex

Group 9. Tabulations on housing characteristics

- H1-R Persons, by broad types of living quarters and number of roofless*
- H2-R Persons in collective living quarters by type
- H3-R Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit*
- H4-R Conventional dwellings by occupancy status
- H5-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of ownership of the housing units
- H6-R Housing units, by number of rooms, cross-classified by type of housing unit and number of occupants per housing unit
- H7-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by water supply system*
- H8-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main source of drinking water*
- H9-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of toilet and type of sewage disposal*
- H10-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of bathing facilities
- H11-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking
- H12-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of lighting and/or use of electricity
- H13-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main type of solid waste disposal
- H14-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by number of households per housing unit
- H15-R Conventional dwellings by type of building, and construction material of outer walls
- H16-R Housing units by type and construction material of outer walls
- H17-R Households, by type of living quarters, cross-classified by sex and age of head or other reference member of household*
- H18-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by tenure of household and, for tenant households, ownership of housing unit occupied*
- H19-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by communication technology devices and access to Internet

3.20. In order to avoid producing census tabulations that are overly voluminous or that contain a large number of empty cells, some countries may find it necessary to employ a more restricted geographical classification than that suggested in the illustrations. For example, basic facilities such as piped water or electricity may be almost completely lacking for large areas of some countries. Under these circumstances, tabulation of the relevant data for small geographical areas would not be appropriate. The geographical classification to be utilized needs to be carefully considered, taking into account the type of information being tabulated, its probable frequency distribution and the uses to which the data are likely to be put.

3.21. Some countries may also collect data on additional topics in the census questionnaire to address specific concerns. For example, whether or not the birth of an individual is registered, the age a woman first marries or the

vocational and technical skills. In other cases, detailed tabulations for special population may be required for use in planning or evaluation of programs. Tabulations for the non-core topics may be done after the basic tabulations are completed. Consultations with user groups both at the national and at the local levels may be helpful in determining the most suitable tabulation plan and method of dissemination.

3.22. Metadata is a key element of census dissemination to ensure that the underlying concepts are well understood and that the results are well interpreted. All tabulations should include the following metadata or references to where this information can be obtained. Census questions; reasons why they are asked; conceptual definitions (census dictionary); geographic hierarchies used; changes since the previous census with regard to content, operational methods or geographic boundaries; and quality indicators such as coverage rates and item non-response. If a long-form sample is used in the census, metadata should also provide information on the sampling variability of the results. When the census tabulations include suppressed data cells due to small numbers, the metadata should also include a methodological note on the rules and methods of suppression.

3. Thematic statistical or analytical reports

3.23. Many countries prepare different types of thematic or analytical reports. These may range from volumes presenting extensive and detailed statistical tabulations, particularly cross-tabulations, to more analytical reports that combine tabular materials with some interpretative or analytical text. This latter group of reports might include, for example, *volumes of regional analysis* on such subjects as population or housing conditions of urban areas, major metropolitan areas or big cities, and regional distributions; and comparisons of key social indicators such as education, living arrangements, housing conditions, sanitation and economic activities. Other such reports might include *community profile analysis*, of, for example, the indigenous population, and so forth and *profiles of specific population groups*, such as families, children, youth and the elderly population. Reports on *population growth and distribution* that examine changes in the demographic characteristics of the country's population with breakdowns by two or three levels of administrative areas would be very useful. Such reports might focus on the growth, location and mobility of the population at the national and regional levels, and administrative areas. Partnership and external cooperation with academic institutions and other specialists in subject matter, which can facilitate such work and strengthen collaborations, should be sought whenever possible.

3.24. Other published reports may include the census methodology, encompassing, if applicable, sampling design and methodology and a census evaluation report, which may include estimates of census coverage and the methodology used for their preparation.

4. Other reports

3.25. It is important that users of census products be provided on a timely basis with as much relevant information regarding the census as possible. A publication that contains information on all types of products that will be available following the census is very useful to users. A brief description of each product should be provided including the estimated timing of release, the level of geographical detail that each product carries and, for products released periodically, the frequency of release. In the case of large census operations, several such documents tailored to the needs of different sets of users (for example, users in education, health or local government) may be useful.

3.26. Many countries publish a *census dictionary*, which contains comprehensive definitions of terms and concepts and detailed classifications used to present census outputs. Some countries also publish geographical classifications and codes and the definitions of areas used in the census and their relationships with the administrative areas. Explanations of user-defined areas for specific census tabulations and the type of format available (printed or electronic) may be provided.

5. Procedural report

3.27. One of the most important reports in the publication programme is the *administrative report*, which is a record of the entire census undertaking, including problems encountered and their solutions. The report may include the following topics: a brief history of the census in the country, legal basis for conducting the census, budget

requirements and control, census committees and their activities, census organization and personnel structure, quality control procedures, census calendar, census cartographic work, development and design of the questionnaires, enumeration methodology of each census, field organization, manual editing and coding, data-processing development and organization, data capture, computer editing and imputation procedure, computer hardware and software used, census evaluation, publication and data dissemination programme. The census administrative report is very useful both for the users and for the census organization itself. Given the long lapse of time between censuses and the likelihood of changes in personnel, particularly in the upper echelon, the administrative report is an essential product for the planning of future censuses (see also paras. 1.406-1.407).

3.28. With the developments in information technology, the census data files and publications have become increasingly available in computer media. A description of the procedure in the development of these data files may also be included in the procedural report. Consideration for a separate volumes of procedural report for the processing and dissemination phases maybe considered to ensure the completion of the planning and field operations phases immediately after the census enumeration.

B. Census Mapping

1. Basic mapping

3.29. Published analogous and digital maps are tools that make the census results more understandable and easier to use. The provision of maps serves two purposes: first, census area identification maps locate and show the boundaries of all administrative areas for which data are reported in census publications and, second, statistical or thematic maps present the significant results of the census, thus allowing the general user to visualize the geographical distributions and patterns inherent in the data. Well-designed and attractive maps will interest the users of census reports, and may raise questions that send them to the statistical tables for further details.

3.30. A comprehensive map publication programme should be developed as part of the overall population and housing census publication programme in order that the needed resources may be provided with in the budget at the initial planning stages. In addition to preparing maps for the census tables and reports, many countries have also found it useful to produce a population atlas as a census output. Collaboration with other departments and interested agencies should be sought to facilitate the production of an atlas volume. The atlas would include maps depicting population and housing characteristics as well as other data influencing the growth, composition and distribution pattern of population and housing (see paras. 1.143-1.148).

3.31. There are three major types of area identification maps that are commonly used in most census publications: (*a*) national maps showing the boundaries of the first- and second-order geographical divisions and of the major cities or metropolitan areas; (*b*) maps of each first-order division showing the boundaries of the second- and third-order divisions for which statistical tables will be prepared; and (*c*) urban or metropolitan maps showing small sub-area boundaries as well as general streets, roads and rivers.

3.32. The purpose of statistical maps is to present the results in terms of their geographical distribution. There is special interest in the current pattern of the distribution and also in changes in the patterns that have occurred over time, particularly since the last census.

2. Thematic mapping

3.33. As regards *thematic maps*, priority indicators for a population and housing census are total population and its distribution by sub-areas, population density, urban and rural population or metropolitan and non-metropolitan population, and changes in the population totals since the last census. Other important indicators include age, sex, fertility, mortality, migration, educational attainment, employment, household size, type of housing, ownership, number of rooms, and sanitary facilities, with a growing demand also for data on communication (telephones, television, computers and internet access), transport (vehicles), a broad range of household amenities, and recently also population-based development indicators such as household access to safe water, household waste management, and multiple sources of household incomes, such as the incidence of remittances. This list of indicators is merely an illustration of the type of thematic maps individual countries might find useful to produce. Producing maps using the

same set of indicators enables countries to meaningfully compare their results over time and with international or regional norms.

3.34. Maps are an invaluable aid in meaningfully comparing sub-national results with national values or with other international and regional norms. Desktop mapping and desktop publishing software provides great flexibility in composing informative and visually appealing maps. Often several maps can be combined on a single page to show one indicator, for example, for the urban and the rural population. Also, combining maps and statistical charts are an effective means of presenting census information. On the other hand, some care should be exercised in respect of producing complex printed maps involving several variables, as such maps are often difficult to reproduce clearly and the general user may find them difficult to understand.

3.35. By having associated graphing and mapping capabilities, databases will greatly increase their usefulness. Ideally users should be able to generate the graphs and/or maps required by themselves, and then print or plot them, paste them into a report or make the images available for other uses. Several census organizations have produced this kind of product, sometimes in cooperation with a commercial company. Many users require small area data for concerning such matters as home ownership, educational profiles, the labour market, and so on. While the database may be for one census, some historical information can be included to allow users to observe prevailing trends over time. As with all time-series type data, it is important to maintain consistency in both definition and spatial representations to ensure comparability.

3.36. Both micro- and macro-data can be at the basis of these dissemination products. However, owing to the need to maintain confidentiality, and in order to increase processing speed, some form of prior aggregation is usually applied, for example by using summary data. Such summary data could also be combined with the general-purpose graphing and mapping software. However, this would result in a reduction of the user community to those able to handle rather more complicated processing jobs. Making available a census database with tightly integrated graphing and mapping capabilities (which usually implies a tabulation function) is an excellent way to improve the effectiveness of census information dissemination. If it is to be commercially successful, the product must be easy to use.

3.37. The following list presents some suggested topics for census maps. The list is not exhaustive: most topics that appear in the questionnaire as well as derived topics covered in part two can be presented in cartographic form. In some countries, special topics such as population distribution by ethnic or language group may be appropriate. Conversely, some of the listed maps present information on the same topic in somewhat different form, so that a statistical agency may wish to select the most suitable indicator for the needs of the country.

Illustrative list of thematic census maps

Population dynamics and distribution

Percentage population change during intercensal period(s) Average annual growth rate Population density (persons per square kilometre) Urban population as percentage of total population Distribution and size of major cities and towns In-migration, out-migration and net migration rates Born in country and foreign-born Born in another division of the country

Demographic characteristics

Sex ratio (males per 100 females), possibly by age groups Percentage of population age 0-14 Percentage of population age 15-64 Percentage of population age 65 and over Percentage female population in childbearing ages 15-49 Total dependency ratio (population age 0-14, and 65 and over, as percentage of population age 15-64) Marital status Birth rate Total fertility rate Mean age at first marriage Death rate Infant mortality rate Life expectancy at birth Percentage of people with disabilities

Socio-economic characteristics

Percentage of children not in primary school Adult literacy rate (age 15 and over) Mean years of schooling (age 25 and over) Illiteracy rate of population age 15 and over Illiterate population age 15 and over (total number) Educational level of population age 10 and over Labour force as percentage of total population Women's share of adult labour force Percentage of labour force by economic sector, type of occupation and status in employment

Households and housing

Average number of persons per household Percentage of households headed by women Average number of dwelling rooms per household Tenure status (owned, rented, and so forth) Type of construction material Percentage of population with access to adequate shelter Percentage of population with access to safe water Percentage of population with access to electricity Percentage of population with access to sanitation Percentage of population with access to sanitation

3.38. Where appropriate, the indicators can be presented disaggregated by gender as well as by urban/rural areas (for example, where the rural population is greater than about 25 per cent of the total population). If information about an indicator is also available from a previous census, it is often very informative to produce change maps or to present maps for both time periods.

3.39. The development of village population size maps by regions is of particular value. These maps combine two types of information: village population statistics and village locations in each region or subnational area. More information can be presented on, for example, the village location within the district and the region, habitable and non-habitable areas, densely populated villages, areas with no villages, and the proximity of villages. Village population size maps can also be used as base maps for additional information on village services and activities, and on location and distribution of villages without specific services, such as primary schools, dispensaries, piped water, and so forth.

C. Interactive Digital Outputs

1. Overview

3.40. It is of paramount importance that census data and information produced are widely disseminated and communicated, and that agencies involved in this process have a pronounced customer/client and stakeholder focus, place more emphasis on providing a service than merely providing products, and be guided by user-relevance and user-friendliness in all its operations, rather than by tradition in producing tables, graphs and reports they have always produced.

3.41. While statistical tables or census reports, printed or digital maps and atlases, including the provision of some dynamic mapping capability can be conveniently disseminated through various forms, including different

types of computer media, growing demands by users for an ever growing variety of census data outputs are most effectively and efficiently met by enabling and empowering census data users, to be able to access census data themselves, and build their own customized tables or spatially configure data outputs according to varying spatial requirements. To access census information on national statistical office websites and through CD ROMs, innovative communication, analytical tools like Population geographic information systems are good illustrations of recent developments putting census data and outputs at the fingertips of users

2. Geographical information systems

3.42. Geographical information systems embody hardware and software configurations designed to support the capture, management, analysis and dissemination of spatially referenced data. Applied to census activities and outputs, such systems facilitate census cartography and data capture, and by linking population data (demographic, social, and socio-economic) to geographical areas, a GIS provides very powerful data management functionalities in allowing users to explore, analyse, describe and communicate population census information according to their own data and information demands.

3.43. In practical terms, such systems may range from simple desktop mapping facilities to complete GIS systems capable of solving complex planning and management problems or producing detailed geo-referenced inventories. The ability to use space to integrate and manipulate data sets from heterogeneous sources can make its application relevant to planning and managing the census process itself. For example, a GIS provides functions for the aerial interpolation of statistical data in cases where the boundaries of aerial units have changed between censuses. However, the development and implementation of such a repository of geo-referenced data are not easy tasks to accomplish, and simple desktop mapping systems generating thematic maps from a database of base maps and indicators will satisfy the needs of most census organizations.

3.44. GIS technology should be considered only at a level appropriate to the skills and resources available, and constitute an integral part of the overall work of a national statistical organization. Collaborative arrangements with other agencies, such as national mapping and survey agencies, should be pursued particularly with regard to the acquisition and maintenance of base maps and digital databases, which should not become a responsibility of national statistical organizations. Along similar lines, any GIS development by statistical organizations should be compatible with systems that might already exist in other public sector agencies, and where the role of the statistical agency would consist in primarily supplying census data and other important statistics useful for policy-makers across a broad range of sectoral applications, at levels and in formats compatible with such systems. National statistical offices should only proceed with their own GIS development and applications when it is feasible to maintain such systems and applications during the inter-censal years, where there is no dependence on continued external technical support, and where there are explicit demands from users in the public and private sector for such developments and outputs.

3.45. Statistical offices may nevertheless develop GIS applications with population data and other georeferenced data from other sources for more advanced forms of spatial analysis. The task could be shared with other institutions, or be delegated completely to specialists elsewhere. The role of the census office would then consist in supplying census data at the right level and in the right format for such a system. Census offices provide vital information on current demographic conditions and future trends for policy makers in a range of sectors such as health care, education, infrastructure planning, agriculture and natural resources management; and the provision of spatially referenced census databases is an essential prerequisite of the facilitation of the use of demographic data in these fields.

3.46. To achieve maximum efficiency gains, GIS applications should also be capable of generating additional geographical delimitations beyond those used in the census, such as school and health districts, water and other biophysical catchment areas, power and utility service units. These entities will have to be constructed from the smallest geographically identified units available in the census, such as census blocks, grid squares, or Enumeration areas (EA). If, as is the case in most developing countries, EAs are the smallest units, this will have important implications for the establishment of EA boundaries. This requires close collaboration between national statistical organisations and national mapping and survey agencies on one side, and school, health, water and power authorities on the other, when EA boundaries are drawn or modified, to avoid potential problems later on.

3.47. Being a rather complex technology and requiring some specialised technical resources, national statistical organisations, particularly in developing countries, ought to approach the introduction of GIS systems gradually and with care, and at all times ensuring compatibility with other systems possibly in circulation elsewhere. An alternative to immediately launching full-scale GIS applications, countries may start with a simple and robust design that is likely to be understood and maintained by a wide array of users, transferable to a wide range of software packages and independent of any hardware platform. GIS implementation in a developing country may follow a hierarchical strategy, with the national statistical office employing a high-end commercial GIS with extensive capabilities for handling and analysing large amounts of spatial data. Widespread dissemination of databases can then be achieved by creating a version of the finished databases using a lower-end mapping software format for distribution at low cost, as is currently developed in some countries.

3.48. Apart from providing national statistical organisations with a very effective means to disseminate and increase the utilization of census data, geographical information systems, more than any other data management system, provides easy and user-friendly access to census data in user-relevant formats. This allows analysts and planners to undertake policy analysis, planning and research, that can more readily identify thematic and geographic priority areas, and thus contribute to evidence-based and better-informed policy and decision making at different levels of geography; it allows governments to effectively monitor development progress across different sectors at village, municipality and sub-regional levels; it raises awareness about the importance of census and other socio-economic data; and it increases the institutional capacity of national statistical offices and social/economic planning agencies to engage in more in-depth analyses of social and economic data, and deliver information products in even more user-friendly formats.

D. Customized Products and Services

3.49. The increasing activity in the field of economic and social planning and the attention of such planning to subnational areas are placing new demands on statistical information in general and on population and housing censuses in particular. There is an increasing need for tabulations and mapping not only by major and minor civil divisions and by other units of analysis such as metropolitan areas but even, beyond these, by small local areas.

3.50. Therefore, it is useful to establish an "on request" service for users who require aggregates not available through other means. This will be especially relevant in situations where outsiders cannot obtain census microdatabases. In essence, the service would require that users provide the census office with the details of the tables or other aggregates requested so that the census office could fulfil the request, normally against payment of a certain compensation fee. Offering and promoting this service would place the statistical service in a more desirable proactive position, rather than a static one, and could be a strong catalyst for closer cooperation with census product users.

3.51. The cost of such special-purpose tabulations, which require computer programming, could be high, especially for academic institutions and other users who do not have access to a large budget. Some statistical organizations allow the users to do the necessary work using a user-friendly kind of software. A clearly written manual is required to guide the users in using the software including the contents of the census data dictionary, and other relevant information. The resulting tables are checked for any possible breach of confidentiality, in particular table cells with very small values. To access census information on national statistical office websites and through CD ROMs, and innovative communication and analytical tools like population geographic information systems is good illustrations of recent developments putting census data and outputs at the fingertip of users.

3.52. Many census organizations provide services for special requests for census products, such as thematic databases, tables, and graphic and mapping outputs that can be designed for small, medium, and large businesses, communities or special interest groups. These services are normally provided to meet the increasing demand of data users for a wide range of applications such as monitoring trends, analysing unmet needs, identifying market potentials, segmenting markets, identifying service areas and priority zones, determining optimum site locations, designing and advertising new products and services, and so forth. Each category of products should also be made available on various media (namely, paper, disk or on-line) for dissemination according to the users' requirements (see paras. 1.358-1.375).

3.53. Once the databases are created and have served the policy needs, they can serve other data users if they have market value. Since the national statistical organization is normally the only source of many geographical databases related to census data applications, market demand for these products is increasing, particularly in the geographical and population-related areas. In such cases, census products could be governed by a license. The license permits the users to use the product without a transferring of the ownership, since the ownership remains with the government agency. Either of two different licensing arrangements may be applied. The first is offered to organizations that use the data for their own needs and the other is offered to organizations that redistribute data or provide analytical services using census data to other persons or organizations for a fee.

3.54. Customized services of data on computer media are differentiated in terms of the forms of the data. Census products may be distributed in their original form, with or without other related information, or they can be distributed after making certain value-added modifications to meet the need of the users. Examples of such value-added activities include converting the data into another format (for use by other software packages), making the data more useful by correcting errors, adding missing information, creating subsets of the original data sets, merging the data from other sources, and bundling with software. In cases where copyright laws protect census data ownership, some royalty fees and data usage fees may be charged to the distributors to ensure a minimum return. However, if prices are too high such charges can also be a barrier to the use of the census data.

E. General Interest Products and Special Audience Reports

3.55. The traditional approach to the publication of census information is through release of cross classified tabulations. This is not however easy for non-expert users to access. As these traditional forms of data on population and housing censuses are being published, there are many ways to disseminate census data in a more accessible format and thus increase the utilization of the information collected.

3.56. It should be noted that the following material can only be effective in encouraging the use of census information if they are prepared in a timely and professional manner. This will require specialist skills from people used to writing for these audiences, use of high quality materials and considerable planning. As such resources are often expensive any country planning to undertake such campaigns must allow for the costs of such activities when planning their budget.

1. Posters

3.57. One of the most common ways to disseminate census information consists of publishing posters highlighting key facts such as - How many are we? Where do we live? - summarizing a profile for the major civil divisions of a country. Posters might also be prepared addressing issues relevant to special population segments: teenagers, adults, indigenous populations, seniors, and women's groups.

3.58. Since the objective of a poster is to catch the eye at a distance relatively few facts should be presented and in a way that the key message is immediately visible. Posters can be greatly enhanced by the addition of a well designed graph and use of fonts to increase the readability and comprehension of the key message.

2. Brochures

3.59. Professionally designed brochures are another way to disseminate basic census data. These brochures should be written in a very easy and comprehensive language indicating the demographic profile of the country illustrated with suitable graphics, and explanatory material. In some countries these brochures might be addressed to specific relevant issues on population. They are particularly suitable for preparation as give-aways for people attending events such as the launch of more traditional materials or including on display racks in libraries of Government offices.

3. Special audience reports

3.60. Information generated by a census is by definition of use to a wide range of users of a wide range of statistical expertise.

3.61. Due to these attributes National Statistical Offices may wish to prepare specific analytical reports for special audiences. While these reports may not require the attention-attracting features of the posters and brochures they will need to incorporate a high level of very sound analysis undertaken by staff who have a solid foundation in analytical techniques as well as the topic being analyzed. In some cases it might be seen as desirable or necessary to undertake the analysis as collaboration with academic institutions or other specialists.

3.62. The target audience might be any part of the census user audience interested in the topic. Criteria used in establishing the topics chosen will have to be set by the country concerned but could include such factors as the importance of the topic to the country; particularly interesting facts shown by the census data (perhaps confirming or rebutting conventional theories; confronting census data with material from other sources; or responding to issues raised by the public during user consultations of the collection.

4. Videos

3.63. The use of graphics such as charts or maps included on videotapes; Compact Disc (CD) or Digital Video Disc (DVD) format are media useful to promote the 'story behind the numbers and thus increase use of census data. These might indicate how census data can assist policy makers, planners and people in general to understand their societies and how census data can assist in identifying the main problems and assist with evaluation of solutions.

5. Instructional materials

3.64. Instructional material in an easy to understand form can be prepared for the general public, indicating advantages and limitations of census data. Such material can often form the basis of information campaigns as part of the advocacy material for the next census.

3.65. A particular implementation of instructional material can be the preparation of a kit for use in schools. Not only will this provide high quality information for the students but by including exposure to the use of statistical materials in the school process will encourage the use of evidence based analysis through out society. It should be noted that professional assistance should be sought in ensuring that these materials follow sound educational practices and can be accommodated within the appropriate curriculum.

IX. Census Data Utilization

A. General Uses of Population and Housing Censuses

3.66. Population censuses are traditionally used for public and private sector policy-making, planning, administrative and research purposes. One of the most basic of the administrative uses of census data is in the demarcation of constituencies and the allocation of representation on governing bodies. Certain aspects of the legal or administrative status of territorial divisions may also depend on the size of their populations. Housing censuses are used to develop benchmark housing statistics and to formulate housing policy and programmes, and in the private sector to assist in site selection for industrial, retail and service facilities, as well as for the commercial development of residential housing.

3.67. Information on the size, distribution and characteristics of a country's population is essential to describing and assessing its economic, social and demographic circumstances and to developing sound policies and programmes aimed at fostering the welfare of a country and its population. The population and housing census, by providing comparable basic statistics for a country as a whole and for each administrative unit and locality therein, can make an important contribution to the over all planning process and the management of national development. The availability of information at the lowest levels of administrative units is valuable for the management and evaluation of such programmes as education and literacy, employment and human resources, reproductive health and family planning, housing and environment, maternal and child health, rural development, transportation and

highway planning, urbanization and welfare. Population and housing censuses are also unique sources of data for producing relevant social indicators to monitor the impact of these government policies and programmes (see paras. 3.86-3.88).

1. Uses of population censuses

3.68. The uses of population census results and the associated tabulations described in this volume are listed according to the topics presented in paragraph 2.16. Detailed general descriptions of the uses of tabulations in all eight subject groups may be obtained in the following United Nations publications: *General Principles for National Programmes of Population Projections as Aids to Development Planning*;¹¹² manuals on methods of estimating population: *Manual I: Methods of Estimating Total Population for Current Dates*;¹¹³ and *Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation*;¹¹⁴ *Projection Methods for Integrating Population Variables into Development Planning*, vol. I: *Methods for Comprehensive Planning, Module One: Conceptual issues and methods for preparing demographic properties*, and *Module Two: Methods for preparing school enrolment, labour force and employment projections*;¹¹⁵ *Indicators of Sustainable Development Framework and Methodologies*;¹¹⁶ and *Principles and Recommendations for a Vital Statistics System, Revision 2.*¹¹⁷

3.69. The total population, as defined in paragraph 2.71 and its distribution among major and minor territorial divisions, and localities, are frequently a legal requirement of the census because these results are used for determining the apportionment of representation in legislative bodies, for administrative purposes and for planning the location of economic and social facilities. Internal migration, one of the major sources of population change, frequently affects the trends in population distribution. Data on internal and international migration, together with fertility and mortality, are needed to prepare population estimates for planning purposes and for determining policies on migration and for assessing their effectiveness. For more detailed descriptions, see the following United Nations publications: *Handbook of Population and Housing Censuses, Part II: Demographic and Social Characteristics;*¹¹⁸ *Manual VI: Methods of Measuring Internal Migration*¹¹⁹ (manuals on methods of estimating population); *Internal Migration f*¹²⁰ and *Recommendations on Statistics of International Migration, Revision 1* (ST/ESA/STAT/SER.M/58/ Rev.1).¹²¹

3.70. The household, a basic socio-economic unit in all countries, is often central to the study of social and economic development. The number, size and structure of households and changes in the rate of household formation are useful for planning and for developing special policies formulated for selected groups of the population, such as children, the elderly and persons with disabilities. Therefore, the distribution of individuals within households is used to determine the living arrangements of families, the patterns of family structure observed, the time when new families are formed and changes in family structure due to death, divorce, migration or the departure of children to form their own households. The relationship among household members can be used to determine family structure and the existence of households composed, partially or completely, of unrelated persons, as indicated in the following manuals on methods of estimating population: *Manual VII: Methods of Projecting Households and Families*;¹²² and *Handbook of Population and Housing Censuses, Part II : Demographic and Social Characteristics*.¹²³

¹¹² United Nations publication, Sales No. E.65.XIII.2.

¹¹³ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.52.XIII.5.

¹¹⁴ Population Studies, No. 81 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2).

¹¹⁵ United Nations publications (ST/ESA/SER.R/90 and Add.1).

¹¹⁶ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.II.A.16.

¹¹⁷ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.01.XVII.10).

¹¹⁸ Studies in Methods, No. 54 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91.XVII.9).

¹¹⁹ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.70.XIII.3.

¹²⁰ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.94.XIII.3.

¹²¹ Statistical Papers, Series M, No. 58, Rev.1 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XVII.14).

¹²² United Nations publication, Sales No. E.73.XIII.2.

¹²³ Studies in method, Series F, No. 54 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91.XVII.9).

3.71. Traditionally defined demographic and social characteristics collected from the population census include sex, age, marital status, religion, language, and national and/or ethnic group. Sex and age are fundamental to the majority of the characteristics collected in the census. Census data provide more data than any other single source on gender differences, as indicated in the following United Nations publications: *The World's Women 2005: Progress in Statistics*;¹²⁴ *Compiling Social Indicators on the Situation of Women*¹²⁵; *Manual II: Methods of Appraisal of Quality of Basic Data for Population Estimates*;¹²⁶ and *Handbook on Social Indicators.*¹²⁷

3.72. Depending on national circumstances, cultural diversity may be measured by language spoken in the home or community, religion and national and/or ethnic group. For countries that are not homogeneous in terms of one or more of these variables, linguistic, religious and national and/or ethnic groups provide the basic information for a quantitative assessment of the relative size and age-sex distribution of this diversity. For more detailed descriptions of the uses of the data in the tabulations, see the following United Nations publications: *Human Development Report* 2004;¹²⁸ Handbook of Population and Housing Censuses, Part II: Demographic and Social Characteristics;¹²⁹ Manual III: Methods for Population Projections by Sex and Age¹³⁰; and First Marriage: Patterns and Determinants, 1988.¹³¹

3.73. Although census data on fertility and mortality cannot serve as a substitute for reliable birth and death statistics from registers, they are particularly valuable for countries where birth or death registration is lacking or incomplete and vital statistics are therefore unavailable. Even in countries with complete registration of these events, the population census is useful as a supplement to satisfactory registration data because the fertility questions provide data for calculating lifetime fertility of the female population or cohort fertility. For more detailed descriptions of the uses of the data in tabulations dealing with fertility and mortality, see the following United Nations publications: *Step-by-Step Guide to the Estimation of Child Mortality*;¹³² *Handbook of Population and Housing Censuses, Part II: Demographic and Social Characteristics*;¹³³; "Assessing the effects of mortality reduction of population ageing";¹³⁴ and *Socio-economic Differentials in Child Mortality in Developing Countries*.¹³⁵

3.74. Education has historically been one of the key factors determining the quality of life, and interest in education continues today in most of the countries of the world, where the emphasis is on improving access to and the quality of education, and broadening the scope of basic education.¹³⁶ Education is also considered a major tool in closing the gap between women and men in respect of socio-economic opportunities. Benchmark data obtained from national population censuses will therefore be of considerable importance towards fulfilling this objective. Census data reveal the disparity in educational opportunities between the sexes, age cohorts or generations, urban/rural populations and so forth, and provide important indications of the capacity of the nation for economic and social development. They furnish material for the comparison of the present educational equipment of the adult population with the present and anticipated requirements of educated human resources for various types of economic activities. Such a comparison may serve as a guide both for national policy in terms of the development of the educational system and for the planning of the economic development programmes that it will be feasible to undertake in view of human resource requirements. For more details, see the following United Nations publications:

¹²⁴ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.05.XVII.7

¹²⁵ Studies in Methods, No. 32 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.84.XVII.2).

¹²⁶ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.56.XIII.2.

¹²⁷ Studies in Methods, No. 49 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XVII.6).

¹²⁸ United Nations Development Programme, New York, 2004.

¹²⁹ Studies in Methods, No. 54 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91.XVII.9).

¹³⁰ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.56.XIII.3.

¹³¹ United Nations publication (ST/ESA/SER.R/76).

¹³² United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XIII.9.

¹³³ Studies in Methods, No. 54 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.91.XVII.9).

¹³⁴ Article by Shiro Horiuchi in Population Bulletin of the United Nations (New York), Nos. 31/32 (1991). Sales No. E.91.XIII.18.

¹³⁵ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.85.XIII.7.

¹³⁶ Education for All Summit of Nine High-Population Countries, New Delhi, 12-16 December 1993: Final Report (Paris, UNESCO, 1994).

Human Development Report, 1996;¹³⁷ Report on the World Social Situation, 2005;¹³⁸ and Education For All: Global Monitoring Report, 2006.¹³⁹

3.75. Census information on the economic characteristics of the population focuses on enumerating the economically active population so as to provide benchmark data for current studies of employment, unemployment and underemployment. It provides information on the growth, composition and distribution of the economically active population for use in policy formulation and the appraisal of human resource utilization. Economic data from censuses can also provide some input into statistics on the distribution of income, consumption and accumulation of households, on participation in agriculture and non-agricultural activities, and on participation in the informal sector. Furthermore, the data on the economically active population may give an approximate indication of the number of workers who are responsible for the support of dependants.

3.76. Statistics obtained from different sources (for example, labour-force surveys, agriculture surveys, establishment surveys and administrative records) rely on the census for sampling frames, and the use of common concepts in the different sources helps in securing comparability when multiple sources for changing patterns of economic activity are being relied upon. See the following United Nations publications: "Collection of Economic Characteristics in Population Censuses";¹⁴⁰ Methods of Analysing Census Data on Economic Activities of the Population,¹⁴¹ Handbook of Household Surveys (Revised Edition);¹⁴² and Handbook of Population and Housing Censuses, Part IV: Economic Activity Status.¹⁴³

As interest in the movement of people across national boundaries, in other words, international migration, 3.77. has grown steadily among countries, census items and tabulations relative to international migration have grown in importance. Such tabulations are designed to assess the impact of migration on receiving countries, to understand patterns of diversity and develop programmes for the adaptation of migrants to new countries, and to serve as a source of information on emigration from sending countries. For further details, see the following United Nations publications: National Migration Surveys, Manuals I-IX¹⁴⁴ and Recommendations on Statistics of International Migration, Revision 1 (ST/ESA/STAT/ SER. M/58/Rev.1).145

The census is also an important source of data on persons with disabilities. Census data help to monitor the 3.78. social and living conditions of persons with disabilities in terms of school attendance, educational attainment, employment, marital status and living arrangements. The data also provide a basis for developing policies to meet the needs of persons with disabilities and for evaluating the effectiveness of these policies, as demonstrated in the following United Nations publication: The Standard Rules on the Equalization of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities¹⁴⁶; World Programme of Action Concerning Disabled Persons;¹⁴⁷Manual for the Development of Statistical Information for Disability Programmes and Policies.¹⁴⁸

¹³⁷ New York, Oxford University Press, 1996.

¹³⁸ United Nations publication, Sales No. E. 05.IV.5.

¹³⁹ Paris, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 2005.

¹⁴⁰ Technical Report by the United Nations Statistics Division and International Labour Office, 2002 (ST/ESA/STAT/119). ¹⁴¹ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.69.XIII.2.

¹⁴² Studies in Methods, No. 31 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83,XVII.13).

¹⁴³ Studies in Methods, No. 564 (Part IV) (United Nations publications, Sales No. E.96.XVII.13).

¹⁴⁴ Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, Comparative Study on Migration, Urbanization and Development in ESCAP Region. National Migration Surveys, Manuals I-IX (Bangkok, 1984).

¹⁴⁵ Statistical Papers, Series M, No. 58, Rev.1 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.98.XVII.14).

¹⁴⁶ Adopted by the United Nations General Assembly, forty-eighth session, resolution 48/96, Annex, of 20 December 1993.

¹⁴⁷ Adopted by the United Nations General Assembly at its 37th regular session on 3 December 1982, by its resolution 37/52, contained in United Nations document A/37/51, Official Records of the General Assembly, Thirtyseventh Session Supplement No. 51.

¹⁴⁸ Statistics on Special Population Groups, No. 8 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.XVII.4 and Corr.1).

2. Uses of housing censuses

3.79. The primary uses of information from housing censuses include development of a basis for planning housing and human settlement programmes and policies, public and private sector studies of urban and other non-agricultural land use, evaluation of the adequacy of housing stock and assessment of the need and market for new housing, and studies of the living conditions of the homeless and those living in temporary or substandard housing. Information collected on the number of sets, type and characteristics of living quarters and their occupants is crucial from the point of view of monitoring housing conditions and needs of the population. Combined with the information collected by regular annual statistical programmes on housing construction, data from the housing census provide a basis for identifying national, regional and local housing patterns which are needed for the development of a rational housing market aimed at stimulating various types of housing construction. The type and quality of shelter in which people are housed - the space, degree of crowding, facilities, surroundings, available transport - affect their economic activity, health, social intercourse and general outlook. The supply, characteristics and costs of housing are therefore subjects for which the housing census is an important source of information.

B. Uses of Small Area Data

3.80. Censuses provide data from the highest to the lowest geographical levels of aggregation. Tabulations from census results yield the relevant statistics for any reasonable combination of characteristics for the country as a whole, regions or provinces, down to small areas such as localities, villages, and even enumeration areas. This important feature of the census makes the data amenable to the development of estimates of variables of interest, for small/local areas in two major ways: directly from the production of tables from the micro-level data for the required characteristics, and indirectly from applying estimation techniques by combining other sources, such as sample surveys and administrative statistics to the population and housing census results.

3.81. Census data are typically aggregations of data for many individual small areas, and may commonly be used to study large regions or entire nations. Data for small areas enable the user to obtain statistical information about any number of local areas of interest, in addition to showing variations among small areas in individual parts of the country. Modern computer technology greatly facilitates the utilization of census results for analysing the information for small areas, limited only by issues of confidentiality and collection design when cell entries in cross-tabulations become very small. For example, the analysis of whether population programmes have affected the level of fertility at a regional level may be carried out by analysing data from the smallest administrative units so as to observe local variation and produce more accurate assessments of cause and effect.

3.82. Implementation of various national social and economic development programmes is a function of the state, province or lower levels of government in many countries. Results of population and housing censuses are useful for planning and monitoring development at the local area, small town level or small area. Small area data are also important for private businesses in developing their distribution and marketing strategies. For example, information on housing demand from the population and housing census may be used by local authorities, local real estate companies, building and housing development contractors, and manufacturers of construction materials, among others.

3.83. Census data have been traditionally aggregated by various types of administrative units (for example, towns, villages, provinces, electoral units and so forth). In addition, other types of small areas are sometimes used in the census that are essentially statistical in nature (for example, census tracts and grid squares which do not change from census to census, and very small units such as city blocks or block faces). There have also been increasing demands for small area data that cut across the local administrative boundaries. Population and housing censuses provide a powerful tool for assessing the impact of population on the environment, for example, on drainage basins and on water resource management systems. The spatial units for such a study may combine a group of local administrative areas. In this situation the availability of census databases with mapping capability (see paras. 1.126-1.128) is of great importance.

3.84. Tabulations for small areas may be prepared on the basis of the resident population of each area or on the basis of the population present in each area at the time of the census. Tabulations relating to the resident population are produced for the apportionment of representation in legislative bodies, the measurement of internal migration,

the computation of measures of fertility and mortality by place of residence, and the planning and administration of such services as schools and housing, which have relevance only to the resident population. Tabulations based on the population present in the area at the time of the census are useful where this population is considerably larger than the resident population and thus raises the demand for products and services above the level required by the resident population alone. The combined population and housing census may also be used to make comparisons of resident and daytime populations in specific localities, if an item on place of work is included in the population census. As indicated in Part One (see paras. 1.14-1.19), users need to express their needs for particular data disseminated in a given format, based on the usual residence or place of enumeration, at an early stage of census preparations.

3.85. It was mentioned in Chapter 1 how the census plays an essential role in the economic and social components of the national statistical system, and serves as a sampling frame for sample surveys. Another significant way in which the census results complement survey statistics is in small area estimation, whereby models constructed from survey data are applied to census results for any specified geographical area. This estimation approach may be used for generating such indicators as employment, poverty and other economic indicators, for which measurement is required at local area level.¹⁴⁹ The application of small area estimation technique to poverty measurement and mapping is an important extension in the use of census results. If such use is contemplated, it would need to be taken into account during the planning stages of the census exercise, when decisions about topics to be included in the census are being made.

С. **Cross-cutting and Emerging Social Issues**

Reflecting the concerns and priorities among countries around the world, the United Nations convened, 3.86. between 1990 and 1996, a series of global conferences -- on children, education, environment, human rights, population, social development, women and human settlements. Each of these conferences recognized the importance of adequate information in formulating policy and monitoring progress in the achievement of conference goals, and called on countries and international organizations to develop and improve the requisite statistics and indicators. These recommendations are reflected for example in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action of the World Conference on Human Rights;¹⁵⁰ the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development;¹⁵¹ the Copenhagen Declaration on Social Development and the Programme of Action of the World Summit for Social Development;¹⁵² and the Platform for Action¹⁵³ adopted by the Fourth World Conference on Women. The programmes of action adopted by these international conferences targeted many interrelated areas of concern, and called for improved statistics to monitor progress. In deciding which social groups merit monitoring in regard to measuring the disadvantages suffered by particular groups of people, each country should determine which groups within it need special attention. Some of the common factors leading to social disadvantage are gender, age, physical or mental impairment, race, creed, and so forth. The disadvantaged are not necessarily small in number -- they may constitute the majority of the population.¹⁵⁴

3.87. To meet the need for statistics on gender, many activities have been undertaken during the last two decades at the national and international levels to improve concepts, definitions and classifications for collection of statistics related to women and men. In this publication, the importance of the population and housing census as a data source

¹⁴⁹ Chapter XVII of "Technical report on Collection of Economic Characteristics in Population Censuses", ST/ESA/STAT/119.

¹⁵⁰ A/CONF.157/24 (Part I), chap. III.

¹⁵¹ Report of the International Conference on Population and Development, Cairo, 5-13 September 1994 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.95.XIII.18), chap. I, resolution 1, annex.

¹⁵² Report of the World Summit for Social Development, Copenhagen, 6-12 March 1995 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.IV.8), chap. I, resolution 1, annexes I and II. ¹⁵³ Report of the Fourth World Conference on Women, Beijing, 4-15 September 1995 (United Nations publication,

Sales No. E.96.IV.13), chap. I, resolution I, annex II.

¹⁵⁴ Note by the Secretary-General transmitting the report of the Expert Group on the Statistical Implications of Recent Major United Nations Conferences (E/CN.3/AC.1/1996/R.4), annex, paras. 68-69. Presented to the Working Group on International Statistical Programmes and Coordination at its eighteenth session, New York, 16-19 April 1996.
has often been stressed. The population and housing census is also the principal or sometimes the only comprehensive national data source with respect to meeting the need for statistics on children, youth, the elderly and the disabled in the development of policies and programmes at the national as well as the international level. Therefore, it is important that countries identify data requirements concerning various population groups of particular interest when planning their censuses and ensure that the definitions and classification to be followed in censuses are appropriate and also consistent with those in use for the entire population.

3.88. Furthermore, the census tabulation plan should ensure in advance the inclusion of all relevant details about special population groups and a range of cross-classifications for each group, with a view to analysing its social and economic conditions. Concepts and methods for the census and the tabulation plan should be reviewed with users concerned with statistics for each special population group. In the case of some groups, for example, people with disability, a special set of questions is required to identify members of the group. In the case of others, standard questions such as age, are sufficient to identify groups such as children, youth and the elderly. In both cases, most variables needed for cross-tabulations are already provided for in the international recommendations and many national censuses. However, in the census operations, attention will often need to be given to improvement of coverage, quality-of-data issues and avoidance of stereotypic treatment. The present section deals with gender, a few special population categories such as children, youth and the elderly, and people with disability so as to assist in the preparing of detailed tabulations and databases according to international standards.

1. Statistics on gender

3.89. The global conferences on women have contributed to an increased awareness of the importance of statistics not only on women but, more broadly, on gender issues. For example, in developing census plans in a number of countries, efforts have been made to review and assess the adequacy of statistics for understanding the diversity of both women's and men's lives. It is now recognized that biases in statistics extend, in the case of women, to their economic roles and in the case of men, to their roles in the family as husband and father and their roles in the household. Improvement of statistics and statistical methods related to gender should be an important priority at all stages of work on the census -- in planning, data collection, analysis and dissemination -- and in all topics.

3.90. In addition to the more general problems of the quality of census data, two other types of problem, which apply particularly to women and stem from sex-based stereotypes and sex biases, have been noted. The first type is based, for example, on the idea that women are simply homemakers and therefore not part of the economically active population. Similarly, the notion that only men can be heads of the household affects the way questions have been designed and asked in censuses. Such stereotypes also affect the way respondents reply to the questions. If, for example, the gardening and poultry-raising done by many rural women are not perceived as work, such women may not be reported as economically active even though those activities may be the main source of family livelihood.

3.91. The second type of problem relates to biases in the collection, processing, compilation and presentation of data. For example, when census tabulations are prepared for the employed by occupation, they may be prepared either for males only or for both sexes, but only on the assumption that information on the occupational pattern of women is not of much use.

3.92. During the past few decades, considerable effort has been devoted, on the one hand, to reviewing such bias and its impact on statistics concerning the situation of women and, on the other hand, to improving the concepts and methods involved in the collection of data in censuses and surveys. Related improvements in the revised System of National Accounts (SNA) and the International Labour Organization (IL0) recommendations concerning statistics of the economically active population are also of importance to the population census. They are intended to overcome the above mentioned conceptual deficiencies and to identify all women active in agriculture and in the informal sector. Similarly, efforts at the national level have been focused, for example, on eliminating biases in concepts, classifications and definitions of head of the household. For more information on these developments and their application in censuses for the improvement of statistics on women, see *Improving Concepts and Methods for*

Statistics and Indicators on the Situation of Women¹⁵⁵ and Methods of Measuring Women's Economic Activity: Technical Report.¹⁵⁶

3.93. Important statistical series and measures on the status of women can be readily obtained based on the topics in paragraph 2.16 and recommended tabulations for preparation from censuses. Furthermore, in the case of most topics, the primary unit of classification is the individual and therefore a vast array of indicators may be obtained by devising appropriate additional cross-classifications for the female and male populations separately. For an illustration of census topics and tabulations that are useful for developing comprehensive statistics on women, see "Statistics and indicators on women and men"¹⁵⁷ and *Handbook for National Statistical Data Bases on Women and Development.*¹⁵⁸ The household and family status classifications presented in paragraph 2.132 are appropriate for analysing the living situation of women and men, with specific reference to single mothers and fathers and elderly women and men living alone.

3.94. It should be emphasized that while all data collected at the individual level can be presented by sex, this is not always done. Cross-classifications by sex tend to be suppressed when cross-tabulations become complex with multiple-variable tables. In order to satisfy one basic condition for gender statistics, which is that all statistics on individuals should be presented by sex, sex should be considered the overriding variable in all tables, irrespective of the medium of storage or dissemination. This disaggregation by gender should be provided in all publications, databases and computer printouts of census tables on individuals.

3.95. Another important consideration is to broaden the target of dissemination and use of census data by popularizing the statistics that are published. One approach to achieving this wide outreach is to present statistics in the form of charts and simplified tables, with a simple and clear interpretation of the data. Countries planning to issue an analytical report might wish to consider using such innovative techniques and formats as those presented in *The World's Women*,¹⁵⁹ in order to highlight the census findings and to make the statistics more readily accessible to a wide group of users. The analytical publication could cover the main census topics or alternatively a few areas that are especially important to understanding the relative position of women and men in the country. Guidelines on preparing an analytical publication on gender statistics at the national level are provided in *Handbook for Producing National Statistical Reports on Women and Men*.¹⁶⁰

2. Statistics on children and youth

3.96. Extensive data on children and youth are available in censuses but may need improvements in terms of coverage and quality of information on specific characteristics, and on their presentation.

3.97. For statistical purposes, "children" are defined as persons under 15 years of age and "youth" are defined as those aged 15-24. However, it is useful to further divide these special groups by five-year age groups (or nationally, by groups of specific school ages) because of the rapid changes in characteristics in this age range, such as in school attendance, marital status and activity status. Also, because of differences by sex in the age at marriage, family or household status and entry into the labour market, data should be classified not only by age but also by sex. To this end, the distribution by single years of age and sex is useful. If single-year age distribution is not feasible for young children under age 5, it would be desirable to distinguish between those under one year of age (infants) and those aged 1-4. For youth aged 15-19, it would be desirable to distinguish between those 15-17 years of age and those 18-19 years of age, or to have a distinction corresponding to the age below which the country considers an individual to be a minor.

¹⁵⁵ Studies in Methods, No. 33 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.84.XVII.3).

¹⁵⁶ Studies in Methods, No. 59 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.93.XVII.6).

¹⁵⁷ Statistics and indicators on women and men available at:

http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/products/indwm/indwm2.htm.

¹⁵⁸ Social Statistics and Indicators, No. 6 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XVII.9).

¹⁵⁹ Social Statistics and Indicators, No. 6 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XVII.9).

¹⁶⁰ See note by the Secretary-General transmitting the report of the Expert Group on the Statistical Implications of Recent Major United Nations Conferences (E/CN.3/AC.1/1996/R.4) annex.

3.98. For the purpose of developing statistics on children, the principal topics in census recommendations include, *inter alia*, (a) sex, (b) age, (c) school attendance (for school-age children) and (d) relationship to head or other reference member of the household.

3.99. Children under five years of age are generally underenumerated in censuses and all efforts should be made to achieve complete coverage of this group. Further improvement of age data should be striven for in censuses, including an in-depth evaluation of the accuracy of age data.

3.100. Given the priority on the girl child, highlighted by the World Summit for Children (1990), the International Conference on Population and Development (1994) and the Fourth World Conference on Women (1995), special attention needs to be given to improving and disseminating statistics on children. Of particular concern is the situation of the girl child with respect to school attendance, mortality, early marriage and so forth A basic problem with statistics on the girl child is that data on children ever born and children surviving tend not to be disaggregated by sex at either the questionnaire design or the tabulation stage. These data are used for indirect estimates of child mortality.

3.101. The principal topics of investigation identified for children apply also to youth, with the following additions: (a) marital status, (b) literacy, (c) educational attainment, (d) economic activity status, (e) number of children born alive and (f) age at marriage.

3.102. Some of the useful statistics and measures can be readily compiled based on the above-mentioned topics, while any additional indicators can also be obtained based on more detailed cross-classifications using the existing recommended census topics and/or tabulations. For an illustrative set of indicators on youth, see *Statistical Indicators on Youth*.¹⁶¹

3. Statistics on the elderly

3.103. For the elderly also, extensive data are available in population and housing censuses but may need detailed age-sex classification, as described below.

3.104. The elderly are defined as all persons aged 60 years and over. For purposes of classification, depending on the national situation, it is useful to tabulate data by five-year age groups up to age 84, instead of including them in the single broad age category 60 and over. Furthermore, countries that use a 10-year group, covering ages 55-64, may consider dividing this group into ages 55-59 and 60-64 in order to compile comparable statistics and indicators on the elderly.

3.105. For the purpose of developing statistics and indicators on the elderly, the principal topics in census recommendations include, *inter alia*, (a) sex, (b) age, (c) marital status, (d) economic activity status, (e) income, (f) household (or family) composition, (g) type of living quarters and (h) institutional population.

3.106. The statistics needed for studies of the elderly are disparate, depending as they do on national policies and circumstances. Internationally, no illustrative list of indicators is available to ensure appropriate tabulations from the censuses. For some guidance in this area, see *Handbook on Social Indicators*¹⁶² and consult regional recommendations, where available.

4. Statistics on persons with disabilities

3.107. The census can provide a valuable source of information on the frequency and distribution of disability in the population, at national, regional and local levels. Experience shows that although an increasing number of countries ask questions about disability in their censuses, the presentation of disability data has often been limited to tabulations showing the number of specific severe disabilities present in the population. Unfortunately, cross tabulations with other characteristics are not usually made.

¹⁶¹ Statistics on Special Population Groups, No. 1 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.85.XVII.12).

¹⁶² Studies in Methods, No. 49 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.89.XVII.6).

3.108. A great deal of work on concepts, classifications and development of statistics on persons with disabilities has been undertaken in recent years, particularly through the work of the Washington Group on Disability Statistics, ¹⁶³ and increasing numbers of countries are including disability as a topic in their censuses. For the second time, recommendations on including disability questions in a population census are included in these guidelines (see paras. 2.350-2.380). A brief treatment of this topic is given below to highlight issues involved in preparing detailed census tabulations on people with disability.

3.109. For the purpose of developing statistics on the situation of persons with disabilities the principal topics in census recommendations that would be necessary for the assessment of equalization of opportunities include, *inter alia* (a) sex, (b) age, (c) place of residence, (d) type of household, (e) marital status, (f) educational attainment and school attendance, (g) activity status, (h) status of employment, (i) industry and (j) occupation.

3.110. Not only should the tabulation plan for the disability data include prevalence rates by sex and age, but it is also very important that tabulations comparing persons with and without disabilities on key social and economic characteristics be presented. Tabulations based on the topics listed above provide information on prevalence of disability and on the situation of persons with disabilities. In addition, tabulations should be presented in a way that facilitates comparisons of persons with disabilities and those without. For further discussion on the development and use of concepts, definitions and indicators related to disability statistics, see the *Guidelines and Principles for the Development of Disability Statistics*¹⁶⁴ and *Manual for the Development of Statistical Information for Disability Programmes and Policies*¹⁶⁵

5. Ethno-cultural characteristics

3.111. Receiving information about ethnic composition of population allows deeper studying of the ethnic background of a country's population, especially with respect to indigenous population, international migrants and other specific groups of population (for example nomads).

3.112. There are some difficulties in collecting this information since some population groups may call their ethnic identification based on its local meaning and in order to correctly allocate these persons to their particular ethnic group it is necessary to compile a list of ethnos, sub-ethnos and local definitions of small ethnic population groups. This will allow for obtaining accurate data about the ethnic composition of population. It would be also useful if scientists and specialists in the field of ethnography as well as organizations dealing with indigenous people would be involved to create such a list.

3.113. In order to obtain comprehensive information characterizing ethnic composition of population it would be useful to tabulate data by (a) sex, (b) age, (c) place of living, (d) marital status, (e) birth, (f) death, (g) education, (h) economic activity, (i) employment status, (j) industry, (k) occupation, and (l) type and size of household.

3.114. It is important to obtain comprehensive information on indigenous populations in order to have statistics on the number as well as the demographic and socio-economic structure of the given population group. These data would be valuable information to support the development of programmes for social support of indigenous peoples.

3.115. Statistics about the ethnic composition of international migrants together with information about country of birth and citizenship will help to more precisely determine the flows and volume of international migration.

3.116. Population censuses are also the sources of information about religious identification of the population. It would be useful to obtain this information by (a) sex, (b) age, (c) ethnic group, (d) place of living, (d) place of birth. This information would be useful to study distribution of confessions.

¹⁶³ For more information on the Washington Group, go to: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/citygroup.htm.

¹⁶⁴ Statistics on Special Population Groups, No. 10 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.01.XVII.15).

¹⁶⁵ Statistics on Special Population Groups, No. 8 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.96.XVII.4 and Corr.1).

3.117. Information about knowledge of languages is widely used. Countries find it useful to study the official language of the country as well as mother tongues or some other languages. In any case it would be useful to have this information by (a) sex, (b) age, (c) ethnic group, (d) place of living, (d) place of birth.

3.118. Information about knowledge of the official language of the country would be very useful for studying the integration of international migrants and may be used, for example, for development of programmes to learn the language.

3.119. Information about knowledge of the mother tongue of indigenous population is very important. This information could allow obtaining statistics of "indigenous" languages and would be very useful for development programmes to support the development of those languages.

D. Development Indicators

3.120. Major United Nations conferences and summits held in the 1990s¹⁶⁶ generated much focus on statistical implications of the outcomes of these conferences. These conferences recognized the importance of adequate information in formulating policy and monitoring progress in the achievement of conference goals, and called on countries and international organizations to develop and improve the necessary statistics and indicators. The demand for indicators by these conferences that covered a wide range of issues and concerns, necessitated multiple sets of indicators and a great burden on statistical agencies to provide the statistics to meet the reporting requirements of the conferences. A lot of effort was therefore devoted to rationalizing and harmonizing the various sets of conference indicators with the ultimate aim of strengthening national capacity to produce relevant indicators for policy decision-making. Consequently, at its thirty-second session (New York, 6-9 March 2001), the Statistical Commission recommended the formation of the Friends of the Chair Advisor Group to, among other things, "technically validate conference indicators and elaborate recommended set of indicators was presented to the Statistical Commission at its thirty-third session (New York, 5-8 March 2002).¹⁶⁸

3.121. In recent years, however, the focus has shifted to the Millennium Development Indicators as a framework for assessing and monitoring progress towards a set of internationally agreed development goals and targets.¹⁶⁹ This followed the adoption by the General Assembly, in 2000, of the United Nations Millennium Declaration committing to a global partnership to make the right to development a reality for everyone. The objective of the Millennium Declaration was to promote "a comprehensive approach and a coordinated strategy, tackling many problems simultaneously across a broad front".¹⁷⁰ Embedded in the Declaration were the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), a set of time-bound targets aimed at improving human well-being and lifting peoples and nations out of poverty by the year 2015. The frame work for monitoring and reporting on progress towards the achievement of these goals and targets and indicators, subsequently developed comprise 48 indicators, as shown in table 3. The indicators provide an agreed starting point for global monitoring of targets and goals that have been universally endorsed at the highest level.¹⁷¹

¹⁶⁶ The major conference include the International Conference on Population and Development (Cairo, 5-13 September 1994), the World Summit for Social Development (Copenhagen, 6-12 March 1995), and the Fourth World Conference on Women (Beijing, 4-15 September 1995).

¹⁶⁷ Economic and Social Council Official Records, 2001 Supplement No.4 (E/2001/25, E/CN.3/2001/25).

¹⁶⁸ "Report of the Friends of the Chair of the Statistical Commission on an assessment of the statistical indicators derived from United Nations summit meetings", Statistical Commission, Thirty-third session, 5-8 March, 2002, Report of the Secretary General (E/CN.3/2002/26), available at http://unstats.un.org/unsd/statcom/sc2002.htm.

¹⁶⁹ More information on the Millennium Indicators can be found at http://unstats.un.org/unsd/mi/mi_goals.asp, and on the Millennium Development Goals at http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/.

 ¹⁷⁰ United Nations, Road map towards the implementation of the United Nations Millennium Declaration, 6
 September 2001 (A/56/326).
 ¹⁷¹ Economic and Social Council, "Harmonization of indicators and reporting progress towards the millennium

¹⁷¹ Economic and Social Council, "Harmonization of indicators and reporting progress towards the millennium development goals", Report of the Secretary General, Statistical Commission, Thirty-fourth session (E/CN/2003/21).

3.122. At the global level, monitoring is based on data series compiled by specialized international organizations responsible for the different areas covered by the Millennium Development Goals. The work is undertaken through the Inter-agency and Expert Group on Millennium Development Goals Indicators, coordinated by the United Nations Statistics Division of the Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat. The data are contained in the Millennium Indicators Database maintained by the United Nations Statistics Division and available at http://millenniumindicators.un.org. At the national level, the Millennium Development Goals framework is adapted to national circumstances and policy priorities and is used to track progress made within the country.

3.123. It should be emphasised that both global and national reporting and monitoring require reliable and comparable national data for the compilation of the millennium indicators. In this regard, it is of paramount importance that countries have the statistical capacity to produce, analyse and disseminate the requisite data for the MDG indicators. The availability of reliable statistics and the capacity of the governments to systematically measure and monitor indicators is a critical success factor for the achievement of the MDGs. The lack of statistical capabilities in some developing countries makes it difficult to obtain good and reliable data. Many countries do not have a sustainable, coherent programme of household surveys, or administrative data systems which can be used to produce basic statistics routinely.¹⁷² Where basic statistical systems are not available, the global monitoring may have to rely on national and international estimates of widely varying quality and reliability. This may lead to misjudgments regarding progress and may undermine the effectiveness of policy interventions at national and subnational levels.

3.124. It is therefore to the advantage of all concerned when countries have the required data in order to avoid reliance on estimates of national MDG indicators. It should be noted, however, all the sources of data (census, sample surveys and administrative records) are required to fulfill the data requirements for the MDGs. By their nature, however, most of the indicators cannot be computed from data that are typically collected through population and housing censuses, but would required data from either household sample surveys or vital statistics. There are some, however, that can potentially be computed from census data as shown in table 4. Even when not collected directly by the population and housing census, however, statistics needed for producing indicators is dependent of the censuses in quite a few ways. For example, the population census provides the total population figure, which is a denominator for most indicators. Also, the population and housing census provides the sample frame without which the design of necessary and accurate household surveys would be adversely affected. For these reasons, therefore, a functional national integrated statistical system is of fundamental importance for the generation of data for the MDG indicators, and to support other national reporting requirements such as regarding CEDAW and ICPD goals.

¹⁷² See, for example, the case studies and international study of the PARIS21 Task Team on Improved Statistical Support for Monitoring Development Goals, available from <u>www.paris21.org</u>.

Table 3: The Millennium Development Goals, targets and indicators

Goals and Targets (from the Millennium Declaration)	Indicators for monitoring progress					
Goal 1: Eradicate extreme poverty and hunger						
Target 1: Halve, between 1990 and 2015, the proportion of people whose income is less than less than one dollar a day	 Proportion of population below \$1 (PPP) per day¹⁷³ Poverty gap ratio [incidence x depth of poverty]ⁱ Share of poorest quintile in national consumption 					
Target 2: Halve, between 1990 and 2015, the proportion of people who suffer from hunger	 Prevalence of underweight children under-five years of age Proportion of population below minimum level of dietary energy consumption 					
Goal 2: Achieve universal primary education						
Target 3: Ensure that, by 2015, children everywhere, boys and girls alike, will be able to complete a full course of primary schooling	 Net enrolment ratio in primary education Proportion of pupils starting grade 1 who reach grade 5174 Literacy rate of 15-24 year-olds 					
Goal 3: Promote gender equality and empower women						
Target 4: Eliminate gender disparity in primary and secondary education, preferably by 2005, and in all levels of education no later than 2015	 9. Ratios of girls to boys in primary, secondary and tertiary education 10. Ratio of literate women to men, 15-24 years old 11. Share of women in wage employment in the non-agricultural sector 12. Proportion of seats held by women in national parliament 					
Goal 4: Reduce child mortality						
Target 5: Reduce by two-thirds, between 1990 and 2015, the under- five mortality rate	 13. Under-five mortality rate 14. Infant mortality rate 15. Proportion of 1 year-old children immunised against measles 					
Goal 5: Improve maternal health						
Target 6: Reduce by three-quarters, between 1990 and 2015, the maternal mortality ratio	16. Maternal mortality ratio17. Proportion of births attended by skilled health personnel					
Goal 6: Combat HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases						
Target 7: Have halted by 2015 and begun to reverse the spread of HIV/AIDS	 18. HIV prevalence among pregnant women aged 5-24 years 19. Condom use rate of the contraceptive prevalence rate¹⁷⁵ 19a. Condom use at last high-risk sex 19b. Percentage of population aged 15-24 years with comprehensive correct knowledge of HIV/AIDS¹⁷⁶ 19c. Contraceptive prevalence rate 20. Ratio of school attendance of orphans to school attendance of 					
	non-orphans aged 10-14 years					

Note: Goals, targets and indicators effective 8 September 2003.

¹⁷³ For monitoring country poverty trends, indicators based on national poverty lines should be used, where available.

An alternative indicator under development is "primary completion rate".

¹⁷⁵ Amongst contraceptive methods, only condoms are effective in preventing HIV transmission. Since the condom use rate is only measured among women in union, it is supplemented by an indicator on condom use in high-risk situations (indicator 19a) and an indicator on HIV/AIDS knowledge (indicator 19b). Indicator 19c (contraceptive prevalence rate) is also useful in tracking progress in other health, gender and poverty goals. ¹⁷⁶ This indicator is defined as the percentage of population aged 15-24 who correctly identify the two

major ways of preventing the sexual transmission of HIV (using condoms and limiting sex to one faithful, uninfected partner), who reject the two most common local misconceptions about HIV transmission, and who know that a healthy-looking person can transmit HIV. However, since there are

Goals and Targets (from the Millennium Declaration)	Indicators for monitoring progress
Target 8: Have halted by 2015 and begun to reverse the incidence of	21. Prevalence and death rates associated with malaria
malaria and other major diseases	22. Proportion of population in malaria-risk areas using effective malaria prevention and treatment measures ¹⁷⁷
	23. Prevalence and death rates associated with tuberculosis
	24. Proportion of tuberculosis cases detected and cured under
	directly observed treatment short course DOTS
	(Internationally recommended TB control strategy)
Goal 7: Ensure environmental sustainability	
Target 9: Integrate the principles of sustainable development into	25. Proportion of land area covered by forest
country policies and programmes and reverse the loss of environmental resources	26. Ratio of area protected to maintain biological diversity to surface area
	27. Energy use (kg oil equivalent) per \$1 GDP (PPP)
	28. Carbon dioxide emissions per capita and consumption of ozone-depleting CFCs (ODP tons)
	29. Proportion of population using solid fuels
Target 10: Halve, by 2015, the proportion of people without sustainable access to safe drinking water and basic sanitation	 30. Proportion of population with sustainable access to an improved water source, urban and rural 31. Proportion of population with access to improved sanitation, urban and rural
Target 11: By 2020, to have achieved a significant improvement in the lives of at least 100 million slum dwellers	32. Proportion of households with access to secure tenure
Goal 8. Develop a global partnership for development	

currently not a sufficient number of surveys to be able to calculate the indicator as defined above, UNICEF, in collaboration with UNAIDS and WHO, produced two proxy indicators that represent two components of the actual indicator. They are the following: a) percentage of women and men 15-24 who know that a person can protect herself/herself from HIV infection by "consistent use of condom"; b) percentage of women and men 15-24 who know a healthy-looking person can transmit HIV. ¹⁷⁷ Prevention to be measured by the percentage of children under 5 sleeping under insecticide-treated

bednets; treatment to be measured by percentage of children under 5 who are appropriately treated.

Goals and Targets (from the Millennium Declaration)	Indicators for monitoring progress
Target 12: Develop further an open, rule-based, predictable, non- discriminatory trading and financial system	Some of the indicators listed below are monitored separately for the least developed countries (LDCs), Africa, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States.
Includes a commitment to good governance, development and poverty reduction – both nationally and internationally	Official development assistance (ODA) 33. Net ODA, total and to the least developed countries, as
 Target 13: Address the special needs of the least developed countries Includes: tariff and quota free access for the least developed countries' exports; enhanced programme of debt relief for heavily indebted poor countries (HIPC) and cancellation of official bilateral debt; and more generous ODA for countries committed to poverty reduction Target 14: Address the special needs of landlocked developing countries and small island developing States (through the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States and the outcome of the twenty-second special session of the General Assembly) Target 15: Deal comprehensively with the debt problems of developing countries through national and international measures in order to make debt sustainable in the long term 	 34. Proportion of total bilateral, sector-allocable ODA of OECD/DAC donors to basic social services (basic education, primary health care, nutrition, safe water and sanitation). 35. Proportion of bilateral official development assistance of OECD/DAC donors that is untied 36. ODA received in landlocked developing countries as a proportion of their gross national incomes 37. ODA received in small island developing States as a proportion of their gross national incomes 38. Proportion of total developed country imports (by value and excluding arms) from developing countries and least developed countries, admitted free of duty 39. Average tariffs imposed by developed countries on agricultural products and textiles and clothing from developing countries 40. Agricultural support estimate for OECD countries as a proportion of ODA provided to help build trade capacity
	 42. Total number of countries that have reached their HIPC decision points and number that have reached their HIPC completion points (cumulative) 43. Debt relief committed under HIPC Initiative 44. Debt service as a percentage of exports of goods and services
Target 16: In cooperation with developing countries, develop and implement strategies for decent and productive work for youth	45. Unemployment rate of young people aged 15-24 years, each sex and total ¹⁷⁸
Target 17: In cooperation with pharmaceutical companies, provide access to affordable essential drugs in developing countries	46. Proportion of population with access to affordable essential drugs on a sustainable basis
Target 18: In cooperation with the private sector, make available the benefits of new technologies, especially information and communications	 47. Telephone lines and cellular subscribers per 100 population 48. Personal computers in use per 100 population Internet users per 100 population

¹⁷⁸ An improved measure of the target for future years is under development by the International Labour Organization.

nou	ising censuses
No.	Indicator
8	Literacy rate of 15-24 years old
10	Ratio of literate women to men, 15-24 years old
11	Share of women in wage employment in the non-agricultural sector
13	Under five mortality rate (potential)
14	Infant mortality rate (potential)
16	Maternal mortality ratio (potential)
21	Death rates associated with malaria (potential)
23	Death rates associated with tuberculosis (potential)
45	Unemployment rate of young people aged 15-24 years, each sex and total
29	Proportion of the population using solid fuels
30	Proportion of population with sustainable access to an improved water source, urban and rural
31	Proportion of population with access to improved sanitation, urban and rural
32	Proportion of households with access to secure tenure
47	Telephone lines and cellular subscribers per 100 population (potential)
48	Personal computer in use in 100 population and Internet use per 100 population (potential)

Table 4: Millennium Development Goal indicators that could be produced from population and housing censuses

E. Promotion of, and Training on, Uses of Census Data

3.125. The main purpose of a census is to collect, process and disseminate information that will be used as the basis of informed, evidence-based decision making. The benefits of this approach to decisions are not always apparent to users, especially in situations where other approaches may have been used in the past. It is therefore important to promote such uses of census results to users.

3.126. In other cases, users may be willing to use the information but require additional training to more fully understand the data. Such training may be usefully combined with training in statistical dissemination techniques and/or uses of more advanced data products. At a very basic level some users may require training in such mundane issues as how to contact the national statistical office and/or how to find the information they require within the systems of that office.

3.127. Whichever approach is taken to enhancing promotion and training in the use of statistical data a number of strategic issues need to be addressed. These include:

- (a) Ensuring that the needs for training are identified early in the census planning process and that required funds are included in the census budget. In this regard it should be noted that in many cases the courses requested by users will be specific to those users: in such a case it may be desirable to request the user to provide funds to cover the marginal (or full) costs of the course.
- (b) The proposed courses or materials should be fully integrated into the overall census advocacy or training program. It is essential that messages about the use of data fully reflect the message(s) given when initially advocating taking the census and/or seeking public cooperation with and participation in the collection phase.
- (c) If the training facility is itself promoted properly it is highly likely that the demand for training will far outstrip the ability of the statistical office to deliver it. In this case it will be necessary for the statistical office to have prepared transparent strategies which (a) identify those areas in which the statistical office has particular knowledge or expertise); (b) establish partnerships with other bodies to provide training in other cases; (c) use of approaches other than classroom training to provide learning-at-a-distance opportunities (e.g., use of self help facilities on CD-ROM); (d) a pricing regime to cover costs where this is seen as desirable.

3.128. The possible list of target audiences and topics for such training is very much a matter for decision by countries. It should be noted however that basic training in the use and interpretation of the results of one census is a very strong method of advocating support for future censuses. It is thus recommended that countries consider development of a basic course in (a) potential uses of census data; (b) how to access census data and (c) interpretation of the census data at the broadest level including the interpretation of its completeness and level of accuracy. The target audience for such training should be key decision makers in the political and administrative hierarchy of the country. It should be outlined that the uses of census data at the local level (small areas) offer substantial potential for constructive use of census data: spatial distribution of population by age and sex, for example, provide an ideal framework for local officials to address the most pressing issues of their constituents, such as location of schools, utilities and so forth.

3.129. A second group of key importance are members of the mass media such as print, radio and TV journalists. A focus on training such personalities is important because they can carry the message to many other people. This will assist in the general raising of awareness in the population at large as well as generating an awareness of the census in the government, academic and business users who may not have contact with the statistical office on a regular basis. Obviously such training should be completely integrated with the overall public relations and advocacy work.

Annex 1: The International Classification of Functioning and Disability (ICF) model

Interactions between components of the ICF

The interactions between the parts and components are reflected in the following model.



Main concepts, terms and definitions

The main concepts, terms and definitions of the ICF are:

Body functions	are the physiological functions of body systems (including
	psychological functions).
Body structures	are anatomical parts of the body such as organs, limbs and their
	components
Impairments	are problems in body function or structure such as a significant
1	deviation or loss
Activity	is the execution of a task or action by an individual
Activity limitations	are difficulties an individual may have in executing activities
Participation	is involvement in a life situation
Participation restrictions	are problems an individual may experience in involvement in life
-	situations
Functioning	is the umbrella term for body function, structure, activity and
e	participation
Disability	is the umbrella term for impairment, activity limitation and
	participation restriction
Environmental factors	make up the physical social and attitudinal environment in which
	people live and conduct their life
Personal factors	are the particular background of an individual's life and living and
r ersonar raetors	comprise features of the individual that are not part of a health
	condition or health states, such as gender, race, age, fitness, lifestyle

habits, coping styles, social background, education, profession, etc. The ICF does not include a classification of personal factors represent the complete background of an individual's life and living including two components, being environmental factors and personal factors which may have an impact on the individual with a health condition and that individual's health and health related states.

The content of the ICF is illustrated by the first-level or parent categories (chapter headings) of each of the classifications included in the ICF.

Body functions:

- 1 Mental functions
- 2 Sensory functions and pain
- 3 Voice and speech functions
- 4 Functions of the cardiovascular, haematological, immunological and respiratory systems
- 5 Functions of digestive, metabolic and endocrine systems
- 6 Genitoury and reproductive functions
- 7 Neuromusculoskeletal and movement related structures
- 8 Functions of the skin and related structures

Body structures:

- 1 Structures of the nervous system
- 2 The eye, ear and related structures
- 3 Structures involved in voice and speech
- 4 Structures of the cardiovascular, immunological and respiratory systems
- 5 Structures related to the digestive, metabolic and endocrine systems
- 6 Structures related to the genitourinary and reproductive systems
- 7 Structures related to movement
- 8 Skin and related structures

Activity and Participation¹⁷⁹:

- 1 Learning and applying knowledge
- 2 General tasks and demands
- 3 Communication
- 4 Mobility
- 5 Self-care
- 6 Domestic life
- 7 Interpersonal interactions and relationships
- 8 Major life areas (such as education, work and employment, economic life)
- 9 Community, social and civic life

Environmental factors

- 1 Products and technology
- 2 Natural environment and human-made changes to environment
- 3 Support and relationships
- 4 Attitudes
- 5 Services, systems and policies

¹⁷⁹ At the time the revision process of the ICIDH was in a final stage it seemed to be possible to distinguish activity and participation at the level of definitions. However it was not possible to reach agreement about the related classifications. For this reason there is one classification for activity and participation (domains) with four suggestions how to use this in an activity or participation mode

Personal factors are mentioned as important factors but are not classified in the ICF. For health conditions (disorder, disease, injuries and congenital causes of disability) reference is made to the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision (ICD-10)¹⁸⁰ and the International Classification of External Causes of Injury (ICECI)¹⁸¹.

In order to specify the functioning and disability situation of a person, qualifiers are available to indicate the extent and level of functioning/disability and the environmental factors as being facilitators or barriers. The advantage of the ICF is the broad spectrum offered from the body function/structure (impairment) point of view up to the participation one including the influence of environmental factors. It is recommended to use this broad spectrum as often as possible.

¹⁸⁰ http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/.

¹⁸¹ http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/adaptations/iceci/en/index.html.

Annex 2: List of recommended tabulations for population censuses¹⁸², ¹⁸³

Group 1. Tabulations on geographical and internal migration characteristics

- P1.1-R Total population and population of major and minor civil divisions, by urban/rural distribution and by sex*
- P1.2-R Population by size-class of locality, by major civil division, and by sex*
- P1.3-R Population of principal localities and of their urban agglomerations, by sex
- P1.4-R Native and foreign-born population, by geographical division, by age and sex*
- P1.5-R Population, by duration of residence in locality and major civil division, age and sex*
- P 1.6a-R Population by place of usual residence, duration of residence, place of previous residence, by major civil division and sex
- P.1.6b-R Population ... years of age and over, by place of usual residence, place of residence at a specified date in the past, by major civil division, age and sex

Group 2. Tabulations on international migration and immigrant stock

- P2.1-R Foreign-born population, by country of birth, age and sex
- P2.2-R Foreign-born population, by period of arrival, country of birth, age and sex*
- P2.3-R Population, by country of birth and citizenship, age and sex
- P2.4-R Economically active foreign-born population ... years of age and over, by period of arrival, occupation and sex

Group 3. Tabulations on household characteristics

- P3.1-R Population in households, by relationship to head or other reference member of household, marital status and sex, and size of institutional population
- P3.2-R Head or other reference members of households, by age and sex; and other household members, by age and relationship to head or other reference member*
- P3.3-R Households, population in households and number of family nuclei, by size of household*

Group 4. Tabulations on demographic and social characteristics

- P4.1-R Population, by single years of age and sex*
- P4.2-R Population, by marital status, age and sex*

Group 5. Tabulations on fertility and mortality

- P5.1-R Female population 10 years of age and over, by age and number of children ever born alive by sex*
- P5.2-R Female population 10 years of age and over, by age and number of children living by sex*
- P5.3-R Female population ... to 49 years of age, by age, number of live births, by sex within the 12 months preceding the census, and deaths among these live births, by sex
- P5.4-R Household deaths, by sex and age within the 12 months preceding the census; and total population, by age and sex

Group 6. Tabulations on educational characteristics

- P6.1-R Population ... years of age and over not attending school, by educational attainment, age and sex*
- P6.2-R Population 5 to 29 years of age, by school attendance, single years of age and sex*
- P6.3-R Population 10 years of age and over, by literacy, age group and sex

¹⁸² Recommended tabulations are identified by an "R" as part of the table number.

¹⁸³ * represents a basic/essential tabulation.

Group 7. Tabulations on economic characteristics

- P7.1-R Population ... years of age and over, by usual (or current) activity status, marital status, age and sex*
- P7.2-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main occupation, age and sex*
- P7.3-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main industry, age and sex*
- P7.4-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main status in employment, age and sex*
- P7.5-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main status in employment, main industry and sex
- P7.6-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main status in employment, main occupation and sex
- P7.7-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main industry, main occupation and sex*
- P7.8-R Population not usually (or currently) active, by functional categories, age and sex*

Group 8. Tabulations on disability characteristics

- P8.1-R Population with and without disabilities by urban/rural area, age and sex*
- P 8.2-R Population 5 years of age and over, by disability status, educational attainment, age and sex
- P 8.3-R Population 15 years and over, by disability status, economic activity status, age and sex

P1.1-R Total population and population of major and minor civil divisions, by urban/rural distribution and by sex

Geographical division and urban/rural	Number of		Population by s	Population by sex		
distribution	localities	Both sexes	Male	Female		
TOTAL Urban Rural Major civil division A ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division A1 ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division A2 ¹	Population in Classification (a) Geograp civil division. (b) Sex: bot	ncluded: Total populati ns: ohical division: (i) tota Distinguish between u h sexes; male; female	on l country; (ii) each majo urban and rural for (i), (i	r civil division; (iii) each minor i), and (iii)		
Major civil division B ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division B1 ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division B2 ¹ (etc.)	$\begin{array}{ccc} \text{Meta-data for} \\ (a) & \text{Son} \\ o & \text{Tra} \\ o & \text{Re}_i \\ o & \text{Ro} \\ o & \text{Ro} \\ o & \text{Civ} \\ (b) & De \\ (c) & \text{De} \\ (d) & \text{De} \end{array}$	this tabulation: urce of statistics: aditional population cer gister-based population gisters/Surveys systems lling surveys vil registration <i>jure or de facto</i> popula finition of locality finition of urban and ru	nsus census s ttion or a combination wi rral areas	th detailed description		
Major civil division Z ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division Z1 ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division Z2 ¹ Urban Rural (etc.)	<u>Core topics:</u>	Place of usual reside Sex	ence or Place where p	resent at time of census		

Total population distributed among major and minor civil divisions is frequently a legal requirement of the census, because the results are used for apportionment of representation in legislatures and for various administrative purposes. The tabulation provides data needed for studies and policy analysis with regard to economic and social development of each part of the country, for the location of economic development projects as well as of health facilities. These data are also required for the computation of vital statistics rates usually used in projections of future population of civil divisions.

¹ Name of major or minor civil division.

P1.2-R Population by size-class of locality, by major civil division, and by sex

Geographical division and size-class	Number of	r of Population by sex					nber of <i>Population by sex</i>	ç
of locality	localities	Both sexes	Female					
Total country								
TOTAL								
All localities	Population in Classification	cluded: Total popula	tion					
5,000,000 or more inhabitants 1,000,000 – 4,999,999 inhabitants	(a) Geographi (b) Size-class inhabitants: 5	cal division : (i) total of locality: 5,000,000 00 000-999 999 inhai	country; (ii) each major) or more inhabitants; 1,0 hitants: 100 000-499 999	civil division)00,000- 4,999,999 inhabitants: 50 000-				
500,000 - 999,999 inhabitants	99,999 inhabit 9.999 inhabita	tants; 20,000-49,999 i unts: 2.000-4.999 inha	inhabitants; 10,000-19,99 bitants: 1,000-1,999 inha	<i>inhabitants; 5,000-</i> <i>ipitants: 500-999</i>				
100,000-499,999 inhabitants	inhabitants; 2 number of loce	00-499 inhabitants; le alities of each size-cla	ess than 200 inhabitants;	and, separately, the				
50,000-99,999 inhabitants	(c) Population (d) Sex: both	not in localities: tota sexes: male: female	l					
20,000-49,999 inhabitants	1.7 2.0.2 1.0.0.2							
10,000-19,999 inhabitants	Meta-data for (a) Sou	this tabulation:						
5,000-9,999 inhabitants	o Tra	ditional population ce	nsus n census					
2,000-4,999 inhabitants	o Reg	gisters/Surveys system	IS					
1,000-1,999 inhabitants	o Civ (b) De	il registration <i>jure</i> or <i>de facto</i> popul	ation or a combination w	ith detailed description				
500-999 inhabitants	(c) Def	inition of locality		r and r and r				
200-499 inhabitants	Core tonies	Diago of usual resid	langa ar Plaga whore n	recent at time of concus				
Less than 200 inhabitants	<u>Core topics</u> :	Sex	lence of Flace where p	resent at time of census				
Population not in localities								
Major civil divisions As for total country								

This tabulation provides data on national patterns of concentration or dispersion of population, which will afford a reasonable degree of international comparability, provided that the unit of classification is the locality as defined in paragraph 2.49. In those countries where the distinction between urban and rural population can be based on size of locality, these data provide the basis for the urban/rural classification and also for the calculation of rates of urbanization. Use of data from successive censuses is possible to assess the rate of change, over given periods, in the number of localities in each size-class and the proportion of the population in each size-class of locality.

		Population by sex									
Locality	В	Both sexes		ale	Femal	le					
	City proper	Urban agglomeration	City Urban proper agglomeration		City proper	Urban agglomeration					
City or town A ¹ City or town B ¹ City or town C ¹	 Population included: population of localities above a specified size and the urban agglomeration of each such locality Classifications: (a) Geographical division: total country (b) Principal localities and their urban agglomeration): each specified city or town, the urban agglomeration of each specified city or town (when an urban agglomeration comprises more than one specified city or town, each specified city or town should be clearly distinguished) 										
City or town D ¹ City or town Z ¹	 specified city or town should be clearly distinguished) (c) Sex: both sexes; male; female Meta-data for this tabulation: (a) Source of statistics: Traditional population census Register-based population census Register-based population census Registers/Surveys systems Rolling surveys Civil registration (b) De jure or de facto population or a combination with detailed description 										
	(d) 1 Core topi	Definition of urban <u>cs:</u> Place of usual Sex	agglomeration residence or Place	e where present at	time of census						

P1.3-R Population of principal localities and of their urban agglomerations, by sex

Information on the population size of the principal cities or towns and of the urban agglomerations of which these cities or towns are a part is needed for the study of the growth of the largest clusters of population within a country. The results of such study are useful in planning the local services (such as utilities, roads, schools, hospitals and so forth) that are required in proportion to population size.

The use of figures for urban agglomerations, in addition to those for the city proper, gives a more adequate indication of the size of the concentration of population, which often extends beyond the legal borders of the city. These figures may in fact reveal the need to redraw the city boundaries. For the most effective use of the data, figures are needed both for the city proper and for the urban agglomeration, because cities usually have some form of local government that does not extend over to the surrounding densely settled fringe. Responsibility for the determination of policy and subsequent action may therefore have to be shared by several minor administrative divisions, each of which requires information on the population within its own borders.

¹Name of city or town.

Total country Both sexes ALL AGES Under 1 year 1-4 5-9 10-14	Population included : total p Classifications: (a) Geographical divisions: (i principal locality. Distinguis	opulation		
Under 1 year 1-4 5-9 10-14	Classifications: (a) Geographical divisions: (i principal locality. Distinguis	i) total country: (ii) ca		
1-4 5-9 10-14	(a) Geographical divisions: (i principal locality. Distinguist	i) total country: (ii) ag		
5-9 10-14	principal locality. Distinguis	i) ioiai country, (ii) ea	ch major civil division	ı; (iii) each
10-14		h between urban and i	rural for (i), (ii) and (i	ii)
15 10	(c) Age: all ages: under 1 ver	eign-born ar: 1-4 vears: 5-9 veai	rs: 10-14 vears: 15-19) vears: 20-24
15-19	years; 25-29 years; 30-34 yea	urs; 35-39 years; 40-4	4 years; 45-49 years;	50-54 years;
20-24	55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-	-69 years; 70-74 years	; 75-79 years; 80-84 y	years; 85-89
25-29	years; 90-94 years; 95-99 yea	irs; and 100 years and nale	l over; not stated	
30-34	(u) Sex. Dom sexes, mare, jen			
35-39	Mate data for this tabulation:			
40-44	(a) Source of statistics:	:		
45-49	 Traditional populat 	tion census		
50-54	• Register-based pop	ulation census		
55-59	 Registers/Surveys Rolling surveys 	systems		
60-64	 Civil registration 			
65-69	(b) De jure or de facto	population or a comb	ination with detailed d	lescription
70-74	(c) Definition of urban	and rural areas		
75-79	(<i>u</i>) Demittion of age			
80-84				
85-89				
90-94	<u>Core topics:</u> Place of usual	l residence or Place	where present at tin	ne of census
95-99	Age			
100 and over	Place of birth	/country of birth		
Not stated		-		
Male				
(Age groups as above)				
Female				
(Age groups as above)				
Major civil division				
As for total country				

P1.4-R Native and foreign-born population, by geographical division, and by age and sex

These data are the basis for assessing the net contribution of immigration to the age and sex structure of the population. In countries where immigration has occurred on a large scale, it is very useful to tabulate the data on age-sex structure separately for the native and the foreign-born population. Thus the effects of immigration on the growth and structure of the population can be examined and estimates of future mortality and fertility can be improved by taking into account differentials between native and foreign-born population. The provision of the category of infants under one year of age is useful for studying relative underenumeration of foreign-born and native infants.

P1.5-R Population, by duration of residence in locality and major civil division, age and sex

Geographical division,	Age (in years)										
sex and duration of residence	All ages	Under 1	1-4	5-9	10-14	15-19	20-24		95-99	100 and over	Not stated

Both sexes

TOTAL

Resident¹

Resident in major civil division since birth

Resident in locality since birth

Not resident in locality since birth

Resident in locality 10 years or more

Resident in locality 5-9 years

Resident in locality 1-4 years

Resident in locality less tan 1 year

Duration of residence in locality not stated

Not stated whether resident in locality since birth

Not resident in major civil division since birth

Resident in major civil division 10 or more years Resident in locality 10 or more years

Resident in locality 5-9 years

Resident in locality 1-4 years

Resident in locality less than 1 year

Duration of residence in locality not stated

Resident in major civil division 5-9 years

Resident in locality 5-9 years

Resident in locality 1-4 years

Resident in locality less than 1year

Duration of residence in locality not stated

Resident in major civil division 1-4 years

Resident in locality 1-4 years

Resident in locality less than 1 year

Duration of residence in locality not stated

Resident in major civil division less than 1 year

Duration of residence in major civil division not

Male (duration of residence as above)

stated

Female (duration of residence as above)

Population included: total population **Classifications**:

(a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i) and (ii)

(b) Duration of residence in locality: since birth; not since birth - resident for: less than 1 year, 1-4 years, 5-9 years, 10 or more years, number of years not stated; not stated whether resident in locality since birth (for additional categories needed if tabulation is prepared on the basis of the population present in each area at the time of the census, see illustration) (c) Duration of residence in major civil division): same as for (b)

(d) Age: all ages; under 1 year; 1-4 years; 5-9 years; 10-14 years; 15-19 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 years; 70-74 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; and 100 years and over; not stated (e) Sex: both sexes; male; female

Meta-data for this tabulation:

- (a) Source of statistics:
 - $o\;\;$ Traditional population census
 - Register-based population census
 - o Registers/Surveys systems
 - o Rolling surveyso Civil registration
- (b) De jure or de facto population or a combination with detailed description
- (c) Definition of urban and rural areas
- (d) Definition of age
- (e) Definition of duration of residence

<u>Core topics:</u> Place of usual residence or Place where present at time of census Sex

Age Duration of residence

¹ This category is needed only if the tabulation is prepared on the basis of the population present in each area at the time of the census; it is not required if the tabulation is based on the resident population of each area.

Data on levels of net migration also show the direction of in-migration (on the basis of information on duration of residence in locality and major division), in terms of major civil divisions of the country and the most important localities. Such data are useful for preparing estimates of the future population of specific areas of the country. These estimates are used both for planning in areas of anticipated growth and for the determination of policy on internal migration and possible measures that can be employed to affect trends in migration.

P1.6a-R Population by place of usual residence, duration of residence, place of previous residence, by major civil division and sex

Geographical division,	Total		Place	of previ	ious residence ¹		
place of usual residence, duration of residence age (in years) and sex	popu- lation	Major or other civil division A ¹	Major or other civil division B^{I}		Major or other civil division Z^{I}	Foreign country	Not stated
Both sexes TOTAL Major or other civil division A^2 Resident since birth Not resident since birth Resident less than 1 year Resident 1-4 years Resident 5-9 years Resident 10 or more years Duration of residence not stated Whether residence since birth not stated Major or other civil division B^2 (as for "Major or other civil division A") Major or other civil division Z^2 (as for "Major or other civil division A") Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")		Population includ Classifications: (a) Geographical (b) Place of usual (c) Duration of re- resident for: less t stated, not stated w additional categor present in each ar (d) Place of previo country; not stated (e) Sex: both sexes Core topics: Pla Du Pla Sex	led: total populatio division: (i) total ca residence: each ma sidence in the major han 1 year, 1-4 yea whether resident in ties needed if tabula ea at the time of the ous residence: each d s; male; female ce of usual resident ace of previous rest	ountry, ajor or of r or other rs, 5-9 y major o tition is j e census a major nce ce sidence	(ii) each major civit other civil division of er civil division: sin years, 10 or more ye or other civil division prepared on the bas s, see outline of tabu or other civil division e	division of the country ace birth; not ears, number of n since birth (is of the popu- lation P1.5 ai on of the count 	since birth - of years not for lation bove) atry; foreign

Data from a series of censuses on the sources and direction of migration between civil divisions during a specified period, and on the age composition of the migrants, make it possible to assess changes in migration over time. It is therefore useful for preparing estimates of the future population of civil divisions, which are needed for the purposes stated in respect of the use of recommended tabulation P1.5. Unit of observation and classifications are the same as in the above-mentioned table.

¹ Place of previous residence does not apply to those who have been residing in the same civil division since birth.

² Name of major or other civil division.

P1.6b-R Population ... years of age and over, by place of usual residence, place of residence at a specified date in the past, by major civil division, age and sex

Geographical division ,	Population 1 Place of residence at a specified date in the past						
place of usual residence, age (in vears) and sex	years of age	Major or other	Major or other		Major or other	Foreign	Not
(in years) and sex	and over	civil division A^2	civil division B^2		civil division Z^2	country	stated
Both sexes TOTAL Major or other civil division A ¹ All ages 1-4 years 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100 years and over Not stated Major or other civil division B ²	Population includ Classifications: (a) Geographical (b) Place of usual (c) Place of reside stated (for persons place of usual resi (d) Age: all ages; years; 45-49 years 90-94 years; 95-99 - (e) Sex: both sexue Core topics: Plac Du Pla	led: population y division: total countr residence: each may nce at a specified da who have always r dence) 1-4 years; 5-9 years 5, 50-54 years; 55-59 9 years; 100 years an es; male; female	ears of age and over ry jor or other civil div te in the past: each esided in the same of s; 10-14 years; 15-1 9 years; 60-64 year; d over; at a specified da	r vision of the o a major or oth civil division, '9 years; 20-2 s; 65-69 year 	country her civil division of th the place of previou: 24 years; 25-29 years 25; 70-74 years; 75-79	ne country; forei, s residence will i ;; 30-34 years; 3 9 years; 80-84 ye	gn country; not be the same as the 5-39 years; 40-44 vars; 85-89 years;
(Age groups as above)							
Major or other civil division Z^2							
(Age groups as above) Male (Age groups as above) Female (Age groups as above)							

Data on the sources and direction of migration between civil divisions during a specified period and on the age composition of the migrants from a series of censuses make it possible to assess changes in the phenomena measured for comparable lengths of time. It is therefore useful for preparing estimates of the future population of civil divisions, which are needed for the purposes stated in the use of recommended tabulation P1.5. Unit of observation and classifications are the same as in the above-mentioned table.

¹ The lower age-limit depends on the specified date in the past adopted by the country. The age classification in this illustration is appropriate when the specified date in the past is one year prior to the enumeration.

² Name of major or other civil division.

Group 2. Tabulations on international migration on immigrant stock

P2.1-R Foreign-born population, by country of birth, age and sex

Geographical division,	All	Age (in years)											
continent and country of birth, and sex	ages	Under 5	5-9	10-14	15-19	20-24		95-99	100 and over	Not stated			
Both sexes													
TOTAL	Popula Classif	tion include	d: forei	gn-born p	opulation								
Africa	 (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division (b) Country/place of birth: each continent (Africa; America, North; America, South; Asia; Europe; Oceania); each country within the continent that is the birthplace of a significant number of foreign-born persons; all other countries (combined) in each continent; country not stated; continent not stated 												
Country A ¹ Country B ¹													
	(c) Age: all ages; under 15 years; 15-19 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 years; 70-74 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; 100 years and over; not stated. (d) Sex: both sexes; male; female												
Country Z ¹	Meta-d	ata for this ta	abulation	1:									
All other countries	(a) Source of C Tradition	f statistic al popul	es: ation cens	115								
Country not stated		 Register- 	based po	pulation c	ensus								
America, North (as above)		 Registers Rolling s 	/Surveys urveys	s systems									
America, South (as above)	(b	 Civil regi De jure c 	istration or <i>de fact</i>	o populati	on or a co	mbination	n with	detailed d	lescription				
Asia (as above)													
Europe (as above)	<u>Core t</u>	<u>opics:</u> Place Sex	e of usu	al resideı	nce or Pla	ace wher	e pre	sent at tii	ne of census				
Oceania (as above)		Age	ntry of l	hirth									
Continent not stated		Cou	iti y oi i	on th									
Male													
(as for "Both sexes")													
Female													
(as for "Both sexes")													

These data provide the basis for assessing the age and sex structure of the population and the contribution of immigration from specified countries. Thus the effects of immigration from specific countries on the growth and structure of the population can be estimated. As indicated in recommended tabulation P1.4, the differences in future fertility and mortality between immigrants from specific countries can also be improved.

¹ Name of country.

Sex, country of birth	All		Period of arrival	prior to the census date ¹	
and age (in years)	periods	1-4 years	5-9 years	10 years and more	Not stated
Both sexes					
All countries					
Africa 2					
Country A					
lotal l year and over	. Populatio	n included: all fore	ign-born persons	s in the country for more the	han one year
5.0	Classifica	tions:			
10-14	(a) Year o	r period of arrival: a	all periods; 1-4 y	years prior to the date of it	nquiry; 5-9 years;
1-14	10 years o	or more; not stated			
	(b) Place	or country of birth:	each continent (A	Africa; America, North; Ai	merica, South;
15-19	Asia; Euro	ope; Oceania); each	country within t	he continent that is the bir	rthplace of a
20-24	significan	t number of foreign-	born persons; al	l other countries (combine	ed) in each
	continent;	country not stated;	continent not sto	ited	20.24
40-44	(<i>c</i>) Age: 10	otal 1 year ana over;	1-4 years; 5-9 y	<i>vears; 10-14 years; 15-19</i>	years; 20-24
15-44	years; 25-	29 years; 30-34 yea	rs; 33-39 years; 60	40-44 years; 45-49 years;	; 50-54 years;
45.40	33-39 yea	rs; 00-04 years; 03-0 for 1 14 worns, 15 4	09 years; 70-74	years; 73-79 years; 80-84	years (with $0.5, 0.0$
45-49	subtotais j	or 1-14 years; 15-44	4 years: ana 43- 1	64 years); 65-69 years; 90	<i>1-94 years; 95-99</i>
50-54	years, and	ath acress male for	a age noi siaiea		
00.04	$-(a) \underline{Sex. } be$	oin sexes; male, jem	<u>ue</u>		
95-99					
100 and over	Meta-data	for this tabulation:			
Age not stated	(<i>c</i>)	Source of statistics:			
8	0	Traditional populati	on census		
Country B ² (as for "Country A")	0	Register-based popu	ilation census		
	0	Registers/Surveys s	ystems		
Country Z^2 (as for "Country A")	0	Rolling surveys			
All other countries (as for "Country A")	0	Civil registration	1.0		1
Country not stated (as for "Country A")	(<i>d</i>)	De jure or de facto	population or a c	combination with detailed	description
America, North (as for "Africa")					
America, South (as for "Africa")	Core top	ics: Place of usual	residence or P	lace where present at ti	ime of census
Asia (as for "Africa")		Sex			
Europe (as for "Africa")		Age	1 . 6		
Oceania (as for "Africa")		Y ear or period	u ol arrival rth		
Continent not stated (as for Country A [*])		Country of Di			
Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")					

P2.2-R Foreign-born population, by year or period of arrival, country of birth, age and sex

This tabulation furnishes data to assess the cumulative effect of annual flows of migration and, in particular, the proportion of the total population that is of foreign origin and its demographic characteristics. In the absence of migration flow statistics, it provides information on the sources of immigration and their relative contributions over the years for use in preparing population estimates and projections. Cross-classification by period of arrival provides information on the changes in the relative size of population originating from specified countries and their composition by age and sex over recent years. An indication of return migration can be obtained based on similar tabulation from successive censuses.

¹ In actual published tables, the period of arrival may be shown in calendar years.

² Name of country.

Population, by country of birth and citizenship, age and sex P2.3-R

Sex, continent and	All Age (in years)											
country of birth and citizenship	ages	Under 5	5-9	10-14	15-19	20-24		95-99	100 and over	Not stated		
Both sexes	Popula Classif	tion include	d: total p	opulation								
TOTAL Africa Country A (Country A is country of birth) Country of enumeration (Those born in country A who have citizenship of country of enumeration) Country of birth (Those born in country A and are still citizens of country A)	(a) G (b) N (c) C Europe numbe: stated; (d) C for Can (e) A years; years; _(f) _ S	eographical a ame of country ountry/place ; Oceania); r of foreign-b continent not ountry of citi tada, it would ge: all ages; 40-44 years; 75-79 years; ex: both sexe	livision: (y of birth: each cou orn perso stated zenship: l be Cana under 15 45-49 ye 80-84 yee s; male; j	(i) total co each con untry with ons; all ot country of idian citizz years; 15- vars; 50-5 urs; 90-94 female	untry; (ii) ntinent (AJ in the con her countr f tabulatio enship), co -19 years; 4 years; 5 years; 95-	each majo frica; Ame ttinent tha ies (comb n (for exa untry of b 20-24 yea 5-59 years; 	or civil erica, 1 tt is th ined) is mple, i irth an urs; 25- urs; 60-(100 ye – – – –	division North; Ama ne birthpla n each com if this tabu d other cou -29 years; (54 years; (ears and ov	erica, Sou ce of a su tinent; co lation is g untry 30-34 yea 55-69 yea ver; not sta	th; Asia; ignificant untry not generatec rs; 35-35 rs; 70-74 uted.		
Other country (Those born in country A who have citizenship of other countries, excluding country A and country of enumeration) Country B (Country B is country of birth) Country of enumeration (Those born in country B who have citizenship of country of enumeration) Country of birth (Those born in	Meta-d (a) (b)	ata for this ta) Source of o Traditiona o Register-b o Registers/ o Rolling su o Civil registers/) De jure of onics: Place	bulation: statistics al populat based pop Surveys stration r <i>de facto</i>	: tion census pulation ce systems populatio	s nsus n or a com	bination v	vith de	tailed desc	ription			
country B and are still citizens of country B) Other country (Those born in country B who have citizenship of other countries, excluding country B and country of enumeration)	<u>core r</u>	Sex Age count Citiza	try of bi	rth		e where j	presen		or census			
America, North (as above) America, South (as above) Asia (as above) Europe (as above) Oceania (as above) Continent not stated												

Male

(as for "Both sexes")

Female

(as for "Both sexes")

 ¹ Country of birth.
 ¹ Country of birth.

This tabulation is useful in identifying the country of birth and citizenship of the population according to age and sex. It is possible to determine the frequency with which persons become citizens and the place of birth of citizens in each country. Data can also be of use in the study of the rate of assimilation of the foreign-born population.

P2.4-R Economically active¹ foreign-born population ...² years of age and over, by year or period of arrival, occupation and sex

Sex and occupation	All	Period of arrival prior to the census date ³						
	periods	0-4 years	5-9 years	10 years or more	Not stated			
Both sexes								
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE Sub-major group 11 Minor group 111 Minor group 112 (etc.) Sub-major group 21 Minor group 211 Minor group 212	Population who are ecc Classificati (a) Year or 10 years or (b) Main oo Standard C words, three (c) Sex: bot Meta-data f	included: for onomically actions ons: period of arrii more; not static cupation: acco classification of e-digit) level h sexes; male; or this tabulation ource of statis	eign-born pers ve according t val: all perio ed ording to, or o f Occupation. female on:	sons above the specified n to usual (or current) activi ds; 0-4 years prior to the convertible to, the latest r s (ISCO-88), at least to	ninimum age in the country ty status date of inquiry; 5-9 years: evision of the International the minor group (in other			
(etc.) Sub-major group 91 Minor group 911 Minor group 912	(b) T (c) F (c) F (c) F (c) C (b) L	raditional pop Register-based Registers/Surve Colling surveys Civil registratio De jure or de fa	ulation census population cen ys systems n <i>icto</i> population	nsus	etailed description			
Sub-major group 01 Minor group 011	<u>Core topic</u>	<u>s:</u> Place of us Sex Occupatio Year or pe	ual residenc n eriod of arriv	e or Place where presei /al	nt at time of census			
Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")								

These data provide information on the occupations of the foreign-born population needed to study immigrant workers, particularly their economic integration and mobility in the country of immigration. Together with a similar tabulation for the native population, the data constitute the basis for undertaking an in-depth analysis of occupational patterns and making occupational forecasts for the economy. From the cross-classification by period of arrival, one can observe the pattern of inflow of skilled migrants during previous years. When classification is also by country of birth, data are provided for countries that are losing a large volume of highly qualified migrants; such data are useful in the formulation of employment and educational policies in the countries of origin for dealing with the impact of the outflow of skilled personnel.

¹ The treatment of unemployed immigrants (including those who never worked before) should be clearly stated.

² The minimum age adopted by the country for enumerating the economically active population.

³ In actual published tables, the period of arrival can be shown in calendar years.

Group 3. Tabulations on household characteristics

P3.1-R Population in households, by relationship to head or other reference member of household, marital status and sex, and size of institutional population

Geographical division , relationship	Total	Marital status									
to head or other reference member of household, and sex		Single	Married	Widowed	Divorced	Separated	Not stated				
TOTAL POPULATION Male Female All households Male Female Head or other reference member Male Female Spouse Male Female Child Male Female Spouse of child Male Female Grandchild or great-grandchild Male Female Parent or parent of spouse Male Female Other relative Male	Populatic Classifica (a) Geogr division; ((b) Relatii member; . spouse; oo reference (c) Institu (d) Marita (e) Sex: L Meta-data (a) o (b) (c) (d) (c) (d) (e)	on include tions: aphical di (iv) each p onship to a spouse; ch ther relati tional pop al status: t south sexes; a for this ta Source of Tradition Register- Registers Rolling s Civil regi De jure of Definitio Definitio	ed: total pop ivision: (i) to principal loc head or othe uild; spouse ve; domestic not stated pulation: tota otal; single, : male; femal abulation: f statistics: ial populatio based popul /Surveys sy urveys istration or de facto pon n of urban a n of relation n of marital	ulation, includi otal country; (ii ality. Distingu or reference me of child; grand c employee; oth al number married, wido le n census ation census ation census stems opulation or a c nd rural areas ship to head or status	ng persons living i) each major civing between urban mber of househo child or great-great-great per person not re- wed, divorced, su- wed, divorced, su- combination with other reference	g alone (one- j alone (one- il division; (i an and rural f id: head or o candchild; pa lated to the ha eparated, not o detailed deso member of th	berson households) ii) each minor civil ii) ii) and (iii) other reference rent or parent of ead or other stated cription e household				
Domestic employee Male Female Other person not related to the head or other reference member Male Female Not stated Male Female Institutional population Male Female Not stated whether or not living in a household/institutions	<u>Core top</u>	<u>ics:</u> Placo Rela Sex Mar	e of usual r tionship to ital status	esidence or P head or othe	lace where pre r reference me	sent at time mber of hou	of census Isehold				

Data for the study of the distribution of individuals within households serve to indicate the relationship among members of households, particularly for information on the prevalence of multigenerational households and of households consisting of unrelated individuals. Marital status is also useful in the study of family living arrangements. Comparison of these data with similar data from an earlier census can provide information on changing patterns of household composition and of some of the characteristics of members of the household, and for the preparation of projections of the number of households.

P3.2-R Head or other reference member of households, by age and sex; and other household members, by age and relationship to head or other reference member

Geographical division, age and sex of	f Head or	Relationship of other household members									
head or other reference member, and age of other household members	other reference member ¹	Total	Spouse	Child	Spouse of child	Grand- child or great- grand- child	Parent or parent of spouse	Other relative	Person not related	Not stated	
Both sexes TOTAL											
Under 25 years Age of other household members Under 15 15-19 20-24 95-99 100 and over Not stated 25-29 years Age of other household members (as for "Under 25 years") 30-34 years Age of other household members (as for "Under 25 years") 95-99 years Age of other household members (as for "Under 25 years") 100 years and over Age of other household members (as for "Under 25 years") 100 years and over Age of other household members (as for "Under 25 years") Age not stated Age of other household members (as for "Under 25 years")	Population Classificati (a) Geograp (iv) each pro- (b) Relation reference m spouse; othe member; no (c) Age of h over; not sta (d) Age of o over; not sta (d) Age of o over; not sta (e) Sex: bot Meta-data fu (a) S 0 T 0 R 0 R 0 R 0 C (b) D (c) D (d) D (e) D	included ons: whical divincipal loss ship to have ember; sper relative t stated ead or of tited ther house the have the have the have our this tal ource of raditiona egister-be egister-be egisters/fo olling su ivil regis the jure or effinition befinition	I: all memb ision: (i) ton cality. Dist ead or other pouse; child e; domestic her reference schold memb male; femal pulation: statistics: l population: statistics: l population ased popula Surveys syst rveys tration de facto pog of urban an of relations of age	ers of ho tal countri- inguish b reference; spouse employee bers: und e census tion census tion census tion census pulation of d rural an hip to he	useholds y; (ii) each n vetween urba e member of of child; gra c; other perso r of househo der 15 years; us or a combination eas ad or other ro or Place wl	najor civil a n and rural household ndchild or g on not relata ld: under 2. 15-19; 20- 	division; (iii for (i), (ii), (paras. 2.6; great-grand ed to the her 5 years; 25- 24; 25-29; 2 24; 25-29; 2 etailed descreases ember of the nt at time o	 each mir and (iii) 7-2.76): h child; par ad or othe 29; 30-34 30-34; ; ription househol 	tor civil di ead or oth ent or para r reference ;; 95-99 95-99; 10	vision; er ent of ?);100 and 10 and	
Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes)		Relati Age Sex	ionship to l	head or	other refere	ence meml	ber of hous	sehold			

Data on the age of the head or other reference member of the household and of other household members, classified by their relationship to the head or other reference member, provide additional information for the purposes stated in the use of tabulation P3.1 and for the study of the prevalence of multigenerational households.

¹ Including persons living alone (one-person households).

Geographical division and size of household	Tot	tal	House	Number of family								
	House-	Popu-	0	1	2	3	4 or	Not	nuclei			
	holds lation more stated											
ALL HOUSEHOLDS									;			
Households consisting of	- Population Classification	included: a ons:	II membe	rs of hou	seholds							
1 person	(a) Geograp division; (iv	ohical divisio) each princ	on: (i) tota ipal local	ıl countr <u>.</u> ity. Disti	v; (ii) eac nguish be	ch major c etween url	rivil divisio ban and ru	on; (iii) eac ural for (i), (h minor civil (ii) and (iii)			
2 persons	(b) Size of h	(b) Size of household: 1 person; 2 persons; 3 persons; 4 persons; 5 persons; 6 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons; 9 persons; 10 persons or more; not stated; and separately, the number of households of each size and the aggregate population by size of household										
3 persons	households											
4 persons	(c) Number of family nuclei: none; one; two; three; four or more; not stated; and separately, the aggregate number of family nuclei											
5 persons	Meta-data f	for this tabul	ation.									
6 persons	(a) S	ource of stat	istics:									
7 persons	0 T 0 R	raditional po legister-base	pulation d populat	census ion censu	IS							
8 persons	o R o R	legisters/Sur	veys syste ys	ems								
9 persons	0 C (b) D	Civil registrat	ion <i>facto</i> pop	ulation o	r a comb	ination wi	ith detaile	d description	n			
10 persons or more	$\begin{pmatrix} c \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} c \\ d \end{bmatrix}$	Definition of	urban and	rural ar	eas							
Not stated	(<i>a</i>) L		ianniy nu	cieus								
	<u>Core topic</u>	<u>s:</u> Place of Relation Househo	usual res ship to h ld and fa	idence o ead or o mily co	or Place other ref mpositio	where p ference m on	resent at 1ember o	time of cer f househol	ısus d			

P3.3-R Households, population in households and number of family nuclei, by size of household

Information on the number and size of households and on changes in the rate of household formation is needed by the planners for, and suppliers of, many goods and services, for which the demand is related to households rather than to individuals. Agencies dealing with housing problems need these data for the determination of current and projected rates of household formation, on the basis of which the number and size of new housing units required can be estimated. This tabulation can provide information needed to plan new sample surveys, and to design the sample that will be used, as well as comparative data for estimating the accuracy of some of the survey results. Information on household structure in terms of number of family nuclei in the household is needed for studies of household formation, projections of numbers of households and estimates of potential housing needs. Information from a series of censuses is very useful for the study of the disintegration of the households consisting of several family nuclei in countries where this pattern of living is changing.

Group 4. Tabulations on demographic and social characteristics

Geographical division	Both	Sex					
and age (in years)	sexes	Male	Female				
ALL AGES	Population included : total population Classifications:						
Under 1	(a) Geographical division: (i) total country	y; (ii) each major civil division	; (iii) each minor				
1	civil division; (iv) each principal locality.	Distinguish between urban and	l rural for (i), (ii)				
2	ana (III). (If It is considered indevisable to particular geographical division at least th	present the single-year classifice are categories "under 1" "1	-4" and the five-				
3	year age groups should be shown for that d	livision.)					
4	(b) Age: all ages; under 1 year; 2 years; 3	years; 4 years; 5 years; 6 year	rs; 7 years;				
	single years to 99; 100 years and over; not	stated (distinguish between su	btotals: 1-4 years,				
1-4	five-year age groups 5-9, 10-14, 95-99, c	ind 100 and over)	!				
5	(c) Sex: both sexes; male; female						
6							
7	Meta-data for this tabulation:						
8	(a) Source of statistics:						
9	 Traditional population census 						
, ,	 Register-based population census 	s					
5-9	 Registers/Surveys systems 						
	 Rolling surveys Civil registration 						
•	(b) De jure or de facto population or	a combination with detailed d	escription				
·	(c) Definition of urban and rural are	as	escription				
99	(d) Definition of age						
100 and over Not stated	<u>Core topics:</u> Place of usual residence o Sex Age	r Place where present at tin	ne of census				

P4.1-R Population, by single years of age and sex

Information on the detailed age and sex structure of the population is needed for actuarial analysis of the probability of survival and of related life-table functions. As populations age, the probability of survival to advanced age increases and the proportion of persons at older ages expands; thus it is important to present detailed age data up to 100 years. It is also essential for the evaluation of the accuracy of census age data for the population. From this tabulation, it is possible to reconstitute any selected age grouping (for example, the school-age population and the population of voting age or groups used in the calculation of food requirements) without interpolating from population classified by five-year age groups.

The five-year age groups are essential for many purposes, including the analysis of the factors of population change, the preparation of current population estimates and of projections, the calculation of age-specific vital rates, analysis of the factors of labour supply and the study of problems of dependency. The grouped age classification is recommended because it is appropriate to cross-classification by other variables. The tabulation provides a convenient summary of the total, urban and rural population by the various geographical areas according to the age groups used in most of the other recommended tabulations. The tabulation should present reported rather than adjusted age data.

Geographical division,	All	Age (in years)											
sex and marital status	ages	Under 15	15	16		29	30-34		95-99	100	Not		
										and	stated		
										over			
Both sexes													
		Population	n include	ed: total p	opulatio	on							
TOTAL		Classifica	tions:										
		(a) Geog	raphical	division):	(i) tota	ıl country;	(ii) each m	ajor civ	vil division; (i	ii) each prin	cipal		
0. 1		locality. L	Distinguis	h between	i urban i	and rural fe	or(i) and	(11)		1 (D	1		
Single		(b) Mari	tal status): single; iano has	married	1; wiaowea nulled may	; alvorcea; be elassifi	separa ed in a	itea; not state	ea. (Persons	wnose sified		
Married		according	to their r	narital sta	itus hefa	nunea may are the anni	illed marri	eu m u ave too	sepurate cate ok nlace)	gory or clus.	sijieu		
		(c) Age:	all ages:	under 15	vears:	15 vears: 1	6 vears:	single	vears up to 2	9: 30-34 vea	rs: 35-39		
Widowed		years; 40-4	44 years;	45-49 yea	ars; 50	54 years; 5	5-59 years	; 60-64	years; 65-69	years; 70-7-	4 years;		
Divorced		75-79 year	(5-79 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; and 100 years and over; not stated (d) Sex: both sexes; male; female										
Divolecu		(d) Sex:											
Separated													
Not stated		Meta-data	for this t	abulation:									
		<i>(a)</i>	Source o	f statistics	:								
Male		0	Tradition	al popula	tion cen	sus							
(as for "Both seves")		0	Register-	based pop	oulation	census							
(ds for Both sexes)		0	Registers Rolling s	s/Surveys	systems								
Famala		0	Civil reg	istration									
		(b)	De iure (or <i>de facto</i>	populat	tion or a co	mbination	with de	tailed descrir	otion			
(as for "Both sexes")		(c)	Definitio	n of urbar	and ru	ral areas			P				
		(d)	Definitio	n of age									
		<i>(e)</i>	Definitio	n of marit	al status	3							
		Core topi	cs: Plac	e of usua	l reside	ence or Pla	ace where	presei	nt at time of	census			
			Sex					1					
			Age										
			Mar	ital statu	S								

P4.2-R Population, by marital status, age and sex

This tabulation provides material for the study of age at marriage, of the frequency of celibacy, widowhood and divorce and of the effect of these factors on population growth through their influence on fertility. A simple measure of the influence of nuptiality on fertility is the comparison of the ratio of children to all women of childbearing age with the ratio of children to those women who have ever been married. The data are also required for the preparation of nuptiality tables. A refinement of this tabulation, showing heads or other reference members of households by marital status, age and sex, can be used together with the present tabulation to obtain age-sex marital status-specific rates for the head or other reference member. Application of these rates to the projected population by age, sex and marital status provides projected numbers of households.

Group 5. Tabulations on fertility and mortality

P5.1-R Female population 10 years of age and over, by age and number of children ever born alive by sex

Geographical division, age of females (in years)	Total	Female p	population v	Total number of children ever born alive				
and sex of child		0	1	2		12 or more	Not stated	
Total country						more	- I	
CHILDREN, Both		Population	n included: d to ever-ma	female po arried fema	pulation 15 les, this fac	years of ag t should be	ge and over. clearly stated	(If the population included d.)
TOTAL 10 years and		Classificat	tions:	• (•) •		/···) 1	, ,.	
over		(a) Geogra	phical divi:	sion: (i) tote	al country;	(ii) each m	ajor civil divi	ision; (iii) each intermediate
10-14		(h) A g g): t	otal 10 year	etween urb rs and over	an ana rur 10-14 yea	ai jor (1), (1 rs: 15-19 v	1) ana (111) wars: 20-24 y	wears: 25-29 years: 30-34
15-19		vears: 35-	39 vears: 4(3 ana over,)-44 vears:	45-49 vear	s: 50-54 ve	ars: 55-59 ve	ears: 60-64 years: 65-69
20-24		years; 70-2	74 years; 75	5-79 years;	80-84 year	s;85-89 yea	ırs; 90-94 ye	ears; 95-99 years; and 100
25-29		years and	over; not st	ated				·
30-34		(c) Sex: bo	th sexes; m	ale and fem	ale childre	n ever born	alive	
35-39		(d) Numbe	r of childre	n ever born	alive: none	e; 1 child; 2	children; 3	children; 4 children; 5
40-44		children; o	ochilaren; /	cniiaren; (8 cniiaren;	9 chilaren; regate nun	10 children; wher of childr	an ever horn alive to
45-49		-women in	voi siuieu, u vach ave ca	na, separa teoorv	ery, me ugg	greguie nun	iver of childr	en ever born auve to
50-54								
55-59		Mata data	for this tab	lation				
60-64		(a)	Source of st	tatistics.				
65-69		(11)	Traditional	population	census			
70-74		0	Register-ba	sed populat	ion census			
75-79		0	Registers/S	urveys syste	ems			
80-84		0	Rolling sur	veys				
85-89		0 (h)	Civil registi	ration	valation on	hinati	an mith datai	ilad description
90-94		(b)	De jure of a	<i>ie jacio</i> pop of urban and	d rural area	a comoman s	on with detai	neu description
95-99		(d)	Definition of	of age	a fufur afoa	5		
100 and over				0				
Not stated		<u>Core topi</u>	<u>cs:</u> Place o Sex	f usual res	sidence or	Place whe	ere present :	at time of census
CHILDREN, Males			Age					
(Age groups as above)			Childr	en ever bo	rn			
CHILDREN, Females								
(Age groups as above)								

Census data on fertility are particularly valuable for countries where birth registration statistics are lacking or deficient, because they can be used to estimate age-specific fertility rates, the total fertility rate, the crude incidence of births in the total population and other fertility indicators. In addition, they are useful as a supplement to satisfactory registration data, because they provide a summary of the lifetime fertility of the female population. The principal measures of fertility that can be derived from this tabulation are (a) the gross fertility ratio (average number of children ever born alive to women of childbearing age and over), (b) the average number of children ever born alive by sex to women who have reached the end of the childbearing period (in other words, 50 years of age and over), (c) the proportion of women who have had no children by the end of their reproductive life, (d) the average number of children born per woman who has already borne at least one child specified by sex and (e) cumulative average gross fertility ratios by age groups.

The data also provide the base for the computation of birth rates specific for parity by sex. The use of information from a series of censuses makes it possible to identify cohorts of women and to study their reproductive patterns as they advance from one age group to another.

Geographical division, age of females (in years)	Total	Female _I	population	Total number of children living (or dead)				
and sex of child		0	1	2		12 or more	Not stated	
Total country								
CHILDREN, Both sexes		Population Is restricted	included : to ever-ma	female po	pulation 15 les. this fac	years of ag	ge and over.	(If the population included d.)
TOTAL 10 years and		Classificat	ions:					
over		(a) Geogra	phical divis	sion: (i) tote	al country;	(ii) each m	ajor civil divi	ision; (iii) each intermediate
10-14		division. D	istinguish b	etween urb	an and rur	al for (i), (i	i) and (iii)	25.20 20.24
15-19		I(b) Age: to	otal 10 year 30 years: Al	s and over;	10-14 year 45 40 year	rs; 15-19 ye s: 50 54 ye	ears; 20-24 y	ears; 25-29 years; 30-34
20-24		vears: 70-2	74 years: 75	5-79 years:	49-49 year 80-84 vear	s: 90-94 ve	ars: 95-99 ve	ears: and 100 years and
25-29		over; not s	tated	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	oo or year	5, 20 21 90		and too years and
30-34		(c) Sex: bo	th sexes; m	ale and fem	ale childre	n ever born	alive	
35-39		(d) Numbe	r of childre	n living (or	dead): non	e; 1 child;	2 children; 3	children; 4 children; 5
40-44		children; 6	children; 7	⁷ children;	8 children;	9 children;	10 children;	11 children; 12 or more
45_49		women in	ot statea; a each age ca	na, separai tegory	ely, the agg	gregate nun	iber of childr	ren living (or aeda) to
50-54			ach age ea					
55-59		Mata data	for this take	lations				
60-64		(a)	Source of st	nation.				
65-69		(4)	Traditional	population	census			
70-74		0	Register-ba	sed populat	ion census			
75-79		0	Registers/S	urveys syste	ems			
80-84		0	Rolling surv	veys				
85-89		(h)	Civil registi	ation	ulation or	aomhinati	on with data	ilad description
90-94		(c)	De jure of <i>a</i>	of urban and	furation of a	a comonan s	on white detai	neu description
95-99		(d)	Definition of	of age	. i ui ui ui vu			
100 and over				-				
Not stated		<u>Core topi</u>	<u>cs:</u> Place o Sex	f usual res	sidence or	Place who	ere present :	at time of census
CHILDREN Males			Age					
(Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females			Childr	en living				
(Age groups as above)								

P5.2-R Female population 10 years of age and over, by age and number of children living (or dead) by sex

These data are most useful for countries where death registration statistics are lacking or deficient. Census estimates of fertility and mortality can be derived directly or using generally more reliable indirect techniques. Two measures of fertility can be derived from the tabulations. These are (a) the net fertility ratio (average number of children surviving to women of childbearing age and over) and (b) cumulative average net fertility ratios by age groups. Child mortality rates can be estimated for each sex. Some measure of mortality in a generation can also be obtained by comparison of the net fertility ratio derived from this tabulation with the gross fertility ratio, which can be derived from recommended tabulation P5.1. This measure is particularly valuable where death rates estimated form civil registration data are not available or are defective. In addition to the above-mentioned measures of fertility and mortality, the tabulation also provides information for the analysis of family composition by number of living offspring by sex. These data cannot be obtained from birth registration statistics; neither can they be obtained from the census information on relationship to head of household because census families comprise only those persons who live and are enumerated within the same household; thus they do not necessarily include all the living (or dead) children of the woman enumerated.
Geographical division,	Total females ¹ to	Live births in past 12 months									
age of females (in years) and sex of children	49 years of age	Total	Number of which have died								
Total country											
BIRTHS, both sexes	Population included : female population be for collecting information on current fertility ever-married females, this fact should be clear	tween the minimum ag and 49 years of age (l arly stated.)	ge limit adopted by the country of the population is restricted to								
Total	Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total country;	Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate									
Under 10^2	division. Distinguish between urban and rur (b) Live births by sex within the 12 months by	al for (i), (ii) and (iii)) nd children who have died								
10-14	among them by sex: total number of births o	of both sexes; total num	nber of male births; total								
15-19	number of female births	,									
20-24	(c) Age: Total; under 10 years; 10-14 years,	(c) Age: Total; under 10 years; 10-14 years; 15-19 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years;									
25-29	<u>35-39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 years; not s</u>	tated									
30-34											
35-39	Meta-data for this tabulation: (z) Source of statistical										
40-44	(<i>a</i>) Source of statistics.										
45-49	 Register-based population census 										
Not stated	 Registers/Surveys systems 										
1 tot stated	 Rolling surveys 										
Males	o Civil registration										
(Age groups as above)	(b) De jure or de facto population or a	a combination with de	tailed description								
Females	(c) Definition of urban and rural areas (d) Definition of age	8									
(A ge groups as above)	(a) Definition of age										
(Age groups as above)	Core topics: Place of usual residence or	Place where presen	t at time of census								
	Sex	F									
	Age										
	Births in the past12 month	s									
	Deaths among children	~ born in the past 1	2 months								
		Puber									

P5.3-R Female population ... to 49 years of age, by age, number of live births, by sex within the 12 months preceding the census, and deaths among these live births, by sex

This tabulation refers to female population between the minimum age limit adopted by the country for collecting information on current fertility and 49 years of age distributed among geographical divisions. It also provides data to estimate current age specific fertility rates and current infant mortality rates by sex, particularly as a supplement to vital rates or as an estimation for these rates where birth and death registration is defective or inadequate.

¹ The minimum age adopted by the country for census questions on current fertility.

² All ages between the minimum age adopted by the country for census questions on current fertility if the minimum age is under 10 years.

Geographical division	Deaths in t	the past 12 mo	Total population			
and age (in years)	Both sexes	Male	Female	Both sexes	Female	
Total country						
Both sexes						
All ages	Population included:	total populatio	 m			
Under 1 year	Classifications:					:
1-4	(a) Geographical divi	ision: (i) to	tal country; (ii) each major	civil divis	ion; (iii) each
5-9	(h) Deaths by sex with	Distinguish be	tween urban and	rural for (1), (1	i) and (iii)	f dogtha mala
10-14	(b) Deaths by sex with deaths	nin ine 12 mo	mins preceating i	ne census: ioic	u number c	y aeains; male
15-19	(c) Sex: both sexes; ma	le; female				
20-24	(d) Age: All ages; und	ler 1 year; 1-4	vears; 5-9 year.	s; 10-14 years;	15-19 year	s; 20-24 years;
25-29	25-29 years; 30-34 years; 25-29 years; 20-34	ars; 35-39 yea	urs; 40-44 years;	: 45-49 years;	50-54 years	s; 55-59 years;
30-34	60-64 years; 65-69 yea	ars; 70-74 yea	ırs; 75-79 years;	: 80-84 years;	85-89 years	s; 90-94 years;
35-39	95-99 years; 100 years	and over; not	stated			:
40-44	Meta-data for this tabul	ation				
45-49	(a) Source of sta	tistics:				
50-54	o Traditional p	opulation cens	sus			
55-59	o Register-bas	ed population	census			
60-64	o Registers/Su	rveys systems				
65-69	 Rolling surve Civil registre 	eys				
70-74	(h) De jure or de	uion <i>e facto</i> populat	ion or a combina	tion with detail	ed descripti	on
75-79	(c) Definition of	f urban and rur	al areas		eu uesempti	ion -
80-84	(d) Definition of	fage				
85-89						
90-94	Core topics: Place of	usual reside	nce or Place wl	here present a	t time of c	ensus
95-99	Sex					
100 and over	Age					
Not stated	Househ	old deaths in	the last 12 mor	nths		
Males						
As for both sexes						
Females						
As for both sexes						

P5.4-R Household deaths, by sex and age¹ within the 12 months preceding the census; and total population, by age and sex

These data are used to estimate levels and patterns of recent mortality in combination with data on the population by age and sex.

¹ Collected from the head of the household or reference person in the household.

Group 6. Tabulations on educational characteristics

P6.1-R Population ... years of age and over attending school and not attending school, by educational attainment, age and sex

Geographical division,	Total 1						
sex una educational attainment	population years of age and over	–single years up to 14 ¹	15-19	20-24		100 and over	Not stated
ATTENDING AND NOT ATTENDING SCHOOL		1		1			
Both sexes No schooling ISCED level 1: Primary education ISCED level 2: Lower secondary education ISCED level 3: Upper secondary education ISCED level 4: Post-secondary education ISCED level 5: First stage of tertiary education (not leading directly to an advanced research qualification) ISCED level 6: Second stage of tertiary education (leading directly to an advanced research qualification) Not stated	Population includ attending and not a Classifications: (a) Geographical locality. Distingut (b) Educational at Lower secondary educati advanced research directly to an advo (c) Age):total; sing years; 35-39 years 70-74 years; 75-79 not stated (d) Sex: both sexe	ded: all perso attending sch division: (i) ish between u tainment: no education; IS on; ISCED la h classificatio inced researc gle years up f s; 40-44 year 9 years; 80-8 es; male; femu tehylation;	ons at or abov ool total country, urban and run schooling; IS CED level 3: evel 5: First s on); ISCED le ch qualification to 14 years an s; 45-49 yean 4 years; 85-8 ale	ve the usual ag (ii) each majoral for (i) and (SCED level 1: Upper second tage of tertiar evel 6: Second on); level/cate and over; 15-19 (s; 50-54 years 89 year; 90-94	e for entrance or civil divisio (ii) Primary education y education (r stage of tertia gory of educa years; 20-24 ;; 55-59 years years; 95-99	into school wh m; (iii) each pr ation; ISCED level tot leading dire try education (tion not stated years; 25-29 y ; 60-64 years; years; 100 yea	incipal level 2: 4: Post- ectly to an leading ears; 30-34 65-69 years; rs and over;
Male (classification of educational attainment as above) Female (classification of educational attainment as above)	Meta-data for this (a) Source (o Traditio o Register o Register o Rolling o Civil re (b) De jurg	tabulation: of statistics: onal populatio r-based popu rs/Surveys sy surveys gistration or de facto p	on census lation census stems	a combination	with detailed	description	
ATTENDING SCHOOL Both sexes	(c) Definiti(d) Definiti	on of urban a on of educati	and rural area	s ent	with detailed	uescription	
(classification of educational attainment as above) Male (classification of educational attainment as above) Female (classification of educational attainment as above) NOT ATTENDING SCHOOL Both sexes (classification of educational attainment as above) Male (classification of educational attainment as above) Female	<u>Core topics:</u> Play Sex Age Sch Edu	ce of usual 1 e nool attenda ucational at	residence or nce tainment	Place where	present at t	ime of census	i

attainment as above)

¹ The lower age-limit should be the usual age for entrance into school.

By showing the distribution of human resources by educational attainment in a country, this tabulation provides an important indication of the capacity and potential of the nation for economic, social and cultural development. When compared with current and anticipated needs for educated manpower by various sectors, types and levels of economic activities, it can guide the making of more effective policies and coordinated plans for the development of different levels/categories of education in close relation to development programmes.

P6.2-R	Population 5 to 29 y	ears of age, by	y school attendance,	single years o	of age and sex
--------	----------------------	-----------------	----------------------	----------------	----------------

Geographical division,	Total	School attendance						
sex and age (in years)		Attending school	Not attending school	Not stated				
Both sexes								
TOTAL 5^{1} 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 \cdot 29^{2} Male (as for "Both sexes")	 Population include years of age Classifications: (a) Geographical data (b) School attendam (c) Age: total; 5 years; 16 years; 15 years; 15 years; 26 years; 25 years; 26 - (d) Sex: both sexes Meta-data for this ta (a) Source on Tradition Registers Rolling s Civil reg (b) De jure on (c) Definition (d) Definition 	d: all persons between the usual vision: (i) total country; (ii) each h between urban and rural for (ce: total; attending school; not ars; 6 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 17 years; 18 years; 19 ye years; 27 years; 28 years; 29 ye male; female bulation: f statistics: al population census based population census /Surveys systems urveys stration r <i>de facto</i> population or a comb n of urban and rural areas n of educational attainment	al age for entering the first le ch major civil division; (iii) i), (ii) and (iii) attending school; not stated years; 10 years; 11 years; 22 ears; 20 years; 21 years; 22 ears	each principal l2 years; 13 years; 14 years; 23 years; 24				
Female (as for "Both sexes")	<u>Core topics:</u> Plac Sex Age Scho	e of usual residence or Place ol attendance	where present at time of	census				

Data on the classification of young persons attending and not attending school, by single years of age and sex, are essential for studies of the numerical relationship between the population of school age and the population actually in school. The proportion of the school-age population that is able to take advantage of the educational system is one of the first types of information required for the assessment of the adequacy of the educational system of a country. School enrolment statistics derived from institutional records are not adequate, in many countries, for providing an exact measure of total attendance or data on important characteristics of the school-going population, particularly age. Even countries with detailed, comprehensive statistics compiled from records of educational institutions can benefit from a periodic assessment of the accuracy of these statistics by comparison with the census information on net school attendance.

¹ The lower age-limit should be the usual age for entrance into school.

Geographical division,	Total		Literacy	
sex and age (in years)		Literate	Illiterate	Not stated
Both sexes				
TOTAL 10 ¹ years and over 10-14 ¹ TOTAL 15 years and over 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100 and over	Population incl Classifications: (a) Geographic minor civil divis (b) Literacy: to (c) Sex: both se (d) Age: total 10 24 years; 25-2 years; 55-59 ye -85-89 years; 90 Meta-data for th (a) Sourc © Tradi © Regis © Regis © Rolli © Civil (b) De ju (c) Defin (d) Defin Save	Nuded: all persons 10 al division: (i) total ision. Distinguish betw tal; literate; illiterate; ixes; male; female 0 years and over; 10-1 9 years; 30-34 years ars; 60-64 years; 65- -94 years; 95-99 year is tabulation: ee of statistics: tional population cens ster-based population of sters/Surveys systems ng surveys registration re or de facto populat ition of urban and rur ition of literacy Place of usual resider ex	years of age and over country; (ii) each majo reen urban and rural for not stated 4 years; total 15 years a ; 35-39 years; 40-44 y 69 years; 70-74 years; s; 100 years and over; no us census ion or a combination with al areas nce or Place where pro	r civil division, (iii) each (i), (ii) and (iii) and over; 15-19 years; 20- ears; 45-49 years; 50-54 75-79 years; 80-84 years; of stated h detailed description esent at time of census
Not stated	I	iteracy		
Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")				

P6.3-R Population 10 years of age and over, by literacy, age and sex

Data on literacy provide one of the indicators of national levels of living and a measure of one of the factors in the national capacity for technological and cultural development; they are needed for tracing the progress in educational development of past generations and projecting future trends. In countries where the adult population is largely illiterate, the tabulation is of immediate use in planning for adult literacy, particularly if the data are tabulated for local areas. In addition, these data serve as the denominator in the computation of vital rates differentiated by literacy used as a socio-economic variable, such as birth rates by literacy of mother, and marriage and divorce rates by literacy of husband and wife.

¹ Where it is felt that the literacy rate for the age group 10-14 years may be misleading in international comparison, the lower age-limit for the tabulation may be 15 years.

Group 7. Tabulations on economic characteristics

P7.1-R Population ... ¹ years of age and over, by usual (or current) activity status, educational attainment, age and sex

Geographical division, sex,	Total ¹			Usual (or	current) act	tivity status	
age and educational	years of age	Employed	Ui	nemployed		Not	Not stated
attainment,	and over		Total	Worked before	Never worked before	economically active	
Both sexes							
	Population in	cluded: population	on at or abo	ve the minir	num age ad	opted for enumerat	ing the
ALL AGES	economically a Classification	active population					
Under 15 ¹	(a) Geographi	cal division: (i) to	otal country	; (ii) each n	najor civil d	ivision; (iii) each n	ninor civil
15-19	division; (iv) e	ach principal loc	ality. Distin	guish betwe	een urban a	nd rural for (i), (ii)	and (iii)
20-24	(b) Activity sta	tus: total; usual	(or current) activity: ea	conomically	active: (i) employe	ed; (ii)
25-29	unemployed (a	listinguishing per	sons who ev	ver and neve	er worked b	efore); not econom	ically active; not
30-34	stated						
35-39	(c) Age: all ag	es; under 15 year	s; 15-19 ye	ars; 20-24 y	years; 25-29	9 years; 30-34 year	s; 35-39 years;
40-44	40-44 years; 4	5-49 years; 50-54	4 years; 55-	59 years; 6	0-64 years;	65-69 years; 70-74	4 years; 75-79
45-49	years; 80-84 y	ears; 85-89 years	; 90-94 yea	urs; 95-99 ye	ears; 100 ye	ears and over; not s	stated. (The
50-54	category "und	er 15 years" shou	ild include i	all ages betw	ween the mu	nimum age-limit ac	lopted by the
55-59	country for cer	isus questions on	economic c	ictivity and	14 years, if	the minimum is un	der 15 years.)
60-64	(a)) Eaucation	iai attainment: no) schooling,	: ISCED lev	el I: Prima	ry eaucation; ISCE	D level 2: Lower
65-69	secondary eau	cation; ISCED ie	vel 5: Oppe	r seconaary	y eaucation;	ISCED level 4: PC	ost-seconaary
70-74	eaucation; ISC	ED level 5: First	stage of ter	ritary eauca	ition (not let of toutiam) o	duing airectly to an duagtion (logding)	dineethy to an
75-79	advanced rese	arch qualification): lovel 0: Se	cona siage o	of tertiary e	stated	urecity to an
80-84	(a) Ser: both s	eres: male: femal	i), ievei/cui lo	egory oj eu		siaiea	
85-89	<u>1</u> e) <u>5ex.</u> <u>boin</u> <u>s</u>	exes, male, jenal	·				
90-94	Meta-data for	this tabulation.					
95-99	(a) Sou	ree of statistics					
100 and over	(u) Sou	litional populatio	n census				
Not stated	o Reg	ister-based popul	ation censu	s			
1 tot blatod	o Reg	isters/Surveys sys	stems	5			
No schooling	o Rol	ing surveys					
ISCED level 1: Primary	o Civ	il registration					
education ISCED level 2:	(b) De	<i>iure</i> or <i>de facto</i> po	opulation of	a combinat	tion with de	tailed description	
Lower secondary education	(c) Def	inition of urban a	nd rural are	as		1	
ISCED level 3: Upper							
secondary education	Core topics:	Place of usual r	esidence o	r Place wh	ere presen	t at time of censu	15
ISCED level 4: Post-		Sex			-		
ISCED level 5: First stage of		Age					
tertiary education (not		• • • • • • • • • • • • • •					
leading directly to an		Activity status					
advanced research		Educational att	ainment				
qualification)							
ISCED level 6: Second stage							
of tertiary education (leading							
directly to an advanced							
research qualification)							
INOU SIGIEU							
Male (as for "Roth seves")							
Famala (as for "Both sayas")							
remare (as for bour sexes)							

¹ The minimum age adopted by the country for enumerating the economically active population.

This tabulation provides the data needed for computing crude and age-specific participation rates, that is to say, the percentages of economically active persons, which are fundamental for studies of factors determining the size and structure of the economically active population, and for making projections, in conjunction with life-table functions, to calculate the working life expectancy, entry into and retirement from economic activity. Information on the employed and the unemployed furnishes part of the data needed for the appraisal of human resources utilization for policy formulation. It can provide some of the benchmark data for more current studies of employment, unemployment and underemployment. The level of education attained is a major attribute in explaining the ability to participate in the labour market and to find employment. Hence the table will provide useful information on the effects that education has on labour force participation rates and unemployment. The information is also important in manpower planning and planning for vocational training that relies on certain formal education standards. Consequently the table will be useful in understanding the relationship between the level of formal education reached and the extent to which a person is employed or unemployed or economically inactive. This is especially important for studies of youth (males and females separately) in urban areas, and in aggregate.

Geographical division,				Age (i	in years)				
sex and main occupation	All ages	Under	15-19	20-24	25-29		95-99	100 and	Not
	0	151						over	stated
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION									
Both sexes									
Sub-major group 11 Minor group 111 Minor group 112 (etc.)	Populatio economica Classifica (a) Geogr	n included: pop ally active popu tions: aphical division	bulation at clation, as in	country; (i	e minimum ded tabulat ii) each ma	age add tion P7.	opted for e 1-R <i>il division</i>	numerating th ; (iii) each m	ie inor civil
Sub-major group 21 Minor group 211 Minor group 212 (etc.)	division; ((b) Occup Classificat level	iv) each princip ation: accordin tion of Occupat	al locality. 1g to, or co 1ions (ISCO	Distinguish nvertible to -88), at lea	between u b, the lates st to the m	erban an et revisio ninor gr	nd rural fo on of the oup (in of	r (i), (ii) and (International ther words, th	iii) Standard ree-digit)
Sub-major group 91 Minor group 911 Minor group 912 (etc.)	(c) Activit (distinguis (d) Age:	y status: usual hing persons w all ages; unde	(or curren ho ever and r 15 years;	t) activity: d never wor 15-19 yeau	total econ ked before rs; 20-24	omicall); not st years; 2	y active: ated 25-29 year	employed; un rs; 30-34 yea	employed rs; 35-39
Sub-major group 01 Minor group 011	years; 40- 75-79 year	44 years; 45-49 rs; 80-84 years;	9 years; 50- 85-89 year	54 years; 5. :s; 90-94 ye	5-59 years, ars; 95-99	; 60-64 years; .	years; 65· 100 years	-69 years; /0- and over; not	/4 years; stated
Male (as for "Both sexes")	.(e) Sex: b	oth_sexes; male_	; <u>f</u> emale						۔ لا ـ ـ ـ ـ .
Female (as for "Both sexes")	Meta-data (a)	for this tabulati Source of statis	on: tics:						
EMPLOYED Both sexes	0	Register-based Registers/Surve	population evs systems	census					
(classification as above) Male	0	Rolling surveys Civil registration	s n						
(classification as above) Female	(b) (c)	<i>De jure</i> or <i>de fe</i> Definition of u	<i>icto</i> populat rban and ru	tion or a con ral areas	mbination	with det	ailed desc	ription	
(classification as above)	<u>Core topi</u>	ics: Place of u	sual reside	nce or Pla	ce where	presen	t at time	of census	
UNEMPLOYED		Sex A ge							
Both sexes (classification as above)		Activity st	atus						
Male		Occupatio	n						
(classification as above) Female									
(classification as above)									
UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE									
Both sexes (classification as above)									
(classification as above)									
Female									
(classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE									
Male									
Female									
(by definition, the classification above does not apply to this category; this category is required only as total for ensuring the consistency of the figure for total economically active population)									

P7.2-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main occupation, age and sex

¹ The category "under 15 years" should include all ages between the minimum age limit adopted by the country for census questions on economic activity and 14 years, if the minimum is below 15 years.

These data make it possible to carry out prospective studies of the number of workers likely to be attached to various occupations which serve as the basis for projections of the national economy and the total economically active population. The tabulation provides the basis for analysis of differential fertility and mortality according to occupation. It also makes available useful data for the planning of social welfare schemes, health insurance programmes and so forth, which frequently pertain only to the employed population. A classification of unpaid family workers by sex and age is needed for international analysis of activity rates for females, in view of the different practices followed in defining and enumerating this group of workers in different countries.

Geographical division,	Age (in years)									
sex and main industry	All ages	Under 15 ¹	15-19	20-24	25-29 .	95-99	100 and over	Not statea		
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION	Population in	cluded: popula	ilation at o	above the	minimum age	adopted for e	numerating	the		
Both sexes	Classification	is:	tion, us m	recommen	aca abulation	17.1 K				
Division 01 Group 011 Group 012 (etc.)	(a) Geograph division; (iv) e (b) Industry: Industrial Cla	ical division: each principa according to ussification oj	(i) total l locality. I o, or conv f All Econ	country; (i Distinguish ertible to, omic Activ	ii) each major between urbar the latest rev ities (ISIC, R	civil division and rural for vision of the ev.3) at least	n; (iii) each r (i), (ii) and Internation to the leve	minor civil (iii) al Standard el of groups		
Division 02 Group 020 Group 021 (etc.)	(three-digit) (c) Activity st (distinguishin (d) Age: all a	tatus: usual (g persons who ges; under 15	(or curren bever and 5 years; 15	t) activity: never work -19 years; 2	total econom ed before); not 20-24 years; 2	ically active: t stated 5-29 years; 30	employed; D-34 years; 3	unemployed 35-39 years;		
Division 99 Group 990	years; 80-84	years; 80-84 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 years; 76-74 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; 100 years and over; not stated (The category "under 15 years" should include all ages between the minimum age limit adopted by the country for census questions on economic activity and 14 years, if the minimum is below 15 years.) (e) Sex: both seves: male: female								
Male (as for "Both sexes")	country for ce (e) Sex: both									
Female (as for "Both sexes")										
EMPLOYED Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above)	Meta-data for this tabulation: (a) Source of statistics: • Traditional population census • Register-based population census • Registers/Surveys systems • Rolling surveys • Civil registration (b) De jure or de facto population or a combination with detailed description (c) Definition of urban and rural areas Core topics: Place of usual residence or Place where present at time of census Sex Age Activity status Inductor:									
UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above)										
UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE Both sexes Male Female (by definition, the classification above does not apply to this category; this category is required only as total for ensuring the consistency of the figure for total economically active population)										

P7.3-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main industry, age and sex

¹ The category "under 15 years" should include all ages between the minimum age limit adopted by the country for census questions on economic activity and 14 years, if the minimum is below 15 years.

These data furnish material for analyses of structural types of economic activities and may serve as a first indicator of socioeconomic status. These data make it possible to carry out prospective studies of the number of workers likely to be attached to various industries in order to prepare projections of the national economy and the total economically active population. The tabulation also provides the basis for analysis of differential fertility and mortality according to industry. It also makes available useful data for the planning of social welfare schemes, health insurance programmes and so forth, which frequently pertain only to the employed population. A classification of unpaid family workers by sex and age is needed for international analysis of activity rates for females, in view of the different practices followed in defining and enumerating this group of workers in different countries.

Geographical division,				Main status	s in employme	nt	
sex and age (in years)	Total	Employer	Own-	Employee	Unpaid	Member of	Persons not
		1 2	account	1 2	family	producers'	classifiable
			worker		worker	cooperative	by status
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION		Population inc	luded: popula	ation at or abov	ve the minimu	n age adopted for e	enumerating
Both sexes		the economical	y active popu	ilation, as in re-	commended ta	ibulation P/.1-R	
ALL AGES		(a) Geographic	al division: (i) total country:	· (ii) each mai	or civil division: (ii	i) each minor
Under 15		civil division; (i	v) each princ	ripal locality. D	istinguish bet	ween urban and rui	ral for (i), (ii)
15-19		and (iii)	-		_		
20-24		(b)Status in emp	oloyment: tote	al; employer; o	wn-account w	orker; employee; u	npaid family
25-29		worker; membe	r of producer	's' cooperative;	persons not c	lassifiable by status	s loved.
30-34		unemployed (di	stinguishing i	persons who ev	er and never v	worked before): not	stated
35-39		(d) Age: all age	s; under 15 y	ears; 15-19 yea	ars; 20-24 yea	rs; 25-29 years; 30)-34 years;
		35-39 years; 40	-44 years; 45	5-49 years; 50-2	54 years; 55-5	9 years; 60-64 year	rs; 65-69
85-89		years; 70-74 ye	ars; 75-79 ye	ars; 80-84 yea	rs; 90-94 year	s; 95-99 years; 100) years and
90-94		over; not stated	. (The catego	ry "under 15 ye	ears" should ii ``	iclude all ages betw	veen the
95-99		minimum age li	mit adopted t simum is und	by the country f	or census que.	stions on economic	activity and 14
100 and over		(e) Sex: both se	xes: male: fer	nale			!
Not stated							
Male		Meta-data for th	is tabulation	-			
(as for "Both sexes")		(a) Source	ce of statistics	s:			
Female		o Tradi	tional popula	tion census			
(as for "Both sexes")		o Regis	ster-based po	pulation census	5		
EMPLOYED Both seves		o Regis	ng surveys	systems			
(classification as above)		o Civil	registration				
Male		(b) De ju	vre or de facto	population or	a combination	with detailed desc	ription
(classification as above)		(c) Defin	ition of urba	n and rural area	as		
Female							
(classification as above)		Core tonics: P	lace of usua	l residence o	r Place wher	e nresent at time	of census
UNEMPLOYED, IOTAL Both seves		S	ex		Thee where	e present at time	of census
(classification as above)		A	ge				
Male		A	ctivity state	us			
(classification as above)		S	tatus in em	ployment			
Female							
(classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE							
Both sexes							
(classification as above)							
Male							
(classification as above)							
(classification as above)							
UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE							
Both sexes							
Male Fomale							
(by definition the							
classification above does not apply to this category; this category is required only as total for ensuring the consistency of the figure for total economically active							
population)							

P7.4-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, main status in employment, age and sex

These data make it possible to carry out prospective studies of the number of workers by status in employment in order to prepare projections of the national economy and the total economically active population. The tabulations also provide the basis for analysis of differential fertility and mortality according to status in employment. It also makes available useful data for the planning of social welfare schemes, health insurance programmes and so forth, which frequently pertain only to the employee group. A classification of unpaid family workers by sex and age is needed for international analysis of activity rates for females, in view of the different practices followed in defining and enumerating this group of workers in different countries.

Geographical division,				Main statu	ıs in employme	nt	
sex and main industry	Total	Employer	Own- account	Employee	Unpaid family	Member of producers'	Persons not classifiable
Geographical division, sex and main industry TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION Both sexes Division 01 Group 011 Group 012 (etc.) Division 02 Group 020 Group 020 Group 021 (etc.) Division 99 Group 990 Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes") Female (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL Both sexes (classification as above) Male	Total	Employer Population in the economica Classification (a) Geographi civil division; and (iii) (b) Status in eu- family worker, (c)Activity sta unemployed (a (d) Sex: both s (e) Industry: a Standard Indu groups (three- Meta-data for (a) Sou o Travo o Reg o Reg o Rol o Civ (b) De (c) Def	Own- account worker cluded: popu lly active pop s: cal division: (iv) each prin mployment: to member of p tus: usual (listinguishing exes; male; f ccording to, strial Classif digit) this tabulatio rce of statisti ditional popu sister-based p sisters/Survey ling surveys il registration jure of de face inition of urb	Main statu Employee Ilation at or abo pulation, as in r (i) total countr icipal locality. otal; employer producers' coop (or current) a persons who e emale or convertible a fication of All E ication of All E ication census opulation census opulation census systems to population co an and rural ar	us in employme Unpaid family worker	nt Member of producers' cooperative Im age adopted for tabulation P7.1-R or civil division; (tween urban and worker; employe ns not classifiable economically act worked before); r vision of the Inter ities (ISIC, Rev.3)	Persons not classifiable by status or enumerating (iii) each minor rural for (i), (ii) e; unpaid e by status tive: employed; not stated mational) to the level of
(as for "Both sexes") EMPLOYED Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above)		Meta-data for (a) Sou o Tra o Reg o Rol o Civ (b) De (c) Def <u>Core topics:</u>	this tabulatio rce of statisti ditional popu sister-based p sisters/Survey ling surveys il registration <i>jure</i> or <i>de face</i> inition of urb Place of usu Sex Activity sta Status in en Industry	n: cs: lation census opulation census 's systems to population c an and rural ar al residence of tus nployment	us or a combinatio eas or Place whe s	on with detailed de re present at tin	escription ne of census
UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE Both sexes Male Female (by definition, the classification above does not apply to this category; this category is required only as total for ensuring the consistency of the figure for total economically active population)							

P7.5-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, cross-classified by main status in employment, main industry and sex

These tabulations furnish an inventory of a country's economically active population and its structure used in formulating economic policy and planning developmental programmes. Such tabulations play an essential part in analyses of national product and national income. Studies of the proportion of the economically active population in each industrial sector of the economy and of the shifts from one sector to another, give information on the level and trend of industrialization and on important aspects of the country's potential for economic development. Studies of migration from rural areas to cities require analysis of the industrial structure of employment in the cities and often of the major areas of out-migration, as an aid to assessment of economic aspects of internal migration. Studies of these types are also relevant to programmes of resettlement and to the formulation of policy with respect to internal migration.

Geographical division, Main status in employment sex and main occupation Total Employer Own-Employee Unpaid Member of Persons not account family producers' classifiable worker worker cooperative by status TOTAL ECONOMICALLY **Population included**: population at or above the minimum age adopted for enumerating the ACTIVE POPULATION economically active population, as in recommended tabulation P7.1-R Both sexes **Classifications:** Sub-major group 11 (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division; (iv) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) Minor group 111 and (iii) Minor group 112 (b) Status in employment: total; employer; own-account worker; employee; unpaid family (etc.) worker; member of producers' cooperative; persons not classifiable by status Sub-major group 21 (c) Activity status: usual (or current) activity: total economically active: employed; Minor group 211 unemployed (distinguishing persons who ever and never worked before); not stated (*d*) Sex: both sexes; male; female Minor group 212 (e) Occupation: according to, or convertible to, the latest revision of the International (etc.) Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-88), at least to the minor group (in other Sub-major group 01 words, three-digit) level______ Minor group 011 Male Meta-data for this tabulation: (as for "Both sexes") (a) Source of statistics: Female o Traditional population census (as for "Both sexes") o Register-based population census EMPLOYED Registers/Surveys systems 0 Both sexes Rolling surveys 0 (classification as above) o Civil registration Male (b) De jure or de facto population or a combination with detailed description (classification as above) (c) Definition of urban and rural areas Female (classification as above) Core topics: Place of usual residence or Place where present at time of census **UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL** Sex Activity status Both sexes (classification as above) Status in employment Male Occupation (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE Both sexes Male Female (by definition, the classification above does not apply to this category; this category is required only as total for ensuring the consistency of the figure for total economically active population)

P7.6-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, cross-classified by main status in employment, main occupation and sex

This tabulation provides an inventory of a country's economically active population and its structure, used in formulating economic policy and planning developmental programmes. Together with recommended tabulations P7.5-R and P7.7-R, it provides information for analysing national product and national income. Studies of migration from rural areas to cities require analysis of the occupational structure of employment in the cities and often of the major areas of out-migration, as an aid to assessment of economic aspects of internal migration. Also, decisions concerning possible sites for industrial establishments and vocational schools require information on the occupational structure of the labour force in various localities and regions of the country.

Geographical division, Industry sex and main occupation Division 99 Division 01 Total Group Group 01 02 99 TOTAL ECONOMICALLY Population included: population at or above the minimum age adopted for enumerating ACTIVE POPULATION the economically active population, as in recommended tabulation P7.1-R Both sexes Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each Sub-major group 11 Minor group 111 minor civil division; (iv) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*) Minor group 112 (b) Industry: according to, or convertible to, the latest revision of the International (etc.) Standard Industrial Classification of All Economic Activities (ISIC, Rev.3) to the level of Sub-major group 21 groups (three-digit) Minor group 211 (c) Activity status: usual (or current) activity: total economically active: employed; unemployed (distinguishing persons who ever and never worked before); not stated Minor group 212 (d) Occupation: according to, or convertible to, the latest revision of the International (etc.) Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-88), at least to the minor group (in other Sub-major group 01 words, three-digit) level Minor group 011 -(e) Sex: both sexes; male; female Male (as for "Both sexes") Meta-data for this tabulation: Female (a) Source of statistics: (as for "Both sexes") Traditional population census 0 **EMPLOYED** Register-based population census 0 Both sexes 0 Registers/Surveys systems (classification as above) o Rolling surveys Male o Civil registration (classification as above) (b) De jure or de facto population or a combination with detailed description Female (c) Definition of urban and rural areas (classification as above) Core topics: Place of usual residence or Place where present at time of census **UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL** Sex Activity status Both sexes (classification as above) Industry Male Occupation (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE Both sexes (classification as above) Male (classification as above) Female (classification as above) UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE Both sexes Male Female (by definition, the classification above does not apply to this category; this category is required only as total for ensuring the consistency of the figure for total economically active population)

P7.7-R Usually (or currently) active population by activity status, cross-classified by main industry, main occupation and sex

This tabulation provides an inventory of a country's economically active population and its structure in formulating economic policy and planning developmental programmes. In planning for the development and expansion of an educational system and efficient utilization of human resources, studies are needed that assess requirements of labour in different industries and occupations. The cross-classifications of occupation and of industry by status in employment give indications of the occupations and industries in which particular status groups are employed. It enables further analysis of the contribution of unpaid family workers in different industrial sectors. In addition, information on the distribution by status in employment in a particular industry is a useful indication of the degree of development and modernization of that sector. The number of wage and salary workers in different industries is often needed as benchmark data for current statistics obtained from establishment reports.

Geographical division,	Total not	Functional category											
sex and age (in years)	usually active	Homemaker	Student	Income recipient	Other	Not stated							
Both sexes	Population included: po	pulation at or above the	minimum age	adopted for en	umerating the								
ALL AGES	Classifications: (a) Geographical division:	(i) total country; (ii) ea	ch major civil	/.1-K division; (iii) e	ach minor civ	vil division;							
Under 15	(iv) each principal locality	Distinguish between un	rban and rural	for (i), (ii) and	(iii)								
15-19	(b) Age: all ages; under 1	(b) Age: all ages; under 15 years; 15-19 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 years; 70-74											
20-24	years; 40-44 years; 45-49												
25-29	category "under 15 years	years; 75-79 years; 60-84 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; 100 years and over; not stated. (The category "under 15 years" should include all ages between the minimum age limit adopted by the											
30-34	country for census question	ons on economic activi	ity and 14 yec	irs, if the minin	num is under	r 15							
35-39	years.)												
40-44	(c) Functional categories:	total not usually active;	homemaker; s	tudent; income	recipient; oti	her; not							
45-49	stated (d) Ser: both seres: male:	Semale											
50-54	(u) bex. bom sexes, mule, j	emule											
55-59													
60-64													
65-69	Meta-data for this tabulat	ion:											
70-74	(a) Source of statis	stics:											
75-79	• Register-based	population census											
80-84	o Registers/Surv	eys systems											
85-89	 Rolling survey 	s											
90-94-95-99	o Civil registration	on											
100 and over	(b) $De jure ext{ or } de f$	acto population or a co	ombination w	ith detailed des	scription								
Not stated	(c) Definition of u	rban and rural areas											
	Core topics: Place of u	sual residence or Pla	ace where p	resent at time	e of census								
Male	Sex												
(as for "Both sexes")	Age	tatus (functions) and	(agoniag)										
Female	Activity s	iatus (functional cat	legories)										
(as for "Both sexes")													

P7.8-R Population not usually (or currently) active, by functional categories, age and sex

This tabulation provides data classified by functional categories and reason for inactivity for the analysis of potential sources of human resources that are not readily available at present but that may become so under different circumstances.

Geographical division, sex and age (in years)	Total	With disabilities	Without disabilities	Not stated
Total country Both sexes ALL AGES				
Under 1 year 1-4 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35 39	Population inclue Classifications: (a) Geographical principal locality. (b) Disability statu (c) Age: all ages; 35-39 years; 40-4 years; 70-74 year. over; not stated. (d) Sex: both sexe.	ded: total population divisions: (i) total country; (ii Distinguish between urban a us: total; without disabilities; under 15 years; 15-19 years; 4 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 ye s; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 9 s; male; female) each major civil divi nd rural for (i), (ii) ar with disabilities; not s 20-24 years; 25-29 ye ears; 55-59 years; 60- 0-94 years; 95-99 yea	ision; (iii) each ad (iii) stated ars; 30-34 years; 64 years; 65-69 ırs; 100 years and
30-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89	Meta-data for this (a) Source of o Traditio o Registe o Registe o Rolling o Civil re (b) De jure (c) Definition (d) Exact que	tabulation: of statistics: onal population census r-based population census rs/Surveys systems surveys gistration or <i>de facto</i> population or a cor on of urban and rural areas uestion wording	mbination with detaile	ed description
90-94 95-99 100 years and over Not stated Male (Age groups as above) Female (Age groups as above)	<u>Core topics:</u> Pla Sex Ag Dis	ce of usual residence or Pla c e ability status	ace where present a	t time of census

P8.1-R Population with and without disabilities¹ by urban/rural area, by age and sex

There is widespread interest in the prevalence of disability by age and sex in the population. This tabulation provides information for the calculation of prevalence rates distributed by geographical division, urban/rural residence and the living arrangements of persons with disabilities.

¹ Estimates of the population with and without disability are a function of the exact methods and question wording used in the data collection. Consult the meta-data for information on the methods (include the specific questions) used.

Geographical	Educational attainment											
division, disability status, sex and age (in years)	No schooling	Primary education	Secondary education, first cycle	Secondary education, second cycle	Post- secondary education	Not classifiable by level and grade of education	Level not stated					
Both sexes Without disabilities All ages 0-4 5-9 95-99 100+ With disabilities All ages 0-4 5-9 95-99 100+ Not stated 0-4 5-9 95-99 100+ Males (as for both sexes) Females (as for both sexes)	Population Classificatio (a) Disabilit (b) Educatio education, fi grade of edu (c) Age: all (c)	included: all per- ons: y status: without mal attainment: . irst cycle: by sing ated; post-second cages; 5-9 years; 9 years; 50-54 years; 9 years; 95-99 ye h sexes; male; fe or this tabulation burce of statistics raditional popula egister-based po egisters/Surveys olling surveys ivil registration e jure or de factor efinition of urbar cact question wo s: Place of usua Sex Age Disability sta Educational	rsons at or above f disabilities; with no schooling; prin gle grades and gra dary education not stat 10-14 years; 15-1 ars; 55-59 years; ars; and 100 year male tition census pulation census systems population or a c a and rural areas rding al residence or F atus attainment	the usual age for en disabilities; not sta mary education: by ade not stated; secc y single grades/ yea 60-64 years; 65-69 so over	trance into schoo single grades and ondary education ars and grade no rs; 25-29 years; 9 years; 70-74 ye etailed description	n	econdary ngle grades and ble by level and vears; 40-44 -84 years; 85-89					

P 8.2-R Population 5 years of age and over, by disability status¹, educational attainment, age and sex

The tabulation provides data for the comparison of the educational attainment of persons with and without disabilities. The percentage of people with disabilities who have no schooling can be compared with that of persons without disabilities. This gives information on the status of integration of persons with disabilities and on the opportunity that persons with disabilities have to participate in the economic, social and cultural development of the country.

¹ Estimates of the population with and without disability are a function of the exact methods and question wording used in the data collection. Consult the meta-data for information on the methods (include the specific questions) used.

Geographical division, disability status, sex and age (in years)	Currently economically active	Not currently economically active	Not stated	
	Worked Never Employed Unemployed before worked before	Homemaker Student Income recipient Other		
Both sexes Without disabilities All ages, 15 years and over 15-19 95-99 100 and over Not stated With disabilities All ages, 15 years and over 15-19 95-99 100 and over Not stated Not stated Not stated	Population included: population at or above the m population Classifications: (a) Disability status: without disabilities; with disability status: economically active: (i) employed time); not economically active: (i) homemaker; (ii) (c) Age: all ages, 15 years and over; 15-19 years; 2 49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 6 94 years; 95-99 years; and 100 years over; not state (d) Sex): both sexes; male; female Meta-data for this tabulation: (i) Source of statistics: \circ Traditional population census \circ Register-based population census \circ Registers/Surveys systems \circ Civil registration (j) De jure or de facto population or a combil (k) Definition of urban and rural areas (l) Exact question wording	inimum age adapted for enumerating the econor bilities; not stated ed; (ii) unemployed (distinguishing persons seek student; (iii) income recipient; (iv) other; not st 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 ye 5-69 years; 70-74 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 yea ed	nically active ing work for the first ated ars; 40-44 years; 45- trs; 85-89 years; 90-	
95-99 100 and over Males (as for both sexes) Females (as for both sexes)	<u>Core topics:</u> Place of usual residence or Place Sex Age Disability status Activity status	where present at time of census		

P 8.3-R Population 15 years and over, by disability status¹, economic activity status, age and sex

Access to paid work is crucial to achieving self-reliance and ensuring the well-being of the adult population, both of persons with disabilities as well as of those without disabilities. Tabulations by economic activity status provide a basic measure of the social and economic integration of the population with disabilities as compared with those without disabilities. Tabulations by urban/rural residence, age and sex are essential to identifying groups of the population that may be most disadvantaged.

¹ Estimates of the population with and without disability are a function of the exact methods and question wording used in the data collection. Consult the meta-data for information on the methods (include the specific questions) used.

Annex 3: List of recommended tabulations for housing censuses¹⁹²¹⁹³

- H1-R Persons, by broad types of living quarters and number of roofless*
- H2-R Persons in collective living quarters by type
- H3-R Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit*
- H4-R Conventional dwellings by occupancy status
- H5-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of ownership of the housing units
- H6-R Housing units, by number of rooms, cross-classified by type of housing unit and number of occupants per housing unit
- H7-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by water supply system*
- H8-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main source of drinking water*
- H9-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of toilet and type of sewage disposal*
- H10-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of bathing facilities
- H11-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking
- H12-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of lighting and/or use of electricity
- H13-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main type of solid waste disposal
- H14-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by number of households per housing unit
- H15-R Conventional dwellings by type of building, and construction material of outer walls
- H16-R Housing units by type and construction material of outer walls
- H17-R Households, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by sex and age of head or other reference member of household*
- H18-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by tenure of household and, for tenant households, ownership of housing unit occupied*
- H19-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by communication technology devices and access to Internet

¹⁹² Recommended tabulations are identified by an "R" as part of the table number.

¹⁹³ * represents a basic/essential tabulation.

H1.1-R	Persons, by broad types of living quarters, and number roofless
--------	---

Households, by broad types of living quarters, and number roofless Living quarters, by broad types H1.2-R

H1.3-R

¹ Name of major or minor civil division.

H2.1-R	Persons in collective living quarters by type
H2.2-R	Collective living quarters by type

Geographical division	Total				Collec	ctive living qua	rters			
	Totai	Hotels	C Hospitals ir	orrectiona astitutions	l Mil- itary insti- tutions	Religio Retire us ment instituti homes ons	Student dormit ories	t Staff quarters	Camps and workers' quarters	Other
Total collective living quarters	For illustra in this tabl	ative purp e	oses, persons	and also	collectiv	e living quarter		own as the	e unit of tab	ulation
TOTAL Urban Rural Major civil division A ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division A1 ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division B ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division B1 ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division B1 ² (etc.)	Units of ta Living qua Persons in Classificat (a) Geogra Distinguish (b) Type of Meta-data (d) S (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1 (c) 1	bulation: arters incl cluded: p ions: phical div between collective for this tab Source of f Traditiona Register-b Registers/S Rolling su De jure or Definition cs: Place Living	persons, coll luded: collect ersons living <i>isions: (i) tot</i> <i>urban and ru</i> <i>living quarte</i> bulation: statistics: l housing cer ased housing Surveys syste rveys <i>de facto</i> pop of urban and of usual ress g quarters –	ective livir tive living in collectiv al country, ral for (i), ers usus census ms ulation or of rural areas idence or type of	g quarter quarters ve living (ii) eac (ii) and 	quarters quarters h major civil di (iii) tion (provide da vhere present	etailed da	iii) each m	inor civil di	vision.
Major civil division Z ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division Z1 ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division Z2 ¹ Urban Rural (etc.)	Description This is the recognized significant showing th	on only reco d that the dy, for exa ne magnit	ommended ta living condit ample, in mi ude of institu	able that d tions in dif litary cam ational pop	isplays a ferent t ps and i pulation	all the categori ype of collectiv uxurious retire in different ty	es of co ve living ement ho pes of ir	llective liv quarters omes. This ostitutions	ving quarte differ s table aims	rs. It is at

¹ Name of major or minor civil division.

H3.1-R Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit

H3.2-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit

H3.3-R Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit

H3.4-R Family nuclei in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit

						Type of h	ousing un	it			
		Con	Conventional dwelling				Other hou	using units	1		Not stated
Geographical division ¹	Total							Infor	mal housing	unit	sidica
		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing s unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households	For illu	strative p	purposes, h	ouseholds	, housin	g units, fam	ily nuclei d	and perso	ns are shown	as the	units of
TOTAL	luvuuu	<u> </u>									
Urban											
Rural Major civil division A ² Urban Rural Minor civil division A1 ² Urban Rural Minor civil division A2 ²	Units of Living of Househ Classifi (a) Geog Distingu (b) Type	f tabulati quarters olds, fan cations: graphica uish betw e of housi	ion: housel included: nily nuclei l divisions: een urban ing unit	nolds; hous occupied l and perso (i) total c and rural j	sing unit housing ons inclu ountry; (for (i), (i	s; family nuc units ided: househ ii) each majo i) and (iii)	elei; occup olds, fami	ants ly nuclei a <i>ision; (iii)</i>	and occupant	s civil divi	ision.
Major civil division B ² Urban Rural Minor civil division B1 ² Urban Rural Minor civil division B2 ² (etc.)	Meta-da (a) (c) (c) <u>Core to</u>	tta for thi Source Tradit Regist Regist Rollin De jur Defini	s tabulatio e of statisti ional housi er-based h ers/Survey g surveys <i>e</i> or <i>de fac</i> tion of urb ace of usu	n: rs: ng census ousing cen s systems to populati an and rura tal resident to population of the systems to population	sus ion or co al areas nce or P	mbination (p lace where	provide det present a	tailed desc	ription) Census		
Major civil division 7^2		Li	ving quai	rters – typ	be of						
Urban Rural Minor civil division $Z1^2$ Urban Rural Minor civil division $Z2^2$ Urban Rural (etc.)	Descrig This tal Also, it tabulati calculat	otion ble distin s purpos on is of tion of in	nguishes a e is to des primary ir idicators o	mong var cribe the o nportance n housing	ious typ occupan for the conditio	bes of housi ts in terms of formulation ons.	ng accord of aggrega of housir	ling to th tes, house ng progra	e level of h eholds and f mmes and is	ousing s amily nu a prere	standards. uclei. The quisite of

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

² Name of major or minor civil division.

H4-R Conventional dwellings by occupancy status

						Conventiona	l dwelling	S			
1						Va	cant				
Geographical division ¹ and type of conventional dwelling	Total		Sea.	sonally vac	ant		Non-se	easonall	y vacant		_
		Occupied	Holiday homes	Seasonal workers' quarters	Other	Secondary residences	For rent	For sale	For demolition	Other	stated
Total conventional dwellings											
Has all basic facilities											
Does not have all basic facilities	Living	of tabulation quarters in holds and pe	conventi cluded: c crsons inc	onal dwelli onventional luded: none	ngs dwellin e	gs					
Urban 	Classif (a) Geo betwee (b) Typ	fications: ographical di n urban and pe of convent	ivisions: (i rural for (ional dwel) total coun i), (ii) and (lings	etry; (ii) (iii)	each major civi	l division;	(iii) eac	ch minor civil di	ivision. Di	stinguish
Rural	(c) Occ	cupancy stati	<i>is</i>								• •
	Meta-d (a	lata for this ta <i>i</i>) Source of <i>o</i> Tradition <i>o</i> Register-	abulation: f statistics: al housing based hou	; g census							

- o Registers/Surveys systems
- Rolling surveys
- (b) De jure or de facto population or combination (provide detailed description)
- (c) Definition of urban and rural areas

Core topics: Place of usual residence or Place where present at time of census Living quarters – type of Occupancy status

Description

Description This tabulation confines itself to data relating to conventional dwellings because all other types of housing units are required, by definition, to be occupied in order to fall within the scope of the census; a classification by occupancy would not therefore be applicable to them. In some housing censuses, vacancy information is recorded during the listing of sets of living quarters and summaries of these lists provide the aggregates furnished by this tabulation, although generally not in detail as far as reasons for vacancy are concerned. Such a procedure may provide an economic means of obtaining data, though every effort should be made to collect information in detail on vacant conventional and basic dwellings.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (iv) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii).

						Туре ој	f housing	unit			
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other he	ousing uni	its		Not stated
c 1	Total							Inf			
and type of ownership		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households	,										
Owner occupied	For illus	trative pi	urposes, ha	ousing uni	ts are sh	own as unit o	of tabulat	ion in this	s table. A sim	ilar table o	could be
Non-owner occupied	prepared tabulatio	using ho ns)	ouseholds	as units of	^c tabulati	ion, which is	listed as a	udditional	(in the addit	ional set o	f
Publicly owned											
Privately owned	Units of Living q	tabulatio uarters	on: housing included:	g units occupied l	nousing u	units					
Communally owned	Househo Classific	lds and j ations:	persons in	cluded: N	one						
Cooperatively owned	(a) Geog	raphical	divisions:	(i) total co	untry; (ii	i) each major	civil divi	sion; (iii)	each minor c	ivil divisio	n.
Other	Distingu (b) Type (c) Type (d) Use c	ish betwe of housin of owner. of housing	en urban a 2g unit ship 3 unit	und rural fe	or (i), (ii)) and (iii)					
	Meta-dat (<i>d</i>) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (<i>e</i>) (<i>f</i>)	a for this Source Traditio Registe Registe Rolling <i>De jure</i> Definit	tabulation of statistic onal housir r-based ho rs/Surveys or <i>de fact</i> ion of urba	: s: using census using cens systems o population n and rura	us on or a co l areas	ombination w	rith detaile	ed descrip	tion		

H5-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of ownership of the housing units

<u>Core topics:</u> Place of usual residence or Place where present at time of census Living quarters – type of Ownership – type of

Description

This tabulation provides information on the type of ownership of the housing unit. It is intended to show the type of ownership according to the type of housing unit. Assessing the ownership of housing units is of paramount importance in establishing housing policies.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

Geographical division, ²	Total		Housing units with the following number of rooms								
type of housing unit and number of occupants	housing units	Total	1	2	3		9	10+	Not stated		
Total housing units Housing units with the following number of occupants Total 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	Units of ta Living qu Classificat (a) Geogra minor civin (b) Type oy (c) Numbe (d) Numbe	abulation: I arters inclu tions: uphical divi. division. I f housing un r of occupa r of rooms i	housing uni ided: housi sions: (i) to Distinguish nit nts per housing	ts ing units otal countr between t sing unit gunit	y; (ii) ea urban ar	ach maj nd rural	ior civil i for (i), (division; (ii) and ((iii) each (iii)		
Conventional dwellings with the following number of occupants (Classification of occupants as above) Other housing units (Classification of occupants 1-10+) ³ Not stated	Meta-data (a) 0 0 0 (b) (c)	for this tab Source of s Traditional Register-ba Registers/S Rolling sur De jure or a Definition of	ulation: tatistics: housing ce ised housing urveys syst veys <i>de facto</i> pop of urban an	nsus g census ems pulation o d rural are	r combineas	nation (provide	detailed	description)		
	Core topi Descripti Th lev ov on W wi co lev url in	cs: Place of Living Rooms Occup on is tabulation vel of de ercrowding housing of orking Par th densitie nsidered of vel may be ban areas n rural areas	of usual re quarters ants – number ants – num on provide ensity con g to under- conditions, ty on Stati s of the overcrowder raised or nay be diff	sidence of - type of r of nber of es for the sidered occupand the Stat istics for ree or ed under lowered a cerent from	selecti to be cy. In e istical of Social more any cirraccordin m those sidered	on of c of si stablish Commi Progran person cumsta ng to c for run to offs	e presen lata con gnificar ing the ssion ar nmes ag s per nces. F ircumsta ral areas et, to so	t at tim accerning nce, fro statistic nd the I greed th room for natio unces; le (the ou ome exter	any desired om extreme al indicators inter-Agency at dwellings should be onal use, this evels set for tdoor spaces ent, the high		

H6-R Housing units, by number of rooms,¹ cross-classified by type of housing unit and number of occupants per housing unit

densities prevailing within the housing units).

¹ Excluding rooms used wholly for business or professional purposes.

² This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

³ Since by definition it is required that housing units other than conventional and basic dwellings be occupied in order to be included in the census, category 0 is not applicable.

						Туре	of housing	unit			
		Conv	ventional dw	velling			Other i	housing	units		Not stated
Geographical division ¹	_	Does						In	formal housing	situett	
water supply system	Total	Total	Has all basic facilities	not have all basic facilita es	Total	Semi- perma- nent dwelling	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	- Permanent but not intended for habitation	Other	
Total housing units Piped water inside the unit From the community scheme	For illus	trative pulled as to fi	urposes, hou ouseholds an	using un nd occu	pits are a	shown as t s units of t	unit of tabi tabulation,	lation in which a	n this table. A s re listed as add	similar tal litional (ir	ble could be 1 the
From an individual source	auuuon		uouuuions)								
Piped water outside the unit but within 200 metres	Units of Living q	tabulatio uarters	n: housing included:	units occupied		g units					
From the community scheme	Househo	olds and j	persons incl	luded: 1	None						
For exclusive use Shared	(a) Geog	rations: raphical ish betwe	divisions: (i en urban an) total c d rural	ountry; for (i), ((ii) each n ii) and (iii	najor civil d	division;	(iii) each mind	or civil div	ision.
From an individual source	(b) Type	of housin	g unit								
For exclusive use	(c) Wate	r supply s	ystem	the bar	is of m	at fue an e	t courses i		on ana but w	an in alud	aninad
Shared	(c) sourc	e of wate: itv-wide s	r suppiy: on vstem: catcl	i the bas hments t	ank: nu	st frequen blic well: 1	n sources n private wel	n country 1: river	y or area, but n spring: and so	ay inciua forth	e pipea
Without piped water	Moto dot	to for this	tabulation:		<u>un</u> k, pu		onvale wei	<i>i</i> , <i>iver</i> ,	spring,_unu_so		
(including piped water beyond 200 meters)	(a)	Source	of statistics:								
sejona 200 meters)	0	Traditio	onal housing	census							
	0	Registe	r-based hou	sing cer	sus						
	0	Registe	rs/Surveys s	ystems							
	(b)	De iure	or <i>de facto</i>	populat	ion or c	ombinatio	n (provide)	detailed	description)		
	(c)	Definiti	ion of urban	and rur	al areas		- (J				
	<u>Core to</u>	<u>pics:</u> Pla Liv Wa	ce of usual ing quarte iter supply	reside rs – tyj system	nce or be of	Place whe	ere presen	t at tim	e of census		
	Descrip From thi with rea units. Th scheme classific	tion s tabulati dy acces he classif or an i ation in c	ion, information, information to water fication of to individual order to pro	ation m supply the sour source. vide mo	ay be d as wel ce of t Many ore deta	erived on l as the a he water s countrie iled inform	the numbe vailability supply in t s have for mation on	er of person of pipe his tabut bund it the sour	sons and the n d water for ea lation is limit useful to fu ce of the wate	umber of ach class ed to the urther ela r supply	households of housing community borate this

H7-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by water supply system

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

H8-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main source of drinking water

						Type	of housing	g unit			
Geographical division ¹ and main source of drinking water		Conventional dwelling				Other housing units					Not stated
	T ()			Does				In	formal housing	g unit	sitted
	1 otal	Total	Has all basic facilities	not have all basic faciliti es	Total	Semi- perma- nent dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permanent but not intended for habitation	Other	
Total housing units Piped water inside the unit From the community scheme From an individual source	For illustra prepared u additional	utive pur sing hou set <u>of</u> ta	poses, hou useholds ar ubulations)	using un and occup	its are s pants as	hown as u s units of ta	nit of tabu ibulation,	ılation iı which a	n this table. Sin re listed as add	nilar tabla litional (ir	es could be 1 the
Piped water outside the unit but within 200 metres	Units of ta Living qua Household	bulation orters in and p	n: housing un ncluded: o ersons incl	units occupied	housin	g units					
From the community scheme For exclusive use Shared From an individual source For exclusive use	Classificat (a) Geogra Distinguish (b) Type of (c) Water s (c) Source community	ions: phical d betwee housing upply sy of water -wide sy	ivisions: (i, n urban and unit stem supply: on stem; catch) total co d rural f the bas iments to	ountry; for (i), (is of mo ank; pui	(ii) each ma ii) and (iii) pst frequent blic well; p.	ajor civil d sources in rivate wel	division; n country l; river, 1	(iii) each mind o or area, but m spring; and so j	or civil div nay includ forth	vision . e piped
Without piped water (including piped water beyond 200 meters) Borehole	Meta-data (d) o	for this t Source o Fradition Register	abulation: f statistics: nal housing based hous	census sing cen	sus						
Protected well Protected spring Rainwater collection Vendor provided water	 Register-based notang census Registers/Surveys systems Rolling surveys <i>De jure</i> or <i>de facto</i> population or combination (provide detailed description) (f) Definition of urban and rural areas 										
Bottled water Tanker trucks	<u>Core topi</u>	<u>es:</u> Plac Livi Drir	e of usual ng quarte iking wate	resider rs – typ er – ma	nce or l be of in sour	Place when ce of	re presen	t at tim	e of census		
Unprotected well/spring/ river/stream/lake pond, dam	Descriptio The impor resolutions source of purposes (on tance of s, most drinking see tabu	Supply of notably o water use lation H5-	drinkin on Mille d by ho R above	ng wate ennium busehol e).	r was emp Developn ds as it oft	hasized ir nent Goa en differs	n a num ls. This from th	ber United Na tabulation ai ne source of w	tions doc ms at as ater used	uments and sessing the for general

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

						Type o	of housing	unit			
Geographical division1, type of toilet and sewerage disposal		Con	ventional	dwelling			Not stated				
	Total	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi perm. dwellings	Mobile housing s unit	Info Impro- vised	rmal housing Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	g unit Other	
Total housing units With toilet within the housing unit	For illus prepared addition	trative p using h al set of	urposes, h ouseholds tabulation	housing un s and occu ns)	nits are sh pants as	own as unit units of tabi	t of tabula ılation, wl	tion in thi hich are lis	s table. Simil sted as additi	ar tables co onal (in th	ould be e
Flush/pour flash toilet	Units of	 tabulati	on housi	ng units							
Connected to a public sewerage plant	Living quarters included: occupied housing units Households and persons included: None (Classifications (a) Geographical divisions: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii)										
Connected to a private sewerage plant											
Other	(b) Type	of housi	ng unit			,					
Non-flush toilet	(c) Toilet										
Connected to a public sewerage plant	.(<u>a</u>) <u>Sewa</u> Meta-dat	ge_dispo	s tabulatio	n.							
Connected to a private sewerage plant	 (a) Source of statistics: Traditional housing census Register-based housing census Registers/Surveys systems Rolling surveys (b) De forte forte perpulation or a combination with detailed description 										
Other											
With toilet outside the housing unit											
Flush/pour flush toilet	(c)	Defini	tion of urb	an and rur	al areas	onioniution	in actual	ieu uesenip	lion		
Connected to a public sewerage plant	Core to	pics: Pla	ace of usu	ial reside	nce or P	ace where	present a	t time of	census		
Connected to a private sewerage plant	Living quarters – type of Toilet – type of Sewerage disposal										
Other	Descrin	tion									
Non-flush toilet	From the	is tabula	tion, data	may be o	btained c	on the numb	er of hous	sing units	by type with	the numb	er of
Connected to a public sewerage plant	occupan tabulatic	ts, the ty on of toi	pe of toil let faciliti	let facilitie es shown	s availat provides	the minimu the minimu	and the ch im data re	aracteristi quired for	cs of the sev an evaluation	wage system on of living	m. The g quarters
Connected to a private sewerage plant	indicator be usefu	rs of hou l to prep	using and pare simil	its enviror ar tabulati	nment. If ons by ty	the number pe of collec	r of sets o ctive livin	f collectiv g quarters	e living qua With respe	rters is larg	ge, it may units,
Other	however	, separa	te tabulat	ions that v	vould als	o show the	number o	f toilets in	relation to t	he number	of the type
No toilet available	of toilet.	Similar	informat	ion may b	e tabulat	ed for housi	ing units of	occupied b	y more than	a certain i	number of
Not stated	househo of partic concerne	lds. In n ular typ ed and ii	nany cour es of toile mply vary	ntries the c ets (other t ving degree	lassifica han flush es of effi	tion has bee) that are provided that are provided to the pro	en elabora revalent a 1 a sanitar	ted to prov nd charact y point of	vide informateristic of the view.	tion on ave e country c	ailability or area

H9-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of toilet and type of sewage disposal

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

		Type of housing unit										
Geographical division ¹ and type of bathing facilities		Cor	ventional o	dwelling			Not stated					
	Total							Informal housing unit				
	Totai	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other		
Total housing units With fixed bath or shower within housing unit	For illu prepare addition	strative p d using h al set of	purposes, h nouseholds tabulation	ousing un and occup s)	its are sl pants as	hown as unit units of tabu	of tabula lation, wl	tion in thi hich are li	is table. Simil sted as additi	lar tables c onal (in th	could be ne	
Without fixed bath or shower within housing unit	Units of Living of	f tabulat quarters	ion: housir included	ng units coccupied								
Fixed bath or shower available outside housing unit For exclusive use Shared	Househ Classifi (a) Geog Distingu (b) Type (c) Bath	olds and cations graphica uish betw e of housi ing facili	l persons in l divisions: een urban ing unit ities	ncluded: N (i) total co and rural j	None ountry; (1 for (i), (ii	ii) each majo i) and (iii)	or civil div	ision; (iii)	each minor d	civil divisio	on.	
No fixed bath or shower available	Meta-da (d) (c) (c) (c) (c) (f)	tta for thi Source Tradit Regist Regist Rollin De jur Defini	s tabulation e of statisti- ional housi eer-based h- eers/Survey g surveys re or <i>de fac</i> tion of urb	n: cs: ing census ousing cen 's systems <i>to</i> populati an and rura	sus on or a c al areas	combination v	with detail	ed descrip	otion			
	<u>Core topics:</u> Place of usual residence or Place where present at time of census Living quarters – type of Bathing facilities											
	Descrip From th facilitie	otion is tabula s availat	ation, data ble to occu	may be ol pants. Thi	otained of s tabular	on the numb tion provide	er of hous s the min	sing units imum dat	by and the transferred for	ype of bat	hing ation of	

H10-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of bathing facilities

From this tabulation, data may be obtained on the number of housing units by and the type of bathing facilities available to occupants. This tabulation provides the minimum data required for an evaluation of living quarters according to the facilities available. The information for dwellings is required for the computation of indicators of housing and its environment. If the number of sets of collective living quarters is large, it may be useful to prepare similar tabulations by type of collective living quarters. With respect to these units, however, separate tabulations that would also show the number of fixed baths and showers in relation to the number of occupants may be more useful than information that merely indicates the availability of bathing facilities. Similar information may be tabulated for housing units occupied by more than a certain number of households

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

H11-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking

						Type o	f housing	unit			
Geographical division ¹ , availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Not stated				
	Total							Informal housing unit			stated
	Totai	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total housing units With kitchen within the housing unit	For illus prepared addition	trative p lusing h alset of	urposes, h ouseholds tabulation	ousing un and occu s)	its are sho pants as u	own as unit nits of tabu	of tabula lation, wl	tion in this nich are lis	s table. Simil sted as additi	ar tables c onal (in th	ould be e
Gas											
Electricity	Units of	tabulati	on: housin	ig units							
Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)	Living quarters included: occupied housing units Households and persons included: None Classifications										
Kerosene/paraffin (petroleum based) Oil (including vegetable oil) Coal Firewood Charcoal Animal dung	(a) Geog Distingu (b) Type (c) Cook (d) Fuel	raphical ish betwo of housi ing facil used for	divisions: een urban ng unit ities cooking	(i) total co and rural j	ountry; (ii for (i), (ii)) each majo and (iii)	or civil div	ision; (iii)	each minor c	vivil divisio	n.
Crop residue Other	Meta-dat	ta for this Source	s tabulation of statistic	n: cs:							
With other space for cooking within the housing unit (classification of fuel used for cooking as above)	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	 (s) Source of statistics. Traditional housing census Register-based housing census Registers/Surveys systems Rolling surveys (h) De jure or de facto population or combination (provide detailed description) (i) Definition of urban and rural areas 									
Without kitchen or other space for cooking within the housing unit (classification of fuel used for cooking as above)	Core to	<u>pics:</u> Pla Li Ki Fu	ace of usu ving quar tchen - av iel used fo	al resider ters – typ vailability or cooking	nce or Pla be of 7 of g	ace where	present a	t time of	census		
	Descrip The class conform refer to t meals. It housing as hotels informat	tion sification to the t the fuel f inform units oc s, boardi tion acco	ns used in ypes of eq most frequ ation has l cupied by ng houses ording to t	this tabu uipment a uently use been gathe more that and mult he type of	lation for and types d and it n ered on th n a certain i-househo f living qu	equipment of fuel norm hay be confine number on number o hld living quarters and	and fuel mally use ined to th of kitchen f househo uarters, it the numb	used for c d in the co e fuel use s or kitche lds and fo would be er of hous	ooking shou ountry conce d for prepari enettes or the or collective useful to tab eholds.	ld be form rned. Data ing the prin e number of living qua pulate this	nulated to a on fuel ncipal of stoves in rters, such

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.
H12-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of lighting and/or use of electricity

						Type o	f housing	unit			
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other he	ousing uni	ts		Not stated
Geographical division ¹	Total							Info	ormal housing	z unit	
and type of lighting and/or availability of electricity		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- Tem. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total housing units	For illus	strative p	ourposes, h	ousing un	its are sh	own as unit	t of tabula	tion in thi	s table. Simil	ar tables o	could be
Type of lighting Electricity	prepared addition	l using h al set of	ouseholds tabulation	and occu s)	pants as	units of tabu	ilation, wi	hich are li	sted as additi	onal (in th	ne
Gas											
Oil lamp	Units of		on: housin								
(Other types of lighting of significance to the country or area concerned)	Living of Househo Classifie (a) Geog	uarters olds and cations graphical	included: persons in divisions:	coccupied ncluded: N	housing None <i>ountry; (i</i>	units i) each majo	or civil div	ision; (iii)	each minor c	civil divisio	on.
Urban 	Distingu (b) Type (c) Type	ish betw of housi of lightin	een urban ng unit ng	and rural j	for (i), (ii) and (iii) 					
Rural											
	Meta-da (j) c c c c c c (k) (l)	ta for thi Source Traditi Regist Regist Rollin De jur Defini	s tabulation e of statisticional housi er-based housi ers/Survey g surveys <i>e</i> or <i>de fac</i> tion of urb	n: cs: ng census ousing cen s systems to populati an and rur	sus on or con al areas	nbination (p	rovide det	tailed desc	ription)		
	<u>Core to</u>	<u>pics:</u> Pla Li Li	ace of usu ving quar ghting an	al resider ters – typ d/or elect	nce or Pl be of cricity - 1	ace where	present a	nt time of	census		
	Descrip Countrie This tab be exter the elec	tion es and an ulation of ided. For tricity co	reas in all could prov r housing omes from	regions at vide plann units lit by a commu	tach cons ers with v electric nity supp	siderable im a useful ind ity, additior oly, generat	portance ication of nal inform ing plant	to the sou areas wh nation may or some o	arce of energ ere commun y be tabulate ther source.	y used for ity lightin d to show	lighting. g needs to whether

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

H13-R Occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main type of solid waste disposal

						Type og	f housing	unit			
~		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other he	ousing unit	ts		Not stated
Geographical division and main type of solid waste disposal	Total	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Info Impro- vised	ormal housing Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	unit Other	stared
Total housing units Solid waste collected on regular basis by authorized collectors	For illus prepared additiond	trative p using h ul set of t	urposes, ho ouseholds tabulations	ousing uni and occup	its are sho pants as u	own as unit nits of tabu	of tabulat lation, wh	tion in this hich are lis	s table. A simi ted as additio	ilar table c onal (in the	could be
Solid waste collected on an irregular basis by authorized collectors Solid waste collected by self-appointed collectors	Units of Living q Househo	tabulation uarters olds and	on: housing included: persons in	g units occupied l cluded: N	nousing u	nits					
Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump supervised by authorities	(a) Geog Distingui (b) Type .(c) Solid	ations raphical ish betwe of housin <u>waste</u> di	divisions: een urban c 1g unit sposal	(i) total co and rural fo	ountry; (ii or (i), (ii)) each major and (iii)	r civil divi	ision; (iii)	each minor ci	ivil division	n.
Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump not supervised by authorities Occupants burn solid waste Occupants bury solid waste Occupants dispose solid waste into river/sea/creek/pond Occupants composting solid waste	Meta-dat (m) 0 0 0 (n) (o) Core to	a for this Source Traditi Regista Regista Rolling De jura Definit pics: Pla So	s tabulation of statistic onal housin er-based ho ers/Surveys g surveys e or <i>de fact</i> ion of urba ace of usua ving quar lid waste	a: s: ng census ousing cens s systems o population n and rura al residen ters – typ disposal –	sus on or com l areas ce or Pla e of - main ty	ibination (pr ace where p	ovide det	ailed descr t time of	iption) census		
Other Urban (classification of solid waste disposal as above) Rural (classification of solid waste disposal as above)	Descrip This tab <i>and Reca</i> disposin As for th elaborate	tion ulation p ommend g of it has ne classified on the	provides in <i>ations for</i> ave an extr fication of e basis of p	formation Populatio remely im types of s prevalent s	on the t in and Ha portant in olid was systems i	ype of solid ousing Cens mpact on pu te disposal, n a specific	waste di suses. Dis lblic heal it consist country	sposal as o posal of s th and on s of broad or area.	defined in the olid waste an maintaining l categories a	e revised <i>I</i> nd facilitie a safe env nd may be	Principles s for ironment. e further

_

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

Households in housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by H14-R number of households per housing unit

						Туре с	of housing	unit			
		Con	ventional of	dwelling			Other he	ousing uni	ts		Not stated
Geographical division ¹	Total							Info	ormal housing	g unit	stated
and number of households per housing unit	house- holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perma- nent. dwelling:	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households											
Households with the following number of households per housing unit :	For illust prepared tabulation	rative pu using fa ns)	urposes, ho mily nucle	ouseholds a ri as units a	are show of tabula	n as the uni tion, which	it of tabula is listed as	ution in the additiona	is table. A sin Il (in the add	nilar table itional set	could be of
1											
2											
3+	Units of	tabulatio	n : househ	olds							
Not stated	Househo Classific: (a) Geogy Distingui (b) Type o (c) Numb (d) Numb (d) Numb Meta-data (a) 0 0 0 0 (b) (c) Core top	Ids and f ations: "aphical shetwee of housin er of hou er of roo a for this Source Traditic Registe Registe Rolling De jure Definiti	divisions: (en urban a g unit useholds pe ms per hou tabulation of statistic onal housin r-based ho rs/Surveys surveys or de facto ton of urba	 includ i) total co nd rural fa or housing using unit is i	led: hous untry; (ii, or (i), (ii) unit unit us on or com l areas ce or Pla	eholds in ho) each majo and (iii) abination (pr ace where J	vusing unit r civil divi: rovide deta present at	s sion; (iii) o iiled descri	each minor ci	ivil division	n.
		Liv Oce	ing quart cupancy b	ers – type by one or	e of more ho	ouseholds	-				
	Descript This tabu househol housing househol	ion Ilation p ds and t unit for ds that c	rovides in hus provide each hous beccupy the	formation les an imp ehold that shared ur	on the portant back desires nits.	number of l asis for esti one is wide	household mating ho ely recogn	s that are busing nee lized. This	sharing hou ds. The imp s tabulation s	sing units ortance of shows the	with other f a separate number of

_

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

Geographical division ¹ and construction material	Total	Containing a shousing unit	single	Containir	ng more th	an one housii	ng unit	Other
of outer walls		Detached	Attached	Up to 2 floors	3-4 floors	4-10 floors	11+ floors	
Total conventional dwellings								
TOTAL Material of outer walls Concrete Brick Wood Local vegetation mat. Other Urban	Units of Living of Classific (a) Geog division (b) Type (c) Perio (d) Mate	tabulation: dwe quarters included cations: graphical division Distinguish betw of building od of construction relation outer walk	llings d: conventiona as: (i) total cou ween urban and bs	– – – – – – l dwellings ntry; (ii) eac l rural for (i	h major ci), (ii) and	 ivil division; (i (iii)	ii) each mino	r civil
 Major civil division A ² 	Meta-da (g) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c	ta for this tabulat Source of statis Traditional hou Register-based Registers/Survey Rolling survey De jure or de fu Definition of u pics: Place of u Building Construct	ion: stics: housing census housing censu eys systems s <i>acto</i> populatior rban and rural isual residenc type of tion material	s or combina areas ee or Place of outer w	ation (prov where pro alls	vide detailed de esent at time	escription) of census	
	Descrip This tab are loca indirect building external durabili collecte inconsis more th	tion pulation provides ted and by mater but important un gs and the way to walls only, since ty. Information of d in national hou stencies and com an one element of	information of rial of construc- nit of enumera of define them. we this appears on the construc- using censuses uplications hav of the dwelling	on the numb ction of the tion as it ca The tabulat to be of the ction materi , particularl e been notio g.	er of dwe walls of th rries infor ion includ e utmost si al of the r y informa ced while	llings by type he building. T mation on dif les material of ignificance as oof and floor tion on the fo tabulating con	of building v The building i fferent types of construction an indicator is also freque rmer, but cer nstruction ma	where they s here an of of ently tain tterial for

H15-R Conventional dwellings by type of building, and construction material of outer walls

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

² Name of major or minor civil division.

Housing units by type and construction material of outer walls H16-R

						Type of h	ousing un	it			
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other hou	sing units			Not stated
Geographical division ¹	Total							Infor	mal housing	unit	
and construction material of outer walls	house- holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Fotal housing units											
FOTAL Material of outer walls Concrete Brick Wood Local vegetation mat. Other	Units of Living q Classific (a) Geog Distingu	tabulati uarters ations: raphica ish betw of housi	ion: housir included: l divisions: een urban ing unit	g units housing u (i) total c and rural	nits ountry; (for (i), (ii			ision; (iii)	each minor	civil divi	ision.
Urban	Meta-dat (d)	a for thi Source	s tabulatio e of statisti	n: cs:							
 Rural	0 0	Tradit Regist	ional housi er-based h	ng census ousing cen	sus						
Major civil division A 2	0 (e) (f)	Regist Rollin De jur Defini	ers/Survey g surveys e or <i>de fac</i> tion of urb	s systems <i>to</i> populat an and rur	ion or co al areas	mbination (p	rovide det	ailed desc	ription)		
	Core to	pics: Pl Ty	ace of usu	al reside	nce or P	lace where	present a	it time of	census		

Description

Description This tabulation provides information on the number material of construction of the outer walls cross-tabulated by the type of housing units. The main purpose of the tabulation is to provide an overview of the predominant construction material in regard to the type of housing unit. The tabulation includes material of construction of external walls only, since this appears to be of the utmost significance as an indicator of durability. Information on the construction material of the roof and floor is also frequently collected in national housing censuses, particularly information on the former, but certain inconstruction material for more the operation material for more. inconsistencies and complications have been noticed while tabulating construction material for more than one element of the dwelling.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

² Name of major or minor civil division.

H17.1-R Households, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by sex and age of head or other reference member of household

						Type of h	ousing un	it			
Geographical division ¹ .		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other hou	sing units			Not stated
sex and age of head or	Total							Infor	nal housing	unit	stated
other reference member of household	house- holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
TOTAL HOUSEHOLDS											
Male headed of household	Units of	tabulat	ion: house	holds; occ	upants						; ;
ALL AGES	Househ	juarters olds and	l persons i	nousing under the nousing under the nousing under the noise of the neuron of the neuro	all househo	olds and per	rsons livin	ig in house	holds		1
Under 15 years of age	Classifie	cations:	1 divisions	(i) total a	ountry: (ii) each mai	or civil div	ision (iii)	each minor	civil div	ision
15-19	Distingu	ish betw	een urban	and rural	for (i), (ii)	and (iii)	<i><i><i>i civii ui</i></i></i>	<i>usion</i> , (<i>ui</i>)	each minor	civii uiv	ision.
20-24	(b)Age:	under 1	5 years; 13	5-19 years	; 20-24 ye	ars; 25-29 y	vears; 30	34 years; 3	35-39 years;	40-44 y	ears;
25-29	45-49 ye	ears; 50-	54 years; 3	55-59 year	rs; 60-64 y	ears; 65-69	9 years; 70)-74 years;	75-79 years	s; 80-84	years;
30-34	(c) Type	of living	99 years; . 2 auarters	100 years a	una over; i	noi siaiea					ļ
35-39	(d) Sex o	of head o	of househol	d							
40-44	:										!
45-49											
50-54	Meta-da	ta for thi	is tabulatio	n:							
55-59	<i>(a)</i>	Source	e of statisti	cs:							
60-64	C	o Tradit	ional hous	ing census	a cuic						
65-69	((> Regist	ters/Survey	s systems	1505						
70-74	C	o Rollin	ig surveys	5							
75-79	(b)	De jui	re or de fac	eto populat	ion or con	nbination (p	provide de	tailed desc	ription)		
80-84	(<i>C</i>)	Denn	ition of urt	an and rui	al aleas						
85-89	Core to	pics: Pl	ace of usu	ial reside	nce or Pla	ace where	present a	at time of	census		
90-94		Li	iving qua	rters – ty	pe of						
95-99		Se	ex								
100 years and over											
Not stated	Descrip It is assion obtained	otion umed th d from the	at the econ he populat	nomic and	l demogra s. In selec	phic data r ting charac	equired for cteristics	or housing to be used	tabulations , the primates of the m	s will be y considered	deration
Female headed of	well as	an indi	cation of	the possib	ilities that	exist for n	neeting th	ese requir	rements. Th	is tabula	as
nousehold	provide	s one co	mponent	needed to	compute 1	headship ra	ates specif	fic for age	and sex for	r the pro	jection
(age groups as above)	of numb	per of ho	buseholds.								

H17.2-R Occupants of housing units, cross-classified by sex and age of head of household

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

H18.1-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by tenure of household and, for tenant households, ownership of housing unit occupied H18.2-R Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by tenure of household and, for tenant households, ownership of housing unit occupied

						Type o	f housing	unit			
Geographical		Con	ventional d	lwelling			Other ho	ousing unit	ts		Not stated
	Total							Info	ormal housing	g unit	
Total households	Total	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households											
Tenure - member of household:	,										
Owns a housing unit	Units of	tabulati Juarters	ion: housel included:	nolds; occu housing u	ipants inits						-
Rents all or part of housing unit as: Main tenant in :	Househo Classific (a) Geog	olds and cations: graphical	persons i l divisions:	ncluded: h	ousehold	ls and occup i) each majo	ants of ho or civil div	using units vision; (iii)	s each minor d	civil divisi	on.
Publicly owned	Distingu (b) Type	ish betw of housi	een urban ing unit	and rural j	for (i), (ii) and (iii)					i
Privately owned	(c) Tenu d) Type	re of owner	ship								1
Communally	Moto do	to for thi	a tabulation								
owned	(a)	Source	s tabulation	1. rs:							
Cooperatively owned	(u) C	> Tradit	ional housi	ng census							
Other	c c	Regist	ers/Survey	s systems	sus						
Subtenant Occupied Occupied free of rent	(b) (c)	 Rollin De jur Defini 	g surveys e or <i>de fac</i> tion of urb	<i>to</i> populati an and rura	ion or cor al areas	nbination (p	rovide det	ailed desc	ription)		
Other tenure arrangements	Core to	<u>pics:</u> Pl Li	ace of usu	al resider ters – tyr	nce or Pl be of	ace where	present a	at time of	census		
Not stated		Te O	enure wnership	- type of							
	Descrip This tab	tion ulation	yields data	showing	the type	of tenure u	nder whic	h househo	olds occupy	their livin	g space.

Data are tabulated in terms of households rather than housing units in order to show more clearly the tenure status of households sharing housing units. The number of owner-occupied housing units can be obtained from the tabulation H6-R using the corresponding figures for owner households in each category. Type of ownership of the housing unit occupied is shown in this table for renting households. Several variations of the classification of tenure have been found useful. Tenure data are sometimes classified so as to distinguish the tenure under which the living quarters are occupied from the tenure of land upon which they stand (in some countries such a classification may be of special significance). Owneroccupants are shown in some cases according to whether the housing unit is fully paid for or whether it is being paid for in instalments or is mortgaged.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (iv) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii).

H19.1-R Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by information and communication technology devices and access to Internet

H19.2-R Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by information and communication technology devices and access to Internet

		_				Туре о	f housing	unit			
1		Cor	ventional	dwelling			Other ho	ousing uni	ts		Not stated
Geographical division	Total							Info	ormal housing	g unit	
Total households		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households	 										
Household having	Living of	tabulat warters	included	nolas; occu : housing u	ipants inits						
Radio	Househ	olds and	persons i	ncluded: h	ousehold	ls; occupants	3				
Television set	Classific	cations: graphica	l divisions:	(i) total co	ountry; (ii) each majo	or civil div	ision; (iii)	each princip	al locality.	
Fixed line telephone	Distingu	ish betw	een urban	and rural j	for (i), (i	i) and (iii)			1 1		
Mobile cellular telephone(s)	(c) Own (d) Acce	ership of ss to Inte	f informatio rnet	on and con	ımunicat	ion technolog	gy devices				
Personal computer(s)	_()										
Number of	Meta-da (a)	ta for thi Source Tradit	s tabulatio e of statisti ional hous	n: cs: ing census	and						
Household accessing	0	Regist	ers/Survey	s systems	sus						
Internet from	c	Rollin	g surveys	o ogotonio							
Home Elsewhere Without access	(b) (c)	<i>De jur</i> Defini	e or <i>de fac</i> tion of urb	<i>to</i> populati an and rura	ion or a c al areas	combination	with detail	led descrip	otion		
	<u>Core to</u>	<u>pics:</u> Pl Li In	ace of usu iving quan formation	ial residei sters – typ n and com	nce or P be of imunica	lace where ation techno	present a ology devi	nt time of ices – ava	census ailability of		
	Descrip	tion									

This tabulation presents the essential information on the ownership and availability of ICT devices to households in the country.

¹ This table may be compiled for *(i)* total country; *(ii)* each major civil division; *(iii)* each minor civil division; *(iv)* each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for *(i)*, *(ii)* and *(iii)*.

Annex 4: List of additional tabulations for population censuses¹⁹⁶

Group 1. Tabulations dealing with geographical and internal migration characteristics

P1.1-A Native population, by major civil division of birth, age and sex

Group 2. Tabulations dealing with international migration on immigrant stock

- P2.1-A Foreign-born population, by marital status, age and sex
- P2.2-A Foreign-born population ... years of age and over, by usual (or current) activity status, age and sex
- P2.3-A Foreign-born population ... years of age and over, by educational attainment, age and sex

Group 3. Tabulations dealing with household characteristics

- P3.1-A Population in households, by household status, age and sex, and institutional population by age and sex
- P3.2-A Households and population in households, by size and type of household
- P3.3-A Multi-person households and population in such households, by type and size of household
- P3.4-A Households and population in households, by size of household and number of members under ... years of age
- P3.5-A Household population under 18 years of age, by age and sex and by whether living with both parents, mother alone, father alone, or neither parent
- P3.6-A Households and population in households, by sex, by size and type of household and number of persons 60 years of age and over

Group 4. Tabulations dealing with demographic and social characteristics

- P4.1-A Population, by religion, age and sex
- P4.2-A Population, by language (mother tongue, usual language or ability to speak one or more languages), age and sex
- P4.3-A Population, by national and/or ethnic group, age and sex

Group 5. Tabulations dealing with fertility and mortality

- P5.1-A Female population 15 years of age and over in their first marriage/union or married only once, by five-year duration of marriage/union group and number of children ever born alive by sex
- P5.2-A Female population, by age at first birth, by current age and place of residence
- P5.3-A Median age at first birth, by current age of women, place of residence and educational attainment
- P5.4-A Mothers 15 years of age and over with at least one child under 15 years of age living in the same household, by age of mother and by sex and age of children
- P5.5-A Female population ... to 49 years of age, by age, number of live births by sex within the 12 months preceding the census and educational attainment
- P5.6-A Population with mother alive (or dead), by age

Group 6. Tabulations dealing with educational characteristics

- P6.1-A Population that has successfully completed a course of study at the third level of education, by educational qualifications, age and sex
- P6.2-A Population 15 years of age and over, by field of education, age and sex

Group 7. Tabulations dealing with economic characteristics

¹⁹⁶ Additional tabulations are identified by an "A" as part of the table number.

- P7.1-A Usually (or currently) active population, by main status in employment, place of work, main occupation and sex
- P7.2-A Usually (or currently) active population, by institutional sector of employment, main industry and sex
- P7.3-A Usually (or currently) active population, by main occupation, educational attainment, age and sex
- P7.4-A Usually (or currently) active population, by main industry, educational attainment, age and sex
- P7.5-A Usually active population, by sex, main status in employment and number of weeks worked in all occupations during the last year
- P7.6-A Currently active population, by sex, main status in employment and number of hours worked in all occupations during the last week
- P7.7-A Usually (or currently) active population, by main occupation, marital status and age
- P7.8-A Usually (or currently) active population, by main status in employment, marital status and age
- P7.9-A Usually (or currently) active population in the household sector, by main status in
- employment, place of work, main occupation and sex
- P7.10-A Usually active population, by monthly or annual income, occupation and sex
- P7.11-A Households and population in households, by annual income and size of household
- P7.12-A Population not currently active (in other words, not in the labour force), by primary reason for inactivity, age and sex
- P7.13-A Heads or other reference members of households ... years of age and over, by economic activity status, age and sex
- P7.14-A Households and population in households, by size of household and number of usually (or currently) active members
- P7.15-A Households, by size, number of usually (or currently) unemployed members and dependent children under 15 years of age in household
- P7.16-A Usually (or currently) active heads or other reference members of households ... years of age and over, by main status in employment, main industry and sex

Group 8. Tabulations dealing with disability characteristics

- P8.1-A Total population, by geographical division and urban/rural residence, cross-classified by disability status, whether living in household or institution, age and sex
- P8.2-A Households with one or more persons with disabilities, by size of household, urban/rural residence
- P8.3-A Total population 15 of age years and over, by disability status, cross-classified by marital status, urban/rural residence, age and sex
- P8.4-A Population 5 to 29 years of age, by disability status, cross-classified by school attendance, urban/rural residence, age and sex

Group 1. Tabulations dealing with geographical and internal migration characteristics

P1.1-A Na	ative population,	by major civil	division of birth,	age and sex
-----------	-------------------	----------------	--------------------	-------------

Geographical division, sex and major civil division of hirth		Age	(in years)							
	All ages	Under 1	1-4	5-9	10-14	15-19		95-99	100 and over	Not stated
Both sexes										
TOTAL	Classificat	included: all	persons be	orn in the	country					
Major civil division A ¹ Major civil division B ¹ Major civil division C ¹ Major civil division Z ¹	(a) Geogra between un (b) Major c (c) Age: al years; 25-2 59 years; 6 90-94 year; -(d) Sex: bo	phical division. ban and rural f ivil division of Il ages; under o 19 years; 30-34 0-64 years; 65- s; 95-99 years; nh sexes; male;	(i) total c or (i) and birth: eac ne year; 1 years; 35- 69 years; and 100 y female	ountry; (ii (ii) h major c -4 years; : 39 years; 70-74 yea ears and c	i) each maj ivil division 5-9 years; 1 40-44 yean rs; 75-79 y wer; not st	or civil div n of the cou 10-14 year. rs; 45-49 y. vears; 80-8 ated	vision. E untry; na s; 15-19 ears; 50 4 years	Distinguish ot stated Dyears; 20- D-54 years; ; 85-89 yea	24 55- urs;	
Not stated Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")	Description Data on all respect to p major part important a information recommen duration of information migration a persons be	n: l persons born providing indie of the country drawbacks, the n on internal n ded for such co f residence or j n on internal n n on migratior in many count come internal	in the cou cations of as well a e data serv- nigration ountries. 7 prior place nigration to large of ries. Fina migrants	intry are u the magn s of the ul re a usefu is availab These dra- e of reside that count cities, whi lly, it ove after their	iseful for i itude of m timate origination l purpose i le and thei wbacks ind mode and to ries need t ich is the m rlooks the initial res	nternal mi igration ir gins of the n countrie r compilat clude failu p provide r o supply i nost impor fact that r idence in t	gration to, and migrar s where ion is, a rre to id n partic rtant kin nany fo the court	studies wi out of, each nts. In spite e no other accordingly entify eith f the detail rular nd of intern reign-born ntry.	th ch e of er ed nal	

¹ Name of major civil division.

Group 2. Tabulations dealing with international migration on immigrant stock

Sex and marital status	All ages				Age (in years)					
		Under 15	15-19	20-24	25-29	95-99	100 and over	Not stated		
Both sexes										
TOTAL		Population in Classification	ncluded: all ns: atus: single:	foreign-bo	rn persons i	in the country	for more than one y	ear		
Single Married Widowed Divorced Separated Not stated		(b) Age: all a years; 40-44 years; 75-79 years); 85-89 .(c) Sex: both	ges; under 1 years; 45-49 years; 80-84 years; 90-9 sexes; male;	5 years; 1) years; 50- ! years (wit 4 years; 95 female	5-19 year; 7 54 years; 5 h subtotals ;-99 years; 6	20-24 years; 2 55-59 years; 60 for 1-14 years and 100 years	5-29 years; 30-34 y)-64 years; 65-69 ye ; 15-44 years: and - and over; age not s	ears; 35-39 ars; 70-74 15-84 tated		
Male		Description	:							
(as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")		This tabulati population as predominant it is family-ty assessing and population by household for immigration services. Cro population is	on is useful nd the diffe ly of single ype, may be d projecting y age and so ormation am on housing oss-classific arge and o	in studyin rentials by men and v inferred f the effect: ex. The dat ong the fo requirement ation by co liverse in t	g the nupti country of vomen. The rom such t s of immig ta can be us reign-born nts and the puntry of b he country	ality patterns f birth. Migrat e pattern of m abulation. Th ration on the sed to estimat population so e demand for irth may be m of origin.	of the foreign-born ion sometimes con igration, particular is tabulation is the distribution of the t e the extent of fam o as to assess the in various household ade when the forei	sists ly whether basis for otal ily and npact of goods and gn-born		

P2.1-A Foreign-born population, by marital status, age and sex

~	Foreign-born ₁	<i>L</i>	Not				
Sex and age	population ¹	Employed	Unemploye	d	economicall Not stated active		
	years of age and over		Total	Seeking work for the first time			
Both sexes							
All ages		Population included:	all foreign bor		for more then one year		
Under 15		who are at or above th	e minimum age	adopted for enumerating	the economically		
15-19		active population	e inininani uge	adopted for enamerating	s the economicany		
20-24		Classifications:					
25-29		(a) Usual (or current)	activity status:	economically active emp	loyed, unemployed		
30-34		(total and persons see	king work for th	e first time); not econom	ically active; not stated		
35-39		(b) Age: all ages; und	er 15 years; 15-) 11 years: 15 1	19 years; 20-24 years; 2	5-29 years; 30-34		
40-44		65-69 years: 70-74 ye	ars: 75-79 vear	s: 80-84 vears: 85-89 ve	ars: 90-94 years: 95-99		
45-49		years; and 100 years	and over; age n	ot stated	<i>x</i> rs, <i>y</i> = <i>y</i> = <i>y</i> = <i>x</i> rs, <i>y</i> = <i>y</i>		
50-54		(c) Sex: both sexes; m	ale; female				
55-59							
60-64							
65-69		Description					
70-74		Description:					
75-79		These data provide in	nformation on t	he influence of the fore	eign-born population		
80-84		on the labour market	of the receivin	g country. The labour f	orce participation		
85-89		rates specific for each	h age and sex g	roup are used particula	rly for making labour		
90-94		force projections in c	ountries where	immigration is occurri	ng on a large scale.		
95-99		Comparison with the	economic acti	vity pattern of the nativ	e population provides		
100 and over		information for ident	ifying the relat	ionship of immigration	policy with changes		
Age not stated		in labour- market con	nditions that ma	ay pose special problem	ns of adjustment for		
		immigrants. Compar	ing the unempl	oyment rates for the for	eign-born and native		
Male		populations may help	o in planning fo	or the establishment of r	equisite vocational		
(as for "Both sexes")		and other training pro	ogrammes.				
Female							

P2.2-A Foreign-born population¹ ... years of age and over, by usual (or current) activity status, age and sex stateds

¹ The minimum age adopted by the country for enumerating the economically active population.

P2.3-A Foreign-born population...¹ years of age and over, by educational attainment, age and sex

Sex and educational attainment	Foreign-born	Age (in years)										
	population ¹ of age and over	¹ -9	10-14	15-19	20-24	25-34		95-99	100 and over	Not stated		
Both sexes												
Total												
No schooling		Populatio	on includ	ed: all fore	eign-born	persons	in th	e country	for more that	an one year		
Primary level of education:		and at or	above the	usual age	or entrand	ce into sc	chool					
Started but not completed		(a) Educe	itional att	ainment: n	o schooli	ng; prim	ary l	evel of ea	lucation: star	rted but not		
completed		completed	d; primar	y level co	ompleted;	not sta	ted;	secondar	y level - fir	st cycle of		
Not stated		education	started k	out not con	npleted; s	econd le	evel -	first cycl	e completed;	secondary		
Secondary level of education:		cvcle co	cona cycie mpleted:	e of eaucai not_stated	den starte den third	ea but no level o	n con fedi	npietea; s ucation:	econaary iev first_stage	ei - secona (UNESCO		
First cycle started but not		Internatio	onal Stand	lard Class	ification	of Educa	tion	(ISCED),	category 5)	started but		
completed		not comp	leted; firs	t stage con	npleted r	egardles	s of a	ny educa	tion at the se	econd stage		
First cycle completed		of the third level (ISCED, category 6); not stated; level not stated										
Second cycle started but not		Vears: 35	9 yea -39 vears:	rs; 10-14 • 40-44 vea	years; 1 1rs: 45-49	5-19 yea) vears: '	irs; 2 50-54	20-24 yea vears: 5'	rs; 25-29 ye 5-59 vears: 6	ears; 50-54 0-64 vears:		
completed		65-69 yec	ırs; 70-74	years; 75-	-79 years	; 80-84 y	ears;	85-89 ye	ears; 90-94 ye	ears; 95-99		
Second cycle completed		years; an	d 100 yea	rs and over	r; not stat	ed						
Not stated		. <u>(c)</u> <u>Sex</u> : <u>b</u>	oth sexes;	_male;_fem	ale							
Third level of education:												
First stage not completed												
First stage completed		Descript	ion:									
Not stated		These da	ta provid	e the infor	mation n	eeded to	asse	ss the ed	ucational lev	vel of the		
Level not stated		foreign-b	orn popu	lation and	the relat	ed impa	ct on	the econ	omic and so	cial		
Male		developm	nent of th	e country.	They pr	ovide pr	ofiles	s for com	parison of th	ne present		
(as for "Both sexes")		education	nal attainı	ment of red	cent imm	igrants	with	that of th	e total popul	lation of		
Female		the count	ry. Such	compariso	ons are us	seful in c	leteri	nining in	nmigration p	olicy,		
(as for "Both sexes")		taking in undertak provided attainmen of time ti formulati	to account ing variou by the taint of your rends in thing educa	It the require the require types of bulation is bulation is nger and o heir educational provided the the type of ty	uiremen f econom s useful i lder imm tional att	ts for ic activi n assessi igrants, ainment and pol	educ ty. T ing d whic . The	eated pers he educat ifferences h may pr se profile	sonnel with r tional profile s in the educ rovide some es are useful	respect to e by age ational indication in		

•

 ¹ The lower age-limit should be the usual age for entrance into school.
 ² Regardless of any education at the third level: second stage.

Group 3. Tabulations dealing with household characteristics

P3.1-A Population in households, by household status, age and sex, and institutional population by age and sex¹

Geographical division,	Total	Sex and age(age in years)									
household status,				Both sexes			Male	Female			
institutional population	5-9		100 and	Not	(as for both	(as for both					
					over	stated	sexes)	sexes)			

Total population

Person in a household with at least one family nucleus Husband Wife Lone mother Lone father Child living with both parents Child living with lone mother Child living with lone father	Population included: total population Classifications: (a) Geographical divisions: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division; (iv) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) (b) Household status: husband; wife; lone mother; lone father; child living with both parents; child living with lone mother; child living with lone father; not a member of a family nucleus, distinguishing living with relatives, and living with non-relatives (c) Sex: both sexes; male; female (d) Age: 0-4 years; 5-9 years; five-year age groups up to 95-99 years; and 100 years and over; not stated -(e) Institutional population: total number
Living with relatives Living with non-relatives	Description:
Person in a household with no family nucleus Living alone Living with others Living with sibling(s)	This tabulation provides information on the extent to which persons live with relatives and non- relatives. The classification by age makes it possible to study specific population groups of interest such as dependent children, youth and the elderly, while disaggregation by sex allows gender aspects to come into focus.

Institutional population

Living with other relative(s) Living with non-relative(s)

¹ This tabulation can also be compiled for family status, and also by marital status.

Geographical	То	tal	Type of household												
division and size			One	Ni	uclear	Exte	ended	Com	posite	Unkn	own				
of nousenoia	House- holds	- Popu- pers s lation hou. hol		House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation				
ALL HOUSEHOLDS				Populat	tion includ	led: all mem	bers of hou	seholds							
Households consisting of:				Classifi (a) Geo	cations: graphical d	division: (i) to	otal country	; (ii) each m	ajor civil d	ivision; (iii) each				
1 person				minor c rural fo	ivil division r (i),(ii) an	n; (iv) each p d (iii)	rincipal loc	ality. Distin	iguish betw	een urban d	ınd				
2 persons			(b) Size of household: 1 person; 2 persons; 3 persons; 4 persons; 5 persons; 6												
3 persons				separate	ely, the nur	nber of house	cholds of ea	ch size and i	the aggrega	te populati	on by				
4 persons				size of h (c) Type	ousehold of househ	old: one-pers	son househo	old; nuclear	household;	extended					
5 persons				househo househo	old; compo olds of each	site househol h type and ag	d; unknown gregate pop	i; and, separ oulation by t	ately, the n ype of house	umber of ehold	i				
6 persons					`	_^	~ ~ ~								
7 persons															
8 persons				Descrip	otion:			· ,			1 0				
9 persons				family 1	on house nuclei, but	hold compo	sition take	e into accou ers who are	int not on not part of	ly the nun a family n	ucleus.				
10 persons or more				Further	more, they	set forth th	e relations	hip, if any,	between th	e family n	uclei in				
Not stated			household. It is useful for in-depth examination of the demographic and socia structure of households, which is essential for the formulation of measure designed to improve family living conditions.												

P3.2-A Households and population in households, by size and type of household

P3.3-A	Multi-person	households and	population	n in such h	ouseholds, by	v type and	size of household

Geographical		Total	Households and population in households consisting of											
division and type of household	Multi - person	Population in multi-person	2 persons		3 per	3 persons			10 pers or mo	Not stated				
	house- holds	households	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation			House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation		

TOTAL

Nuclear household

related persons

Extended household

Two or more related

any other person

Two or more related

family nuclei and

without any family

Composite household One family nucleus, related and non-

One family nucleus and

and non-related persons

non-related persons

Two or more related family nuclei, related

Two or more related

family nuclei and non-related persons Two or more nonrelated family nuclei with or without any other persons Related persons without any nuclei and non-related persons Non-related persons **Unknown**

related persons

related persons

Related persons

nuclei

One family nucleus and

family nuclei without

Population included: all members of multi-person households

Classifications:

(a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division; (iv) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii)

(b) Type of household: nuclear household; extended household consisting of (i) one family nucleus and related persons, (ii) two or more related family nuclei without any other person, (iii) two or more related family nuclei and related persons, (iv) related persons without any family nuclei; composite household consisting of (i) one family nucleus, related and non-related persons, (ii) one family nucleus and non-related persons, (iii) two or more related family nuclei, related and non-related persons, (iv) two or more related family nuclei and non-related persons, (v) two or more nonrelated family nuclei with or without any other persons, (vi) related persons without any nuclei and non-related persons, (vii) non-related persons; unknown.

(c) Size of household: 2 persons; 3 persons; 4 persons; 5 persons; 6 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons; 9 persons; 10 persons or more; not stated; and, separately, the number of households of each size and the aggregate population by size of household

Description:

This tabulation provides details on household composition, taking into account not only the number of family nuclei, but also household members who are not part of a family nucleus. Furthermore, it sets forth the relationship, if any, between the family nuclei in multinuclear households and between any nuclei and other members of the household. It gives a more complete indication of household structure. It is particularly useful for countries with complex household structures. Hence, it is useful for in-depth examination of the demographic and social structure of households.

P3.4-A Households and population in households, by size of household and number of members under ... years of age¹

Geographical	Total	tal Households with indicated number of children													
division and	House-	Popu-	()	1			4		5 or n	ıore	Not state	ed		
size of nousenoia	holds	lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation		House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	- House- n holds	Pop ulation		
ALL HOUSEHOLDS															
Households consisting of:	Populat Classifie (a) Geog (iv) each	assifications:) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division;) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii)) Size of household: 1 person, 2 persons; 3 persons; 4 persons; 5 persons; 6 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons of persons in the persons of the persons; 6 persons; 6 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons of persons in the persons; 7 persons; 8 persons of persons; 6 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons of persons; 6 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons of persons; 7 persons; 8 persons of persons; 7 persons; 8 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 7 persons; 8 persons; 7 persons; 7 per													
1 person	(b) Size persons;	of househo 9 persons	old: 1 pers ; 10 perso	on, 2 pe ons or m	rsons; 3 p ore; not s	ersons; tated; ar	4 persor 1d, separ	is; 5 person ately, the n	is; 6 pers umber oj	sons; 7 pe f househo	rsons; 8 lds of ea	8 ach size			
2 persons	and the c	nd the aggregate population by size of household c) Number of children: 0; 1; 2; 3; 4; 5 or more; not stated													
3 persons															
4 persons	Descrip This tat	tion: oulation re	efers to a	ll mem	bers of l	nouseho	lds; dat	a are then	disaggr	egated b	y geogi	raphical			
5 persons	division	. It could ically acti	l supplem	ent tab	ulations ie numbe	on ecou r of hou	nomic c sehold i	haracterist	ics by s elow the	showing age at w	the nur hich ec	mber of conomic			
6 persons	activity	usually t	begins.	With th	ese data	, the ra	tio of a	active hou	sehold i	members	to not	n-active			
7 persons	separate age, by	ly compusize of h	ted accor ousehold,	ding to are als	househo	ld size. in plan	Data o ning for	n the num the meeti	ber of c	children b ousehold	nig age below v needs	working and for			
8 persons	househo	old welfare	e measure	s.											
9 persons															
10 persons or more															
Not stated															

¹ The minimum age adopted by the country for enumerating the economically active population.

Sex and age	Total	Total Population aged under 18 years by whether									
		Living with both parents	Living with mother alone	Living with father alone	Living with neither parent	Not stated					
Both sexes ¹											
Total 0-4 years 5-9 years 10-14 years 15-17 years Males		Population incl Classifications: (a) Geographica division; (iv) ea (b) Living arran alone; living win (c) Age: total; 0 (d) Sex: both se:	uded: population un al division: (i) total of ch principal locality gements: living with th neither parent; no -4 years; 5-9 years; xes; male; female	der 18 years o country; (ii) ea . Distinguish a both parents; ot stated 10-14 years; .	of age uch major civil between urban living with mo 15-17 years; no	division; (iii) each minor civil and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) ther alone; living with father t stated					
Total											
0-4 years		Description:									
5-9 years		This tabulation	provides informati	on that can b	e used to study	the extent to which children					
10-14 years 15-17 years		live with their used in studies is shared betw	mothers and father of children's well- een mothers and f	ers, one or ne being and als fathers. The o	wither parent. The so of child-ream classifications	This information can also be ring responsibility and how it by age and also by sex are					
Females		important for st	tudying age and gen	nder differend	es on this topi	c.					
Total											
0-4 years 5-9 years 10-14 years 15-17 years											

P3.5-A Household population under 18 years of age, by age and sex and by whether living with both parents, mother alone, father alone, or neither parent

¹ Other age groupings may be used, and if possible data should be shown by single years of age.

P3.6-A Households and population in households, by sex, by size and type of household and number of persons 60 years of age and over

Number of persons 60 years of	Total	Size of household											
age and over, type of household, sex	House-holds	Popu-	1		2		3			10	+	Not s	tated
		lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- Popu- holds lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation
Total population			Populat	ion incl	uded po		in households						
None One person 0 1 Nuclear 0 1 2			Classific (a) Geog division; (b) Size persons; (c) Numi (d) Sex: Descrip	cations: graphica (iv) eac of house 8 perso ber of pe both sex	al division ch princip chold: 1 p ons; 9 per ersons 60 ces; male	: (i) tota al locali erson; 2 sons; 10 years of ; female	l country; (ii) e (ty. Distinguish persons; 3 pers persons or mor age and over: 1	ach majo urban ai ons; 4 po ce; not sta none; 1 p – – – – –	or civil a nd rura ersons; ated person;	livision; l for (i), 5 persor 2 person 	(iii) eau (ii) and as; 6 pe as; 3 or	ch minos (iii) rsons; 7 more pe	r civil rsons
2 3+ Extended 0 1 2 3+			Data on importat provide househo availabi	living nt for a materia olds, wit lity of c	arrangen assessing al for th th particu other pers	nents fo their v le study llar refer ons in th	or the elderly, vell-being in t of the distril rence to those he household for	one of erms of bution c living al or taking	the spo whom of the one, wl g care o	ecific po they li elderly hich can f the eld	opulatio ive wit by size be use lerly.	on grou h. Tabu e and t ed to ass	ps, are ilations ype of sess the
Composite 0 1 2 3+													
Males (As for "Total population")													
Females (As for "Total population")													

Group 4. Tabulations dealing with demographic and social characteristics

P4.1-A Population, by religion, age and sex

.

Geographical division,	All ages	Age (in years)										
sex and religion		Under 5	5-9	10-14		95-99	100 and over	Not stated				
Both sexes												
TOTAL	Populat Classifi (a) Geog	tion included: tot cations: graphical division	al populat : (i) total	ion country; (i	ii) each	major civil	division					
[Each religion (and sect, if desired) of significance in the country]	(b) Relig no relig (c) Age: years ar (d) Sex:	gion: each religio ion; not stated all ages; under 5 id over; not stated both sexes; male	n (and sec 5 years; 5- ; female_	ct, if desire 9 years;	ed) of sig . five-ye 	gnificance i ar age gro	in the country ups up to 95-	v; all others; 99 years; 100				
All others												
No religion	Descrip The rela	otion:	-sex distr	ibution of	f the dif	ferent reli	tious groups	in the				
Not stated	country	provides inform	ation on copulation.	ountries v These da	where the are u	here are signseful for f	gnificant religion	gious gation of				
Male	the inte	rrelationship betw	veen these	e characte	ristics a	and religio	us belief or a	affiliation.				
(as for "Both sexes")												
Female												

P4.2-A Population, by language (mother tongue, usual language or ability to speak one or more languages), age and sex

Geographical division,	All	Age (in years)												
sex and language	ages	Under 5	5-9	10-14		95-99	100 and over	Not stated						
Both sexes					· - <u></u> -									
TOTAL		Populatio	n includ tions:	ed: total po	pulation									
		(a) Geogra	aphical d vinal loca	livision: (i) t dity	otal cou	ntry; (ii) each	major civil div	ision; (iii)						
(Each language or		(b) Language: each language or combination of languages for which separate information is required; all others; not stated												
combination of languages														
for which separate		(c) Age: all ages; under 5 years; 5-9 years; five-year age groups up to 95- 99 years; and 100 years and over; not stated (d) Sex: both sexes; male; female												
information is required)														
All others														
Not stated		Descripti	on:											
Mala		Data on m	nother to	ngue are us	eful as a	an index to na	ational and/or	ethnic						
(as for "Both sexes)		groups, w individual	groups, whose existence is often reflected in the mother tongue of individuals long after those persons have assimilated other customs of the											
Female		majority o	of the co	untry's pop	ulation.	Data on usua	l language pro	vide a						
(as for "Both sexes")		measure o When con the study	measure of the linguistic homogeneity or differences in the population. When combined with data on place of birth, they are particularly useful in the study of rates of assimilation of the foreign horn population, which are											
		indicate th	ie nossił	ole need for	measur	es to encoura	ge such assim	ilation						
		Informatio	on on ab	ility to spea	ik one o	r more design	nated language	es is						
		needed in	connect	ion with ha	ndling p	problems of c	ommunicating	with and						
		educating	linguist	ic minoritie	s. Such	data are espe	ecially importa	int in						
		countries	where m	ore than or	e officia	al language is	s recognized an	nd						
		decisions	must be	taken abou	t the lan	guage to be i	used in schools	s, in						
		official co	ommunic	ations and	so on. T	abulation of	persons unable	e to speak						
		the officia	ıl langua	ge of the co	ountry, a	according to t	heir usual lang	guage, is						
		particular	ly useful	in connect	ion with	planning for	teaching the o	official						
		languaga	of the oc											

P4.3-A	Population.	by national	and/or	ethnic group	, age and sex ¹
1 10 11	i opulation,	by manomal	unu/or	cunne Si oup	, uge and bea

Geographical division,	All ages	Age (in ye	Age (in years)									
sex and national and/or ethnic group		Under 5	5-9	10-14		95-99	100 and over	Not stated				
Both sexes TOTAL (Each national and/or ethnic group for which information is required) All others		Populatio Classifica (a) Geogra (b) Nation informatio (c) Age: a 95-99 yeau (d) Sex: b	n include tions: aphical di al and/or n is requi all ages; u rs; and 10 oth sexes;	d: total poj vision: (i) ta ethnic grou ired, all otha nder 5 year 0 years ana male; femo	pulation ptal con p: eac ers, not s; 5-9 y l over; ile	n untry; (ii) o ch group fo t stated years; fi not stated	each major civ r which separ ve-year age gr	ril division ate roups up to				
Not stated		Descripti	on:									
Male (as for "Both sexes) Female (as for "Both sexes")		For countries that are not ethnically homogeneous, this tabulation provides the basic information for a quantitative assessment of the relative size and age-sex distribution of the different national and/or ethnic groups. These data are the basis for further investigation of other characteristics of each group, which is needed in order to determine the variables connected with ethnic affiliation and to formulate policies designed to alleviate the social and economic handicaps affecting some of the groups.										

¹ Depending on national circumstances, a similar table may be compiled to show indigenous populations. 311

Group 5. Tabulations dealing with fertility and mortality

P 5.1-A Female population 10 years of age and over in their first marriage/union or married only once, by five-year duration of marriage/union group and number of children ever born alive by sex

Geographical division and duration of marriage/union (in years)	Total number of females		Female population with indicated number of children Tota ever born alive of ch ever alive a								
		0	1	2		10	11	12 or more	Not stated		
Total country											
CHILDREN, Both sexes		Population (If the popul Classificatio	included: fe lation include ons:	emale popula ed is restricte	tion 10 year d to ever-m	rs of age and arried femal	over in thes, this fac	eir first mar t should be	riage/union or clearly stated.)	married only once.	
TOTAL		(a) Geograp between urb (b) Duration	onical division oan and rural 1 of marriage	n: (1) total co for (1), (11) a v/union: 0-4	ountry; (11) e end (iii) years; 5-9 y	each major c ears; 10-14	vil divisio years; 15-	n; (111) each 19 years; 20)-24 years; 25-	livision. Distinguish 29 years; 30-34	
0-4 years		years; 35 ye (c) Sex: both	ars and over h sexes; male	; not stated. e and female	children ev	er born alive	2				
5-9		(d) Number children; 8 d	d) Number of children ever born alive: 0; 1 child; 2 children; 3 children; 4 children; 5 children; 6 children; 7 hildren: 8 children: 9 children: 10 children: 11 children; 12 or more children: not stated: and, separately, the								
10-14		aggregate n	umber of chi	ldren ever be	orn alive to	women in ea	ch age_cat	egory			
15-19											
20-24		Description	n:								
25-29		The data are	e used to est	imate fertili	ty levels an	d patterns.	This tabu	lation may	be compiled i	n countries where	
30-34		distorts fert	ility/mortali	ty estimates	based on c	hildren ever	r born and	children li	ving by age of	f women. This	
35 and over		tabulation p	provides, for	women in t	heir first m	arriage, and	for wido	wed, divord	ed and separa	ted women who	
Not stated		with the rec useful for s	with the recommended table P5.1-R. In countries where most births are legitimate, the tabulation is particular useful for studies of trends in legitimate births, in association with information derived from current civil birth								
CHILDREN, Males		because of the information it provides on years of exposure to the fisk of pregnancy.									
(Age groups as above)										
CHILDREN,											
Females											
(Age groups as above)										

Geographical division, current age	Females with no births		Female population by age at first birth							Median age at first birth	
(in years), urban/rural	no birtili	Total	Total 10-14 15-17 18-19 20-21 22-24 25 and over Not stated								
TOTAL COUNTRY 10 years and over,		Populatio married fe Classifica	n included : males, this f tions:	female pop act should	bulation 10 be clearly s	years of ag tated.)	e and over	r. (If the invest	gation is restr	icted to ever-	
total 10-14 years ¹ 15-19 ² 20-24 25-29 30-34		(a) Geogra (b) Place a (c) Age at over; not s .females wi	aphical divis of residence. first birth: ta stated; and, . ithout_childr	ion: (i) tota (i) urban; otal; 10-14 separately, e <u>n; and me</u>	al country; (ii) rural years; 15-1 the total nu dian_age_at	(ii) each m 17 years; 1 mber of fe first_birth	ajor civil d 8-19 years males with fo <u>r each c</u>	division s; 20-21 years; a at least one cl ategory	22-24 years; hild and the to	25 years and tal number of	
40-44 45-49 50 years and over Not stated URBAN Age groups (Same as above)		Descripti The begin of first bin fertility de backgroun respect to	on: ning of the rths, reflecti ecline. From ad can be ca the onset o	childbearin ng a rise ir n this table ilculated. T f childbear	ng period i n age at ma e, the distri The urban/n ing.	s an impor arriage, car bution of : rural classi	rtant deter n make an females b fication v	rminant of fert i important coi y age at first b vill lead to stu	ility levels. P ntribution to (irth by urban dy of differer	ostponement overall and rural atials with	
RURAL Age groups (Same as above)											

P5.2-A Female population, by age at first birth, by current age and place of residence

 ¹ May not be possible to calculate because less than 50 per cent of females in this age group may not have had a birth at the initial age of the indicated age group.
 ² May not be possible to calculate because less than 50 per cent of females in this age group may not have had a birth at the initial age of

the indicated age group.

P5.3-A Median ag	ge at first birth, b	y current age of	f women, place o	f residence and	educational	attainment
------------------	----------------------	------------------	------------------	-----------------	-------------	------------

Geographical division,	Median age at first birth by current age of females										
place of residence, and educational attainment	Total	10-14 years ¹	15-19 ²	20-24	25-29	30-34	35-39		95-99	100 and over	Not stated
TOTAL COUNTRY											
Urban residence Rural residence		Populati alive. (I clearly st Classific	on include f the popu ated.) ations:	d: female lation incl	populatio uded is r	on 10 year restricted	rs of age a to ever-m	arried	er with at females	t least one cl , this fact sl	nild born hould be
EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT		(a) Geog (b) Place	rapnicai ai of residen	vision: (i) ce: (i) urb	total coui an; (ii) ru	ntry; (11) e vral	eacn majo	r civii	aivision		
No schooling		(c) Educational attainment: no schooling; primary level started but not completed; primary level completed; first cycle of secondary level started but not completed; first cycle of secondary level completed; second cycle of secondary level started but not completed; second									
Primary level of education: Started but not completed Primary level of education completed		cycle of secondary level completed, second cycle of secondary level surfed but hol completed; second cycle of secondary level completed (regardless of any education at the third level); level r stated (d) Age: total; 10-14 years; 15-19 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 year 40-44 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 year; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 years; 70-74 yea 7575-79 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; and 100 years and ow not stated								level not 39 years; 74 years; nd over; 	
Secondary level of education: ³ First cycle started but not completed First cycle completed Second cycle started but not completed Second cycle completed		Descrip The age indicator birth, wh group of women:	tion: at which c i increases hich is the `women, is urban; rura	hildbearin , then a de age by wh s suggeste al; educat	ng starts i celine in f nich 50 po d for con ional atta	is an imp fertility is er cent of nparison inment.	ortant der s likely to f women l purposes	nograj occui have h by ba	phic indi The m ad their ckgroun	icator. If thi edian age a first child f d characteri	s t first or any stics of

Level not stated

¹ May not be possible to calculate because less than 50 per cent of females in this age group may not have had a birth at the initial age of the indicated age group. ² Median age may not be calculated for this group because less than 50 per cent of women in the age group may have had a first child

at 15 years of age.

³ Regardless of any education at the third level.

P5.4-A Mothers 10 years of age and over with at least one child under 15 years of age living in the same household, by age of mother and by sex and age of children

and age of mother (in years) number of mothers Total lunder Under 1 2 13 14 Nor stated Total country ¹ CHLDREN, Both sexes Total country ¹ Total country ¹ 1 1 Nor stated 10 Forpulation included: mothers: 10 years of age and over with at least one child under 15 years iof age living in the same household. (If the mothers included are restricted to ever-married intermediate drivision. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i). (ii) and (iii) 12 Classifications: 10 years: 35-39 years; 30-44 years; 45-49 years; 35-59 years; 39 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; and over; not stated (i) Sec: both sexes: inde and finde children 16 (i) Sec: both sexes: inde and finde children 18 ywar; 2 years; 13 years; 9 years; 10 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 11 years; 12 years; 11 years; 12 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 10	Geographical division	Total Children by age (in years) and sex								
If years Total country ¹ CILLIDREN, Both sexes TOTAL 10 years and over 10 Fopulation included: mothers 10 years of age and over with at least one child under 15 years of age living in the same household. (If the mothers included are restricted to ever-married inducts, this fact should be clearly stated.) 12 Classifications: 13 (a) Geographical division; (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (h), (ii) and (iii) 10-14 (b) Age of mothers: 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 12 years; 23 years; 45.49 years; 50.54 16 years; 55.59 years; 60.64 years; 65.69 years; 70 years and over; not stated 17 (d) Age of conducts; 10 years of age and over (shown busted) 18 year; 2 years; 14 years; 2 years; 69 years; 9 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; mot stated 15-19 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age bing in the same household (shown by single years of age) fing in the same household (shown by single years of age) fing in the same household (shown by single years of age) fing in the same household (shown by single years of age) fing in the same household (shown by single years of age) fing	and age of mother (in years)	number of mothers	Total under	Under	1	2		13	14	Not stated
Total country! CHILDREN, Both sexes TOTAL. 10 years and over 10 io age living in the same household. (If the mothers included are restricted to ever-married mothers, this fact should be clearly stated.) 11 13 (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate division. Divingish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) 10-14 (b) Age of mothers: 10 years; 12 years. 32 years; 30-44 years; 35-49 years; 30-44 years; 45-49 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 12 years; 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; 15 years; 5 years; 9 years; 10 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 12 years; 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; 14 years; 15 years; 6 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years of age into in the same household (hown by single years of age indirect class one child under 15 years of age invision in the same household (hown by single years of age indirect form in the same household (hown by single years of age indirect form) in the same household (hown by single years of age indirect form) in the same household (hown by single years of age indirect form) in the same household (hown by single years of age indirect form) method. 28 29 25 26 26 27		<u> </u>	15 years	1 year						
CHILDREN, both sexes TOTAL. 10 years and over 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; 4 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 12 years; 11 years; 12 years; 10 years; 12 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 12 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 yea	Total country ¹									
TOTAL 10 years and over Population included: mothers 10 years of age and over with at least one child under 15 years of age living in the same household. (If the mothers included are restricted to ever-married mothers, its fact should be clearly stated.) 12 Classifications: 13 (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate division. To years: 11 years: 12 years single years to 29 (with subtotals for 10-intermediate division: 0.000 years; 0.0000 years	CHILDREN, Both sexes									
10 Fopulation included: mothers to lyears of age and over with at least one child under 15 years 11 of age living in the same household. (If the mothers included are restricted to ever-married mothers, this fact should be clearly stated.) 12 (Classifications: 13 (a) Geographical division: (i) total country: (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) 14 intermediate division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) 16 (b) Age of mothers: 10 years; 12 years: 35-39 years; 0-49 years; 50-54 years; 35-39 years; 0-49 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 16 (c) Sex: both sexes; male and fenale children 17 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; inder 1 year; 1 18 (c) Sex: both sexes; male and fenale children 19 12 years; 13 years; 4 years; 5 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 20 11 21 22 22 Description: 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28	TOTAL 10 years and over	·=								
11 To age truing in this fact should be clearly stated. 12 inothers, this fact should be clearly stated. 13 (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (i) and (iii) 14 (b) Age of nothers: 10 years; 12 years. 3: alge years to 29 (with subtoals for 10-14 (i) (b) Age of nothers: 10 years; 12 years. 3: alge years to 29 (with subtoals for 10-14 (i) (s) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; and years; 10 years; 10 years; 10 years; and over; not stated 16 (c) Sex: both sexes; male and female children 17 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; under 1 year; 1 19 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; 5 years; 6 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 11 years; 11 years; 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; port stated 20 12 21 22 22 23 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age of statished by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 25 age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method.	10	Population inclu	ded: mothers 10 year	s of age and (over wi	th at lea	ast one cl	to over r	er 15 years	
12 Classifications: 13 (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) 10-14 (b) Age of mothers: 10 years: 11 years; 12 years: .single years to 29 (with subtotals for 10-15 15 (a) 20-24 and 25 29 years; 30-34 years; 53-99 years; 40-49 years; 50-54 16 (c) Sex: hoth sexes: made and fendle children 17 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; under 1 year; 1 18 'years; 3 years; 4 years; 5 years; 5 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; not stated 16 (c) Sex: hoth sexes; made and fendle children 17 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 13 years; 6 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; not stated 20 11 21 22 22 23 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years and ge) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 <t< td=""><td>11</td><td>mothers this fact</td><td>should be clearly state</td><td>ed)</td><td>menude</td><td>u ale ie</td><td>estituteu</td><td>to ever-i</td><td>liallicu</td><td></td></t<>	11	mothers this fact	should be clearly state	ed)	menude	u ale ie	estituteu	to ever-i	liallicu	
13 {a) Geographical division: (i) total country: (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each intermediate division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) 10-14 {b) Age of mothers: 1D years: 1D years: 2D years: single years to 29 (with subtotals for 10- 15 {1/1, 15-19, 20-24 and 25-29 years; 0D years; 0D years; 0D years; 1D years; id -4 years; 55-39 years; 0D years;	12	Classifications:		-u.)						
14 intermediate division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (1), (ii) and (iii) 10-14 (b) Age of mothers: 10 years; 12 years;, single years to 20 (with subtoals for 10-	13	(a) Geographical	division: (i) total cou	ntry; (ii) each	ı major	civil di	vision; (i	iii) each		
10-14 (b) Age of mothers: 10 years; 11 years; 12 years: single years; 10 -90 (with subioids for 10- 14; 15: 19, 20-24 and 25: 29 years; 10: 30-34 years; 35: 39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 67-69 years; 70 years and over; not stated (c) Sex: both sexes; male and female children 17 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; under 1 year; 1 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; 10 years; 11 years; 19 18 year; 2 years; 3 years; 4 years; 5 years; 6 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; not stated 20 11 21 22 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years from 10 to 29 years and by five-year age groups), with at least one child under 15 years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 64 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHLIDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	14	intermediate divi	sion. Distinguish betw	veen urban ar	ıd rural	for (i),	(ii) and	(iii)		
15 (1, 1)-19, 20/24 till 23-29 years; (0)-39 years; (0)-49 years, (1)-49 years, (1)-49 years, (1)-49 years, (1)-49 years, (1)-49 years, (1) years; (1) y	10-14	(b) Age of mother	rs: 10 years; 11 years and 25, 20 years); 20	; 12 years 24 years	single y	ears to A_{0}	29 (with	subtotal	ls for 10-	
16 Intervent of the sets in male and female children 17 I(d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; under 1 year; 1 18 Iyears; 2 years; 3 years; 5 years; 7 years; 8 years; 7 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 19 Izyears; 13 years; 14 years; not stated 20 Its table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25.2529 30.34 35.39 40.44 45.49 5.59 60-64 65.69 70 and over Not stated CHLIDREN, Males CAge groups as above)	15	14; 15-19, 20-24	ana 25-29 years); 50- rs: 60-64 years: 65-69	54 years; 55- vears: 70 ve	39 year ars and	s; 40-4 over: n	4 years; ot stated	45-49 ye 1	ears; 50-54	
17 (d) Age of children living with their natural mother: total under 15 years; under 1 year; 1 18 (year; 2 years; 3 years; 4 years; 5 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 19 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; not stated 20 12 21 22 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age living in the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30.34 35-39 40.44 45-49 50.54 55-59 60.64 62-69 70 and over 70 and over Not stated CHLLDREN, Males (Age groups as above)	16	(c) Sex: both sexe	es; male and female ch	ildren	ars and	0101, 1	ior stated	·		
18 year; 2 years; 3 years; 4 years; 5 years; 6 years; 7 years; 8 years; 9 years; 10 years; 11 years; 19 12 years; 13 years; 14 years; not stated 15-19 20 21 22 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 55-59 60-64 66-69 67 0 and over Not stated CHLLDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHLLDREN, Females	17	(d) Age of childre	en living with their nat	ural mother:	total un	der 15	years; ı	under 1 y	ear; 1	
19 -12 years; 13 years; 14 years; not stated 15-19 20 21 22 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 70 and over Not stated CHLIDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHLIDREN, Females	18	year; 2 years; 3 y	vears; 4 years; 5 years	; 6 years; 7 y	ears; 8	years;	9 years;	10 years	; 11 years;	
15-19 20 21 22 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 26 geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30.34 35-39 40.44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 66-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females	19	<u>12 years; 13 year</u>	rs; <u>14 years; not state</u> a	! 						
20 21 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years from 10 to 29 years and by five-year age groups), with at least one child under 15 years of age diving in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 4549 50-54 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHLIDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHLIDREN, Females (Age mouse as above)	15-19									
21 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 26 geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 30-34 5-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHLLDREN, Males (Age groups as above)	20									
22 23 Description: 24 This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age low of the table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 26 geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 9 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above)	21									
23Description:24This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years from 10 to 29 years and by five-year age groups), with at least one child under 15 years of age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method.26geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method.282925-2930-3435-3940-4445-4950-5450-5455-5960-6465-6970 and over Not statedCHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above)CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)CHILDREN, Females	22	Decorintion								
24This table refers to the female population 10 years of age and over (shown by single years20-24from 10 to 29 years and by five-year age groups), with at least one child under 15 years of25age living in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by26geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate27fertility by the "own-children" method.282925-2930-3435-3940-4445-4950-5450-5455-5960-6465-6970 and overNot statedCHILDREN, Males(Age groups as above)CHILDREN, Females	23	Description:		. 10	c	1	(1	1		
20-24 Itom to to 29 years and by inve-year age proups), with at react one clinic under 15 years of age of the provides data to estimate for the provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 26 geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females	24	I his table refers	to the female popula	ition 10 years	s of age	e and o	ver (sho	wn by s	ingle years	
25 age nvmg in the same household (shown by single years of age) distributed by geographical divisions and place of residence. This tabulation provides data to estimate fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females	20-24	age living in t	he same household	(shown by	single	vears	of and	a under	buted by	
26 geographical a training and provide and to contained 27 fertility by the "own-children" method. 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	25	geographical di	visions and place of	residence T	his tab	ulation	nrovide	es data i	to estimate	
2/ 28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	26	fertility by the "	own-children" metho	d.			provid	os aata		
28 29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females	27	5 5								
29 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females	28									
25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females	29									
30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	25-29									
35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	30-34									
40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	35-39									
43-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	40-44									
50-34 55-59 60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	43-49									
60-64 65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	55 50									
65-69 70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	55-59 60.64									
70 and over Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	65 60									
Not stated CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	70 and over									
CHILDREN, Males (Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	Not stated									
(Age groups as above) CHILDREN, Females (Age groups as above)	CHILDREN Males									
CHILDREN, Females	(Age groups as above)									
(Age groups as above)	CHILDREN. Females									
	(Age groups as above)									

¹ This tabulation should be compiled for (i) total country, (ii) each major civil division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i) and (ii).

P5.5-A	Female population to 49 years of age by age, number of live births by sex within the 12 months preceding
	the census and educational attainment

Geographical division, age (in years)	Total females ¹ to 49 years of age	Live births in past 12 months					
and educational attainment	• •	Total	Males	Females			
Total country All levels of education TOTAL, ¹ and over Under 10 years ² 10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 Not stated	 Population included: female population is restricted to ever-marrie Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total continuemediate division. Distinguish between the population of male births; total number of male births; total number of male births; total number of (c) Age: total; under 10 years; 10-14 30-34 years; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; (d) Educational attainment: no school primary level completed; first cycle of secondary level completed; second cycle of secondary 	tion between t on current fer d females, this puntry; (ii) ead tween urban a onths precedin of female birth years; 15-19 s; 45-49 years ling; primary f secondary leve cond cycle of level complete	he minimum ag tility and 49 yea fact should be th major civil di nd rural for (i), g the census: to years; 20-24 yea ; not stated level started but yee started but n secondary level ed (regardless of	e limit adopted by urs of age (If the clearly stated.) vision; (iii) each (ii) and (iii) otal number; total ars; 25-29 years; t not completed; ot completed; first started but not of any education at			
No schooling (age groups as above) Primary level of education: Started but not completed (Age groups as above) Primary level of education completed (Age groups as above) Secondary level of education: First cycle started but not completed (Age groups as above) First cycle completed (Age groups as above) Second cycle started but not completed (Age groups as above) Second cycle started but not completed (Age groups as above) Second cycle completed (Age groups as above) Level not stated (Age groups as above)	Description: This tabulation refers to female pop adopted by the country for collectin years of age distributed among geog investigating differentials in current mortality rates by the educational at important as a supplement to vital ra birth and death registration is defect	ulation betwe g information graphical divis age-specific tainment of n ates or as an e tive or inadeq	en the minimum on current fert sions. It also pr fertility rates a nothers. It is pa estimation for the uate.	m age limit tility and 49 rovides data for nd current infant rticularly hese rates where			

 ¹ The minimum age adopted by the country for census questions on current fertility.
 ² All ages between the minimum age adopted by the country for census questions on current fertility if the minimum age is under 10 years.

³ Regardless of any education at the third level.

P5.6-A	Population	with	mother alive	(or	dead), by ag	e
1 2.0-11	1 opulation	** 1011	mounci anve	(UI	ucau), by ag	, v

Geographical division,	Total	Statu	us of natural mother ¹	
and age (in years)	population	Living	Dead	Not stated
Total country				
Both sexes				
All ages Under 1 year 1-4 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44	Population included Classifications: (a) Geographical a intermediate division (b) Mother alive (or (c) Sex: total; male; (d) Age: all ages; un 25-29 years; 30-34 y 60-64 years; 65-69 y years; 30-34 years; years; 65-69 years; 5 years; 100 years and	1: total population livision: (i) total country; (i. a. Distinguish between urban and dead): natural mother living; na female der 1 year; 1-4 years; 5-9 years; ears; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; ears; 70-74 years; (d) Age: 10-1 35-39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 70-74 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 y l over; not stated	i) each major civil division d rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) tural mother dead; not stated 10-14 years; 15-19 years; 20- 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55 4 years; 15-19 years; 20-24 ye years; 50-54 year; 55-59 year years; 85-89 years; 90-94 year	: (iii) each 24 years; 59 years; ears; 25-29 s; 60-64 s; 95-99
45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100 and over	Description: This tabulation prov mortality, particular The tabulation may fathers.	vides data for estimating the lev ly in countries where death reg be extended to estimate adult r	vels and patterns of adult fem gistration is defective or non- male mortality from data on s	ale existent. survival of
100 and over				
Not stated				
Males				
As for both sexes				
Females				
As for both sexes				

¹ Tabulation should be based on responses of the eldest surviving child of its mother only and this fact should be clearly stated.

Group 6. Tabulations dealing with educational characteristics

P6.1-A Population that has successfully completed a course of study at the third level of education, by educational qualifications, age and sex

Geographical	Total population that	_			Age (ir	ı years	5)		
division, sex and educational qualifications	has successfully completed a course of study at the third level of education	Under 20	20-24	25-29	30-34		95-99	100 and over	Not stated

Both sexes

ALL FIELDS OF EDUCATION (Classification of degrees, diplomas, certificates and so forth adopted by the country) General ¹ Teacher training Education science and teacher training ¹ Fine and applied arts Humanities ¹ Religion and theology ¹ Social and behavioural sciences Commercial and pusiness administration	 Population included: all persons who have successfully completed a course of study at the third level of education Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each principal locality (b) Educational qualifications: highest degree, diploma, certificate and so forth acquired and field of education (c) Field of study (d) Age: under 20 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 years; 70-74 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; 100 years and over; not stated (e) Sex: both sexes; male; female
Business administration and related programmes 1 Law and jurisprudence Natural science Mathematical and computer science Medical diagnostic and treatment 1 Medical science 1 Trade, craft and industrial Engineering Architectugal and town	Description: These data supplement the data from recommended tabulation P6.1 by providing an important indicator of the nature of the skilled manpower available in the country. It allows estimates to be made of the stock and expected inflow of skilled manpower in different fields, for comparison with the skilled manpower needs of various sectors of the economy. The addition to the tabulation of a classification by occupation and by industry would furnish a useful supplement to tabulations on economic characteristics (group 7) by making information available on the extent to

which specific skills are being used in the economic structure.

Male (as for "Both sexes")

Agricultural, forestry and

Home economics (domestic

Transport and commu-

planning

fishing

science)

nications 1 Service trades Mass communication and documentation Other fields Not stated

Female (as for "Both sexes")

¹ As for "All fields of education".

P6.2-A Population 15 years of age and over, by field of education, age and sex

Geographical division,	Total popu-	Age (in years)					
sex and field of education	lation 15 years						
	and over	15-19	20-24	25-29		100 and over	Not stated

Both sexes TOTAL, All fields of education General programmes Education Humanities and Arts Social sciences, Business and Law Science Engineering, Manufacturing and Construction Agriculture Health and Welfare Services Not known or unspecified Male (Same as for "Both sexes")	 Population included: all persons aged 15 years and over Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i) and (ii) (b) Field of education: The term "field of education" refers to the "broad groups of education" as presented in the most recent (1997) release of the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED). For fields of education within the broad groups, refer to the latest release of UNESCO's ISCED (c) Age: total 15 years and over; 15-19 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; 100 years and over; not stated (but 15 years and over) (d) Sex: both sexes; male; female
Female (Same as for "Both sexes")	Description: Data on field of study provide an important indication of the areas of

Data on field of study provide an important indication of the areas of specialization of the adult population and more particularly of qualified human resources available in the country. They provide input for estimate and projections of the stock and expected new entrants into the labour market with different specialization which, when matched with the skills needed in various sectors of the economy, can help to establish more effective education, training and employment policies for optimum development and utilization of human resources. Data on field of study when cross-classified with occupation and industries can furnish valuable information on the extent to which the qualified human resources with specific skills are being utilized in the national economy.

Group 7: Tabulations dealing with economic characteristics

P7.1-A Usually (or currently) active population, by activity status, cross-classified by main status in employment, place of work, main occupation and sex

Geographical division, activity status, place of	Total	Main status in employment							
work, sex and main occupation	economically active	Employer	Own- account worker	Employee	Unpaid family worker	Member of producers' cooperative	Persons not classifiable by status		
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION Both seves									
All places of work Sub-major group 11 Minor group 111 Minor group 112 (etc.) Sub-major group 21 Minor group 212 (etc.) Sub-major group 91 Minor group 911 Minor group 912		Population in enumerating ti Classification (a) Geographi iminor civil div for (i), (ii) ana (b) Activity sta unemployed (a (c)Status in en worker; memb (d) Sex: both s (e) Occupation Standard Class other words, tu (f) Place of wo	cluded: popu he economica is: ical division: vision; (iv) ea l (iii) utus - usual (c listinguishing poloyment: en er of produce exes; male; f n: according sification of hree-digit) le ork: work at h	Ilation at or abo Illy active popu (i) total countr ch principal lo current) activity g persons who e nployer; own-a ers' cooperative emale to, or convertil Occupations (I. vel nome; no fixed	ove the minin ilation y; (ii) each n cality. Distin y: total econo ever and neve account work e; persons no ble to, the lat SCO-88), at place of work	num age adopted najor civil divisio, guish between ur omically active; e. er worked before) er; employee; un ot classifiable by s est revision of the least to the minor k; fixed place of v	for n; (iii) each ban and rural mployed; y; not stated vaid family status e International groups (in vork outside		
<pre>(etc.) Sub-major group 01 Minor group 011 Work at home (as for "All places of work") No fixed place of work (as for "All places of work") Fixed place, outside home (as for "All places of work") Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")</pre>		Description: This tabulatic places outside workers' hom divisions, are development networks of r	on gives an in e individuals les. Compari also useful f in the form e oads.	ndication of th ' home, espec isons between for determinin either of busin	e nature of v ially the emj urban and r g which area ess structure	work being unde ployers and own ural, or other adr as might need in as and related fac	rtaken in -account ninistrative frastructure silities or of		
EMPLOYED As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE As for total economically active population									

P7.2-A Usually (or currently) active population, by activity status, cross-classified by institutional sector of employment, main industry and sex

Geographical division,	Total	Institutional sector of employment							
sex, activity status, and main industry	economi- cally active	Non-financial corporations	Financial corporations	General government	Non-profit institutions	Household sector			
TOTAL ECONOMI-									
CALLY ACTIVE POPULATION		Population included: economically active p	population at or ab opulation	ove the minimum ag	ge adopted for en	umerating the			
Both sexes		Classifications:	• (•) • • • •	(···) 1 ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	,, I			
Division 01		(a) Geographical divi.	sion: (1) total counti neinal locality. Dist	y; (11) each major c inguish batwaan urb	ivil division; (iii)	each minor civil			
Group 011		(b) Activity status - us	ual (current) activit	v: total economicall	v active: emplove	ed: unemployed			
Group 012		(distinguishing person	is who ever and nev	er worked before); r	ot stated	u, unemproyed			
(etc.)		(c) Institutional sector of employment: non-financial corporations sector; financial corporations sector; general government sector; non-profit institutions serving household sector; household							
Division 02		sector	1 (1						
Group 021		(d) Sex: both sexes; m	ale; female	to the latest revision	on of the Internat	ional Standard			
Group 022		Industrial Classificati	on of All Economic	Activities (ISIC. Rev	v.3) to the level of	f groups			
(etc.)		(three-digit)							
Division 20									
Group 201		Description:							
Group 202		Description:							
(etc.)		This tabulation may	be used to monito	or structural change	es in the econom	ny under different			
		types of economic i	intervention progra	immes. The chang	ges are recorded	I not only for the			
Division 99		institutional sectors	but also for indu	stry and the intera	action between	the two, assessed			
Group 990		programmes can the	en and for men. refore be targeted r	The need for an nore specifically.	d the focus of	any intervention			
Male		^ -	-						
(as for "Both sexes")									
Female									
(as for "Both sexes")									
EMPLOYED									
As for total economically									
active population									
UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL									
As for total economically									
active population									
UNEMPLOYED,									
WORKED BEFORE									
As for total economically									
active population									
UNEMPLOYED, NEVER									
WORKED BEFORE									
As for total economically									
active population									

P7.3-A Usually (or currently) active population, by activity status, cross-classified by main occupation, educational attainment, age and sex

Geographical division activity status,	Total		Occupation						
sex, educational attainment		Sub-major group 11		Sub-major group 91			Armed forces		
and age		Minor	Minor group		Minor group				
		111	112	911	912	etc.			
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION Both sexes All levels of education All ages Under 15		hudad: nonvil	tion at an above the mi	imum aco adantad f		arating the e			
15-19 20-24 25-29	active population inc active population Classifications (a) Geographic	nided: popula on <i>:</i> al division: (i) total country; (ii) each	nmum age adopted f	or enume ; (iii) eac	ch minor civi	l division; (iv)		
 70-74 75-79	each principal (b) Age: all age	locality. Distin es; under 15 y	nguish between urban a ears; 15-19 years; 20-2	nd rural for (i), (ii) a 4 years; 25-29 years	nd (iii) ; 30-34 y	ears; 35-39	years; 40-44		
80-84	years; 45-49 ye	ars; 50-54 ye ars: 90-94 ve	ars; 55-59 years; 60-64 ars: 95-99 years:100 ye	years; 65-69 years; ears and over: not sta	/0-/4 ye 1ted (The	ears; 75-79 y e category "u	ears; 80-84 📕 mder 15 vears" 📕		
85-89	should include	all ages betwe	een the minimum age lin	nit adopted by the co	untry for	census ques	tions on		
90-94	economic activi	ity and 14 yea	ers, if the minimum is un	der 15 years.		-	1		
95-99	(c) Activity stat	us - usual (cu	rrent) activity: total eco	nomically active; em	ployed;	unemployed	(distinguishing		
100 and over Not stated	persons who ev (d) Educational	er and never l attainment: 1	worked before); not stat no schooling; first level	ed started but not comp	leted; fir	st level com	oleted; second		
No schooling	level started bu	t not complete	ed; second level comple	ted; third level: first	stage sta	rted but not	completed; third		
(as for "All levels of education") First level of education	level: first stage	e completed (1	regardless of any educa	tion at the third level	: second	stage); level	not stated. (The		
Not completed (as for "All levels of education")	subcategory "sp (a) Sex: both se	vecial educati xas: mala: far	on" should be included	in each category of t	he first a	end second le	vels, if feasible.)		
Completed	(f) Occupation:	according to	or convertible to the l	atast revision of the l	ntornatio	onal Standar	d Classification		
(as for All levels of education") Second level of education Not completed	of Occupations	(ISCO-88), a	t least to the minor grou	ups (in other words, t	hree-dig	it) level			
Completed (as for "All levels of education") Third level of education First stage not completed (as for "All levels of education") First stage completed (as for "All levels of education") Level not stated Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")	Description: This tabulation degree to whic extent to which	n provides the sh they are sa n education is	e data needed to analy atisfied by the present s effectively utilized ir	rse present requirem human resources. the economic struc	nents for It also f ture.	educated p furnishes int	ersonnel and the formation on the		

EMPLOYED As for total economically active population **UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL** As for total economically active

Population UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKDED BEFORE

As for total economically active population

P7.4-A Usually (or currently) active population, by activity status, cross-classified by main industry, educational attainment, age and sex

Geographical division, activity status,	Total			Industr	Industry		
sex, age groups (in years) and	economically	Divisi	ion 01		Division 99		
educational attainment	active	Gro	ир		Group		
		01	02	_			
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION Both sexes All levels of education All ages Under 15 15-19 20-24 25-29 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100 and over Not stated No schooling (as for "All levels of education") First level of education Not completed (as for "All levels of education") Completed (as for "All levels of education")		Popula the econ Classifi (a) Geo civil div and (iii, (b) Acti unemple (c) Age. 35-39 y years an betweer activity (d) Edu level co level: fi of any e (e) Sex: (f) Indu Standan groups	tion inclue nomically a ications: graphical d vision; (iv)) vity status oyed (distin ears; 40-4 70-74 years; and over; na to eminin and 14 yea ucational a mpleted; s rst stage si vducation a both sexes stry: accon d Industria (three-digi	led: population at or above th active population division: (i) total country; (ii) each principal locality. Distin - usual (current) activity: tota nguishing persons who ever a under 15 years; 15-19 years; 4 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 y s; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 5 tot stated. (The category "unde unm age limit adopted by the o trs, if the minimum is under 1 ttainment:: no schooling; firs econd level started but not co varted but not completed; third the third level: second stage s; male; female ding to, or convertible to, the al Classification of All Econor t)	e minimum age adopted for enumerating each major civil division; (iii) each minor aguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) al economically active; employed; nd never worked before); not stated 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; ears; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; 100 er 15 years" should include all ages country for census questions on economic 5 years.) t level started but not completed; first mpleted; second level completed; third d level: first stage completed (regardless e); level not stated latest revision of the International mic Activities (ISIC, Rev.3) to the level of		
Second level of education Not completed (as for "All levels of education") Completed (as for "All levels of education") Third level of education First stage not completed (as for "All levels of education") First stage completed (as for "All levels of education") Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes") EMPLOYED As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE As for total economically active population		Descrip This tal industri by the educati	ption: bulation p ial sectors present hu on is effec	rovides the data needed to a for educated personnel and man resources. It also furni trively utilized in the econor	nalyse present requirements of the main d the degree to which they are satisfied shes information on the extent to which nic structure.		

P7.5-A Usually active population, by activity status, cross-classified by sex, main status in employment and number of weeks worked in all occupations during the last year

Geographical division,	Total	Main status in employment							
sex and number of weeks worked	economically active	Employer	Own- account worker	Employee	Unpaid family worker	Member of producers' cooperative	Persons not classifiable by status		
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION Both sexes TOTAL		Population in economically a Classification (a) Geographi division; (iv) e (b) Activity sta (distinguishing	acluded: pop active popula s: cal division: ach principa. tus - usual (c	pulation at or tion (i) total countr l locality. Dist urrent) activity o ever and ney	above the minimu y; (ii) each major c inguish between urb y: total economicali er worked before): 1	um age adopted ivil division; (iii) e pan and rural for (i ly active; employed not stated	for enumerating the each minor civil i), (ii) and (iii) l; unemployed		
Less than 1 week 1 to 4 weeks 5 to 12 weeks 13 to 24 weeks 25 to 36 weeks 37 weeks and over		(c) Status in en- member of pro (d) Sex: both s (e) Time worke weeks; and 37	nployment: e. ducers' coord exes; male; f ed: total; less weeks and ou	mployer; own- erative; persor emale s than 1 week; ver; not stated	account worker; en ns not classifiable b 1 to 4 weeks; 5 to 1.	aployee; unpaid fai y status 2 weeks, 13 to 24 v	mily worker; veeks; 25 to 36		
Not stated		Description:							
Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")		This tabulati particularly a vocational tra worked in ho workers is nee	on provide mong empl nining, insur ours per wea eded for con	s information loyees. It als rance programek or in num nparative anal	n for the analys to makes availabl nmes and so fort ther of weeks per ysis of activity rate	sis of potential le useful data fo h. Information co reference period es for females, par	underemployment, or the planning of oncerning the time I by unpaid family rticularly in view of		
UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL As for total economically active population		the different workers in pa	practices fo st censuses.	ollowed by c	ountries in defini	ing and enumera	ting this group of		
UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE									

As for total economically active population

UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE

As for total economically active population
P7.6-A Currently active population, by sex, main status in employment and number of hours worked in all occupations during the last week

Geographical division,	Total			Main status	in employmen	at	
activity status, sex and number of hours worked	economically active	Employer	Own-account worker	Employee	Unpaid family worker	Member of producers' cooperative	Persons not classifiable by status
TOTAL							
ECONOMICALLY							
ACTIVE POPULATION		Population inc	luded: population	at or above the	e minimum ag	ge adopted for enu	nerating the
Both sexes		economically ac	ctive population				
TOTAL		Classifications (a) Geographica division; (iv) ea	: al division: (i) tota ch principal local us - usual (curren	al country; (ii) ity. Distinguish t) activity: tota	each major c h between urb l economicall	ivil division; (iii) e an and rural for (i v active: employed	ach minor civil), (ii) and (iii) ': unemployed
Less than 8 hours		(distinguishing)	persons who ever	and never wor	ked before); r	ot stated	, unempioyed
9 to 16 hours		(c) Status in em	ployment: employ	er; own-accou	nt worker; em	ployee; unpaid far	nily worker;
17 to 24 hours		member of prod	lucers' cooperative	e; persons not	classifiable by	y status	
25 to 32 hours		(d) Sex: both se.	xes; male; female	8 hours: 0 to 1	16 hours: 17 t	o 24 hours: 25 to 3	2 hours: 33 to 10
33 to 40 hours		-hours: 41 to 48	hours: and 49 hor	urs and over: n	o nours, 17 i	0 24 110013, 25 10 5	2 110413, 55 10 40
41 to 48 hours							
49 hours and over							
Not stated							
		Description:					
Male		This tabulatio	n provides info	rmation for	the analysis	of potential un	nderemployment,
(as for "Both sexes")		particularly an	nong employees	. It also mak	es available	useful data for	the planning of
Female (as for "Both sexes")		vocational trai worked in hou workers is need	ning, insurance j irs per week or i ded for comparat	programmes a in number of ive analysis o	and so forth. weeks per r f activity rate	Information con eference period t es for females pa	cerning the time by unpaid family rticularly in view
EMPLOYED		of the differen	t practices follow	ved by countr	ries in defini	ng and enumeration	ng this group of
As for total economically active population		workers in past	t censuses.				
UNEMPLOYED, TOTAL							
As for total economically active population							
UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE							
As for total economically							

As for total economically active population

UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE

As for total economically active population

P7.7-A Usually (or currently) active population, by activity status, cross-classified by main occupation, marital status and age

Geographical division, activity	Total	Occupation							
status, occupation, marital status	economically	Sub-major group 11	Sub-major group 91	Armed					
and age (in years)	active	Minor groups	Minor groups	forces					
		111 112 etc	911 912 etc						
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY									
ACTIVE POPULATION									
Both sexes		Bopulation included: economic	ally active persons at or above the minimum	age adopted for					
All marital/other statuses		enumerating the economically ac	tive population	age adopted for -					
All ages		Classifications:	n ve population						
Under 15 years		(a) Geographical division: (i) tot	tal country; (ii) each major civil division; (ii	i) each minor civil					
15-19		division; (iv) each principal loca	lity. Distinguish between urban and rural fo	r (i), (ii) and (iii)					
20-24		(b) Activity status - usual (curren	at) activity: total economically active; emplo	yed; unemployed					
25-29		(distinguishing persons who ever	and never worked before); not stated	34 years: 35 30 years:					
		40-44 years: 45-49 years: 50-54	vears: 55-59 vears: 60-64 vears: 65-69 vea	rs: 70-74 years: 75-79					
70-74		vears; 80-84 years; 85-89 years;	90-94 years; 95-99 years; 100 years and or	ver; not stated. (The					
75-79		category "under 15 years" shoul	d include all ages between the minimum age	e limit adopted by the					
80-84		country for census questions on e	economic activity and 14 years, if the minim	um is under 15 years.)					
85-89		(d) Marital status: all marital/oth	her statuses; single: married; widowed: dive	orced: separated; not					
90-94		stated							
95-99		(e) Occupation: according to, or Classification of Occupations (IS	convertible to, the latest revision of the interaction CO_{28} , at least to the minor group (in other CO_{28}).	rnational Stanaara					
100 and over		(f) Sex: both sexes: male: female	(in one minor group (in one	i words, iniee-digii) ievei					
Not stated		0,250 500 500 500 500 500 500 5							
Single									
(as for "All statuses")		Description:							
Married		This tabulation provides mater	rial for the analysis of the relation of m	arital status to the broad					
(as for "All statuses")		occupation of economically ac	tive people and of the probable effect the	pereon of any anticipated					
Widowed		changes in the distribution of	the population by marital status A simil	ar tabulation by industry					
(as for "All statuses")		will also be useful in understan	ding the pattern of absorption particular	v of married women into					
Divorced		different industries. It should h	be noted that the present tabulation calls	for occupation categories					
(as for "All statuses")		according to, or convertible to	o, only the major groups of ISCO. Dat	a according to the more					
Separated		detailed minor groups give	a more precise picture of the occupat	tions where women are					
(as for "All statuses")		concentrated	F F						
Not stated									
(as for "All statuses")									
Male									
(as for "Both sexes")									
Female									
(as for "Both sexes")									
UEMPLOYED, TOTAL									
As for total economically active									
population									
UNEMPLOYED, WORKED									
BEFORE									
As for total economically active									
population									
UNEMPLOYED, NEVER									
WORKED BEFORE									
As for total economically active									
population									

P7.8-A Usually (or currently) active population, by activity status, cross-classified by main status in employment, marital status and age

Geographical division, activity	Total	Main status in	employment				
status, sex, age (in years) and marital status	economically active	Employer	Own-account worker	Employee	Unpaid family worker	Member of producers' cooperative	Persons not classifiable by status
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY							
ACTIVE POPULATION			-,				
Both sexes		-Population in	cluded: economically a	ically active j	persons at o	r above the min	imum age adopted for
All marital/other statuses		Classification	s:	cuve populatio	11		
All ages		(a) Geograph	ical division: (i)	total country;	(ii) each ma	ajor civil division	; (iii) each minor civil
Under 15 years		division; (iv) e	ach principal loca	ality. Distingui:	sh between ui	rban and rural for	<i>(i), (ii) and (iii)</i>
15-19		(b) Activity sta	tus - usual (curre	nt) activity: tot	al economica	lly active; employ	ed; unemployed
20-24		(distinguishing	g persons who eve	r and never wo	orked before);	not stated	31 years, 35 30 years,
		40-44 years: 4	5-49 vears: 50-54	s, 15-19 years, vears: 55-59	20-24 years; vears: 60-64	, 25-29 years, 50 vears: 65-69 vears	s: 70-74 vears: 75-79
70-74		years; 80-84 y	ears; 85-89 years	; 90-94 years;	95-99 years;	100 years and ove	r; not stated. (The
75-79		category "und	er 15 years" shou	ld include all a	iges between	the minimum age	limit adopted by the
80-84		country for cer	nsus questions on	economic activ	vity and 14 ye	ars, if the minimu	m is under 15 years.)
85-89		(d) Marital st	atus: all marital/	other statuses;	single: mar	ried; widowed: d	ivorced: separated; not
90-94		(e) Status in e	mplovment: emplo	over: own-acco	ount worker:	emplovee: unpaid	family worker: member
95-99		of producers' of	cooperative; perso	ons not classific	able by status		jannaj norner, menioer
100 and over		(f) Sex: both se	exes;_male;_female	,			
Not stated							
Single							
(as for "Both sexes")		Description:					
Married		This tabulatic	n provides mate	rial for the a	palveis of th	e relation of ma	rital status to the main
(as for "Both sexes")		status in emn	lowment of econ	omically activ	ialysis of ui	d of the probable	effect thereon of any
Widowed		anticipated ch	anges in the dist	ribution of the	e people all	by marital status	Disaggregation of the
(as for "Both sexes")		table by sex w	vill also be usefu	l in understand	ling the natte	ern of women's e	mployment status
Divorced		uble by sex v	viii diso be useru	i ili ulidei stalle	ang the path	en or wonten se	inployment status.
(as for Both sexes!")							
Separated							
(as for "Both sexes")							
Not stated							
(as for "Both sexes")							
Male							
(as for All statuses)							
(as for "All statuses")							
UEMPLOYED, TOTAL							
As for total economically active							
population							
UNEMPLOYED, WORKED							
As for total aconomically active							
As for total economically active	;						
INFMPLOVED NEVED							
WORKED REFORE							
As for total economically active							
nonulation							
Population							

P7.9-A Usually (or currently) active population in the informal sector, by activity status, cross-classified by main status in employment, place of work, main occupation and sex

Geographical division, activity	Total	Main status in employment									
status, place of work, sex and main occupation	economically active	Employer	Own- account worker	Employee	Unpaid family worker	Member of producers' cooperative	Persons not classifiable by status				
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION Both sexes		Population inc the economical	luded: popul ly active pop	ation at or abo ulation employ	ve the minim	um age adopted f	for enumerating				
All places of work		Classifications	:								
Informal sector, TOTAL		(a) Geographic	al division: (i) total country	; (ii) each ma	ajor civil division	; (iii) each				
Sub-major group 11		minor civil divi	sion; (iv) eac	h principal loc	ality. Disting	uish between urb	oan and rural for				
Minor group 111		I(l), (ll) and (lll)	us - usual (ci	(rrent) activity	\cdot total econor	nically active: en	inloved.				
Minor group 112		unemployed (di	stinguishing	persons who e	ver and never	worked before);	not stated				
(etc.)		(c) Status in em	ployment: en	nployer; own-a	account worke	er; employee; unp	oaid family				
Sub-major group 21		worker; membe	r of produces	rs' cooperative	; persons not	classifiable by st	atus				
Minor group 211		(d) Sex: both se	xes; male; fe	male			.				
Minor group 212		(e) Occupation.	: according to	o, or convertibl	le to, the late. $CO(88)$ at le	st revision of the	International				
(etc.)		words three-di	ijicanon oj 0 oit) level	ccupations (15	CO-00), ai ie	asi to the minor g	group (in other				
(((()))		(f) Place of wor	sa) work at he	ome; no fixed p	lace of work;	fixed place of we	ork outside				
Sub-major group 91		home; unknown	1								
Minor group 911											
Minor group 912											
(etc.)											
Sub-major group 01											
Minor group 011											
Work at home		Description:									
(as for "All places of work")		Given the Syst	em of Natio	nal Accounts	definition of	the production l	houndary there				
No fixed place of work		ia a substantial	nortion of t	ha hausahald	account that is	attributable to r	on market				
(as for "All places of work")											
Fixed place, outside home		work. This tab	ulation prov	ides informati	on on the ex	tent to which ini	formal sector				
(as for "All places of work")		activities are c	onducted ou	tside the home	e, to be used	in formulating e	enterprise				
Unknown		development a	nd employn	nent creation p	rogrammes.	Urban and rural	, or other				
Male		administrative	divisions, p	ermit detailed	analysis of t	his sector's activ	vities.				
(as for "Both sexes")											
Female											
(as for "Both sexes")											
UEMPLOVED TOTAL											
As for total economically active											
nonulation											
UNFMPLOVED WORKED											
BEFORE											
As for total economically active											
population											
UNEMPLOYED. NEVER											
WORKED BEFORE											
As for total economically active											
population											

Geographical division,	Total economically active	Monthly or annual income
sex and main occupation		(Income classification adopted by the country)
Both sexes		Population included: population at or above the minimum age adopted for enumerating the economically active population
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE		Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division: (iii) each minor civil division: (iv) each principal locality
Sub-major group 11		Distinguish between urban and rural for (i). (ii) and (iii)
Minor group 111		(b) Income: income classification adopted by the country, preferably
Minor group 112		distinguishing approximately each fifth percentile or tenth percentile
(etc.)		group (c) Sex: both sexes: male: female
Sub-major group 21 Minor group 211 Minor group 212 (etc.)		(d) Occupation: according to, or convertible to, the latest revision of the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-88), -at least to the minor group (in other words, three-digit) level
		Description:
		This tabulation is needed for appraising variations in the income
Sub-major group 91		level of persons both within and among groups of occupations.
Minor group 911		The tabulation can be usefully expanded to include a
Minor group 912		cross-classification by broad age groups (for example, under 15
(etc.)		years, 15-64 years, and 65 years and over). It can usefully be expanded to include a classification by income of households and
Sub-major group 01		size of households. Such a tabulation is particularly useful for
Minor group 011		social policy studies and programmes focusing on households,
Male		paracellary alose of the poor.
(as for "Both sexes")		
Female		
(as for "Both sexes")		
(

P7.10-A Usually active population, by monthly or annual income, occupation and sex

Geographical division,					Annual i	ncome						
and size of household	Т	otal	Less than	Less than				and over		stated		
	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation		
ALL HOUSEHOLDS												
Households consisting of	Populati Classific	on include	ed: all mem	bers of hou	ıseholds					- - -		
1 person 2 persons 3 persons 4 persons 5 persons 6 persons 7 persons 8 persons	(a) Geog civil divis (b) Size c persons; househol (c) Incon approxin	raphical d sion; (iv) e f househo 8 persons; ds of each ne: income nately each	ivision: (i) ta ach principa Id: 1 person 9 persons; size and the classificatio <u>e fifth-perce</u>	otal countr al locality. ; 2 persons 10 persons e aggregate on adopted ntile or ter	y; (ii) each n Distinguish s; 3 persons; s or more; no e population by the count ath-percentile	najor civi between 1 4 persons ot stated; 6 by size of try, prefer e group_	l division; urban and i s; 5 person and, separa household rably distin	(iii) each rural for (s; 6 persc ately, the ; guishing	minor (i) and (ii) ms; 7 number of			
9 persons	Descript	tion:										
Not stated	This tabulation provides information on annual income by the size of households. The information is useful, for instance, in obtaining indicators such as number of households by different percentile income groups. The tabulation will be useful in formulating a variety of social policies and measures. It may be expanded by classifying the annual income groups for urban/rural areas, which will be of further use in studies focusing on the development of disadvantaged areas.											

P7.11-A Households and population in households, by annual income and size of household

Geographical division, Total sex and age (in years) not currently active	Total	Primary reason for inactivity									
	Attendance at educational institution	Engagement in household duties	Retirement or old age	Other reasons such as disability	Not stated						
Both sexes											
All ages		Population includ active population Classifications:	ed: population at	or above the min	nimum age adopted for	enumerating the economically					
Under 15		(a) Geographical a	ivision: (i) total	country; (ii) each	n major civil division; (i	ii) each minor civil division;					
15-19		(iv) each principal (h) Age: all ages:	locality. Distingi under 15 vears:	iisn between urb 15-19 years: 20-2	an ana rurai jor (1), (11) 24 years: 25-29 years: 3	ana (111) 20-34 years: 35-39 years:					
20-24		40-44 years; 45-49	years; 50-54 yea	urs; 55-59 years;	60-64 years; 65-69 yea	urs: 70-74 years: 75-79 years;					
25-29		80-84 years; 85-89	years; 90-94 yea	urs; 95-99 years;	and 100 and over; not	stated. (The category "under					
30-34		15 years" should in	clude all ages be	tween the minim	um age limit adopted by	y the country for census					
35-39		questions on econo	mic activity and	14 years, if the m	unimum is under 15 yea	urs.)					
40-44		retirement or old a	jor machivny: ai 9e: other reason	s such as disabili	tv: not stated	agement in nousenota autres;					
45-49		(d) Sex: both sexes	; male; female	such as assasti	ly, nor stated						
50-54											
55-59											
60-64		Descriptions									
65-69		Description:									
70-74		This tabulation pr	ovides data clas	sified by functio	nal categories and reas	son for inactivity for the					
75-79		analysis of potent	al sources of hu	man resources t	hat are not readily ava	ilable at present but that					
80-84		may become so u	nder different ci	cumstances.							
85-89											
90-94											
95-99											
100 and over											
Not stated											
Male											
(as for "Both sexes")											

Female

(as for "Both sexes")

P7.12-A Population not currently active (in other words, not in the labour force), by primary reason for inactivity, age and sex

P7.13-A Heads or other reference members of households¹ ... ² years of age and over, by economic activity status, age and sex

Geographical division, sex and age (in years) of heads or other reference members of households	Total	Usually (or currently) active heads or other reference members of households	Usually (or currently) inactive heads or other reference members of households	Not stated
Both sexes				
ALL HOUSEHOLDS All ages Under 15 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64	Population minimum ag Classificati (a) Geograp division; (iv (b) Econom active; (iii) (c) Age: all years; 40-44 years; 75-79 stated. (The adopted by under 15 yea .(d) Sex: both	included : all heads or other refere ge adopted for enumerating the eco ons: <i>whical division: (i) total country; (ii)) each principal locality. Distingui</i> <i>ic activity status not stated</i> <i>ages; under 15 years; 15-19 years;</i> <i>4 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years;</i> <i>9 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years;</i> <i>category "under 15 years" should</i> <i>whe country for census questions on</i> <i>ars.)</i> <i>h sexes; male; female</i>	nce members of households at or above nomically active population (i) each major civil division; (iii) each sh between urban and rural for (i), (ii rrently) active; (ii) not usually (or cur (20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 yea (55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 year (90-94 years; 95-99 years; and 100 ar include all ages between the minimum (acconomic activity and 14 years, if the	ve the minor civil and (iii) rently) srs; 35-39 rs; 70-74 nd over; not n age-limit e minimum is
65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100 and over Not stated Male (as for "Both sexes")	Description This tabula provides fo economical headed by f information who work a economical programme	n: tion provides information on the r the calculation of the percentag ly active men and women. Furth- remales is an important measure of is also useful in planning for va- und maintain households. Similar ly inactive such as retired person s in social, housing and other sec	economic situation of households we e of households and families headed ermore, the number of households a of the economic role of women in se rious facilities and services needed ly, data on households headed by th is are useful in formulating policies etors.	/hich d by and families ociety. This by women and
Female				

(as for "Both sexes")

¹ Including one-person households (in other words, persons living alone).

 $^{^{2}}$ The minimum age adopted by the country for census questions on economic activity.

P7.14-A Households and population in households, by size of household and number of usually (or currently) active members

Geographical division,		Households with indicated number of usually (or currently) active members											
and size of household	Total		0		1				5 or more		Not stated		
	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	House- holds	Popu- lation	

ALL HOUSEHOLDS

Households consisting of

1 person	Population included: all members of households
2 persons	Classifications:
3 persons	(a) Geographical alvision: (1) total country; (1) each major civil alvision; (11) each minor civil alvision; (iv) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i). (ii) and (iii)
4 persons	(b) Size of household: 1 person; 2 persons; 3 persons; 4 persons; 5 persons; 6 persons; 7 persons; 8
5 persons	persons; 9 persons; 10 persons or more; not stated; and, separately, the number of households of each
6 persons	size and the aggregate population by size of household
7 persons	(c) Number of usually active or (currently active) members: 0; 1 member; 2 members; 3 members; 4
8 persons	interioris, 5 of more memoris, not stated
9 persons	
10 persons or more	
Not stated	Description:
	This tabulation provides information on the economic situation and size of households. The information is, for instance, useful in obtaining indicators such as the number of usually (or currently) active and of dependent persons within households. Furthermore, the variations in dependency by the size of households can be examined. This tabulation will be useful in formulating a variety of social policies and measures. It may be expanded by classifying the

the household and the economy.

employed by sex, which will be of further use in studies focusing on women and their twin roles in

P7.15-A Households, by size, number of usually (or currently) unemployed members and dependent children under 15 years of age in household

Geographical division, and size of households	division, Number of usually (or currently) useholds unemployed members of household		ntly) sehold	Number of dependent children under 15 years of age in household		Total house-holds er e in	Total usually (or cur- rently) unem- ployed	Total y depen- r- dent) child-ren -	Total popu- lation			
	None	1	2	3 or	None	1 2	3	or				
				more			ma	ne				
ALL HOUSEHOLDS												
Households consisting of 1 person 2 persons 3 persons 4 persons 5 persons 6 persons 7 persons 8 persons	Populat Classific (a) Geog locality. (b) Size c persons househo (c) Numi (d) Depe should in	ion incl cations: graphicc Disting of house or more ld ber of u endent (nclude o	uded: a al divisi uish be ehold: 1 ehold: 1 ehold: 1 c; not st sually (or not e all child	all membe on: (i) tou tween urb person; ated; and or curren conomica tren not ee	ers of hou tal countr- tan and ru 2 persons 2, separate tly) unem, ally active conomica	seholds y; (ii) eaci ural for (i) ; 3 person ly, the nui ployed me) children lly active t	h majon , (ii) an s; 4 pe mber oj mbers: under in those	r civil division; (iii) nd (iii) rsons; 5 persons; 6 f households of each 0, 1 member; 2 men 15 years of age: the e ages	each minor persons; 7 p size and th nbers; 3 or dependent o	civil division; versons; 8 per e aggregate p more member children unde	(iv) each principa sons; 9 persons; 10 opulation by size o s r 15 years of age	ul O of
9 persons	Descrip	otions:										
10 persons or more Not stated	This tab in partic underen househo educatic special a assistan	Descriptions: This tabulation provides basic information on the economic situation of households. Households in developing cour in particular include large numbers of dependent children and/or a considerable degree of unemployment and underemployment among their adult members. Therefore, such information as the number of unemployed members households according to the size of households can serve as a basis for a variety of social programmes concerning te education and health of dependent children and for family allowance policies. This tabulation is also useful in focu special attention on households containing several unemployed members and their needs, including unemployment assistance										in in ne ing

P7.16-A Usually (or currently) active heads or other reference members of households¹ ... ² years of age and over, by activity status, cross-classified by main status in employment, main industry and sex

Geographical division,	Total	Main status in e	Main status in employment of active heads or other reference members of households										
activity status, main industry and sex of active heads or other reference members of households		Employer	Own-account worker	Employee	Unpaid family worker	Member of producers' cooperative	Persons not classifiable by status						
TOTAL ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION Both sexes TOTAL households with active heads or other reference members Division 01 Group 011 Group 012 (etc.)	Population in members at or Classifications (a) Geographi division; (iv) ea (b) Activity stat (distinguishing (c) Status in en of producers' c (d) Sex: both se (e) Industry: ac Classification	achuded: all house above the minimum s: cal division: (i) t ach principal local tus - usual (curren persons who ever mployment: emplo cooperative; person exes; male; female ccording to, or con of All Economic Ad	cholds with usual m age adopted for total country; (ii) lity. Distinguish be t) activity: total ec and never worked yer; own-account as not classifiable twertible to, the lat tivities (ISIC, Rev	ly (or currentl enumerating th each major c tween urban ar onomically actu before); not sta worker; emplo by status est revision of t .3) to the level	y) active head e economically ivil division; id rural for (i), ive; employed; ated yee; unpaid fa he Internation of groups (three	ds or other refer y active population (iii) each minor (ii) and (iii) unemployed mily worker; men al Standard Indus re-divit)	n civil nber trial						
Division 02 Division 99 Group 990 (etc.) Male (as for "Both sexes") Female (as for "Both sexes")	Description: This tabulation of households commerce, an which he or sh provides infor self-employed livelihood.	n furnishes inforn . It presents the ty d so on, in which ne is generally dep mation on whethe l or an employee,	nation on the char rpe of industry, th the head or refer pendent for the su er the head or refe reflecting the soc	acteristics of h at is to say, ag ence member of pport of his/he rence member io-economic s	heads or other riculture, mar of the household. To of the household.	reference membrufacturing, uld is engaged and This tabulation a hold is holds and means	ers d on lso of						
UEMPLOYED, TOTAL As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, WORKED BEFORE As for total economically active population UNEMPLOYED, NEVER WORKED BEFORE As for total economically active population													

¹ Including one-person households (in other words, persons living alone).

² The minimum age adopted by the country for census questions on economic activity.

Group 8. Tabulations dealing with disability characteristics

P8.1-A Total population, by geographical division and urban/rural residence, cross-classified by disability status¹, whether living in household or institution, age and sex

Geographical division, urban or rural,	Total population	_
household or institution, age and sex	Without disabilities With disabilities Not stated	
Total country Both sexesAll agesBoth sexes Male Female $0-4$ 	Population included: total population Classifications: (a) Geographical division: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division; (iv) each principal locality (b) Disability status: without disabilities; with disabilities; not stated (c) Age: all ages; 0-4 years; 5-9 years; 10-14 years; 15-19 years; 20-24 years; 25-29 years; 30-34 years; 35-39 years; 40-44 years; 45-49 years; 50-54 years; 55-59 years; 60-64 years; 65-69 years; 70-74 years; 75-79 years; 80-84 years; 85-89 years; 90-94 years; 95-99 years; and 100 and over; not stated (d) Sex: both sexes; male; female Description:	
Urban residence Household (Sex and age as above) Institution (Sex and age as above) Not stated (Sex and age as above) Rural residence Household (Sex and age as above) Institution (Sex and age as above) Not stated (Sex and age as above) Not stated (Sex and age as above)	There is widespread interest in the prevalence of disability in the population, by age and sex. This tabulation provides information for the calculation of prevalence rates distributed by geographical division, urban/rural residence and the living arrangements of persons with disabilities.	

¹ Estimates of the population with and without disability are a function of the exact methods and question wording used in the data collection. Consult the meta-data for information on the methods (include the specific questions) used.

Type of household,	Total	households	Size of household (persons)								
urban and rural areas	Without disabilities	With disabilities	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8 or more	Not stated
Total country											
Population in private households											
Total One-person household Nuclear family household Extended household Composite household Unknown	Population in Classification (a) Type of ho household; un (b) Size of hou persons or mo	ncluded: total populat ns: nusehold: one-person iknown usehold: 1 person; 2 p pre; not stated	tion housel	nold; n s; 3 pe	uclear rsons;	 househ 4 perso	nold; ex	 xtende person	 d hou s; 6 p 		nposite ersons; 8
Urban areas (Same as above)											
Rural areas	Description:										
(Same as above)	This tabulation disabilities li nuclear famil economic and relatives. The	on gives information ve. The size of house y household and the d social provisions the e tabulation also pro-	on the eholds exten hat ma vides o	e numl and th ded fa y be n lata fo	ber, tyj ne dist mily h eeded r calcu	pe and inction ouseho for per ilating	size of amon old are rsons v preval	f hous g the usefu vith d ence	sehold one-p il for isabil of dis	ds in which erson hous determinin ities living ability per	persons with ehold, the g the alone or with household

(number of households with at least one person with disability per 1,000 households).

P8.2-A Households with one or more persons with disabilities¹, size of household, urban/rural residence

¹ Estimates of the population with and without disability are a function of the exact methods and question wording used in the data collection. Consult the meta-data for information on the methods (include the specific questions) used.

Disability status, urban or rural,	Total population 15 years of age and over								
age and sex	Single	Married	Widowed	Divorced	Not stated				
Without disabilities									
Total country									
All ages	Population	n included: total	population						
Both sexes	Classifica	tions:	1 1						
Male	(a) Marita	ıl status: single;	married; widowe	ed; divorced; sepa	erated; not				
Female	stated								
15-19	(b) Disabil	ity status: withou	t disabilities; with	disabilities; not st	ated				
Both sexes	1(C) Age: C	ui ages; 15-19 y rs: 40-44 vears:	45-49 vears: 50-4	5; 25-29 years; 50 54 years: 55-59 ye	-34 years; ars: 60-64				
Male	vears; 65-	69 years; 70-74	vears; 75-79 vear	rs; 80-84 years; 85	-89 years;				
Female	90-94 year	s; 95-99 years; a	nd 100 and over;	not stated	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , .				
1 cindic	(d) Sex: bo	oth sexes; male; fe	emale						
90-94	Descripti	on•							
95-99	L	.							
100+	Informatio	on on the marital	status of the pers	sons with disabilit	les is				
Not stated	important	for understandin	ig their social inte	egration. This tabu	llation				
Single	provides c	lata on the marit	al status of person	ns with disabilities	s which				
(A second serves above)	are the bas	sis for the calcul	ation of age-sex s	specific marriage i	ates and				
(Age and sex as above)	divorce ra	tes for comparis	on with persons v	without disabilities	5.				
(A second serves above)									
(Age and sex as above)									
(A go and say as above)									
(Age and sex as above)									
(A second service shows)									
(Age and sex as above)									
(A go and gov og abovo)									
(Age and sex as above)									
(A so and sov as above)									
(Age and sex as above)									
(Sama groups as above)									
(Same groups as above)									
(Sama mayna ag ahaya)									
(Same groups as above)									
With disabilities									
As for population without disabilities									
Not stated									

P8.3-A Total population 15 years of age and over, by disability status¹, cross-classified by marital status, urban/rural residence, age and sex

As for population without disabilities

¹ Estimates of the population with and without disability are a function of the exact methods and question wording used in the data collection. Consult the meta-data for information on the methods (include the specific questions) used.

P8.4-A Population 5 to 29¹ years of age, by disability status², cross-classified by school attendance, urban/rural residence, age and sex

Disability status, ,	Population ¹ up to age 29
urban/rural, age and sex	Attending Not attending Not stated school school
Without disabilities	
All ages	Population included: all persons between the usual age for entering the first level of school and 29 years
Both sexes	lof age
Male	Classifications:
Female	(a) Disability status: without disabilities; with disabilities; hot stated
5-9	(c) Age: all ages: 5-9 years: 10-14 years: 15-19 years: 20-24 years: and 25-29 years
Both sexes	(d) Sex: male; female
Male	
Female	
	Description:
• •	School attendance patterns for persons with disability are used to compare the current pattern of participation and non-participation in education for people with and without disability. The
$25-29^{-3}$	percentage of people with disability of the school-age population who attend school can also be
(Age and sex as above)	compared among the different types of disability.
With disabilities (Age and sex as above)	

Not stated

¹ Usual age for entering the first level of school.

² Estimates of the population with and without disability are a function of the exact methods and question wording used in the data collection. Consult the meta-data for information on the methods (include the specific questions) used.

 $^{^{3}}$ The higher age-limit may be adjusted: people with disability may attend school even in higher ages.

Annex 5: List of additional tabulations for housing censuses²¹²

- H1-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of household
- H2-A Households in collective living quarters, by type of living quarters
- H3-A Family nuclei, by broad types of living quarters and number of roofless family nuclei
- H4-A Family nuclei in housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by number of family nuclei per housing unit
- H5-A Households, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by activity status, occupation and sex of head or other reference member of household
- H6-A Homeless households, by age and sex of head or other reference member of household
- H7-A Vacant housing units, by type of vacancy
- H8-A Buildings, by year (or period) of construction of building (in which dwelling is located), cross-classified by type of building and construction material of outer walls
- H9-A Housing units, by number of dwellings in the building
- H10-A Households in housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by number of households and number of rooms per housing unit
- H11-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of ownership of the housing units
- H12-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of bathing facilities
- H13-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of bathing facilities
- H14-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking
- H15-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking
- H16-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by water supply system and source of water supply
- H17-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by water supply system and source of water supply
- H18-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main source of drinking water supply
- H19-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main source of drinking water supply
- H20-A Housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by type of toilet
- H21-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of toilet and type of sewage disposal
- H22-A Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of owner of the housing unit, availability of piped water and availability of toilet facilities
- H23-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of lighting and/or use of electricity
- H24-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of lighting and/or use of electricity
- H25-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of solid waste disposal
- H26-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of solid waste disposal
- H27-A Renting households in housing units, by rent paid, cross-classified by type of owner of the housing unit, whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished and tenure of the household
- H28-A Renting households, classified by whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished, and amount of rent paid monthly by the household, cross-classified by type of housing unit and number of households in housing unit
- H29-A Rented housing units, classified by whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished, and amount of rent paid monthly for the housing unit, cross-classified by type of housing unit and number of rooms
- H30-A Rented housing units, classified by whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished, and amount of rent paid monthly for the housing unit, cross-classified by type of housing unit, water supply system and toilet facilities
- H31-A Occupied housing units, by type, cross-classified by available floor area and number of occupants

²¹² Additional tabulations are identified by an "A" as part of the table number.

H1-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of household

						Type of h	ousing un	it			
		Cor	ventional d	dwelling			Other hoi	using units			Not stated
Geographical division ¹	Total							Informal housing unit			
Type of household	house- holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Гуре of household											
One-person	Uni	its of tal	oulation: h	ouseholds							
Nuclear	Cla	ssificati	ons: housing un	it	is in occ	upied nousin	ig units				
Extended	. <u>(b)</u>	Type_of	household_								
Composite	Des	cription	1:								
Not stated	Thi itse cou hou hou	s tabula lf, the ld also seholds sehold	tion shows tabulation be usefully in relation (recomment	s the type provides y combine n to certai nded tabul	of house useful i d with o n aspect ation H	whold accord nsights into ther tabulati s of housing 17.1-R and t	ing to the the hou ons to fu g, for exa abulation	e type of h sing patte rnish a me mple, cha H5-A), n	ousing unit erns of the ore detailed racteristics umber of re	s occupi populati descript of the he oms occ	ed. In on. It ion of ead of cupied

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

² Name of major or minor civil division.

Geographical division	Total persons Ho	Correction ls Hospitals institutions	Collective living qu al Mil- Religio Reti itary us men insti- instituti hom tutions ons	uarters re Student t dormit Staff es ories quarters	Camps Other and workers' quarters
Total households	Units of Living of Househ Classifi Type of	abulation: households larters included: collective ds included: households in tions: allective living quarters	ve living quarters in collective living qua		
	Descrip Whethe recomm living q informa necessa level of tabulati- census t persons	ion: or not this table is proces nded tabulation H1.2-R, arters as well as geograph on, it can be decided whay or, for what geographical a etail required. Information the but information on the bulation programme. The n households occupying	ssed may depend upo which shows the extu- hical distribution of s ether a tabulation by areas it should be pre on concerning the ins number of these pers eir exclusion from the collective living quar	n the information p ent to which housel uch households. Ba type of collective li pared and the cross titutional populatio ons is available from s tabulation facilita ters.	provided in holds occupy collective ased on this iving quarters is classifications and on is not included in this m the population ates the identification of

H2-A Households in collective living quarters, by type of living quarters

Geographical division				Type of living quarte		Roofless
	Total		Housing units			
	per sons	Total	Conventional dwellings	Other housing units	Collective living quarters	
Total households	Units of tabula	ation: family r	nuclei			
TOTAL Urban Rural Major civil division A ²¹³ Urban Rural	Family nuclei Classifications (a) Geographic between urban (b) Type of livit (c) Roofless: se	included: all t cal divisions: (and rural for ng quarters eparate class for	family nuclei <i>i) total country; (ii) et</i> <i>(i), (ii) and (iii)</i> <i>for the roofless</i>	ach major civil division	n; (iii) each minor civil division. Dis	stinguish
Minor civil division A1 ¹ Urban Rural	7979299	10020000				
Minor civil division $A2^{1}$	Description	l summary tal	ble designed to show	in very general terms	s the type of housing occupied by	persons and
Major civil division B ¹ Urban Rural Minor civil division B1 ¹	households an detailed tabula collective livin which more de	d the number ations for the ng quarters or etailed tabulat	roofless. It provides categories shown. In are homeless and the tions for these group	background informat fact, the magnitude of eir geographical distr s need to be prepared	tion as well as a control for prepara of the number of households that of ibution provide an indication of th	ation of more ccupy e extent to
Urban Rural						
Minor civil division B2 ¹ (etc.)						
Major civil division Z ¹ Urban Rural						
Minor civil division Z1 ¹ Urban Rural						
Minor civil division Z2 ¹ Urban Rural (etc.)						

H3-A Family nuclei, by broad types of living quarters and number of roofless family nuclei

²¹³ Name of major or minor civil division.

H4-A Family nuclei in housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by number of family nuclei per housing unit

						Туре о	f housing	unit			
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other ho	ousing uni	ts		Not stated
Geographical division ¹	Total							Infe	ormal housing	g unit	
and number of households per housing unit	households house- t holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perma- nent. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households Households with the following number of households per housing unit : 1 2 3+ Not stated	Units of t Househol Classifica (a) Geogr Distinguis (b) Type c (c) Numbo (d) Numbo	abulatic lds and f ations: "aphical sh betwe of housin er of hou er of roo	n: family family nuc divisions: (en urban a g unit useholds pe ms per hou	nuclei elei includ (i) total co. nd rural fa r housing using unit	 l ed: fami untry; (ii, or (i), (ii) unit				each minor ci		· n.

Description

This tabulation provides information on the number of households that are sharing housing units with other households and thus provides an important basis for estimating housing needs. The importance of a separate housing unit for each household that desires one is widely recognized. This tabulation shows the number of households that occupy the shared units.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H5-A Households, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by activity status, occupation and sex of head or other reference member of household

						Type of h	ousing un	it			
		Con	ventional	dwelling			Other hou	sing units			Not stated
Geographical divisio	¹ Total							Infor	mal housing u	ınit	stated
Geographical atvision	house- holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households											
Economically active head of household											
Employed	Units of tabula	tion: ho	useholds								
Unemployed	Living quarter Households in	s includ cluded: :	ed: all househo	olds living	in housin	o units					
Male	Classifications	:	in nousen	ius irving	in nousin	5 units					
Employed	(a) Type of livin	ng quarte	ers								
Unemployed	(b) Occupation	of head	of househo	old: accord	ling to, or ification	convertible	to, the map 1088	ijor group	s of the Intern	ational	Labour
Female	(c) Sex of head	of house	hold	iara Ciass	ijicaiion	oj Occupani	<i>ms</i> , 1900				
Employed	(d) Type of acti	vity of he	ead of hou	sehold							
Unemployed											
Occupation - major group 01 Male	Description	ns estab	lished in	this tabula	tion prov	vide data on	the type	of activity	v occupation	and ser	x of heads
Female	of households	occupvi	ng each ty	me of livir	ng quarte	rs. together	with the	number o	f households	and per	rsons in
Head of household not economically active Male Female Economic activity not stated	each of the cat terms of the oc the absence of provide at leas economically a unemployed.	egories of cupation the data t a gener active he Where the mployed	established of econo on incom ral indicat eads of ho ne number for each	d. The tab mically ac ie, which a ion of soc usehold by of unemp occupation	ulation a ctive hea are not no io-econo y sex are bloyed is nal group	ttempts to is ds of house ormally ava mic level. F shown acco substantial,	solate pop holds and ilable in t for the pu- or ding to it may be	whether he popula rpose of t whether the e useful to	roups in need the head is en ttion census, t his presentation hey are emplo pointroduce th	of hou nployed this tabi on, only oyed or ie classi	sing in d or not. In ulation may y the total ification

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

² Name of major or minor civil division.

H6-A Homeless households, by age and sex of head or other reference member of household

Geographical division and unit of tabulation	Total	otal Age of head of household												
and unit of tabulation	house- holds	Under 15 years	15-24 years	25-34 years	35-44 years	45-54 years		95-99 years	100 years and over	Age un- known				
Total households														
Male head of household Female head of household		Units of Housel Classif (a) Geo (b) Sex	of tabulation nolds inclu- ications: ographical of of head of of head of	n: househo ded: homel division: de household household	lds ess househo pending on									
		Descri This ta tabulat geogra tabulat which	ption: bulation is ion H1.2-F phical loca ions of the the data sh	prepared of con the nut tion. This is homeless sould be tab	on the basis mber of ho information should be p ulated and	of the informeless hours meless hours provides prepared, the the househours	rmation fu seholds an a basis f e most app old charac	rnished b d persons for decidi propriate s teristics t	by the recomm and their ng what furt geographical hat should b	mended her l areas for e included				

as well as the level of detail.

H7-A Vacant housing units, by type of vacancy

Geographical division ¹	Total dwellings		Type of vacancy								
and dwellings		Seasonally			Not stated						
		vacant	For rent	For sale	For demo- lition	Other					
Total dwellings											
Conventional dwellings Other housing units	Units of tabulation: H Living quarters inclu Classifications: Type of vacancy	Housing units	ing units								

Description:

This tabulation confines itself to data relating to conventional and basic dwellings because all other types of housing are required, by definition, to be occupied in order to fall within the scope of the census; a classification by occupancy would not therefore be applicable to them. In some housing censuses, vacancy information is recorded during the listing of sets of living quarters and summaries of these lists provide the aggregates furnished by this tabulation, although generally not in detail as far as reasons for vacancy are concerned. Such a procedure may provide an economic means of obtaining data, though every effort should be made to collect information in detail on vacant conventional and basic dwellings.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

Geographical division, ¹	Total			Year	or perio	d of build	ling consi	tructior	ı			
type of building and construction material of walls	dwellings			Year prio	or to cens	sus ²			Peri	iod ³	Not stated	
		0	1	2		8	9	Ι		IV		
Total dwellings											,	
Building coextensive with a single housing unit	2	Units o Buildir	of tabulat ngs inclu	tion: Build ded: all b	lings uildings						:	
Material of walls: Material A Material B Material C Building coextensive with a single housing unit - detached Material of walls (as above) Building coextensive with a single	2	 (a) Construction material of outer walls: construction material of the walls (subclassified into types of construction material of significance for permanence and durability) (b) Type of building (c) Year or period of construction: single years for buildings constructed during the intercensal period immediately preceding (if it does not exceed 10 years) or during the preceding 10 years (where the intercensal period exceeds 10 years or where no previous census has been carried out); specified period for buildings constructed prior to this 										
housing unit - attached		Descri	ntion:									
Material of walls (as above) Building with more than 1 unit		This ta buildin	This tabulation provides information on the number of dwellings by type of building in which the dwelling is located and by material of construction of the walls of the building cross-classified by the year or period of construction of the									
Material of walls (as above)		building. The inventory considered in terms of age and type of building provides a										
Building with more than 1 unit - up to 2 floors		basis for estimating maintenance costs; it also provides insight into the housing patterns of the population, a factor that experience has shown should not be neglected in formulating housing programmes. The question whether to include only conventional and basic dwellings in the tabulation or other types of living quarters as well will depend upon the importance of the latter as far as the overall housing situation is concerned. In tropical countries where a substantial proportion of the population lives in housing units constructed of locally available material such as bamboo, palm, thatch and so forth, information on the rate of construction of temporary units may be considered sufficiently important for them to be included. Mobile and marginal units are not included since the year or period of										
Material of walls (as above)												
Building with more than 1 unit - from 3-10 floors												
Material of walls (as above)												
Building with more than 1 unit - 11 floors and over												
Material of walls (as above)		constru	iction is	of varyin	g signifi	cance de	pending	upon t	he typ	e of unit		
Building for persons living in institutions		The tab	oulation	includes r	naterial	of consti	ruction o	f exter	nal wa	alls only,	since this	
Material of walls (as above)		on the	s to be of	tion mate	rial of th	licance a le roof ai	s an indi	cator o s also	f aura	ently coll	ected in	
All other types of buildings		nationa	al housin	g censuse	s, partic	ularly in	formatio	n on th	e forr	ner, but o	certain	
Material of walls (as above)		inconsi	istencies	and comp	olication	s have b	een notic	ed wh	ile tab	oulating c	construction	
Not stated		materia		ie man o	le eleme	int of the	awenni	g.				
Conventional dwellings (Classifications of buildings and materials of walls as above)												
Other housing units (Classifications of buildings and materials of walls as above)												

H8-A Buildings, by year (or period) of construction of building (in which dwelling is located), cross-classified by type of building and construction material of outer walls

3 See paragraph 2.522

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

 $^{^2}$ Years preceding the census year, with 0 being the year of the census.

H9-A Housing units, by number of dwellings in the building

Geographical division and units of tabulation	Total	Number of dwellings in the building									
and units of tabulation	dwellings	1	2	3-9	10-49			Not stated			
Total dwellings											
Conventional dwellings	Units of tabulati	ion: Housing un	nits								
	Classifications:	included. all li	ousing units								
Other housing units	Number of dwell	lings per buildi	ng: <u>1, 2, 3-9</u> ,	10-49 acc	ording to the ne	eds of the cou	ntry or ar	ea			
	Description:										
	A distribution of	f dwellings by	the number	of dwellings	in the building	g in which dw	vellings a	re located			

H10-A Households in housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by number of households and number of rooms per housing unit

						Type of h	housing un	nit (
		Cor	ventional o	dwelling			Other hou	using units	7		Not stated		
Geographical division ¹	Total							Infor	rmal housing	unit			
Geographical aivision	house- holds	house- holdsHas all basicDoes not have all basic facilitiesSemi- perm.Mobile 											
Total households													
Households with the following number of households per housing unit : 1	Units of House	of tabula holds in	tion: hous	eholds useholds in	n housin	g units							
In housing unit with the following number of rooms:	(a) Type of housing unit (b) Number of households per housing unit												
1	(c) Number of rooms per housing unit												
2	102 11 1	<u><u><u></u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u></u>		<u></u>									
3													
4	Descri	ntion:											
5	This ta	bulation	n provides	informati	on on th	e number of	househol	lds that ar	e sharing ho	ousing w	nits with		
6	other h	ouseho	ds and thu	is provide	s an imp	ortant basis	for estim	ating hou	sing needs.	The imp	ortance of		
7	a separ	ate hou	sing unit f	or each ho ad tabulati	on H3 1	-R Tabulati	s one is with H_{27}	Idely reco	gnized and	is discus	sed under		
8	househ	olds, pi	ovides sin	nilar inform	mation,	since subter	ant house	eholds are	households	that sha	are a		
9	housin	g unit w	vith one or	more hou	seholds.	However, t	his tabula	tion prov	ides addition	nal infor	mation,		
10+	since i housin	t shows g units.	the numbe	er of house	eholds th	hat occupy t	he shared	units plus	s the number	r of roon	ns in the		
2													
(Classification of number of rooms as above)													

- - - -

 $\mathcal{3}+$

(Classification of number of rooms as above)

Not stated

² Name of major or minor civil division.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H11-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of ownership of the housing units

						Type o	f housing	unit			
	Type of housing unit Type of housing unit Conventional dwelling Other housing units Total Does not have all basic facilities Does not have all basic facilities Semi- Mobile perm. housing unit Informal housing unit Units of tabulation: households Living quarters included: occupied housing units Semi- Mobile perm. housing Informal housing unit Units of tabulation: households Living quarters included: occupied housing units Households in occupied housing units Classifications: (a) Geographical divisions: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii)	Not stated									
a 1	Total							Info	ormal housing	g unit	
Geographical division and type of ownership		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households											
Owner occupied											,
Non-owner occupied	- Units of Living q	tabulatio uarters	n: househ included:	olds occupied 1	housing u	nits					-
Publicly owned	Househo Classific	olds inclu ations:	ded: house	eholds in o	occupied	housing unit	S				
Privately owned	(a) Geog	raphical	divisions:	(i) total co	ountry; (ii) each major	r civil divi	sion; (iii)	each minor ci	vil divisio	n.
Communally owned	Distingui (b) Type	ish betwe of housin	en urban a g unit	nd rural f	or (i), (ii)	and (iii)					
Cooperatively owned	(c) Type	of owners	ship								!
Other	. <u>(d)</u> <u>Use</u> <u>d</u>	of_housing	<u>unit</u>								·

Description

This tabulation provides information on the type of ownership of the housing unit. It is intended to show the type of ownership according to the type of housing unit. Assessing the ownership of housing units is of paramount importance in establishing housing policies.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H12-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of bathing facilities

						Type of	housing i	unit				
,		Con	ventional d	lwelling			Other ho	ousing unit	S		Not stated	
Geographical division ¹	Informal housing units Indivision Informal housing units Indivision Informal housing units Indivision Informal housing unit Inditities <thindities< th=""> Informal housing unit</thindities<>											
and type of bathing facilities		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Type of housing unit N Other housing units N Other housing units N Semi Mobile Informal housing unit N Total Semi Mobile Informal housing unit Other Total Informal housing unit Junce Mobile Total Informal housing unit Total Informal housing unit Junce Total Information Total Information Other Total Information for the formation Total Information for dwellings Total Information for dwellings is required for the N Total <td <="" colspan="2" th=""><th></th></td>	<th></th>						
Total housing units With fixed bath or shower within housing unit	Units of Living qu Househo	tabulati uarters lds inch	on: househ included: ided: hous	olds Occupied seholds in	housing u	 nits ousing unit						
Without fixed bath or shower within housing unit	(<i>a</i>) Geographical divisions: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division.											
Fixed bath or shower available outside housing unit	(b) Type (c) <u>Bathin</u>	sh betwe of housin ng facilin	ties	ana rurai j · – – – – – –	or(1),(11)	ana (111) 						
For exclusive use	Descript	ion										
Shared	From thi	s tabula	tion, data	may be of	otained on	the number	er of hous	ing units	by and the ty	ype of bath	ing	
No fixed bath or shower available	facilities living qu computa is large, these uni relation t availabil than a ce	availab arters a tion of i it may b its, howe to the nu ity of ba rtain nu	le to occu ccording t ndicators we useful to ever, sepa umber of c athing faci mber of h	pants. Thi o the facil of housing o prepare rate tabula occupants lities. Sim ouseholds	s tabulatic ities avail g and its e similar tab tions that may be m iilar inforr	on provides able. The i nvironmen oulations by would also ore useful nation may	the mini nformation t. If the n y type of the show th than inform y be tabul	mum data on for dwo umber of collective e number rmation th ated for h	a required fo ellings is req sets of colle living quart of fixed bat hat merely in ousing units	r an evalua uired for the ctive living ters. With r hs and sho dicates the occupied	tion of he g quarters respect to wers in by more	

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

						Type of	f housing	unit				
		Con	ventional d	lwelling			Other ho	ousing uni	ts		Not stated	
Geographical division ¹	Total							Infe	ormal housing	g unit	siencer	
and type of bathing facilities		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi perm. dwellings	Spe of nousing unit N Other housing units Informal housing unit Impro- Permane Other n. housing intended illings unit for habi- tation tation					
Total housing units												
With fixed bath or shower within housing unit	Units of	tabulati uarters	on: occupa included:	ants housing u	nits							
Without fixed bath or shower within housing unit	Persons Classific	included cations	l: occupan	ts of housi	ng units							
Fixed bath or shower available outside housing unit	 (a) Geographical divisions: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) (b) Type of housing unit -(c) Bathing facilities 											
For exclusive use												
Shared No fixed bath or shower available	Descrip From th facilities living qu	tion is tabula s availab uarters a	tion, data le to occur ccording t	may be ob pants. Thi o the facil	otained o s tabulat ities ava	n the numbe ion provides ilable. The i	er of hous s the mini nformation	sing units mum dat on for dw	by and the ty a required fo ellings is req	ype of bath r an evalu uired for t	ning ation of the	
	is large, these un relation availabi than a co	it may b its, how to the nu lity of ba ertain nu	we useful to ever, sepa umber of c athing faci mber of h	o prepare rate tabula occupants lities. Sim ouseholds	similar ta ations tha may be r nilar info	abulations by at would also nore useful rmation may	y type of o show th than info y be tabul	collective round in the number round in the number round in the number round in the number of the number of the round in the number of the number of the round in the number of the number of the number of the round is number of the number of the number of the number round is number of the number	e living quart of fixed bat hat merely in housing units	ers. With hs and sho dicates the occupied	respect to owers in e by more	

H13-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of bathing facilities

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H14-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking

						Type o	f housing	unit			
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other ho	ousing uni	ts		Not stated
Geographical division ¹ ,	Total							Info	ormal housing	g unit	
availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total housing units With kitchen within the housing unit	For illus preparea set of tal	strative p l using h bulations	urposes, h ouseholds	ousing un and occuj	its are sh pants as i	own as unit units of tabu	of tabula lation, wl	tion in thi hich are li	is table. Simil sted as additi	ar tables s onal (in th	hould be ne optimum
Gas											
Electricity	Units of	tabulati	on: house	nolds							
Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)	Living q Househo	uarters olds inclu ations	included: uded: hous	seholds in	housing u occupied	inits housing uni	ts				
Kerosene/paraffin (petroleum based) Oil (including vegetable oil) Coal	(a) Geog Distingu (b) Type (c) Cook -(d) Fuel	assifications) Geographical divisions: (i) total country; (ii) each major civil division; (iii) each minor civil division. istinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii)) Type of housing unit) Cooking facilities) Fuel used for cooking									
Firewood Charcoal Animal dung Crop residue Other	Descrip The class	tion	ns used in	this tabul	ation for	equinment	and fuel	used for c	pooking shou	ld be form	ulated to
Other Description With other space for cooking within the housing unit (classification of fuel used for cooking should be form to the types of equipment and types of fuel normally used in the country concerned. Data refer to the fuel most frequently used and it may be confined to the fuel used for preparing the print meals. If information has been gathered on the number of kitchens or kitchenettes or the number of housing units occupied by more than a certain number of households and for collective living quarters, it would be useful to tabulate this.										a on fuel ncipal of stoves in arters, such	
Without kitchen or other space for cooking within the housing unit	informat	tion acco	ording to t	he type of	living q	uarters and	the numb	er of hous	seholds.		

(classification of fuel used for cooking as above)

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H15-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking

						Type o	f housing	unit			
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other ho	ousing uni	ts		Not stated
Geographical division ¹ ,	Total							Info	ormal housing	z unit	starea
availability of kitchen and fuel used for cooking		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total housing units											
With kitchen within the housing unit	Units of	f tabulati	ion: occupa	ants							
Gas	Persons	include	d: occupan	its of housing t	ng units						
Electricity	Classifi	cations	Idivisions	(i) total a	ountros (ii) each main	r ainil din	ision: (iii)	agah minor	ainil dinisi.	214
Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)	Distingi	ish betwo of housi	een urban ng unit	and rural j	for (i), (ii)	and (iii)		ision, (iii)	each minor c		<i>.</i>
Kerosene/paraffin (petroleum based) Oil (including vegetable oil)	(b) Type of housing unit (c) Cooking facilities (d) Fuel used for cooking										
Coal Firewood Charcoal Animal dung Crop residue Other With other space for cooking within the housing unit (classification of fuel used for cooking as above)	Descrip The cla conform refer to meals. I housing as hotel informa	otion ssificatio n to the t the fuel of inform g units oc s, boardi ution acco	ons used in ypes of eq most frequ ation has b cupied by ing houses ording to t	this tabul uipment a uently use been gathe more that and mult he type of	ation for nd types d and it n ered on th n a certain househo living qu	equipment of fuel norn nay be conf te number o n number o old living quarters and	and fuel mally use ined to th of kitchen f househo uarters, it the numb	used for c d in the c e fuel use s or kitch olds and fo would be er of hous	cooking shou ountry conce ed for prepar enettes or the or collective useful to tal scholds.	Id be forn rned. Data ing the pri e number living qua pulate this	nulated to a on fuel incipal of stoves in arters, such
Without kitchen or other space for cooking within the housing unit (classification of fuel used for cooking as above)											

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

						Type o	f housing	pusing unit			
		Conv	ventional dw	elling			Other i	housing ı	units		Not stated
Geographical division ¹	T ()			Does			Other housing units Informal housing in Impro- Permanent Mobile vised but not housing intended for unit habitation g units major civil division; (iii) each minor ii) mt sources in country or area, but ma	g unit	-		
water supply system		Total	Has all basic facilities	not have all basic faciliti es	Total	Semi- perma- nent dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permanent but not intended for habitation	<u>3 unit</u> Other	
Total housing units											
Piped water inside the unit											
From the community schem	units of	tabulatio	n: househol	ds	1 :						
From an individual source	Househo	luarters 1 olds inclu	nciuaea: c ded: houset	olds in a	nousin	g units d housing i	inits				
Piped water outside the uni	t Classific	cations:	divisions: (i) total co	ountry:	(ii) each m	aior civil d	division:	(iii) each mind	or civil div	vision.
but within 200 metres	Distingu	ish betwee	en urban an	d rural f	or (i), (ii) and (iii)		,	()		
From the community schem	e (b) Type	of housin	g unit								
For exclusive use	(c) Wate	r supply s	ystem	the bas	is of m	st fraguent	sources i	aountro	or area but w	nan inalu	la ninad
Shared	commun	itv-wide s	vstem: catch	ments to	nk: nu	blic well: n	sources ii rivate wel	l: river. s	spring: and so	forth	ie pipeu
From an individual source		<u></u>			<u></u>				<u> </u>	<u></u>	
For exclusive use											
Shared	Descrip	tion		<i>.</i> -	1 1	• • •		c	1.4	1 (
Without piped water (including piped water beyond 200 meters)	with rea units. The scheme classific	ndy acces he classif or an i cation in c	s to water ication of t ndividual	supply supply he sour source. vide mo	as well as well ce of th Many re deta	as the av as the av he water su countries iled inform	ne numbe ailability apply in t have fon nation on	of pipe of pipe his tabu ound it the source	d water for e d water for e lation is limit useful to fu ce of the wate	umber of ach class ed to the urther ela er supply	of housing communit aborate thi

H16-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by water supply system and source of water supply

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H17-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by water supply system and source of water supply

						Type o	f housing	unit			
		Conv	entional dw	elling			Other l	housing l	units		Not stated
Geographical division ¹	Image: cographical division 1, there supply system Total Conventional dwelling Other supply system Total Total Does not semi-permanent dwelling Mob hous permanent dwellings Total Doasic all facilities basic all facilities basic facilities basic facilities Total facilities basic facilities Semi-permanent dwellings ped water inside the unit Units of tabulation: occupants Semi-permanent dwellings Mob hous permanent dwellings From the community scheme Units of tabulation: occupants It is of tabulation: occupants Semi-permanent dwellings Persons included: occupants of housing units Classifications: It is of tabulation: occupants of housing units Persons included: occupants of housing units Classifications: It is of tabulation: occupants of housing units Persons included: occupants of housing units Classifications: It is of classifications: It is of classifications: (a) Geographical divisions: (i) total country; (ii) each major c Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii) It is of supply system For exclusive use (c) Source of water supply: on the basis of most frequent source Shared Description Semi-private		In	formal housing	g unit	Since					
water supply system	Total	Total	Has all basic facilities	not have all basic faciliti es	Total	Semi- perma- nent dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permanent but not intended for habitation	Other	
Total housing units											
Piped water inside the unit	Units of	tabulatio warters i	n: occupant ncluded · h	s ousing r	inits						
From the community scheme	Persons	included:	occupants	of housing t	ng units	5					
From an individual source	Classific	ations:	· · · · · · · · · · ·		0						
Piped water outside the unit but within 200 metres	(a) Geog Distingu	raphical d ish betwee	livisions: (i) en urban and) total co d rural f	ountry; (or (i), (i	(ii) each ma ii) and (iii)	ajor civil c	livision;	(iii) each mino	r civil div	ision.
From the community scheme	(c) Wate	of nousing r supply s	g unit vstem								
For exclusive use	(c) Source	ce of water	r supply: on	the basi	s of mo	st frequent	sources ir	ı country	or area, but m	ay includ	e piped
Shared	commun	ity-wide_sy	stem; catch	ments_to	nk; pul	blic well; p	r <u>ivate</u> well	l <u>; river,</u> :	spring; and so j	forth	
From an individual source											
For exclusive use Shared Without piped water (including piped water beyond 200 meters)	Descrip From thi with rea units. Th scheme classific	tion s tabulati dy access ne classifi or an indi ation in o	on, informa to water su cation of th vidual sour rder to prov	ntion ma apply as the source rce. Mar vide mo	y be de well as e of the y coun re detai	erived on the s the availate water sup atries have iled inform	he numbe bility of j ply in thi found it u ation on	r of pers piped was tabulat iseful to the sour	sons and the nu ater for each c tion is limited further elabor ce of the water	umber of lass of ho to the con ate this	households ousing nmunity

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H18-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main source of drinking water supply

						Туре	e of housin	g unit					
		Con	ventional d	welling			Other	housing	units		Not stated		
a 1				Does				In	formal housing	g unit	Stated		
Geographical division and main source of drinking water	Total	Total	Has all basic facilities	not have all basic faciliti es	Total	Semi- perma- nent dwelling	Mobile housing s unit	Impro- vised	Permanent but not intended for habitation	Other			
Total housing units													
Pined water inside the unit													
From the community scheme	Units of ta	bulation	n: househol	ds									
From an individual source	Living qua	arters in ls includ	ncluded: c led: houseł	occupied	housin	g units d housing	units						
Piped water outside the unit but within 200 metres	Classificat (a) Geogra	ions: phical d	ivisions: (i) total co	ountry;	(ii) each m	ajor civil	division;	(iii) each mind	or civil div	ision.		
From the community scheme	Distinguish	h betwee. ^c housing	n urban an ' unit	d rural j	^c or (i), (ii) and (iii,)						
For exclusive use	(c) Water s	supply sy	stem										
Shared	(c) Source) Source of water supply: on the basis of most frequent sources in country or area, but may include piped											
From an individual source	community	-wiae_sy	stem; cater	iments to	апк;_ри	<u>piic weii; p</u>	private wei	ı; r <u>iver</u> ,	spring; ana so				
For exclusive use													
Shared	Descriptio	on tornoo of	cumples of	drintrin	a mata		harizadi		har United No	tions doo	unanta and		
Without piped water (including piped water beyond 200 meters)	resolution source of	s, most drinking	notably c water use	on Mille d by ho	ennium ousehol	Developi ds as it of	ment Goa	ils. This s from the	tabulation ai	ms at as ater used	sessing the for genera		
Borehole	purposes (see tabu	lation H5-	R abov	e).								
Protected well													
Protected spring													
Rainwater collection													
Vendor provided water													
Bottled water													
Tanker trucks													
Unprotected well/spring/ river/stream/lake pond, dam													

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H19-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by main source of drinking water supply

						Туре	of housing	z unit			
		Con	ventional d	welling			Other i	housing i	inits		Not stated
G I I I I I I I I				Does				In	formal housin;	g unit	
Geographical division and main source of drinking water	Total	Total	Has all basic facilities	not have all basic faciliti es	Total	Semi- perma- nent dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permanent but not intended for habitation	Other	
Total housing units											
Piped water inside the unit	Units of to										
From the community scheme	Living qua	arters in	ncluded: h	.s Iousing i	inits						
From an individual source	Persons in	cluded:	occupants	of housi	ng units	8					
Piped water outside the unit but within 200 metres	Classificat	t ions: uphical d	ivisions: (i) total co	ountry;	(ii) each ma	ajor civil d	livision;	(iii) each min	or civil div	vision .
From the community scheme	(b) Type of	h betwee. f housing	n urban an Unit	d rural f	or (1), (11) and (111)					
For exclusive use	(c) Water s	supply sy	stem								
Shared	(c) Source	of water	supply: on	the bas	is of mo	st frequent	sources in	ı country	or area, but n	nay includ	e piped
From an individual source	community	<u>-wide_sy</u>	stem; catch	iments to	ink; pul	blic well; p	r <u>ivate</u> wel	l <u>; rīvēr, s</u>	pring; and so	forth	
For exclusive use											
Shared											
Without piped water (including piped water beyond 200 meters)	Description The import resolution	on tance of s, most	supply of notably c	drinkin Mille	g wate	r was emp Developn	hasized in nent Goa	n a numl ls. This	per United Na tabulation ai	tions doc	uments an sessing th
Borehole	source of	drinking	water use	ed by ho	usehol	ds as it off	en differs	from th	e source of w	ater used	for genera
Protected well	purposes (see mou	141011113-	10 0000							
Protected spring											
Rainwater collection											
Vendor provided water											
Bottled water											
Tanker trucks											

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

						Type of h	ousing un	it						
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other hou	using units	1		Not stated			
Caparanhigal division ¹	Total							Infor	mal housing	unit				
Total housing units	house- holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	npro- Permane Other sed nt but not intended for habi- tation					
Total housing units														
With toilet within the housing unit	Units of t	tabulatio	on: housin	ig units										
Flush/pour toilet	Living qu	uarters	included:	all housing	g units									
Non-flush toilet	(a) Type	ations: of housir	ng unit											
With toilet outside the	(b) Type (of toilet												
housing unit														
Flush/pour toilet														
For exclusive use	Descript	ion: s tabulat	tion data	may ba ab	tained on	the number	rofhous	ing unite l	by type with	n tha nur	nher of			
Shared	occupant	s and th	e type of t	oilet facili	ities avail	able to the	m The tai	bulation of	of toilet facil	lities sho	wn			
Non-flush toilet	provides	the min	imum data	a required	for an ev	aluation of	living qu	arters acc	ording to th	e faciliti	les			
For exclusive use	available	. The in	formation	for dwelli	ings is rea	quired for t	he compu	tation of	indicators of	f housing	g and its			
Shared	environn	nent. If t	he numbe	r of sets o	f collectiv	ve living qu	arters is l	arge, it m	nay be usefu	l to prep	are similar			
No toilet available	facilities	ns by ty	pe of colle	ective livir	ng quarter	rs. In fact, 1	nformatic	housing	ning the ava	ilability	of toilet			
Not stated	type of to availabilit country of	wever, s ants may bilet. Sir of house ity of pa or area c	y be more nilar infor holds. In r rticular ty oncerned	bulations to useful that mation many cour pes of toil and imply	that woul in informa ay be tab intries the ets (other varying	d also show ation that n ulated for h classification than flush degrees of o	v the num nerely ind ousing ur on has be) that are efficiency	ber of toi icates the nits occup en elabora prevalent y from a s	lets in relati availability ried by more ated to prov and charact anitary poin	on to the of toilet than a c ide infor teristic o t of viev	number ts and the certain mation on f the v.			

H20-A Housing units, by type of housing unit occupied, cross-classified by type of toilet

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

² Name of major or minor civil division.
H21-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of toilet and type of sewage disposal

	Type of housing unit												
		Con	ventional of	dwelling			Other ho	ousing unit	ts		Not stated		
Geographical division1,	Total							Info	nformal housing unit				
type of toilet and sewerage disposal		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other			
Total housing units		f tabulati											
With toilet within the housing unit	Living	quarters	included: d: occupan	all housir	ng units								
Flush/pour flash toilet	Classifi	cations	1		U								
Connected to a public sewerage plant	(a) Geo Distingi	graphical uish betwo of housi	l divisions: een urban na unit	(i) total c and rural j	ountry; (i for (i), (ii	ii) each majo) and (iii)	or civil div	ision; (iii)	each minor o	civil divisio	on.		
Connected to a private sewerage plant	(c) Type (c) Toile (d) Sew	e oj nousi et age dispo	osal system										
Other													
Non-flush toilet													
Connected to a public sewerage plant	Descrij From tl	p tion his tabula	tion, data	may be o	otained o	on the numb	er of hous	sing units	by type with	n the numl	ber of		
Connected to a private sewerage plant	occupar tabulati accordi	occupants, the type of toilet facilities available to them and the characteristics of the sewage system. The tabulation of toilet facilities shown provides the minimum data required for an evaluation of living quarters according to the facilities available. The information for dwellings is required for the computation of											
Other	indicate	ors of hou	using and	its enviror	nment. If	the number	of sets o	f collectiv	e living qua	rters is la	rge, it may		
With toilet outside the housing unit	be usef howeve	ul to prep er, separa nts may b	pare simila te tabulati	r tabulations that was that was that was a second strain that was a second strain that the	ons by ty ould als	pe of collec o show the i	tive livin number o	g quarters f toilets in ates the av	. With respendent to the second secon	ct to these the numbe f toilets an	e units, er of od the type		
Flush/pour flush toilet	of toile	t. Similar	r informati	on may b	e tabulat	ed for housi	ng units o	occupied b	by more than	a certain	number of		
Connected to a public sewerage plant	of parti	olds. In n cular typ red and ii	nany coun es of toile mply vary	tries the c ts (other the tion of the the tion of the the test of test	lassifica han flush es of effi	tion has been that are pr ciency from	n elabora evalent a a sanitar	ted to pro nd charac v point of	vide informateristic of th	e country	vailability or area		
Connected to a private sewerage plant			r y y	00				J					
Other													
Non-flush toilet													
Connected to a public sewerage plant													
Connected to a private sewerage plant													
Other													
No toilet available Not stated													

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H22-A Households in housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of owner of the housing unit, availability of piped water and availability of toilet facilities

						Type of h	ousing un	it			
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other hou	ising units	1		Not stated
$r_{\text{coaraphical division}}^{l}$ T	otal							Infor	mal housing	unit	starea
h	house- holds	Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other	
Total households											
Household owning the h occupies Water supply	ousing	g unit it	Uni	ts of tabul	ation: ho	ouseholds					
Pined water inside			Livi	ing quarte	rs inclu	ded: housing	g units	المعروم والم	vin a havain a	mita	
Toilet within housing u	nit		Cla	ssification	na perso s:	ons included:	nousenoi	lds occupy	ing nousing	units	
Toilet outside housing u	unit		(a)	Type of hou	ising uni	it					
Without toilet			<i>(b)</i>	Type of ow	nership						
Piped water outside but within 100 metres			(\underline{d})	valer supp Toilet facili	ities	n 					
(Classification of toilet as shown above)											
Without piped water			Des	cription:		1 11	. 1 1 .	1	11		· 1 ·
(Classification of toilet as	shown	above)	In t	inis tabula	nrincing	ouseholds at a facilities at	e tabulat	in the ho	ding to the	type of and the t	housing un
Household occupies a pu housing unit	blicly	owned	The	information	ion on t	oilet and wa	ater supp er of the	ly is cros	ss-classified	in orde	r to show the
(Classifications of water so availability of toilet as sho	upply a own abo	and ove)	hou faci	sing unit lities. Ow	has pip nership	ed water a of housing	nd/or toil units lack	let facilit	ties or neith	her of the vould be	hese types of particula
Household occupies a pri housing unit	ivately	owned	inte	rest and inters or by	t would tenants.	be useful t	to know	whether	these units	are occu	pied by the
(Classifications of water su shown above)	upply a	and toile	t as	-							
Ownership not											

stated

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

² Name of major or minor civil division.

H23-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of lighting and/or electricity

		Type of housing unit											
		Con	ventional d	lwelling			Other ho	ousing unit	ts		Not stated		
Geographical division ¹	Total							Info	ormal housing	g unit			
and type of lighting and/or availability of electricity		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- Tem. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other			
Total housing units													
Type of lighting													
Electricity	-Units of	tabulati warters	on: house! included:	occupied	housing	inits							
Gas	Classifie	cations	menuueu.	occupied	nousing t	linto							
Oil lamp	(a) Geog	graphical	divisions:	(i) total co	ountry; (i) each majo	r civil div	ision; (iii)	each minor c	vivil divisio	on.		
(Other types of lighting of significance to the country or area concerned)	Distingu (b) Type -(c) Type	ish betwe of housin of lightir	een urban ng unit 1g	and rural f	or (i), (ii,	and (iii)							
Urban Rural	Descrip Countrie This tab be exten the elect	otion es and ar oulation c nded. For tricity co	reas in all t could prove thousing to mes from	regions at ide planno units lit by a commu	tach consers with a veloctric of the superior	iderable im useful indi ty, addition ly, generati	portance ication of al inform ng plant	to the sou areas wh ation may or some o	rrce of energy ere communy be tabulated ther source.	y used for ity lightin d to show	lighting. g needs to whether		

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (i), (ii) and (iii).

H24-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of lighting and/or electricity

						Type of	f housing	unit				
		Con	ventional d	dwelling			Other he	ousing uni	ts		Not stated	
Geographical division ¹	Total							Info	ng units <u>Informal housing unit</u> upro- Permane Other sed nt but not intended for habi- tation n; (iii) each minor civil divi	z unit		
and type of lighting and/or availability of electricity	raphical division ¹ Total re of lighting and/or ibility of electricity Total Has all facilities Does not have all basic facilities facilities Total Has all facilities Does not have all basic facilities facilities Total basic facilities Total											
Total housing units												
Type of lighting												
Electricity	-Units of	f tabulati	ion: occupa	ants havaina v	mita							
Gas	Classifi	quarters cations	included:	nousing t	inits							
Oil lamp	(a) Geog	graphical	l divisions:	(i) total co	ountry; (i	ii) each majo	r civil div	ision; (iii)	each minor a	civil divisio	on.	
(Other types of lighting of significance to the country or area concerned)	Distingu (b) Type -(c) Type	uish betwo of housi of <u>light</u> in	een urban ng unit <u>ng</u>	and rural j	for (i), (ii	") and (iii)						
Urban	ь .											

Descri

... Rural **Description** Countries and areas in all regions attach considerable importance to the source of energy used for lighting. This tabulation could provide planners with a useful indication of areas where community lighting needs to be extended. For housing units lit by electricity, additional information may be tabulated to show whether the electricity comes from a community supply, generating plant or some other source.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H25-A Households in occupied housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of solid waste disposal

		Type of housing unit											
Casaranhiaal		Con	wentional	dwelling			Other ho	ousing uni	ts		Not stated		
division	Total			_				Info	ormal housing	unit			
and main type of solid waste disposal		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other			
Total housing units													
Solid waste collected on regular basis by authorized collectors Solid waste collected on an irregular basis by authorized collectors	Units of Living q Classific (a) Geog Distingua	tabulati uarters ations raphical	on: househ included: divisions: een urban o	oolds occupied 1 (i) total co and rural f	housing u bountry; (ii for (i), (ii)	nits) each majo and (iii)	r civil divi	ision; (iii)	each minor c	ivil divisio	n.		
Solid waste collected by self-appointed collectors	(b) Type (c) Solid	of housii waste di	ng unit sposal										
Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump supervised by authorities													
Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump not supervised by authorities	Descrip This tab <i>and Rece</i> disposin	tion ulation p ommend g of it h	provides in lations for ave an ext	formation <i>Populatio</i> remely im	on the t on and H portant i	ype of solid ousing Cen. mpact on pr	l waste dis suses. Dis ublic heal	sposal as posal of s th and on	defined in the olid waste an maintaining	e revised h nd facilitie a safe env	Principles es for rironment.		
Occupants burn solid waste	As for the	ed on the	e basis of	prevalent	systems	in a specific	country	s of broad or area.	i categories a	ind may b	e further		
Occupants bury solid waste Occupants dispose solid waste into river/sea/creek/pond Occupants composting solid waste													
Other Urban (classification of solid waste disposal as above))												
Rural (classification of solid waste disposal as above))												

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H26-A Occupants of housing units, by type of housing unit, cross-classified by type of solid waste disposal

		Type of housing unit										
		Con	ventional	dwelling			Other he	ousing uni	ts		Not stated	
Geographical	Total							Infe	ormal housing	g unit	sitica	
aivision and main type of solid waste disposal		Total	Has all basic facilities	Does not have all basic facilities	Total	Semi- perm. dwellings	Mobile housing unit	Impro- vised	Permane nt but not intended for habi- tation	Other		
Total housing units												
Solid waste collected or regular basis by authorized collectors Solid waste collected or an irregular basis by authorized collectors	Units of Living q Persons Classific (a) Geog Distingu	tabulati uarters included ations raphical ish betwe	on: occupa included: i: occupan divisions: een urban o	nts housing u ts of housi (i) total co and rural f	nits ng units puntry; (ii for (i), (ii)) each majo and (iii)	r civil divi	ision; (iii)	each minor c		 m.	
Solid waste collected by self-appointed collectors	(b) Type (c) Solid	of housii waste di	ng unit sposal									
Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump supervised by authorities Occupants dispose of solid waste in a local dump not supervised by authorities Occupants burn solid waste	Descrip This tab and Rec disposin As for th elaborat	tion ulation p ommend g of it has ne classified on the	provides in <i>lations for</i> ave an ext fication of basis of	nformatior Population remely im types of s prevalent	n on the t on and Ha portant i solid was systems i	ype of solid ousing Cena mpact on pr te disposal, n a specific	l waste di suses. Dis ublic heal it consist c country	sposal as posal of s th and on s of broad or area.	defined in th solid waste a maintaining d categories a	e revised nd faciliti a safe en and may b	Principles es for vironment. ve further	
Occupants bury solid waste												
Occupants dispose solid waste into river/sea/creek/pond												
Occupants composting solid waste												
Other												
Urban												
(classification of solid waste disposal as above)											
Rural (classification of solid waste disposal as above)											

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H27-A Renting households in housing units, by rent paid, cross-classified by type of owner of the housing unit, whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished and tenure of the household

Geographical division ¹	Total renting	Monthly rent paid by household									
and unit of tabulation	households			Scale of rents							
	-	Category 1	Category 2	Category 3	Category 4	Not stated					
Total renting households in											
Publicly owned housing units	Units of to bulgt	an hava halda									
Privately owned housing units	I juing quarters	included · housi	na units								
Tenant	Households: ren	ting households	ing units								
Furnished	Classifications:	•									
Unfurnished	(a) Rent paid: a	scale of rents esta	blished in accorda	nce with the rang	ge of rent normali	ly paid and the					
Subtenant	currency in the c	ountry concerned	and an indication	of whether the p	remises are rente	d furnished or					
Furnished	unfurnished					1					
Unfurnished	(b) Type of owne	rship				i					
Tenure not stated	(c) Tenure										

Description:

In this tabulation, households are tabulated according to the rent paid by the household and the type of owner of the dwelling occupied. Households renting privately owned housing units are further classified according to whether the household is a main tenant or a subtenant and whether the premises are rented furnished or unfurnished. These latter classifications would not normally apply to publicly owned housing units. Data on type of ownership and rent paid provide an opportunity to review the part played by the public and private sectors in providing housing for the population and the cost of such housing.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H28-A Renting households, classified by whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished, and amount of rent paid monthly by the household, cross-classified by type of housing unit and number of households in housing unit

Geographical division. ¹	Total			Мо	nthly rent pai	d by househ	old			
type of housing unit and number of occupants	house- holds	Unit or	part of the u	nit occupied furnished	by household	Unit or pa by househo	rt of the unit old rented ut	t occupied nfurnished		
				Scale of rent	\$		S	5		
		1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	
Total households in Housing units Households with the following number of households per unit 1 2 3+ Conventional dwellings (Classification of households as above) Other housing units (Classification of households as above) Semi-permanent dwellings (Classification of households as above)	Units of ta Living qua Household Classificat (a) Furnish (b) Type of (c) Rent pa concerned (d) Househ	bulation: ho arters inclue is: renting ho ions: ied or unfurn housing unit id: a scale of olds per hou	buseholds ded: housing buseholds hished housing t f rents estable ssing unit	g units ng unit lished in acco	ordance with t	the range of	f rent normall	y paid and t	he currency in	the country
Mobile housing units	Descriptio	m: Sulation re	nt noid rof	are to the o	mount noid	monthly	w the house	abold for t	ha space it a	counies The

(Classification of

(Classification of

not stated (Classification of households as above)

households as above)

Informal housing units

households as above) **Type of housing unit**

In this tabulation, rent paid refers to the amount paid monthly by the household for the space it occupies. The amount of rent paid is related to the number of households occupying the housing unit and the type of housing unit. However, it may also be related to the occupation or industry of the heads of households, particularly where these characteristics provide a significant indication of the income levels of large sectors of the population. The tabulation may be further expanded to show whether the rent includes the cost of utilities such as gas, electricity and heat, where this information has been collected.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H29-A Rented¹ housing units, classified by whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished, and amount of rent paid monthly for the housing unit, cross-classified by type of housing unit and number of rooms

Geographical division, ²	Total Monthly rent paid by household											
type of housing unit and number of occupants	housing units	Unit or p	part of the u	nit occupied furnished	by household	Unit o occupied	or part of the by househol unfurnished	e unit ld rented				
	_			Scale of rent	Scale of rents	5						
		1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4			
Total housing units Housing units with the following number of rooms 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	Units of ta Living qua Classificat (a) Furnish (b) Type of (c) Rent pa country con (d) Rooms	bulation: h inters inclu ions: housing un id: a scale of incerned per housing	ousing units ided: rented mished hous it of rents esta <u>unit</u>	housing un unit blished in ac	its ccordance wi	th the rang	e of rent noi	rmally paid a	and the curr	rency in the		
Conventional dwellings (Classification of rooms as above) Other housing units (Classification of rooms as above) Semi-permanent dwellings (Classification of rooms as above) Mobile housing units (Classification of rooms as above) Informal housing units (Classification of rooms as above) Type of housing unit not stated (Classification of rooms as above)	Description In this tab important tabulation indication (see tabul this could	on: culation, r factor in s o that it o f the a ation H29 usefully	ent paid is determini includes wailability D-A). If inf be include	related to ng the cost not only th of certain formation h ed in the tal	the numbe of housing e number of basic facil has been co bulation.	r of room g. It may b f rooms ities such llected sh	s in the ho be useful, l in the hou as piped v nowing wh	busing unit, however, to using unit, water, toile ether or no	, since spa o expand but also t and bath ot the rent	tce is an the an ting facilities is controlled,		

¹ "Rented" in this case means wholly rented and does not refer to housing units occupied by an owner who rents part of the unit to another household.

² This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

H30-A Rented¹ housing units, classified by whether space occupied is furnished or unfurnished, and amount of rent paid monthly for the housing unit, cross-classified by type of housing unit, water supply system and toilet facilities

Geographical division. ²	Total		Monthly rent paid by household										
type of housing unit and number of occupants	housing units		Unit or part househo	t of the unit old rented f	occupied by urnished	,	Unit or pa by househo	rt of the un old rented u	it occupied infurnished				
			S	Scale of ren	ts		Scale of rents						
		1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4				
Total housing units Housing units with the following facilities: Piped water inside Toilet inside Toilet outside No toilet Piped water outside (Classification of toilet as above) No piped water (Classification of toilet as above) Conventional dwellings (Classification of facilities as above) Other housing units (Classification of facilities as above) Semi-permanent dwellings (Classification of facilities as above) Mobile housing units	Units of tab Living quar Classificatio (a) Furnished (b) Type of h (c) Rent paia (d) Water suf (e) Toilet fac Description Comments	ulation: h ters incl ons: d or unfu. bousing un pply syste cilities concern	nousing unit uded: rente rnished hou nit em ning the an	ts d housing u using unit	units	utlined in	n connecti	on with ta	bulation H13	are also			
(Classification of facilities as above) Informal housing units (Classification of facilities as above)	adequacy of	adequacy of basic services in this case, the availability of piped water and toilet facilities.											
Type of housing unit not stated(Classification of facilities as above)													

¹ "Rented" in this case means wholly rented and does not refer to housing units occupied by an owner who rents part of the unit to another household.

² This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).

Geographical division, ¹ type of housing unit and number of occupants	Total hous- ing units Floor area (in square metres (m ²))	Total floor area	Total occu- pants	Floor area (m ²) per occu- pant
	Less 20-29 30-39 100-119 120 and than over 20			
Total housing units				
Conventional dwellings				
Other housing units				
Semi-permanent dwellings Mobile housing units	Units of tabulation: housing units Living quarters included: occupied housing units Persons included: occupants of housing units			
Informal housing units	Classifications:			
Type of housing unit not stated	(a) Type of housing unit .(b) Available floor area			! 4 ـ ـ ـ ـ ـ ـ ـ ـ ـ ـ
	Description: This tabulation provides information on the total useful are	a of housing	units. th	e

H31-A Occupied housing units, by type, cross-classified by available floor area and number of occupants

This tabulation provides information on the total useful area of housing units, the distribution of housing units according to the floor area, the total number of occupants and the average floor area per occupant. That information is required to assess overcrowding and this tabulation is designed to complement the information provided by recommended tabulation H6-R. It is recommended that data be tabulated in geographical detail because of the importance of the topic and the use to which the information yielded may be put. This is particularly important since less crowded and overcrowded housing units may be found in relative proximity to each other. For collective living quarters, it would be more useful to collect information on the useful living floor space per occupant of the collective living quarters. Data should be derived by dividing the total useful floor space by the number of occupants using it.

¹ This table may be compiled for (*i*) total country; (*ii*) each major civil division; (*iii*) each minor civil division; (*iv*) each principal locality. Distinguish between urban and rural for (*i*), (*ii*) and (*iii*).